TYPE 2 DIABETES MANAGEMENT: A FOCUS ON METABOLIC DEFECTS

EDITED BY: Zilin Sun, Per-Ola Carlsson, Chris Rayner, Tongzhi Wu and Zheng Sun PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology and Frontiers in Endocrinology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-028-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-028-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

TYPE 2 DIABETES MANAGEMENT: A FOCUS ON METABOLIC DEFECTS

Topic Editors: Zilin Sun, Southeast University, China Per-Ola Carlsson, Uppsala University, Sweden Chris Rayner, University of Adelaide, Australia Tongzhi Wu, University of Adelaide, Australia Zheng Sun, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Citation: Sun, Z., Carlsson, P.-O., Rayner, C., Wu, T., Sun, Z., eds. (2020). Type 2 Diabetes Management: A Focus on Metabolic Defects. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-028-5

Table of Contents

05 Associations of Insulin Levels and Insulin Resistance With Urine Glucose Excretion Independent of Blood Glucose in Chinese Adults With Prediabetes and Newly Diagnosed Diabetes

Juan Chen, Shan-Hu Qiu, Hai-Jian Guo, Wei Li and Zi-Lin Sun

- Physical Exercise and Its Protective Effects on Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: What is the Evidence?
 Jia Zheng, Jing Cheng, Sheng Zheng, Ling Zhang, Xiaohui Guo, Junqing Zhang and Xinhua Xiao
- 21 Heterogeneity of Metabolic Defects in Type 2 Diabetes and Its Relation to Reactive Oxygen Species and Alterations in Beta-Cell Mass Andris Elksnis, Mats Martinell, Olof Eriksson and Daniel Espes
- 34 Increased Ratio of Global O-GlcNAcylation to Tau Phosphorylation at Thr212 Site is Associated With Better Memory Function in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

Rong Huang, Sai Tian, Jing Han, Rongrong Cai, Hongyan Lin, Dan Guo, Jiaqi Wang and Shaohua Wang

- 42 Efficacy of Co-administration of Liuwei Dihuang Pills and Ginkgo Biloba Tablets on Albuminuria in Type 2 Diabetes: A 24-Month, Multicenter, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Clinical Trial Ruifeng Shi, Yanping Wang, Xiaofei An, Jianhua Ma, Tongzhi Wu, Xiaojin Yu, Su Liu, Liji Huang, Lijuan Wang, Jingshun Liu, Jing Ge, Shanhu Qiu, Han Yin, Xiaolai Wang, Yao Wang, Bingguan Yang, Jiangyi Yu and Zilin Sun
- **49** Impact of Nutrient Type and Sequence on Glucose Tolerance: Physiological Insights and Therapeutic Implications Lorenzo Nesti, Alessandro Mengozzi and Domenico Tricò
- 60 Pancreatic Stellate Cells: A Rising Translational Physiology Star as a Potential Stem Cell Type for Beta Cell Neogenesis Yunting Zhou, Bo Sun, Wei Li, Junming Zhou, Feng Gao, Xiaohang Wang, Min Cai and Zilin Sun
- 69 Ginsenoside Rb2 Alleviates Obesity by Activation of Brown Fat and Induction of Browning of White Fat

Yilian Hong, Yi Lin, Qiya Si, Lijuan Yang, Weisong Dong and Xuejiang Gu

- 80 Etiology and Pathogenesis of Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults (LADA) Compared to Type 2 Diabetes Sofia Carlsson
- **93** Role of Bile Acids in Bariatric Surgery Wenting Wang, Zhiqiang Cheng, Yanlei Wang, Yong Dai, Xiang Zhang and Sanyuan Hu
- 101 The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Host Metabolism Through the Regulation of Gut Hormone Release Alyce M. Martin, Emily W. Sun, Geraint B. Rogers and Damien J. Keating
- **112** Glucagon Receptor Signaling and Lipid Metabolism Katrine D. Galsgaard, Jens Pedersen, Filip K. Knop, Jens J. Holst and Nicolai J. Wewer Albrechtsen

123 Is the Brain a Key Player in Glucose Regulation and Development of Type 2 Diabetes?

Martin H. Lundqvist, Kristina Almby, Niclas Abrahamsson and Jan W. Eriksson

146 Correlation Between Serum miR-154-5p and Osteocalcin in Males and Postmenopausal Females of Type 2 Diabetes With Different Urinary Albumin Creatinine Ratios

Huiwen Ren, Xiaoyu Ma, Ying Shao, Jinyu Han, Min Yang and Qiuyue Wang

161 *The Impact of Oxidative Stress on Adipose Tissue Energy Balance* Peter M. Masschelin, Aaron R. Cox, Natasha Chernis and Sean M. Hartig





Associations of Insulin Levels and Insulin Resistance With Urine Glucose Excretion Independent of Blood Glucose in Chinese Adults With Prediabetes and Newly Diagnosed Diabetes

Juan Chen¹, Shan-Hu Qiu¹, Hai-Jian Guo², Wei Li¹ and Zi-Lin Sun^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Zhongda Hospital, Institute of Diabetes, School of Medicine, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ² Integrated Affairs Management Office, Jiangsu Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

George Grant, University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Vivek Bhalla, Stanford University, United States Biagio Arcidiacono, Università degli Studi Magna Græcia di Catanzaro, Italy

> *Correspondence: Zi-Lin Sun sunzilin1963@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 17 September 2018 Accepted: 05 November 2018 Published: 21 November 2018

Citation:

Chen J, Qiu S-H, Guo H-J, Li W and Sun Z-L (2018) Associations of Insulin Levels and Insulin Resistance With Urine Glucose Excretion Independent of Blood Glucose in Chinese Adults With Prediabetes and Newly Diagnosed Diabetes. Front. Physiol. 9:1666. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01666

Several studies have demonstrated that renal glucose reabsorption is increased in patients with type 2 diabetes. However, the increased renal glucose reabsorption may contribute to the progression of hyperglycemia. Therefore, promoting urine glucose excretion (UGE) by suppression of renal glucose reabsorption is an attractive approach for the treatment of diabetes. Insulin resistance is identified as a major characteristic in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Thus, our aim was to evaluate the association of UGE with serum insulin levels and insulin resistance in subjects with glucose abnormalities, including prediabetes and newly diagnosed diabetes (NDD). The present study included 1129 subjects, 826 individuals with prediabetes and 303 individuals with NDD. Urine samples were collected within 2 h of oral glucose loading for the measurement of glucose. Fasting serum insulin was measured. Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was assessed. Multiple linear regression analysis and multivariate logistic regression analysis were performed to determine the association of UGE with insulin levels and HOMA-IR. A negative association between serum insulin levels and UGE was observed. The relationship remained significant after adjustment for potential confounders, including age, gender, blood pressure and glucose ($\beta = -5.271, 95\%$ CI: -9.775 to -0.767, p = 0.022). Furthermore, multivariable logistic regression model showed that increased insulin levels were associated with a decreased risk for high UGE after multivariable adjustment. In addition, similar correlation was also observed between HOMA-IR and UGE. HOMA-IR was negatively correlated with UGE after controlling for potential confounders. Moreover, an independent inverse relationship between HOMA-IR and the risk of high UGE was found (OR = 0.85, 95%CI: 0.78–0.93, p < 0.001). In conclusion, insulin levels and HOMA-IR were negatively correlated with UGE after adjusting for potential confounders. Subjects with increased insulin levels or IR were at a decreased risk of high UGE independent of blood glucose. The study suggests that insulin might affect UGE through other ways, in addition to the direct blood glucose-lowering effect, thereby resulting in reduced UGE.

Keywords: diabetes mellitus, glycosuria, urine glucose excretion, insulin, insulin resistance

INTRODUCTION

The kidney plays a central role in glucose homeostasis, largely through glucose reabsorption (Gerich, 2010; DeFronzo et al., 2012). Sodium-glucose cotransporters 2 (SGLT2), an important mediator of glucose reabsorption on the luminal surface of proximal tubules, is responsible for more than 90% of glucose reabsorption (Wilding, 2014; Mondick et al., 2016). Accumulating evidences have demonstrated that renal glucose reabsorption is increased in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus since enhanced SGLT2 expression (DeFronzo et al., 2013; Osaki et al., 2016). However, increased glucose reabsorption may contribute to the progression of hyperglycemia. Therefore, promoting urine glucose excretion (UGE) by inhibition of renal glucose reabsorption has been recognized as an effective strategy for the treatment of diabetes (Ferrannini, 2017). In addition, assessing the significance of UGE in clinical practice, such as glycemic control and diabetes screening, has become a noteworthy field (Lu et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2018a).

Insulin resistance (IR), a major characteristic in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes (Defronzo, 2009), is manifested by increased hepatic glucose production and impaired glucose uptake. Moreover, IR is accompanied by chronic kidney disease (Thomas et al., 2015). Insulin receptor has been found in renal tubular cells, and insulin signaling plays an important role in tubular function (Artunc et al., 2016). Furthermore, it has been reported that insulin can stimulate sodium reabsorption in renal proximal tubules (Baum, 1987; Horita et al., 2016). As is well known, the transport of glucose from the tubular lumen into tubular cells is sodium dependent. Accordingly, insulin may play an important role in glucose reabsorption in the renal proximal tubular cells. To date, few studies have focused on the association between insulin levels and renal glucose reabsorption. Renal threshold for glucose reabsorption can reflect the capacity of renal glucose reabsorption. However, gold-standard stepwise hyperglycemic clamp procedure (SHCP) method cannot be widely used in the clinical practice to estimate renal threshold for glucose reabsorption, because of specialized laboratory demand. However, it is easy to obtain data on UGE.

Therefore, the aim of the present study was to investigate the association of serum insulin levels and IR with UGE in subjects with glucose abnormalities, including prediabetes and diabetes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Participants

Data were obtained from a cross-sectional study undertaken to evaluate the efficacy of UGE in diabetes screening in Chinese population, aged 18–65 years and without previously diagnosed diabetes or taking anti-diabetic medication (Chen et al., 2018b). This study was approved by Ethics Review Committee of Jiangsu Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention and followed the tenets the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant. All participants were given a standard 75 g glucose solution. All the urine samples were collected over a 2 h period after oral glucose loading for quantitative measurement of urine glucose. Finally, after confirming their oral glucose tolerance test and excluding those who had no data on fasting serum insulin level, 1129 subjects with glucose abnormalities including prediabetes and newly diagnosed diabetes (NDD) were included in the present study.

Anthropometric and Laboratory Measurements

Demographic characteristics and medical histories were obtained using a structured questionnaire. Weight, height, heart rate (HR), and blood pressure (BP) were measured according to standardized protocols. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared. Fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and 2 h plasma glucose (2h-PG) were measured with the glucose oxidase method using an automatic chemistry analyzer (Synchron LX-20, Beckman Coulter Inc., CA, United States). The concentration of urinary glucose was measured with a quantitative urine meter (UG-201-H, Tanita Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). UGE was calculated as the urinary glucose concentration $(mg/dl) \times$ the urine volume (dl). Fasting serum insulin level was evaluated by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, United States). Insulin resistance was estimated by homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR): FPG (mmol/L) \times fasting insulin (mIU/L)/22.5.

Definitions

Prediabetes and newly diagnosed diabetes were defined according to the 1999 World Health Organization (WHO) criteria. In our previous study, UGE displayed an excellent sensitivity of 82.9% and a high specificity of 84.7% in detecting NDD at the corresponding optimal cutoff of 130 mg (Chen et al., 2018a). Therefore, in the present study, UGE exceeding 130 mg was considered as high UGE, while UGE less than 130 mg was considered as low UGE.

Statistical Analysis

The continuous variables in this study were presented as the means \pm SD or median (25th–75th percentiles) as appropriate. The categorical variables were presented as numbers (%). The differences between the groups were analyzed using independent Student's t-tests for normally distributed variables, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-tests for non-normally distributed variables and chi-square test for categorical data. The relationships between UGE and other clinical indicators was examined using Spearman's correlation. Multiple linear regression analysis with adjustment for potential confounders was conducted to access the association of insulin levels and IR with UGE. Potential confounders included in the multivariate analysis were age, gender, HR, BP, FPG, 2h-PG, total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high-density lipoproteincholesterol (HDL-c), low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-c), creatinine, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and BMI, which were chosen depend on reaching statistical significance in the Spearman's correlation analysis and based on clinical judgment.

	Low UGE ^a	High UGE ^b	Р	
Number	586 (51.9%)	543 (48.1%)		
Age (years)	48.60 ± 11.08	48.62 ± 9.75	0.977	
Male (%)	243 (41.5%)	318 (58.6%)	< 0.001	
HR (beats/min)	78.62 ± 12.15	79.47 ± 12.12	0.241	
BLOOD PRESSURE	(mmHg)			
Systolic	135.15 ± 19.83	138.66 ± 19.30	0.003	
Diastolic	82.46 ± 11.67	85.33 ± 11.51	< 0.001	
PLASMA GLUCOSE	(mmol/L)			
FPG	5.94 ± 0.70	7.00 ± 1.86	< 0.001	
2h-PG	7.95 ± 1.78	10.90 ± 4.19	< 0.001	
Insulin (mIU /L)	6.90 (4.80–10.30)	6.60 (4.20-9.50)	0.053	
HOMA-IR	1.79 (1.25–2.66)	1.98 (1.23–3.01)	0.066	
TC (mmol/ L)	4.91 ± 0.99	5.06 ± 0.97	0.010	
TG (mmol/ L)	1.41 (0.96–2.05)	1.67 (1.11–2.36)	< 0.001	
HDL-c (mmol /L)	1.38 ± 0.39	1.35 ± 0.36	0.102	
LDL-c (mmol /L)	2.79 ± 0.78	2.88 ± 0.77	0.054	
Creatinine (umol/L)	71.45 ± 15.76	72.68 ± 16.73	0.205	
BUN (mmol/L)	5.21 ± 1.51	5.36 ± 1.45	0.086	
BMI (kg/m ²)	26.10 ± 3.79	26.80 ± 3.74	0.002	

Data are presented as n (%), mean \pm SD, or median (25th–75th percentiles) as appropriate.^a UGE < 130 mg. ^b UGE \geq 130 mg. HR, heart rate; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; 2h-PG, 2 h plasma glucose; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; HDL-c, high-density lipoprotein–cholesterol; LDL-c, low-density lipoprotein–cholesterol; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; LUGE, low urine glucose excretion; HUGE, high urine glucose excretion; BMI, body mass index.

A binary logistic regression analysis was performed to determine the odds ratios of high nUGE associated with insulin levels and IR. A *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).

RESULTS

General Characteristics of the Study Participants

A total of 1129 subjects, including 826 individuals with prediabetes and 303 individuals with NDD, were included in the present study. The general characteristics of the study population, according to UGE, were summarized in **Table 1**. Subjects with high UGE exhibited significant higher BP, FPG, 2h-PG, TC, TG, and BMI compared with those with low UGE. In addition, no significant differences in age, HR, insulin, HOMA-IR, HDL-c, LDL-c, creatinine, and BUN were found between the two groups.

Correlations of UGE With Other Clinical Indicators

Spearman's correlation showed that UGE was positively related to FPG and 2h-PG, whereas negatively correlated with serum insulin levels (r = -0.063, p = 0.034). Moreover, significant positive correlations of UGE with HR, BP, HOMA-IR, TG, TC, LDL-c, BUN, and BMI were observed (**Table 2**).

TABLE 2 | The correlations of UGE with other clinical indicators in subjects with glucose abnormalities.

	UGE	GE
	R	P-value
Age	0.010	0.736
HR	0.068	0.022*
Systolic BP	0.127	< 0.001*
Diastolic BP	0.148	< 0.001*
FPG	0.468	< 0.001*
2h-PG	0.468	< 0.001*
Insulin	-0.063	0.034*
HOMA-IR	0.071	0.017*
TC	0.077	0.009*
TG	0.146	< 0.001*
HDL-c	-0.083	0.005*
LDL-c	0.063	0.035*
BUN	0.076	0.011*
Creatinine	0.030	0.308
BMI	0.110	< 0.001*

Data are presented as r (P-value).

*Significance, p < 0.05. UGE, urine glucose excretion; HR, heart rate; BP, blood pressure; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; 2h–PG, 2–h plasma glucose; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; HDL-c, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; BMI, body mass index.

Multiple Linear Regression Analysis With UGE as the Dependent Variable

To identify the association of UGE with serum insulin levels and HOMA-IR, and eliminate the influence of confounders, multiple linear regression analysis with UGE as a dependent variable was presented in **Table 3**. HOMA-IR and insulin were analyzed in separate models due to collinearity. Insulin levels were negatively associated with UGE after adjustment for potential confounders, including age, gender, FPG, 2h-PG, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and BMI ($\beta = -5.271$, 95% CI: -9.775 to -0.767, p = 0.022). The males were more likely to have higher UGE than females after multivariable adjustment. In addition, FPG and 2h-PG were still positively associated with UGE in this model. Moreover, a negative association between HOMA-IR and UGE was observed after controlling for other variables ($\beta = -4.767$, 95% CI: -28.477 to -1.057, p = 0.035).

Logistic Regression Analysis of Odds Ratio for High UGE

Furthermore, a binary logistic regression analysis was performed to identify the factors associated with odds ratios of high UGE. Increasing FPG and 2h-PG were significantly associated with an increased odds ratio of HUGE in the multi-adjusted model (**Table 4**). However, increased serum insulin levels were significantly associated with a decreased odds ratio of high UGE (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.93–0.98, p < 0.001). In addition, the data also showed an independent inverse relationship between the HOMA-IR and the risk of high UGE (OR = 0.85, 95% CI: 0.78–0.93, p < 0.001).

TABLE 3 | Multiple linear regression analyses with UGE as the dependent variable.

Independent	b Coefficient	95% CI	Standardized	Р
variable			coefficient	
MODEL 1				
Age (years)	-1.663	-4.858 to 1.532	-0.026	0.307
Gender ^a	-292.210	-363.542 to -218.877	-0.217	< 0.001
FPG (mmol/L)	95.187	68.392 to 121.982	0.210	< 0.001
2h-PG (mmol/L)	87.996	76.713 to 99.279	0.459	< 0.001
Insulin (mIU/L)	-5.271	-9.775 to -0.767	-0.056	0.022
Systolic (mmHg)	0.939	-1.271 to 3.150	0.027	0.405
Diastolic (mmHg)	2.576	-1.066 to 6.219	0.045	0.165
TC (mmol/L)	2.746	-45.363 to 50.855	0.004	0.911
TG (mmol/L)	10.585	-5.982 to 27.152	0.034	0.210
BMI (kg/m ²)	5.367	-3.261 to 13.996	0.030	0.223
MODEL 2				
Age (years)	-1.521	-4.703 to 1.662	-0.024	0.349
Gender ^a	-291.520	-363.876 to -219.164	-0.217	<0.001
FPG (mmol/L)	99.721	72.044 to 127.397	0.220	<0.001
2h-PG (mmol/L)	88.229	76.952 to 99.505	0.460	< 0.001
HOMA-IR	-14.767	-28.477 to -1.057	-0.052	0.035
Systolic (mmHg)	0.892	-1.318 to 3.102	0.026	0.428
Diastolic (mmHg)	2.671	-0.969 to 6.312	0.046	0.150
TC (mmol/L)	2.724	-45.403 to 50.851	0.004	0.912
TG (mmol/L)	10.421	-6.152 to 26.994	0.034	0.218
BMI (kg/m ²)	4.881	-3.687 to 13.449	0.028	0.264

Both models were adjusted for age, gender, heart rate, blood pressure, FPG, 2h-PG, TG, TC, high-density lipoprotein–cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein–cholesterol, creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, and body mass index. ^a1 = male, 2 = female. UGE, urine glucose excretion; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; 2h-PG, 2 h plasma glucose; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; BMI, body mass index; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance.

DISCUSSION

Studies on the associations of serum insulin levels and HOMA-IR with UGE are relatively scarce. Previous studies have demonstrated that insulin stimulates sodium reabsorption and the transport of glucose is sodium dependent in renal proximal tubules (Baum, 1987; Ferrannini, 2017). Thus, we hypothesized that insulin may participate in renal glucose reabsorption, which may have influence on UGE. In the present study, we found that serum insulin levels were negatively associated with UGE. The relationship remained significant after adjustment for age, gender, heart rate, blood pressure, FPG, 2h-PG, TG, TC, HDL-c, LDL-c, creatinine, BUN, and BMI (Table 3). Furthermore, multivariable logistic regression model showed that insulin levels were associated with a decreased risk of high UGE. Similar correlation was also observed between HOMA-IR and UGE. The study established that increased insulin levels and HOMA-IR were strongly correlated with decreased risk of high UGE after controlling for other variables, indicating that insulin might reduce UGE independent of blood glucose.

Glycosuria is the result of glycemic excursions in excess of the renal glucose threshold (Osaki et al., 2016). Much more attention has been paid to the significance of UGE on health and disease, such as glycemic control and diabetes screening (Lu et al., 2011; Dallosso et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2015). However, factors associated with UGE have not been elucidated clearly in patients with diabetes. UGE increases in TABLE 4 | Multiple logistic regression analyses of odds ratios for high UGE.

β	SE of β	OR	95% CI	P-value
0.920	0.112	2.51	2.02-3.12	< 0.001
0.393	0.037	1.48	1.38–1.60	< 0.001
-0.046	0.013	0.96	0.93–0.98	< 0.001
0.989	0.117	2.69	2.14–3.38	< 0.001
0.396	0.037	1.49	1.38–1.60	< 0.001
-0.160	0.042	0.85	0.78–0.93	< 0.001
	0.920 0.393 -0.046 0.989 0.396	0.920 0.112 0.393 0.037 -0.046 0.013 0.989 0.117 0.396 0.037	0.920 0.112 2.51 0.393 0.037 1.48 -0.046 0.013 0.96 0.989 0.117 2.69 0.396 0.037 1.49	0.920 0.112 2.51 2.02–3.12 0.393 0.037 1.48 1.38–1.60 -0.046 0.013 0.96 0.93–0.98 0.989 0.117 2.69 2.14–3.38 0.396 0.037 1.49 1.38–1.60

Both models were adjusted for age, gender, heart rate, blood pressure, FPG, 2h-PG, TG, TC, high-density lipoprotein–cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein–cholesterol, creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, and body mass index.

SE, standard error; OR, odds ratio; Cl, confidence interval; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; 2h-PG, 2 h plasma glucose; UGE, urine glucose excretion; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance.

a proportional manner with increasing blood glucose (Rave et al., 2006). Consistent with previous studies (Rave et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2015), positive relationships of UGE with FPG and 2h-PG were observed in the present study. In addition, our data showed that both increased insulin levels and HOMA-IR were significantly associated with a decrease in the risk of high UGE. The study by Ono et al. (2017) also revealed an inverse association between the insulinogenic index and UGE. However, this study was conducted in subjects with prediabetes. Our study population was consisted of participants with prediabetes and NDD. Furthermore, a recent study reported that individuals with increased HOMA-IR were at an increased risk for high renal threshold for glucose reabsorption (Yue et al., 2017), suggesting that subjects with IR are more likely to have enhanced renal glucose reabsorption, which may cause a reduction in UGE. Taken together, we found insulin levels and IR were negatively associated with UGE independent of blood glucose, and further suggested that in addition to glucose-lowering action, as a major polypeptide hormone, insulin may affect UGE in other ways.

SGLT2, a highly specific and major glucose transporter in kidney tubules, is responsible for more than 90% of tubular glucose reabsorption (Nair and Wilding, 2010; Ferrannini, 2017). Overexpression of SGLT2 has been observed in both animal models and humans with diabetes (Rahmoune et al., 2005; Vallon et al., 2013). Obviously, increased glucose reabsorption may contribute to the progression of hyperglycemia (Wilding, 2014). Several studies have demonstrated the efficacy of SGLT2 inhibitors for the improvement of glucose control by inhibiting glucose reabsorption and increasing UGE (Devineni et al., 2012). As is well known, insulin resistance is one of the major characteristics in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Besides, insulin receptor has been found in renal tubular cells. A recent study found the deletion of insulin receptor significantly reduced SGLT2 expression and increased UGE, the study suggested that insulin, rather than glucose, may primarily regulate SGLT2 abundance and glucose transport (Nizar et al., 2018). In addition, another study demonstrated that insulin could stimulate SGLT-2-mediated glucose entry into proximal tubular cells (Nakamura et al., 2015). Taken together, elevated insulin levels may be a major factor to influence the expression of SGLT2 and UGE. Therefore, subjects with elevated insulin levels or HOMA-IR were more likely to have low UGE independent of blood glucose, may be attributed to enhanced glucose reabsorption via upregulation of SGLT2.

To date, few studies have focused on the association of insulin levels and IR with UGE. Our study population is consisted of subjects with no history of previous diabetes or taking any antidiabetic medication. Therefore, the correlation between insulin and UGE may be more accurate due to the elimination of the impacts of antidiabetic medication on UGE or insulin levels. However, some limitations should be noticed in this study. First, individuals with increased insulin levels and IR were at a decreased risk of high UGE independent of blood glucose, which might be attributed to increased renal glucose reabsorption. However, renal glucose reabsorption was not evaluated in this study. Future studies are needed to evaluate the renal threshold of glucose reabsorption in subjects with hyperinsulinemia or IR. In addition, further study is necessary to confirm whether hyperinsulinemia may induce SGLT2 overexpression in humans or animal models. Second, most subjects with normal glucose

REFERENCES

Artunc, F., Schleicher, E., Weigert, C., Fritsche, A., Stefan, N., and Häring, H. U. (2016). The impact of insulin resistance on the kidney and vasculature. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 12, 721–737. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.145 tolerance did not have obvious UGE. There is no significant correlation between insulin levels and UGE in subjects with normal glucose tolerance. Our study only involved subjects with prediabetes and NDD, so that the present findings may not be extrapolated to subjects with normal glucose tolerance or previous history of diabetes. Third, the causal relationships could not be deduced in the cross-sectional study. Finally, we did not measure insulin levels 30, 60, and 90 min post-glucose loading. Nevertheless, the present study could still provide valuable information to help us understand the association of UGE with insulin.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, increased serum insulin levels and HOMA-IR were associated with a decreased risk of high UGE independent of blood glucose in subjects with glucose abnormalities, which might be attributed to the increased renal glucose reabsorption.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Z-LS and JC were responsible for the study design. JC was responsible for data collection, data analysis, interpretation, and writing of the manuscript. S-HQ, H-JG, and WL were responsible for data collection and assisted with data interpretation and writing. All authors read the manuscript critically and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from National Key R&D Program of China (2016YFC1305700), National Key Scientific Instrument and Equipment Development Project of China (No. 51627808), and the Excellence Project of Southeast University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the staff who were involved in this study for their important contributions. We are grateful to many residents of Jiangsu Province who participated in this study.

Baum, M. (1987). Insulin stimulates volume absorption in the rabbit proximal convoluted tubule. J. Clin. Invest. 79, 1104–1109. doi: 10.1172/JCI112925

Chen, J., Guo, H., Yuan, S., Qu, C., Mao, T., Qiu, S., et al. (2018a). Efficacy of urinary glucose for diabetes screening: a reconsideration. *Acta Diabetol.* doi: 10.1007/s00592-018-1212-1 [Epub ahead of print].

- Chen, J., Guo, H. J., Qiu, S. H., Li, W., Wang, X. H., Cai, M., et al. (2018b). Identification of newly diagnosed diabetes and prediabetes using fasting plasma glucose and urinary glucose in a chinese population: a multicenter cross-sectional study. *Chin. Med. J.* 131, 1652–1657. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999. 235884
- Dallosso, H. M., Bodicoat, D. H., Campbell, M., Carey, M. E., Davies, M. J., Eborall, H. C., et al. (2015). Self-monitoring of blood glucose versus self-monitoring of urine glucose in adults with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes receiving structured education: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Diabet. Med.* 32, 414–422. doi: 10.1111/dme.12598
- Defronzo, R. A. (2009). Banting lecture. from the triumvirate to the ominous octet: a new paradigm for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes* 58, 773–795. doi: 10.2337/db09-9028
- DeFronzo, R. A., Davidson, J. A., and Del, P. S. (2012). The role of the kidneys in glucose homeostasis: a new path towards normalizing glycaemia. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 14, 5–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01511.x
- DeFronzo, R. A., Hompesch, M., Kasichayanula, S., Liu, X., Hong, Y., Pfister, M., et al. (2013). Characterization of renal glucose reabsorption in response to dapagliflozin in healthy subjects and subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 36, 3169–3176. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0387
- Devineni, D., Morrow, L., Hompesch, M., Skee, D., Vandebosch, A., Murphy, J., et al. (2012). Canagliflozin improves glycaemic control over 28 days in subjects with type 2 diabetes not optimally controlled on insulin. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 14, 539–545. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01558.x
- Ferrannini, E. (2017). Sodium-glucose co-transporters and their inhibition: clinical physiology. *Cell Metab.* 26, 27–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.011
- Gerich, J. E. (2010). Role of the kidney in normal glucose homeostasis and in the hyperglycaemia of diabetes mellitus: therapeutic implications. *Diabet. Med.* 27, 136–142. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02894.x
- Horita, S., Nakamura, M., Suzuki, M., Satoh, N., Suzuki, A., and Seki, G. (2016). Selective insulin resistance in the kidney. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2016;5825170. doi: 10.1155/2016/5825170
- Lu, J., Bu, R. F., Sun, Z. L., Lu, Q. S., Jin, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2011). Comparable efficacy of self-monitoring of quantitative urine glucose with selfmonitoring of blood glucose on glycaemic control in non-insulin-treated type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 93, 179–186. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2011. 04.012
- Mondick, J., Riggs, M., Sasaki, T., Sarashina, A., Broedl, U. C., and Retlich, S. (2016). Mixed-effects modelling to quantify the effect of empagliflozin on renal glucose reabsorption in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 18, 241–248. doi: 10.1111/dom.12597
- Nair, S., and Wilding, J. P. (2010). Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors as a new treatment for diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 34–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-0473
- Nakamura, N., Matsui, T., Ishibashi, Y., and Yamagishi, S. (2015). Insulin stimulates SGLT2-mediated tubular glucose absorption via oxidative stress generation. *Diabetol. Metab. Syndr.* 7:48. doi: 10.1186/s13098-015-0044-1
- Nizar, J. M., Shepard, B. D., Vo, V. T., and Bhalla, V. (2018). Renal tubule insulin receptor modestly promotes elevated blood pressure and markedly stimulates glucose reabsorption. *JCI Insight* 3:e95107. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95107

- Ono, Y., Ono, S., Hinata, T., Ito, T., Yasuda, H., and Tanaka, Y. (2017). Usefulness of urinary glucose excretion after oral glucose tolerance testing to detect insulin secretion failure before the onset of diabetes mellitus. *Endocr. J.* 64, 75–81. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ16-0289
- Osaki, A., Okada, S., Saito, T., Yamada, E., Ono, K., Niijima, Y., et al. (2016). Renal threshold for glucose reabsorption predicts diabetes improvement by sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor therapy. *J. Diabetes Investig.* 7, 751–754. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12473
- Rahmoune, H., Thompson, P. W., Ward, J. M., Smith, C. D., Hong, G., and Brown, J. (2005). Glucose transporters in human renal proximal tubular cells isolated from the urine of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 3427–3434. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54. 12.3427
- Rave, K., Nosek, L., Posner, J., Heise, T., Roggen, K., and van Hoogdalem, E. J. (2006). Renal glucose excretion as a function of blood glucose concentration in subjects with type 2 diabetes-results of a hyperglycaemic glucose clamp study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 21, 2166–2171. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfl175
- Thomas, S. S., Zhang, L., and Mitch, W. E. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* 88, 1233–1239. doi: 10.1038/ki.2015.305
- Vallon, V., Rose, M., Gerasimova, M., Satriano, J., Platt, K. A., Koepsell, H., et al. (2013). Knockout of Na-glucose transporter SGLT2 attenuates hyperglycemia and glomerular hyperfiltration but not kidney growth or injury in diabetes mellitus. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 304, F156–F167. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal. 00409.2012
- Wilding, J. P. (2014). The role of the kidneys in glucose homeostasis in type 2 diabetes: clinical implications and therapeutic significance through sodium glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. *Metab. Clin. Exp.* 63, 1228–1237. doi: 10. 1016/j.metabol.2014.06.018
- Yang, B. Q., Lu, Y., He, J. J., Wu, T. Z., Xie, Z. L., Lei, C. H., et al. (2015). Performance of fasting plasma glucose and postprandial urine glucose in screening for diabetes in chinese high-risk population. *Chin. Med. J.* 128, 3270–3275. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.171353
- Yue, X. D., Wang, J. Y., Zhang, X. R., Yang, J. H., Shan, C. Y., Zheng, M. Y., et al. (2017). Characteristics and impact factors of renal threshold for glucose excretion in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J. Korean Med. Sci.* 32, 621–627. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2017.32.4.621

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Chen, Qiu, Guo, Li and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Physical Exercise and Its Protective Effects on Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: What Is the Evidence?

Jia Zheng^{1,2†}, Jing Cheng^{3†}, Sheng Zheng⁴, Ling Zhang², Xiaohui Guo², Junqing Zhang^{2*} and Xinhua Xiao^{1*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Endocrinology, Department of Endocrinology, Ministry of Health, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences & Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ² Department of Endocrinology, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, ³ The Key Laboratory of Cardiovascular Remodeling and Function Research, Chinese Ministry of Education and Chinese Ministry of Health & The State and Shandong Province Joint Key Laboratory of Translational Cardiovascular Medicine, Shandong University Qilu Hospital, Shandong, China, ⁴ Department of Orthopedics, XiangYang Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Hubei, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zilin Sun, Southeast University, China

Reviewed by:

Andrea Enzo Scaramuzza, Istituti Ospitalieri di Cremona, Italy Fang Zou, Second Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, China

*Correspondence:

Xinhua Xiao xiaoxh2014@vip.163.com Junqing Zhang junqing.zhang@pkufh.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 28 September 2018 Accepted: 16 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Zheng J, Cheng J, Zheng S, Zhang L, Guo X, Zhang J and Xiao X (2018) Physical Exercise and Its Protective Effects on Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: What Is the Evidence? Front. Endocrinol. 9:729. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00729 As one of the most serious complications of diabetes, diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) imposes a huge burden on individuals and society, and represents a major public health problem. It has long been recognized that physical exercise has important health benefits for patients with type 2 diabetes, and regular physical exercise can delay or prevent the complications of diabetes. Current studies show that physical exercise has been regarded as an importantly non-pharmacological treatment for diabetes and DCM, with high efficacy and low adverse events. It can inhibit the pathological processes of myocardial apoptosis, myocardial fibrosis, and myocardial microvascular diseases through improving myocardial metabolism, enhancing the regulation of Ca²⁺, and protecting the function of mitochondria. Eventually, it can alleviate the occurrence and development of diabetic complications. Describing the mechanisms of physical exercise on DCM may provide a new theory for alleviating, or even reversing the development of DCM, and prevent it from developing to heart failure.

Keywords: exercise, diabetic cardiomyopathy, myocardial metabolism, oxidative stress, myocardial fibrosis, apoptosis

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) continues to increase dramatically, and is now considered as an epidemic worldwide. It is estimated that the number of people with diabetes will exhibit a 45% increase in three decades (1). Uncontrolled diabetes can lead to a number of long-term health complications, including heart diseases, nerve damage, vision problems, and amputation. Among the various complications of diabetes, cardiovascular disease (CVD) represents the major cause of mortality and morbidity in diabetic patients, accounting for nearly 70% of related heart failure cases (2). Diabetic patients, when compared with nondisease subjects, are two to four times more likely to experience CVD events, due to micro- and macrovascular atherosclerosis, which is often exacerbated by the presence of concomitant CVD risk factors, including hypertension, dyslipidemia, and activation of neuro-hormonal and inflammatory mechanisms (3, 4).

THE PATHOGENESIS OF DCM

Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM), a distinct condition that develops in diabetic patients, is defined by the presence of myocardial dysfunction in the absence of coronary atherosclerosis, overt clinical coronary artery disease (CAD), and valvular heart disease (5, 6). It is characterized by cardiac structure and function disorders, including myocardial fibrosis, dysfunctional remodeling, and associated metabolic deregulation and left ventricular dysfunction (7-9). DCM is associated with diastolic dysfunction, with depressed myocardial contractility and relaxation, and eventually by clinical heart failure (10). Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction with increased wall stiffness is common in subjects with well-controlled T2DM who are free of clinically detectable heart diseases (11). The pathogenesis of DCM is a multifactorial process that includes altered myocardial metabolism (impaired energy metabolism, calcium regulation, and mitochondrial function) (12, 13), increased oxidative stress (14), altered myocardial structure with fibrosis (15), higher induction of apoptosis (16), and microvascular disease (9).

CURRENT STRATEGIES FOR DCM INTERVENTION

Despite prominent advances in the prevention and treatment of diabetes, diabetic complications, especially for DCM still remain rigorous in patients with T2DM (17, 18). Nowadays, treatments for DCM include glucose and lipid control, hypertension treatment, and CAD intervention. Currently, pharmacological treatment is accepted as the common strategy for CVD in diabetic patients, such as β -blockers, Ca²⁺ antagonist, β -blockers, renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system inhibitors (9). In recent years, it demonstrated that metformin and sodium-dependent glucose transporters 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors are also benefit for DCM (19). A systematic review of observational studies showed that metformin reduced all-cause mortality in patients with diabetes with congestive heart failure (20). Pan et al. found that empagliflozin ameliorated DCM in diabetic ALDH2*2 mutant

patients (21). However, the incidence and mortality rate of DCM still remains high. Physical exercise has been shown to improve health and quality of life in patients with a variety of diseases, including obesity (22), T2DM (23), chronic kidney disease (24), and cancers (25). Currently, physical exercise has been regarded as an importantly non-pharmacological treatment for the prevention and treatment of diabetes and its complications. It has been long known that physical activity can decrease the occurrence of cardiac events, including heart attacks and strokes, and the need for a coronary revascularization intervention (26-28). Exercise induces adaptations to the heart itself, as well as the cardiovascular system. These adaptations include protection against ischemic damage, increase of cardiac growth, and modulation of cardiac metabolism, function, and vascular supply (26). Myocardial apoptosis, myocardial fibrosis, and hemodynamic disorders caused by high glucose can be improved or even reversed by physical exercise. Studies have shown that exercise can improve myocardial metabolism, lower blood glucose, increase insulin sensitivity, inhibit myocardial fibrosis, improve oxidative stress, and decrease the risks of CVDs. Ultimately, it can improve heart function and decrease the mortality of DCM (29, 30).

CLINICAL STUDIES ABOUT EXERCISE AND DIABETES-RELATED CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

Physical activity plays an essential role in the maintenance of human health. Chronic diseases, such as metabolic syndrome and diabetes, are a tremendous burden to our society. Regular physical activity is a primary recommendation for the prevention and treatment of these diseases (36). Physical exercise has a wide array of beneficial effects, including improving glucose and insulin metabolism, and reducing the risks of CVDs in diabetic patients (37). The intensive weight loss intervention was effective in increasing physical activity and improving cardiorespiratory fitness in overweight and obese individuals with T2DM (31). Physical activity was associated with reduced risks of CVD,

Subjects included	Exercise profile	Metabolic effects	References
4,376 overweight or obese adults with T2DM	At least 50 min/week, progressing to at least 175 min/week	Increased physical activity Improved cardiorespiratory fitness	Jakicic et al. (31)
3,058 patients with T2DM	Leisure-time physical activity	Reduced risk of CVD, cardiovascular death, and total mortality	Tanasescu et al. (32)
575 patients with T2DM	Low (<4 METs), moderate (\geq 4 to <7 METs) and high fitness (\geq 7 METs)	Lower hemoglobin A1c and C-reactive protein levels A decreased prevalence of left ventricular hypertrophy and increased aortic stiffness	Cardoso et al. (33)
3,708 patients with T2DM	Occupational, commuting, and leisure-time physical activity	Decreased total and cardiovascular mortality	Hu et al. (34)
539 patients with T2DM	Leisure-time physical activity	Reduced risks of short-term CVD outcome	Karjalainen et al. (35)

CVD, cardiovascular disease; METs, metabolic equivalents.

cardiovascular death, and total mortality in patients with T2DM (32, 38). In addition, the benefits of exercise may depend on the intensity of exercise. It showed that a moderate to high level of physical fitness was independently associated with several cardiovascular risk markers, which may contribute to decreasing the burden of morbidity and mortality in patients with T2DM (33). Hu et al. also showed that a moderate or high level of physical activity was associated with a reduced risk of total and cardiovascular mortality among patients with T2DM, which was regardless of the levels of body mass index, blood pressure, total cholesterol, and smoking (34). Furthermore, the duration of exercise is also an important factor for its benefits of CVD. Karjalainen et al. found that there was an inverse association between leisure-time physical activity and short-term CVD outcome. However, controlled, home-based exercise training had minor effects on the risk profile of CVD in CAD patients with T2DM. These findings highlight the significance of lifelong physical activity instead of a short-term exercise program in the prevention of future unfavorable outcomes in patients with CAD (35). However, clinical studies about exercise and its benefits in diabetes-related CVDs are limited. It is suggested to carry out long-term exercise program to ensure maximum exercise efficiency, with an appropriate amount of exercise. According to the evidence of the aforementioned studies and the 2018 guideline of American Diabetes Association (ADA) (39), we recommend a moderate to high level [>4 to <7 metabolic equivalents (METs)] of physical fitness for patients with T2DM, such as 150 min or more of moderate-to-vigorous intensity aerobic activity per week. The clinical studies about exercise and diabetes-related cardiovascular diseases are listed in Table 1.

PRE-CLINICAL EXPERIMENTS ABOUT PHYSICAL EXERCISE AND DCM

Physical Exercise Improves Cardiomyocyte Metabolism

Physical Exercise Increases Energy Metabolism

Disorders of myocardial glucose and lipid metabolism lead to changes in pathways related with myocardial energy metabolism. Abnormalities that produce cardiac structure and function are called "metabolic remodeling of the heart," which ultimately leads to the development of cardiomyopathy. Glucose transporter-4 (GLUT-4) is an intracellular protein that can be translocated to cell membrane induced by insulin, and then it can participate in glucose uptake and utilization. The expression of GLUT-4 was decreased and abnormally distributed in diabetic state, resulting in a significant decrease in glucose transport and impaired myocardium energy utilization (58). Studies indicate that moderate exercise can upregulate GLUT-4 expression, and also can increase glucose transport and activate pyruvate dehydrogenase complexes, even in the absence of insulin (59). It suggests that exercise can compensate for impaired energy metabolism in insulin-deficient state, which may be related to the increase of insulin-sensitive adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK) expression, thereby protecting pancreatic β cells. Exercise may also enhance insulin-mediated glucose transport by increasing the expression of protein kinase C- δ (60, 61). Exercise can also increase insulin and its downstream protein expressions in the myocardium of diet-induced obesity rats, as well as forkhead box protein o1 (Foxo1) and other key regulators of pancreatic β cells, and also activate insulin signaling pathway (40). Thus, exercise can protect pancreatic β cells, promote insulin secretion, activate insulin signaling pathway, increase GLUT4 expression, improve intracellular energy metabolism, and ultimately protect cardiomyocytes.

Physical Exercise Enhances Calcium Regulation

Calcium is a crucial mediator of cell signaling in skeletal muscles for cellular functions and specific functions, including contraction, fiber-type differentiation, and energy production. Intracellular Ca²⁺ dyshomeostasis is one of the main markers of DCM, which can affect myocardial contractile function, directly leading to the occurrence and development of DCM. It is even worse in altered sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ uptake rate accompanied by decreased function of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase (SERCA2a) (62). In T2DM patients, the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange of cardiomyocytes is inhibited, while the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pump is normal, and Ca²⁺ is gradually concentrated in the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Thus, the amplitude and attenuation rate of Ca^{2+} concentration in the myocardium is decreased. Conversely, exercise can improve the expression and activity of SERCA2a, which can regulate Ca²⁺ release and recapture in the myocardium. Exercise can increase Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation, reduce Ca^{2+} efflux, facilitate Ca^{2+} regulation, and ultimately improves myocardial contraction and diastolic function (41). Stølen et al. found that high intensity intermittent exercise improved myocardial contractility by restoring L-type Ca²⁺ channels, increasing the density of T-transverse tubules, and increasing the synchrony of Ca²⁺ release and excitatory contraction coupling (42).

Physical Exercise Improves Mitochondrial Function

Mitochondrion is the center of energy metabolism, and recent evidence suggests that mitochondrial dysfunction may play a critical role in the pathogenesis of DCM. The imbalance of energy supply and demand directly leads to the decline of myocardial function and induction of DCM (63). The ultrastructure of mitochondria in DCM shows reduced density, mitochondrial swelling, and destruction of the intima and adventitia, and an increase in mitochondrial matrix, while exercise attenuates diabetes-induced ultrastructural changes in rat cardiac tissue (43). Moderate exercise intervention has a protective effect on mitochondrial function. Exercise can regulate the key regulator of mitochondrial metabolism, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-stimulatory factor-1a (PGC-1a), and activate its downstream transcription factors. Thus, it can enhance mitochondrial DNA replication and transcription, and increase mitochondria biosynthesis (44). Furthermore, the mechanisms by which exercise improves mitochondrial function may be related to the regulation of Ca^{2+} in mitochondria. Ca^{2+} is a key metabolic enzyme activator in mitochondria, and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ circulatory balance can be easily affected by intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis (41, 42). Resistance exercise improves cardiac function and mitochondrial efficiency in hearts, of diabetic rat, which were accompanied by higher expressions of mitochondrial biogenesis proteins such as PGC-1 α and mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) (45). In addition, studies have shown that high intensity exercise can increase myocardial mitochondrial contents, but no change in moderate intensity exercise (46, 47). However, Veeranki et al. showed that moderate intensity exercise prevented DCM associated contractile dysfunction through restoration of mitochondrial function and connexin 43 levels in db/db mice (30). These indicate that myocardial mitochondrial biosynthesis may be associated with exercise intensity, and exercise intensity should be further investigated about its effects on DCM.

Physical Exercise Relieves Oxidative Stress Damage

Oxidative stress is considered to be a key link in the development of DCM. Under physiological conditions, there is a balance system of oxygen free radicals and free radicals in the body. Oxygen atoms play an important role in the redox signaling pathway. Moderate oxidation can increase protein activity, but excessive reactive oxygen species can cause pathological changes through interaction with lipids, proteins, and DNA (64). Hyperglycemia can directly promote the production of oxygen free radicals, induce oxidative stress, and promote cardiomyocyte apoptosis. The mechanisms by which exercise ameliorates oxidative stress is complex, including: (1) reducing the production of reactive oxygen species. Exercise can ameliorate the damage caused by excessive oxidative stress in the diabetic myocardium and pancreas, thereby improving glucose metabolism and reducing damage caused by reactive oxygen species (48). Long-term exercise can also directly reduce the level of reactive oxygen species in the body by reducing the activity of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase in diabetic rats (49). (2) Enhancing the ability of anti-oxidative stress. Exercise can increase the expression of nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide, and ultimately enhance the antioxidant function in endothelial cells (49). Nuclear factor E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) can regulate the expressions of antioxidants mediated by antioxidant response elements. It is an important transcription factor for intracellular defense of reactive oxygen species (50, 65). Studies have shown that acute exercise can promote the function of Nrf2, activate downstream antioxidant response elements, and ultimately enhance the activity of anti-oxidative stress. In addition, knocking out the Nrf2 gene can increase the sensitivity of cardiomyocytes to oxidative stress, leading to increased oxidative damage in cells (50). Kanter et al. showed that low intensity exercise decreased the elevated tissue malondialdehyde (MDA) levels and increased the reduced activities of the enzymatic antioxidants superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px), and catalase (CAT) in cardiac tissue (51). It indicates that exercise improves the biological mechanisms of DCM by affecting the levels of plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), and it is dependent on the intensity of exercise (52).

Physical Exercise Improves Myocardial Fibrosis

Myocardial fibrosis is the most prominent histopathological change in DCM, characterized by myocardial cell collagen deposition, interstitial fibrosis, and perivascular fibrosis, and ultimately induce the reconstruction of cardiac structure and function (53). Numerous studies indicated that moderate exercise can decrease blood glucose, reduce myocardial fibrosis, promote myocardial reverse remodeling in diabetic rats, and improve cardiac function (30, 53). The mechanisms may be that exercise reduces pressure overload by improving blood pressure, thereby alleviating myocardial fibrosis (53). Exercise can increase the content of matrix metalloproteinase-2 (Mmp-2) in obese rats, increase the degradation of collagen and inhibit the formation of myocardial fibrosis (47). The interaction of collagen with glucose can further cause chemical modification of glycated collagen to form advanced glycation end products (AGEs) that promote arterial and cardiac cirrhosis, as well as endothelial dysfunction (66). Other mechanism by which exercise improves myocardial fibrosis may be related to improving energy metabolism, decreasing blood glucose, and myocardial glycogen deposition (54). Novoa et al. showed that high intensity chronic exercise had a positive impact on cardiac remodeling, evidenced as reduction in myocyte hypertrophy, reduced collagen deposition, and amelioration of myocardial fibrosis (55).

Physical Exercise Inhibits Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis

Diabetes-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis is a typical feature of DCM. Hyperglycemia can directly promote cytochrome C release to the cytoplasm by activating cytochrome C in mitochondria, triggering cascade activation of caspase-3, leading to endogenous apoptosis of cardiomyocytes. This change plays an important role in the development of diabetic cardiac hypertrophy, myocardial remodeling, and heart failure. C-Jun N-terminal kinase is a member of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family, which can activate caspase-8 and the apoptotic protein Bax, and release cytochromes to promote apoptosis (67). Veeranki et al. found that exercise can also reduce cytochrome C leakage into cytoplasm by increasing mitochondrial transmembrane potential, thus prevent cardiomyocyte apoptosis (30). A number of studies have shown that exercise can reduce the phosphorylation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in obese rats, block the transmission of downstream apoptotic signals. Exercise can also increase the expression of B-cell lymphokine 2 in the myocardium of diabetic mice, which can affect the activation of pro-apoptotic proteins by binding to proapoptotic proteins, and ultimately play an anti-apoptotic role on cardiomyocytes in diabetic mice (56). Kanter et al. showed that low intensity exercise had a therapeutic effect on diabetes-induced morphological, biochemical, and apoptotic changes in the cardiac tissue of rats (51). Khakdan et al. found that high intensity interval training effectively increased the expression of Sirtuin 1 (Sirt1) and B cell leukemia/lymphoma 2 TABLE 2 | Pre-clinical experiments about physical exercise and DCM.

Animals	Exercise intervention	Main findings	References
PHYSICAL EXERCISE IMPROVE	S CARDIOMYOCYTE METABOLISM		
Diet-induced obesity rats	Treadmill running (50-min/day, 5 days per week velocity of 1.0 km/h for 2 months)	 Increased protein levels of phospho-P38MAPK, REDD1 in the myocardium Decreased 14-3-3 protein levels in the myocardium 	Pieri et al. (40)
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	accumulated about 3,554 m/day of voluntary wheel running for 12 weeks	 Prevented diastolic dysfunction in diabetic mice Normalized sarcoplasmic reticulum protein content and expression in diabetic animals Enhanced SERCA2a activity 	Epp et al. (41)
Cardiomyocytes from mice with T2DM (db/db)	13 weeks of aerobic interval training (4 min at 85–90% of VO _{2max} and 2 min at 50% of VO _{2max} for 80 min /day, 5 days/week)	 Restored contractile function associated with restored SR Ca²⁺ release synchronicity, T-tubule density, twitch Ca²⁺ amplitude, SR Ca²⁺ ATPase and Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger activities, and SR-Ca²⁺ leak Reduced phosphorylation of cytosolic CaMKII& 	Stølen et al. (42)
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	Run daily on a treadmill for 9 weeks (60 min/day, at a pace of 20 m/min)	 Normalized enhanced fractional Ca²⁺ release Attenuated diabetes-induced changes in collagen fibrils, cytoplasmic area, and level of mitochondrial discustor 	Searls et al. (43)
C57BL/6 db/db mice	Run daily on a treadmill for 15 weeks (10 m/min for 1 h/day)	disruption - Reversed reduction in EF and FS - Reversed reduction of mtDNA replication and transcription, together with reduced mtDNA content and impaired mitochondrial ultrastructure - Activated PGC-1α and Akt signaling	Wang et al. (44)
Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty rats	20 repetitions of climbing a ladder 5 days per week for 12 weeks	- Increased EF and FS - Increased mitochondrial numbers - Higher expression of PGC-1α and TFAM	Ko et al. (45)
C57BL/6J mice	10 weeks of treadmill running (4 min at 85–90% of $\text{VO}_{2\text{max}})$	10% increase in heart weight-to-body weight ratio 36% increase in glucose oxidation and a concomitant reduction in fatty acid oxidation	Hafstad et al. (46)
Diet-induced obesity C57BL/6 mice	8–10 weeks of treadmill running (4 min at 85–90% of VO _{2max})	 Improved aerobic capacity, reduced obesity, improved glucose tolerance Normalized left ventricular mechanical efficiency and mechanoenergetics Improved mitochondrial capacity and efficiency, as well as reduced oxidative stress 	Hafstad et al. (47)
db/db mice	300 m run on a treadmill for 5 days/week at the speeds of 10–11 m/min for 5 weeks	 Prevented diabetic cardiac functional deficiencies: EF and FS Improvements in contraction velocity and contraction maximum, OCR, and tissue ATP levels Attenuated transmembrane potential decline and cytochrome c leakage 	Veeranki et al. (30)
PHYSICAL EXERCISE RELIEVES	OXIDATIVE STRESS DAMAGE		
STZ-induced diabetic Wistar rats	9 weeks of treadmill running (11 m/min, 18 min/day)	 Lower left atrium diameter Higher catalase and superoxide dismutase activities Higher glutathione peroxidase activity 	Gimenes et al. (48)
Diabetic Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats	9 weeks of treadmill running (60 min/day and 5 days/week)	 Increased plantaris muscle cytochrome oxidase, improved glycosylated hemoglobin and insulin sensitivity Increased both total eNOS expression and the dimer:monomer ratio in the left ventricle Increased nitric oxide (+28%) production and decreased eNOS-dependent superoxide (-12%) production Decreased NADPH-dependent O₂-activity 	Grijalva et al. (49)
Nrf2 ^{-/-} mice	Exercise on a treadmill for 2 consecutive days (60 min/day; 14 m/min; 10% grade)	 Activated Nrf2/ARE signaling and promoted antioxidant Activation of Nrf2/ARE (antioxidant response element) signaling Enhancement of antioxidant defense pathways Increased trans-activation of ARE-containing genes 	Muthusamy et al. (50)

(Continued)

Animals	Exercise intervention	Main findings	References
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 30 min daily for 4 weeks at a speed of 10 m/min	 Decreased the elevated tissue MDA levels Increased the reduced activities of the enzymatic antioxidants SOD, GSH-Px, and CAT in cardiac tissue 	Kanter et al. (51)
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 60 min/day on 5 days for 6 weeks (10–20 m/min)	- Higher serum level of NO and eNOS - Reduced PAI-1 and vWF - Reduced PKC levels	Chengji et al. (52)
PHYSICAL EXERCISE ATTENUA	TES MYOCARDIAL FIBROSIS		
db/db mice	300 m run on a treadmill for 5 days/week at the speeds of 10–11 m/min for 5 weeks	 Normalized overall collagen accumulation at both the perivascular regions and in interstitial regions of heart tissue Prevented the tendency for decline in the fast twitch cardiac MHC isoform, α-MHC 	Veeranki et al (30)
STZ-induced diabetic Wistar rats	Swimming training for 8 weeks (5 days/week, 90 min/day, with a load of 5% body weight)	 Decreased interstitial collagen and reticular fibers on the extracellular matrix Attenuated glycogen accumulation 	Silva et al. (53)
Diet-induced obesity C57BL/6 mice	8–10 weeks of treadmill running (4 min at 85–90% of VO _{2max})	 Increased the content of Mmp-2 in obese rats, increase the degradation of collagen and inhibited the formation of myocardial fibrosis 	Hafstad et al. (47)
High-fat diet fed C57BL/6J mice	5 weekly HIT (10 × 4 min at 85–90% of maximum oxygen uptake)	 Normalized diastolic function, attenuated diet-induced changes in myocardial substrate utilization Inhibited cardiac reactive oxygen species content and fibrosis 	Lund et al. (54)
Alloxan-induced diabetic SD rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 4 weeks at 80% of maximal performance	 Inhibited cardiomyocyte hypertrophy Inhibited collagen deposition in the heart and interstitial fibrosis 	Novoa et al. (55)
PHYSICAL EXERCISE INHIBITS	CARDIOMYOCYTE APOPTOSIS		
db/db mice	300 m run on a treadmill for 5 days/week at the speeds of 10–11 m/min for 5 weeks	 Attenuated transmembrane potential decline and cytochrome c leakage 	Veeranki etal. (30)
STZ-induced diabetic Wistar rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 60 min/day, 5 days/week, for 10 weeks	 Increased cardiac survival pathway (IGF1, IGF1-R, PI3K, and Akt) and the pro-survival Bcl-2 family proteins (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and p-BAD) Reduced cardiac TUNEL-positive apoptotic cells Decreased the apoptotic key component caspase-3 	Cheng et al. (56)
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 30 min daily for 4 weeks at a speed of 10 m/min	- Reduced cardiac TUNEL-positive apoptotic cells	Kanter et al. (51)
High-fat high-fructose diet-induced Wistar diabetic rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 5-min at 30–40% of VO ₂ max, 2-min intervals at 85–90% VO ₂ max with recovery cycles at 30–40% VO ₂ max and finished by 3-min cooling down by running at 30–40% of VO ₂ max for 10 weeks	 Increased the expression of Sirt1 and BCL-2 Increases LVEF% and FS% 	Khakdan et al. (57)
STZ-induced diabetic SD rats	Exercise on a treadmill for 60 min/day on 5 days for 12 weeks (20 m/min for LIT and 34 m/min for HIT)	 Reduced serum cTn-I levels Reduced GRP78, CHOP, and cleaved caspase-12 protein expression 	Chengjier et al. (52)

DCM, diabetic cardiomyopathy; STZ, Streptozotocin; SD, Sprague-Dawley; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; REDD1, regulated in development and DNA damage response 1; SR, sarcoplasmic reticulum; SERCA2a, sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase; mtDNA, mitochondrial DNA; PGC-1α, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha; TFAM, mitochondrial transcription factor A; Akt, protein kinase B; VO2max, maximal oxygen consumption; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; EF, ejection fraction; FS, fractional shortening; OCR, oxygen consumption rate; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1; vWF, Von Willebrand factor; PKC, protein kinase C; NO, nitric oxide; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; Nr12, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; ARE, antioxidant responsive element; MDA, malondialdehyde; SOD, superoxide dismutase; GSH-Px, glutathione peroxidase; CAT, catalase; MHC, myosin heavy chain; Mmp-2, matrix metalloproteinase-2; HIT, high intensity interval training; IGF1, insulin-like growth factor 1; IGF1-R, IGF1-receptor; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase; TUNEL, TdT-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling; LIT, low intensity exercise training; cTn-1, cardiac troponin I; Sirtu, Sirtuin 1; BCL-2, B cell leukemia//ymphoma 2; GRP78, glucose-regulated protein 78; CHOP, C/EBP homologous protein.

(BCL-2) in diabetic rats, with improved left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF%) and fractional shortening (FS%) (57). A recent study suggested that exercise appeared to ameliorate DCM by inhibiting endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis in diabetic rats, which was in an intensity-dependent manner (52).

Physical Exercise Improves Microvascular Disorders

Microvascular disease is also one of the pathological changes of DCM. Under the influence of hyperglycemia, the function and structure of microvessels will undergo pathological changes, which are characterized by vascular



endothelial defects, endothelial cell dysfunction, and aggravated inflammatory response of partial vascular endothelium. It can affect the transport of substances, such as glucose and insulin into other tissues of the body, which can lead to abnormal tissue function. The mechanisms underlying the protective effects of exercise on microvessels mainly include two aspects: (1) exercise can protect vascular endothelial cells, increase the expression of nitric oxide, enhance the diastolic function of microvessels, and increase blood perfusion (66). (2) Exercise can enhance microvascular response to insulin and improve insulin signaling. Increased insulin can activate both insulin receptor substrate-1/phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/protein kinase B (IRS-1/PI3K/AKT) and MAPK pathways, leading to equilibrium between the vasopressor substance nitric oxide and endothelin-1, ensuring normal vasomotor function (68). The pre-clinical experiments and the potential mechanisms about physical exercise and DCM is shown in Table 2 and Figure 1.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, as a fundamental component of the human condition, physical exercise plays a critical role in human health. Exercise training is considered as a cornerstone in the management of T2DM, possessing a potency to decrease the risks of CVD in patients with diabetes. Exercise can protect the myocardium by improving myocardial cell metabolism, alleviating oxidative stress damage, improving myocardial fibrosis, inhibiting apoptosis, and ameliorating microvascular disorders, and ultimately it is proposed to have the potential impacts to protect against DCM. Exercise is an importantly nonpharmacological strategy in reducing the risk factors of diabetes and its complications. It can be considered as a promising agent for alternative therapies for the prevention and treatment of diabetes and its cardiovascular complications. However, more clinical trials and pre-clinical studies are required to promote the translation of molecular findings to therapeutics of physical exercise.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ and JC collected data, synthesized data, and wrote the manuscript. SZ, LZ, and XHG reviewed and edited the manuscript. JQZ and XHX contributed to the design of this review.

FUNDING

This study was sponsored by National Key R&D Program of China (2017YFC1309603), National Key Research

REFERENCES

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas*. 8th edn. International Diabetes Federation Brussels, Belgium (2017).
- Cai L, Kang YJ. Cell death and diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc Toxicol.* (2003) 3:219–28. doi: 10.1385/CT:3:3:219
- Booth GL, Kapral MK, Fung K, Tu JV. Relation between age and cardiovascular disease in men and women with diabetes compared with nondiabetic people: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* (2006) 368:29–36. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68967-8
- Sarwar N, Gao P, Seshasai SR, Gobin R, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, et al. Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. *Lancet* (2010) 375:2215–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60484-9
- 5. Karnik AA, Fields AV, Shannon RP. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2007) 9:467–73. doi: 10.1007/s11906-007-0086-3
- Murarka S, Movahed MR. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Card Fail. (2010) 16:971–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2010.07.249
- Bugger H, Abel ED. Molecular mechanisms of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetologia (2014) 57:660–71. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3171-6
- Jia G, Hill MA, Sowers JR. Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ Res.* (2018) 122:624–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586
- Marwick TH, Ritchie R, Shaw JE, Kaye D. Implications of underlying mechanisms for the recognition and management of diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 71:339–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.019
- Boudina S, Abel ED. Diabetic cardiomyopathy revisited. *Circulation* (2007) 115:3213–23. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.679597
- Poirier P, Bogaty P, Garneau C, Marois L, Dumesnil JG. Diastolic dysfunction in normotensive men with well-controlled type 2 diabetes: importance of maneuvers in echocardiographic screening for preclinical diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetes Care* (2001) 24:5–10. doi: 10.2337/diacare.24.1.5
- Mishra PK, Ying W, Nandi SS, Bandyopadhyay GK, Patel KK, Mahata SK. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an immunometabolic perspective. *Front Endocrinol. (Lausanne).* (2017) 8:72. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017. 00072
- Alonso N, Moliner P, Mauricio D. Pathogenesis, clinical features and treatment of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2018) 1067:197– 217. doi: 10.1007/5584_2017_105
- Anderson EJ, Kypson AP, Rodriguez E, Anderson CA, Lehr EJ, Neufer PD. Substrate-specific derangements in mitochondrial metabolism and redox balance in the atrium of the type 2 diabetic human heart. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2009) 54:1891–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.07.031
- Yue Y, Meng K, Pu Y, Zhang X. Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) mediates cardiac fibrosis and induces diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2017) 133:124–30. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017. 08.018
- Frustaci A, Kajstura J, Chimenti C, Jakoniuk I, Leri A, Maseri A, et al. Myocardial cell death in human diabetes. *Circ Res.* (2000) 87:1123–32. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.12.1123

and Development Program of China (2016YFA0101002), National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81170736, 81570715, 81800703), Beijing Natural Science Foundation (No. 7184252), the Fund for Fostering Young Scholars of Peking University Health Science Center (No. BMU2017PY008), China Diabetes Young Scientific Talent Research Project and Bethune-Merck Diabetes Research Fund of Bethune Charitable Foundation. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Pirola L, Balcerczyk A, Okabe J, El-Osta A. Epigenetic phenomena linked to diabetic complications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2010) 6:665–75. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2010.188
- GBD 2015 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet* (2016) 388:1659–724. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31679-8
- Nesti L, Natali A. Metformin effects on the heart and the cardiovascular system: a review of experimental and clinical data. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2017) 27:657–69. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2017.04.009
- Eurich DT, Weir DL, Majumdar SR, Tsuyuki RT, Johnson JA, Tjosvold L, et al. Comparative safety and effectiveness of metformin in patients with diabetes mellitus and heart failure: systematic review of observational studies involving 34,000 patients. *Circ Heart Fail*. (2013) 6:395–402. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.000162
- Pan G, Deshpande M, Pang H, Palaniyandi SS. Precision medicine approach: empagliflozin for diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice with aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) 2*2 mutation, a specific genetic mutation in millions of East Asians. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2018) 839:76–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.09.021
- Pedersen BK, Febbraio MA. Muscles, exercise and obesity: skeletal muscle as a secretory organ. Nat Rev Endocrinol. (2012) 8:457–65. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2012.49
- Orlando G, Balducci S, Bazzucchi I, Pugliese G, Sacchetti M. Neuromuscular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: underlying mechanisms and effect of resistance training. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2016) 32:40–50. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2658
- 24. Cheema BS, Chan D, Fahey P, Atlantis E. Effect of progressive resistance training on measures of skeletal muscle hypertrophy, muscular strength and health-related quality of life in patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2014) 44:1125–38. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0176-8
- Knobf MT, Winters-Stone K. Exercise and cancer. Annu Rev Nurs Res. (2013) 31:327–65. doi: 10.1891/0739-6686.31.327
- Mann N, Rosenzweig A. Can exercise teach us how to treat heart disease? *Circulation* (2012) 126:2625–35. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.060376
- Fletcher GF, Ades PA, Kligfield P, Arena R, Balady GJ, Bittner VA, et al. Exercise standards for testing and training: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2013) 128:873–934. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31829b5b44
- Rowe GC, Safdar A, Arany Z. Running forward: new frontiers in endurance exercise biology. *Circulation* (2014) 129:798–810. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001590
- 29. De Lemos ET, Oliveira J, Pinheiro JP, Reis F. Regular physical exercise as a strategy to improve antioxidant and anti-inflammatory status: benefits in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2012) 2012;741545. doi: 10.1155/2012/741545
- 30. Veeranki S, Givvimani S, Kundu S, Metreveli N, Pushpakumar S, Tyagi SC. Moderate intensity exercise prevents diabetic cardiomyopathy associated contractile dysfunction through restoration of mitochondrial function and

connexin 43 levels in db/db mice. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2016) 92:163–73. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.01.023

- 31. Jakicic JM, Jaramillo SA, Balasubramanyam A, Bancroft B, Curtis JM, Mathews A, et al. Effect of a lifestyle intervention on change in cardiorespiratory fitness in adults with type 2 diabetes: results from the Look AHEAD Study. *Int J Obes (Lond)*. (2009) 33:305–16. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2008.280
- Tanasescu M, Leitzmann MF, Rimm EB, Hu FB. Physical activity in relation to cardiovascular disease and total mortality among men with type 2 diabetes. *Circulation* (2003) 107:2435–9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000066906.11109.1F
- 33. Cardoso CR, Maia MD, De Oliveira FP, Leite NC, Salles GF. High fitness is associated with a better cardiovascular risk profile in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Hypertens Res.* (2011) 34:856–61. doi: 10.1038/hr.2011.50
- Hu G, Jousilahti P, Barengo NC, Qiao Q, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J. Physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, and mortality among Finnish adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2005) 28:799–805. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.4.799
- 35. Karjalainen JJ, Kiviniemi AM, Hautala AJ, Piira OP, Lepojarvi ES, Perkiomaki JS, et al. Effects of physical activity and exercise training on cardiovascular risk in coronary artery disease patients with and without type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2015) 38:706–15. doi: 10.2337/dc14-2216
- Hansen D, Dendale P, Van Loon LJ, Meeusen R. The impact of training modalities on the clinical benefits of exercise intervention in patients with cardiovascular disease risk or type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Sports Med.* (2010) 40:921–40. doi: 10.2165/11535930-000000000-00000
- 37. Lavie CJ, Johannsen N, Swift D, Senechal M, Earnest C, Church T, et al. Exercise is Medicine - the importance of physical activity, exercise training, cardiorespiratory fitness and obesity in the prevention and treatment of type 2 Diabetes. *Eur Endocrinol.* (2014) 10:18–22. doi: 10.17925/EE.2014.10.01.18
- Anand V, Garg S, Garg J, Bano S, Pritzker M. Impact of exercise training on cardiac function among patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. (2018) 38:358–65. doi: 10.1097/HCR.00000000000353
- American Diabetes Association. 4. Lifestyle Management: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018. *Diabetes Care* (2018) 41:S38–50. doi: 10.2337/dc18-S004
- Pieri BL, Souza DR, Luciano TF, Marques SO, Pauli JR, Silva AS, et al. Effects of physical exercise on the P38MAPK/REDD1/14-3-3 pathways in the myocardium of diet-induced obesity rats. *Horm Metab Res.* (2014) 46:621–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1371824
- Epp RA, Susser SE, Morissette MP, Kehler DS, Jassal DS, Duhamel TA. Exercise training prevents the development of cardiac dysfunction in the lowdose streptozotocin diabetic rats fed a high-fat diet. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2013) 91:80–9. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2012-0294
- Stolen TO, Hoydal MA, Kemi OJ, Catalucci D, Ceci M, Aasum E, et al. Interval training normalizes cardiomyocyte function, diastolic Ca²⁺ control, and SR Ca²⁺ release synchronicity in a mouse model of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Circ Res.* (2009) 105:527–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.199810
- Searls YM, Smirnova IV, Fegley BR, Stehno-Bittel L. Exercise attenuates diabetes-induced ultrastructural changes in rat cardiac tissue. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2004) 36:1863–70. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000145461.38224.EC
- 44. Wang H, Bei Y, Lu Y, Sun W, Liu Q, Wang Y, et al. Exercise prevents cardiac injury and improves mitochondrial biogenesis in advanced diabetic cardiomyopathy with PGC-1 α and Akt activation. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. (2015) 35:2159–68. doi: 10.1159/000374021
- 45. Ko TH, Marquez JC, Kim HK, Jeong SH, Lee S, Youm JB, et al. Resistance exercise improves cardiac function and mitochondrial efficiency in diabetic rat hearts. *Pflugers Arch*. (2018) 470:263–75. doi: 10.1007/s00424-017-2076-x
- Hafstad AD, Boardman NT, Lund J, Hagve M, Khalid AM, Wisloff U, et al. High intensity interval training alters substrate utilization and reduces oxygen consumption in the heart. J Appl Physiol. (2011) 111:1235–41. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00594.2011
- Hafstad AD, Lund J, Hadler-Olsen E, HöPer AC, Larsen TS, Aasum E High- and moderate-intensity training normalizes ventricular function and mechanoenergetics in mice with diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2287–94. doi: 10.2337/db12-1580
- Gimenes C, Gimenes R, Rosa CM, Xavier NP, Campos DH, Fernandes AA, et al. Low intensity physical exercise attenuates cardiac remodeling and myocardial oxidative stress and dysfunction in diabetic rats. J Diabetes Res. (2015) 2015:457848. doi: 10.1155/2015/457848

- Grijalva J, Hicks S, Zhao X, Medikayala S, Kaminski PM, Wolin MS, et al. Exercise training enhanced myocardial endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) function in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2008) 7:34. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-7-34
- Muthusamy VR, Kannan S, Sadhaasivam K, Gounder SS, Davidson CJ, Boeheme C, et al. Acute exercise stress activates Nrf2/ARE signaling and promotes antioxidant mechanisms in the myocardium. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2012) 52:366–76. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011. 10.440
- Kanter M, Aksu F, Takir M, Kostek O, Kanter B, Oymagil A. Effects of low intensity exercise against apoptosis and oxidative stress in streptozotocininduced diabetic rat heart. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2017) 125:583–91. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1569332
- Chengji W, Xianjin F. Exercise protects against diabetic cardiomyopathy by the inhibition of the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway in rats. J Cell Physiol. (2019) 234:1682–88. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27038
- 53. Silva E, Natali AJ, Silva MF, Gomes GJ, Cunha DN, Ramos RM, et al. Ventricular remodeling in growing rats with experimental diabetes: the impact of swimming training. *Pathol Res Pract.* (2013) 209:618–26. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2013.06.009
- Lund J, Hafstad AD, Boardman NT, Rossvoll L, Rolim NP, Ahmed MS, et al. Exercise training promotes cardioprotection through oxygen-sparing action in high fat-fed mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2015) 308:H823–829. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00734.2014
- 55. Novoa U, Arauna D, Moran M, Nunez M, Zagmutt S, Saldivia S, et al. High-intensity exercise reduces cardiac fibrosis and hypertrophy but does not restore the nitroso-redox imbalance in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2017) 2017:7921363. doi: 10.1155/2017/79 21363
- Cheng SM, Ho TJ, Yang AL, Chen IJ, Kao CL, Wu FN, et al. Exercise training enhances cardiac IGFI-R/PI3K/Akt and Bcl-2 family associated prosurvival pathways in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Int J Cardiol.* (2013) 167:478–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.01.031
- 57. Khakdan S, Delfan M, Heydarpour Meymeh M, Kazerouni F, Ghaedi H, Shanaki M, et al. High-intensity interval training (HIIT) effectively enhances heart function via miR-195 dependent cardiomyopathy reduction in high-fat high-fructose diet-induced diabetic rats. *Arch Physiol Biochem.* (2018) 15:1–8. doi: 10.1080/13813455.2018.1511599
- Garvey WT, Hardin D, Juhaszova M, Dominguez JH. Effects of diabetes on myocardial glucose transport system in rats: implications for diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Physiol.* (1993) 264:H837–44. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1993.264.3.H837
- Nakai N, Miyazaki Y, Sato Y, Oshida Y, Nagasaki M, Tanaka M, et al. Exercise training increases the activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in skeletal muscle of diabetic rats. *Endocr J.* (2002) 49:547–54. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.49.547
- Heled Y, Shapiro Y, Shani Y, Moran DS, Langzam L, Braiman L, et al. Physical exercise prevents the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus in *Psammomys obesus. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2002) 282:E370–5. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00296.2001
- Pold R, Jensen LS, Jessen N, Buhl ES, Schmitz O, Flyvbjerg A, et al. Long-term AICAR administration and exercise prevents diabetes in ZDF rats. *Diabetes* (2005) 54:928–34. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.4.928
- 62. Waller AP, Kalyanasundaram A, Hayes S, Periasamy M, Lacombe VA. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase pump is a major regulator of glucose transport in the healthy and diabetic heart. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1852:873–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2015.01.009
- 63. Croston TL, Thapa D, Holden AA, Tveter KJ, Lewis SE, Shepherd DL, et al. Functional deficiencies of *Subsarcolemmal mitochondria* in the type 2 diabetic human heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2014) 307:H54–65. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00845.2013
- Burgoyne JR, Mongue-Din H, Eaton P, Shah AM. Redox signaling in cardiac physiology and pathology. *Circ Res.* (2012) 111:1091–106. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.255216
- 65. Narasimhan M, Rajasekaran NS. Exercise, Nrf2 and antioxidant signaling in cardiac aging. *Front Physiol.* (2016) 7:241. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00241
- Cohen ND, Dunstan DW, Robinson C, Vulikh E, Zimmet PZ, Shaw JE. Improved endothelial function following a 14-month

resistance exercise training program in adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2008) 79:405-11. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007. 09.020

- Zhou YY, Li Y, Jiang WQ, Zhou LF. MAPK/JNK signalling: a potential autophagy regulation pathway. *Biosci Rep.* (2015) 35:e00199. doi: 10.1042/BSR20140141
- Kim JA, Montagnani M, Koh KK, Quon MJ. Reciprocal relationships between insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction: molecular and pathophysiological mechanisms. *Circulation* (2006) 113:1888–904. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105. 563213

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Zheng, Cheng, Zheng, Zhang, Guo, Zhang and Xiao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Heterogeneity of Metabolic Defects in Type 2 Diabetes and Its Relation to Reactive Oxygen Species and Alterations in Beta-Cell Mass

Andris Elksnis¹, Mats Martinell², Olof Eriksson³ and Daniel Espes^{1,4*}

¹ Department of Medical Cell Biology, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, ² Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, ³ Science for Life Laboratory, Department of Medicinal Chemistry, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, ⁴ Department of Medical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a complex and heterogeneous disease which affects millions of people worldwide. The classification of diabetes is at an interesting turning point and there have been several recent reports on sub-classification of T2D based on phenotypical and metabolic characteristics. An important, and perhaps so far underestimated, factor in the pathophysiology of T2D is the role of oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS). There are multiple pathways for excessive ROS formation in T2D and in addition, beta-cells have an inherent deficit in the capacity to cope with oxidative stress. ROS formation could be causal, but also contribute to a large number of the metabolic defects in T2D, including beta-cell dysfunction and loss. Currently, our knowledge on beta-cell mass is limited to autopsy studies and based on comparisons with healthy controls. The combined evidence suggests that betacell mass is unaltered at onset of T2D but that it declines progressively. In order to better understand the pathophysiology of T2D, to identify and evaluate novel treatments, there is a need for *in vivo* techniques able to quantify beta-cell mass. Positron emission tomography holds great potential for this purpose and can in addition map metabolic defects, including ROS activity, in specific tissue compartments. In this review, we highlight the different phenotypical features of T2D and how metabolic defects impact oxidative stress and ROS formation. In addition, we review the literature on alterations of beta-cell mass in T2D and discuss potential techniques to assess beta-cell mass and metabolic defects in vivo.

Keywords: type 2 diabetes, diabetes classification, oxygen stress, reactive oxygen species, beta-cell, beta-cell mass, imaging, positron emission tomography

INTRODUCTION

In the year 2030, it is estimated that 439 million people will be affected by diabetes (American Diabetes Association, 2009) and that the number will rise to 642 million by 2040 (Zimmet et al., 2016). Type 2 diabetes (T2D) accounts for 90–95% of all diabetes cases and is a global disease with major health- and financial implications for both the affected and the society. Already, in the 19th century, it was recognized by Lancereaux that there were at least two forms of diabetes which he

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zilin Sun, Southeast University, China

Reviewed by:

Sumeet Pal Singh, Technische Universität Dresden, Germany Bing Chen, Army Medical University, China

*Correspondence:

Daniel Espes daniel.espes@mcb.uu.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 23 October 2018 Accepted: 28 January 2019 Published: 13 February 2019

Citation:

Elksnis A, Martinell M, Eriksson O and Espes D (2019) Heterogeneity of Metabolic Defects in Type 2 Diabetes and Its Relation to Reactive Oxygen Species and Alterations in Beta-Cell Mass. Front. Physiol. 10:107. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00107

21

divided into diabetes maigre and diabetes gras meaning diabetes of the "thin" and "fat" (National Diabetes Data Group, 1979). With increasing knowledge, the classifications of diabetes have become more detailed and complex, but these early observations still play an important role since they reflect different aspects of pathophysiology. Indeed, diet and body weight have a major impact on the risk of developing T2D which at least in part can explain the dramatic increase in prevalence. Over the last 10 years, there has also been a substantial addition of drugs approved for the treatment of T2D. Despite that, a large number of those affected by T2D fail to reach an acceptable metabolic control (Safai et al., 2018). This can be explained by a number of factors including physical inactivity, diet, adherence to medications but also the underlying pathophysiological process and stage of disease is of importance for the effect of glucose lowering drugs. Over the last years, it has become increasingly recognized that T2D is a heterogeneous disease which requires an individualized treatment with adaptive changes over time as the disease progresses. In addition, hyperglycemia and coupled metabolic defects in diabetes increase the production of oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which can have vast deleterious effects and contribute to beta-cell dysfunction, failure, and loss. As T2D progresses, the initial hyperinsulinemia declines and a large number of patients are rendered insulin deficient due to the loss of beta-cells. In this review, we will highlight the different phenotypical features of T2D and how metabolic defects impact oxidative stress and ROS formation in different tissues. In addition, we review the literature on alterations of beta-cell mass in T2D and discuss potential imaging techniques in order to assess beta-cell mass and metabolic defects in vivo.

THE RATIONALE OF DIABETES CLASSIFICATION AND PHENOTYPICAL PRESENTATIONS OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

The diagnostic criteria for diabetes mellitus (DM) should preferably be based on parameters and laboratory tests which can be assessed in primary care facilities and broad enough to encompass all afflicted individuals. The more common the disease, the more phenotypically heterogeneous is the affected population. Classification criteria are used to divide the heterogeneous population to more homogeneous subpopulations for research and treatment guidelines (Aggarwal et al., 2015). The current diabetes classification into type 1 diabetes (T1D) and T2D is based on the ability to secrete insulin and the presence or absence of autoantibodies. Patients with T1D must be treated with insulin already at diagnosis whereas patients with T2D initially should be treated with dietary regimes, biguanides, or sulfonylureas. In clinical practice, 90–95% of people that fulfill the DM diagnostic criteria are classified as T2D.

In 1993, Tuomi et al. (1993) identified diabetes patients with a phenotype of both T1D and T2D. Typically, these patients are indistinguishable from T2D at diagnosis but over time they develop a more T1D like phenotype. The subgroup, coined latent autoimmune diabetes in the adult (Brophy et al., 2008), is defined as patients older than 35 years, with glutamate decarboxylase antibodies (GADA) 65 reactive against pancreatic beta-cells and remaining endogenous insulin secretion at least 6 months after diagnosis (Tuomi et al., 1993). The prevalence of LADA ranges from 4-6% in Eastern Asia (Takeda et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2013) to 10-12% in Northern Europe (Turner et al., 1997; Laugesen et al., 2015), leaving 90% of the heterogeneous T2D population undifferentiated. LADA patients also share genetic characteristics of both T1D and T2D and the rate of beta-cell loss and thereby time to exogenous insulin dependence correlates to the levels of GADA 65 (Niskanen et al., 1995; Fourlanos et al., 2005; Brophy et al., 2008; Cervin et al., 2008). In addition, patients with a classical T1D can develop insulin-resistance despite the lack of endogenous insulin production, often referred to as doublediabetes (Cleland et al., 2013). Thus, the categorization of DM into T1D and T2D is not clear-cut but rather a mix of etiology resulting in a phenotypic continuum (Niskanen et al., 1995; Fourlanos et al., 2005; Buzzetti et al., 2007; Laugesen et al., 2015).

Before 1995, there were only two classes of anti-diabetic agents apart from insulin, sulfonylurea (1946), and biguanide (1959). The identification of LADA implied the need for a tighter glucose monitoring compared to T2D and avoidance of sulfonylurea, but apart from this the classification contributed little to improve the clinical management of diabetes. Since then six pharmacodynamically different drug classes have been approved for clinical use, α -glucosidase inhibitors (1995), thiazolidinediones (1996), metglitinides (1997), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) analogs (2005), dipepidylpepidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors (2013) (White, 2014). Aside from providing new treatment possibilities, they elucidate the need for a revised diabetes classification.

From being a rational DM classification in 1979, the classification into T1D and T2D is now obsolete both for research and for clinical guidance. This realization has spurred efforts to find new classifications of diabetes. With a data-driven topologic analysis on electronic medical records data using 73 clinical features associated to variations in single nucleotide polymorphisms, Li et al. (2015) identified three subgroups of T2D that differ both in phenotype and genotype. Subtype 1 (31%) was characterized by obesity, kidney disease, and hyperglycemia whereas subtype 2 (25%) and 3 (44%) were associated with cancer and neurological disease, respectively. The study did not include disease duration and did not reveal if individuals switched subtype over time. However, this study is of interest since it links real-life data to genome-wide association studies.

By using latent class trajectory analysis on a five-time point oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), Hulman et al. (2018) identified five sub-classes of metabolic control even among non-diabetic individuals that differed in regard to insulin sensitivity and acute insulin response, obesity, lipid levels, and inflammatory markers. The classes were also correlated to different pathophysiological processes. The strongest determinant of time to glucose peak during the OGTT was insulin sensitivity and those patients who shifted sub-class over time could mainly be explained by life-style changes that affect insulin sensitivity. Ahlqvist et al. (2018) presented a novel diabetes classification by cluster analysis of five phenotypically diabetogenic risk factors. Cluster 1 (severe autoimmune diabetes, SAID) includes all patients with positive GADA 65 antibody titer. Cluster 2 (severe insulin deficient diabetes, SIDD) with low fasting (f) C-Peptide and high HbA1c at diagnosis. Cluster 3 (severe insulin resistant diabetes, SIRD) with high fC-Peptide and high HbA1c. Cluster 4 (mild obesity-related diabetes, MOD) with high BMI and relatively low HbA1c at diagnosis. Cluster 5 (mild age-related diabetes, MARD) was the largest with 39% of the population and characterized by higher age at diagnosis and relatively low HbA1c. During follow-up (median 3.9 years), cluster 2 (SAID) and 3 (SIRD) were more prone to complications than cluster 4 (MOD) and 5 (Abdo et al., 2010).

Udler et al. (2018) aimed to find pathophysiological clusters by takeoff from publically available genome-wide assay study (GWAS). Ninety-four genetic variants and 47 diabetes-related metabolic traits were included to a Bayesian non-negative factorization clustering, which yielded five clusters. The clinical impact of the clusters was then assessed in four separate cohorts (N = 17 874). Cluster 1 (beta-cell) and 2 (proinsulin) were associated with beta cell dysfunction, cluster 1 had increased proinsulin levels whereas cluster 2 had decreased proinsulin levels. Clusters 3 (obesity), 4 (lipodystrophy), and 5 (liver/lipid) were associated with mechanisms of insulin resistance. The obesity-liked loci FTO and MC4R were more common in cluster 3, concordantly also waist and hip circumference. Individuals in cluster had decreased adiponectin, low insulin sensitivity index and HDL levels, and increased triglycerides. Cluster 5 was associated with loci related to non-alcoholic liver disease (NAFLD) and these individuals had increased levels of urate and fatty acids related to NAFLD (serum triglycerides, palmitoleic acid, and linolenic acid).

These ambitious attempts to reform diabetes classification, summarized in **Figure 1** and **Supplementary Table S1**, take on the long time insight that diabetes is not a single disease of hyperglycemia, but rather a syndrome of multiple metabolic disturbances. If the addition of genetic and phenotypic parameters actually identifies novel diabetes subgroups, we may well stand in front of a shift of paradigm in both treatment and monitoring diabetes.

METABOLIC DEFECTS AND REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES IN TYPE 2 DIABETES

Type 2 diabetes, though primarily a disease characterized by decreased insulin sensitivity, also involves the destruction of insulin producing beta-cells during the later stages of the disease (Sakuraba et al., 2002; Butler et al., 2003). An ever-increasing demand for insulin production to overcome progressing insulin resistance becomes harmful to the beta-cells and hyperglycemia and increased free fatty acids, cause oxidative stress (Donath et al., 2005). Albeit the assessment of beta-cell mass in humans has been rather challenging, most current research suggests that beta-cell mass declines with the progression of T2D. While the mechanisms behind beta-cell failure and death in T2D are not

fully understood, increasing interest has been directed toward the role of oxidative stress. Increased production of ROS, driven by chronic hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia, is thought to be a major cause of the beta-cell dysfunction in diabetes (Robertson et al., 2007; Graciano et al., 2013). ROS are known to damage components of the cellular machinery, including DNA, proteins, and lipids which leads to a vast array of deleterious effects (Schieber and Chandel, 2014). In fact, signs of increased ROS activity have been observed in pancreatic islets of deceased T2D patients (Sakuraba et al., 2002). Moreover, oxidative stress likely contributes to the development of peripheral insulin resistance and many of the long-term micro- and macrovascular complications of diabetes (Styskal et al., 2012).

Reactive oxygen species are inevitable byproducts of aerobic metabolism, produced primarily from "leakage" of electrons in the mitochondrial electron transport chain. Under basal conditions, ROS serve in various pathways regulating biological and physiological processes involving mainly stress response signaling (Schieber and Chandel, 2014). Antioxidant enzymes and low molecular ROS-scavengers balance ROS activity in the physiological redox biology. An overexpression of ROS, or overwhelming of the antioxidant responses, results in oxidative stress. Accumulating evidence suggests that oxidative stress is involved both in the early events surrounding the development of T2D, as well as the later hyperglycemia induced tissue damage (Nowotny et al., 2015). Moreover, pancreatic islets and particularly beta-cells express less antioxidant enzymes compared to other tissues, making them more susceptible to the damaging effects of oxidative stress and ROS (Lenzen et al., 1996; Miki et al., 2018).

While excessive ROS levels have long been viewed as responsible for many undesirable effects (Stadtman, 1992, 2001), it is becoming more evident that moderate levels of ROS are often not only inevitable but also necessary and beneficial for many normal cellular functions (Cai and Yan, 2013), this is the case also in beta-cells. In the production of insulin, ROS are unavoidable byproducts of enzyme driven (Sevier and Kaiser, 2002; Tu and Weissman, 2004) folding of proinsulin in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). With each formation of a disulphide bond, one molecule of ROS is produced. With the insulin molecule having three disulphide bonds important for its function (Chang et al., 2003), production of one molecule of insulin would be associated with the production of three molecules of ROS. Hyperglycemic conditions can cause a 50fold increase in insulin biosynthesis (Goodge and Hutton, 2000). Under these conditions, beta-cells each produce up to 1 million molecules of insulin per minute (Scheuner and Kaufman, 2008), this could possibly signify production of 3 million molecules of ROS per minute in every beta-cell (Gross et al., 2006; Shimizu and Hendershot, 2009). Regulation of insulin translation and the unfolded protein response (UPR) play an important role, but the exact mechanisms by which beta-cells cope with this amount of ROS production are still not fully understood, particularly as they express relatively low levels of antioxidant enzymes. Autophagy also protects against oxidative stress and ER-stress (Kroemer et al., 2010), and failure of this system may worsen beta-cell function in diabetic conditions (Watada and Fujitani, 2015).

Elksnis et al.



Shimizu and Hendershot (2009) elegantly summarize possible molecular mechanisms coping with oxidative stress in secretory tissues. Common for the protective mechanisms, such as the UPR, is that prolonged activation often results in diversion to cytodestructive effects, giving us a possible explanation of how ROS might take part in the beta cell loss observed particularly in T1D. If conditions of ER-stress are not resolved, Ca2+ leaks from the ER, further increase ROS production by causing mitochondrial dysfunction (Deniaud et al., 2008), thus leading to an increased oxidative stress load in the already struggling cells, and subsequently apoptosis. This ties the role of ERstress and oxidative stress in with the notion that mitochondrial apoptotic pathway plays a central role in cytokine induced beta-cell failure in T1D (Grunnet et al., 2009). Furthermore, ER-stress in beta-cells has also been suggested to be in part responsible for sustaining the autoimmune response observed in T1D (Marré et al., 2015).

It is also conceivable that during diabetic conditions, when demand for insulin production is increased, and beta-cell ROS production remains high for prolonged time periods, further insulin production is inhibited as a cytoprotective measure. Indeed, Ire1, which is one of the effector branches of the UPR, when continuously activated has been shown to cause suppression of insulin gene expression (Lipson et al., 2006), possibly explaining why prolonged hyperglycemia in T2D patients leads to diminished insulin production also in the absence of apoptosis (Shimizu and Hendershot, 2009). Thus, the subject of ROS is both complex and rather paradoxical, being both an integral part of the islets basic functioning, and perhaps even necessary for their proliferation, but left uncontrolled part of their demise.

In addition to ROS production from increased metabolism and insulin production, hyperactivity in the NADPH oxidases (NOX) also leads to excessive ROS production. Seven membrane bound isoforms of the NOX enzymes (NOX1-5 and DUOX1-2) have been identified. These perform normal cellular functions at physiological conditions, but excessive activation produces harmful levels of ROS. Increased activity of some NOX isoforms has been shown to play an important role in metabolic defects and diabetes through mitochondrial dysregulation in the beta-cells (Guichard et al., 2008; Syed et al., 2011). Increased NOX activity has also been linked to lipid induced ROS production and fatty acid promoted amplification of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Graciano et al., 2013). Some NOX isoforms seem to be activated by glucose stimulation, and in the short term potentiate insulin release (Morgan et al., 2009); however, excessive longterm activation is detrimental to beta-cell function (Syed et al., 2011). The NOX4 isoform has been suggested to function as a mitochondrial energy sensor, being negatively regulated by ATP (Shanmugasundaram et al., 2017), and might thus be a source of ROS in both islets and other tissues experiencing metabolic stress in diabetes. Of great interest, we have recently demonstrated that selective NOX4 inhibitors protect human islets and reduce beta-cell death under *in vitro* conditions mimicking the T2D environment (Wang et al., 2018a), making it a potential drug target.

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are modified proteins and lipids formed under conditions of oxidative stress. AGEs can, however, also sustain oxidative stress by increasing ROS formation and negatively impact antioxidant systems (Nowotny et al., 2015). Moreover, AGEs such as methylglyoxal are highly abundant in the standard western diet (Uribarri et al., 2007), rendering them as both endogenous and exogenous contributors to oxidative stress. While the full role of AGEs in T2D is not yet completely understood, it is generally accepted that they play an important role by contributing to the oxidative stress, causing both beta-cell damage and peripheral insulin resistance (Vlassara and Uribarri, 2014).

Besides oxidative stress related to glucolipotoxicity, AGEs, and dietary factors, there are many other environmental factors associated with deterioration of beta-cell function that are less well understood. One such factor is disruption of the islets circadian rhythm, which has also recently been suggested to cause increased ROS production and a decreased production of antioxidant genes in beta-cells, leading to beta-cell dysfunction and diabetes (Lee et al., 2018).

Numerous studies have attempted to delineate the potential antioxidant effects of current oral antidiabetic treatments as well as for exogenous insulin substitution, with biguanides being the most studied substance. The Biguanide Metformin has been evaluated as a potential treatment for many diseases apart from T2D with promising results. Its potential use in various forms of cancer (Cheng and Lanza-Jacoby, 2015; Vancura et al., 2018), infectious diseases (Kajiwara et al., 2018), cardiovascular disease (Diaz-Morales et al., 2017; Nesti and Natali, 2017), skin disorders (Wang et al., 2018b), and much more is continuously being investigated. In many cases, alterations in redox status are suggested as a main mechanism of action. While Metformin is suggested to ameliorate many disorders by decreasing oxidative stress (Cheng and Lanza-Jacoby, 2015; Diaz-Morales et al., 2017), others suggest the opposite, that Metformin acts by increasing ROS production (Kajiwara et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018b). While at first glance these conflicting reports seem discerning, it is not unexpected that cells and tissues with vastly differing physiological processes respond differently to Metformin and oxidative stress. In general, research concerning the effects of Metformin on oxidative stress in diabetes suggests that it decreases peripheral ROS production and thereby protects against diabetic atherosclerosis and other complications (Esteghamati et al., 2013; Singh et al., 2016; Diaz-Morales et al., 2017). A recent study implies that aberrant complex I activation in the pancreas of diabetic patients causes an overflow of NADH that is diverted into ROS production leading to beta-cell dysfunction and death (Wu et al., 2017), and Metformin being a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor effectively counteracts this. So, while Metformin's main mechanism of action in reducing hepatic gluconeogenesis and increasing peripheral insulin sensitivity has been known for years, many of its functions are yet to be fully understood (Rena et al., 2017), including its effect on oxidative stress.

Multiple studies also suggest that GLP-1 analogs may positively influence redox homeostasis, summarized in Petersen et al. (2016). When it comes to other oral antidiabetics, some research suggests effects on ROS production in various tissues by sulfonylureas (Sawada et al., 2008), α -glucosidase inhibitors (Aoki et al., 2012), thiazolidinediones (Singh et al., 2016), and DPP4 inhibitors (Rizzo et al., 2012), but it must be noted that research on these matters are limited.

In a study where exogenous insulin analogs were administered to T2D patients who failed to achieve satisfactory glycemic control on Metformin and sulfonylurea alone, showed a significant decrease in oxidative stress markers (Tuzcu et al., 2013). Interestingly, this was not related to changes in mean glucose levels, suggesting instead some direct inhibitory effects on ROS formation. While insulin in high levels may promote oxidative stress (Rains and Jain, 2011), this study and others (Monnier et al., 2011) suggest that insulin has a rather complex relationship with oxidative stress in T2D.

The relationship between glucose variability and oxidative stress in T2D has also been examined and has yielded somewhat conflicting results. Monnier et al. (2011) reported a significant correlation between glucose variability and oxidative stress whereas a repeating study failed to find a relationship (Siegelaar et al., 2011). A possible explanation for this, as the authors mention in their discussion, is that the latter study mainly examined patients with significantly better glycemic control. This hypothesis is strengthened by results from another study by Monnier et al. (2010) where the relationship between glucose variability and oxidative stress was also associated with HbA1c.

A major limitation for studies of oxidative stress in vivo is the difficulty to measure ROS in a reliable way, summarized by Halliwell and Whiteman (2004). In general, the short halflife of reactive species limits our possibilities to measure them directly. Instead, we are limited to measuring the levels of markers for oxidative damage or trapping the reactive species and measuring levels of the trapped molecules. This entails a number of problems, as the marker or trap preferably has to be stable, specific, quantifiable, present in the studied tissue and in addition not confounded by diet or alternative activation pathways. As of now, there are no biomarkers of ROS that are considered to be ideal, but some are better than others. For instance, isoprostanes are considered a rather reliable biomarker for lipid peroxidation, which is a common way to measure the effects of oxidative stress in vivo (Halliwell and Whiteman, 2004; Kaviarasan et al., 2009). Indeed, the levels of isoprostanes have been found to be increased in T2D (Kaviarasan et al., 2009).

In conclusion, there are multiple pathways for excessive ROS formation in T2D, and a deficit in the beta-cells capacity to cope with oxidative stress, summarized in **Figure 2**. Oxidative stress may not only be caused by a number of metabolic defects in T2D but can also in itself contribute to aggravating the defects and the different phenotypes of diabetes. While there exist some difficulties in studying oxidative stress *in vivo* in humans, our current understanding is that it appears to have a central role in many processes involving the development and progression T2D and its long-term complications. Aside from assessing redox properties of currently available medication, novel treatments targeting ROS production such as specific NOX inhibitors are also being researched (Wang et al., 2018a).

ADAPTIVE CHANGES OF BETA-CELL MASS IN OBESITY AND TYPE 2 DIABETES

Due to the lack of established in vivo techniques, our current knowledge on beta-cell mass in humans fully relies on autopsy studies. Although a very valuable source, autopsy material has a number of drawbacks including technical difficulties but of outmost importance is the inherent lack of repeated measurements. The number and volume of islets increase substantially from fetal life to adulthood and is estimated to increase fivefold from birth to adulthood, in parallel the exocrine pancreas increase 15-fold in size (Witte et al., 1984). Therefore, islets compose 20% of the total pancreas volume in newborns, 7.5% in children but only 1-2% in adults (Witte et al., 1984). In addition, the proportion of beta-cells within the islets varies in the different anatomical regions of the pancreas with more beta-cells in corpus and cauda. In adults, the pancreas weighs in average around 100 g but can range from 50 to approximately 170 g. Combined with the potential twofold difference in islet percentage, this gives a \geq fivefold theoretical difference in islet mass even among healthy individuals. Well in line with this, a fivefold difference in beta-cell mass is often observed among healthy individuals in reports based on autopsy material (Rahier et al., 2008). This is important to keep in mind since our knowledge and view on beta-cell mass in T2D is based on comparisons with healthy controls.

In adulthood there are in particular two physiological conditions which lead to an increase in beta-cell mass; pregnancy and obesity (Van Assche et al., 1978; Kloppel et al., 1985; Butler et al., 2010; Hanley et al., 2010; Saisho et al., 2013). The alterations of beta-cell mass during pregnancy are elegantly reviewed by Nielsen (2016). Of importance, beta-cell mass has been found to be increased by 50% in obese individuals when compared to lean individuals (Rahier et al., 1983; Kloppel et al., 1985; Hanley et al., 2010; Saisho et al., 2013). In fact, Saisho et al. (2013) found that beta-cell mass correlates with BMI. In patients with T2D, there have been conflicting results on beta-cell mass which can be explained by the above-mentioned difficulties regarding comparisons with non-diabetic individuals and by the disease duration and heterogeneity of T2D. In patients with recent onset T2D, the beta-cell mass has been found to be unaltered (Rahier et al., 1983; Hanley et al., 2010); however, in the report by Hanley et al. (2010) obese patients with T2D displayed a decreased beta-cell mass. The unaltered beta-cell mass in recent onset T2D in combination with the normal or increased C-peptide levels make a strong argument for that T2D is not primarily developed due to a loss of beta-cells but rather due to insulin resistance and betacell dysfunction. Others have reported on a moderate ($\approx 25\%$) decrease in beta-cell mass (Sakuraba et al., 2002) but there are also reports on a more pronounced reduction (\approx 50%) of beta-cell mass in patients with long-standing T2D (Maclean and Ogilvie, 1955; Butler et al., 2003; Rahier et al., 2008). The degree of beta-cell loss in T2D has been found to correlate to disease duration, with a distinct reduction after 20 years of disease (Rahier et al., 2008). In addition, there are a number of reports supporting the deposition of amyloid in islets of patients with T2D which could contribute to beta-cell dysfunction and apoptosis (Bell, 1952; Ehrlich and Ratner, 1961; Clark et al., 1988; Sakuraba et al., 2002; Huang et al., 2007). However, the role of islet amyloid deposits in the pathogenesis of T2D is beyond the scope of this review, but for the interested the comprehensive review on islet amyloid by Westermark et al. (2011) is warmly recommended.

In non-diabetic individuals, the beta-cell mass is tightly regulated during adulthood by a balance between beta-cell replication and apoptosis (Bonner-Weir, 2000). Interestingly, ROS is known to increase apoptosis and in high concentrations induce cell cycle arrest. However, in low to moderate concentrations, ROS have been found to stimulate cell proliferation (Boonstra and Post, 2004; Ahmed Alfar et al., 2017). In addition, experimental studies have shown that mitochondrial ROS play an important role in beta-cell proliferation (Ahmed Alfar et al., 2017) and in the establishment of beta-cell mass during development (Zeng et al., 2017). The loss of beta-cell mass in T2D can be explained by the increased apoptosis rate observed in islets from T2D patients (Butler et al., 2003; Rahier et al., 2008; Hanley et al., 2010) and the lack of increased beta-cell proliferation (Butler et al., 2003). Of great interest, pancreatic beta-cells inherently express low levels of antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase (Falk-Delgado et al., 2015) but there is also support of further decreased levels of SOD in beta-cells of T2D patients (Sakuraba et al., 2002). This further supports the role of beta-cell failure and loss due to ROS activity in T2D.

The combined evidence suggests that beta-cell mass is relatively unaltered at the onset of T2D, but declines progressively with the disease. It seems as if the loss of beta-cell mass is more pronounced in obese T2D individuals which could be due to a loss of stimulatory signals or a lack of beta-cell proliferatory response to obesity in combination with an increased metabolic stress under diabetic conditions. In addition, the local milieu and metabolic challenges of beta-cells in T2D obesity may also have deleterious effects (Prentki et al., 2002) and increase the production of ROS (Graciano et al., 2013).

IN VIVO IMAGING OF BETA-CELL MASS

Given the pandemic increase in T2D and the heterogeneous nature of the disease in combination with large individual variations in beta-cell mass, it would be of great importance to establish a technique allowing in vivo monitoring of beta-cell mass. With such a technique, we would gain valuable insight on the pathophysiology of the disease and the decline of beta-cell mass over time in different phenotypical presentations of T2D. Due to the size and distribution of pancreatic islets, imaging betacell mass is a tough challenge since there are no non-invasive imaging modalities with a high enough resolution to delineate single islets in human. However, by using positron emission tomography (PET) in combination with a beta-cell specific PETtracer, it would be possible to monitor the combined signal from all islets within the pancreas and thereby beta-cell mass. There have been several attempts to find a beta-cell specific PET-tracer over the last decade, summarized in a recent review by Eriksson et al. (2016).

We have focused our attempts on the clinically available PETtracer [¹¹C]5-hydroxy-tryptophan ([¹¹C]5-HTP), a serotonin precursor, which, however, is not completely specific for betacells but is also retained in remaining endocrine cells within the islets of Langerhans. Using PET in combination with computed tomography (CT), we have found that the pancreatic uptake of ^{[11}C]5-HTP is reduced by 66% in patients with long-standing T1D when compared with healthy controls, which is well in line with a complete beta-cell loss (Eriksson et al., 2014). We have also evaluated the use of [¹¹C]5-HTP in combination with magnetic resonance tomography (MRT) in patients with T2D. Patients were first categorized into four groups based on BMI (lean or obese) and treatment regime, either oral antidiabetic drugs (OADs) alone or in combination with insulin (OAD+insulin). The functional beta-cell mass was determined based on acute C-peptide response to a bolus of arginine and C-peptide response to a glucose potentiated arginine test. We found that the patients, both lean and obese, treated with OAD had a normal C-peptide response to arginine but a marked reduction of C-peptide secretion in response to the glucose potentiated arginine test. Patients treated with OAD+insulin displayed a marked reduction in C-peptide secretion in both



the acute- and glucose potentiated arginine test. However, the pancreatic uptake of [11 C]5-HTP did not differ between the groups (Carlbom et al., 2017). Of interest, we observed a twofold difference of [11 C]5-HTP pancreatic uptake in healthy controls but among the T2D group the difference was close to fivefold. In fact, among lean T2D patients with OAD+Insulin two thirds of the patients displayed a pancreatic uptake well below the absolute levels of healthy controls. In line with this, the pancreatic volume was quite homogenous in healthy controls but varied in T2D groups with a significantly increased volume in obese T2D patients with OAD+insulin.

There could be several contributors to the observed discrepancy between functional beta-cell mass and [¹¹C]5-HTP pancreatic uptake. In fact, isolated islets from patients with T2D contain and secret less insulin when compared to nondiabetic donors (Deng et al., 2004; Marchetti et al., 2004). Since [¹¹C]5-HTP is not a beta-cell specific tracer, the result could still reflect a true finding of islet mass in T2D since the alpha-cell mass has been found to be unaltered (Henquin and Rahier, 2011) and there have been reports supporting a de-differentiation of beta-cells rather than a beta-cell destruction in T2D (Talchai et al., 2012; Spijker et al., 2015). However, the data should be interpreted with caution given the small number of individuals in each group. Given the large variability even in normal physiology, cross-sectional comparisons will be difficult in order to discern more discrete alterations of beta-cell mass. However, this could be overcome by the use of repeated paired measurements. Indeed, by using a retrospective design of repeated examinations, we have found that the pancreatic uptake of $[^{11}C]$ 5-HTP in T2D decrease over time as the disease progresses (Eriksson et al., 2014). In addition, new PET-traces targeting GPR44 that are specific for beta-cells are currently being developed which could

potentiate future studies of adaptive changes of beta-cell mass during different stages of T2D (Eriksson et al., 2018).

IN VIVO IMAGING OF GLUCOSE- AND LIPID METABOLISM IN TYPE 2 DIABETES

Apart from the possibilities of imaging and quantifying betacell mass with PET, the technique also opens up for possibilities of mapping metabolic alterations in specific tissues in vivo. As discussed above, hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia increase ROS activity which contributes to tissue damage and diabetic complications. Currently, we base most of our clinical decisions and classifications on the circulating levels of glucose, free fatty acids, and hormones. We can also detect indirect measurements of ROS but it has been difficult to establish reliable biomarkers, in addition the effects and activity of ROS can vary in different tissue. However, by using PET, we could actually image and map how these metabolic defects occur in different tissues which could relate to the risk of complications in T2D. In addition, these techniques would also provide important insights on the pathophysiological processes and thereby guide us in which treatments to use. An important advantage with PET is the relatively low radiation burden associated with tracers and the possibility to use MRT for anatomical mapping. In combination with the short radioactivity half-life of most tracers (<120 min), it is therefore possible to perform repeated examinations and to use a multi-tracer approach which makes it possible to examine several metabolic pathways at the same time.

The most widely used PET-tracer is in fact a glucose analog, 2-deoxy-2-(18 F)fluoro-D-glucose ([18 F]FDG), which is used in

different fields of medicine to identify everything from tumors to inflammation. [¹⁸F]FDG is a general biomarker for any tissue relying on glycolysis, for example, the brain and the myocardium. Briefly, by relating the uptake rate of [¹⁸F]FDG in different tissues to the glucose levels in plasma, a metabolic rate of glucose (MRGlu, µmol/g/min) in specific tissue can be determined (Phelps et al., 1979). By using [¹⁸F]FDG PET, it has, for instance, been demonstrated that the brain glucose utilization is not affected by insulin-infusion in healthy individuals, i.e., the glucose uptake is maximized already at fasting conditions. However, in individuals with impaired fasting glucose (IGF), the brain glucose utilization increases in response to insulin infusion suggesting that the brain glucose metabolism is disturbed even in IFG (Hirvonen et al., 2011). Using whole-body [¹⁸F]FDG PET and hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp, it was recently demonstrated that the brain glucose utilization is increased in patients with T2D (Boersma et al., 2018). In contrast, the authors found that the glucose utilization was decreased in skeletal muscle, visceral- and adipose tissue, and the liver in patients with T2D (Boersma et al., 2018).

In addition, several fatty acids have been labeled with positron emitting nuclides in order to track their fate in the human body (Mather and DeGrado, 2016). Fatty acid uptake and the rate of oxidation can be determined by relating the uptake and retention, respectively, of the labeled fatty acid with the circulating amounts of non-esterified fatty acids in plasma (p-NEFA). Some of the clinically more commonly used markers for fatty acid metabolism are [11C]Palmitate (Weiss et al., 1976) and 14-18F-fluoro-6thia-heptadecanoic acid ([¹⁸F]FTHA) (DeGrado et al., 1991). Depending on the design of the PET tracers and the trapping mechanisms in different cellular compartments, the tracers tend to reflect either fatty acid uptake or fatty acid oxidation. By using a multi-tracer approach, it has been demonstrated in patients with T2D that the myocardial metabolism is shifted toward fatty acid oxidation instead of glycolysis (Rijzewijk et al., 2009). In addition, it has been demonstrated by PET imaging that patients with T2D have an increased myocardial fatty-acid uptake and fatty-acid oxidation compared to healthy individuals (Mather et al., 2016). In both of these studies, the patients displayed a good metabolic control and had not yet established any microor macrovascular complications.

As discussed, metabolic defects increase production of ROS and by imaging metabolism in different tissue using PET this could give indirect evidence on ROS formation and activity. In fact, the uptake of [18F]FDG has been linked to ROS concentration in tumor cell-lines and tumor-bearing mice (Jung et al., 2013). Also, increasing oxidative stress has been related to decreased brain [¹⁸F]FDG uptake in neurodegenerative disorders (Mosconi et al., 2008). However, the volatile nature of ROS in tissue results in a less than exact assessment using indirect approaches for measurement. Therefore, it is potentially a major advancement that PET tracers specific for ROS are now being developed. In experimental studies, [18F] and [11C] labeled dihydrophenantridine derivatives have been used which bind to DNA in their oxidized forms and therefore becomes trapped within cells. The uptake was found to be ROS specific in both in vitro and in vivo experimental studies (Chu et al., 2014; Wilson

et al., 2017). In addition, also other imaging techniques are being developed for measuring free radicals directly in living organisms by using electron spin resonance and special probes (Berliner et al., 2001; Elas et al., 2012). However, these probes are currently only available for preclinical use. Furthermore, genetically encoded ROS probes such as HyPer-3 (Bilan et al., 2013) and roGFP2-Orp1 (Gutscher et al., 2009) have been presented in recent years (Shimizu and Hendershot, 2009; Meyer and Dick, 2010), and while perhaps not suited for the clinic, allows visualization of specific ROS detection *in vivo* in disease models. PET imaging using tracers targeting ROS will likely soon be available in the clinical setting, which will be a valuable contribution in many fields of medicine, not the least in diabetes research.

DISCUSSION

Given the diverse nature of T2D, it is a challenging and costly disease to manage, both in perspective of the individual patient, as well as the society as a whole. Classification and monitoring of diabetes has until recently relied primarily the on quantification of circulating glucose and insulin levels in combination with the presence or absence of autoantibodies. While this is a massive step up from the characterizations of Lancereauxs classification based on body weight, it falls short for use in modern research and drug development. Common for the classifications by Li et al. (2015), Ahlqvist et al. (2018), and Udler et al. (2018) is that they see T2D as a result of different pathophysiological disturbances and that the heterogeneity can be explained by identifying which disturbance is the dominant. Li et al. (2015) and Udler et al. (2018) emphasize genetic variance as the underlying cause and originate their classification from there. They find expected concordance between genetic and phenotypic traits in several cohorts. Ahlqvist et al. (2018) and Hulman et al. (2018) take on a more pragmatic approach by focusing on phenotype characteristics. By using variables that can be easily measured in primary care, the classification by Ahlqvist et al. (2018) has the potential to be widely accepted. However, the use of phenotype for classification may not be robust over time. Successful treatment may lead to a switch in cluster belonging, requiring re-classification on a regular basis.

Type 2 diabetes is associated with a number of metabolic defects resulting from decreased insulin sensitivity, many of which likely take part in the development and progression of the disease. Accumulating evidence points toward oxidative stress as a culprit, responsible not only for the devastating consequences of peripheral hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia, but also for the dysfunction and loss of beta-cells. Multiple sources for this oxidative stress have been suggested (Styskal et al., 2012; Graciano et al., 2013; Nowotny et al., 2015). Much points to insulin deficiency being correlated with increased oxidative stress, providing a possible explanation to why the SIDD and SIRD classes suggested by Ahlqvist et al. (2018) are more prone to complications than MOD and MARD during follow-up. As elevated insulin levels promote oxidative stress, the insulin resistance observed in SIRD may in part be caused by elevated

peripheral oxidative stress. SIDD in contrast, characterized by insulin deficiency, while having similar peripheral complications as SIRD, may initially have its oxidative stress primarily localized to the pancreatic islets, causing impairment of beta-cell function and survival. Improved understating of the metabolic defects that occur, the implications of oxidative stress, and delineation of mechanisms which are most important for the progression of the disease, will help us combat T2D as well as provide potential targets for novel treatment strategies. In order to succeed in this challenging task, both basic research and clinical studies are warranted to pinpoint the exact mechanisms. For the latter, effective and specific monitoring tools are needed. With the pancreas being a quite inaccessible organ for invasive in vivo studies, the assessment of inflammation, beta-cell mass, and metabolism have so far been mostly been limited to autopsy studies. Furthermore, adversities in studying the mechanisms behind and processes surrounding beta-cell failure and death in T2D, especially in vivo, are likely present not solely due to limitations in methodology, but also because of de facto differences in mechanisms between phenotypically different subgroups. The ongoing development of non-invasive PET imaging techniques targeting beta-cell mass, as well as glucose and lipid metabolism and ROS, will hopefully provide us with tools to perform more extensive prospective studies in order to delineate the pathophysiological changes in the progression of diabetes. In addition, this will serve as a valuable tool for evaluating the effects of novel drug interventions and may also aid in further sub-classification attempts in order to tailor specific treatment regimes. Much of our current knowledge support the view that the loss of beta-cell mass is not the cause of but rather the effect of T2D. However, a number of important questions regarding the role of beta-cell loss in T2D remain unanswered. With the development of in vivo techniques based on PET for the assessment of beta-cell mass, a number of important questions can be addressed.

CONCLUSION

Type 2 diabetes is a complex and heterogeneous disease which affects millions of people in increasing numbers worldwide. T2D increases the risk of cardiovascular disease and causes a number of long-term complications with dramatic effects for both the affected individual and the society. The classification of diabetes is at an interesting turning point and we will likely have a number of sub-classifications of T2D within the next few years. Some of the metabolic defects of T2D are causal for the disease but

REFERENCES

- Abdo, A. A., Ackermann, M., Ajello, M., Atwood, W. B., Baldini, L., Ballet, J., et al. (2010). Gamma-ray emission concurrent with the nova in the symbiotic binary V407 Cygni. *Science* 329, 817–821. doi: 10.1126/science.1192537
- Aggarwal, R., Ringold, S., Khanna, D., Neogi, T., Johnson, S. R., Miller, A., et al. (2015). Distinctions between diagnostic and classification criteria? *Arthritis Care Res.* 67, 891–897. doi: 10.1002/acr.22583

many are secondary and can further contribute to an aggravated metabolic control, beta-cell dysfunction, and even beta-cell loss. An important, and perhaps so far underestimated, factor is the role of oxidative stress and ROS in the pathophysiology of T2D. ROS could be causal but also contribute to a large number of the metabolic defects observed in T2D including beta-cell dysfunction and beta-cell loss. Beta-cell mass is unaltered at the onset of T2D but progressively declines over time. Currently, our knowledge on beta-cell mass is limited to autopsy studies and based on comparisons with healthy controls. PET in combination with novel PET-tracers holds great potential for quantifying betacell mass in vivo. In addition, PET can be used to quantify and image metabolic defects as well as ROS activity in different tissues. With the use of these novel techniques, we anticipate that our understanding on the pathophysiology of T2D will dramatically increase over the coming years which hopefully will result in the development of new potent drugs to combat metabolic defects, ROS activity and beta-cell failure in T2D.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because historical published data will be provided by the corresponding author upon request. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to daniel.espes@mcb.uu.se.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DE and AE are responsible for the design of the manuscript. All authors have contributed in the writing and critical review of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Swedish Society for Medical Research, Science for Life Laboratory, Diabetesfonden, Barndiabetesfonden, Göran Gustafssons Stiftelse, Ernfors Fond, and the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2019.00107/full#supplementary-material

Ahlqvist, E., Storm, P., Käräjämäki, A., Martinell, M., Dorkhan, M., Carlsson, A., et al. (2018). Novel subgroups of adult-onset diabetes and their association with outcomes: a data-driven cluster analysis of six variables. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 6, 361–369. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30051-2

Ahmed Alfar, E., Kirova, D., Konantz, J., Birke, S., Mansfeld, J., and Ninov, N. (2017). Distinct levels of reactive oxygen species coordinate metabolic activity with beta-cell mass plasticity. *Sci. Rep.* 7:3994. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03873-9

- American Diabetes Association (2009). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 32(Suppl. 1), S62–S67. doi: 10.2337/dc09-S062
- Aoki, C., Suzuki, K., Yanagi, K., Satoh, H., Niitani, M., and Aso, Y. (2012). Miglitol, an anti-diabetic drug, inhibits oxidative stress-induced apoptosis and mitochondrial ROS over-production in endothelial cells by enhancement of AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Pharmacol. Sci. 120, 121–128. doi: 10.1254/ jphs.12108FP
- Bell, E. T. (1952). Hyalinization of the islet of Langerhans in diabetes mellitus. Diabetes 1, 341–344. doi: 10.2337/diab.1.5.341
- Berliner, L. J., Khramtsov, V., Fujii, H., and Clanton, T. L. (2001). Unique in vivo applications of spin traps. *Free Radic Biol. Med.* 30, 489–499. doi: 10.1016/ S0891-5849(00)00491-3
- Bilan, D. S., Pase, L., Joosen, L., Gorokhovatsky, A. Y., Ermakova, Y. G., Gadella, T. W., et al. (2013). HyPer-3: a genetically encoded H(2)O(2) probe with improved performance for ratiometric and fluorescence lifetime imaging. ACS *Chem. Biol.* 8, 535–542. doi: 10.1021/cb300625g
- Boersma, G. J., Johansson, E., Pereira, M. J., Heurling, K., Skrtic, S., Lau, J., et al. (2018). Altered glucose uptake in muscle, visceral adipose tissue, and brain predict whole-body insulin resistance and may contribute to the development of type 2 diabetes: a combined PET/MR study. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 50, 627–639. doi: 10.1055/a-0643-4739
- Bonner-Weir, S. (2000). Life and death of the pancreatic beta cells. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 11, 375–378. doi: 10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00305-2
- Boonstra, J., and Post, J. A. (2004). Molecular events associated with reactive oxygen species and cell cycle progression in mammalian cells. *Gene* 337, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2004.04.032
- Brophy, S., Yderstraede, K., Mauricio, D., Hunter, S., Hawa, M., Pozzilli, P., et al. (2008). Time to insulin initiation cannot be used in defining latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Diabetes Care* 31, 439–441. doi: 10.2337/dc07-1308
- Butler, A. E., Cao-Minh, L., Galasso, R., Rizza, R. A., Corradin, A., Cobelli, C., et al. (2010). Adaptive changes in pancreatic beta cell fractional area and beta cell turnover in human pregnancy. *Diabetologia* 53, 2167–2176. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-010-1809-6
- Butler, A. E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R. A., and Butler, P. C. (2003). Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52, 102–110. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.1.102
- Buzzetti, R., Di Pietro, S., Giaccari, A., Petrone, A., Locatelli, M., Suraci, C., et al. (2007). High titer of autoantibodies to GAD identifies a specific phenotype of adult-onset autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 30, 932–938. doi: 10.2337/ dc06-1696
- Cai, Z., and Yan, L. J. (2013). Protein oxidative modifications: beneficial roles in disease and health. J. Biochem. Pharmacol. Res. 1, 15–26.
- Carlbom, L., Espes, D., Lubberink, M., Martinell, M., Johansson, L., Ahlstrom, H., et al. (2017). [11C]5-hydroxy-tryptophan PET for assessment of islet mass during progression of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 66, 1286–1292. doi: 10.2337/ db16-1449
- Cervin, C., Lyssenko, V., Bakhtadze, E., Lindholm, E., Nilsson, P., Tuomi, T., et al. (2008). Genetic similarities between latent autoimmune diabetes in adults, type 1 diabetes, and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 57, 1433–1437. doi: 10.2337/db07-0299
- Chang, S. G., Choi, K. D., Jang, S. H., and Shin, H. C. (2003). Role of disulfide bonds in the structure and activity of human insulin. *Mol. Cells* 16, 323–330.
- Cheng, G., and Lanza-Jacoby, S. (2015). Metformin decreases growth of pancreatic cancer cells by decreasing reactive oxygen species: role of NOX4. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 465, 41–46. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.118
- Chu, W., Chepetan, A., Zhou, D., Shoghi, K. I., Xu, J., Dugan, L. L., et al. (2014). Development of a PET radiotracer for non-invasive imaging of the reactive oxygen species, superoxide, in vivo. Org. Biomol. Chem. 12, 4421–4431. doi: 10.1039/c3ob42379d
- Clark, A., Wells, C. A., Buley, I. D., Cruickshank, J. K., Vanhegan, R. I., Matthews, D. R., et al. (1988). Islet amyloid, increased A-cells, reduced B-cells and exocrine fibrosis: quantitative changes in the pancreas in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res.* 9, 151–159.
- Cleland, S. J., Fisher, B. M., Colhoun, H. M., Sattar, N., and Petrie, J. R. (2013). Insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes: what is 'double diabetes' and what are the risks? *Diabetologia* 56, 1462–1470. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-2904-2
- DeGrado, T. R., Coenen, H. H., and Stocklin, G. (1991). 14(R,S)-[18F]fluoro-6-thia-heptadecanoic acid (FTHA): evaluation in mouse of a new probe of myocardial utilization of long chain fatty acids. J. Nucl. Med. 32, 1888–1896.

- Deng, S., Vatamaniuk, M., Huang, X., Doliba, N., Lian, M. M., Frank, A., et al. (2004). Structural and functional abnormalities in the islets isolated from type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 53, 624–632. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.3.624
- Deniaud, A., Sharaf el dein, O., Maillier, E., Poncet, D., Kroemer, G., Lemaire, C., et al. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces calcium-dependent permeability transition, mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. Oncogene 27, 285–299. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210638
- Diaz-Morales, N., Rovira-Llopis, S., Banuls, C., Lopez-Domenech, S., Escribano-Lopez, I., Veses, S., et al. (2017). Does metformin protect diabetic patients from oxidative stress and leukocyte-endothelium interactions? *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 27, 1439–1445. doi: 10.1089/ars.2017.7122
- Donath, M. Y., Ehses, J. A., Maedler, K., Schumann, D. M., Ellingsgaard, H., Eppler, E., et al. (2005). Mechanisms of beta-cell death in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 54(Suppl. 2), S108–S113. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.suppl_2.S108
- Ehrlich, J. C., and Ratner, I. M. (1961). Amyloidosis of the islets of Langerhans. A restudy of islet hyalin in diabetic and non-diabetic individuals. *Am. J. Pathol.* 38, 49–59.
- Elas, M., Ichikawa, K., and Halpern, H. J. (2012). Oxidative stress imaging in live animals with techniques based on electron paramagnetic resonance. *Radiat. Res.* 177, 514–523. doi: 10.1667/RR2668.1
- Eriksson, O., Espes, D., Selvaraju, R. K., Jansson, E., Antoni, G., Sorensen, J., et al. (2014). Positron emission tomography ligand [11C]5-hydroxy-tryptophan can be used as a surrogate marker for the human endocrine pancreas. *Diabetes* 63, 3428–3437. doi: 10.2337/db13-1877
- Eriksson, O., Johnstrom, P., Cselenyi, Z., Jahan, M., Selvaraju, R. K., Jensen-Waern, M., et al. (2018). In vivo visualization of beta-cells by targeting of GPR44. *Diabetes* 67, 182–192. doi: 10.2337/db17-0764
- Eriksson, O., Laughlin, M., Brom, M., Nuutila, P., Roden, M., Hwa, A., et al. (2016). In vivo imaging of beta cells with radiotracers: state of the art, prospects and recommendations for development and use. *Diabetologia* 59, 1340–1349. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-3959-7
- Esteghamati, A., Eskandari, D., Mirmiranpour, H., Noshad, S., Mousavizadeh, M., Hedayati, M., et al. (2013). Effects of metformin on markers of oxidative stress and antioxidant reserve in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. *Clin. Nutr.* 32, 179–185. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2012.08. 006
- Falk-Delgado, A., Kuntze Soderqvist, A., Fransen, J., and Falk-Delgado, A. (2015). Improved clinical outcome 3 months after endovascular treatment, including thrombectomy, in patients with acute ischemic stroke: a metaanalysis. J. Neurointerv. Surg. 8, 665–670. doi: 10.1136/neurintsurg-2015-011835
- Fourlanos, S., Dotta, F., Greenbaum, C. J., Palmer, J. P., Rolandsson, O., Colman, P. G., et al. (2005). Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) should be less latent. *Diabetologia* 48, 2206–2212. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1960-7
- Goodge, K. A., and Hutton, J. C. (2000). Translational regulation of proinsulin biosynthesis and proinsulin conversion in the pancreatic beta-cell. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 11, 235–242. doi: 10.1006/scdb.2000.0172
- Graciano, M. F., Valle, M. M., Curi, R., and Carpinelli, A. R. (2013). Evidence for the involvement of GPR40 and NADPH oxidase in palmitic acid-induced superoxide production and insulin secretion. *Islets* 5, 139–148. doi: 10.4161/isl. 25459
- Gross, E., Sevier, C. S., Heldman, N., Vitu, E., Bentzur, M., Kaiser, C. A., et al. (2006). Generating disulfides enzymatically: reaction products and electron acceptors of the endoplasmic reticulum thiol oxidase Ero1p. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 299–304. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506448103
- Grunnet, L. G., Aikin, R., Tonnesen, M. F., Paraskevas, S., Blaabjerg, L., Storling, J., et al. (2009). Proinflammatory cytokines activate the intrinsic apoptotic pathway in beta-cells. *Diabetes* 58, 1807–1815. doi: 10.2337/db08-0178
- Guichard, C., Moreau, R., Pessayre, D., Epperson, T. K., and Krause, K. H. (2008). NOX family NADPH oxidases in liver and in pancreatic islets: a role in the metabolic syndrome and diabetes? *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 36(Pt 5), 920–929. doi: 10.1042/BST0360920
- Gutscher, M., Sobotta, M. C., Wabnitz, G. H., Ballikaya, S., Meyer, A. J., Samstag, Y., et al. (2009). Proximity-based protein thiol oxidation by H2O2-scavenging peroxidases. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 31532–31540. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.059246
- Halliwell, B., and Whiteman, M. (2004). Measuring reactive species and oxidative damage in vivo and in cell culture: how should you do it and what do the results mean? *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 142, 231–255.

- Hanley, S. C., Austin, E., Assouline-Thomas, B., Kapeluto, J., Blaichman, J., Moosavi, M., et al. (2010). {beta}-Cell mass dynamics and islet cell plasticity in human type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology* 151, 1462–1472. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-1277
- Henquin, J. C., and Rahier, J. (2011). Pancreatic alpha cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 54, 1720–1725. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2118-4
- Hirvonen, J., Virtanen, K. A., Nummenmaa, L., Hannukainen, J. C., Honka, M. J., Bucci, M., et al. (2011). Effects of insulin on brain glucose metabolism in impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 60, 443–447. doi: 10.2337/db10-0940
- Huang, C. J., Lin, C. Y., Haataja, L., Gurlo, T., Butler, A. E., Rizza, R. A., et al. (2007). High expression rates of human islet amyloid polypeptide induce endoplasmic reticulum stress mediated beta-cell apoptosis, a characteristic of humans with type 2 but not type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 56, 2016–2027. doi: 10.2337/db07-0197
- Hulman, A., Witte, D. R., Vistisen, D., Balkau, B., Dekker, J. M., Herder, C., et al. (2018). Pathophysiological characteristics underlying different glucose response curves: a latent class trajectory analysis from the prospective EGIR-RISC study. *Diabetes Care* 41, 1740–1748. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0279
- Jung, K. H., Lee, J. H., Thien Quach, C. H., Paik, J. Y., Oh, H., Park, J. W., et al. (2013). Resveratrol suppresses cancer cell glucose uptake by targeting reactive oxygen species-mediated hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha activation. J. Nucl. Med. 54, 2161–2167. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.112.115436
- Kajiwara, C., Kusaka, Y., Kimura, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nanjo, Y., Ishii, Y., et al. (2018). Metformin mediates protection against legionella pneumonia through activation of AMPK and mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. J. Immunol. 200, 623–631. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700474
- Kaviarasan, S., Muniandy, S., Qvist, R., and Ismail, I. S. (2009). F2-isoprostanes as novel biomarkers for type 2 diabetes: a review. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 45, 1–8. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.08-266
- Kloppel, G., Lohr, M., Habich, K., Oberholzer, M., and Heitz, P. U. (1985). Islet pathology and the pathogenesis of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus revisited. *Surv. Synth. Pathol. Res.* 4, 110–125.
- Kroemer, G., Marino, G., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and the integrated stress response. *Mol. Cell* 40, 280–293. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.023
- Laugesen, E., Østergaard, J. A., Leslie, R. D., and Danish Diabetes Academy Workshop, and Workshop Speakers (2015). Latent autoimmune diabetes of the adult: current knowledge and uncertainty. *Diabetic Med.* 32, 843–852. doi: 10.1111/dme.12700
- Lee, J., Ma, K., Moulik, M., and Yechoor, V. (2018). Untimely oxidative stress in beta-cells leads to diabetes – Role of circadian clock in beta-cell function. *Free Radic Biol. Med.* 119, 69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.02.022
- Lenzen, S., Drinkgern, J., and Tiedge, M. (1996). Low antioxidant enzyme gene expression in pancreatic islets compared with various other mouse tissues. *Free Radic Biol. Med.* 20, 463–466. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(96)02051-5
- Li, L., Cheng, W.-Y., Glicksberg, B. S., Gottesman, O., Tamler, R., Chen, R., et al. (2015). Identification of type 2 diabetes subgroups through topological analysis of patient similarity. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7, ra174–ra311. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaa9364
- Lipson, K. L., Fonseca, S. G., Ishigaki, S., Nguyen, L. X., Foss, E., Bortell, R., et al. (2006). Regulation of insulin biosynthesis in pancreatic beta cells by an endoplasmic reticulum-resident protein kinase IRE1. *Cell Metab.* 4, 245–254. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.07.007
- Maclean, N., and Ogilvie, R. F. (1955). Quantitative estimation of the pancreatic islet tissue in diabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 4, 367–376. doi: 10.2337/diab.4. 5.367
- Marchetti, P., Del Guerra, S., Marselli, L., Lupi, R., Masini, M., Pollera, M., et al. (2004). Pancreatic islets from type 2 diabetic patients have functional defects and increased apoptosis that are ameliorated by metformin. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 89, 5535–5541. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0150
- Marré, M. L., James, E. A., and Piganelli, J. D. (2015). β cell ER stress and the implications for immunogenicity in type 1 diabetes. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 3:67. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2015.00067
- Mather, K. J., and DeGrado, T. R. (2016). Imaging of myocardial fatty acid oxidation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 1535–1543. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016. 02.019
- Mather, K. J., Hutchins, G. D., Perry, K., Territo, W., Chisholm, R., Acton, A., et al. (2016). Assessment of myocardial metabolic flexibility and work efficiency in human type 2 diabetes using 16-[18F]fluoro-4-thiapalmitate, a novel PET fatty

acid tracer. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 310, E452-E460. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00437.2015

- Meyer, A. J., and Dick, T. P. (2010). Fluorescent protein-based redox probes. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 13, 621-650. doi: 10.1089/ars.2009.2948
- Miki, A., Ricordi, C., Sakuma, Y., Yamamoto, T., Misawa, R., Mita, A., et al. (2018). Divergent antioxidant capacity of human islet cell subsets: a potential cause of beta-cell vulnerability in diabetes and islet transplantation. *PLoS One* 13:e0196570. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196570
- Monnier, L., Colette, C., Mas, E., Michel, F., Cristol, J. P., Boegner, C., et al. (2010). Regulation of oxidative stress by glycaemic control: evidence for an independent inhibitory effect of insulin therapy. *Diabetologia* 53, 562–571. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1574-6
- Monnier, L., Colette, C., Michel, F., Cristol, J. P., and Owens, D. R. (2011). Insulin therapy has a complex relationship with measure of oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes: a case for further study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 27, 348–353. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.1174
- Morgan, D., Rebelato, E., Abdulkader, F., Graciano, M. F., Oliveira-Emilio, H. R., Hirata, A. E., et al. (2009). Association of NAD(P)H oxidase with glucose-induced insulin secretion by pancreatic beta-cells. *Endocrinology* 150, 2197–2201. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1149
- Mosconi, L., Pupi, A., and De Leon, M. J. (2008). Brain glucose hypometabolism and oxidative stress in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1147, 180–195. doi: 10.1196/annals.1427.007
- Nesti, L., and Natali, A. (2017). Metformin effects on the heart and the cardiovascular system: a review of experimental and clinical data. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 27, 657–669. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2017.04.009
- Nielsen, J. H. (2016). Beta cell adaptation in pregnancy: a tribute to Claes Hellerstrom. Ups. J. Med. Sci. 121, 151–154. doi: 10.3109/03009734.2016. 1165776
- Niskanen, L. K., Tuomi, T., Karjalainen, J., Groop, L. C., and Uusitupa, M. I. (1995). GAD antibodies in NIDDM. Ten-year follow-up from the diagnosis. *Diabetes Care* 18, 1557–1565. doi: 10.2337/diacare.18.12.1557
- Nowotny, K., Jung, T., Hohn, A., Weber, D., and Grune, T. (2015). Advanced glycation end products and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biomolecules* 5, 194-222. doi: 10.3390/biom5010194
- Petersen, K. E., Rakipovski, G., Raun, K., and Lykkesfeldt, J. (2016). Does glucagonlike peptide-1 ameliorate oxidative stress in diabetes? evidence based on experimental and clinical studies. *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* 12, 331–358. doi: 10.2174/ 1573399812666150918150608
- Phelps, M. E., Huang, S. C., Hoffman, E. J., Selin, C., Sokoloff, L., and Kuhl, D. E. (1979). Tomographic measurement of local cerebral glucose metabolic rate in humans with (F-18)2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose: validation of method. *Ann. Neurol.* 6, 371–388. doi: 10.1002/ana.410060502
- Prentki, M., Joly, E., El-Assaad, W., and Roduit, R. (2002). Malonyl-CoA signaling, lipid partitioning, and glucolipotoxicity: role in beta-cell adaptation and failure in the etiology of diabetes. *Diabetes* 51(Suppl. 3), S405–S413. doi: 10.2337/ diabetes.51.2007.S405
- Rahier, J., Goebbels, R. M., and Henquin, J. C. (1983). Cellular composition of the human diabetic pancreas. *Diabetologia* 24, 366–371. doi: 10.1007/BF00251826
- Rahier, J., Guiot, Y., Goebbels, R. M., Sempoux, C., and Henquin, J. C. (2008). Pancreatic beta-cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 10(Suppl. 4), 32–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2008.00969.x
- Rains, J. L., and Jain, S. K. (2011). Oxidative stress, insulin signaling, and diabetes. Free Radic Biol. Med. 50, 567–575. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.12.006
- Rena, G., Hardie, D. G., and Pearson, E. R. (2017). The mechanisms of action of metformin. *Diabetologia* 60, 1577–1585. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4342-z
- Rijzewijk, L. J., van der Meer, R. W., Lamb, H. J., de Jong, H. W., Lubberink, M., Romijn, J. A., et al. (2009). Altered myocardial substrate metabolism and decreased diastolic function in nonischemic human diabetic cardiomyopathy: studies with cardiac positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 1524–1532. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.04.074
- Rizzo, M. R., Barbieri, M., Marfella, R., and Paolisso, G. (2012). Reduction of oxidative stress and inflammation by blunting daily acute glucose fluctuations in patients with type 2 diabetes: role of dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibition. *Diabetes Care* 35, 2076–2082. doi: 10.2337/dc12-0199
- Robertson, R., Zhou, H., Zhang, T., and Harmon, J. S. (2007). Chronic oxidative stress as a mechanism for glucose toxicity of the beta cell in type 2 diabetes. *Cell Biochem. Biophys.* 48, 139–146. doi: 10.1007/s12013-007-0026-5

- Safai, N., Carstensen, B., Vestergaard, H., and Ridderstrale, M. (2018). Impact of a multifactorial treatment programme on clinical outcomes and cardiovascular risk estimates: a retrospective cohort study from a specialised diabetes centre in Denmark. *BMJ Open* 8:e019214. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019214
- Saisho, Y., Butler, A. E., Manesso, E., Elashoff, D., Rizza, R. A., and Butler, P. C. (2013). beta-cell mass and turnover in humans: effects of obesity and aging. *Diabetes care* 36, 111–117. doi: 10.2337/dc12-0421
- Sakuraba, H., Mizukami, H., Yagihashi, N., Wada, R., Hanyu, C., and Yagihashi, S. (2002). Reduced beta-cell mass and expression of oxidative stress-related DNA damage in the islet of Japanese Type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 45, 85–96. doi: 10.1007/s125-002-8248-z
- Sawada, F., Inoguchi, T., Tsubouchi, H., Sasaki, S., Fujii, M., Maeda, Y., et al. (2008). Differential effect of sulfonylureas on production of reactive oxygen species and apoptosis in cultured pancreatic beta-cell line, MIN6. *Metabolism* 57, 1038–1045. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2008.01.038
- Scheuner, D., and Kaufman, R. J. (2008). The unfolded protein response: a pathway that links insulin demand with beta-cell failure and diabetes. *Endocr. Rev.* 29, 317–333. doi: 10.1210/er.2007-0039
- Schieber, M., and Chandel, N. S. (2014). ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. *Curr. Biol.* 24, R453–R462. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.034
- Sevier, C. S., and Kaiser, C. A. (2002). Formation and transfer of disulphide bonds in living cells. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 3, 836–847. doi: 10.1038/nrm954
- Shanmugasundaram, K., Nayak, B. K., Friedrichs, W. E., Kaushik, D., Rodriguez, R., and Block, K. (2017). NOX4 functions as a mitochondrial energetic sensor coupling cancer metabolic reprogramming to drug resistance. *Nat. Commun.* 8:997. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01106-1
- Shimizu, Y., and Hendershot, L. M. (2009). Oxidative folding: cellular strategies for dealing with the resultant equimolar production of reactive oxygen species. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11, 2317–2331. doi: 10.1089/ARS. 2009.2501
- Siegelaar, S. E., Barwari, T., Kulik, W., Hoekstra, J. B., and DeVries, J. H. (2011). No relevant relationship between glucose variability and oxidative stress in well-regulated type 2 diabetes patients. J. Diabetes Sci. Technol. 5, 86–92. doi: 10.1177/193229681100500112
- Singh, R. K., Gupta, B., Tripathi, K., and Singh, S. K. (2016). Anti oxidant potential of metformin and pioglitazone in type 2 diabetes mellitus: beyond their anti glycemic effect. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr.* 10, 102–104. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2015.08. 016
- Spijker, H. S., Song, H., Ellenbroek, J. H., Roefs, M. M., Engelse, M. A., Bos, E., et al. (2015). Loss of beta-Cell identity occurs in type 2 diabetes and is associated with islet amyloid deposits. *Diabetes* 64, 2928–2938. doi: 10.2337/db14-1752
- Stadtman, E. R. (1992). Protein oxidation and aging. Science 257, 1220-1224. doi: 10.1126/science.1355616
- Stadtman, E. R. (2001). Protein oxidation in aging and age-related diseases. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 928, 22–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb05632.x
- Styskal, J., Van Remmen, H., Richardson, A., and Salmon, A. B. (2012). Oxidative stress and diabetes: what can we learn about insulin resistance from antioxidant mutant mouse models? *Free Radic Biol. Med.* 52, 46–58. doi: 10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2011.10.441
- Syed, I., Kyathanahalli, C. N., Jayaram, B., Govind, S., Rhodes, C. J., Kowluru, R. A., et al. (2011). Increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and ROS generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-JNK1/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in the diabetic islet. *Diabetes* 60, 2843–2852. doi: 10.2337/db11-0809
- Takeda, H., Kawasaki, E., Shimizu, I., Konoue, E., Fujiyama, M., Murao, S., et al. (2002). Clinical, autoimmune, and genetic characteristics of adult-onset diabetic patients with GAD autoantibodies in Japan (Ehime Study). *Diabetes Care* 25:995. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.6.995
- Talchai, C., Xuan, S., Lin, H. V., Sussel, L., and Accili, D. (2012). Pancreatic beta cell dedifferentiation as a mechanism of diabetic beta cell failure. *Cell* 150, 1223–1234. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.029
- Tu, B. P., and Weissman, J. S. (2004). Oxidative protein folding in eukaryotes: mechanisms and consequences. J. Cell Biol. 164, 341–346. doi: 10.1083/jcb. 200311055
- Tuomi, T., Groop, L. C., Zimmet, P. Z., Rowley, M. J., Knowles, W., and Mackay, I. R. (1993). Antibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase reveal latent autoimmune diabetes mellitus in adults with a non-insulin-dependent onset of disease. *Diabetes* 42, 359–362. doi: 10.2337/diab.42.2.359

- Turner, R., Stratton, I., Horton, V., Manley, S., Zimmet, P., Mackay, I. R., et al. (1997). UKPDS 25: autoantibodies to islet-cell cytoplasm and glutamic acid decarboxylase for prediction of insulin requirement in type 2 diabetes. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. *Lancet* 350, 1288–1293. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)03062-6
- Tuzcu, H., Aslan, I., and Aslan, M. (2013). The effect of high-dose insulin analog initiation therapy on lipid peroxidation products and oxidative stress markers in type 2 diabetic patients. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2013, 513742. doi: 10.1155/ 2013/513742
- Udler, M. S., Kim, J., von Grotthuss, M., Bonàs-Guarch, S., Cole, J. B., Chiou, J., et al. (2018). Type 2 diabetes genetic loci informed by multi-trait associations point to disease mechanisms and subtypes: a soft clustering analysis. *PLoS Med.* 15:e1002654. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002654
- Uribarri, J., Cai, W., Peppa, M., Goodman, S., Ferrucci, L., Striker, G., et al. (2007). Circulating glycotoxins and dietary advanced glycation endproducts: two links to inflammatory response, oxidative stress, and aging. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 62, 427–433. doi: 10.1093/gerona/62.4.427
- Van Assche, F. A., Aerts, L., and De Prins, F. (1978). A morphological study of the endocrine pancreas in human pregnancy. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 85, 818–820. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1978.tb15835.x
- Vancura, A., Bu, P., Bhagwat, M., Zeng, J., and Vancurova, I. (2018). Metformin as an anticancer agent. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 867–878. doi: 10.1016/j.tips. 2018.07.006
- Vlassara, H., and Uribarri, J. (2014). Advanced glycation end products (AGE) and diabetes: cause. Effect, or both? *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 14:453. doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0453-1
- Wang, X., Elksnis, A., Wikstrom, P., Walum, E., Welsh, N., and Carlsson, P. O. (2018a). The novel NADPH oxidase 4 selective inhibitor GLX7013114 counteracts human islet cell death in vitro. *PLoS One* 13:e0204271. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0204271
- Wang, X., Li, R., Zhao, X., Yu, X., and Sun, Q. (2018b). Metformin promotes HaCaT cell apoptosis through generation of reactive oxygen species via Raf-1-ERK1/2-Nrf2 inactivation. *Inflammation* 41, 948–958. doi: 10.1007/s10753-018-0749-z
- Watada, H., and Fujitani, Y. (2015). Minireview: autophagy in pancreatic beta-cells and its implication in diabetes. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 29, 338–348. doi: 10.1210/me. 2014-1367
- Weiss, E. S., Hoffman, E. J., Phelps, M. E., Welch, M. J., Henry, P. D., Ter-Pogossian, M. M., et al. (1976). External detection and visualization of myocardial ischemia with 11C-substrates in vitro and in vivo. *Circ. Res.* 39, 24–32. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.39.1.24
- Westermark, P., Andersson, A., and Westermark, G. T. (2011). Islet amyloid polypeptide, islet amyloid, and diabetes mellitus. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 795–826. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00042.2009
- White, J. R. (2014). A brief history of the development of diabetes medications. Diabetes Spectrum. 27, 82–86. doi: 10.2337/diaspect.27.2.82
- Wilson, A. A., Sadovski, O., Nobrega, J. N., Raymond, R. J., Bambico, F. R., Nashed, M. G., et al. (2017). Evaluation of a novel radiotracer for positron emission tomography imaging of reactive oxygen species in the central nervous system. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 53, 14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2017.05.011
- Witte, D. P., Greider, M. H., DeSchryver-Kecskemeti, K., Kissane, J. M., and White, N. H. (1984). The juvenile human endocrine pancreas: normal v idiopathic hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia. *Semin. Diagn. Pathol.* 1, 30–42.
- Wu, J., Luo, X., Thangthaeng, N., Sumien, N., Chen, Z., Rutledge, M. A., et al. (2017). Pancreatic mitochondrial complex I exhibits aberrant hyperactivity in diabetes. *Biochem. Biophys. Rep.* 11, 119–129. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrep.2017. 07.007
- National Diabetes Data Group (1979). Classification and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and other categories of glucose intolerance. *Diabetes* 28, 1039–1057. doi: 10.2337/diab.28.12.1039
- Zeng, C., Mulas, F., Sui, Y., Guan, T., Miller, N., Tan, Y., et al. (2017). Pseudotemporal ordering of single cells reveals metabolic control of postnatal beta cell proliferation. *Cell Metab.* 25, 1160.e11–1175.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2017.04.014
- Zhou, Z., Xiang, Y., Ji, L., Jia, W., Ning, G., Huang, G., et al. (2013). Frequency, immunogenetics, and clinical characteristics of latent autoimmune diabetes in China (LADA China Study). *Diabetes* 62:543. doi: 10.2337/db12-0207

Zimmet, P., Alberti, K. G., Magliano, D. J., and Bennett, P. H. (2016). Diabetes mellitus statistics on prevalence and mortality: facts and fallacies. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 12, 616–622. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.105

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Elksnis, Martinell, Eriksson and Espes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increased Ratio of Global O-GlcNAcylation to Tau Phosphorylation at Thr212 Site Is Associated With Better Memory Function in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes

Rong Huang^{1,2}, Sai Tian^{1,2}, Jing Han¹, Rongrong Cai^{1,2}, Hongyan Lin^{1,2}, Dan Guo^{1,2}, Jiaqi Wang^{1,2} and Shaohua Wang^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Zhongda Hospital, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ² School of Medicine, Southeast University, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zheng Sun, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Martorana, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Italy Anne-Sophie Edouart, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

> *Correspondence: Shaohua Wang gyjwsh@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 24 August 2018 Accepted: 30 January 2019 Published: 14 February 2019

Citation:

Huang R, Tian S, Han J, Cai R, Lin H, Guo D, Wang J and Wang S (2019) Increased Ratio of Global O-GlcNAcylation to Tau Phosphorylation at Thr212 Site Is Associated With Better Memory Function in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Front. Physiol. 10:110. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00110 **Objective:** Aberrant *O*-GlcNAc modification has been implicated in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases via competition with tau phosphorylation. We aimed to investigate the association between global *O*-GlcNAcylation, tau phosphorylation levels and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in the whole blood of patients with T2DM.

Methods: Sociodemographic, clinical characteristics and cognitive performances of the enrolled T2DM subjects were extensively assessed. Global *O*-GlcNAcylation and tau phosphorylation levels in the whole blood were also determined using Western blot.

Results: Forty-eight T2DM subjects, including 24 with MCI and 24 with normal cognition, were enrolled in this study. Compared with cognitively normal controls, T2DM with MCI subjects displayed decreased global *O*-GlcNAcylation level, but increased tau phosphorylation levels (all p < 0.05). To reflect the combined effect, the ratios of global *O*-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation levels, including specific sites, such as Ser396, Ser404, Thr212, and Thr231, were all significantly decreased in MCI subjects (all p < 0.05). Further multivariable logistic regression analysis revealed that high glycated hemoglobin A1c was an independent risk factor, whereas increased *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was an independent protective factor for MCI in patients with T2DM (odds ratio [OR] = 2.452, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.061–5.668, p = 0.036; OR = 0.028, 95%CI 0.002–0.388, p = 0.008, respectively). With regard to each cognitive domain, *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was positively correlated with the score of Auditory Verbal Learning Test-delayed recall (r = 0.377, p = 0.010).

Conclusion: Our study suggests that increased ratio of global *O*-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation at Thr212 site in the whole blood is associated with decreased risk of MCI, especially with better memory function in T2DM subjects.

Clinical Trial Registration: www.ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier ChiCTR-OCC-15006060.

Keywords: tau protein, O-GlcNAcylation, phosphorylation, mild cognitive impairment, type 2 diabetes mellitus

INTRODUCTION

Current estimates indicated that 415 million adults are diagnosed with diabetes worldwide in 2015 (Ogurtsova et al., 2017). Among these adults, 90% manifested type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). T2DM is a multifactorial metabolic disorder that can cause several acute and chronic complications, mainly including diabetic ketoacidosis, diabetic hyperosmotic coma, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, and microvascular diseases (Zheng et al., 2018). Previous studies suggested that T2DM is an independent risk factor for mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and dementia (Cheng et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2016), and also progression from MCI to dementia (Li et al., 2016; Ciudin et al., 2017). Moreover, the annual conversion rate of MCI to Alzheimer's disease (AD) is 10-15%, and 80% of MCI patients are converted to AD within 6 years, which will cause huge family and social burdens (Tiermey et al., 1996). Therefore, it is urgent to provide early prevention and intervention of MCI in patients of T2DM. The underlying mechanisms of T2DM-related cognitive dysfunction are complex and include chronic hyperglycemia (Kim D. J. et al., 2016), recurrent hypoglycemia (Sheen and Sheu, 2016; Mehta et al., 2017), insulin resistance (IR) (Ma et al., 2015), β-amyloid aggregation, and tau protein hyperphosphorylation (Baglietto-Vargas et al., 2016; Mittal and Katare, 2016). However, the exact mechanisms require further studies.

O-N-acetylglucosaminylation (O-GlcNAcylation) is a ubiquitous and dynamic posttranslational modification regulated by only two known enzymes, namely, O-linked β-N-acetylglucosamine transferase (OGT) and O-linked B-N-acetylglucosaminidase (O-GlcNAcase, OGA) (Yang and Qian, 2017). OGT transfers O-linked N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) to the hydroxyl group of serine (Ser) or threonine (Thr) residues of certain cytoplasmic, nuclear and mitochondrial proteins, whereas OGA removes it from proteins. To date, thousands of O-GlcNAc-modified proteins reportedly regulate many cellular pathways, such as epigenetics, gene expression, translation, protein degradation, signal transduction, mitochondrial bioenergetics, cell cycle, and protein localization (Zachara et al., 2015). O-GlcNAc pathway utilizes uridine diphosphate N-acetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc) from the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway. Thus, previous studies linked it to circulating glucose levels. For example, aberrant protein O-GlcNAc modification has been associated with hyperglycemia and IR (Park et al., 2010; Myslicki et al., 2014). Moreover, increased expression of O-GlcNAcylation in erythrocyte or leukocyte proteins (particularly granulocyte) is considered as a unique marker for early and efficient detection of T2DM (Wang et al., 2009; Springhorn et al., 2012). In addition, O-GlcNAcylation has been also implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetic complications, such as but not limited to retinopathy, nephropathy, and vascular disease (Peterson and Hart, 2016).

O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation modify Ser and/or Thr side chains of substrate proteins. Consequently, O-GlcNAcylation can compete with phosphorylation at certain sites of various proteins, including microtubule-associated protein tau (Hart et al., 2011). Studies demonstrated that the formation of neurofibrillary tangles, in which the major components are abnormally hyperphosphorylation tau proteins, is one of the defining pathological features of AD (Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986). As a consequence, aberrant tau O-GlcNAcylation has been implicated in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer and neurodegenerative diseases. In human postmortem brain tissues, tau protein was demonstrated to be modified by O-GlcNAcylation, and protein O-GlcNAcylation level in AD brain was lower than that in healthy controls (Liu F. et al., 2004). Evidence from an animal study indicated an imbalance between tau phosphorylation and O-GlcNAcylation in the hippocampus of 3xTg-AD mice (Gatta et al., 2016). Intervention studies also suggested that increased O-GlcNAcylation may prevent (β-amyloid plaque formation and pathological tau aggregation, thereby rescuing cognitive impairment in transgenic mouse models (Kim et al., 2013; Graham et al., 2014; Yuzwa et al., 2014).

However, knowledge is lacking on the relationships among O-GlcNAcylation, tau phosphorylation level and cognitive functions in peripheral blood samples from patients with T2DM. Given the researches that suggested a link of O-GlcNAcylation with phosphorylation modification and cognition, as well as IR and diabetes, we hypothesized that the imbalance between O-GlcNAcylation and tau phosphorylation may be involved in diabetes-associated cognitive decline. Herein, we aimed to investigate the association among global O-GlcNAcylation, tau phosphorylation levels, MCI, and the different cognitive domain performances in the whole blood of patients with T2DM.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics Statement

This study was conducted in the Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Zhongda Hospital of Southeast University. The study protocol and informed consent documents were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Affiliated Zhongda Hospital of Southeast University. All enrolled subjects were informed about the study and gave written consent.

Subject Recruitment

Subjects were recruited from the Department of Endocrinology, Affiliated Zhongda Hospital of Southeast University from January 2017 to October 2017. All patients with T2DM were diagnosed according to the World Health Organization (1999) criteria (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998). They were aged between 45 and 75 years with a history of diabetes > 3 years. Patients with any of the following criteria were excluded: (1) presence of acute diabetic complications, including diabetic ketoacidosis, hyperosmolar non-ketotic diabetic coma, diabetic lacatocidosis, and severe hypoglycemia; (2) presence of acute cardiovascular or cerebrovascular accident, such as acute myocardial infarction, and acute cerebral hemorrhage; (3) any known history of central nervous system diseases that could affect cognition, including stroke (Hachinski ischemic score [HIS] \geq 4), head trauma, epilepsy, major anxiety and depression; (4) history of alcoholism or drug abuse within 2 months; (5) the presence
of thyroid dysfunction or other severe medical illness, such as cancer, anemia and serious infection; and (6) history of severe visual or hearing loss. MCI was diagnosed based on criteria established by the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups (Albert et al., 2011). The criteria included the following: (1) a reported decline in cognitive function (self/informant/clinician report); (2) objective evidence of impairment in one or more cognitive domains, which were assessed by the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) in this study; (3) preservation of normal activities of daily living (ADL), measured by ADL questionnaire; and (4) the absence of dementia (based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV criteria).

Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristic Collection

Standard sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the enrolled subjects were collected at study entry, including age, gender, educational level, weight, height, blood pressure (BP), and diabetes duration. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body weight (kg) divided by the square of body height (m^2) . Hypertension was defined as $BP \ge 140/90$ mmHg and/or use of antihypertensive medication. Lifestyle risk factors such as smoking and alcohol history were also included. The laboratory data comprised fasting blood glucose (FBG), fasting C-peptide (FCP), glycated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), triglycerides, total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, serum creatinine (SCr), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and uric acid (UA). IR was evaluated according to the modified homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) formula based on FCP: FBG (mmol/L) × FCP (ng/mL)/22.5 (Kim J. D. et al., 2016). Data on antidiabetic drug usage, including metformin and insulin, were also collected in this study.

Cognitive Performance Assessment

Cognitive performances were assessed through a battery of neuropsychological scales designed to evaluate the performance in approximately 60 min across an array of cognitive domains including memory, executive function, visual spatial processing, attention, and information processing speed. The MoCA test was used to assess overall cognitive function ranging from 0 to 30 score and also regarded as a highly sensitive screening tool of MCI in patients with T2DM (Alagiakrishnan et al., 2013). The normal MoCA score was \geq 26, with one point added if the subject had less than 12 years of formal education (Nasreddine et al., 2005). Other tests included Digit Span Test, Verbal Fluency Test, Clock Drawing Test (CDT), Trail Making Test-A and B, and Auditory Verbal Learning Test (AVLT). HIS, clinical dementia rating (CDR), and self-rating depression scale were also obtained. All neuropsychological tests were performed by a skilled neuropsychiatrist from the Department of Neurology, Affiliated Zhongda Hospital of Southeast University, and all the subjects were blinded to the study design.

Western Blot

Whole blood samples were collected from the enrolled subjects by venipuncture in anticoagulant-free tubes, and then immediately stored at -80°C. In preparation for Western blot, blood samples were homogenized in a lysis buffer, which consists of 50 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), and various protease and phosphatase inhibitors, including phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride, sodium pyrophosphate, and β -glycerophosphate. The samples were then centrifuged at 12,000 g at 4°C for 10 min, and the lysate was recovered and diluted 20 times. Protein concentrations were determined by the bicinchoninic acid assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (NanJing KeyGen Biotech Co., Ltd.). 20 µg total protein was resolved on SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis gels and blotted to polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes. PVDF membranes were then blocked by 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) at room temperature for 1 h, and incubated overnight at 4°C with appropriate primary antibodies. Primary antibodies included anti-O-linked N-acetylglucosamine [RL2] (1:1000; Abcam, ab2739), anti-OGT/O-linked N-acetylglucosamine transferase (1:5000; Abcam, ab177941), anti-MGEA5 (1:5000; Abcam, ab124807), anti-Tau [Tau-5] (1:800; Abcam, ab80579), anti-Tau (phosphor S396) (1:10000; Abcam, ab109390), anti-Tau (phosphor S404) (1:1000; Abcam, ab92676), anti-Tau (phosphor T212) (1:1000; Abcam, ab4842), and anti-Tau (phosphor T231) (1:5000; Abcam, ab151559) with glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (anti-GAPDH) (1:3000; CMCTAG, AT0002) serving as the control. Secondary antibodies were as follows: goat anti-mouse IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (1:50000; MyBioScience, MKA001A) and goat anti-rabbit IgG HRP (1:25000; MyBioScience, MKA003A). Signals were detected with chemiluminescence (Millipore, WBKLS0500) and then exposed using MiniChemiTM610 Imaging and Analysis System (Beijing Sage Creation Science Co., Ltd.).

Statistical Analyses

Densitometry data of global O-GlcNAc, OGT, OGA, and tau phosphorylation levels were analyzed by the Image J program. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation/standard error of mean (SEM), median (interquartile range) or n (percentage). Student's t-test, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test or Chi-square test was used to determine differences of clinical parameters, global O-GlcNAcylation level, its key enzyme levels, and tau phosphorylation levels, as well as ratios of global O-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation levels between T2DM with MCI patients and those with normal cognition subjects. A simple logistic regression model was first used to explore so-called independent risk or protective factors for MCI in patients with MCI. Then, forward stepwise multivariable regression analysis was used to explore the "strongest" factors affecting the MCI presence. Spearman correlation analyses were performed to explore the relationships of the ratio of global O-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation levels with other sociodemographic and clinical characteristics. Furthermore, we conducted partial correlation analyses to assess the relationships between the ratio of global O-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation levels and different cognitive domain performances. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States), and *p*-value < 0.05 (two-tailed) was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic, Clinical Characteristics and Cognitive Performances

This study enrolled a total of 48 T2DM subjects, including 24 persons with MCI and 24 cognitively normal controls. The detailed sociodemographic, clinical characteristics and cognitive performances of the participants are summarized in **Table 1**. The MCI and control group were well matched in age, gender and education levels, as well as the prevalence of smoking, alcohol, hypertension and metformin and insulin usage (all p > 0.050). Compared with cognitively normal controls, T2DM with MCI subjects displayed elevated HbA1c and FBG, while decreased FCP and UA (all p < 0.05). No significant differences were observed including BMI, diabetes duration, HOMA-IR (FCP), blood lipids, SCr and BUN (all p > 0.05). Moreover, T2DM with MCI patients showed significantly poorer overall and different domains of cognitive performances than control subjects (all p < 0.05, except the *p*-value for CDT).

Global O-GlcNAcylation and Tau Phosphorylation Levels Between the MCI and Control Subjects

Global O-GlcNAcylation and tau phosphorylation levels were determined by western blot and analyzed by densitometry (Figure 1). Compared to T2DM with cognitively normal controls, global O-GlcNAcylation level was lower in MCI subjects (p = 0.012) (Figures 1A,B). Moreover, there was a significant decrease in OGT expression, but an increase in OGA expression in the MCI group (both p < 0.05) (Figures 1A,B). Results also showed that the decrease in global O-GlcNAcylation level was accompanied by an increase in total tau level, as well as hyperphosphorylation of tau protein at specific sites including Ser396, Ser404, Thr212 and Thr231 (all p < 0.05) (Figures 1C,D). In order to reflect the combined effect and to magnify the effect, we performed relative ratios of global O-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation levels, and found that O-GlcNAc/Tau-5, O-GlcNAc/p-S396, O-GlcNAc/p-S404, O-GlcNAc/p-T212, and O-GlcNAc/p-T231 were all decreased in T2DM with MCI subjects in comparison to control subjects (all *p* < 0.05) (**Figure 2**).

Exploration of Risk Factors for MCI in T2DM Patients

To explore risk factors for MCI in T2DM patients, we first conducted a simple logistic regression analysis via entering

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic	, clinical characteristics ar	nd cognitive performances.
----------------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------------

1 0		• ·	
	MCI group	Control group	
Characteristic	(<i>n</i> = 24)	(n = 24)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	60.67 ± 6.92	61.25 ± 6.77	0.769 ^a
Female, n (%)	14 (58.33)	9 (37.50)	0.149 ^c
Education Levels (years)	9.50 (9.00-12.00)	11.50 (8.25–12.00)	0.800 ^b
Smoking, n (%)	11 (45.83)	9 (37.50)	0.558 ^c
Alcohol, n (%)	8 (33.33)	5 (20.83)	0.330 ^c
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.19 ± 3.45	26.01 ± 3.36	0.409 ^a
Hypertension, n (%)	17 (70.83)	12 (50.00)	0.140 ^c
Diabetes duration (years)	10.00 (8.25-15.75)	10.00 (7.00–13.00)	0.367 ^b
Metformin usage, n (%)	21 (87.50)	16 (66.67)	0.086 ^c
Insulin usage, n (%)	17 (70.83)	13 (54.17)	0.233 ^c
HbA1c (%)	9.25 ± 1.27	7.95 ± 0.90	<0.001ª
FBG (mmol/L)	9.68 ± 2.11	7.83 ± 1.62	0.001 ^a
FCP (ng/mL)	0.46 (0.33-0.55)	0.58 (0.43-0.83)	0.021 ^b
HOMA-IR (FCP)	0.20 (0.13-0.27)	0.21 (0.15-0.28)	0.353 ^b
TG (mmol/L)	1.62 (0.89-2.33)	1.34 (0.97-1.98)	0.688 ^b
TC (mmol/L)	4.87 ± 1.03	4.38 ± 1.24	0.149 ^a
HDL (mmol/L)	1.22 ± 0.27	1.09 ± 0.27	0.102 ^a
LDL (mmol/L)	3.04 ± 0.93	2.70 ± 0.88	0.206 ^a
SCr (µmol/L)	68.96 ± 19.60	70.28 ± 20.09	0.819 ^a
BUN (mmol/L)	5.70 ± 1.15	5.95 ± 1.26	0.469 ^a
UA (μmol/L)	282.33 ± 65.91	336.92 ± 98.24	0.029 ^a
Neuropsychological tests			
MoCA	24.00 (22.00-25.00)	28.00 (27.00-29.00)	<0.001 ^b
DST	11.00 (10.00-11.75)	12.00 (11.00-13.00)	0.023 ^b
VFT	14.50 (13.00-18.00)	18.00 (15.25-20.00)	0.012 ^b
CDT	4.00 (3.00-4.00)	4.00 (3.00-4.00)	0.596 ^b
TMT-A	68.50 (56.50-87.50)	55.00 (45.50-71.00)	0.020 ^b
TMT-B	171.50 (116.50-215.00)	123.00 (90.25-159.75)	0.042 ^b
AVLT-immediate recall	16.00 (14.00–18.75)	19.00 (15.25-23.50)	0.041 ^b
AVLT-delayed recall	5.00 (3.00-6.00)	6.00 (5.00-8.75)	0.016 ^b

Data are presented as n (%), mean \pm standard deviation, or median (interquartile range) as appropriate.

^aStudent's t-test for comparison of normally distributed quantitative variables between MCI group and control group.

^bMann–Whitney U test for comparison of asymmetrically distributed quantitative variables between MCI group and control group.

 $^{c}\chi^{2}$ test for comparison of qualitative variables between MCI group and control group.

NCI, mild cognitive impairment; BMI, body mass index; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FCP, fasting C-peptide; HOMA-IR(FCP): replacing fasting insulin with FCP in the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance formula; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; SCr, serum creatinine; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; UA, uric acid; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; DST, Digit Span Test; VFT, Verbal Fluency Test; CDT, Clock Drawing Test; TMT, Trail Making Test; AVLT, Auditory Verbal Learning Test.

all sociodemographic and clinical characteristics. The results showed that T2DM subjects with higher HbA1c and FBG were associated with increased risk of MCI, while increased FCP, UA, *O*-GlcNAc/Tau-5, *O*-GlcNAc/p-S396, *O*-GlcNAc/p-S404, *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212, and *O*-GlcNAc/p-T231 were associated with decreased risk of MCI (all p < 0.05) (**Table 2**). Further forward stepwise multivariable logistic regression analysis revealed that high HbA1c was an independent risk factor for MCI, while increased *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was an independent protective factor for MCI in T2DM patients (OR = 2.452, 95%CI 1.061–5.668, p = 0.036; OR = 0.028, 95%CI 0.002–0.388, p = 0.008, respectively).



Relationships of O-GlcNAc/p-T212 With Different Cognitive Domain Performances in T2DM Patients

The Spearman correlation analyses revealed that O-GlcNAc/p-T212 was negatively associated with HbA1c and FBG (r = -0.346, p = 0.016; r = -0.329, p = 0.023, respectively). No significant



levels in T2DM subjects. O-GlcNAc/Tau-5, O-GlcNAc/p-S396, O-GlcNAc/p-S404, O-GlcNAc/p-T212, and O-GlcNAc/p-T231 were all decreased in T2DM with MCI subjects in comparison to control subjects. All data represents n = 48, and are median (interquartile range). ***p < 0.001. associations were found between *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 and other sociodemographic and clinical characteristics (all p > 0.05). Further partial correlation analyses showed that *O*-GlcNAc/ p-T212 was positively associated with MoCA after adjustment for HbA1c and FBG (r = 0.397, p = 0.006). With regard to each cognitive domain, *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was positively correlated with the score of AVLT-delayed recall, which represent delayed verbal learning and memory functions (r = 0.377, p = 0.010) (**Table 3**).

	β	SE of β	p-value	OR	95%CI
HbA1c (%)	1.106	0.358	0.002	3.023	1.500-6.092
FBG (mmol/L)	0.568	0.205	0.006	1.765	1.181–2.637
FCP (ng/mL)	-2.714	1.280	0.034	0.066	0.005-0.814
UA (umol/L)	-0.010	0.005	0.042	0.990	0.981-1.000
O-GlcNAc/Tau-5	-3.325	1.100	0.003	0.036	0.004–0.311
O-GlcNAc/p-S396	-3.752	1.260	0.003	0.023	0.002-0.277
O-GlcNAc/p-S404	-2.173	0.877	0.013	0.114	0.020-0.635
O-GlcNAc/p-T212	-4.209	1.301	0.001	0.015	0.001-0.190
O-GlcNAc/p-T231	-2.103	0.813	0.010	0.122	0.025-0.601

MCI, mild cognitive impairment; β, regression coefficient; SE, standard error; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval for odds ratio; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FCP, fasting C-peptide; UA, uric acid.

TABLE 3 Relationships of O-GlcNAc/p-T212 with other clinical characteristics
and different cognitive domains performances in T2DM patients.

	O-GlcNA	c/p-T212
	r	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	0.077	0.604 ^a
Education levels (years)	-0.019	0.897 ^a
BMI (kg/m²)	0.239	0.102 ^a
Diabetes duration (years)	-0.065	0.659 ^a
HbA1c (%)	-0.346	0.016 ^a
FBG (mmol/L)	-0.329	0.023 ^a
FCP (ng/mL)	0.127	0.389 ^a
HOMA-IR (FCP)	-0.050	0.734 ^a
TG (mmol/L)	0.112	0.450 ^a
TC (mmol/L)	-0.143	0.334 ^a
HDL (mmol/L)	-0.245	0.094 ^a
LDL (mmol/L)	-0.194	0.187 ^a
SCr (µmol/L)	0.265	0.069 ^a
BUN (mmol/L)	-0.062	0.674 ^a
UA (μmol/L)	0.185	0.207 ^a
MoCA	0.397	0.006 ^b
DST	0.038	0.803 ^b
VFT	0.197	0.189 ^b
CDT	0.104	0.491 ^b
TMT-A	0.053	0.725 ^b
TMT-B	0.053	0.729 ^b
AVLT-immediate recall	0.215	0.152 ^b
AVLT-delayed recall	0.377	0.010 ^b

^aSpearman correlation.

^bPartial correlation after adjustment for HbA1c and FBG.

MCI, mild cognitive impairment; BMI, body mass index; HbA1c, glycosylated hemoglobin; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FCP, fasting C-peptide; HOMA-IR(FCP): replacing fasting insulin with FCP in the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance formula; TG, triglyceride; TC, total cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; SCr, serum creatinine; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; UA, uric acid; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; DST, Digit Span Test; VFT, Verbal Fluency Test; CDT, Clock Drawing Test; TMT, Trail Making Test; AVLT, Auditory Verbal Learning Test.

DISCUSSION

Several key findings were obtained from this case-control study which assessed the relationships among global *O*-GlcNAcylation, tau phosphorylation levels and MCI in T2DM subjects. (1) Global *O*-GlcNAcylation levels was significantly decreased, whereas tau phosphorylation levels were increased in T2DM with MCI subjects compared with those with normal cognition. (2) High HbA1c was an independent risk factor for MCI, whereas increased *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was an independent protective factor for MCI in patients with T2DM; (3) *O*-GlcNAc/p-T212 was positively associated with overall cognitive function, especially with delayed learning and memory functions.

In the current study, we first performed a correlation study between global *O*-GlcNAcylation level, tau phosphorylation levels and cognitive functions in the whole blood of patients of T2DM and observed a decreased global *O*-GlcNAcylation level but increased tau phosphorylation levels in T2DM with MCI subjects. These findings were consistent with those obtained in human postmortem brain tissues, which demonstrated that protein O-GlcNAcylation level in AD brain was lower than that in controls (Liu F. et al., 2004). Previous study also revealed an imbalance between tau O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation in the hippocampus of a mouse model of AD (Gatta et al., 2016). In addition, O-GlcNAcylation elevation via the OGA inhibitor can lead to a significant reduction of pathological tau and then provides protection against neuron loss in animal studies (Yuzwa et al., 2012; Graham et al., 2014; Hastings et al., 2017). Furthermore, in accordance with our study, plasma tau levels were found higher in MCI subjects compared with cognitively normal controls in the population-based Mayo Clinic Study of Aging (Dage et al., 2016). However, our data were contradictory with the results of several studies performed on patients with AD and MCI. The plasma levels of total tau decreased among subjects with MCI and AD compared with cognitively normal controls (Sparks et al., 2012). In another study exploring the utility of plasma tau as diagnostic markers for MCI and AD, Zetterberg et al. reported that plasma tau levels were significantly elevated in AD but not in MCI compared with CN subjects (Zetterberg et al., 2013). The inconsistency in these findings may be attributed to differences in disease populations (T2DM with MCI or MCI), sample source (whole blood or plasma) and detection method of tau protein (Western blot or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay).

High HbA1c was an independent risk factor for MCI in our T2DM subjects, which was consistent with the result reported in the action to control cardiovascular risk in diabetes-memory in diabetes (ACCORD-MIND) trial. The study indicated that higher HbA1c levels were associated with lower cognitive function in individuals with diabetes (Tali et al., 2009). When adjusted for age, sex and education, a 1% higher HbA1c level was associated with a 0.09-point lower MoCA score in non-demented elderly patients with type 2 diabetes (Huang et al., 2015). In patients with newly diagnosed T2DM, higher HbA1c was also associated with worse cognitive performances assessed by the modified 13-item version of the telephone interview for cognitive status (TICS-M) (Moulton et al., 2016). On the contrary, increased O-GlcNAc/p-T212 was an independent protective factor for MCI in patients with T2DM. Furthermore, O-GlcNAc/p-T212 was positively associated with overall cognitive performances, especially with learning and memory functions. The exact mechanisms for these relationships are not fully understood. One possible reason is that O-GlcNAcylation level was shown to correlate negatively with tau phosphorylation levels, which are a primary regulator of neuronal functions, including regulating long-term synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Anggono and Huganir, 2012; Luscher and Malenka, 2012). With regard to specific phosphorylation sites of tau protein, Alonso et al. (2010) suggested that a single phosphorylation site alone had little influence on the biological activity of tau protein, while phosphorylation at Thr212 along with a modification on the C-terminal of the protein could facilitate tau aggregation. In addition, O-GlcNAc modification is highly abundant in the mammalian brain, especially with markedly

dense expression in the hippocampus (Liu K. et al., 2004), whereas the hippocampus is mainly responsible for learning and memory function in rodents (Lazarov and Hollands, 2016). Moreover, O-GlcNAcylation has been linked to regulate protein homeostasis, which is essential to maintain synaptic contacts and memory (Akan et al., 2018). Xie et al. (2016) also reported that O-GlcNAcylation downregulation suppresses protein kinase A (PKA)-cAMP-response element binding protein signaling and consequently causes learning and memory deficits in AD. By contrast, increasing the levels of O-GlcNAcylation by caloric restriction can lessen learning impairment associated with diabetes (Jeon et al., 2016). Therefore, all the above explanations supported our finding that increased O-GlcNAc/p-T212 was a protective factor and associated with lower MCI incidence in T2DM subjects.

Our study was the first to investigate the association among O-GlcNAcylation level, tau phosphorylation levels, and cognitive performances in T2DM patients with MCI. Moreover, the samples used in our study were peripheral blood cells other than cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) or brain tissues, which were easier to obtain and generalize to the clinic. However, certain limitations should be noted in this study. First, due to the lack of specific O-GlcNAcylation antibody for tau protein, we couldn't obtain tau O-GlcNAcylation level. We are also unable to obtain the level of UDP-GlcNAc because of the difficulties of detection methods (High-performance liquid chromatography/Quadrupole-Time of flight-Mass spectrometry) (Oikari et al., 2018), which could directly reflect the associations among blood glucose, key enzymes and tau O-GlcNAcylation level. Moreover, the relatively small sample size and sample composition of this study limited the interpretation of our results to a certain degree. In addition, this is a case-control study, and findings derived from this work cannot elucidate the direction of the relationship and it is not possible to determine the causality.

REFERENCES

- Akan, I., Olivier-Van Stichelen, S., Bond, M. R., and Hanover, J. A. (2018). Nutrientdriven O-GlcNAc in proteostasis and neurodegeneration. J. Neurochem. 144, 7–34. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14242
- Alagiakrishnan, K., Zhao, N., Mereu, L., Senior, P., and Senthilselvan, A. (2013). Montreal cognitive assessment is superior to standardized mini-mental status exam in detecting mild cognitive impairment in the middle-aged and elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2013;186106. doi: 10. 1155/2013/186106
- Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., et al. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the national institute on agingalzheimer's association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 7, 270–279. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008
- Alberti, K. G., and Zimmet, P. Z. (1998). Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet. Med.* 15, 539– 553. doi: 10.1002/(\$ICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<539::AID-DIA668>3.0.CO;2-8
- Alonso, A. D., Di Clerico, J., Li, B., Corbo, C. P., Alaniz, M. E., Grundke-Iqbal, I., et al. (2010). Phosphorylation of tau at Thr212, Thr231, and Ser262 combined causes neurodegeneration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 30851–30860. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M110.110957
- Anggono, V., and Huganir, R. L. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 461–469. doi: 10.1016/j.conb. 2011.12.006

CONCLUSION

Our study suggests that increased ratio of global *O*-GlcNAcylation to tau phosphorylation at Thr212 site in the whole blood is associated with decreased risk of MCI, especially with better learning and memory function in T2DM subjects. Further prospective studies with a substantial sample size should be conducted to validate these observations.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SW and RH contributed to study conception and design. RH, ST, RC, HL, DG, and JW acquired the data. RH and ST performed the analyses. RH wrote the first draft. SW, JH, and ST revised it critically for important intellectual content. All authors approved the final version to be published.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81570732, SW; and No. 81870568, SW), and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities and Postgraduate Research & Practice Innovation Program of Jiangsu Province (KYCX17_0176, RH).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Portions of this study were accepted for poster presentation (Presentation Number: 1070) at the 54th EASD Annual Meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, Berlin, Germany, October 1–5, 2018.

- Baglietto-Vargas, D., Shi, J., Yaeger, D. M., Ager, R., and LaFerla, F. M. (2016). Diabetes and alzheimer's disease crosstalk. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 64, 272–287. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.03.005
- Cheng, G., Huang, C., Deng, H., and Wang, H. (2012). Diabetes as a risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Intern. Med. J.* 42, 484–491. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.2012.02758.x
- Ciudin, A., Espinosa, A., Simo-Servat, O., Ruiz, A., Alegret, M., Hernandez, C., et al. (2017). Type 2 diabetes is an independent risk factor for dementia conversion in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *J. Diabetes Compl.* 31, 1272–1274. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.04.018
- Dage, J. L., Wennberg, A. M. V., Airey, D. C., Hagen, C. E., Knopman, D. S., Machulda, M. M., et al. (2016). Levels of tau protein in plasma are associated with neurodegeneration and cognitive function in a population-based elderly cohort. *Alzheimers Dement.* 12, 1226–1234. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.06.001
- Gao, Y., Xiao, Y., Miao, R., Zhao, J., Cui, M., Huang, G., et al. (2016). The prevalence of mild cognitive impairment with type 2 diabetes mellitus among elderly people in china: a cross-sectional study. *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.* 62, 138–142. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2015.09.003
- Gatta, E., Lefebvre, T., Gaetani, S., dos Santos, M., Marrocco, J., Mir, A. M., et al. (2016). Evidence for an imbalance between tau O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation in the hippocampus of a mouse model of alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol. Res.* 105, 186–197. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.006
- Graham, D. L., Gray, A. J., Joyce, J. A., Yu, D., O'Moore, J., Carlson, G. A., et al. (2014). Increased O-GlcNAcylation reduces pathological tau without affecting its normal phosphorylation in a mouse model of tauopathy. *Neuropharmacology* 79, 307–313. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.11.025

- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y. C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H. M., and Binder, L. I. (1986). Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 83, 4913–4917. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.13.4913
- Hart, G. W., Slawson, C., Ramirez-Correa, G., and Lagerlof, O. (2011). Cross talk between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation: roles in signaling, transcription, and chronic disease. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 80, 825–858. doi: 10. 1146/annurev-biochem-060608-102511
- Hastings, N. B., Wang, X., Song, L., Butts, B. D., Grotz, D., Hargreaves, R., et al. (2017). Inhibition of O-GlcNAcase leads to elevation of O-GlcNAc tau and reduction of tauopathy and cerebrospinal fluid tau in rTg4510 mice. *Mol. Neurodegener*. 12:39. doi: 10.1186/s13024-017-0181-0
- Huang, L., Yang, L., Shen, X., and Yan, S. (2015). Relationship between glycated hemoglobin a1c and cognitive function in nondemented elderly patients with type 2 diabetes. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 31, 347–353. doi: 10.1007/s11011-015-9756-z
- Jeon, B. T., Heo, R. W., Jeong, E. A., Yi, C. O., Lee, J. Y., Kim, K. E., et al. (2016). Effects of caloric restriction on O-GlcNAcylation, Ca(2+) signaling, and learning impairment in the hippocampus of ob/ob mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 44, 127–137. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.05.002
- Kim, C., Nam, D. W., Park, S. Y., Song, H., Hong, H. S., Boo, J. H., et al. (2013). O-linked beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase inhibitor attenuates betaamyloid plaque and rescues memory impairment. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 275– 285. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.03.001
- Kim, D. J., Yu, J. H., Shin, M. S., Shin, Y. W., and Kim, M. S. (2016). Hyperglycemia reduces efficiency of brain networks in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 11:e0157268. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157268
- Kim, J. D., Kang, S. J., Lee, M. K., Park, S. E., Rhee, E. J., Park, C. Y., et al. (2016). C-peptide-based index is more related to incident type 2 diabetes in non-diabetic subjects than insulin-based index. *Endocrinol. Metab.* 31, 320–327. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2016.31.2.320
- Lazarov, O., and Hollands, C. (2016). Hippocampal neurogenesis: learning to remember. Prog. Neurobiol. 13, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.12.006
- Li, W., Wang, T., and Xiao, S. (2016). Type 2 diabetes mellitus might be a risk factor for mild cognitive impairment progressing to alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 12, 2489–2495. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S111298
- Liu, F., Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Hart, G. W., and Gong, C. X. (2004). O-GlcNAcylation regulates phosphorylation of tau: a mechanism involved in alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101, 10804–10809. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.0400348101
- Liu, K., Paterson, A. J., Zhang, F., McAndrew, J., Fukuchi, K., Wyss, J. M., et al. (2004). Accumulation of protein O-GlcNAc modification inhibits proteasomes in the brain and coincides with neuronal apoptosis in brain areas with high O-GlcNAc metabolism. *J. Neurochem.* 89, 1044–1055. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2004.02389.x
- Luscher, C., and Malenka, R. C. (2012). NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4:a005710. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005710
- Ma, L., Wang, J., and Li, Y. (2015). Insulin resistance and cognitive dysfunction. Clin. Chim. Acta. 444, 18–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.01.027
- Mehta, H. B., Mehta, V., and Goodwin, J. S. (2017). Association of hypoglycemia with subsequent dementia in older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 72, 1110–1116. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw217
- Mittal, K., and Katare, D. P. (2016). Shared links between type 2 diabetes mellitus and alzheimer's disease: a review. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr.* 10(2 Suppl. 1), S144–S149. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2016.01.021
- Moulton, C. D., Stewart, R., Amiel, S. A., Laake, J. P., and Ismail, K. (2016). Factors associated with cognitive impairment in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study. *Aging Ment. Health* 20, 840–847. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2015.1040723
- Myslicki, J. P., Shearer, J., Hittel, D. S., Hughey, C. C., and Belke, D. D. (2014). O-GlcNAc modification is associated with insulin sensitivity in the whole blood of healthy young adult males. *Diabetol. Metab. Syndr.* 6:96. doi: 10.1186/1758-5996-6-96
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bedirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., et al. (2005). The montreal cognitive assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53, 695–699. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x

- Ogurtsova, K., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Huang, Y., Linnenkamp, U., Guariguata, L., Cho, N. H., et al. (2017). IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 128, 40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.03.024
- Oikari, S., Kettunen, T., Tiainen, S., Hayrinen, J., Masarwah, A., Sudah, M., et al. (2018). UDP-sugar accumulation drives hyaluronan synthesis in breast cancer. *Matrix Biol.* 67, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.12.015
- Park, K., Saudek, C. D., and Hart, G. W. (2010). Increased expression of beta-Nacetylglucosaminidase in erythrocytes from individuals with pre-diabetes and diabetes. *Diabetes* 59, 1845–1850. doi: 10.2337/db09-1086
- Peterson, S. B., and Hart, G. W. (2016). New insights: a role for O-GlcNAcylation in diabetic complications. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 51, 150–161. doi: 10. 3109/10409238.2015.1135102
- Sheen, Y. J., and Sheu, W. H. (2016). Association between hypoglycemia and dementia in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 116, 279–287. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2016.04.004
- Sparks, D. L., Kryscio, R. J., Sabbagh, M. N., Ziolkowski, C., Lin, Y., Sparks, L. M., et al. (2012). Tau is reduced in AD plasma and validation of employed ELISA methods. Am. J. Neurodegener. Dis. 1, 99–106.
- Springhorn, C., Matsha, T. E., Erasmus, R. T., and Essop, M. F. (2012). Exploring leukocyte O-GlcNAcylation as a novel diagnostic tool for the earlier detection of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 97, 4640–4649. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-2229
- Tali, C. Y., Hertzel, C. G., Jefe, D. W., Ronald, M. L., Michael, E. M., Laura, H. C., et al. (2009). Relationship between baseline glycemic control and cognitive function in individuals with type 2 diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors. *Diabetes Care* 32, 221–226. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1153
- Tiermey, M. C., Szalai, J. C., Snow, W. G., Fisher, R. H., Nores, A., Nadon, G., et al. (1996). Prediction of probable alzheimer's disease in memory-impaired patients: a prospective longitudinal study. *Neurology* 46, 661–665. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.46.3.661
- Wang, Z., Park, K., Comer, F., Hsieh-Wilson, L. C., Saudek, C. D., and Hart, G. W. (2009). Site-specific GlcNAcylation of human erythrocyte proteins: potential biomarker(s) for diabetes. *Diabetes* 58, 309–317. doi: 10.2337/db08-0994
- Xie, S., Jin, N., Gu, J., Shi, J., Sun, J., Chu, D., et al. (2016). O-GlcNAcylation of protein kinase a catalytic subunits enhances its activity: a mechanism linked to learning and memory deficits in alzheimer's disease. *Aging Cell* 15, 455–464. doi: 10.1111/acel.12449
- Yang, X., and Qian, K. (2017). Protein O-GlcNAcylation: emerging mechanisms and functions. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18, 452–465. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2017.22
- Yuzwa, S. A., Shan, X., Jones, B. A., Zhao, G., Woodward, M. L., Li, X., et al. (2014). Pharmacological inhibition of O-GlcNAcase (OGA) prevents cognitive decline and amyloid plaque formation in bigenic tau/APP mutant mice. *Mol. Neurodegener*. 9:42. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-9-42
- Yuzwa, S. A., Shan, X., Macauley, M. S., Clark, T., Skorobogatko, Y., Vosseller, K., et al. (2012). Increasing O-GlcNAc slows neurodegeneration and stabilizes tau against aggregation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 8, 393–399. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.797
- Zachara, N., Akimoto, Y., and Hart, G. W. (2015). "The O-GlcNAc Modification," in *Essentials of Glycobiology*, eds A. Varki, R. D. Cummings, J. D. Esko, P. Stanley, G. W. Hart, M. Aebi, (New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor), 239–251.
- Zetterberg, H., Wilson, D., Andreasson, U., Minthon, L., Blennow, K., Randall, J., et al. (2013). Plasma tau levels in alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 5:9. doi: 10.1186/alzrt163
- Zheng, Y., Ley, S. H., and Hu, F. B. (2018). Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 14, 88–98. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.151

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Huang, Tian, Han, Cai, Lin, Guo, Wang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Efficacy of Co-administration of Liuwei Dihuang Pills and Ginkgo Biloba Tablets on Albuminuria in Type 2 Diabetes: A 24-Month, Multicenter, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Clinical Trial

Ruifeng Shi^{1†}, Yanping Wang^{1,2†}, Xiaofei An³, Jianhua Ma⁴, Tongzhi Wu⁵, Xiaojin Yu⁶, Su Liu³, Liji Huang³, Lijuan Wang³, Jingshun Liu³, Jing Ge³, Shanhu Qiu¹, Han Yin¹, Xiaolai Wang¹, Yao Wang¹, Bingquan Yang¹, Jiangyi Yu^{3*} and Zilin Sun^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jan Polák, Charles University, Czechia

Reviewed by: Akinobu Nakamura, Hokkaido University, Japan Subrata Chakrabarti, University of Western Ontario, Canada

*Correspondence:

Zilin Sun sunzilin1963@126.com Jiangyi Yu yujiangyi@medmail.com.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 November 2018 Accepted: 04 February 2019 Published: 22 February 2019

Citation:

Shi R, Wang Y, An X, Ma J, Wu T, Yu X, Liu S, Huang L, Wang L, Liu J, Ge J, Qiu S, Yin H, Wang X, Wang Y, Yang B, Yu J and Sun Z (2019) Efficacy of Co-administration of Liuwei Dihuang Pills and Ginkgo Biloba Tablets on Albuminuria in Type 2 Diabetes: A 24-Month, Multicenter, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Randomized Clinical Trial. Front. Endocrinol. 10:100. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00100 ¹ Department of Endocrinology, Zhongda Hospital, School of Medicine, Institute of Diabetes, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ² Department of Endocrinology, Wuxi Third People's Hospital, Wuxi, China, ³ Department of Endocrinology, Jiangsu Province Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ⁴ Department of Endocrinology, Nanjing First Hospital, Nanjing Medical University, Nanjing, China, ⁵ Discipline of Medicine and Centre of Research Excellence in Translating Nutritional Science to Good Health, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁶ Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Southeast University, Nanjing, China

Purpose: We investigated the effects of Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) on the occurrence and progression of albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Methods: In this randomized, double-blind, multicenter, controlled trial, we enrolled 600 type 2 diabetes without diabetic nephropathy (DN) or with early-stage DN. Patients were randomly assigned (1:1) to receive Liuwei Dihuang Pills (LWDH) (1.5 g daily) and Ginkgo biloba Tablets (24 mg daily) orally or matching placebos for 24 months. The primary endpoint was the change in urinary albumin/creatinine ratio (UACR) from baseline to 24 months.

Results: There were 431 patients having UACR data at baseline and 24 months following-up in both groups. Changes of UACR from baseline to follow-up were not affected in both groups: -1.61(-10.24, 7.17) mg/g in the TCM group and -0.73(-7.47, 6.75) mg/g in the control group. For patients with UACR \geq 30 mg/g at baseline, LWDH and Ginkgo biloba significantly reduced the UACR value at 24 months [46.21(34.96, 58.96) vs. 20.78(9.62, 38.85), P < 0.05]. Moreover, the change of UACR from baseline to follow-up in the TCM group was significant higher than that in the control group [-25.50(-42.30, -9.56] vs. -20.61(-36.79, 4.31), P < 0.05].

Conclusion: LWDH and Ginkgo biloba may attenuate deterioration of albuminuria in type 2 diabetes patients. These results suggest that TCM is a promising option of renoprotective agents for early stage of DN.

Trial registration: The study was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry. (no. ChiCTR-TRC-07000037, chictr.org)

Keywords: diabetic nephropathy, urinary albumin, creatinine ratio, Liuwei Dihuang, Ginkgo biloba

INTRODUCTION

Diabetic nephropathy (DN) is one of the most common causes of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) world widely, accounting for considerable morbidity and mortality in patients with both type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM) (1, 2). Estimated GFR and albuminuria are independent risk factors which associate with progression to ESRD strongly (3). The common pathologic feature of early DN is the presence of glomerular hypertrophy, with mesangial expansion and glomerular basement membrane thickening, which cause excessive glomerular filtration and increased urinary albumin excretion. Emerging evidence shows that both renal impairment and cardiovascular events occur in patients with developed micro-albuminuria earlier for diabetes, suggesting fundamental importance to the management of microalbuminuria.

The progression of albuminuria is associated with glomerular hypertension, inflammation, and oxidative stress. The present management for microalbuminuria includes strict control of blood glucose and blood pressure, with the ACE inhibitors (ACEI) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB). These therapies, however, are frequently unsatisfactory, probably reflecting inadequate targeting on the pathophysiology (4). For example, the use of ACEI/ARB failed to stop the progression of nephropathy to ESRD in type 2 patients (5). The albuminuria was demonstrated to have positive correlation with renal risk in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy (DN) (6). Albuminuria also has been demonstrated a direct toxic effect on renal tissue, leading to progressive renal damage (7). Previous clinical trial shows that initial reduction of albuminuria can reduce the risk of ESRD (8).

In China, Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) has been widely used as complementary therapy for DN, including Lumbrokinase (9), Xue Shuan Tong (10), Berberine (11), huangkui (12), Salvia miltiorrhiza (13), Liuwei Dihuang (LWDH), and Ginkgo biloba. The latter two have been proposed for the prevention and treatment of DN in China and other Asian regions recently (14-17). LWDH is a classic TCM, which is reported to ameliorate oxidation and improve insulin sensitivity as well as glucose tolerance (18, 19). Ginkgo biloba contains \sim 24% flavone glycosides (primarily quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin) and 6% terpene lactones in weight, with a long history in the use for a variety range of conditions in China. Administration of Ginkgo biloba is associated with blood vessel dilation, reduction in blood viscosity and the density of oxygen free radicals, inhibition of platelet activating factor (20). Therefore, Ginkgo biloba may have renal protective effects in DN. In both animal models and patients with DN, Ginkgo biloba was shown to inhibit NF-KB, oxidation and accumulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) (21-23). However, whether combination of LWDH and Ginkgo biloba can prevent the progression of renal injury is unclear. This study was designed to evaluate co-administration of LWDH Pills and Ginkgo biloba Tablets on renoprotection for type 2 diabetes with normal urinary albumin excretion or microalbuminuria.

Subjects

This is a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Briefly, patients were included if they had type 2 diabetes, urine albumin excretion (UAE) < 300 mg/d, were aged 30–70 years, provided written informed consent. Patients were excluded from participation for any of the following: (1) poor control of hypertension(>160/110 mmHg), (2) diagnosed macrovascular complications (such as myocardial infarction, stroke, transient ischemic attack, peripheral vascular disease), polyneuropathy, or proliferative retinopathy, (3) using ACEI, ARB, or statins within 6 months prior to the enrollment (in order to avoid potential effects on albumin excretion). All subjects gave written informed consent. The protocol was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of each study center, and was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki as revised in 2000.

This clinical trial was compliant with the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT). Subjects were recruited and screened at 10 clinical diabetes centers according to the criteria above. After enrollment, subjects were randomized at 1:1 to receive 1.5 g LWDH Pills (8 pills/time; batch number Z41022128; Wanxi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) and 24 mg Ginkgo biloba Tablets (2 tablets/time; batch number Z20027949; Yangtze River Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) (TCM group, n = 300) orally three times per day, or matching placebos (placebo group, n = 300) (**Figure 1**). Randomization was performed by an independent doctor in each clinical center with block randomization method. Patients, investigators, and the sponsor's clinical team were all blinded to treatment allocation. Subjects were followed up with clinic consultation for 2 years.

Primary End Point

The primary outcome variable was the change in urinary albumin/creatinine ratio (UACR) before and after treatment. On the first visit, each subject was fasted overnight (at least 8 h), and attended the clinical center at 08:00. An overnight first-void urine sample was collected from each patient to measure the UACR. Normal albuminuria was defined as an UACR < 30 mg/g. Patients were considered to have microalbuminuria if their UACR ranged in 30–299 mg/g. Macro albuminuria was defined as UACR \geq 300 mg/g.

Other Outcomes

All blood samples were immediately obtained at 08:00 after overnight. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay was used to detect the high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (HS-CRP) (Lot 78034031, Bender Med Systems GmbH, Austria; minimum detection limit: 3 pg/ml; intra-assay CVs: 6.9%; inter-assay CVs: 13.1%), matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2) (Lot 303216, R&D, USA; minimum detection limit: 0.047 ng/ml; intra-assay CVs: 5.6%; inter-assay CVs: 7.4%), soluble advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) (Lot 303510, R&D, USA; minimum detection limit: 4.12 pg/ml; intra-assay CVs: 5.7%; inter-assay CVs: 7.7%), and fractalkine (Lot 301156, R&D, USA; minimum detection limit: 0.018 ng/ml; intra-assay CVs: 2.6%; inter-assay

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Abbreviations: TCM, Traditional Chinese Medicine.



CVs: 6.6%). The concentrations of serum AGE-peptides (AGE-P) were measured by flow injection assay (FIA) (24).

The subject was consumed a standardized breakfast (100 g steamed bread). Venous blood were sampled before and after breakfast, and fasting blood glucose (FBG), HbA1c, total cholesterol (TC), total triglyceride (TG), HDL, LDL, and postprandial blood glucose (PBG) were measured. The glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was estimated using the equation recommended by the National Kidney Foundation in the Modified Diet in Renal Disease (25).

Adverse Events

Adverse events included cancer, stroke, coronary artery disease, bleeding, and many transient minor complaints, such as dizziness, nausea, hypoglycemia, skin itching or headache. Participants were count only for once.

Statistical Analysis

Paired sample *T*-test is used for intragroup comparisons for clinical characteristics between the baseline and the end of follow-up. Independent samples *T*-test is used between the placebo and TCM group if the normal distribution is satisfied, otherwise, the non-parametric test is used. Family history of type 2 diabetes, history of retinopathy and the therapies between the two groups were compared using chi-squared test. Subgroup analysis was performed according to the baseline UACR (\geq 30 or <30 mg/g). A probability of *p* < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. All analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 17.0; SPSS Inc). Data were presented as means \pm SD or Median (lower quartile, upper quartile).

RESULTS

Basic Characteristics

Six hundred type 2 patients were enrolled, 74 of which were lost during the follow-up, i.e., 34 patients in the TCM group

and 40 in the placebo group, and the reasons for these dropouts were reported in **Figure 1**. There was no difference in age, gender, duration of known diabetes, BMI, blood glucose, HbA1c, SBP, DBP, HDL, LDL, TC, TG, GFR, or the presence of microalbuminuria between the two groups at the baseline. Baseline clinical characteristics were well-balanced between the two groups during the 24 months treatment (**Table 1**).

Primary End Point

For all these subjects, 54 in the control group and 41 in the TCM group did not have UACR value at 24 months follow-up. There were no significant differences in UACR between the placebo (n = 206) and TCM group (n = 225) before and after treatment. The change of UACR in both groups was not affected. Patients were divided into subgroups according to the baseline values of UACR: UACR < 30 mg/g, UACR \geq 30 mg/g. For patients with UACR \geq 30 mg/g at baseline, the reduction of UACR value between baseline and follow-up was much more obvious in the TCM group compared with that in the placebo group [-25.50(-42.30, -9.56) vs. -20.61(-36.79, 4.31), P < 0.05]. Moreover, UACR decreased significantly at 24 months compared with baseline in both placebo [44.79 (35.12, 65.11) vs. 32.19(12.32, 64.99), P < 0.05] and TCM groups [46.21(34.96, 58.96) vs. 20.78(9.62, 38.85), P < 0.05] (**Table 2**).

Onset and Remission Rate of Microalbuminuria and Macroalbuminuria

There was no significant difference in the occurrence of microalbuminuria at follow-up between the two groups for those with baseline normoalbuminuria (P > 0.05). Despite of the control of blood glucose, lipids and pressure, 2 patients progressed into macroalbuminuria in the placebo group (1.14%), without any occurrence among the patients treated with TCM. There was no significant reduction in the remission rate of microalbuminuria after 24 months in TCM treatment compared

TABLE 1 | The characteristics at baseline and 24 months treatment of placebo and TCM.

		Placebo group			TCMgroup	
	baseline	end of follow-up	d	baseline	end of follow-up	d
FBG (mmol/L)	7.45 ± 2.21	$6.93 \pm 1.58^{*}$	-0.51 ± 2.46	7.49 ± 2.31	$6.85 \pm 1.47^{*}$	-0.58 ± 2.31
PBG (mmol/L)	10.76 ± 3.83	$9.73 \pm 2.70^{*}$	-1.03 ± 4.37	11.00 ± 3.74	$9.80 \pm 2.98^{*}$	-1.13 ± 3.88
HbA1c (%)	7.28 ± 1.90	$6.53 \pm 1.21^{*}$	-0.66 ± 1.89	7.26 ± 1.81	$6.66 \pm 1.18^{*}$	-0.50 ± 1.79
SBP (mmHg)	125.62 ± 13.68	123.75 ± 11.28	-0.89 ± 14.38	125.87 ± 13.42	$123.54 \pm 11.67^{*}$	-2.21 ± 14.30
DBP (mmHg)	77.38 ± 8.99	$75.48 \pm 7.22^{*}$	-1.09 ± 8.31	77.81 ± 9.30	$74.76 \pm 7.37^{*}$	-2.03 ± 9.07
TC (mmol/L)	4.74 ± 0.97	4.73 ± 0.94	-0.11 ± 0.92	4.84 ± 0.90	$4.94\pm0.94^{\star}$	-0.21 ± 0.91
TG (mmol/L)	1.54 ± 1.03	1.37 ± 0.83	-0.15 ± 1.29	1.56 ± 1.00	1.45 ± 1.19	0.05 ± 1.45
HDL (mmol/L)	1.26 ± 0.32	1.19 ± 0.28	-0.04 ± 0.34	1.29 ± 0.34	1.27 ± 0.37	-0.01 ± 0.26
LDL (mmol/L)	2.78 ± 0.71	2.74 ± 0.70	-0.00 ± 0.71	2.87 ± 0.78	2.76 ± 0.80	-0.08 ± 0.84
BMI (kg/m ²)	23.99 ± 2.73	24.33 ± 2.80	-1.51 ± 6.16	23.82 ± 2.76	$23.98 \pm 3.09^{*}$	-0.38 ± 4.03^{-1}
Age (years)	60.45 ± 6.19			60.81 ± 6.36		
Male sex, n (%)	151 (50.33)			146 (48.67)		
Diabetes duration (years)	5.30 ± 4.51			5.65 ± 5.15		
GFR (mL/min/1.73m ²)	86.52 ± 19.57			88.21 ± 19.98		
ACR>30 mg/g, n (%)	45 (17.31)			32 (12.03)		
Family history of T2DM, n (%)	105 (35)			109 (36.30)		
History of retinopathy disease, n (%)	61 (20.33)			68 (22.67)		
GLUCOSE-LOWERING THERAPIES	S, N (%)					
Diet only	40 (13.33)			38 (12.67)		
Sulfonylurea	120 (40)			102 (34)		
Alpha-glucosid ase inhibitor	46 (15.33)			41 (13.67)		
Glinides	18 (6)			26 (8.67)		
Insulin, insulin analog	80 (26.67)			83 (27.67)		
Metformin	115 (38.33)			104 (34.67)		
Thiazolidinedione	15 (5)			17 (5.67)		
ANTIHYPERTENSIVE THERAPIES,	N (%)					
Calcium channel blockers	73 (24.33)			64 (21.33)		
Beta-blocker	15 (5)			10 (3.33)		
Diuretics	12 (4)			24 (8)		
Alpha-blocker	1 (0.33)			0		
Hydrochlorothiazide and irbesartan	0			1 (0.33)		
Vasodilator	3 (1)			2 (0.67)		

FBG, fasting blood glucose; PBG, postprandialblood glucose; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; ACR, albumin/creatinine ratio.

d-value: difference between baseline and 24 months follow-up.

Paired sample T-test was used for intragroup comparisons between the baseline and the end of follow-up, *p < 0.05.

Independent samples T-test was used to determine the d-value between the placebo and TCM group, $^{\dagger}p$ < 0.05.

Independent samples T-test was used to determine the statistical significance between the placebo and TCM group at baseline and follow-up, all the p values > 0.05. Data are presented as means \pm SD.

with control group in patients with existing microal buminuria at baseline (65.9% vs. 48.4%, p > 0.05).

UACR and Markers of Inflammation in One Center

The characteristic at the baseline between the two groups were balanced (**Supplemental Table 1**). No significant difference of UACR was observed between placebo and TCM groups at baseline or after intervention. Serum fractalkine (0.56 ± 0.25 vs. 0.78 ± 0.43 ng/mL, p = 0.01) and AGE-P (14.92 ± 2.43 vs. $19.29 \pm 4.96 \mu$ g/mL, p = 0.03) concentrations were lower, whereas sRAGE concentrations ($2,242.75 \pm 359.67$ vs. 1,832.63

 \pm 324.83 pg/mL, p=0.04) in the TCM group were higher than those in placebo at 24 months. However, there was no significant difference in CRP (0.73 \pm 0.59 vs. 0.96 \pm 0.79 mg/L, p>0.05) or MMP2 (186.66 \pm 72.68 vs. 173.43 \pm 59.91 ng/mL, p>0.05).

Adverse Events

The overall occurrence of adverse events was similar between the two groups. A total of 53 adverse events were reported (26 in the placebo group and 27 in the TCM group). Serious adverse events were: coronary artery disease (2 patients in both groups), cerebrovascular accident (4 patients in TCM group and 5 patients in control group), bleeding (1 patient in control

TABLE 2	The effect of 24 months treatment on ACR in placebo and TCM group.

		Placebo (<i>n</i> = 206)			TCM (<i>n</i> = 225)	
(mg/g)	Baseline	24 months	d-value	Baseline	24 months	d-value
Total	14.32 (6.68, 23.73)	11.97 (7.49, 23.01)	-0.73(-7.47, 6.75)	15.31 (7.46, 25.37)	12.55 (7.57, 22.26)	-1.61 (-10.24, 7.17)
UACR ≥30	44.79 (35.12, 65.11)	32.19 (12.32, 64.99)*	-20.61(-36.79,4.31)	46.21 (34.96, 58.96)	20.78 (9.62,38.85)*	-25.50 (-42.30, -9.56) [†]
UACR < 30	12.63 (6.18, 18.40)	10.91 (6.69, 18.52)	-0.28 (-5.25,6.76)	13.10 (6.77, 19.23)	12.16 (7.48, 19.81)	0.96 (-6.50, 8.85)

Total: all the subjects. Subjects were divided into tertiles: UACR <30 mg/g, UACR ≥ 30 mg/g. d-value: difference between baseline and end of follow-up.

Two-related-samples nonparametric tests was used for intragroup comparisons between the baseline and the end of follow-up, *p < 0.05.

Analysis covariance was used for d-value of samples between the placebo and TCM group, $^{\dagger}p$ < 0.05.

Two-independent-samples nonparametric tests was used to determine the statistical significance between the placebo and TCM group in the baseline and end of follow-up, all the p > 0.05.

Data are presented as median (lower quartile, upper quartile).

group) and cancer (4 patients in TCM group and 2 patients in control group).

DISCUSSION

In this multicenter, randomized, double-blind, and placebocontrolled prospective trial, we find that co-administration of 1.5 g LWDH and 24 mg Ginkgo biloba three times per day for 24 months is benefit to type 2 diabetes for microalbuminuria (as reflected by measures in UACR), associated with downregulation of inflammatory markers (i.e., fractalkine, AGE-P). The combined therapy may ameliorate the microalbuminuria in the patients with early DN. These observations provide evidence that Ginkgo biloba and LWDH are attractive alternatives for the management of DN.

Both Ginkgo biloba and LWDH are commonly prescribed for a variety of clinical conditions, without significant side effects. Increasing interest has been placed on their efficacy and safety for the management of early DN (16, 26-28) in China. However, the strength of these studies was limited by small sample size, short-duration, and lack of appropriate control. The present study represents the first large-scale, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, which evaluates the effects of combined treatment with LWDH and Ginkgo biloba on the progression of DN among relatively well-controlled type 2 diabetes for 24 months. We did not observe a significant difference in the change of UACR before and after intervention, but the change of UACR was alleviated significantly for a subgroup of patient with microalbuminuria. We failed to reveal statistical difference in UACR between the two groups probably due to the fact that patients with microalbuminuria were only a small portion of all these subjects (18.22% in TCM group and 15.05% in placebo group). It seems that this treatment have an effect on patients with microalbuminuria but not on those with normal albuminuria. TCM treatment didn't change the UACR for patients without albuminuria while they accounted for a large part of the study. Therefore, addition of TCM to standard clinical intervention appears to be promising for the DN with microalbuminuria. A larger clinical trial for this population is needed to confirm this conclusion.

As previously reported, diabetes mellitus is associated with multiple inflammatory responses, including AGEs accumulation,

leukocyte infiltration, ECM depositing, cytokines, and adhesion molecule expression, which may contribute to the development of renal impairment (29, 30). In the present study, we demonstrated positive relationships of AGE-P and fractalkine, and a reverse relationship with sRAGE after 24 months intervention. In the circulation, small-sized AGE-P may act as a reactive intermediate to cause tissue injury via binding to susceptible target proteins both within and outside the vasculature and hence forming "second-generation" AGEs. We have reported that AGE-P represents a valuable marker for predicting the severity DN, and AGEs upregulates fractalkine expression in human renal mesangial cells (HRMC) (31). Fractalkine, an important chemoattractant with adhesiveness functions, acts to induce macrophage recruitment that may cause abnormality of the ECM metabolism and consequent deposition of excessive ECM (32). In contrast, sRAGE has been described as a "sponge" for AGEs which counteracts the detrimental effects of cellular RAGE by binding with serum AGEs and AGE-P (33). It has been shown that the lower level of sRAGE is associated with the higher risks of diabetes, coronary heart disease, and all-cause mortality (34).

Some studies contribute the protection of TCM to their anti-oxidative and anti-inflammatory properties. For example, LWDH was demonstrated to decrease cytokinesin mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (35). Ginkgo biloba was reported to improve platelet function, to alter plateletvessel wall interactions, and to reduce malondialdehyde levels in platelets in type 2 patients (36). In addition, Gingko biloba was also shown to reduce relative total superoxide dismutase activity in patients with DN (37). In the present study, TCM treatment leads to a lower fractalkine level and a higher sRAGE level.

Because of reducing the ability of the blood to clot, Gingko biloba was reported to increase the risk of bleeding with high dose varying from 120 to 240 mg daily (38). No one reported bleeding with lower dose (between 35 and 70 mg daily). The safety of Gingko biloba extract for early DN still needs further research to estimate if there is any side effect. Previous study and our trial did not observe the related side effect. So, patients with bleeding related disease should be treated with cautions.

Our study has several limitations. Firstly, a 24 months followup was relatively short to evaluate the natural progression of DN, and the prevention of TCM on the DN. Secondly, there was a relatively high rate of premature withdrawals due to the longer follow-up period. Thirdly, this is a phase II trial and there was no formal sample size calculation due to the absence of available research on this topic at that time. As a result, the negative result in the primary endpoint may be subject to false-negative error. Finally, we were unable to obtain blood samples from all centers to measure inflammatory markers.

In summary, this multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial suggests that LWDH and Ginkgo biloba may be effective for managing DN. Further research to investigate the renal effects of co-administration prospectively is underway.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RS analyzed part of the data and wrote the manuscript. YanW collected the data and analyzed part of the data. ZS and JY involved in the design/implementation of the overall study, designed the analysis plan, and supervised the analysis and manuscript. TW and SQ contributed to the discussion and reviewed the manuscript. XY performed the statistical analyses

REFERENCES

- Caskey FJ, Schober-Halstenberg HJ, Roderick PJ, Edenharter G, Ansell D, Frei U, et al. Exploring the differences in epidemiology of treated ESRD between Germany and England and Wales. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2006) 47:445–54. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.12.026
- Yang WC, Hwang SJ. Incidence, prevalence and mortality trends of dialysis end-stage renal disease in Taiwan from 1990 to 2001: the impact of national health insurance. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2008) 23:3977–82. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn406
- Hallan SI, Ritz E, Lydersen S, Romundstad S, Kvenild K, Orth SR. Combining GFR and albuminuria to classify CKD improves prediction of ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2009) 20:1069–77. doi: 10.1681/ASN.20080 70730
- Ravid M. Dual blockade of the renin-angiotensin system in diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes Care* (2009) 32(Suppl. 2):S410–3. doi: 10.2337/dc09-S349
- Vupputuri S, Nichols GA, Lau H, Joski P, Thorp ML. Risk of progression of nephropathy in a population-based sample with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2011) 91:246–52. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2010.11.022
- 6. Eijkelkamp WB, Zhang Z, Remuzzi G, Parving HH, Cooper ME, Keane WF, et al. Albuminuria is a target for renoprotective therapy independent from blood pressure in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy: *post hoc* analysis from the Reduction of Endpoints in NIDDM with the Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan (RENAAL) trial. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2007) 18:1540–6. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006050445
- Abbate M, Zoja C, Remuzzi G. How does proteinuria cause progressive renal damage? J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:2974–84. doi: 10.1681/ASN.20060 40377
- Lambers Heerspink HJ, Gansevoort RT. Albuminuria is an appropriate therapeutic target in patients with CKD: the pro view. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2015) 10:1079–88. doi: 10.2215/CJN. 11511114
- Sun H, Ge N, Shao M, Cheng X, Li Y, Li S, et al. Lumbrokinase attenuates diabetic nephropathy through regulating extracellular matrix degradation in Streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2013) 100:85– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.01.012
- Fang D, Wan X, Deng W, Guan H, Ke W, Xiao H, et al. Fufang Xue Shuan Tong capsules inhibit renal oxidative stress markers and indices of nephropathy in diabetic rats. *Exp Ther Med.* (2012) 4:871–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2012.680

guidance. XA, JM, SL, LH, LW, JL, JG, HY, XW, YaoW, and BY involved in the implementation of the overall study.

FUNDING

This study was supported by The Great Project of National Scientific Supporting Program of China (no. 2006BAI04A03-1) and the Scientific Research Innovation Program for College and University Graduates of Jiangsu Province (KYCX18_0172).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the investigators and patients participated in the study for their time and effort.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2019.00100/full#supplementary-material

- Wang FL, Tang LQ, Yang F, Zhu LN, Cai M, Wei W. Renoprotective effects of berberine and its possible molecular mechanisms in combination of high-fat diet and low-dose streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Mol Biol Rep.* (2012) 40:2405–18. doi: 10.1007/s11033-012-2321-5
- Liu Z, Liu S, Zhou L, Gao X, Ju W, Tan H, et al. Effects of HuangKui capsules on glibenclamide pharmacokinetics in rats. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2012b) 139:1– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2011.03.043
- Li Q, Zhang HM, Fei YT. Treatment of diabetic nephropathy by integrative medicine: a multi-center prospective cohort study. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi.* (2012) 32:317–21.
- Suzuki J, Kimura M. Hypoglycemic effects of the blended Chinese traditional medicines in genetically and chemically diabetic mice. *Nihon Yakurigaku Zasshi* (1984) 83:1–10. doi: 10.1254/fpj.83.1
- Li XS, Fu XJ, Lang XJ. Effect of extract of *Gingko biloba* on soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and soluble vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in patients with early diabetic nephropathy. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi.* (2007) 27:412–4.
- Wang XX, Sun ZL, Yu JY. Effect of Liuwei Dihuang soft capsule and Ginkgo leaf tablet on serum regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi.* (2007) 27:315–7.
- Li ZJ, Zhang Y, Liu YM, Lu HY, Li YL, Zhang Y. Empirical study on prevention and treatment of Liu Wei Di Huang Wan in diabetic nephropathy rats. *Chin Arch Tradit Chin Med.* (2011) 29:1728–31. doi: 10.13193/j.archtcm.2011.08.26.lizhj.009
- Wu YC, Hsu JH, Liu IM, Liou SS, Su HC, Cheng JT. Increase of insulin sensitivity in diabetic rats received die-huang-wan, a herbal mixture used in Chinese traditional medicine. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2002) 23:1181–7.
- Xue YM, Luo R, Zhu B, Zhang Y, Pan YH, Li CZ. Effects of liuwei dihuang pills on expressions of apoptosis-related genes bcl-2 and Bax in pancreas of OLETF rats. *Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Xue Bao* (2005) 3:455–8. doi: 10.3736/jcim20050609
- Birks J, Grimley Evans J. Ginkgo biloba for cognitive impairment and dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2007) 18:1–68. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003120.pub2
- Zhou YH, Yu JP, Liu YF, Teng XJ, Ming M, Lv P, et al. Effects of Ginkgo biloba extract on inflammatory mediators (SOD, MDA, TNF-alpha, NF-kappaBp65, IL-6) in TNBS-induced colitis in rats. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2006) 2006:926–42. doi: 10.1155/MI/2006/92642
- Lu Q, Yin XX, Wang JY, Gao YY, Pan YM. Effects of Ginkgo biloba on prevention of development of experimental diabetic nephropathy in rats. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2007) 28:818–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2007.00570.x

- Welt K, Weiss J, Martin R, Hermsdorf T, Drews S, Fitzl G. Ginkgo biloba extract protects rat kidney from diabetic and hypoxic damage. *Phytomedicine* (2007) 14:196–203. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2006.03.023
- Sun ZL, Liu NF, Liu BC, Wang JP. The determination of AGE-peptides by flow injection assay, a practical marker of diabetic nephropathy. *Clin Chim Acta* (2001) 313:69–75. doi: 10.1016/S0009-8981(01)00651-9
- Levey AS, Coresh J, Balk E, Kausz AT, Levin A, Steffes MW, et al. National Kidney Foundation practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. *Ann Intern Med.* (2003) 139:137– 47. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-139-2-200307150-00013
- Song XY, Chen Q, Qi XY. Effect of liuwei dihuang pill on erythrocyte aldose reductase activity in early diabetic nephropathy patients. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi*. (2004) 24:1087–90.
- Zhang L. Effect of Ginkgo biloba extract injection on urinary microalbumin excretion in patients with early diabetic nephropathy. *China Pharm.* (2007) 18:2374–5.
- Lin L, Wang Q, Yi Y, Wang S, Qiu Z. Liuwei dihuang pills enhance the effect of western medicine in treating diabetic nephropathy: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Evid Based Compl. Alt. Med.* (2016) 2016;1509063. doi: 10.1155/2016/1509063
- Mallipattu SK, Uribarri J. Advanced glycation end product accumulation: a new enemy to target in chronic kidney disease? *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens.* (2014) 23:547–54. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0000000000 00062
- Donate-Correa J, Martin-Nunez E, Muros-de-Fuentes M, Mora-Fernandez C, Navarro-Gonzalez JF. Inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. J Diabetes Res. (2015) 2015:948417. doi: 10.1155/2015/9 48417
- Wang Y, Wei Q, Liu Q, Li Z, Zhou L, Zou F, et al. Crosstalk between monocytes and renal mesangial cells via interaction of metalloproteinases and fractalkine in diabetic nephropathy. *Mol Med Rep.* (2013) 8:1817–23. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2013.1703
- 32. Derosa G, D'Angelo A, Tinelli C, Devangelio E, Consoli A, Miccoli R, et al. Evaluation of metalloproteinase 2 and 9 levels and their inhibitors in diabetic and healthy subjects. *Diabetes Metab.* (2007) 33:129–34. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2006.11.008

- Park L, Raman KG, Lee KJ, Lu Y, Ferran LJ Jr, Chow WS, et al. Suppression of accelerated diabetic atherosclerosis by the soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts. *Nat Med.* (1998) 4:1025–31. doi: 10.10 38/2012
- Selvin E, Halushka M, Rawlings A, Hoogeveen RC, Ballantyne CM, Coresh J, et al. sRAGE and risk of diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:2116–21. doi: 10.2337/db12-1528
- 35. Liu Y, Zhao H, Zhang J, Zhang P, Li M, Qi F, et al. The regulatory effect of liuwei dihuang pills on cytokines in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Am J Chin Med.* (2012a) 40:295–308. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X12500231
- Kudolo GB, Delaney D, Blodgett J. Short-term oral ingestion of Ginkgo biloba extract (EGb 761) reduces malondialdehyde levels in washed platelets of type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2005) 68:29–38. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2004.08.007
- Tang D, Zhang Z, Gao Y, Wei Y, Han L. Protective effects of serum containing Ginkgo biloba extract on glomerulosclerosis in rat mesangial cells. J Ethnopharmacol. (2009) 124:26–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2009. 04.017
- Koch E. Inhibition of platelet activating factor (PAF)-induced aggregation of human thrombocytes by ginkgolides: considerations on possible bleeding complications after oral intake of Ginkgo biloba extracts. *Phytomedicine* (2005) 12:10–6. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2004. 02.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shi, Wang, An, Ma, Wu, Yu, Liu, Huang, Wang, Liu, Ge, Qiu, Yin, Wang, Wang, Yang, Yu and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impact of Nutrient Type and Sequence on Glucose Tolerance: Physiological Insights and Therapeutic Implications

Lorenzo Nesti^{1†}, Alessandro Mengozzi^{1†} and Domenico Tricò^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ² Sant'Anna School of Advanced Studies, Institute of Life Sciences, Pisa, Italy

Pharmacological and dietary interventions targeting postprandial glycemia have proved effective in reducing the risk for type 2 diabetes and its cardiovascular complications. Besides meal composition and size, the timing of macronutrient consumption during a meal has been recently recognized as a key regulator of postprandial glycemia. Emerging evidence suggests that premeal consumption of non-carbohydrate macronutrients (i.e., protein and fat "preloads") can markedly reduce postprandial glycemia by delaying gastric emptying, enhancing glucose-stimulated insulin release, and decreasing insulin clearance. The same improvement in glucose tolerance is achievable by optimal timing of carbohydrate ingestion during a meal (i.e., carbohydrate-last meal patterns), which minimizes the risk of body weight gain when compared with nutrient preloads. The magnitude of the glucose-lowering effect of preload-based nutritional strategies is greater in type 2 diabetes than healthy subjects, being comparable and additive to current glucose-lowering drugs, and appears sustained over time. This dietary approach has also shown promising results in pathological conditions characterized by postprandial hyperglycemia in which available pharmacological options are limited or not cost-effective, such as type 1 diabetes, gestational diabetes, and impaired glucose tolerance. Therefore, preload-based nutritional strategies, either alone or in combination with pharmacological treatments, may offer a simple, effective, safe, and inexpensive tool for the prevention and management of postprandial hyperglycemia. Here, we survey these novel physiological insights and their therapeutic implications for patients with diabetes mellitus and altered glucose tolerance.

Keywords: macronutrient preloads, food order, gastric emptying, glucose tolerance, insulin secretion, postprandial glycemia, medical nutrition therapy, type 2 diabetes

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) affects more than 400 million people worldwide and its prevalence is constantly increasing (1). The first metabolic alteration detectable in the progression of the disease is typically a loss of postprandial glucose control (2, 3), which is an independent risk factor for T2D (4, 5) and its complications (5–11). Targeting postprandial glycemia has proved effective for reducing the incidence of T2D (12–14). However, pharmacological control of postprandial glucose

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tongzhi Wu, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Tanya J. Little, University of Adelaide, Australia Daisuke Yabe, Gifu University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Domenico Tricò domenico.trico@for.unipi.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 07 December 2018 Accepted: 18 February 2019 Published: 08 March 2019

Citation:

Nesti L, Mengozzi A and Tricò D (2019) Impact of Nutrient Type and Sequence on Glucose Tolerance: Physiological Insights and Therapeutic Implications. Front. Endocrinol. 10:144. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00144 in the prediabetic stage rises ethical and economic concerns, and novel cost-effective treatments are required.

Medical nutrition therapy is recommended as first line treatment for prediabetes and T2D (15, 16) and may be a useful tool for improving glucose tolerance. In fact, meal composition and size have a profound impact on the physiological processes that regulate postprandial glycemia, such as gastric emptying and intestinal glucose absorption, pancreatic, and gut hormone release, hepatic insulin extraction, glucose uptake by insulin-sensitive tissues, and endogenous glucose production (17). Adherence to lifelong nutritional interventions involving energy restriction is often poor, and therefore alternative dietary strategies focusing on eating patterns are gaining growing interest.

One emerging approach is premeal ingestion of noncarbohydrate macronutrients (namely protein and fat), which has been shown to reduce postprandial hyperglycemia in both T2D and at-risk individuals (**Figure 1A**) (20). It has long been known that non-carbohydrate components of the meal can markedly influence postprandial glycemia (18, 21–25). More recently, the magnitude of the glucose-lowering effect of protein and fat was found to be even greater when these macronutrients are consumed before carbohydrates than mixed with them (22, 23). Based on these observations, "preloading" each meal with protein and fat or tailoring the sequence of macronutrient ingestion (i.e., consuming protein- and fat-rich food before carbohydrate) has been proposed as a novel strategy for the prevention and management of postprandial hyperglycemia.

The number of experimental studies in support to the clinical application of this promising nutritional approach is rapidly growing. However, gathering all available evidence is challenging given the different keywords used by different groups to define similar dietary strategies [e.g., protein/fat/nutrient premeal consumption (26, 27) or preload (19, 23, 28–30), food/meal/nutrient sequence (31, 32) or order (33)]. A further degree of complexity in the interpretation and comparison of different findings is produced by the heterogeneity of study designs. In fact, the effect of preload-based nutritional interventions on postprandial glycemia appears largely dependent upon different variables, such as preload composition, size, and timing of ingestion, test meal stimulus, and individual glucose tolerance status (20) (**Figure 1B**).

Herein, we review the available evidence on the acute and chronic effect of protein and fat preloads on postprandial glycemia throughout the whole spectrum of glucose tolerance, from diabetic patients to prediabetic and healthy individuals (**Table 1**), the underpinning physiological mechanisms, and the potential therapeutic relevance in different clinical settings.

IMPACT OF MACRONUTRIENT PRELOADS ON POSTPRANDIAL GLYCEMIA

Type 2 Diabetes

In subjects with type 2 diabetes (T2D), premeal consumption of protein and fat—either alone or in combination—has proved effective in decreasing or even normalizing postprandial hyperglycemia (Table 1). In 2006, Gentilcore et al. (22) demonstrated that 30 ml olive oil ingested 30 min before a carbohydrate meal was able to reduce and delay the postprandial glucose excursion in 6 diet-controlled T2D subjects. In 2009, the same group observed that a 55 g whey protein preload led to an even greater reduction in postprandial hyperglycemia in 8 dietcontrolled T2D subjects (23). Thereafter, the ingestion of food rich in protein or fat before carbohydrate has been consistently associated with reduced postload glycemic excursions in T2D patients when compared with a carbohydrate-first meal pattern (18, 19, 27, 30, 31, 33-36, 39). On average, a ~40% reduction in glucose peak and a ${\sim}50{-}70\%$ reduction in glucose excursion has been observed when protein and vegetables were consumed before carbohydrate, rather than mixed together or consumed after carbohydrate (33, 39). In our studies (18, 19), a small mixed protein and fat preload (50 g parmesan cheese and 50 g egg) was associated with a 30-50% reduction in glucose peak and overall excursion during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in well-controlled T2D patients. Similarly, Jakubowicz et al. (36) showed a \sim 30% reduction in postload glucose levels when 50 g whey protein were consumed before a high-glycemic index meal. Of note, the effect of macronutrient preloads on postprandial hyperglycemia in T2D appears comparable or even greater than that of current pharmacological therapy. In fact, Wu et al. (30) demonstrated that the glucose-lowering effect of a 25 g whey protein preload is similar to that of a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitor (50 mg vildagliptin). Interestingly, combining the protein preload with vildagliptin was more effective for reducing postprandial glycemia compared with either treatment alone, thereby suggesting an additive effect. Further studies are needed to examine the interaction between nutrient preloads and oral hypoglycemic agents. In fact, preloading with saturated fat may lead to a deterioration in the glucose-lowering effect of DDP-4 inhibitors over time (48).

Prediabetic Subjects

In individuals with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), a mixed nutrient preload ingested 30 min before an OGTT was able to decrease postload glucose concentrations by 37% when compared with a water preload (18) (**Table 1**). In agreement with this finding, Shukla et al. (43) observed a similar reduction (-39%) in postprandial glycemia in IGT subjects who consumed protein and vegetables before carbohydrate, compared with the same foods consumed in the reverse order (i.e., carbohydrate before protein and vegetables). In 20 subjects with IGT and/or isolated 1-h glucose ≥ 160 mg/dl, a small (14 g) almond preload reduced postprandial glycemia by 15% (42). Interestingly, the effect was greater in individuals with higher 2-h glucose concentrations, suggesting an inverse correlation between the individual degree of glucose tolerance and the magnitude of the glucose-lowering effect achievable with nutrient preloads (42).

Healthy Subjects

Nutrient preloads have been shown to reduce postprandial glucose concentrations even in subjects with normal glucose tolerance (NGT) (**Table 1**). Premeal consumption of either single amino acids (49, 50), whey protein (26, 44), a protein-enriched



FIGURE 1 Glucose-lowering effects of mixed nutrient preloads. (A) Schematic representation of postprandial glucose-lowering mechanisms activated by nutrient preloads. (B) Reduction of postload glucose excursions (Δ Plasma glucose $_{iAUC}$) during a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) after a mixed nutrient preload is proportional to the degree of glucose tolerance (Plasma glucose $_{iAUC}$) in subjects with normal glucose tolerance (NGT), impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), and type 2 diabetes (T2D). The physiological mechanisms responsible for the improvement in glucose tolerance during a 75 g OGTT preceded by a mixed nutrient preload (Preload) compared with a control OGTT (Control) are: (C) decreased rate of appearance of oral glucose for delayed gastric emptying; (D) enhanced glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (β -cell glucose sensitivity); and (E) reduced insulin clearance. Data are pooled from Trico et al. (18) and Trico et al. (19), for a total of 43 subjects examined (12 NGT, 13 IGT, and 18 T2D, except for B where T2D = 10). *p < 0.05 using paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test for within-group difference between Preload and Control.

TYPE 2 DABLETS Common control Common control Common control Common control CS providend portab CS providend portab <thcp portab<="" th=""> <thcp portab<="" th=""> <t< th=""><th>References</th><th>2</th><th>Preload</th><th>Timing</th><th>Control</th><th>Test meal</th><th>Effect on postload glycemia</th></t<></thcp></thcp>	References	2	Preload	Timing	Control	Test meal	Effect on postload glycemia
(2) 6 30mi ofice ofi -30' 30mi water 8 55 g whey protein + 350mi water -30' 350mi water 30 30 g sxys beens + 75 g yogurt -12' None 30 30 g sxys beens + 75 g yogurt -15' None 30 15 50 g whey protein + 36 mi water -30' 350mi water 30 15 g izzene Vitatity (7.6 g protein + 100mi water -30' -30' 350mi water 30 15 g izzene Vitatity (7.6 g protein + 100mi water -30' -30' 350mi water 7 25 g whey protein + 100mi water -30' -30' 350mi water 10 15 g itzene Vitatity (7.6 g protein + 100mi water -30' 400mi water 350mi water 11 25 g whey protein + 100mi water -30' 400mi water 350mi water 12 100 g mackenel fish or 73 g beel -16' Reverse order 13 150 g mackenel fish or 73 g beel -16' Reverse order 14 150 g mackenel fish or 73 g beel -16' Reverse order 15 100 g g	TYPE 2 DIABETES						
8 55g whey protein + 360ml water -30' 350ml water 10 30g soya bearts + 75g yogurt -120' None 24 17 g whey protein + 250ml water -120' None 30 15 50 g uar + 150ml water -00' 250ml water 30 18g Inzone Vriatily (7.6g protein + 20 -00' each meal 12 weeks None 30 18g Inzone Vriatily (7.6g protein + 100ml water -00' each meal 12 weeks None 30 18g Inzone Vriatily (7.6g protein + 100ml water -00' each meal 12 weeks None 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 None 1.0 1.1 1.50 g of measan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' 50 ml water 50 ml water 10 50 g parmesan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' 50 ml water 50 ml water 11 150 g of measan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' 50 ml water 50 ml water 10 50 g parmesan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' 50 ml water 50 ml water 11 150 g of measan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' 50 ml water 50 ml water 10 50 g parmesan cheese + 50 g egg + -30' <td>Gentilcore et al. (22)</td> <td>9</td> <td>30ml olive oil</td> <td>-30′</td> <td>30 ml water</td> <td>65 g powdered potato + 20 g glucose + 250 ml water</td> <td>Delayed glucose peak</td>	Gentilcore et al. (22)	9	30ml olive oil	-30′	30 ml water	65 g powdered potato + 20 g glucose + 250 ml water	Delayed glucose peak
10 30g soya beans + 75g yogurt -120' None 24 17g whey protein + 3g lactose + 5g guar + 150mi water -16' 150mi water 30 15 50g whey protein + 260mi water -30', aach meal,12 weeks None 30 15g fat + 16g filter + 5.2g carbs) -30', aach meal,12 weeks None 30 15g fat + 16g filter + 5.2g carbs) -30', aach meal,12 weeks None 30 15g fat + 16g filter + 5.2g carbs) -30', aech meal,12 weeks None 31 15 50 whey protein + 100mi water -30', 4 weeks None 30 15g fat + 16g filter + 5.2g carbs) -30', 4 weeks None 31 15 25g whey protein + 170g -16' Reverse order 30 15g graderadines -30', 4 weeks None 30 15g graderadines -30', 4 weeks Feverse order 30 15g graderadines -30', 4 weeks Feverse order 30 15g graderadines -30', 4 weeks Fevers	Ma et al. (23)	Ø	55g whey protein + 350 ml water	-30′	350 ml water	65 g powdered potato + 20 g glucose + 250 ml water	Glucose iAUC -51%
24 17 g winey protein + 3 g lactose + -15' 150ml water 5 g guar + 150ml water -30', each meal 12 weeks 150ml water 30 18 g inzone Vitality (7.6 g protein + -30', each meal 12 weeks None 30 18 g inzone Vitality (7.6 g protein + -30', each meal 12 weeks None 30 18 g inzone Vitality (7.6 g protein + -30', each meal 12 weeks None 7 25 g winey protein + 100ml water -30', 4 weeks None 11 150 g ohicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 12 150 g ohicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 10 50g parmesan cheese -30', 4 weeks Reverse order 11 150 g ohicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 12 100 g parmesan cheese -30' S00ml water 13 50 g parmesan cheese -30' Reverse order 14 150 g opticine -30' Reverse order 17 Protein - and far-irch food before -30' Reverse order 16 150 g opticine -30' Reverse order 17 Protein - and far-irch food before -30' Reverse order 16 150 g opticine -30' Reverse order 16	Chen et al. (34)	10	30g soya beans + 75g yogurt	-120′	None	51 g carbohydrate + 4.8g fat +5.8g protein	Glucose iAUC36% 2 h glucose9%
30) 15 50 g whey protein + 260ml water -30', aach meal,12 weeks 250ml water 30 18 g fitzone Vitality (7.6 g protein + 100ml water -30', aach meal,12 weeks None 1 30 fits g fiber + 5.2 g carbs) -30', auch meal,12 weeks None 1 1.5 g fiber + 5.2 g carbs) -30', 4 weeks 100ml flavored water 1 150 g chicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 10 50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + -30', 4 weeks 500ml water 12 100 g mackenel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 13 50 g parmesan cheese -30' 500ml water 17 100 g mackenel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 18 50 g page + 50g egg + 300 ml water -30' 500 ml water 17 Protein- and fact-rich food before Before 2 meals, 8 weeks Reverse order 17 Protein- and fact-rich bare -30' 250 ml water 17 Protein- and fact-rich bare -30' 250 ml water 16 150 g order -10' Reverse order 16 150 g order -30' 250 ml water	Clifton et al. (35)	24	17 g whey protein + 3 g lactose + 5 g guar + 150 ml water	-15′	150 ml water	2–3 slices of bread + jam and margarine, tea/coffee	Peak glucose –1.4 mM Mean glucose –0.8 mM
30 18g Inzone Vitality (7.6g protein + 1.60 mi water -30', each meal, 12 weeks None 7 25g whey protein + 100mi water -30', 4 weeks 100mi flavored water 11 150g chicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 13 150 gramesen cheese + 50g egg + -30', 4 weeks 100mi flavored water 10 50 gramesen cheese + 50g egg + -30' 500mi water 12 100 gramesen cheese + 50g egg + -30' 500mi water 13 50 gramesen cheese + 50g egg + -30' 500mi water 12 100 gramesen cheese -30' 8 500mi water 13 100 gramesen cheese -30' 900mi water 500mi water 14 150 gramesen cheese -30' 500mi water 500mi water 17 Protein - and flar-trich food before Before 2 meals, 8 weeks Reverse order 16 150 grader somi water -30' 250 mi flavored water 16 150 grader somi water -30' 10' Reverse order 16 150 grader somi water -30' 250 mi lavored water 16 150 mi water -30' 250 mi lavored water 16 150 grader somi water -30' 250 mi flavored water 16 <	Jakubovicz et al. (36)	15	50g whey protein + 250ml water	-30′	250 ml water	High-glycemic index breakfast (353 kcal)	Glucose AUC -28%
7 25 g whey protein + 100m water -30', 4 weeks 100m flavored water 11 150 g chicken meat + 170g -15' Reverse order 10 50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + -30' 500ml water 10 50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + -30' 500ml water 12 100g mackerel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 13 50g parmesan cheese -30' 500ml water 17 100g mackerel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 17 100g mackerel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 17 Protein- and fat-rich lood before Before 2 meals, 8 weeks Reverse order 17 Protein- and fat-rich lood before Before 2 meals, 8 weeks Reverse order 17 Protein- and fat-rich bart -30' 250ml water 22 25 whey protein + 250ml water -30' 250ml favored water 16 150g chicken meat + 170g -10' Reverse order 15 30g protein + 5g guar gum + 15' before 2 meals, 12 150ml favored water 150ml water -30' 250ml favored water 150ml water	Li et al. (28)	00	18g Inzone Vitality (7.6g protein + 1.8g fat + 1.6g fiber + 5.2g carbs) + 150ml water	30', each meal,12 weeks	None	Normal diet	HbA1c -0.3% 2 h glucose -14%
11150g chicken meat + 170g-15'Reverse order vegetables1050g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 mi water-30'500 mi water12100g mackerel fish or 79g beef-15'Reverse order1350g parmesan cheese-30'500 mi water17100g mackerel fish or 79g beef-15'Reverse order1850g parmesan cheese-30'500 mi water17Protein- and fat-rich food beforeBefore 2 meals, 8 weeksReverse order2225g whey protein + 250 mi water-30'250 mi water16150 gegt + 300 mi water-30'Reverse order2325g whey protein + 250 mi water-30'Reverse order16150 gegt - 300 mi water-30'Reverse order17150 mi water-30'Reverse order1830g protein - and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order1917g whey protein - and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order2117g whey protein - 45g guar gum +15' before 2 meals, 12150 mi water2117g whey protein - 45g guar gum +-15'60 mg sucralose +	Ma et al. (37)	2	25g whey protein + 100 ml water	30', 4 weeks	100 ml flavored water	Normal diet Acute studies: 65g potato + 20g glucose + 250ml water	Fructosamine –9%* Peak glucose –5*-9%
10 50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 mi water -30' 500 mi water 12 100g mackenel fish or 79g beef -15' Reverse order 8 50g parmesan cheese -30' 500 mi water 17 Protein- and fat-rich food before -30' 500 mi water 17 Protein- and fat-rich food before -30' 500 mi water 17 Protein- and fat-rich food before -30' 500 mi water 17 Protein- and fat-rich food before -30' 500 mi water 16 150 wey protein + 250 mi water -30' 250 mi fatored water 16 150 g chicken meat + 170 g -10' Reverse order 16 150 g chicken meat + 170 g -10' Reverse order 16 150 g chicken meat + 170 g -10' Reverse order 17 300 protein- and fiber-rich bar + -30' 250 mi favored water 15 300 protein - 50 guar gum + 15' before 2 meals, 12 150 mi favored water 16 17 g whey protein ± 50 guar gum + -15' 150 mi favored water	Shukla et al. (33)	1	en meat + 170	-15′	Reverse order	90 g ciabatta bread + 120 ml orange juice	Glucose iAUC -73% 2 h glucose -7%
12100 mackerel fish or 790 beef meat-15'Reverse order som water8500 parmesan cheese + 500 egg + 300 ml water-30'500 ml water17Protein- and fat-rich food before carbohydrateBefore 2 meals, 8 weeksReverse order2225 whey protein + 250 ml water-30'250 ml favored water16150 gotochicken meat + 170 g-10'Reverse order1525 whey protein + 250 ml water-30'250 ml flavored water16150 dicken meat + 170 g-10'Reverse order17300 protein - 450 guar gum +-30'Reverse order18170 whey protein + 56 guar gum +15' before 2 meals, 12150 ml flavored water21170 whey protein ± 56 guar gum +-15'60 mg sucralose + 150 ml water	Trico et al. (18)	10	50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 ml water	-30′	500 ml water	75 g oral glucose	Glucose iAUC49%
8 500 parmesan cheese -30' 500 ml water 17 Protein- and fat-rich food before Before 2 meals, 8 weeks Reverse order 22 25g whey protein + 250 ml water -30' 250 ml favored water 16 150 g chicken meat + 170g -10' Reverse order 15 30g protein + 250 ml water -30' 250 ml favored water 16 150 g chicken meat + 170g -10' Reverse order 17 30g protein - and fiber-rich bar + -30' 10' 15 30g protein - and fiber-rich bar + -30' Reverse order 16 150 ml water -30' Reverse order 17 whey protein + 5g guar gum + 15' before 2 meals, 12 150 ml flavored water 21 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + -15' 60 mg sucralose + 150 m water	Kuwata et al. (31)	12	mackerel fish or 79g	-15′	Reverse order	150g rice	Glucose iAUC30 to 40%
17Protein- and fat-rich food beforeBefore 2 meals, 8 weeksReverse order2225g whey protein + 250ml water-30'250ml flavored water16150g chicken meat + 170g-10'Reverse order1530g protein- and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order1530g protein- and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order16150 ml water-10'Reverse order1730g protein- and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order2917g whey protein + 5g guar gum +15' before 2 meals, 12150ml flavored water2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum +-15'60 mg sucralose +2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum +-15'60 mg sucralose +	Trico et al. (19)	ω	50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 ml water	-30'	500 ml water	75 g oral glucose	Glucose iAUC –28% Peak glucose –49%
 22 25 whey protein + 250ml water -30' 15 150 chicken meat + 170g 16 150 chicken meat + 170g 150 chicken meat + 170g 150 ml water 150 ml water 150 ml water 170 whey protein + 5g guar gum + 150 ml flavored water 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 157 ml water 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 157 ml water 17 g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 157 ml water 150 ml water 	Trico et al. (38)	17	Protein- and fat-rich food before carbohydrate	Before 2 meals, 8 weeks	Reverse order	Isocaloric diet	HbA1c -0.3% * Glucose CV -32% 2h glucose rise -102%
16150 g chicken meat + 170g-10'Reverse order1530g protein- and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order1530g protein- and fiber-rich bar +-30'Reverse order7917g whey protein + 5g guar gum +15' before 2 meals, 12150ml flavored water2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum +-15' before 2 meals, 12150ml flavored water2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum +-15' before 2 meals, 12150ml flavored water2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum +-15' before 2 meals, 12150ml flavored water	Wu et al. (30)	22	25g whey protein + 250ml water	-30'	250 ml flavored water	400g beef lasagna	Glucose AUC -1% * Peak glucose-5%
1530g protein- and fiber-rich bar + 150 ml water-30'Reverse order7917g whey protein + 5g guar gum + 150 ml water150 ml flavored water weeks150 ml flavored water2117g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 60 mg sucralose + 150 ml water-15'60 mg sucralose + 150 ml water	Shukla et al. (39)	16	en meat + 170	-10′	Reverse order	90 g ciabatta bread + 120 ml orange juice	Glucose iAUC –53% Peak glucose –54%
79 17 g whey protein + 5 g guar gum + 15' before 2 meals, 12 150 ml flavored water 150 ml water weeks 60 mg sucralose + 21 17 g whey protein ± 5 g guar gum + -15' 60 mg sucralose + 26 mg sucralose + 150 ml water 150 ml water 150 ml water	Bae et al. (27)	15	30g protein- and fiber-rich bar + 150 ml water	-30'	Reverse order	100g bagel + 70g cheese + 210ml orange juice	Glucose iAUC-25%
21 17 g whey protein \pm 5 g guar gum + $-15'$ 60 mg sucralose + 60 mg sucralose + 150 ml water 150 ml water 150 ml water	Watson et al. (40)	62	17g whey protein + 5g guar gum + 150 ml water	15' before 2 meals, 12 weeks	150 ml flavored water	65 g powdered potato + 1 egg yolk + 20g glucose + 200 ml water	HbA1c –0.1% Peak glucose –15%
	Watson et al. (41)	21	17g whey protein ± 5g guar gum + 60mg sucralose + 150ml water	- 15′	60 mg sucralose + 150ml water	65 g powdered potato + 1 egg yolk + 20g glucose + 200 ml water	Glucose iAUC –15% (independent of guar gum consumption)

52

(Continued)

References	2	Preload	Timing	Control	Test meal	Effect on postload glycemia
IMPAIRED GLUCOSE TOLERANCE	TOLERANCE					
Trico et al. (18)	12	50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 ml water	-30′	500 ml water	75 g oral glucose	Glucose iAUC37%
Crouch and Slater (42)	20	14.2 g almonds + 237 ml water	-30'	None	75 g oral glucose	Glucose AUC –16% 2h glucose –14%
Shukla et al. (43)	15	100 g chicken meat + 285 vegetables + 15 ml olive oil	-20'	Reverse order	90 g ciabatta bread	Glucose iAUC39%
NORMAL GLUCOSE TOLERANCE	OLERANCE					
Cunningham and Read (21)	9	60g margarine	-20'	300 ml beef consommé	300g mashed potato + 230 ml water	Glucose AUC –39% Peak glucose –18% Delayed glucose peak
Akhavan et al. (26)	16	5–40 g whey protein + 400 ml water	-30′	300 ml water	12 kcal/kg pizza + 500 ml water	Dose-dependent reduction in glucose AUC (~0-50%)
Akhavan et al. (44)	10	10 or 20g whey protein + 400 ml water	-30′	300 ml water	12 kcal/kg pizza + 500 ml water	Mean glucose -4%
Trico et al. (18)	12	50g parmesan cheese + 50g egg + 300 ml water	-30'	500 ml water	75 g oral glucose	Glucose iAUC32%
Kuwata et al. (31)	10	100 g mackerel fish or 79 g beef meat	15′	Reverse order	150g rice	Glucose AUC -19 to 30% st
Sun et al. (45)	20	322 ml soy or dairy milk	-30′	None	91 g white bread + 322 ml water	Glucose iAUC40 to 49%
Nishino et al. (46)	ω	60g pork meat + 150g vegetables + 5 ml olive oli	Before carbs	Reverse order	150g rice + 45 g pumpkin + 75 g orange + 150 ml water	Glucose AUC -48% *
Bae et al. (27)	15	30g protein- and fiber-rich bar + 150 ml water	-30′	Reverse order	100g bagel + 70g cheese + 210ml orange juice	Glucose iAUC –18%
TYPE 1 DIABETES						
Faber et al. (47)	20	22g cheese + 30g turkey meat	- 15'	22 g cheese + 30 g turkey meat in test meal	2 slices bread + 15 g jam + 150 ml orange juice	Glucose AUC19% * Mean glucose9%
GESTATIONAL DIABETES	res					
Li et al. (29)	33 each group	18g Inzone Vitality (7.6g protein + 1.8g fat + 1.6g fiber + 5.2g carbs) + 250ml water	-30', each meal, 7 weeks	18 g milk powder (3.5 protein + 1.1 g fat + 11.2 g carbs) + 250 ml water	Normal diet	Fasting glucose ∼-17% 2 h glucose ~-5%

P < 0.05 unless otherwise specified. *P = ns. AUC, area under the curve; CV, coefficient of variation; iAUC, incremental AUC.

TABLE 1 | Continued

bar (27), dairy or soy milk (45), or margarine (21) before a carbohydrate-rich meal decreased postprandial glycemia in a dose-dependent manner in NGT subjects. Consistently, a mixed protein and fat preload reduced plasma glucose excursions after an OGTT by 32% in healthy young adults (18). Furthermore, the ingestion of either meat, fish, or vegetables before rice was able to decrease the postmeal glucose peak by ~50% and to delay it by 30–60 min when compared with eating the same food in the reverse order (i.e., rice first) (31, 46).

Type 1 Diabetes

Despite recent improvements in insulin therapy, a tight control of postprandial hyperglycemia remains difficult to achieve in type 1 diabetes, and is frequently associated with an increased risk of insulin-induced hypoglycemia. In this setting, a recent study by Faber et al. (47) has shown that protein and fat consumed 15 min prior to carbohydrates reduced by \sim 10% mean glucose levels in 20 type 1 diabetic children and adolescents. Remarkably, the nutrient preload was not associated with an increased risk of hypoglycemic episodes (47).

Gestational Diabetes

Glucose intolerance in pregnancy increases the risk of complications during delivery and the incidence of metabolic diseases later in life. In women with gestational diabetes (29), a treatment with low-carbohydrate preloads resulted in a significant reduction in both fasting and postprandial plasma glucose when compared with a dietary strategy implementing high-carbohydrate preloads. While low-carbohydrate preloads show promise, further studies are needed to determine efficacy and superiority of this approach.

LONG-TERM EFFICACY, SAFETY, AND FEASIBILITY

Despite numerous experimental studies demonstrated the acute beneficial effect of protein and fat consumption before carbohydrate on postprandial glycemia, only a few studies evaluated the long-term efficacy, feasibility, and safety of preload-based dietary strategies. In T2D subjects, a 25 g whey protein preload consumed 30 min before each meal for 4 weeks showed a sustained effect on postprandial glucose, with a nearly significant reduction in fructosamine levels (p = 0.06) (37). Furthermore, a 12-week intervention with mixed nutrient preloads was associated with decreased postprandial glucose and glycated hemoglobin levels in T2D subjects (28, 40). Finally, a recent study found a reduction in both fasting and postprandial plasma glucose in women with gestational diabetes consuming low-carbohydrate preloads for ~9 \pm 1 weeks (29).

Dietary strategies that require nutritional supplements (either food or artificial formulas) might be expensive and poorly accepted. Moreover, although previous studies did not show weight gain after chronic preload consumption (28, 37) possibly due to the compensatory satiating effect of protein (26, 28, 51– 55), adding nutrient preloads to each meal may increase the total daily caloric intake, leading to an increase in body weight and diet-related metabolic alterations (56, 57).

To limit the risk of weight gain and to increase the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of dietary interventions exploiting the same glucose-lowering effects of nutrient preloads, other strategies have been proposed. Low-calorie fiber-rich preloads (e.g., guar gum, vegetables), alone or in combination with protein, have been shown to improve glucose tolerance in both healthy and diabetic subjects with negligible effects on body weight (40, 41, 58-61). Furthermore, our group (20, 38) and others (31-33, 39, 43, 46, 60) have recently proposed a nutritional approach that simply consists in manipulating the sequence of macronutrient ingestion during each meal. In a proof-of-concept study, postprandial glucose control significantly improved in T2D subjects instructed to consume protein- and fat-rich food before carbohydrate-rich food for 8 weeks under freeliving conditions, with no differences in body weight, serum lipid profile and other metabolic markers (38). These data support carbohydrate-last meal patterns as an effective and safe behavioral strategy to reduce postprandial glucose excursions.

PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS

Gastric Emptying

The effect of non-carbohydrate nutrients on glucose tolerance is largely dependent on their ability to delay gastric emptying (18, 19, 22, 23, 31, 37, 45). Gastric emptying modulates the rate of oral glucose delivery and absorption in the small intestine, and it can account for about one third of the variance in the early glucose excursion during an OGTT (62-65). Fat is the most potent macronutrient in slowing gastric emptying (21, 62, 66-68). In 1989, Cunningham and Read (21) showed that the effect of fat on gastric emptying is greater when fat is consumed prior to carbohydrate rather than mixed with it, suggesting that this effect is dependent on the digestion of fat to fatty acids (22, 69, 70). In 2009, a protein preload was also found to be effective in slowing gastric emptying (23), as later confirmed by other groups (44). The effect of protein preloads on gastric emptying appears to be smaller compared to fat (23, 44, 71) and substantially unchanged after a 4-week consumption (37). Fat and protein may exhibit an additive effect on gastric emptying. In fact, a mixed protein and fat preload can markedly reduce oral glucose absorption across different classes of glucose tolerance (from -16% in NGT to-42% in T2D) (18) (Figure 1C). Consistently, Kuwata et al. (31) observed that both meat and fish consumed before rice are able to delay gastric emptying, particularly in T2D (31).

Insulin Secretion and β Cell Function

The effect of nutrient preloads on postprandial glycemia largely depends on their insulinotropic action (18, 22, 23, 31, 33, 36, 50, 72). Among non-carbohydrate macronutrients, protein is the most effective in enhancing glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Ma et al. (23) showed that a 55 g whey protein preload increases glucose-stimulated insulin release by 2- to 3-fold in T2D, and these results have been confirmed in both non-diabetic and T2D subjects (27, 36, 71). The insulinotropic effect of protein is dose-dependent (26) and likely mediated by both direct and incretin-mediated interactions of protein and amino acids with β cells (72–76). Although fat can enhance

glucose-stimulated insulin secretion through direct and receptordepended mechanisms (76–82), whether preloading with fat alone can affect insulin secretion is unclear. Indeed, the marked reduction in glucose responses due to the delay in gastric emptying after fat consumption usually leads to lower—rather than higher—absolute insulin levels in the early postprandial phase (21, 22). However, the insulin peak following a fat preload seems only delayed, but not reduced, even in the context of lower glucose levels (22). This observation suggests a positive—though small—effect of fat preloads on β cell function.

The effect of protein and fat on insulin secretion may be enforced by a synergistic interaction between the two classes of nutrients (18, 19, 83, 84). Our group showed that a mixed protein and fat preload increased plasma insulin levels during the first hour of an OGTT across the whole spectrum of glucose tolerance, despite lower glucose concentrations (18). The mixed preload increased the β cell responsiveness to plasma glucose (β cell glucose sensitivity) by 20% in NGT and prediabetic subjects, and almost doubled it in T2D subjects (Figure 1D). The greater enhancement of glucose-induced insulin secretion in T2D may be explained by a higher gradient of plasma amino acids after protein digestion and absorption in those subjects compared with healthy individuals (72, 85). Some studies with mixed preloads have reported different results (31, 39, 45, 46), likely due to a less rigorous estimation of $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ cell function (i.e., insulin and Cpeptide levels were not adjusted for glucose concentrations) or to a stronger inhibition of gastric emptying by different preloads tested, which would minimize their impact on glucose-stimulated insulin secretion.

Insulin Clearance and Insulin Sensitivity

Besides a direct stimulation of insulin release by pancreatic β cells, macronutrient preloads may increase insulin bioavailability by reducing insulin degradation ("insulin clearance"), which mostly occurs in the liver. In fact, we reported an average ~10% reduction in insulin clearance during a 2-h OGTT after a mixed nutrient preload, without significant differences between NGT, IGT and T2D subjects (18) (**Figure 1E**). A subsequent experiment showed a 52% increase in plasma insulin levels in T2D subjects during a 5-h OGTT, which was due to the combination of a 28% lower insulin clearance and a 22% higher insulin secretion after the nutrient preload (19).

Nutrient preloads may also impact on postprandial glucose homeostasis by affecting peripheral and hepatic insulin action ("insulin sensitivity"). However, no evidence so far has shown a significant influence of nutrient preloads on insulin sensitivity (18, 19).

Incretin Hormones

Macronutrient preloads may exert their glucose-lowering effects by stimulating the release of gut hormones, such as the glucagon like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and the glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) (23, 44, 71, 86–91). GLP-1 and GIP are usually referred to as "incretin hormones" to underscore their stimulatory effect on pancreatic β cells, which is glucose-dependent, dose-dependent, and—only for GLP-1—largely preserved in T2D (86, 92). Furthermore, incretin hormones exhibit pleiotropic actions that include the inhibition of gastric emptying and appetite [by GLP-1 (86, 92)] and the reduction of hepatic insulin clearance [by GIP (90, 91)]. Preloading with either protein or fat alone enhanced GLP-1 concentrations in both T2D and healthy subjects, while only protein increased GIP levels in T2D (22, 23, 27, 36, 44, 71). When protein and fat were consumed together as a mixed preload, we observed an almost doubled GIP response, alongside with a modest but significant increase in plasma GLP-1 (18). These effects were comparable in individuals with different glucose tolerance, with a tendency to be more pronounced in IGT and T2D subjects (18, 19). Similarly, consuming meat or fish before carbohydrate resulted in higher GLP-1 and GIP concentrations in both T2D and healthy individuals, and these effects were greater in T2D (31).

Additional Mechanisms

Several additional mechanisms have been proposed to explain the effect of non-carbohydrate nutrients on postprandial glucose control. Along with GLP-1 and GIP, protein (23, 44) and fat (93, 94) can stimulate the release of other gut hormones, such as cholecystokinin (CCK) and peptide YY (PYY), which inhibit gastric emptying and appetite (95–98) and stimulate insulin secretion (99–101).

The sight, smell and taste of nutrients may trigger neural signals leading to anticipatory insulin release, which may partly explain the insulinotropic effect of nutrient preloads (102). However, the contribution of the so-called "cephalic phase" of insulin secretion on glucose tolerance is little (\sim 1% of postprandial insulin release), transient (8–10 min from sensory stimulation) (102), and not supported by experimental evidence (18).

Furthermore, it should be noticed that the glucose-lowering effect of nutrient preloads occurs despite an increase in plasma glucagon levels (18, 19, 31, 71), which is expected to worsen glucose tolerance by promoting gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis. However, endogenous glucose production was not affected by premeal consumption of protein and fat (18, 19), and the relevance of increased glucagon concentrations in this setting remains controversial.

Finally, the reduction of appetite and calorie intake following protein consumption, which is possibly mediated by the stimulation of GLP1 secretion, might contribute to weight loss after long-term consumption of protein preloads (51–55).

CONCLUSIVE REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The experimental evidence discussed above indicates that premeal consumption of protein and fat can markedly reduce postprandial glycemia across the whole spectrum of glucose tolerance. The mechanisms underlying this effect include a delay in gastric emptying as well as an enhancement of glucose-stimulated insulin release and a decrease in hepatic insulin clearance, resulting, respectively, in slower glucose absorption and hyperinsulinemia (22, 23, 72). From the

clinical perspective, the glucose-lowering effect of nutrient preloads is comparable in magnitude to that of current antihyperglycemic drugs (30), is proportionally greater in T2D than prediabetic and non-diabetic subjects (20), and appears to be sustained over time (37, 38). Preload-based dietary strategies can be useful in the management of T2D, either alone or in combination with pharmacological treatments, due to their additive effects (30). Furthermore, preload-based diets are of particular interest in clinical settings in which available pharmacological options are limited, including type 1 diabetes (47) and gestational diabetes (29), or not costeffective, such as in the large number of individuals at high risk to develop T2D (18, 43). Remarkably, the same improvement in postprandial glycemia after nutrient preload consumption appears to be achievable by optimal timing of carbohydrate ingestion during a meal (i.e., carbohydrate-last meal pattern) (20, 31-33, 38, 39, 43, 46). This promising approach would avoid additional energy intake when compared with nutrient preloads, thereby minimizing the risk of body weight gain and diet-related metabolic alterations. Further refinement is required to determine the optimum timing and quantity of macronutrient consumption during a meal, as well as to standardize nutritional recommendations for targeting postprandial glycemia in different clinical settings. Larger studies are also needed to confirm the encouraging

REFERENCES

- 1. Ingelfinger JR, Jarcho JA. Increase in the incidence of diabetes and its implications. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:1473–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1616575
- 2. Lebovitz HE. Postprandial hyperglycaemic state: importance and consequences. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (1998) 40(Suppl.):S27–8.
- Monnier L, Lapinski H, Colette C. Contributions of fasting and postprandial plasma glucose increments to the overall diurnal hyperglycemia of type 2 diabetic patients: variations with increasing levels of HbA(1c). *Diabetes Care*. (2003) 26:881–5. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.3.881
- Abdul-Ghani MA, Abdul-Ghani T, Ali N, Defronzo RA. One-hour plasma glucose concentration and the metabolic syndrome identify subjects at high risk for future type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2008) 31:1650–5. doi: 10.2337/dc08-0225
- Gerstein HC, Santaguida P, Raina P, Morrison KM, Balion C, Hunt D, et al. Annual incidence and relative risk of diabetes in people with various categories of dysglycemia: a systematic overview and metaanalysis of prospective studies. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2007) 78:305–12. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007.05.004
- Kawasaki R, Wang JJ, Wong TY, Kayama T, Yamashita H, et al. Impaired glucose tolerance, but not impaired fasting glucose, is associated with retinopathy in Japanese population: the funagata study. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2008) 10:514–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2007.00824.x
- Tominaga M, Eguchi H, Manaka H, Igarashi K, Kato T, Sekikawa A. Impaired glucose tolerance is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, but not impaired fasting glucose. the funagata diabetes study. *Diabetes Care*. (1999) 22:920–4.
- Leiter LA, Ceriello A, Davidson JA, Hanefeld M, Monnier L, Owens DR, et al. Postprandial glucose regulation: new data and new implications. *Clin Ther.* (2005) 27(Suppl. B):S42–56. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2005.11.020
- Glucose tolerance and mortality: comparison of WHO and American Diabetes Association diagnostic criteria. The DECODE study group. European Diabetes Epidemiology Group. Diabetes Epidemiology: Collaborative analysis Of Diagnostic criteria in Europe. *Lancet.* (1999) 354:617–21.

preliminary data on long-term efficacy, feasibility, and safety of these dietary approaches.

In summary, consistent experimental evidence suggests that preload-based nutritional strategies may offer a novel simple, effective, safe, and inexpensive therapeutic approach for the prevention and management of postprandial hyperglycemia and T2D.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LN and AM: data collection and analysis, interpretation of results, and manuscript writing; DT: funding, study design, data collection and analysis, interpretation of results, manuscript writing, and final editing. All authors read and approved the final submitted version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

DT is funded by the EFSD Mentorship Programme.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Prof. Andrea Natali (Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa) for the insightful comments and suggestions.

- Cavalot F, Pagliarino A, Valle M, Di Martino L, Bonomo K, Massucco P, et al. Postprandial blood glucose predicts cardiovascular events and allcause mortality in type 2 diabetes in a 14-year follow-up: lessons from the San Luigi Gonzaga Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care.* (2011) 34:2237–43. doi: 10.2337/dc10-2414
- Ceriello A, Hanefeld M, Leiter L, Monnier L, Moses A, Owens D, et al. Postprandial glucose regulation and diabetic complications. *Arch Intern Med.* (2004) 164:2090–5. doi: 10.1001/archinte.164.1 9.2090
- Chiasson JL, Josse RG, Gomis R, Hanefeld M, Karasik A, Laakso M, et al. Acarbose treatment and the risk of cardiovascular disease and hypertension in patients with impaired glucose tolerance: the STOP-NIDDM trial. *J Am Med Assoc.* (2003) 290:486–94. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.4.486
- Raz I, Ceriello A, Wilson PW, Battioui C, Su EW, Kerr L, et al. Post hoc subgroup analysis of the HEART2D trial demonstrates lower cardiovascular risk in older patients targeting postprandial versus fasting/premeal glycemia. *Diabetes Care.* (2011) 34:1511–3. doi: 10.2337/dc10-2375
- Potti A, Mukherjee S, Petersen R, Dressman HK, Bild A, Koontz J, et al. Pioglitazone for diabetes prevention in impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. (2011) 364:1104–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1010949
- Evert AB, Boucher JL, Cypress M, Dunbar SA, Franz MJ, Mayer-Davis EJ, et al. Nutrition therapy recommendations for the management of adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2013) 36:3821–42. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2042
- Davies MJ, D'Alessio DA, Fradkin J, Kernan WN, Mathieu C, Mingrone G, et al. Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. a consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). *Diabetes Care.* (2018) 41:2669–701. doi: 10.2337/dci18-0033
- Gerich J. Pathogenesis and management of postprandial hyperglycemia: role of incretin-based therapies. *Int J Gen Med.* (2013) 6:877–95. doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S51665
- Tricò D, Baldi S, Tulipani A, Frascerra S, Macedo MP, Mari A, et al. Mechanisms through which a small protein and lipid preload improves glucose tolerance. *Diabetologia*. (2015) 58:2503–12. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3710-9

- Tricò D, Filice E, Baldi S, Frascerra S, Mari A, Natali A. Sustained effects of a protein and lipid preload on glucose tolerance in type 2 diabetes patients. *Diabetes Metab.* (2016) 42:242–8. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2016.0 3.004
- Tricò D, Natali A. Modulation of postprandial glycemic responses by noncarbohydrate nutrients provides novel approaches to the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 106:701–2. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.117.157255
- Cunningham KM, Read NW. The effect of incorporating fat into different components of a meal on gastric emptying and postprandial blood glucose and insulin responses. Br J Nutr. (1989) 61:285–90. doi: 10.1079/BJN19890116
- 22. Gentilcore D, Chaikomin R, Jones KL, Russo A, Feinle-Bisset C, Wishart JM, et al. Effects of fat on gastric emptying of and the glycemic, insulin, and incretin responses to a carbohydrate meal in type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:2062–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2644
- 23. Ma J, Stevens JE, Cukier K, Maddox AF, Wishart JM, Jones KL, et al. Effects of a protein preload on gastric emptying, glycemia, and gut hormones after a carbohydrate meal in diet-controlled type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2009) 32:1600–2. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0723
- Meng H, Matthan NR, Ausman LM, Lichtenstein AH. Effect of macronutrients and fiber on postprandial glycemic responses and meal glycemic index and glycemic load value determinations. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:842–53. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.144162
- 25. Wolever TM, Nuttall FQ, Lee R, Wong GS, Josse RG, Csima A, et al. Prediction of the relative blood glucose response of mixed meals using the white bread glycemic index. *Diabetes Care.* (1985) 8:418–28. doi: 10.2337/diacare.8.5.418
- Akhavan T, Luhovyy BL, Brown PH, Cho CE, Anderson GH. Effect of premeal consumption of whey protein and its hydrolysate on food intake and postmeal glycemia and insulin responses in young adults. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 91:966–75. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28406
- Bae JH, Kim LK, Min SH, Ahn CH, Cho YM. Postprandial glucoselowering effect of premeal consumption of protein-enriched, dietary fiberfortified bar in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus or normal glucose tolerance. J Diabetes Invest. (2018) 9:1110–8. doi: 10.1111/jdi. 12831
- Li CJ, Norstedt G, Hu ZG, Yu P, Li DQ, Li J, et al. Effects of a macronutrient preload on type 2 diabetic patients. *Front Endocrinol.* (2015) 6:139. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2015.00139
- 29. Li L, Xu J, Zhu W, Fan R, Bai Q, Huang C, et al. Effect of a macronutrient preload on blood glucose level and pregnancy outcome in gestational diabetes. *J Clin Transl Endocrinol.* (2016) 5:36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jcte.2016.04.001
- Wu T, Little TJ, Bound MJ, Borg M, Zhang X, Deacon CF, et al. A protein preload enhances the glucose-lowering efficacy of vildagliptin in Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2016) 39:511–7. doi: 10.2337/dc15-2298
- 31. Kuwata H, Iwasaki M, Shimizu S, Minami K, Maeda H, Seino S, et al. Meal sequence and glucose excursion, gastric emptying and incretin secretion in type 2 diabetes: a randomised, controlled crossover, exploratory trial. *Diabetologia*. (2016) 59:453–61. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3841-z
- Monnier L, Bonnet F, Colette C. Tailoring nutrient sequence and content to improve glucose tolerance: why and how to do it. *Diabetes Metab.* (2016) 42:211–4. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2016.04.003
- Shukla AP, Iliescu RG, Thomas CE, Aronne LJ. Food order has a significant impact on postprandial glucose and insulin levels. *Diabetes Care.* (2015) 38:e98–9. doi: 10.2337/dc15-0429
- Chen MJ, Jovanovic A, Taylor R. Utilizing the second-meal effect in type 2 diabetes: practical use of a soya-yogurt snack. *Diabetes Care.* (2010) 33:2552–4. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0552
- Clifton PM, Galbraith C, Coles L. Effect of a low dose whey/guar preload on glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes–a randomised controlled trial. *Nutr J.* (2014) 13:103. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-103
- 36. Jakubowicz D, Froy O, Ahrén B, Boaz M, Landau Z, Bar-Dayan Y, et al. Incretin, insulinotropic and glucose-lowering effects of whey protein preload in type 2 diabetes: a randomised clinical trial. *Diabetologia*. (2014) 57:1807–11. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3305-x

- 37. Ma J, Jesudason DR, Stevens JE, Keogh JB, Jones KL, Clifton PM, et al. Sustained effects of a protein "preload" on glycaemia and gastric emptying over 4 weeks in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2015) 108:e31-4. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2015.02.019
- Tricò D, Filice E, Trifirò S, Natali A. Manipulating the sequence of food ingestion improves glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients under freeliving conditions. *Nutr Diab.* (2016) 6:e226. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2016.33
- 39. Shukla AP, Andono J, Touhamy SH, Casper A, Iliescu RG, Mauer E, et al. Carbohydrate-last meal pattern lowers postprandial glucose and insulin excursions in type 2 diabetes. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*. (2017) 5:e000440. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2017-000440
- 40. Watson LE, Phillips LK, Wu T, Bound MJ, Checklin HL, Grivell J, et al. A whey/guar "preload" improves postprandial glycaemia and glycated haemoglobin levels in type 2 diabetes: A 12-week, singleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2018). doi: 10.1111/dom.13604. [Epub ahead of print].
- Watson LE, Phillips LK, Wu T, Bound MJ, Checklin H, Grivell J, et al. Differentiating the effects of whey protein and guar gum preloads on postprandial glycemia in type 2 diabetes. *Clin Nutr.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.12.014. [Epub ahead of print].
- Crouch MA, Slater RT. Almond "Appetizer" effect on glucose tolerance test (GTT) results. J Am Board Fam Med. (2016) 29:759–66. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2016.06.160128
- Shukla AP, Dickison M, Coughlin N, Karan A, Mauer E, Truong W, et al. The impact of food order on postprandial glycaemic excursions in prediabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2018) 21(2):377–81. doi: 10.1111/dom.13503
- 44. Akhavan T, Luhovyy BL, Panahi S, Kubant R, Brown PH, Anderson GH. Mechanism of action of pre-meal consumption of whey protein on glycemic control in young adults. J Nutr Biochem. (2014) 25:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2013.08.012
- 45. Sun L, Tan KWJ, Han CMS, Leow MK, Henry CJ. Impact of preloading either dairy or soy milk on postprandial glycemia, insulinemia and gastric emptying in healthy adults. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:77–87. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1059-y
- Nishino K, Sakurai M, Takeshita Y, Takamura T. Consuming carbohydrates after meat or vegetables lowers postprandial excursions of glucose and insulin in nondiabetic subjects. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol.* (2018) 64:316–20. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.64.316
- Faber EM, van Kampen PM, Clement-de Boers A, Houdijk ECAM, van der Kaay DCM. The influence of food order on postprandial glucose levels in children with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diab.* (2018) 19:809–15. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12640
- 48. Kuwata H, Okamoto S, Seino Y, Murotani K, Tatsuoka H, Usui R, et al. Relationship between deterioration of glycated hemoglobin-lowering effects in dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor monotherapy and dietary habits: Retrospective analysis of Japanese individuals with type 2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Invest*. (2018) 9:1153–8. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12779
- Ullrich SS, Fitzgerald PC, Nkamba I, Steinert RE, Horowitz M, Feinle-Bisset C. Intragastric lysine lowers the circulating glucose and insulin responses to a mixed-nutrient drink without slowing gastric emptying in healthy adults. J Nutr. (2017) 147:1275–81. doi: 10.3945/jn.117.252213
- Ullrich SS, Fitzgerald PC, Schober G, Steinert RE, Horowitz M, Feinle-Bisset C. Intragastric administration of leucine or isoleucine lowers the blood glucose response to a mixed-nutrient drink by different mechanisms in healthy, lean volunteers. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 104:1274–84. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.140640
- Tey SL, Salleh N, Henry CJ, Forde CG. Effects of consuming preloads with different energy density and taste quality on energy intake and postprandial blood glucose. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:E161. doi: 10.3390/nu10020161
- Abou-Samra R, Keersmaekers L, Brienza D, Mukherjee R, Macé K. Effect of different protein sources on satiation and short-term satiety when consumed as a starter. *Nutr J.* (2011) 10:139. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-10-139
- Astbury NM, Stevenson EJ, Morris P, Taylor MA, Macdonald IA. Doseresponse effect of a whey protein preload on within-day energy intake in lean subjects. *Br J Nutr.* (2010) 104:1858–67. doi: 10.1017/S000711451000293X
- 54. Giezenaar C, Trahair LG, Rigda R, Hutchison AT, Feinle-Bisset C, Luscombe-Marsh ND, et al. Lesser suppression of energy intake by orally ingested whey protein in healthy older men compared with young

controls. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. (2015) 309:R845-54. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00213.2015

- 55. Yabe D, Kuwata H, Fujiwara Y, Murotani K, Ito S, Asano H, et al. Effects of dietary instructions including meal-sequence for prediabetes subjects comparison with conventional approach. *Diabetes*. (2018) 67 (Suppl 1). doi: 10.2337/db18-53-LB
- Morgantini C, Trifirò S, Tricò D, Meriwether D, Baldi S, Mengozzi A., et al. A short-term increase in dietary cholesterol and fat intake affects high-density lipoprotein composition in healthy subjects. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2018) 28:575–81. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2018.03.005
- Tricò D, Trifirò S, Mengozzi A, Morgantini C, Baldi S, Mari A, et al. Reducing cholesterol and fat intake improves glucose tolerance by enhancing beta cell function in nondiabetic subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 103:622–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-02089
- Groop PH, Aro A, Stenman S, Groop L. Long-term effects of guar gum in subjects with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1993) 58:513–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/58.4.513
- Sierra M, Garcia JJ, Fernández N, Diez MJ, Calle AP, Sahagún AM, et al. Effects of ispaghula husk and guar gum on postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations in healthy subjects. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2001) 55:235–43. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601147
- 60. Imai S, Matsuda M, Hasegawa G, Fukui M, Obayashi H, Ozasa N, et al. A simple meal plan of 'eating vegetables before carbohydrate' was more effective for achieving glycemic control than an exchange-based meal plan in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. (2011) 20:161–8.
- Steinert RE, Raederstorff D, Wolever TM. Effect of consuming oat bran mixed in water before a meal on glycemic responses in healthy humans-a pilot study. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:E524. doi: 10.3390/nu80 90524
- Chaikomin R, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Horowitz M. Upper gastrointestinal function and glycemic control in diabetes mellitus. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2006) 12:5611–21. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i35.5611
- Horowitz M, Edelbroek MA, Wishart JM, Straathof JW. Relationship between oral glucose tolerance and gastric emptying in normal healthy subjects. *Diabetologia*. (1993) 36:857–62. doi: 10.1007/BF0040 0362
- 64. Tricò D, Mengozzi A, Frascerra S, Scozzaro MT, Mari A, Natali A. Intestinal glucose absorption is a key determinant of 1-hour post-load plasma glucose levels in non-diabetic subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2018). doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-02166. [Epub ahead of print].
- Jones KL, Horowitz M, Carney BI, Wishart JM, Guha S, Green L. Gastric emptying in early noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Nucl Med. (1996) 37:1643–8.
- Lin HC, Zhao XT, Wang L. Fat absorption is not complete by midgut but is dependent on load of fat. Am J Physiol. (1996) 271(1 Pt. 1):G62-7. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1996.271.1.G62
- Collier G, O'Dea K. The effect of coingestion of fat on the glucose, insulin, and gastric inhibitory polypeptide responses to carbohydrate and protein. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1983) 37:941–4. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/37.6.941
- Houghton LA, Mangnall YF, Read NW. Effect of incorporating fat into a liquid test meal on the relation between intragastric distribution and gastric emptying in human volunteers. *Gut.* (1990) 31:1226–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.31.11.1226
- Chaikomin R, Russo A, Rayner CK, Feinle-Bisset C, O'Donovan DG, Horowitz M, et al. Effects of lipase inhibition on gastric emptying and alcohol absorption in healthy subjects. *Br J Nutr.* (2006) 96:883–7. doi: 10.1017/BJN20061922
- O'Donovan D, Horowitz M, Russo A, Feinle-Bisset C, Murolo N, Gentilcore D, et al. Effects of lipase inhibition on gastric emptying of, and on the glycaemic, insulin and cardiovascular responses to, a highfat/carbohydrate meal in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2004) 47:2208–14. doi: 10.1007/s00125-004-1591-4
- Bjørnshave A, Holst JJ, Hermansen K. Pre-meal effect of whey proteins on metabolic parameters in subjects with and without type 2 diabetes: a randomized, crossover trial. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:E122. doi: 10.3390/nu10020122
- 72. Tricò D, Frascerra S, Baldi S, Mengozzi A, Nesti L, Mari A, et al. The insulinotropic effect of a high-protein nutrient preload is mediated by the

increase of plasma amino acids in type 2 diabetes. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018). doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1778-y. [Epub ahead of print].

- Floyd JC, Fajans SS, Conn JW, Knopf RF, Rull J. Stimulation of insulin secretion by amino acids. J Clin Invest. (1966) 45:1487–502. doi: 10.1172/JCI105456
- van Loon LJ, Saris WH, Verhagen H, Wagenmakers AJ. Plasma insulin responses after ingestion of different amino acid or protein mixtures with carbohydrate. Am J Clin Nutr. (2000) 72:96–105. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/72.1.96
- Floyd JC, Fajans SS, Pek S, Thiffault CA, Knopf RF, Conn JW. Synergistic effect of certain amino acid pairs upon insulin secretion in man. Diabetes, 1970. 19:102-8. doi: 10.2337/diab.19.2.102
- Newsholme P, Cruzat V, Arfuso F, Keane K. Nutrient regulation of insulin secretion and action. J Endocrinol. (2014) 221:R105–20. doi: 10.1530/JOE-13-0616
- Nolan CJ, Madiraju MS, Delghingaro-Augusto V, Peyot ML, Prentki M. Fatty acid signaling in the beta-cell and insulin secretion. *Diabetes*. (2006) 55(Suppl. 2):S16–23. doi: 10.2337/db06-S003
- Crespin SR, Greenough WB, Steinberg D. Stimulation of insulin secretion by long-chain free fatty acids. A direct pancreatic effect. *J Clin Invest.* (1973) 52:1979–84. doi: 10.1172/JCI107382
- Rebelos E, Seghieri M, Natali A, Balkau B, Golay A, Piatti PM, et al. Influence of endogenous NEFA on beta cell function in humans. *Diabetologia*. (2015) 58:2344–51. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3685-6
- Natali A, Baldi S, Bonnet F, Petrie J, Trifirò S, Tricò D, et al. Plasma HDLcholesterol and triglycerides, but not LDL-cholesterol, are associated with insulin secretion in non-diabetic subjects. *Metabolism.* (2017) 69:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.01.001
- Tricò D, Natali A, Mari A, Ferrannini E, Santoro N, Caprio S. Triglyceriderich very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) are independently associated with insulin secretion in a multiethnic cohort of adolescents. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2018) 20:2905–10. doi: 10.1111/dom.13467
- Seghieri M, Tricò D, Natali A. The impact of triglycerides on glucose tolerance: Lipotoxicity revisited. *Diabetes Metab.* (2017) 43:314–22. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2017.04.010
- 83. Alsalim W, Tura A, Pacini G, Omar B, Bizzotto R, Mari A, et al. Mixed meal ingestion diminishes glucose excursion in comparison with glucose ingestion via several adaptive mechanisms in people with and without type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* (2016) 18:24–33. doi: 10.1111/dom.12570
- Lan-Pidhainy X, Wolever TM. The hypoglycemic effect of fat and protein is not attenuated by insulin resistance. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 91:98–105. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.28125
- 85. Muscelli E, Frascerra S, Casolaro A, Baldi S, Mari A, Gall W, et al. The amino acid response to a mixed meal in patients with type 2 diabetes: effect of sitagliptin treatment. Diabetes Obes Metab, 2014. 16:1140-7. doi: 10.1111/dom.12350
- Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev.* (2007) 87:1409–39. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2006
- Seino Y, Fukushima M, Yabe D. GIP and GLP-1, the two incretin hormones: Similarities and differences. J Diabetes Invest. (2010) 1:8–23. doi: 10.1111/j.2040-1124.2010.00022.x
- Karamanlis A, Chaikomin R, Doran S, Bellon M, Bartholomeusz FD, Wishart JM, et al. Effects of protein on glycemic and incretin responses and gastric emptying after oral glucose in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 86:1364–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/86.5.1364
- Pupovac J, Anderson GH. Dietary peptides induce satiety via cholecystokinin-A and peripheral opioid receptors in rats. J Nutr. (2002) 132:2775–80. doi: 10.1093/jn/132.9.2775
- Shuster LT, Go VL, Rizza RA, O'Brien PC, Service FJ. Incretin effect due to increased secretion and decreased clearance of insulin in normal humans. *Diabetes*. (1988) 37:200–3. doi: 10.2337/diab.37.2.200
- Rudovich NN, Rochlitz HJ, Pfeiffer AF. Reduced hepatic insulin extraction in response to gastric inhibitory polypeptide compensates for reduced insulin secretion in normal-weight and normal glucose tolerant firstdegree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes*. (2004) 53:2359–65. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.9.2359
- Campbell JE, Drucker DJ. Pharmacology, physiology, and mechanisms of incretin hormone action. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 17:819–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.04.008

- Liddle RA. Regulation of cholecystokinin secretion in humans. J Gastroenterol. (2000) 35:181–7. doi: 10.1007/s005350050328
- Vincent RP, le Roux CW. The satiety hormone peptide YY as a regulator of appetite. J Clin Pathol. (2008) 61:548–52. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2007.048488
- Yamagishi T, Debas HT. Cholecystokinin inhibits gastric emptying by acting on both proximal stomach and pylorus. *Am J Physiol.* (1978) 234:E375–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1978.234.4.E375
- Rayner CK, Park HS, Doran SM, Chapman IM, Horowitz M. Effects of cholecystokinin on appetite and pyloric motility during physiological hyperglycemia. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2000) 278:G98– G104. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.2000.278.1.G98
- 97. Borovicka J, Kreiss C, Asal K, Remy B, Mettraux C, Wells A, et al. Role of cholecystokinin as a regulator of solid and liquid gastric emptying in humans. *Am J Physiol.* (1996) 271(3 Pt. 1):G448–53. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1996.271.3.G448
- Allen JM, Fitzpatrick ML, Yeats JC, Darcy K, Adrian TE, Bloom SR. Effects of peptide YY and neuropeptide Y on gastric emptying in man. *Digestion*. (1984) 30:255–62. doi: 10.1159/000199117
- Lo CM, Obici S, Dong HH, Haas M, Lou D, Kim DH, et al. Impaired insulin secretion and enhanced insulin sensitivity in cholecystokinin-deficient mice. *Diabetes*. (2011) 60:2000–7. doi: 10.2337/db10-0789

- Rehfeld JF. Cholecystokinin-from local gut hormone to ubiquitous messenge. Front Endocrinol. (2017) 8:47. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017. 00047
- Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature*. (2002) 418:650–4. doi: 10.1038/nature00887
- 102. Teff KL. How neural mediation of anticipatory and compensatory insulin release helps us tolerate food. *Physiol Behav.* (2011) 103:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.01.012

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Nesti, Mengozzi and Tricò. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pancreatic Stellate Cells: A Rising Translational Physiology Star as a Potential Stem Cell Type for Beta Cell Neogenesis

Yunting Zhou¹, Bo Sun², Wei Li¹, Junming Zhou³, Feng Gao⁴, Xiaohang Wang¹, Min Cai¹ and Zilin Sun^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Zhongda Hospital, Institute of Diabetes, School of Medicine, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ² State Key Laboratory of Bioelectronics, School of Biological Science and Medical Engineering, Southeast University, Nanjing, China, ³ Department of Outpatient, Army Engineering University, Jingling Hospital, Nanjing University, Nanjing, China, ⁴ Graduate Innovation Platform of Southeast University, Nanjing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mert Erkan, Technical University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Yoshiaki Sunami, Universitätsklinikum Halle, Germany Evangeli S. Lampri, University of Ioannina, Greece

> *Correspondence: Zilin Sun sunzilin1963@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 11 October 2018 Accepted: 20 February 2019 Published: 12 March 2019

Citation:

Zhou Y, Sun B, Li W, Zhou J, Gao F, Wang X, Cai M and Sun Z (2019) Pancreatic Stellate Cells: A Rising Translational Physiology Star as a Potential Stem Cell Type for Beta Cell Neogenesis. Front. Physiol. 10:218. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00218 The progressive decline and eventual loss of islet β -cell function underlies the pathophysiological mechanism of the development of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. The recovery of functional β -cells is an important strategy for the prevention and treatment of diabetes. Based on similarities in developmental biology and anatomy, *in vivo* induction of differentiation of other types of pancreatic cells into β -cells is a promising avenue for future diabetes treatment. Pancreatic stellate cells (PSCs), which have attracted intense research interest due to their effects on tissue fibrosis over the last decade, express multiple stem cell markers and can differentiate into various cell types. In particular, PSCs can successfully differentiate into insulin- secreting cells *in vitro* and can contribute to tissue regeneration. In this article, we will brings together the main concepts of the translational physiology potential of PSCs that have emerged from work in the field and discuss possible ways to develop the future renewable source for clinical treatment of pancreatic diseases.

Keywords: pancreatic stellate cell, quiescent, activation, stem/progenitor cell, physiological functions, β -cells neogenesis

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is one type of the most common chronic diseases over world, with an immense impact on public health. The number of individuals affected with this metabolic disorder is almost increased to 592 million by 2035 (Ogurtsova et al., 2017). Diabetes mellitus is caused by substantial deficits in functional β -cells in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Supplementation of deficient β -cells through stem cells transplantation provides ideal therapeutic effect, but this option is limited by donor sources and graft survival (Wang et al., 2015). Therefore, stem cell derived from adult pancreas that can be prompted to differentiate into insulin-secreting cells, would provide a self-healing source for β -cells neogenesis.

Adult tissue-specific stem cells are categorized as a cell type which has abilities to self-renewal and can differentiate into specialized functional cells. Based on their developmental potential, pancreatic stem cells, owing to their close relationship in term of developmental biology and

60

anatomy advantages compared with stem cells derived from other tissue sources, have attracted a great deal of research over the last decade (Bouwens et al., 2013; Gargett et al., 2016). However, the exact cell type(s) that function as pancreatic stem cells remain unclear.

Pancreatic stellate cells (PSCs) are a multifunctional cell type found in endocrine and exocrine pancreatic tissue and comprising about 7% of parenchymal cells in the pancreas (Apte et al., 2012). PSCs can be activated into myofibroblastlike phenotype along with expression of the activation marker protein α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) and a reduction in the number of retinoid-containing fat droplets, and they play a key pathological role in islet fibrosis, which contributes to the progression of β -cell dysfunction (Phillips, 2012). Recently, PSCs were proposed as a potential stem cell type for β -cell neogenesis (Jiang and Morahan, 2014). PSCs express multiple stem cell markers, are multipotent and can successfully differentiated into insulin-producing cells (Mato et al., 2009; Kordes et al., 2012; Zha et al., 2016; Pang et al., 2017). Thus, to summarize the physiological role of PSCs would not only to bring an improved understanding of the biological function of PSCs in pancreas homeostasis, but would likely yield new therapeutic strategies for β-cell regeneration.

NAMING AND CLASSIFICATION OF PSCs

Pancreatic stellate cells were first identified in the mouse pancreatic duct in 1982 as a cell type enriched in lipid droplets and appearing vitamin A (VA) -specific blue fluorescence (Watari et al., 1982). In 1990, These cells were identified in healthy sections from human and rat pancreas and named pancreatic stellate cells (Ikejiri, 1990). Later in 1998, two groundbreaking advancements were reported by Apte et al. (1998) and Bachem et al. (1998) groups; they developed a method to isolate, culture, and determine the characteristic expression of PSCs, which was a useful *in vitro* tool to study the biological characteristics of PSCs in their physiological state.

The existence of PSCs in islets was debated until 2016, when our group (Zha et al., 2014; Zha et al., 2016) isolated, identified, and named the fibrogenic cells obtained from mouse, rat, and human islets using collagenase digestion, islet stellate cells (ISCs). Furthermore, we compared the biological characteristics of ISCs with typical PSCs and found that ISCs had fewer lipid droplets than PSCs, appeared to be more easily activated by stimulators, and demonstrated reduced proliferation and migration abilities compared with PSCs (Wang et al., 2018). Using single-cell transcriptome technology, recent studies further confirmed that stellate cells are present in islets (Li J. et al., 2016; Lawlor et al., 2017). These results show that ISCs should be a sub-type of PSCs and appeared to be capable of exert direct effects on islet.

Pancreatic stellate cells can be divided into two biological phenotypes. In physiological conditions, PSCs are rich in intracellular lipid droplets and positive for glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and desmin expression. These are termed quiescent PSCs. When they are activated from the resting state to myofibroblast-like cells with a concurrent disappearance of lipid droplets, they are called activated PSCs. Activated PSCs specifically express α -SMA and secreted of collagen I, collagen III, fibronectin, and other ECM components to promote the formation of pancreatic fibrosis. The presence of lipid droplets, simultaneous expression with GFAP, nestin, desmin, and vimentin is used to define the quiescent phenotype of PSCs (Nielsen et al., 2017). The detailed mechanisms about the PSCs activation and disappearance of lipid droplets have not yet well understood. In addition to a large number of cytokines, other known activators include alcohol and its metabolites, endotoxin, oxidative stress, hyperglycemia, and some factors pertinent to pancreatic injury (Bynigeri et al., 2017). The physiological and pathophysiological functions of different phenotypes PSCs were shown in **Figure 1**.

PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF PSCs

Much attention has been paid to exploring the behavior of activated PSCs as a negative regulator cell type for pancreatic diseases through the production of multiple inflammatory cytokines, enhanced self-proliferation, and fibrogenesis (Bynigeri et al., 2017). However, quiescent PSCs, which proliferate rarely and express few cell-specific markers, appear stagnant. Currently very little knowledge is shown about their biological significance for tissue homeostasis.

Current opinion holds that quiescent PSCs function as intermediary cells that contribute to the parenchymal function and cell structure through maintenance of the normal basement membrane (Means, 2013). These cells often show supportive effects such as supplying blood flow and providing scaffolding for epithelial integrity (Riopel et al., 2013; Sekiguchi and Yamada, 2018). Pancreas is completely different from other organs such as the intestines, which are responsible for barrier functions and nutrient absorption. Pancreas is short of stromal layer whose vasculature travels spreads along between major ducts and acini where PSCs are located. In addition, PSCs can regulate ECM turnover by regulating synthesis via matrix degrading enzymes (Riopel et al., 2013). Quiescent PSCs also partially maintain ECM components through secretion of metalloproteinases (MMP), such as MMP-2, MMP-9, and MMP-13, as well as their inhibitors (Phillips et al., 2003). These results strongly support that the effect of PSCs in the production of the acinar basement membrane but leave the question of how much effect of quiescent PSCs has in basement membrane maintenance under homeostatic conditions.

The description above is unlikely to capture the all aspect of physiological functions of quiescent PSCs. As rat PSCs were shown to express toll-like receptors (TLR), one might suppose that stellate cells play a role in innate immunity by phagocytosis of exo- and endogenous antigens (Masamune et al., 2008). Shimizu et al. (2005) found that PSCs act as resident phagocytic cells, and that CD36 promotes peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ transactivation. Hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), which have many biological features in common with PSCs, expressed the MHC class II proteins required for interaction with T cells (Yin et al., 2013; Weiskirchen and Tacke, 2014). Chen et al. (2006) reported



co-transplanted HSCs effectively protected isletallografts from rejection and formed as a multi-layered capsule that reduced allogeneic immunocyte infiltration by enhancing apoptosis in the islet transplantation model. These findings suggest that PSCs and phagocytic immune cells have several functions in common.

Quiescent PSCs are rich in droplets containing retinoid, predominantly as retinyl palmitate cytosolic droplets. Similarly, HSCs are responsible for up to 80% of the retinoid storage in the adult normal liver, and they can respond to VA metabolic needs in target tissue (Blaner et al., 1985; Hendriks et al., 1985). The exact function of retinol in PSCs has not been fully explored. Evidence has shown that VA and its derivatives play an important role in tissue homeostasis and the pathophysiology of pancreatic diseases, influencing cellular immunity and differentiation as well as cell apoptosis (Ross, 2012; O'Byrne and Blaner, 2013; Tejon et al., 2015). During the early days of development of the fetal pancreas, VA deficiency reduced the B-cell mass, which is attributed to a decrease in β -cell neogenesis, leading to impaired glucose tolerance in late adulthood (Matthews et al., 2004; Duester, 2008; Rhinn and Dolle, 2012). In the adult pancreas, retinoic acid (RA) is required for maintaining normal islet structure, endocrine cell mass, and endocrine function in nondiabetic mice (Kane et al., 2010; Raghow, 2012; Iqbal and Naseem, 2015). Dietary VA deprivation resulted in α -cell programmed cell death and islet remodeling, preventing the growth and proper functioning of pancreatic islets (Trasino et al., 2015). Retinoid can promote maintenance of the quiescent phenotype of PSC by inhibiting the activation of α -SMA and decreasing the expression of collagen synthesis (McCarroll et al., 2006; Chronopoulos et al., 2016; Sarper et al., 2016). All-trans RA (ATRA) has been proposed to restore and maintain the quiescent state of PSCs, suppressing their capacity to assist pancreatic exocrine and endocrine cells (Sarper et al., 2016).

The current evidence about the relationship between PSCs and islets has shown that PSCs not only promote islet fibrosis, but also contribute to endocrine functions in pancreatic diseases such as glucose intolerance, as well as in islet survival (Zha et al., 2014;

Zang et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2017). Zang et al. (2015) found activated PSCs affected islet insulin release in short period researches in co-culture system, as measured by the secretion percentage of the cell insulin content, and increased islet cell death during prolonged culture periods. Mechanistic analyses have suggested that the production of local cytokines from macrophages in islet is the cause of this (Donath et al., 2009; Xue et al., 2015; Zang et al., 2015). We believed that the type of PSCs associated with islet dysfunction may be classified as ISCs, because activated ISCs were conducive to islet fibrosis and pancreatitis (Li F.F. et al., 2016). Therefore, more studies are needed to further evaluate the distribution of PSCs in the normal endocrine and exocrine tissues and in transplanted islets. The multipotential differentiation abilities of PSCs were shown in **Figure 2**.

PSCs AND PANCREATIC STEM CELLS

Numerous studies have identified that there are undifferentiated adult stem cells in very small numbers in the pancreas that can self-renew and differentiated into some or all of specialized cell types (Scharfmann, 2003; Pagliuca et al., 2014). Adult stem cells have been found in the intestinal epithelium, liver, skin, and hematopoietic tissue. However, the identity of pancreatic stem cells is largely unknown (Jiang and Morahan, 2014). There are various types of pancreatic interstitial cells that have been identified as potential adult pancreatic stem cells, such as nestin-positive cells (Feng and Wang, 2007), "side population" (SP) cells (Augstein et al., 2018) and so on. More recent studies have characterized a population of PSCs as likely to share a biological phenotype with these pancreatic stem cells.

Co-localization

One reason why the identity of pancreatic stem cells cannot currently be determined with certainty is that the location



of pancreatic stem cells is debated. Some researchers hold the view that pancreatic stem cells may be a subset of the mesenchymal cells that are activated during the re-emergence of embryonic islets during maintenance and repair of the pancreas. These cells are located in the pancreas interstitial or surrounding islets.

One potential stem cell type-nestin positive cells, derived from human fetal pancreas, could formed three-dimensional insulinproducing cell clusters in vitro and reversed hyperglycemia in animal models (Huang and Tang, 2003; Zhang et al., 2005). Eberhardt et al. (2006) have also isolated nestin positive stem cells from human islets. In accordance with a mesenchymal phenotype, the cells also able to adopt pancreatic endocrine, adipocytic, or osteocytic phenotype in vitro and a hepatic phenotype in vivo. Recent singlecell genetic analysis showed that isolated nestin positive cells have multi-mesodermal potential and would therefore conform to the definition of teno-lineage stem cells (Yang et al., 2014; Yin et al., 2016; Bai et al., 2018). Furthermore, 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine labeling and immunohistochemical staining revealed that nestin positive cells first appeared in the area surrounding the interlobular region and then were diffusely distributed and filled the pancreatic lobules, after which they migrated toward the pancreatic lobules using the interlobar vessels as channels and penetrated through the vascular endothelium into the pancreatic acinar tissues. A portion of the stem cells eventually penetrated into islet tissue (Gong et al., 2014). The other known potential stem cell type-SP cells-has been identified in non-hematopoietic tissues including the human pancreas (Lechner et al., 2002). Freshly SP cells did not contain insulin protein or RNA, but expressed the homeobox transcription factor Pdx1 required for development of β -cell. SP cells also could be differentiated

into insulin-expressing cells that could response to glucose (Challen and Little, 2006). In the adult pancreas, SP cells expand in response to β -cell injury and are a source of β -cell progenitors with potential for the treatment of diabetes (Banakh et al., 2012; Augstein et al., 2018). Recent evidence has shown that SP cells can be detected as a low fluorescence by flow cytometry. The fluorescence of SP cells was quite similar to PSCs, which elicit a transient blue-green fluorescence typical of VA under UV light exposure. Meanwhile on the flow two-dimensional analysis of the dot matrix, SP cells are distributed in a comet-like form on the side of the main group of parenchymal cells, whose location is very similar to that of PSCs.

Pancreatic stellate cells are located near the basolateral side of pancreatic acinar cells, around small pancreatic ducts and blood vessels (Apte et al., 2012). A single stellate cell usually has multiple processes which extend across the space of disse to make contact with parenchymal cells. This intimate contact between PSCs and their neighboring cell may promote the intercellular transport of soluble mediators and cytokines. In islets, ISCs endings are directly adjacent to endocrine cell, which is consistent with functional studies confirming the hormone responsiveness of stellate cells (Li F.F. et al., 2016; Zha et al., 2016). Therefore, SP cells, nestin-positive cells, and PSCs may have the same location. Considering the characteristics including nestin expression and auto-fluorescence in SP cells and nestin-positive cells, PSCs may represent a similar cell type in the adult pancreas that functions as stem/progenitor cells.

Co-origin

Pancreatic development is a series of bifurcating lineage processes: ectoderm vs. mesoderm and endoderm, exocrine

vs. endocrine and hormone-positive cell types vs. nonhormone-positive cell types. Throughout the pancreatic development, pancreatic epithelium is sheathed in layers of mesenchyme (Jennings et al., 2015). There are a variety of cell types in this mesenchyme, including smooth muscle, stroma, and endothelial cells (Cleaver and Dor, 2012). In terms of potential pancreatic stem cells, nestinpositive cells as well as SP cells appear to be likely possibilities given their shared mesenchymal phenotype, combined expression of several dry effectors, and close proximity *in situ*.

Since PSCs were first identified, their embryologic origin has been elusive. Thus far, no direct evidence has been obtained to identify the origin of PSCs. The results of transcriptomics and proteomics analyses showed that PSCs and HSCs have significant similarities (Paulo et al., 2013). A recent study provided striking evidence to support mesodermal origin of HSCs using a lineage analysis approach (Asahina et al., 2009; Asahina et al., 2011; Simsek et al., 2016). As most of the characteristic features and functions of PSCs are similar to those of HSCs, this suggests that both might have evolved from a mesodermal origin. However, a recent study showed PSCs was in a very small possession of VA and a low expression of lecithin retinol acyltransferase compared to those of HSCs. The microstructure of PSCs was entirely different from that of HSCs as observed by electron microscopy (Yamamoto et al., 2017). There is still no firm experimental evidence for the origin of PSCs. Nevertheless, at least a subpopulation of PSCs in the normal pancreas has been shown to have a mesodermal origin. These seemingly contradictory studies favor progenitor cells as important players in pancreatic regeneration based on stem cell.

During development, endocrine and exocrine lineages arise from the embryonic endodermal epithelium. However, the property of lineage switching in pancreatic stem cells was observed both in altered culture conditions in vitro and spontaneous processes in vivo (Cheng et al., 2010, 2015). We believe PSCs, which may derive from a common precursor cell with pancreatic stem cells, may share this property of lineage switching.

Co-stem Cell Markers

Stem cell transcription factors are key factors that govern cell differentiation and maturation. Adult β -cell neogenesis is a dynamic process controlled by extrinsic signals from intrinsic transcription factors and non-insulin-producing cells. At present, pancreatic stem cell markers are not yet fully established. However, there is some consensus concerning a "universal" marker for the identification of pancreatic stem cells. Substantial evidence has shown that PSCs express multiple markers in common with pancreatic stem cells, including nestin, CK-19, and ATP-binding cassette superfamily G member 2 (ABCG2), which were the most commonly mentioned (Lardon et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2007; Mato et al., 2009).

Nestin, a type VI intermediate filament protein and essential transcriptional factor for the generation of endocrine cells, was originally detected in neural stem cells during development (Bernal and Arranz, 2018). Interestingly, nestin is also expressed in a variety of adult stem/progenitor cell populations (Calderone, 2012), meets criteria for adult stem cells, including proliferation, migration, and multipotency (Park et al., 2010), and shares many phenotypic markers with mesenchymal stem cells derived from the bone marrow (Bernal and Arranz, 2018). Nestin expression in the pancreas has been detected in stellate cells, pericytes, and endothelial cells (Lardon et al., 2002; Kawamoto et al., 2009). There is no consensus on the location of nestin-positive cells in different parts of the pancreas. It is generally believed that nestin is mainly expressed in islet, while CK-19 is expressed in the ductal epithelium. During embryonic development, nestin appears earlier than CK-19. Therefore, nestin-positive cells can be identified as primitive progenitor cells earlier than CK-19positive cells.

CK-19, a family of keratins, is generally considered to be epithelial cell-specific markers. The expression of CK-19 first appears during the early embryonic stages and continues through the late embryonic and postpartum stages. After 12 weeks of embryonic development, CK-19 positive cells are concentrated in the ducts of the exocrine glands and in the undifferentiated ductal epithelium (Lane et al., 1983). It has been suggested that during pancreatic development, high levels of CK-19 expression are first present in ductlike cells, and these CK-19-positive cells are subsequently transformed into cells with endocrine and exocrine functions. Studies have shown that CK-19 is not expressed in B-cells, but more than 90% of pancreatic ductal epithelial cells express CK-19, and only 1-2% of cells can express CK-19 and nestin simultaneously. Recent studies have shown that a subset of CK-19-positive pancreatic stem cells can

Signaling pathways	Functio	Functions		
	PSCs	Stem cells		
МАРК	α-SMA expression, proliferation, migration, collagen synthesis	Proliferation, self-renew, differentiation		
PI3K	Proliferation, migration, collagen synthesis	Proliferation, self-renew, differentiation		
PKC	Collagen synthesis	Migration, self-renew		
JAK/STAT	Proliferation	Proliferation, differentiation		
Smads	Collagen synthesis	Migration, differentiation		
Hhh	Migration	Differentiation		
Shh	Migration	Differentiation		
Wnt/β-catenin	Proliferation, collagen synthesis	Proliferation, self-renew, differentiation		
TGF-β	Proliferation, collagen synthesis	Proliferation, self-renew, differentiation, ECM perturbation		

differentiate into islet-like cells with insulin production and acinar epithelial cells with exocrine function (Gao et al., 2003; Yan et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). Therefore, a small number of CK-19 positive cells in pancreatic tissue have the potential to differentiate into pancreatic endocrine and exocrine cells, which is consistent with the basic characteristics of pancreatic stem cells.

ABCG2, one of the human ABC transporters, is an important molecule in both innate and acquired multidrug resistance, in regulation of drug bioavailability, in prognostic prediction of solid malignancies, and in protecting cancer stem cells (Mo and Zhang, 2012). Present studies found that ABCG2 is expressed in the stem cells of various tissues such as bone marrow, skeletal muscle, and nerve, but not in mature cells (Fatima et al., 2012; Padmanabhan et al., 2012). These results suggested that ABCG2 may be a stem cell marker. Recently, the presence of ABCG2 has also been found in islets and acini. Others have found ABCG2/BCRPIexpressing cells among nestin-positive islet-derived progenitor cells of embryonic pancreatic tissue, which can differentiate into islet-like cell clusters (Fetsch et al., 2006). Mato et al. (2009) found that mitoxantrone-resistant cells expressing the ABCG2 transporter obtained from rat pancreata have a PSCs phenotype and are capable of secreting insulin after cell differentiation. These data indicate that ABCG2 can be used as a marker for pancreatic stem cells. However, the relationship between ABCG2-positive cells and cells positive for other pancreatic stem cell markers, such as nestin and CK-19 is not yet well understood, and further study is needed to determine whether ABCG2 is a marker for more primitive stem cells.

Co-signaling Pathways

Signaling pathways which have major impact on stem cell differentiation is essential to help to integrate the signal inputs in order to initiate into specific lineage (Lin and Hankenson, 2011). During the past decade, Studies have several shared signaling pathways in PSCs and pancreatic stem cells. A variety of developmentally conserved signaling pathways are currently known as important control devices of stem cell fate (Blank et al., 2008). TGFβ, Wnt, Hhh, MAPK, and other pathways are significant during embryonic developmental stage for stem cell maintenance and equal proportionate growth rate among all lineages such as body patterning, cell fate determination, organogenesis, and so on (Guo and Wang, 2009). For example, TGF^β/Smad signaling pathway effect embryonic stem cells (ESCs) differentiation in the very early lineage decisions, which provides the origin of mesodermal and endodermal cells, represents the first step of ESCs differentiation (Sakaki-Yumoto et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2018).

For PSCs, the majority of intracellular signaling pathways that regulate physiological and pathological PSCs functions have also been detected. In addition to the common proliferation and migration signaling pathways, such as MAPK family, including ERK, JNK and p38 (Masamune et al., 2003; Uchida

et al., 2013), the complex signaling networks involved in organogenesis, differentiation and maturation including Hhh, Shh, TGFβ, Smad and Wnt/β-catenin pathways was also determined in PSC (Lee et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2015). These signaling pathways also play a crucial role in various physiological functions and of PSCs. MAPK families are the initial pathways that precede proliferation and migration abilities of PSCs (Masamune et al., 2003). The TGFβ-Smad2/3 pathways were involved in preserving the activated phenotype and collagen synthesis (Lee et al., 2008). Other signaling pathways, such as Wnt/β-catenin, Hhh, and Shh pathways, were shown to influence mobility and differentiation of PSCs (Bynigeri et al., 2017).

To summarize these above experimental evidence, several signaling pathways were co-detected in both PSCs and pancreatic stem cells (**Table 1**). Thus, while these co-signaling pathways function in PSCs have not yet been established, the available data suggested these signaling pathways may the basis for PSCs to play stem cell function.

Co-multipotential Differentiation Abilities

Multipotential differentiation ability is an important measure to assess whether adult stem cells are able to generate an identical line of target cells with biological plasticity. Davani et al. (2007) used human islet-derived precursor cells to examine the multipotent differentiation characteristics. Under various differentiation conditions, these cells were separately induced into adipocytes, osteocytes, and chondrocytes.

For the multipotential differentiation abilities of PSCs, our previous study found that both PSCs and its subset of ISCs were able to differentiate in vitro into adipocyteand osteoblast-like cells with Oil Red O or Alizarin Red S staining (Zha et al., 2016). Kordes et al. (2012) found that PSC-derived hepatocyte-like cells appeared typical hepatocyte functions including synthesize albumin along with stem/progenitor cell factors-vimentin. Transplanted PSCs isolated from enhanced green fluorescent proteinexpressing rats reached the host liver and repopulated large areas of the injured organ through differentiation into hepatocytes and cholangiocytes along with long-lasting survival ability. These findings demonstrate that PSCs fulfill the essential characteristics of stem cells and can promote the regeneration of damaged organs through differentiation across tissue boundaries.

CONCLUSION

In recent years, most research interest in PSCs has focused on their central role in pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. It has become clear, however, that the function of PSCs is no longer limited with the regulation of pathologic fibrosis in the pancreas. Its important roles in health as immune and/or progenitor cells and as intermediary cells may be more significant. Given the accumulating evidence regarding the differentiation potential of PSCs, further work is necessary to fully elucidate the delicate balance between PSCs and β -cells, to determine when and how signals are exchanged between them, and to clarify the effects of these signals. An improved understanding of the supportive physiological role of PSCs would not only improve our understanding of their biological function in pancreas homeostasis, but would likely yield new therapeutic strategies for β -cell regeneration.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

REFERENCES

- Apte, M. V., Haber, P. S., Applegate, T. L., Norton, I. D., Mccaughan, G. W., Korsten, M. A., et al. (1998). Periacinar stellate shaped cells in rat pancreas: identification, isolation, and culture. *Gut* 43, 128–133. doi: 10.1136/gut.43. 1.128
- Apte, M. V., Pirola, R. C., and Wilson, J. S. (2012). Pancreatic stellate cells: a starring role in normal and diseased pancreas. *Front. Physiol.* 3:344. doi: 10.3389/fphys. 2012.00344
- Asahina, K., Tsai, S. Y., Li, P., Ishii, M., Maxson, R. E. Jr., Sucov, H.M., et al. (2009). Mesenchymal origin of hepatic stellate cells, submesothelial cells, and perivascular mesenchymal cells during mouse liver development. *Hepatology* 49, 998–1011. doi: 10.1002/hep.22721
- Asahina, K., Zhou, B., Pu, W. T., and Tsukamoto, H. (2011). Septum transversumderived mesothelium gives rise to hepatic stellate cells and perivascular mesenchymal cells in developing mouse liver. *Hepatology* 53, 983–995. doi: 10.1002/hep.24119
- Augstein, P., Loudovaris, T., Bandala-Sanchez, E., Heinke, P., Naselli, G., Lee, L., et al. (2018). Characterization of the human pancreas side population as a potential reservoir of adult stem cells. *Pancreas* 47, 25–34. doi: 10.1097/MPA. 000000000000950
- Bachem, M. G., Schneider, E., Gross, H., Weidenbach, H., Schmid, R. M., Menke, A., et al. (1998). Identification, culture, and characterization of pancreatic stellate cells in rats and humans. *Gastroenterology* 115, 421–432. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70209-4
- Bai, C., Gao, Y., Zhang, X., Yang, W., and Guan, W. (2018). Melatonin promotes self-renewal of nestin-positive pancreatic stem cells through activation of the MT2/ERK/SMAD/nestin axis. Artif. Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 46, 62–74. doi: 10.1080/21691401.2017.1389747
- Banakh, I., Gonez, L. J., Sutherland, R. M., Naselli, G., and Harrison, L. C. (2012). Adult pancreas side population cells expand after beta cell injury and are a source of insulin-secreting cells. *PLoS One* 7:e48977. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0048977
- Bernal, A., and Arranz, L. (2018). Nestin-expressing progenitor cells: function, identity and therapeutic implications. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 75, 2177–2195. doi: 10.1007/s00018-018-2794-z
- Blaner, W. S., Hendriks, H. F., Brouwer, A., De Leeuw, A. M., Knook, D. L., and Goodman, D. S. (1985). Retinoids, retinoid-binding proteins, and retinyl palmitate hydrolase distributions in different types of rat liver cells. *J. Lipid Res.* 26, 1241–1251.
- Blank, U., Karlsson, G., and Karlsson, S. (2008). Signaling pathways governing stem-cell fate. *Blood* 111, 492–503. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-075168
- Bouwens, L., Houbracken, I., and Mfopou, J. K. (2013). The use of stem cells for pancreatic regeneration in diabetes mellitus. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 9, 598–606. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.145
- Bynigeri, R. R., Jakkampudi, A., Jangala, R., Subramanyam, C., Sasikala, M., Rao, G. V., et al. (2017). Pancreatic stellate cell: pandora's box for pancreatic disease biology. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 23, 382–405. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i3.382

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YZ conceived and wrote the manuscript. JZ, XW, and MC critically collected and reviewed articles. WL and FG provided the data. BS and ZS conceived and designed the manuscript.

FUNDING

The work was supported by the National Nature Science Foundation of China (NSFC-81870534, 81370874), National Key Scientific Instrument and Equipment Development Project of China (51627808), the Excellence Project of Southeast University, and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities and Postgraduate Research and Practice Innovation Program of Jiangsu Province (No. KYCX17_0175).

- Calderone, A. (2012). Nestin+ cells and healing the infarcted heart. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 302, H1–H9. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00716.2011
- Challen, G. A., and Little, M. H. (2006). A side order of stem cells: the SP phenotype. *Stem Cells* 24, 3–12. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0116
- Chen, C.H., Kuo, L.M., Chang, Y., Wu, W., Goldbach, C., Ross, M.A., et al. (2006). In vivo immune modulatory activity of hepatic stellate cells in mice. *Hepatology* 44, 1171–1181. doi: 10.1002/hep.21379
- Cheng, K., Follenzi, A., Surana, M., Fleischer, N., and Gupta, S. (2010). Switching of mesodermal and endodermal properties in hTERT-modified and expanded fetal human pancreatic progenitor cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 1:6. doi: 10.1186/scrt6
- Cheng, K., Follenzi, A., Surana, M., Fleischer, N., and Gupta, S. (2015). Erratum to: switching of mesodermal and endodermal properties in hTERT-modified and expanded fetal human pancreatic progenitor cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 6:189. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0176-0
- Chronopoulos, A., Robinson, B., Sarper, M., Cortes, E., Auernheimer, V., Lachowski, D., et al. (2016). ATRA mechanically reprograms pancreatic stellate cells to suppress matrix remodelling and inhibit cancer cell invasion. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12630. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12630
- Cleaver, O., and Dor, Y. (2012). Vascular instruction of pancreas development. Development 139, 2833-2843. doi: 10.1242/dev.065953
- Davani, B., Ikonomou, L., Raaka, B. M., Geras-Raaka, E., Morton, R. A., Marcus-Samuels, B., et al. (2007). Human islet-derived precursor cells are mesenchymal stromal cells that differentiate and mature to hormone-expressing cells in vivo. *Stem Cells* 25, 3215–3222. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0323
- Donath, M. Y., Boni-Schnetzler, M., Ellingsgaard, H., and Ehses, J. A. (2009). Islet inflammation impairs the pancreatic beta-cell in type 2 diabetes. *Physiology* 24, 325–331. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00032.2009
- Duester, G. (2008). Retinoic acid synthesis and signaling during early organogenesis. Cell 134, 921–931. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.002
- Eberhardt, M., Salmon, P., Von Mach, M. A., Hengstler, J. G., Brulport, M., Linscheid, P., et al. (2006). Multipotential nestin and Isl-1 positive mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human pancreatic islets. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 345, 1167–1176. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.05.016
- Fatima, S., Zhou, S., and Sorrentino, B. P. (2012). Abcg2 expression marks tissuespecific stem cells in multiple organs in a mouse progeny tracking model. *Stem Cells* 30, 210–221. doi: 10.1002/stem.1002
- Feng, B. S., and Wang, S. (2007). [An important marker of pancreatic stem cell-nestin]. Sheng Li Ke Xue Jin Zhan 38, 81–82.
- Fetsch, P. A., Abati, A., Litman, T., Morisaki, K., Honjo, Y., Mittal, K., et al. (2006). Localization of the ABCG2 mitoxantrone resistance-associated protein in normal tissues. *Cancer Lett.* 235, 84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2005.04.024
- Gao, R., Ustinov, J., Pulkkinen, M. A., Lundin, K., Korsgren, O., and Otonkoski, T. (2003). Characterization of endocrine progenitor cells and critical factors for their differentiation in human adult pancreatic cell culture. *Diabetes* 52, 2007– 2015. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.8.2007
- Gargett, C. E., Schwab, K. E., and Deane, J. A. (2016). Endometrial stem/progenitor cells: the first 10 years. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 22, 137–163. doi: 10.1093/ humupd/dmv051

- Gong, J., Wang, Y., and Cao, Y. (2014). Migration path of stem cells involved in the repair of damaged pancreatic tissue caused by pancreatitis. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* 7, 2438–2445.
- Guo, X., and Wang, X. F. (2009). Signaling cross-talk between TGF-beta/BMP and other pathways. *Cell Res.* 19, 71–88. doi: 10.1038/cr.2008.302
- Hendriks, H. F., Verhoofstad, W. A., Brouwer, A., De Leeuw, A. M., and Knook, D. L. (1985). Perisinusoidal fat-storing cells are the main vitamin A storage sites in rat liver. *Exp. Cell Res.* 160, 138–149. doi: 10.1016/0014-4827(85)90243-5
- Huang, H., and Tang, X. (2003). Phenotypic determination and characterization of nestin-positive precursors derived from human fetal pancreas. *Lab. Invest.* 83, 539–547. doi: 10.1097/01.LAB.0000062890.40534.1C
- Ikejiri, N. (1990). The vitamin A-storing cells in the human and rat pancreas. *Kurume Med. J.* 37, 67–81. doi: 10.2739/kurumemedj.37.67
- Iqbal, S., and Naseem, I. (2015). Role of vitamin A in type 2 diabetes mellitus biology: effects of intervention therapy in a deficient state. *Nutrition* 31, 901– 907. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2014.12.014
- Jennings, R. E., Berry, A. A., Strutt, J. P., Gerrard, D. T., and Hanley, N. A. (2015). Human pancreas development. *Development* 142, 3126–3137. doi: 10.1242/dev. 120063
- Jiang, F.X., and Morahan, G. (2014). Pancreatic stem cells remain unresolved. Stem Cells Dev. 23, 2803–2812. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0214
- Kane, M. A., Folias, A. E., Pingitore, A., Perri, M., Obrochta, K. M., Krois, C. R., et al. (2010). Identification of 9-cis-retinoic acid as a pancreas-specific autacoid that attenuates glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 21884–21889. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008859107
- Kawamoto, M., Ishiwata, T., Cho, K., Uchida, E., Korc, M., Naito, Z., et al. (2009). Nestin expression correlates with nerve and retroperitoneal tissue invasion in pancreatic cancer. *Hum. Pathol.* 40, 189–198. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2008.02.022
- Kordes, C., Sawitza, I., Gotze, S., and Haussinger, D. (2012). Stellate cells from rat pancreas are stem cells and can contribute to liver regeneration. *PLoS One* 7:e51878. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051878
- Lane, E. B., Hogan, B. L., Kurkinen, M., and Garrels, J. I. (1983). Co-expression of vimentin and cytokeratins in parietal endoderm cells of early mouse embryo. *Nature* 303, 701–704. doi: 10.1038/303701a0
- Lardon, J., Rooman, I., and Bouwens, L. (2002). Nestin expression in pancreatic stellate cells and angiogenic endothelial cells. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 117, 535–540. doi: 10.1007/s00418-002-0412-4
- Lawlor, N., George, J., Bolisetty, M., Kursawe, R., Sun, L., Sivakamasundari, V., et al. (2017). Single-cell transcriptomes identify human islet cell signatures and reveal cell-type-specific expression changes in type 2 diabetes. *Genome Res.* 27, 208–222. doi: 10.1101/gr.212720.116
- Lechner, A., Leech, C. A., Abraham, E. J., Nolan, A. L., and Habener, J. F. (2002). Nestin-positive progenitor cells derived from adult human pancreatic islets of langerhans contain side population (SP) cells defined by expression of the ABCG2 (BCRP1) ATP-binding cassette transporter. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 293, 670–674. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00275-9
- Lee, E., Ryu, G. R., Ko, S. H., Ahn, Y. B., and Song, K. H. (2017). A role of pancreatic stellate cells in islet fibrosis and beta-cell dysfunction in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 485, 328–334. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.082
- Lee, H., Lim, C., Lee, J., Kim, N., Bang, S., Lee, H., et al. (2008). TGF-beta signaling preserves RECK expression in activated pancreatic stellate cells. J. Cell Biochem. 104, 1065–1074. doi: 10.1002/jcb.21692
- Li, F. F., Chen, B. J., Li, W., Li, L., Zha, M., Zhou, S., et al. (2016). Islet stellate cells isolated from fibrotic islet of goto-kakizaki rats affect biological behavior of beta-cell. J. Diabetes Res. 2016:6924593. doi: 10.1155/2016/6924593
- Li, J., Klughammer, J., Farlik, M., Penz, T., Spittler, A., Barbieux, C., et al. (2016). Single-cell transcriptomes reveal characteristic features of human pancreatic islet cell types. *EMBO Rep.* 17, 178–187. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540946
- Lin, G. L., and Hankenson, K. D. (2011). Integration of BMP, Wnt, and notch signaling pathways in osteoblast differentiation. J. Cell Biochem. 112, 3491– 3501. doi: 10.1002/jcb.23287
- Masamune, A., Kikuta, K., Satoh, M., Kume, K., and Shimosegawa, T. (2003). Differential roles of signaling pathways for proliferation and migration of rat pancreatic stellate cells. *Tohoku J. Exp. Med.* 199, 69–84. doi: 10.1620/tjem.199.69
- Masamune, A., Kikuta, K., Watanabe, T., Satoh, K., Satoh, A., and Shimosegawa, T. (2008). Pancreatic stellate cells express toll-like

receptors. J. Gastroenterol. 43, 352-362. doi: 10.1007/s00535-008-2162-0

- Mato, E., Lucas, M., Petriz, J., Gomis, R., and Novials, A. (2009). Identification of a pancreatic stellate cell population with properties of progenitor cells: new role for stellate cells in the pancreas. *Biochem. J.* 421, 181–191. doi: 10.1042/ BJ20081466
- Matthews, K. A., Rhoten, W. B., Driscoll, H. K., and Chertow, B. S. (2004). Vitamin A deficiency impairs fetal islet development and causes subsequent glucose intolerance in adult rats. *J. Nutr.* 134, 1958–1963. doi: 10.1093/jn/134. 8.1958
- McCarroll, J. A., Phillips, P. A., Santucci, N., Pirola, R. C., Wilson, J. S., and Apte, M. V. (2006). Vitamin A inhibits pancreatic stellate cell activation: implications for treatment of pancreatic fibrosis. *Gut* 55, 79–89. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005. 064543
- Means, A. L. (2013). Pancreatic stellate cells: small cells with a big role in tissue homeostasis. *Lab. Invest.* 93, 4–7. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2012.161
- Mo, W., and Zhang, J. T. (2012). Human ABCG2: structure, function, and its role in multidrug resistance. *Int. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 3, 1–27.
- Nielsen, M. F. B., Mortensen, M. B., and Detlefsen, S. (2017). Identification of markers for quiescent pancreatic stellate cells in the normal human pancreas. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 148, 359–380. doi: 10.1007/s00418-017-1581-5
- O'Byrne, S. M., and Blaner, W. S. (2013). Retinol and retinyl esters: biochemistry and physiology. *J. Lipid Res.* 54, 1731–1743. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R037648
- Ogurtsova, K., Da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Huang, Y., Linnenkamp, U., Guariguata, L., Cho, N. H., et al. (2017). IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 128, 40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.03.024
- Padmanabhan, R., Chen, K. G., Gillet, J. P., Handley, M., Mallon, B. S., Hamilton, R. S., et al. (2012). Regulation and expression of the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCG2 in human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells* 30, 2175–2187. doi: 10.1002/stem.1195
- Pagliuca, F. W., Millman, J. R., Gurtler, M., Segel, M., Van Dervort, A., Ryu, J. H., et al. (2014). Generation of functional human pancreatic beta cells in vitro. *Cell* 159, 428–439. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.040
- Pang, T. C. Y., Wilson, J. S., and Apte, M. V. (2017). Pancreatic stellate cells: what's new? *Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol.* 33, 366–373. doi: 10.1097/MOG. 000000000000378
- Park, D., Xiang, A. P., Mao, F. F., Zhang, L., Di, C. G., Liu, X. M., et al. (2010). Nestin is required for the proper self-renewal of neural stem cells. *Stem Cells* 28, 2162–2171. doi: 10.1002/stem.541
- Paulo, J. A., Kadiyala, V., Banks, P. A., Conwell, D. L., and Steen, H. (2013). Mass spectrometry-based quantitative proteomic profiling of human pancreatic and hepatic stellate cell lines. *Genom. Proteomics Bioinform.* 11, 105–113. doi: 10.1016/j.gpb.2013.01.009
- Phillips, P. (2012). "Pancreatic stellate cells and fibrosis," in *Pancreatic Cancer and Tumor Microenvironment*, eds. P.J. Grippo and H.G. Munshi. (Trivandrum: Transworld Research Network).
- Phillips, P. A., Mccarroll, J. A., Park, S., Wu, M. J., Pirola, R., Korsten, M., et al. (2003). Rat pancreatic stellate cells secrete matrix metalloproteinases: implications for extracellular matrix turnover. *Gut* 52, 275–282. doi: 10.1136/ gut.52.2.275
- Raghow, R. (2012). Metabolic balancing acts of vitamin A in type-2 diabetes and obesity. World J. Diabetes 3, 174–177. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v3.i10.174
- Rhinn, M., and Dolle, P. (2012). Retinoic acid signalling during development. Development 139, 843–858. doi: 10.1242/dev.065938
- Riopel, M. M., Li, J., Liu, S., Leask, A., and Wang, R. (2013). beta1 integrinextracellular matrix interactions are essential for maintaining exocrine pancreas architecture and function. *Lab. Invest.* 93, 31–40. doi: 10.1038/labinvest. 2012.147
- Ross, A. C. (2012). Vitamin A and retinoic acid in T cell-related immunity. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 96, 1166S–1172S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.034637
- Sakaki-Yumoto, M., Katsuno, Y., and Derynck, R. (2013). TGF-beta family signaling in stem cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1830, 2280–2296. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbagen.2012.08.008
- Sarper, M., Cortes, E., Lieberthal, T. J., and Del Rio Hernandez, A. (2016). ATRA modulates mechanical activation of TGF-beta by pancreatic stellate cells. *Sci. Rep.* 6:27639. doi: 10.1038/srep27639

Scharfmann, R. (2003). What is a pancreatic stem cell? Med. Sci. 19:695.

- Sekiguchi, R., and Yamada, K. M. (2018). Basement membranes in development and disease. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 130, 143–191. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2018. 02.005
- Shimizu, K., Kobayashi, M., Tahara, J., and Shiratori, K. (2005). Cytokines and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand regulate phagocytosis by pancreatic stellate cells. *Gastroenterology* 128, 2105–2118. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2005.03.025
- Simsek, S., Zhou, T., Robinson, C. L., Tsai, S. Y., Crespo, M., Amin, S., et al. (2016). Modeling cystic fibrosis using pluripotent stem cell-derived human pancreatic ductal epithelial cells. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 5, 572–579. doi: 10.5966/sctm. 2015-0276
- Tejon, G., Manriquez, V., De Calisto, J., Flores-Santibanez, F., Hidalgo, Y., Crisostomo, N., et al. (2015). Vitamin A impairs the reprogramming of tregs into IL-17-producing cells during intestinal inflammation. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:137893. doi: 10.1155/2015/137893
- Trasino, S. E., Benoit, Y. D., and Gudas, L. J. (2015). Vitamin A deficiency causes hyperglycemia and loss of pancreatic beta-cell mass. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 1456–1473. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.616763
- Uchida, M., Ito, T., Nakamura, T., Igarashi, H., Oono, T., Fujimori, N., et al. (2013). ERK pathway and sheddases play an essential role in ethanol-induced CX3CL1 release in pancreatic stellate cells. *Lab. Invest.* 93, 41–53. doi: 10.1038/labinvest. 2012.156
- Wang, P., Fiaschi-Taesch, N. M., Vasavada, R. C., Scott, D. K., Garcia-Ocana, A., and Stewart, A. F. (2015). Diabetes mellitus–advances and challenges in human beta-cell proliferation. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 11, 201–212. doi: 10.1038/nrendo. 2015.9
- Wang, X., Li, W., Chen, J., Zhao, S., Qiu, S., Yin, H., et al. (2018). A transcriptional sequencing analysis of islet stellate cell and pancreatic stellate cell. J. Diabetes Res. 2018:7361684. doi: 10.1155/2018/7361684
- Watari, N., Hotta, Y., and Mabuchi, Y. (1982). Morphological studies on a vitamin A-storing cell and its complex with macrophage observed in mouse pancreatic tissues following excess vitamin A administration. *Okajimas Folia Anat. Jpn.* 58, 837–858. doi: 10.2535/ofaj1936.58.4-6_837
- Weiskirchen, R., and Tacke, F. (2014). Cellular and molecular functions of hepatic stellate cells in inflammatory responses and liver immunology. *Hepatobil. Surg. Nutr.* 3, 344–363.
- Xu, X., Zheng, L., Yuan, Q., Zhen, G., Crane, J. L., Zhou, X., et al. (2018). Transforming growth factor-beta in stem cells and tissue homeostasis. *Bone Res.* 6:2. doi: 10.1038/s41413-017-0005-4
- Xu, Y., Li, H., Huang, C., Zhao, T., Zhang, H., Zheng, C., et al. (2015). Wnt2 protein plays a role in the progression of pancreatic cancer promoted by pancreatic stellate cells. *Med. Oncol.* 32:97. doi: 10.1007/s12032-015-0513-2
- Xue, J., Sharma, V., Hsieh, M. H., Chawla, A., Murali, R., Pandol, S. J., et al. (2015). Alternatively activated macrophages promote pancreatic fibrosis in chronic pancreatitis. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7158. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8158

- Yamamoto, G., Taura, K., Iwaisako, K., Asagiri, M., Ito, S., Koyama, Y., et al. (2017). Pancreatic stellate cells have distinct characteristics from hepatic stellate cells and are not the unique origin of collagen-producing cells in the pancreas. *Pancreas* 46, 1141–1151. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0000000000000001
- Yan, K. M., Li, A. D., Yang, H. J., Mei, Y., and Zhou, H. Y. (2005). [Expression of Nestin, CK19, insulin, glucagon and somatostatin in embryonic pancreas]. Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 21, 353–355.
- Yang, C., Wang, J. M., Du, C. Y., and Xue, D. (2007). Expression of stem cell markers CK-19 and PDX-1 mRNA in pancreatic islet samples of different purity from rats. *Hepatobil. Pancreat. Dis. Int.* 6, 544–548.
- Yang, K., Wang, Y., Du, Z., and Zhang, X. (2014). Short-reactivation of neurogenin-3 and mesenchymal microenvironment is require for beta-cells differentiation during fetal pancreas development and islet regeneration. *Rom. J. Morphol. Embryol.* 55, 305–311.
- Yin, C., Evason, K. J., Asahina, K., and Stainier, D. Y. (2013). Hepatic stellate cells in liver development, regeneration, and cancer. *J. Clin. Invest.* 123, 1902–1910. doi: 10.1172/JCI66369
- Yin, Z., Hu, J. J., Yang, L., Zheng, Z. F., An, C. R., Wu, B. B., et al. (2016). Single-cell analysis reveals a nestin(+) tendon stem/progenitor cell population with strong tenogenic potentiality. *Sci. Adv.* 2:e1600874. doi: 10.1126/sciadv. 1600874
- Zang, G., Sandberg, M., Carlsson, P. O., Welsh, N., Jansson, L., and Barbu, A. (2015). Activated pancreatic stellate cells can impair pancreatic islet function in mice. Ups. J. Med. Sci. 120, 169–180. doi: 10.3109/03009734.2015. 1032453
- Zha, M., Li, F., Xu, W., Chen, B., and Sun, Z. (2014). Isolation and characterization of islet stellate cells in rat. *Islets* 6:e28701. doi: 10.4161/isl.28701
- Zha, M., Xu, W., Jones, P. M., and Sun, Z. (2016). Isolation and characterization of human islet stellate cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 341, 61–66. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2015. 11.002
- Zhang, L., Hong, T. P., Hu, J., Liu, Y. N., Wu, Y. H., and Li, L. S. (2005). Nestinpositive progenitor cells isolated from human fetal pancreas have phenotypic markers identical to mesenchymal stem cells. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 11, 2906– 2911. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v11.i19.2906

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhou, Sun, Li, Zhou, Gao, Wang, Cai and Sun. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ginsenoside Rb2 Alleviates Obesity by Activation of Brown Fat and Induction of Browning of White Fat

Yilian Hong^{1†}, Yi Lin^{1†}, Qiya Si¹, Lijuan Yang¹, Weisong Dong² and Xuejiang Gu^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrine and Metabolic Diseases, First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China, ² Department of Pathology, First Affiliated Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China

Ginsenoside Rb2 (Rb2), the most abundant saponin contained in Panax ginseng, has been used to treat variety of metabolic diseases. However, its effects in obesity and potential mechanisms are not well-understood. In the present study, we investigated metabolic performance with a Rb2 supplement in diet-induced obese (DIO) mice, focusing on the effects and mechanisms of Rb2 on brown and beige fat functions. Our results demonstrated that Rb2 effectively reduced body weight, improved insulin sensitivity, as well as induced energy expenditure in DIO mice. Histological and gene analysis revealed that Rb2 induced activation of brown fat and browning of white fat by reducing lipid droplets, stimulating uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) staining, and increasing expression of thermogenic and mitochondrial genes, which could be recapitulated in 3T3-L1, C3H10T1/2, and primary adipocytes. In addition, Rb2 induced phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) both in vitro and in vivo. These effects were shown to be dependent on AMPK since its inhibitor blocked Rb2 from inducing expressions of Pgc1 α and Ucp1. Overall, the present study revealed that Rb2 activated brown fat and induced browning of white fat, which increased energy expenditure and thermogenesis, and consequently ameliorated obesity and metabolic disorders. These suggest that Rb2 holds promise in treating obesity.

Keywords: Ginsenoside Rb2, obesity, browning, UCP1, AMPK

INTRODUCTION

Obesity, manifested as excessive fat accumulation, has become a global epidemic disorder that contributes to the development of several chronic diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and metabolic syndrome (1). As the central player in energy homeostasis, adipose tissues could be divided into the following subsets: white adipose tissue (WAT) which is characterized by large unilocular lipid-droplets-containing and functions as an active endocrine organ to regulate diverse activities, such as insulin sensitivity and brown adipose tissue (BAT) which dissipates energy as heat via the uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) (2). Recently, a newly defined type of white adipocytes, called brite or beige adipocytes, has been shown to be reprogrammed to be brown-like adipocytes under cold or β -agonists and exhibit similar energy-consuming characteristic of brown adipocytes, which is known as the process of "browning" (3, 4). Numerous studies have suggested that genetic and pharmacological activation of brown and beige fat in mice led to enhancement of energy expenditure, thermogenesis and leanness (5). In addition to the direct regulation of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zilin Sun, Zhongda Hospital, Southeast University, China

Reviewed by:

Patricia Seoane-Collazo, University of Santiago de Compostela, Spain Lixin Li, Central Michigan University, United States

> *Correspondence: Xuejiang Gu auxueijang@wmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 December 2018 Accepted: 21 February 2019 Published: 15 March 2019

Citation:

Hong Y, Lin Y, Si Q, Yang L, Dong W and Gu X (2019) Ginsenoside Rb2 Alleviates Obesity by Activation of Brown Fat and Induction of Browning of White Fat. Front. Endocrinol. 10:153. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00153 energy homeostasis, brown and beige fats also function as metabolic sinks to modulate glucose and lipid metabolism, independent of their effects on weight loss (6). Importantly, these functional brown and beige adipocytes are found to exist in adults while obese and aging individuals exhibit functional defects in these adipocytes (7–9), suggesting the importance of targeting brown and beige adipocytes for treating obesity and metabolic disorders.

With the plasticity of beige adipocytes to enhance energy expenditure and thermogenesis under stimuli, massive efforts have been made to look for potent inducers for the browning effects of white fat. Apart from a few promising candidates such as fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) and irisin (10, 11), active ingredients from traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) provide a wide spectrum of choices and show great potential. For example, independent studies have shown that compounds such as berberine, resveratrol, artemisinin, and celastrol coming from TCM could enhance the function of brown fat and induce browning of WAT via the transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of critical metabolic regulatory molecular nodes such as AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), silent information regulator 1 (SIRT1), peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator-1a (PGC1a), and heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) (12).

Ginseng plants have been used as an ancient medicine in China for thousands of years to strengthen holistic health. As major pharmacological ingredients in ginseng plants, ginsenosides possess multiple pharmacological properties, including anti-oxidative, anti-aging, anti-cancer, and other health-improving actions (13). For metabolic aspects, research showed that ginsenosides reduced body weight (14), prevented hepatic steatosis (15), increased insulin sensitivity (16), restored mitochondrial dynamics (17), and attenuated hepatic glucagon response (18). As the most abundant saponin contained in Panax ginseng (19), Ginsenoside Rb2 (Rb2) has been reported to alleviate hepatic lipid accumulation in high-fat diet (HFD)induced obese mice (20), decrease glycaemia in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats (21), and lower triacylglycerol levels in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (22). We recently showed that Rb2 reduced adiposity and improved insulin sensitivity in obese mice via phosphorylation of AKT and inhibited NF-kB signaling pathway in white adipose tissues and 3T3-L1 adipocytes (23). However, the effects and mechanisms by which Rb2 alleviates obesity have not been fully elucidated, especially regarding the effects of Rb2 on brown and beige fat.

In the present study, we investigated the metabolic performances with Rb2 supplement in diet-induced obese (DIO) mice and demonstrated that Rb2 effectively reduced body weight, improved insulin sensitivity, and increased energy expenditure in DIO mice. Detailed analysis demonstrated that Rb2 induced activation of brown fat and browning of white fat as shown by reducing lipid droplets, increasing UCP1 staining and increasing brown gene programs, which could be recapitulated *in vitro*. In addition, Rb2 induced AMPK phosphorylation while AMPK activation is dispensable for the beneficial effects of Rb2. Overall, the present study revealed that Rb2 ameliorated obesity and metabolic disorders by activating

brown fat and inducing browning of white fat, leading to increase in energy expenditure and thermogenesis. It was suggested that Rb2 was a promising beneficial compound treating obesity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals and Antibodies

Ginsenoside Rb2 (purity >98.0%) was purchased from Shanghai Yuanye Biotech Co, Ltd (Shanghai, MO, China). The AMPK inhibitor compound C (10 mM; purity = 99.67%) was from Selleck Chemicals (S7306). Mice HFD (60% kcal from lard; MD12033) and sucrose matched low-fat control diet (10% kcal from lard; MD12031) were obtained from Research Diets. Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Media: Nutrient Mixture F-12(DMEM/F12) Medium and Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (San José, CA, USA). Insulin powder, T3 powder, clostridium histolyticum type II collagenase, indomethacin, isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX), and dexamethasone were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). Primary antibodies (anti-AMPK and antip-AMPK) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA, USA).

Animals

All C57BL/6J mice (male, 8-weeks old) were housed under a constant 12h light/dark cycle with free access to water and standard chow or HFD for 9 weeks. The mice were obtained from Shanghai Slake Experimental Animal CO.LTD., and were maintained at 22 \pm 2°C with 60 \pm 5% relative humidity. The HFD and chow diet-fed mice were administrated an intraperitoneal injection of Rb2 (40 mg/kg/day) or PBS (vehicle) between 16:00 and 17:00 daily. Body weight was monitored once a week between week 9 and once a day over a 10day course of treatment. Tissues and serum were collected, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80° C. BAT was separated from the interscapular region; eWAT (epididymal WAT) was obtained from the epididymis; iWAT (subcutaneous WAT) was dissected from the layer under the skin and outside the abdominal cavity at the hips. Fat mass was the sum of BAT, eWAT, and iWAT. The experiments were randomized. All animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee in Wenzhou Medical University (No: SYXK-2015-0009).

3T3-L1, C3H10T1/2 Adipocytes, and Mice Primary Stromal-Vascular Fraction (SVF) Culture and Differentiation

3T3-L1 and C3H10T1/2 cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) and were maintained in DMEM with 10% FBS mixture at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ environment. Mice SVF was isolated from the iWAT of male C57BL/6J mice aged 6–8 weeks. SVF isolation was performed previously (24, 25). Briefly, tissues were sheared, digested with 1 mg/ml collagenase in PBS supplemented with 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA), and 10 mM Hepes mixture for 30 min, with 300

rpm shaking at 37°C. The suspension was strained through a 40 μ M nylon mesh (Falcon), collected by centrifugation. Finally, the adipocytes were then cultured in DMEM/F12 containing 10% FBS mixture and placed inside an incubator at 37°C with a 5% CO₂ environment.

After reaching 100% confluence, 3T3-L1, C3H10T1/2 cells, and mice SVF were stimulated to differentiate a hormone cocktail containing 50 nM insulin, 100 nM T3, 0.125 mM indomethacin, 2μ g/ml dexamethasone, and 0.5 mM IBMX. After 48 h, the adipocytes were moved to the medium containing 50 nM insulin and 1 nM T3. The media was replaced every 2 days before Rb2 treatment. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as the vehicle

treatment. Finally, the mature adipocytes were confirmed by light microscopy and Oil Red O staining, and then used for further analysis.

Oil Red O Staining

Lipid droplets present within the adipocytes were proven by Oil Red O staining (Sigma). Oil Red O was diluted into water to make a 60% working solution, and then filtered through a filter paper. Adipocytes were fixed in 4% neutral buffered formalin for 30 min at room temperature. The Oil Red O solution was added (1.5 mL) and maintained at room temperature for 15 min. The solution was refused,



*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 compared to HFD group.
and the wells were washed with PBS several times until the background was clear. Finally, the adipocytes were imaged using light microscopy.

Glucose Tolerance Test (GTT) and Insulin Tolerance Test (ITT)

Previous methods were followed to implement GTT and ITT. GTT was performed in male C57BL/6J mice after an overnight fast. Blood glucose concentrations were measured from the tail vein immediately at 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, and 120 min after a 0.75 g/kg i.p. injection of glucose (7) was administered. Food was removed for 2 h before the ITT was performed. After a 0.75 U/kg

i.p. injection of human insulin (Eli Lilly) was administered to the mice, glucose concentrations were assessed at 0, 15, 30, 45, and 60 min (26).

Energy Expenditure Analysis

Energy expenditure was determined using Comprehensive Lab Animal Monitoring System (CLAMS system, Columbus Instruments) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The animals were acclimated to the system for 24 h before measurement of V_{O2} and V_{CO2} . The mice were maintained at 22°C under a 12 h light/dark cycle. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. Heat production was calculated according to the









following equation:

Heat = $[3.815 + 1.232(V_{CO2}/V_{O2})] \times V_{O2} \times body$ weight

where heat is measured in kcal h^{-1} , V_{O2} , and V_{CO2} are measured in liters kg⁻¹ h^{-1} and body weight is measured in kg (27).

Histological Analysis and Immunofluorescence

Tissues fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde were sectioned after being paraffin embedded. Multiple sections were prepared and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for general morphological observations. Immunofluorescence staining was performed according to standard protocols using the following antibodies and dilutions: UCP1 (Abcam) and 1:400, respectively. The incubations were performed overnight in a humidified chamber at 4°C. The secondary antibodies for immunofluorescence staining were purchased from Invitrogen. Hematoxylin staining was used to mark cell nuclei. Immunofluorescence staining was performed first, and immunofluorescent images were captured. Finally, the images were acquired using an Olympus BX51 system. And Image J was used to calculate the adipocytes size.

Cold Tolerance Test

At the 10th day after PBS or Rb2 treatment, the mice were then subjected to a cold room (4° C) for 24 h without access to food or water. The rectal temperature of the mice was measured at 0, 30, 60, and 120 min begin at cold exposure with Th5 Thermalert Monitoring Thermometer (Braintree, US). The histological and molecular analyses were performed after the 24 h cold exposure.

Western Blot Analysis

Adipocytes were harvested in protein extraction solution (Solarbio) and incubated for 30 min at 4°C. After cell debris was removed, supernatant containing proteins were collected and determined by using the Pierce BCA protein assay kit according to manufacturer instructions. Next, 40 μ g proteins were separated by 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes. Blots were incubated by using 5% milk blocking solution at room temperature overnight with a primary antibody



against AMPK and p-AMPK. The blots were then washed with TBST and incubated with the horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000) for an hour. Finally, the blots were developed using an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (Salarbio) according to manufacturer protocols.

Quantitative Realtime PCR Analysis

Total RNA was isolated from cells by using Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and was reverse transcribed to first-strand cDNA using the Reverse Transcription System (A3500, Promega, Madison, WI). To analyze gene expression, real-time quantitative PCR was conducted by using an ABI Prism 7300 instrument (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Primers were provided upon requests.

Statistical Analysis

Data were expressed as the mean \pm SEM from at least three independent experiments. Analyses were performed by using Graph Pad Prism 5 and SPSS version 20.0. For repeated measurements (for example, body weight), Dunnett's multiple comparisons test were performed. For single time-point measurement, statistical analyses were performed by using an unpaired Student's *t*-test for two groups and a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for more than two groups. $P \leq 0.05$ was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Rb2 Treatment Reduced Body Weight and Improved Insulin Sensitivity in DIO Mice

To assess the effects of Rb2 in treating obesity, we firstly established a DIO mice model by feeding mice for 9 weeks. This led to a significant increase in body weight to around 40 grams compared with chow feeding (Figures S1A,S1B). Importantly, 10 days of Rb2 treatment largely decreased body weight in these DIO mice, while not affecting body weight in mice fed by chow diet (Figures 1A,B, Figure S1C). The food intake in mice treated with Rb2 showed a slight downtrend but no significant differences when compared to the control group (Figure S1D). Meanwhile, we found that DIO mice supplemented with Rb2 had better tolerance to glucose load and were more sensitive to insulin addition, which were shown in GTT and ITT analyses (Figures 1C-F, Figures S1E-S1H). Therefore, these results demonstrated that Rb2 could reduce body weight and improve insulin sensitivity in DIO mice.

Rb2 Treatment Increased Energy Expenditure in DIO Mice

In order to better understand the mechanism of Rb2 in ameliorating obesity and improving insulin sensitivity, we systematically analyzed the actions of Rb2 on energy



FIGURE 5 | Rb2 treatment induced brown gene programs in white adipocytes. (**A**,**B**) mRNA levels of Ucp1 in 3T3-L1 cells treated with or without Rb2 in dose and time dependent manner. (**C**,**D**) mRNA levels of thermogenic and mitochondrial genes in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and differentiated adipocytes from primary iWAT SVF. N = 6 per group. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 compared to control group.

expenditure using comprehensive lab animal monitoring system (CLAMS). The Rb2 treated mice showed markedly higher oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production rates through a 12 h light/dark cycle than the control group (**Figures 2A–D**). Besides, DIO mice received Rb2 exhibited a significant increase in the whole-body energy expenditure shown as heat production (**Figures 2E,F**). These results suggested that Rb2 increased energy expenditure in DIO mice.

Rb2 Treatment Reduced Adiposity and Induced Brown Fat Gene Programs in Adipose Tissues

To further explore the effect of Rb2 on adiposity, we closely examined the adipose tissue morphology and molecular signatures. We found that Rb2 treatment significantly decreased fat mass and weights of iWAT, eWAT, and BAT in DIO mice compared with control groups (Figures 3A–C). Consistently, Rb2 treated mice showed smaller adipocytes sizes as shown by histological analysis (Figures 3D–F). Moreover, we performed gene expression analysis on adipose tissues of DIO mice treated with or without Rb2. As shown in Figures 3G,H, Figure S2, several thermogenic and mitochondrial genes were significantly increased in iWAT and BAT of Rb2 treated mice with HFD while mildly elevated in mice with chow diet.

Rb2 Treatment Enhanced Adaptive Thermogenesis and Induced Browning of White Fat

Cold exposure is known to induce adaptive thermogenesis, brown fat activation, and browning of white adipose tissues. Thus, we performed cold tolerance tests to assess the thermogenic capacity of mice treated with Rb2 and found that Rb2 treatment





significantly ameliorated the cold-induced reduction in rectal temperatures (**Figures 4A,B**). In addition, we found profound morphological transformation toward a brown fat phenotype and increased UCP1 staining in iWAT of Rb2 treated mice (**Figures 4C,E**), accompanied with the synergistic effects of Rb2 and cold in the induction of Pgc1 α and Ucp1 in both iWAT and BAT (**Figures 4D,F**). These results suggested that Rb2 treatment enhanced adaptive thermogenesis and induced browning of white fat.

Rb2 Treatment Induced Browning of White Adipocytes

To further examine the cell autonomous effects of Rb2 on adipocytes, we examined the Rb2 treatment on differentiated 3T3-L1 and C3H10T1/2 adipocytes and differentiated SVF from iWAT of mice. As shown in **Figures 5A,B**, Rb2 dose- and time-dependently induced Ucp1 transcription in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Furthermore, treatment of Rb2 in adipocytes strongly induced thermogenic and mitochondrial genes, including Pgc1 α and Ucp1 levels in 3T3-L1 and C3H10T1/2 adipocytes, and also differentiated SVF from iWAT of mice (**Figures 5C,D**, **Figure S3**). Therefore, the data suggested the effect of Rb2 on browning of white adipocytes.

AMPK Signaling Was Dispensable for the Effects of Rb2 on Browning of White Adipose Tissues and White Adipocytes

AMPK signaling has been shown to play a critical role in energy homeostasis and obesity, which is associated with reduced AMPK activity in both WAT and BAT (28-30). Therefore, we examined AMPK signaling in Rb2 treated mice and adipocytes. Westernblot analysis showed that Rb2 supplementation increased phosphorylation of AMPK in iWAT and BAT of both chow dietfed and DIO mice, which suggested the activation of AMPK signaling in these adipose tissues (Figures 6A,B, Figure S4). Consistently, Rb2 administration enhanced the phosphorylation of AMPK, as well as its downstream thermogenic genes Pgc1α and Ucp1 in differentiated adipocytes (Figures 6C-E). Furthermore, when using AMPK inhibitor compound C, the induction of AMPK phosphorylation, as well as Pgc1a and Ucp1 mRNA levels were diminished in differentiated adipocytes (Figures 6C-E) and SVF from iWAT of mice (Figures 6F,G), suggesting that AMPK was dispensable for the beneficial effects of Rb2.

DISCUSSION

Obesity is characterized by the reduced metabolic activity of brown and beige fat (31, 32), which suggests that therapies to restore brown/beige fat functionality may be effective to overcome obesity. To date, researches have shown that monomers of TCM, such as celastrol and berberine, play important roles in the remodeling of adipose tissue and prevention of obesity, suggesting the vast choices of TCM in the frontline combating obesity. Ginsenosides, as a class of

natural product steroid glycosides and triterpene saponins, are able to improve lipid and glucose metabolism and reduce obesity (33). However, the molecular mechanisms have not been fully understood. Previous reports on the in vivo metabolic effects of ginsenosides focused mainly on liver, skeleton muscle and found that in liver, Rg1, Rg3, Rg5, and Rb2 prevented hepatic steatosis with AMPK as their possible common target (15, 18, 20, 34). Besides, Ginsenosides Rb1, Rg1, Rg5, and Re target skeleton muscle for enhancing insulin sensitivity (35-38) and ginsenosides Rb1 may target the central nervous system in obese mice to improve leptin sensitivity (39). While the effects of Ginsenosides on adipocytes are mainly recorded in the 3T3-L1 system, the present study focusing on the brown/beige fat functionality provides both in vitro and in vivo evidences that Rb2, one of the major effective monomers in ginsenosides, could reduce body weight and improve glycemic and lipid metabolism by activating brown fat functionality, promoting white adipose browning and increasing energy expenditure. Whether other ginsenosides also contribute to the browning process still needs further investigation. In our study, an appropriate dose of Rb2 supplement could be considered as a possible approach to reduce the risk of diet-induced obesity and insulin intolerance.

A complication of obesity is hyperinsulinemia. Specifically, HFD feeding can cause primary hyperinsulinemia, develop insulin resistance, and increase blood glucose levels (40). It is well-established that metabolic organs including pancreas, liver, skeleton muscle and adipose tissues are involved in glycemic control and all contribute to insulin sensitivity (41). Although we found that the Rb2 treatment led to brown fat activation and browning of white fat, it is not clear which is the major and primary organ responsible for improving insulin sensitivity observed in Rb2 treated mice, especially considering previous reports recording the beneficial effects of Rb2 in improving hepatic steatosis. Future studies with euglycemic clamp would be more informative to distinguish the role of Rb2 in glycemic control.

Obesity develops when the energy intake exceeds the energy expenditure, treatment for obesity must either reduce energy intake or increase energy expenditure, or have an effect on both at the same time. In our study, the food intake in mice treated with Rb2 showed no significant differences from the control group. Our findings indicated that Rb2 reduced the adipocytes area in DIO mice and eWAT of chow mice, but it had no effect on weight loss compared to the control group, which was also observed in other studies (42)—it further confirmed the safeness of Rb2 in chow animals. Several researches have shown that Rb2 lowered cholesterol and triacylglycerol levels in 3T3-L1 (22). This might be another important mechanism of Rb2 limits weight gain.

AMPK is a highly conserved master regulator of metabolism at both the cellular and organismal levels. AMPK is actively involved in multiple physiological and pathological processes and regulates food intake, glucose homeostasis (43), hepatic glucose production, lipid metabolism (44), energy homeostasis, body weight (45), browning of WAT, and BAT thermogenesis (46). Specifically, AMPK extensively regulates thermogenesis by

modulating the sympathetic nervous system. Genetic evidence with the specific deletion of AMPK in adipocytes led to defects in BAT mitochondrial structure, function, and reduced oxidative metabolism in response to cold exposure or β -adrenergic stimulation. Besides, loss of adipocytic AMPK exacerbated the development of hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance (47). Thus, AMPK agonists such as resveratrol and A-769662 have been applied to alleviate obesity and metabolic disorders. To investigate whether Rb2 inducing brown gene programs in adipocytes was dependent on AMPK, we inhibited the activity of AMPK via compound C in the presence or absence of Rb2. Our results showed that supplement with compound C significantly suppressed the expressions of PGC-1a and UCP1, suggesting that AMPK was at least partially responsible for the effects of Rb2 in adipocytes. Compound C is one of the most widely used compounds as AMPK inhibitor to assess AMPK signaling pathway alternations, but it has limitations. And more analysis on Rb2 mediated signaling pathways may be applied to fully elucidate the mechanisms of Rb2 in adipocytes.

In summary, the present study with both *in vivo and in vitro* evidence highlighted the beneficial effects of Rb2 in treating dietinduced obesity and insulin resistance. Our results demonstrated that Rb2 activated brown fat functionality, induced browning of white fat, and consequently increased thermogenesis and energy expenditure. We further showed that the protective effect of Rb2 against obesity might be potentially modulated by inducing AMPK phosphorylation and its downstream thermogenic and mitochondrial genes. These findings provide rationality to study the effects of other ginsenosides on the brown/beige fat functionality, and suggest the importance of potentially applying Rb2 to the treatment of obesity and metabolic functions.

DATA AVAILABILITY

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found online at https://pan.baidu.com/s/1qMWWmEX-OJEdXTIcEBQ5tg.

REFERENCES

- Kopelman PG. Obesity as a medical problem. *Nature*. (2000) 404:635–43. doi: 10.1038/35007508
- Peirce V, Carobbio S, Vidal-Puig A. The different shades of fat. *Nature*. (2014) 510:76–83. doi: 10.1038/nature13477
- Lidell ME, Betz MJ, Dahlqvist Leinhard O, Heglind M, Elander L, Slawik M, et al. Evidence for two types of brown adipose tissue in humans. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:631–4. doi: 10.1038/nm.3017
- Rosenwald M, Perdikari A, Rulicke T, Wolfrum C. Bi-directional interconversion of brite and white adipocytes. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2013) 15:659–67. doi: 10.1038/ncb2740
- 5. Cohen P, Spiegelman BM. Brown and beige fat: molecular parts of a thermogenic machine. *Diabetes.* (2015) 64:2346-51. doi: 10.2337/db15-0318
- Kajimura S, Spiegelman BM, Seale P. Brown and beige fat: physiological roles beyond heat generation. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:546–59. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.007

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XG conceived and carried out the experiments. YH and YL conceived the experiments and analyzed data. All the authors have significantly contributed to this work. Other authors were involved in writing the paper and searching literature.

FUNDING

The present study is supported by grants from National key R&D program (Project Number: 2016YFC1305202), Special fund for clinical research of Chinese Medical Association (12020220312), Wenzhou Science and Technology Bureau(Y20170047) and the grants from Zhejiang Provincial Natural Science Foundation of China (Project Number: LQ12H07003).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2019.00153/full#supplementary-material

Figure S1 | The effects of Rb2 treatment in chow diet-fed mice. (**A**,**B**) Body weights of chow diet and high fat diet-fed mice for 9 weeks. (**C**) Body weights of chow diet-fed mice treated with or without Rb2 for 10 days. Average of food intakes (g) of DIO mice during the Rb2 treatment (**D**). (**E**-**H**) GTT (**E**) and ITT (**G**) analysis of chow diet-fed mice treated with or without Rb2 for 10 days. Area under the curve (AUC) of GTT and ITT was also shown as (**F**,**H**). N = 6 per group. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

Figure S2 | The mRNA levels of brown gene programs in iWAT and BAT of chow diet-fed mice treated with or without Rb2. (**A**,**B**) mRNA levels of thermogenic and mitochondrial genes in iWAT (**A**) and BAT (**B**) of chow diet-fed mice treated with or without Rb2. N = 6 per group. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and **P < 0.01 compared to control group.

Figure S3 | The mRNA levels of Pgc1 α and Ucp1 in differentiated C3H10T1/2 adipocytes treated with or without Rb2. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, *P < 0.05 compared to control group.

Figure S4 | p-AMPK and AMPK protein levels in iWAT and BAT of chow diet-fed mice treated with or without Rb2. **(A,B)** Phosphorylation and total protein levels of AMPK in response to Rb2 treatment in the iWAT and BAT of chow diet-fed mice. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01 compared to control group.

- Zhang Z, Zhang H, Li B, Meng X, Wang J, Zhang Y, et al. Berberine activates thermogenesis in white and brown adipose tissue. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:5493. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6493
- Zou T, Chen D, Yang Q, Wang B, Zhu MJ, Nathanielsz PW, et al. Resveratrol supplementation of high-fat diet-fed pregnant mice promotes brown and beige adipocyte development and prevents obesity in male offspring. *J Physiol.* (2017) 595:1547–62. doi: 10.1113/JP273478
- 9. Wang S, Liang X, Yang Q, Fu X, Zhu M, Rodgers BD, et al. Resveratrol enhances brown adipocyte formation and function by activating AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) α 1 in mice fed high-fat diet. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1600746. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201600746
- Ku CR, Cho YH, Hong ZY, Lee H, Lee SJ, Hong SS, et al. The effects of high fat diet and resveratrol on mitochondrial activity of brown adipocytes. *Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 31:328–35. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2016.31.2.328
- Lu P, Zhang FC, Qian SW, Li X, Cui ZM, Dang YJ, et al. Artemisinin derivatives prevent obesity by inducing browning of WAT and enhancing BAT function. *Cell Res.* (2016) 26:1169–72. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.108

- Xu L, Zhao W, Wang D, Ma X. Chinese medicine in the battle against obesity and metabolic diseases. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:850. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00850
- Attele AS, Wu JA, Yuan CS. Ginseng pharmacology: multiple constituents and multiple actions. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (1999) 58:1685–93. doi: 10.1016/S0006-2952(99)00212-9
- Zhang L, Virgous C, Si H. Ginseng and obesity: observations and understanding in cultured cells, animals and humans. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2016) 44:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.11.010
- Shen L, Xiong Y, Wang DQ, Howles P, Basford JE, Wang J, et al. Ginsenoside Rb1 reduces fatty liver by activating AMP-activated protein kinase in obese rats. *J Lipid Res.* (2013) 54:1430–8. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M035907
- Attele AS, Zhou YP, Xie JT, Wu JA, Zhang L, Dey L, et al. Antidiabetic effects of Panax ginseng berry extract and the identification of an effective component. *Diabetes*. (2002) 51:1851–8. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.6.1851
- Kim SJ, Jang JY, Kim EJ, Cho EK, Ahn DG, Kim C, et al. Ginsenoside Rg3 restores hepatitis C virus-induced aberrant mitochondrial dynamics and inhibits virus propagation. *Hepatology*. (2017) 66:758–71. doi: 10.1002/hep.29177
- Xiao N, Lou MD, Lu YT, Yang LL, Liu Q, Liu B, et al. Ginsenoside Rg5 attenuates hepatic glucagon response via suppression of succinate-associated HIF-1alpha induction in HFD-fed mice. *Diabetologia*. (2017) 60:1084–93. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4238-y
- Washida D, Kitanaka S. Determination of polyacetylenes and ginsenosides in Panax species using high performance liquid chromatography. Chem Pharm Bull. (2003) 51:1314–7. doi: 10.1248/cpb.51.1314
- Huang Q, Wang T, Yang L, Wang HY. Ginsenoside Rb2 alleviates hepatic lipid accumulation by restoring autophagy via induction of Sirt1 and activation of AMPK. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1063. doi: 10.3390/ijms18051063
- Murthy HN, Dandin VS, Lee EJ, Paek KY. Efficacy of ginseng adventitious root extract on hyperglycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Ethnopharmacol. (2014) 153:917–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2014.03.062
- Kim EJ, Lee HI, Chung KJ, Noh YH, Ro Y, Koo JH. The ginsenoside-Rb2 lowers cholesterol and triacylglycerol levels in 3T3-L1 adipocytes cultured under high cholesterol or fatty acids conditions. *BMB Rep.* (2009) 42:194–9. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2009.42.4.194
- Dai S, Hong Y, Xu J, Lin Y, Si Q, Gu X. Ginsenoside Rb2 promotes glucose metabolism and attenuates fat accumulation via AKTdependent mechanisms. *Biomed Pharmacother.* (2018) 100:93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.01.111
- Soukas A, Socci ND, Saatkamp BD, Novelli S, Friedman JM. Distinct transcriptional profiles of adipogenesis *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *J Biol Chem*. (2001) 276:34167–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104421200
- Klein J, Fasshauer M, Ito M, Lowell BB, Benito M, Kahn CR. beta(3)adrenergic stimulation differentially inhibits insulin signaling and decreases insulin-induced glucose uptake in brown adipocytes. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:34795–802. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.49.34795
- Ibdah JA, Perlegas P, Zhao Y, Angdisen J, Borgerink H, Shadoan MK, et al. Mice heterozygous for a defect in mitochondrial trifunctional protein develop hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology*. (2005) 128:1381–90. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.02.001
- Tseng YH, Kokkotou E, Schulz TJ, Huang TL, Winnay JN, Taniguchi CM, et al. New role of bone morphogenetic protein 7 in brown adipogenesis and energy expenditure. *Nature*. (2008) 69:165–75. doi: 10.1038/nature07221
- Lindholm CR, Ertel RL, Bauwens JD, Schmuck EG, Mulligan JD, Saupe KW. A high-fat diet decreases AMPK activity in multiple tissues in the absence of hyperglycemia or systemic inflammation in rats. *J Physiol Biochem.* (2013) 454:1000–4. doi: 10.1007/s13105-012-0199-2
- Ruderman NB, Carling D, Prentki M, Cacicedo JM. AMPK, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:2764–72. doi: 10.1172/JCI67227
- Lowell BB, Susulic V, Hamann A, Lawitts JA, Himms-Hagen J, Boyer BB, et al. Development of obesity in transgenic mice after genetic ablation of brown adipose tissue. *Nature*. (1993) 366:740–2. doi: 10.1038/366740a0
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Vanhommerig JW, Smulders NM, Drossaerts JM, Kemerink GJ, Bouvy ND, et al. Cold-activated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:1500–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0808718

- Saito M, Okamatsu-Ogura Y, Matsushita M, Watanabe K, Yoneshiro T, Nio-Kobayashi J, et al. High incidence of metabolically active brown adipose tissue in healthy adult humans: effects of cold exposure and adiposity. *Diabetes*. (2009) 58:1526–31. doi: 10.2337/db09-0530
- Mu Q, Fang X, Li X, Zhao D, Mo F, Jiang G, et al. Ginsenoside Rb1 promotes browning through regulation of PPARgamma in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2015) 466:530–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.064
- Lee JB, Yoon SJ, Lee SH, Lee MS, Jung H, Kim TD, et al.Ginsenoside Rg3 ameliorated HFD-induced hepatic steatosis through downregulation of STAT5-PPARγ. J Endocrinol. (2017) 235:223–35. doi: 10.1530/JOE-17-0233
- Xie JT, Shao ZH, Vanden Hoek TL, Chang WT, Li J, Mehendale S, et al. Antioxidant effects of ginsenoside Re in cardiomyocytes. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2006) 532:201–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2006.01.001
- 36. Guan S, Xu W, Han F, Gu W, Song L, Ye W, et al. Ginsenoside Rg1 attenuates cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary epithelial-mesenchymal transition via inhibition of the TGF- β /Smad pathway. *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:7171404. doi: 10.1155/2017/7171404
- Peng Y, Zhang R, Kong L, Shen Y, Xu D, Zheng F, et al. Ginsenoside Rg3 inhibits the senescence of prostate stromal cells through downregulation of interleukin 8 expression. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:64779–92. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17616
- Xiao N, Yang LL, Yang YL, Liu LW, Li J, Liu B, et al. Ginsenoside Rg5 inhibits succinate-associated lipolysis in adipose tissue and prevents muscle insulin resistance. *Front Pharmacol.* (2017) 8:43. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00043
- Wu Y, Yu Y, Szabo A, Han M, Huang XF. Central inflammation and leptin resistance are attenuated by ginsenoside Rb1 treatment in obese mice fed a high-fat diet. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e92618. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092618
- Mehran AE, Templeman NM, Brigidi GS, Lim GE, Chu KY, Hu X, et al. Hyperinsulinemia drives diet-induced obesity independently of brain insulin production. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:723–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.019
- Chien-MinH, Camila MC, Joan SG, Li H, Clary BC, Simone H, et al. Rictor/mTORC2Loss in the Myf5-lineage reprograms brown fatmetabolism and protects mice against obesity and metabolicdisease. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 8:256–71. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.007
- Lo JC, Ljubicic S, Leibiger B, Kern M, Leibiger IB, Moede T, et al. Adipsin is an adipokine that improves beta cell function in diabetes. *Cell.* (2014) 158:41–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.005
- Wu Y, Song P, Zhang W, Liu J, Dai X, Liu Z, et al. Activation of AMPKalpha2 in adipocytes is essential for nicotine-induced insulin resistance *in vivo. Nat Med.* (2015) 21:373–82. doi: 10.1038/nm.3826
- Ahn J, Lee H, Jung CH, Choi WH, Ha TY. Zerumbone ameliorates highfat diet-induced adiposity by restoring AMPK-regulated lipogenesis and microRNA-146b/SIRT1-mediated adipogenesis. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:36984– 95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16974
- Lopez M, Nogueiras R, Tena-Sempere M, Dieguez C. Hypothalamic AMPK: a canonical regulator of whole-body energy balance. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2016) 12:421–32. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.67
- Lopez M, Tena-Sempere M. Estradiol effects on hypothalamic AMPK and BAT thermogenesis: a gateway for obesity treatment? *Pharmacol Ther.* (2017) 178:109–22. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017. 03.014
- Mottillo EP, Desjardins EM, Crane JD, Smith BK, Green AE, Ducommun S, et al. Lack of adipocyte AMPK exacerbates insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis through brown and beige adipose tissue function. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:118–29. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.06.006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hong, Lin, Si, Yang, Dong and Gu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Etiology and Pathogenesis of Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults (LADA) Compared to Type 2 Diabetes

Sofia Carlsson*

Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

As the heterogeneity of diabetes is becoming increasingly clear, opportunities arise for more accurate assessment of factors influencing disease onset, which may lead to more efficient primary prevention. LADA - latent autoimmune diabetes in adults - is a common, hybrid form of diabetes with features of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. This review aims to summarize current knowledge on the pathophysiological and etiological overlap and differences between LADA and type 2 diabetes, discuss similarities between LADA and type 1 diabetes and point at future research needs. Studies conducted to date show a clear genetic overlap between LADA and type 1 diabetes with a high risk conferred by variants in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) region. In contrast, data from the limited number of studies on lifestyle factors available indicate that LADA may share several environmental risk factors with type 2 diabetes including overweight, physical inactivity, alcohol consumption (protective) and smoking. These factors are known to influence insulin sensitivity, suggesting that insulin resistance, in addition to insulin deficiency due to autoimmune destruction of the beta cells, may play a key role in the pathogenesis of LADA. Moreover, this implies that onset of LADA, similar to type 2 diabetes, to some extent could be prevented or postponed by lifestyle modification such as weight reduction and increased physical activity. The preventive potential of LADA is an important topic to elucidate in future studies, preferably intervention studies.

Keywords: LADA, type 2 diabetes, lifestyle, epidemiology, prevention

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is the world's fastest growing disease and a major threat to public health worldwide (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration [NCD-RisC], 2016). Since it is a chronic disease, first and secondary prevention is key in reducing its burden on individuals and society. A prerequisite for efficient primary prevention is knowledge about factors influencing disease onset. Diabetes is a more heterogeneous disease than the crude subdivision into type 1 and type 2 diabetes implies (Tuomi et al., 2014; Leslie et al., 2016; Ahlqvist et al., 2018); with a finer classification of diabetes based on differences in pathophysiology, opportunities arise for more accurate assessment of factors influencing disease onset and prognosis. This may allow us to identify etiological factors potentially obscured in analysis of heterogeneous patient groups with different pathogenesis and help us identify modifiable factors which may eventually lead to improved primary prevention. LADA – latent autoimmune diabetes in adults – is a common but understudied form of diabetes with features of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. The aim of this review is to summarize findings regarding the role of environmental and genetic factors in the etiology of LADA, discuss potential

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tongzhi Wu, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Andrea Sorrentino, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Chi-Wen Lung, Asia University, Taiwan

> ***Correspondence:** Sofia Carlsson Sofia.carlsson@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 04 January 2019 Accepted: 11 March 2019 Published: 26 March 2019

Citation:

Carlsson S (2019) Etiology and Pathogenesis of Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults (LADA) Compared to Type 2 Diabetes. Front. Physiol. 10:320. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00320 etiological and pathophysiological overlap between LADA and type 2 diabetes, point at similarities between LADA and type 1 diabetes and the preventive potential of LADA.

LADA

In 1977, Irvine et al. showed that 11% of individuals initially diagnosed with type 2 diabetes have antibodies against the insulin producing beta-cells, which is a characteristic of type 1 diabetes and indicative of an autoimmune pathogenesis (Irvine et al., 1977). The term LADA was introduced in 1993 by Tuomi et al. to describe this subgroup of patients that seems to share phenotypical features with type 2 diabetes and immunological features with type 1 diabetes (Tuomi et al., 1993). LADA has been estimated to account for 3-12% (Turner et al., 1997; Tuomi et al., 1999; Takeda et al., 2002; Zinman et al., 2004; Buzzetti et al., 2007; Maioli et al., 2010; Hawa et al., 2013; Rasouli et al., 2013b; Zhou et al., 2013; Maddaloni et al., 2015) of all diabetes in adults, being more frequent in Europe (Turner et al., 1997; Tuomi et al., 1999; Buzzetti et al., 2007; Maioli et al., 2010; Hawa et al., 2013; Rasouli et al., 2013b) than in other parts of the world including Asia (Takeda et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2013; Maddaloni et al., 2015) and North America (Zinman et al., 2004). The majority of LADA studies conducted to date comes from European countries but an increasing number of studies are being conducted also outside Europe (Mishra et al., 2018).

There is no uniform agreement on the definition of LADA but diagnosis is usually based on three criteria (Fourlanos et al., 2005; Naik et al., 2009); (1) adult age at onset, (2) islet autoantibodies as a marker of autoimmune activity, (3) insulin independence. However, the exact application of these criteria varies; Onset should be in adulthood but the actual age limit varies, although 30 or 35 years is most commonly used. The slow onset that distinguishes LADA from type 1 diabetes with adult onset is typically defined as absence of insulin treatment during the first 6 or 12 months following diagnosis, but this criterion has been questioned since it is subjective and depends on the judgment of the treating physician (Brophy et al., 2008). One alternative is to use fasting C-peptide levels as an indicator of remaining insulin secretion and a "latent" onset (Takeda et al., 2002; Rasouli et al., 2016). The least controversial criterion is the assessment of autoantibodies as a marker of the autoimmune activity that separates LADA from type 2 diabetes. Glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies (GADA) are most frequently used due to the fact that this antibody is far more common in patients with adult onset autoimmune diabetes than other autoantibodies often found in children with type 1 diabetes (Tuomi et al., 1999; Sørgjerd et al., 2012; Hawa et al., 2013).

PATHOGENESIS

Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes

The main pathophysiological features of type 2 diabetes are insulin resistance in skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue, together with impaired insulin secretion (DeFronzo et al., 2015). Insulin resistance reduces peripheral glucose uptake and stimulates hepatic glucose output which leads to elevated blood glucose levels. The ensuing hyperglycemia increases the demand on the beta-cells for a compensatory rise in insulin secretion. This may consequently exhaust the beta-cells and lead to a progressive loss of beta-cell function, resulting in insulin deficiency and subsequent diabetes (DeFronzo et al., 2015). Type 1 diabetes on the other hand seems to result from a distinct pathophysiological process; its main feature is insulin deficiency which is caused by autoreactive T-cells of the immune system that destroy the pancreatic beta-cells. The autoimmune reaction leads to a progressive loss of functional beta-cell mass and declining insulin production (Burrack et al., 2017).

LADA

Similar to type 1 diabetes, LADA patients display autoantibodies which is indicative of an autoimmune pathogenesis. However, the autoimmune process seems to be milder and the progression of beta-cell failure slower; this is evidenced by the fact that LADA patients consistently display higher levels of C-peptide as indicator of insulin secretion (Carlsson et al., 2000; Hosszúfalusi et al., 2003; Hernandez et al., 2015) and furthermore, they are not insulin-requiring for some time following diagnosis. Compared to patients with type 2 diabetes, those with LADA have less insulin secretion (Turner et al., 1997; Carlsson et al., 2000; Hernandez et al., 2015; Hjort et al., 2018b) and progress to insulin dependence faster (Turner et al., 1997; Zampetti et al., 2014). As an example, data from the United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) showed that among individuals initially diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, 84% of those who were GADA positive at diagnosis progressed to insulin dependence within 6 years compared to 14% of antibody negative individuals (Turner et al., 1997). Similar to what is seen in type 1 diabetes (Insel et al., 2015), autoimmunity seems to be the first pathological symptom in LADA; data from the prospective HUNT Study show that 64% of LADA patients where GADA positive several years prior to diagnosis (Sørgjerd et al., 2012) and similar findings were reported by Lundgren et al. in the Finnish Botnia Study (Lundgren et al., 2010).

Whereas type 1 diabetes typically is characterized by a clustering of different islet autoantibodies (Regnell and Lernmark, 2017), LADA patients tend to be positive primarily for GADA (Tuomi et al., 1999; Sørgjerd et al., 2012; Hawa et al., 2013); In Action LADA, a European multicenter study, 90% of the antibody positive patients were positive for GADA, whereas only 10% could be detected merely through antibodies to insulinomaassociated antigen-2 (IA-2A) or zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8A) (Hawa et al., 2013). Moreover, multiple antibodies were found in 24% of antibody positive patients in Action LADA (Hawa et al., 2013) and in 10% of LADA patients in the Norwegian HUNT Study (Sørgjerd et al., 2012). This indicates that at least for research purposes, it is enough to measure GADA in order to separate LADA from type 2 diabetes. The level of GADA is inversely related to C-peptide levels as a marker of insulin secretion (Radtke et al., 2009) and GADA may therefore serve as an indicator not only of the presence of autoimmune activity but also to some extent, of the magnitude of such activity.

The fact that LADA patients have more insulin production than patients with type 1 diabetes at time of diagnosis indicates that other mechanisms besides autoimmune destruction of the beta-cells may play a role in the pathogenesis. In line with this, it has been shown that LADA patients display insulin resistance (Carlsson et al., 2000; Behme et al., 2003; Chiu et al., 2007; Juhl et al., 2014; Hjort et al., 2018b), although not as pronounced as in type 2 diabetes (Zinman et al., 2004; Lundgren et al., 2010; Hjort et al., 2018b), which has been attributed to differences in BMI (Chiu et al., 2007; Juhl et al., 2014). The relative contribution of insulin resistance to the development of LADA may depend on the degree of underlying autoimmunity; both Swedish and Norwegian data show that LADA patients with less autoimmune activity as indicated by low GADA levels, tend to be more insulin resistant than those with high GADA levels (Hjort et al., 2018b).

ETIOLOGY

Genetic Factors

In type 1 diabetes, the strongest genetic influence is conferred by genes in the HLA complex which are responsible for approximately half of the genetic susceptibility (Noble et al., 1996). In contrast, the genetic influence on type 2 diabetes risk seems to be spread all across the genome and attributed to a large number of common, genetic variants - each contributing a small amount to heritability of the disease (Fuchsberger et al., 2016). The strongest effect is conferred by variants in the transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene, which is associated with a 30% risk increase. The majority of known type 2 diabetes-related genetic risk variants are associated with insulin secretion rather than insulin resistance (Fuchsberger et al., 2016). Similar to type 1 diabetes, LADA is closely linked to genes in the HLA complex, and furthermore, the highest risk is seen in carriers of the HLA haplotypes HLA-DRB1*04-DQB1*03:02 and HLADRB1* 03:01-DQB1*02:01, which also confer the highest risk of type 1 diabetes (Desai et al., 2007; Andersen et al., 2010; Pettersen et al., 2010; Mishra et al., 2017). The HLA genes encode the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) that regulates the immune system, consequently these findings thus point to a strong involvement of the immune system in the pathogenesis of LADA (Andersen and Hansen, 2018). In addition, LADA is linked with type 1 diabetes associated variants outside of the HLA region including PTPN22, INS, and SH2B3 (Mishra et al., 2017). A genetic overlap with type 2 diabetes has also been reported; the most consistent finding is an association with type 2-associated variants of TCF7L2 (Cervin et al., 2008; Andersen et al., 2014). This evidence comes primarily from candidate gene studies of which the largest was based on 978 LADA cases of European descent (Mishra et al., 2017) however, recently the first GWAS study on LADA was published including pooled data from 2634 patients (Cousminer et al., 2018). This study confirms that the genetic basis of LADA primarily resembles that of type 1 diabetes, but also includes genetic variants associated with type 2 diabetes. Importantly, studies conducted to date consistently show that the excess risk of LADA conferred by HLA genotypes is far stronger than the risk observed for type 2-associated genetic variants

(Andersen and Hansen, 2018). In support hereof, a recent study of family history of diabetes indicated that the risk of LADA is increased six-fold in individuals with family history of type 1 diabetes compared to 2-fold in those with family history of type 2 diabetes (Hjort et al., 2017a).

Lifestyle

Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes

Strong support for a role of environmental factors in the etiology of autoimmune diabetes is provided by the world wide rise in incidence of type 1 diabetes in children (Diamond Project Group, 2006; Mayer-Davis et al., 2017), which proposedly reflects an increasingly diabetogenic environment rather than changes in the genetic makeup of the population. Still, the environmental triggers of autoimmunity and type 1 diabetes has proved difficult to map. Associations with a number of lifestyle factors have been reported, including exposure to enterovirus, several dietary factors, weight gain and psychological stress (Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016). Nevertheless, attempts to replicate findings across studies have often failed and intervention studies have been largely unsuccessful in preventing type 1 diabetes in children (Skyler, 2013).

More is known about the etiology of type 2 diabetes; the risk is closely linked to a number of unhealthy lifestyle factors and among those, excess weight is the strongest risk factor; obesity is associated with a seven-fold increased risk according to a meta-analysis based on 18 prospective cohort studies (Abdullah et al., 2010). Low birth weight, proposedly reflecting fetal malnutrition, is also associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes (Whincup et al., 2008). In contrast, physical activity is associated with a reduced risk (Smith et al., 2016), whereas sedentary time (Biswas et al., 2015) and hours of TV viewing (Patterson et al., 2018) is positively associated with incidence of type 2 diabetes. Smokers have excess risk that increases in a dose-response manner by number of cigarettes (Pan et al., 2015). Several dietary factors have also been linked to type 2 diabetes even after adjustment for BMI; Food groups associated with a reduced risk include whole grain (Schwingshackl et al., 2017), fruit and vegetables (Schwingshackl et al., 2017), alcohol (moderate vs. no intake) (Li et al., 2016) and coffee (Schwingshackl et al., 2017), while an increased risk is associated with consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages (Schwingshackl et al., 2017), and red and processed meat (Schwingshackl et al., 2017). The preventive potential of type 2 diabetes seems to be substantial; a recent study based on the China Kadoorie Biobank including >400 000 participants estimated that the combination of healthy BMI, waist-hip ratio (WHR) and diet together with non-smoking could prevent 3/4 of all cases of type 2 diabetes (Lv et al., 2017). Similar findings have been reported in Europe (Laaksonen et al., 2010) and in different ethnic groups in the United States (Steinbrecher et al., 2011). The biological mechanism linking the majority of these lifestyle factors to type 2 diabetes primarily involves promotion of insulin resistance or beneficial effects on insulin sensitivity (Petersen and Shulman, 2006). Since LADA, in addition to autoimmunity, seems to be characterized by insulin resistance it may be hypothesized that environmental or lifestyle factors known to promote insulin resistance may also increase the risk of LADA.

LADA

There are few studies on the influence of lifestyle factors on the risk of LADA (Carlsson, 2018) and the reason for this is most likely lack of data. Prerequisites for such studies are; (a) information on incident cases of LADA which requires antibody testing in order to separate LADA from type 2 diabetes, (b) a suitable non-diabetic population for comparison, (c) detailed information on lifestyle factors from the time before diagnosis, and (d) enough patients for viable analyses. Characteristics of some of the largest individual LADA studies to date are presented in Table 1. From the table it is evident that few studies fulfill these criteria and consequently, the risk of LADA in relation to lifestyle factors has so far only been investigated with data from the Norwegian HUNT (Nord-TrØndelag Health) Study (Krokstad et al., 2013) which is the world's only prospective cohort study of LADA (Hjort et al., 2018b), and the Swedish ESTRID (Epidemiological Study of Risk Factors for LADA and Type 2 diabetes) Study (Rasouli et al., 2016) which is a casecontrol study with incident cases recruited from the ANDIS (All new diabetics in Scania) biobank (Ahlqvist et al., 2018) and incidence density sampled controls (Vandenbroucke and Pearce, 2012). Both studies are population-based and according to the most recent publication based on these data bases, the number of LADA patients is 147 in the HUNT Study and 425 in the ESTRID Study (Hjort et al., 2018b). With data from these two studies, it is possible to calculate separate risk estimates for LADA and type 2 diabetes using the same reference population, exposure and confounding assessment. Unfortunately, patients with type 1 diabetes are not included in the ESTRID-study, and the HUNTstudy has too few incident cases of adult onset type 1 diabetes for viable analyses. For that reason, comparisons between LADA and type 1 diabetes has to be based on findings in children from other cohorts. There are additional, larger LADA studies based on pooled data (e.g., 40 and 46) that are not described in Table 1, however, neither of these studies report information on lifestyle factors. ESTRID and HUNT studies have been approved by ethical boards for medical research in Sweden and Norway and all participants gave informed consent.

Environmental factors in LADA associated with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes

Findings of the studies on lifestyle and risk of LADA compared to type 2 diabetes conducted to date are summarized in **Figure 1**. In support of a role for insulin resistance and a type 2-like etiology, these studies indicate that LADA may share several risk factors with type 2 diabetes; Excess risk of LADA is seen in relation to overweight (Hjort et al., 2018b), adiposity (Hjort et al., 2018b), low birth weight (Hjort et al., 2015), and sweetened beverage intake (Löfvenborg et al., 2016), whereas the risk is reduced in those with moderate alcohol consumption (Rasouli et al., 2013a, 2014) and high physical activity (Carlsson et al., 2007; Hjort et al., 2018a; **Figure 1**). The associations are generally weaker for LADA than for type 2 diabetes (**Figure 1**), which is not surprising since insulin resistance can be expected to be less important in disease progression in the presence of autoimmunity and a more pronounced insulin deficiency. This is particularly evident for BMI; as shown in **Figure 2**, data from the ESTRID study (data set described in Hjort et al., 2018b) indicate that the risk of both LADA and type 2 diabetes increases progressively with BMI but more dramatically for the latter. Furthermore, the excess risk of LADA conferred by high BMI is stronger for less autoimmune LADA (GADA < median), even though it is also seen for more autoimmune LADA (GADA > median) (**Figure 2**). This is in line with findings of cross-sectional studies, including the NIRAD (Non-Insulin Requiring Autoimmune Diabetes) (Buzzetti et al., 2007) and Action LADA (Hawa et al., 2013) studies showing that LADA patients with low GADA have higher BMI and higher prevalence of the metabolic syndrome than those with high GADA levels.

With regard to underlying mechanisms, results based on the ESTRID Study indicate that BMI (Hjort et al., 2018b) and smoking (Rasouli et al., 2016) are positively associated with insulin resistance calculated by homeostasis model assessment (HOMA-IR) (The Diabetes Trials Unit, 2017) in LADA, with a similar non-significant tendency for sweetened beverage intake (Löfvenborg et al., 2016), whereas there is an inverse association between alcohol consumption (Rasouli et al., 2014), physical activity (Hjort et al., 2018a) and insulin resistance (Table 2). In contrast, there is no indication that the mechanism linking any of these factors to LADA includes a triggering or exacerbating effect on autoimmunity (Table 2). Figures 3, 4 displays the association between BMI and HOMA_IR and GADA in LADA and type 2 diabetes based on the ESTRID-study (data set described in Hjort et al., 2018b). These data indicate that BMI is positively associated with HOMA_IR both in patients with LADA and type 2 diabetes (Figure 3) which fits with previous observations (Chiu et al., 2007). GADA, on the other hand, was inversely associated with BMI among LADA patients (Figure 4).

Environmental factors in LADA associated with autoimmunity and type 1 diabetes

What triggers autoimmunity besides genetic factors is not clear; Psychological stress has been linked to type 1 diabetes in children (Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016) but no such association was seen with LADA (Rasouli et al., 2017b). In line with some findings regarding type 1 diabetes in children (Stene et al., 2003; Norris et al., 2007; Niinistö et al., 2017), fatty fish is associated with a reduced risk of LADA but unrelated to type 2 diabetes in the ESTRID Study (Löfvenborg et al., 2014). A beneficial effect could hypothetically be attributed to omega 3-fatty acids which are abundant in fatty fish and possessing anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties (Calder, 2013). Moreover, coffee consumption is positively associated with the risk of LADA in carriers of HLA high risk genotypes, as well as with GADA levels (Rasouli et al., 2018), which is in contrast with the reduced risk of type 2 diabetes consistently shown in high consumers of coffee (Carlström and Larsson, 2018). This may be a spurious finding but interestingly, an earlier study on type 1 diabetes with onset in adolescence showed a similar association (Virtanen et al., 1994). A mechanism remains to be established but as outlined in a recent review, several components of coffee may

Reference	Study	Setting	Time period	Study design	Study participants	No. cases	LADA definition	Time since diagnosis	Genetic information	Lifestyle information
Andersen et al., 2010	Botnia	Finland	1990	Cross-sectional (with prospective part)	Patients recruited through primary care and their family members	213	≥35 years, GADA positive, no insulin ≤6 months	Not mentioned	Yes	None presented
Buzzetti et al., 2007	NIRAD	Italy	2001-2004	Cross-sectional with prevalent cases	Patients recruited through 83 diabetes clinics	193	Adult onset, GADA or IA-2A positivity, non-insulin requiring,	6 months to 5 years	Yes	None presented
Hawa et al., 2013	Action LADA	Europe	2004–2007	Cross-sectional with prevalent cases	Patients recruited through primary care or hospital settings.	598	30-70 years, GADA/ IA-2A or ZnT8A positivity, no insulin ≤6 months	<5 years	None presented	None presented
Hjort et al., 2018b	ESTRID	Sweden	2010	Case-control with incident cases and matched controls	Patients recruited through primary care and controls from population registry	425	≥35 years, GADA positive, remaining insulin production indicated by C-peptide	Median 5 months	Yes	Yes
Maddaloni et al., 2015	ICLDC database	United Arab Emirates	2013	Cross-sectional with prevalent cases	Patients attending the Imperial College London Diabetes Centre	437	>30 years, GADA or IA-2A positivity, non-insulin requiring	≤10 years	None presented	None presented
Maioli et al., 2010	I	Sardinia	2000-2005	Cross sectional	Patients recruited through five diabetes units	251	35–70 years, GADA positivity, no insulin ≤8 months	0–5 years	Yes	None presented
Rasouli et al., 2013b	HUNT	Norway	1984–2008	Prospective cohort study with incident cases	General population in the County of Nord-TrØndelag in Norway	140	≥35 years, GADA positivity	Incident cases	Yes	Yes
Takeda et al., 2002	Ehime study	Japan	1998-99	Cross-sectional study with prevalent cases	Patients recruited through hospitals	67	>20 years, GADA positivity, remaining insulin secretion indicated by C-peptide	Mean > 10 years	Yes	None presented
Turner et al., 1997	UKPDS	United Kingdom	1977–1991	Cross-sectional	Patients recruited through 23 centers	430	25-65 years, GADA/ autoantibodies toislet-cell cytoplasm (ICA) positivity	"newly diagnosed"	No	None presented
Wod et al., 2018	I	Denmark	1997–2013	Cross-sectional with prevalent cases	Patients referred to the University hospital in Odense	327	≥18 years, GADA positivity, remaining insulin secretion indicated by C-peptide	Not mentioned	None presented	None presented
Zhou et al., 2013	LADA China Study	China	2006-2010	Cross-sectional with newly diagnosed cases	Patients recruited through 46 hospitals	287	≥30 years, GADA positive, non-insulin requiring	<1 year	Yes	None presented
Zinman et al., 2004	ADOPT	United States, Europe	2000–2002	Cross-sectional with prevalent cases	Patients recruited through 488 center	174	Adult onset, GADA positivity, non-insulin requiring	3 years	None presented	None presented

TABLE 1 | Description of some of the largest individual LADA studies to date.



FIGURE 1 | Relative risk and 95% confidence interval for LADA and type 2 diabetes in relation to lifestyle factors. Results from ESTRID and HUNT studies. Estimates for low birth weight, sweetened beverages, coffee intake and fatty fish are based on data from the ESTRID Study (extracted from Löfvenborg et al., 2014, 2016; Hjort et al., 2015; Rasouli et al., 2018); estimates for BMI, smoking, physical activity and alcohol intake are based on pooled data from ESTRID and HUNT studies (extracted from Rasouli et al., 2013a,b, 2014, 2016; Hjort et al., 2018a,b); estimates for WHR is based on the HUNT Study (Hjort et al., 2018b).



have immunomodulatory effects (Sharif et al., 2017). Since the HUNT Study has limited information on dietary factors, these findings are solely based on data from the ESTRID Study and should clearly be interpreted with caution.

Inconsistencies

Results were consistent across the HUNT and ESTRID-studies for BMI, physical activity and alcohol intake (Table 2) but not

for smoking which was associated with a significantly increased risk in the Swedish data (Rasouli et al., 2016) and a reduced risk in the Norwegian data (Rasouli et al., 2013b). Previous studies have shown that whereas smoking is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes, primarily attributed to negative effects of nicotine on insulin sensitivity, several studies have linked parental smoking to a reduced risk of type 1 diabetes in the offspring (Dahlquist and Källén, 1992; Magnus et al., 2018),

TABLE 2 Lifestyle factors and associations with risk of LADA, insulin resistance and GADA, results based on HUNT	i and ESTRID studies.

		Norwegian HUNT Study	5	Swedish ESTRID Stud	dy
		Association with LADA incidence	Association with LADA incidence	Association with insulin resistance*	Association with GADA levels*
Increased risk	Overweight/obesity (Hjort et al., 2018b)	\uparrow	↑	↑	4
	Low birth weight (Hjort et al., 2015)		\uparrow		
	Smoking (Rasouli et al., 2013b, 2016)	\downarrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\downarrow
	Coffee (Rasouli et al., 2018)		\uparrow		\uparrow
	Sweetened beverages (Löfvenborg et al., 2016)		\uparrow	$\uparrow \pm$	
Reduced risk	Alcohol (Rasouli et al., 2013a, 2014)	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	
	Fatty fish (Löfvenborg et al., 2014)		\downarrow		
	Physical activity (Carlsson et al., 2007; Hjort et al., 2018a)	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	
No association	Serious life events (Rasouli et al., 2017b)		\rightarrow		
	Smokeless tobacco use (Rasouli et al., 2017a)		\rightarrow		

 \uparrow , increased risk; \downarrow , reduced risk; \rightarrow , no association. *, \uparrow , Positive association or higher mean/median level in exposed than unexposed; \downarrow , Negative association or lower mean/median in exposed than unexposed. \pm HOMA-IR 3.7 vs. 2.5, P = 0.0561 in high (>2 servings per day) compared to low consumers.



including a recent study on maternal smoking during pregnancy based on data from three different cohorts (Magnus et al., 2018). The authors speculate that a beneficial influence may be due to immune suppressive effects of nicotine (Magnus et al., 2018). Interestingly, in LADA patients, smoking is positively associated with insulin resistance and negatively associated with GADA levels (Rasouli et al., 2013b, 2016). This indicates that smoking may confer both positive and negative effects and population characteristics including degree of underlying autoimmunity may determine whether the net effect is beneficial or detrimental. The effects may also cancel out each other which may explain why we did not find an association between use of Swedish oral moist snuff and LADA (Rasouli et al., 2017a). Interaction with genetic factors may account for some of this heterogeneity; notably, strong interaction between smoking and HLA genotypes has been demonstrated in relation to rheumatoid arthritis (Kallberg et al., 2007) but this remains to be explore in relation to LADA.

DISCUSSION

Despite the autoimmune nature of LADA and clear genetic overlap with type 1 diabetes, studies on lifestyle and LADA risk indicate that factors such as overweight and physical inactivity that are associated with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes may also promote LADA. This indicates that insulin resistance may play a key role in the pathogeneses of LADA together with autoimmune destruction of the insulin producing beta-cells. Based on current knowledge, one can create a model over LADA development where the first step in disease development is genetically triggered autoimmunity that slowly destroys the beta-cells and reduces insulin release. At a second stage, exposure to unhealthy lifestyle factors leads to insulin resistance and increased demand on the beta-cells for a compensatory rise in insulin production. Eventually the beta-cells will fail to meet the increasing



FIGURE 4 | Association between BMI and GADA levels in LADA. The curved line represents results of a regression and the shaded surface represents 95% confidence intervals. Data from the ESTRID-study (data set described in Hjort et al., 2018b).



insulin need, resulting in hyperglycemia and LADA becomes manifest (Figure 5).

This fits with the accelerator hypothesis (Wilkin, 2001), which proposes that insulin resistance may be involved in the promotion of all forms of diabetes by stressing the beta-cells, possibly accelerating the autoimmune process as well as beta-cell apoptosis. In line with this reasoning, excessive weight has also been linked to the risk of type 1 diabetes in children

(Verbeeten et al., 2011). The relative importance of insulin resistance for disease progression will most likely depend on the degree of underlying autoimmunity; if autoimmunity is severe enough, the influence of factors promoting insulin resistance is most likely minor. Consistent with this hypothesis, data from the ESTRID Study (Hjort et al., 2018b) show a negative association between GADA and HOMA-IR in LADA patients at time of diagnosis (**Figure 6**).



This also fits with reasoning by Naik et al. who proposed that insulin resistance will determine at what point in the autoimmune process LADA will become manifest (Naik et al., 2009).

Opportunities for Prevention

Intervention studies show that it is possible to prevent type 2 diabetes by lifestyle modification (Tuomilehto et al., 2001; Knowler et al., 2002). In the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study and the United States Diabetes Prevention Program, a 58% risk reduction among individuals with pre-diabetes was achieved by diet modification (e.g., increase in fiber intake and reduction of fat intake) and increased physical activity, with weight loss as the key factor behind the protective effect. A partly similar etiology of LADA suggests that it may also be possible to prevent or postpone LADA through the same lifestyle modifications. The fact that GADA has been detected in LADA patients several years prior to diagnosis suggests that LADA, similar to type 2 diabetes, has a long pre-diabetic phase (Lundgren et al., 2010; Sørgjerd et al., 2012) during which it may be possible to intervene. The preventive potential can be expected to be smaller for LADA than for type 2 diabetes where insulin resistance is the main driver of disease development. In line with this, the population attributable fraction of cases attributed to overweight/obesity in the ESTRID Study was estimated at 31% for LADA and 82% for type 2 diabetes (Hjort et al., 2018b). In order to investigate whether lifestyle intervention may reduce LADA risk, intervention studies are needed and such studies could target people with high risk, e.g., those with high genetic risk or antibody positivity similar to what has been done in type 1 diabetes (Skyler, 2013). Unfortunately, it has proved to be very difficult to prevent type 1 diabetes in children (Skyler, 2013). However, the trials conducted to date have primarily targeted factors with hypothesized effect on development and progression of autoimmunity and not insulin resistance which could prove to be fruitful in the prevention of LADA. Consistent with findings in children, adult carriers of autoantibodies are at increased risk of developing diabetes (Lundgren et al., 2010), and screening of non-diabetic individuals indicate that 0.7-4.7% of the general population display such autoantibody positivity (Ruige et al., 1997; Lundgren et al., 2010; Rolandsson et al., 2015; Sørgjerd et al., 2015). Such individuals may be suitable targets for intervention studies, under the assumption that whether a person acquires insulin resistance determines if and when the autoimmune reaction will result in hyperglycemia. Furthermore, preliminary findings based on the ESTRID and HUNT studies (Hjort et al., 2017b) indicate that the combination of HLA genotypes, in particular DR4/4, and overweight dramatically increases the risk of LADA. Carriers of these genotypes may also be considered for intervention studies focusing on weight reduction.

Much Remains to Be Explored

At this point it has to be stressed that current knowledge of the role of lifestyle factors in the etiology of LADA is still very limited. There are few studies and they are all based on data from two Scandinavian studies. The HUNT and ESTRID studies have limitations; HUNT has the advantage of being a prospective cohort study, at the same time the number of patients is small. ESTRID on the other hand, is based on more than twice as many cases but uses a case-control design which is more efficient for rare conditions, but implies that lifestyle information is collected retrospectively and this may introduce recall bias. Strengths of the studies include the detailed information on lifestyle and genetic information, careful characterization of cases and

population-based design. Moreover, the consistency of findings across the two cohorts provides support for the validity of the data at hand. Interestingly, data from the Swedish ESTRIDstudy suggests a protective effect of fatty fish (Löfvenborg et al., 2014) and a harmful effect of coffee consumption (Rasouli et al., 2018) on the risk of LADA, that is not seen for type 2 diabetes. Moreover, findings regarding smoking seemed to go in opposite directions in the Swedish (Rasouli et al., 2016) and Norwegian data (Rasouli et al., 2013b). Replications of these findings in other populations are clearly warranted and there are many potential risk factors that remain to be investigated. This is especially true for dietary factors. Moreover, gene*environment interaction in LADA is an important but currently unexplored field. Since lifestyle factors are likely to act on genetic susceptibility in the promotion of LADA, this is important to address if we want to understand how LADA develops.

What About Prognosis?

So what does the specific pathogenesis of LADA entail in terms of prognosis and disease management? Data from a small number of studies indicate that LADA patients have worse glycemic control than patients with type 2 diabetes (Olsson et al., 2013; Hawa et al., 2014) which may be due to the limited endogenous insulin production. Lack of established treatment guidelines may also play a role; as outlined in a recent review there is a shortage of randomized clinical trials in LADA and the optimal treatment regimen is still unknown (Hals, 2018). Moreover, in the absence of autoantibody testing, LADA patients are likely to be diagnosed as having type 2 diabetes and treated according to such recommendations, which may not be optimal. The combination of poor glycemic control and insulin resistance, together with other features of the metabolic syndrome may put individuals with LADA at high risk of complications. As summarize in a recent review (Buzzetti et al., 2017), data from the few studies conducted to date indicate that the risk of both micro- and macro vascular complications is at least as high in LADA as in type 2 diabetes patients, in spite of their generally healthier metabolic profile. The long term consequences of LADA and the role of different prognostic factors such as treatment and lifestyle are important to elucidate in order to improve secondary prevention. As pointed out by Buzzetti et al. (2017), future studies need to take into account the heterogeneous nature of LADA; the degree of underlying autoimmunity and subsequent beta-cells loss will most likely affect response to treatment as well as prognosis.

REFERENCES

- Abdullah, A., Peeters, A., de Courten, M., and Stoelwinder, J. (2010). The magnitude of association between overweight and obesity and the risk of diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 89, 309–319. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2010.04.012
- Ahlqvist, E., Storm, P., Käräjämäki, A., Martinell, M., Dorkhan, M., Carlsson, A., et al. (2018). Novel subgroups of adult-onset diabetes and their association with outcomes: a data-driven cluster analysis of six variables. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 6, 361–369. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18) 30051-2

CONCLUSION

Taken together, studies conducted to date indicate that LADA, similar to type 2 diabetes, results from an imbalance between insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion. However, the relative contribution of insulin deficiency to disease progression is greater in LADA and of different origin, namely due to the same autoimmune pathogenesis underlying type 1 diabetes. The findings of an association between unhealthy lifestyle factors and LADA opens up the possibility that LADA to some extent may be prevented through the same lifestyle modifications as type 2 diabetes, including healthy diet, increased physical activity and subsequent weight loss. Intervention studies to test this hypothesis are needed and such studies may proposedly target GADA positive individuals without manifest diabetes or individuals with high genetic risk.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because the datasets analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request (ESTRID) and with permission of the HUNT Study by applying to the HUNT Study data access committee. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to sofia.carlsson@ki.se.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SC conceived and wrote the manuscript and agreed to be accountable for its content.

FUNDING

SC was supported by grants from the Swedish Research Council.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author gratefully acknowledges the contribution of Tomas Andersson with regard to data analysis and preparation of **Figures 3, 4, 6**, and Rebecka Hjort, Jessica Edstorp, and Josefin Edwall Löfvenborg for valuable input on the content of the manuscript and proofreading.

- Andersen, M. K., and Hansen, T. (2018). Genetics of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.2174/ 1573399814666180730123226
- Andersen, M. K., Lundgren, V., Turunen, J. A., Forsblom, C., Isomaa, B., Groop, P. H., et al. (2010). Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults differs genetically from classical type 1 diabetes diagnosed after the age of 35 years. *Diabetes Care* 33, 2062–2064. doi: 10.2337/dc09-2188
- Andersen, M. K., Sterner, M., Forsén, T., Käräjämäki, A., Rolandsson, O., Forsblom, C., et al. (2014). Type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene variants predispose to adult-onset autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetologia* 57, 1859–1868. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3287-8

- Behme, M. T., Dupre, J., Harris, S. B., Hramiak, I. M., and Mahon, J. L. (2003). Insulin resistance in latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1005, 374–377. doi: 10.1196/annals.1288.062
- Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Faulkner, G. E., Bajaj, R. R., Silver, M. A., Mitchell, M. S., et al. (2015). Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 162, 123–132. doi: 10.7326/M14-1651
- Brophy, S., Yderstraede, K., Mauricio, D., Hunter, S., Hawa, M., Pozzilli, P., et al. (2008). Time to insulin initiation cannot be used in defining latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Diabetes Care* 31, 439–441. doi: 10.2337/dc07-1308
- Burrack, A. L., Martinov, T., and Fife, B. T. (2017). T cell-mediated beta cell destruction: autoimmunity and alloimmunity in the context of type 1 diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 8:343. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00343
- Buzzetti, R., Di Pietro, S., Giaccari, A., Petrone, A., Locatelli, M., Suraci, C., et al. (2007). High titer of autoantibodies to GAD identifies a specific phenotype of adult-onset autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 30, 932–938. doi: 10.2337/ dc06-1696
- Buzzetti, R., Zampetti, S., and Maddaloni, E. (2017). Adult-onset autoimmune diabetes: current knowledge and implications for management. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 13, 674–686. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.99
- Calder, P. C. (2013). n-3 Fatty acids, inflammation and immunity: new mechanisms to explain old actions. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 72, 326–336. doi: 10.1017/ S0029665113001031
- Carlsson, A., Sundkvist, G., Groop, L., and Tuomi, T. (2000). Insulin and glucagon secretion in patients with slowly progressing autoimmune diabetes (LADA). *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 85, 76–80.
- Carlsson, S. (2018). Environmental (lifestyle) risk factors for lada. *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* doi: 10.2174/1573399814666180716150253 [Epub ahead of print].
- Carlsson, S., Midthjell, K., Tesfamarian, M. Y., and Grill, V. (2007). Age, overweight and physical inactivity increase the risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults: results from the Nord-Trøndelag health study. *Diabetologia* 50, 55–58. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0518-7
- Carlström, M., and Larsson, S. C. (2018). Coffee consumption and reduced risk of developing type 2 diabetes: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Nutr. Rev.* 76, 395–417. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuy014
- Cervin, C., Lyssenko, V., Bakhtadze, E., Lindholm, E., Nilsson, P., Tuomi, T., et al. (2008). Genetic similarities between latent autoimmune diabetes in adults, type 1 diabetes, and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 57, 1433–1437. doi: 10.2337/db07-0299
- Chiu, H. K., Tsai, E. C., Juneja, R., Stoever, J., Brooks-Worrell, B., Goel, A., et al. (2007). Equivalent insulin resistance in latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 77, 237–244. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2006.12.013
- Cousminer, D. L., Ahlqvist, E., Mishra, R., Andersen, M. K., Chesi, A., Hawa, M. I., et al. (2018). First genome-wide association study of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults reveals novel insights linking immune and metabolic diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 41, 2396–2403. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1032
- Dahlquist, G., and Källén, B. (1992). Maternal-child blood group incompatibility and other perinatal events increase the risk for early-onset type 1 (insulindependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 35, 671–675. doi: 10.1007/BF004 00261
- DeFronzo, R. A., Ferrannini, E., Groop, L., Henry, R. R., Herman, W. H., Holst, J. J., et al. (2015). Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 1:15019. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2015.19
- Desai, M., Zeggini, E., Horton, V. A., Owen, K. R., Hattersley, A. T., Levy, J. C., et al. (2007). An association analysis of the HLA gene region in latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Diabetologia* 50, 68–73. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0513-z
- Diamond Project Group. (2006). Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990–1999. *Diabet. Med.* 23, 857–866. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01925.x
- Fourlanos, S., Dotta, F., Greenbaum, C. J., Palmer, J. P., Rolandsson, O., Colman, P. G., et al. (2005). Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) should be less latent. *Diabetologia*. 48, 2206–2212. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1960-7
- Fuchsberger, C., Flannick, J., Teslovich, T. M., Mahajan, A., Agarwala, V., Gaulton, K. J., et al. (2016). The genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 536, 41–47. doi: 10.1038/nature18642

- Hals, I. K. (2018). Treatment of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults: what is best? *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* doi: 10.2174/1573399814666180716144429 [Epub ahead of print].
- Hawa, M. I., Buchan, A. P., Ola, T., Wun, C. C., DeMicco, D. A., Bao, W., et al. (2014). LADA and CARDS: a prospective study of clinical outcome in established adult-onset autoimmune diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 37, 1643–1649. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2383
- Hawa, M. I., Kolb, H., Schloot, N., Beyan, H., Paschou, S. A., Buzzetti, R., et al. (2013). Adult-onset autoimmune diabetes in Europe is prevalent with a broad clinical phenotype: action LADA 7. *Diabetes Care* 36, 908–913. doi: 10.2337/ dc12-0931
- Hernandez, M., Mollo, A., Marsal, J. R., Esquerda, A., Capel, I., Puig-Domingo, M., et al. (2015). Insulin secretion in patients with latent autoimmune diabetes (LADA): half way between type 1 and type 2 diabetes: action LADA 9. BMC Endocr. Disord. 15:1. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-15-1
- Hjort, R., Ahlqvist, E., Alfredsson, L., Grill, V., Groop, L., Rosengren, A., et al. (2018a). Physical activity and the risk of LADA, results from a Swedish casecontrol study and the Norwegian HUNT study. *Diabetologia* 61(Suppl. 1), S1–S620. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4596-0
- Hjort, R., Ahlqvist, E., Carlsson, P. O., Grill, V., Groop, L., Martinell, M., et al. (2018b). Overweight, obesity and the risk of LADA: results from a Swedish casecontrol study and the Norwegian HUNT study. *Diabetologia* 61, 1333–1343. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4596-0
- Hjort, R., Alfredsson, L., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Grill, V., Groop, L., et al. (2017a). Family history of type 1 and type 2 diabetes and risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA). *Diabetes Metab.* 43, 536–542. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2017.05.010
- Hjort, R., Edwall Löfvenborg, J., Ahlqvist, E., Alfredsson, L., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P.-O., et al. (2017b). Overweight, obesity, genetic susceptibility and the risk of LADA: latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Diabetologia* 60(Suppl. 1), S1–S608. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2378-z
- Hjort, R., Alfredsson, L., Carlsson, P. O., Groop, L., Martinell, M., Storm, P., et al. (2015). Low birthweight is associated with an increased risk of LADA and type 2 diabetes: results from a Swedish case-control study. *Diabetologia* 58, 2525–2532. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3711-8
- Hosszúfalusi, N., Vatay, A., Rajczy, K., Prohászka, Z., Pozsonyi, E., Horváth, L., et al. (2003). Similar genetic features and different islet cell autoantibody pattern of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) compared with adult-onset type 1 diabetes with rapid progression. *Diabetes Care* 26, 452–457. doi: 10.2337/ diacare.26.2.452
- Insel, R. A., Dunne, J. L., Atkinson, M. A., Chiang, J. L., Dabelea, D., Gottlieb, P. A., et al. (2015). Staging presymptomatic type 1 diabetes: a scientific statement of JDRF, the endocrine society, and the american diabetes association. *Diabetes Care* 38, 1964–1974. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1419
- Irvine, W. J., McCallum, C. J., Gray, R. S., and Duncan, L. J. (1977). Clinical and pathogenic significance of pancreatic-islet-cell antibodies in diabetics treated with oral hypoglycaemic agents. *Lancet* 1, 1025–1027. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(77)91258-2
- Juhl, C. B., Bradley, U., Holst, J. J., Leslie, R. D., Yderstraede, K. B., Hunter, S., et al. (2014). Similar weight-adjusted insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity in short-duration late autoimmune diabetes of adulthood (LADA) and type 2 diabetes: action LADA 9 [corrected]. *Diabet. Med.* 31, 941–945. doi: 10.1111/ dme.12434
- Kallberg, H., Padyukov, L., Plenge, R. M., Ronnelid, J., Gregersen, P. K., Mil, A. H., et al. (2007). Gene-gene and gene-environment interactions involving HLA-DRB1, PTPN22, and smoking in two subsets of rheumatoid arthritis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 80, 867–875. doi: 10.1086/516736
- Knowler, W. C., Barrett-Connor, E., Fowler, S. E., Hamman, R. F., Lachin, J. M., Walker, E. A., et al. (2002). Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 346, 393–403. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012512
- Krokstad, S., Langhammer, A., Hveem, K., Holmen, T. L., Midthjell, K., Stene, T. R., et al. (2013). Cohort profile: the HUNT study. Norway. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 42, 968–977. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys095
- Laaksonen, M. A., Knekt, P., Rissanen, H., Härkänen, T., Virtala, E., Marniemi, J., et al. (2010). The relative importance of modifiable potential risk factors of type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of two cohorts. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 25, 115–124. doi: 10.1007/s10654-009-9405-0

- Leslie, R. D., Palmer, J., Schloot, N. C., and Lernmark, A. (2016). Diabetes at the crossroads: relevance of disease classification to pathophysiology and treatment. *Diabetologia* 59, 13–20. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3789-z
- Li, X. H., Yu, F. F., Zhou, Y. H., and He, J. (2016). Association between alcohol consumption and the risk of incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 103, 818–829. doi: 10.3945/ajcn. 115.114389
- Löfvenborg, J. E., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Dorkhan, M., Groop, L., Martinell, M., et al. (2014). Fatty fish consumption and risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Nutr. Diabetes* 4:e139. doi: 10.1038/nutd. 2014.36
- Löfvenborg, J. E., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Dorkhan, M., Groop, L., Martinell, M., et al. (2016). Sweetened beverage intake and risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and type 2 diabetes. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 175, 605–614. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0376
- Lundgren, V. M., Isomaa, B., Lyssenko, V., Laurila, E., Korhonen, P., Groop, L. C., et al. (2010). GAD antibody positivity predicts type 2 diabetes in an adult population. *Diabetes* 59, 416–422. doi: 10.2337/db09-0747
- Lv, J., Yu, C., Guo, Y., Bian, Z., Yang, L., Chen, Y., et al. (2017). Adherence to a healthy lifestyle and the risk of type 2 diabetes in chinese adults. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 46, 1410–1420. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx074
- Maddaloni, E., Lessan, N., Al Tikriti, A., Buzzetti, R., Pozzilli, P., and Barakat, M. T. (2015). Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults in the united arab emirates: clinical features and factors related to insulin-requirement. *PLoS One* 10:e0131837. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131837
- Magnus, M. C., Tapia, G., Olsen, S. F., Granstrom, C., Mårild, K., Ueland, P. M., et al. (2018). Parental smoking and risk of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. *Epidemiology* 29, 848–856. doi: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000011
- Maioli, M., Pes, G. M., Delitala, G., Puddu, L., Falorni, A., Tolu, F., et al. (2010). Number of autoantibodies and HLA genotype, more than high titers of glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies, predict insulin dependence in latent autoimmune diabetes of adults. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 163, 541–549. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0427
- Mayer-Davis, E. J., Lawrence, J. M., Dabelea, D., Divers, J., Isom, S., Dolan, L., et al. (2017). Incidence trends of type 1 and type 2 diabetes among youths, 2002–2012. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 376, 1419–1429. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1610187
- Mishra, R., Chesi, A., Cousminer, D. L., Hawa, M. I., Bradfield, J. P., Hodge, K. M., et al. (2017). Relative contribution of type 1 and type 2 diabetes loci to the genetic etiology of adult-onset, non-insulin-requiring autoimmune diabetes. *BMC Med.* 15:88. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0846-0
- Mishra, R., Hodge, K. M., Cousminer, D. L., Leslie, R. D., and Grant, S. F. A. (2018). A global perspective of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 29, 638–650. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2018.07.001
- Naik, R. G., Brooks-Worrell, B. M., and Palmer, J. P. (2009). Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 4635–4644. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2009-1120
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration [NCD-RisC] (2016). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. *Lancet* 387, 1513–1530.
- Niinistö, S., Takkinen, H. M., Erlund, I., Ahonen, S., Toppari, J., Ilonen, J., et al. (2017). Fatty acid status in infancy is associated with the risk of type 1 diabetesassociated autoimmunity. *Diabetologia* 60, 1223–1233. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4280-9
- Noble, J. A., Valdes, A. M., Cook, M., Klitz, W., Thomson, G., and Erlich, H. A. (1996). The role of HLA class II genes in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: molecular analysis of 180 Caucasian, multiplex families. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 59, 1134–1148.
- Norris, J. M., Yin, X., Lamb, M. M., Barriga, K., Seifert, J., Hoffman, M., et al. (2007). Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake and islet autoimmunity in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. *JAMA* 298, 1420–1428. doi: 10.1001/jama. 298.12.1420
- Olsson, L., Grill, V., Midthjell, K., Ahlbom, A., Andersson, T., and Carlsson, S. (2013). Mortality in adult-onset autoimmune diabetes is associated with poor glycemic control: results from the HUNT Study. *Diabetes Care* 36, 3971–3978. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0564
- Pan, A., Wang, Y., Talaei, M., Hu, F. B., and Wu, T. (2015). Relation of active, passive, and quitting smoking with incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review

and meta-analysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 3, 958–967. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00316-2

- Patterson, R., McNamara, E., Tainio, M., de Sá, T. H., Smith, A. D., Sharp, S. J., et al. (2018). Sedentary behaviour and risk of all-cause, cardiovascular and cancer mortality, and incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose response meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 33, 811–829. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0380-1
- Petersen, K. F., and Shulman, G. I. (2006). Etiology of insulin resistance. Am. J. Med. 119(5 Suppl. 1), S10–S16. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2006.01.009
- Pettersen, E., Skorpen, F., Kvaløy, K., Midthjell, K., and Grill, V. (2010). Genetic heterogeneity in latent autoimmune diabetes is linked to various degrees of autoimmune activity: results from the Nord-Trøndelag health study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev* 59, 302–310. doi: 10.2337/db09-0923
- Radtke, M. A., Midthjell, K., Nilsen, T. I., and Grill, V. (2009). Heterogeneity of patients with latent autoimmune diabetes in adults: linkage to autoimmunity is apparent only in those with perceived need for insulin treatment: results from the Nord-Trøndelag Health (HUNT) study. *Diabetes Care* 32, 245–250. doi: 10.2337/dc08-1468
- Rasouli, B., Ahlbom, A., Andersson, T., Grill, V., Midthjell, K., Olsson, L., et al. (2013a). Alcohol consumption is associated with reduced risk of type 2 diabetes and autoimmune diabetes in adults: results from the Nord-Trøndelag health study. *Diabet Med.* 30, 56–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03713.x
- Rasouli, B., Grill, V., Midthjell, K., Ahlbom, A., Andersson, T., and Carlsson, S. (2013b). Smoking is associated with reduced risk of autoimmune diabetes in adults contrasting with increased risk in overweight men with type 2 diabetes: a 22-year follow-up of the HUNT study. *Diabetes Care* 36, 604–610. doi: 10. 2337/dc12-0913
- Rasouli, B., Ahlqvist, E., Alfredsson, L., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Groop, L., et al. (2018). Coffee consumption, genetic susceptibility and risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults: a population-based case-control study. *Diabetes Metab* 44, 354–360. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2018.05.002
- Rasouli, B., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Dorkhan, M., Grill, V., Groop, L., et al. (2014). Alcohol and the risk for latent autoimmune diabetes in adults: results based on Swedish ESTRID study. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 171, 535–543. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0403
- Rasouli, B., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Grill, V., Groop, L., Martinell, M., et al. (2016). Smoking and the risk of LADA: results from a swedish population-based case-control study. *Diabetes Care* 39, 794–800. doi: 10.2337/dc15-2348
- Rasouli, B., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Grill, V., Groop, L., Martinell, M., et al. (2017a). Use of Swedish smokeless tobacco (snus) and the risk of type 2 diabetes and latent autoimmune diabetes of adulthood (LADA). *Diabet. Med.* 34, 514–521. doi: 10.1111/dme.13179
- Rasouli, B., Andersson, T., Carlsson, P. O., Hjort, R., Löfvenborg, J. E., Martinell, M., et al. (2017b). Serious life events and the risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and Type 2 diabetes. *Diabet. Med.* 34, 1259–1263. doi: 10.1111/dme.13410
- Regnell, S. E., and Lernmark, Å (2017). Early prediction of autoimmune (type 1) diabetes. *Diabetologia* 60, 1370–1381. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4308-1
- Rewers, M., and Ludvigsson, J. (2016). Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. *Lancet* 387, 2340–2348. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30507-4
- Rolandsson, O., Hampe, C. S., Wennberg, P., Radtke, J., Langenberg, C., Wareham, N., et al. (2015). Prevalence and regional distribution of autoantibodies against GAD65Ab in a european population without diabetes: the epic-interact study. *Diabetes Care* 38, e114–e115. doi: 10.2337/dc15-0305
- Ruige, J. B., Batstra, M. R., Aanstoot, H. J., Bouter, L. M., Bruining, G. J., De Neeling, J. N., et al. (1997). Low prevalence of antibodies to GAD65 in a 50- to 74-yearold general Dutch population. the hoorn study. *Diabetes Care* 20, 1108–1110. doi: 10.2337/diacare.20.7.1108
- Schwingshackl, L., Hoffmann, G., Lampousi, A. M., Knüppel, S., Iqbal, K., Schwedhelm, C., et al. (2017). Food groups and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 32, 363–375. doi: 10.1007/s10654-017-0246-y
- Sharif, K., Watad, A., Bragazzi, N. L., Adawi, M., Amital, H., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2017). Coffee and autoimmunity: more than a mere hot beverage! *Autoimmun. Rev.* 16, 712–721. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2017.05.007
- Skyler, J. S. (2013). Primary and secondary prevention of Type 1 diabetes. *Diabet. Med.* 30, 161–169. doi: 10.1111/dme.12100

- Smith, A. D., Crippa, A., Woodcock, J., and Brage, S. (2016). Physical activity and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Diabetologia* 59, 2527–2545. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4079-0
- Sørgjerd, E. P., Skorpen, F., Kvaløy, K., Midthjell, K., and Grill, V. (2012). Time dynamics of autoantibodies are coupled to phenotypes and add to the heterogeneity of autoimmune diabetes in adults: the HUNT study. Norway Diabetol. 55, 1310–1318. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2463-y
- Sørgjerd, E. P., Thorsby, P. M., Torjesen, P. A., Skorpen, F., Kvaløy, K., and Grill, V. (2015). Presence of anti-GAD in a non-diabetic population of adults; time dynamics and clinical influence: results from the HUNT study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* 3:e000076. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2014-000076
- Steinbrecher, A., Morimoto, Y., Heak, S., Ollberding, N. J., Geller, K. S., Grandinetti, A., et al. (2011). The preventable proportion of type 2 diabetes by ethnicity: the multiethnic cohort. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 21, 526–535. doi: 10.1016/j. annepidem.2011.03.009
- Stene, L. C., Joner, G., and Norwegian Childhood Diabetes Study Group. (2003). Use of cod liver oil during the first year of life is associated with lower risk of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes: a large, population-based, case-control study. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 78, 1128–1134. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.6.1128
- Takeda, H., Kawasaki, E., Shimizu, I., Konoue, E., Fujiyama, M., Murao, S., et al. (2002). Clinical, autoimmune, and genetic characteristics of adult-onset diabetic patients with GAD autoantibodies in Japan (ehime study). *Diabetes Care* 25, 995–1001. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.6.995
- The Diabetes Trials Unit (2017). *HOMA2 Calculator*. Available at https://www.dtu.ox.ac.uk/homacalculator/
- Tuomi, T., Carlsson, A., Li, H., Isomaa, B., Miettinen, A., Nilsson, A., et al. (1999). Clinical and genetic characteristics of type 2 diabetes with and without GAD antibodies. *Diabetes* 48, 150–157. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.48.1.150
- Tuomi, T., Groop, L. C., Zimmet, P. Z., Rowley, M. J., Knowles, W., and Mackay, I. R. (1993). Antibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase reveal latent autoimmune diabetes mellitus in adults with a non-insulin-dependent onset of disease. *Diabetes* 42, 359–362. doi: 10.2337/diab.42.2.359
- Tuomi, T., Santoro, N., Caprio, S., Cai, M., Weng, J., and Groop, L. (2014). The many faces of diabetes: a disease with increasing heterogeneity. *Lancet* 383, 1084–1094. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62219-9
- Tuomilehto, J., Lindström, J., Eriksson, J. G., Valle, T. T., Hämäläinen, H., Ilanne-Parikka, P., et al. (2001). Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344, 1343–1350. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200105033441801
- Turner, R., Stratton, I., Horton, V., Manley, S., Zimmet, P., Mackay, I. R., et al. (1997). UKPDS 25: autoantibodies to islet-cell cytoplasm and glutamic acid decarboxylase for prediction of insulin requirement in type 2 diabetes. UK prospective diabetes study group. *Lancet* 350, 1288–1293. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)03062-6

- Vandenbroucke, J. P., and Pearce, N. (2012). Case-control studies: basic concepts. Int. J. Epidemiol. 41, 1480–1489. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys147
- Verbeeten, K. C., Elks, C. E., Daneman, D., and Ong, K. K. (2011). Association between childhood obesity and subsequent type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabet. Med.* 28, 10–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010. 03160.x
- Virtanen, S. M., Rasanen, L., Aro, A., Ylönen, K., Lounamaa, R., Akerblom, H. K., et al. (1994). Is children's or parents' coffee or tea consumption associated with the risk for type 1 diabetes mellitus in children? childhood diabetes in finland study group. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 48, 279–285.
- Whincup, P. H., Kaye, S. J., Owen, C. G., Huxley, R., Cook, D. G., Anazawa, S., et al. (2008). Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *JAMA* 300, 2886–2897. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.886
- Wilkin, T. J. (2001). The accelerator hypothesis: weight gain as the missing link between type I and type II diabetes. *Diabetologia* 44, 914–922. doi: 10.1007/ s001250100548
- Wod, M., Thomsen, R. W., Pedersen, L., Yderstraede, K. B., Beck-Nielsen, H., and Højlund, K. (2018). Lower mortality and cardiovascular event rates in patients with latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) as compared with type 2 diabetes and insulin deficient diabetes: a cohort study of 4368 patients. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 139, 107–113. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.042
- Zampetti, S., Campagna, G., Tiberti, C., Songini, M., Arpi, M. L., De Simone, G., et al. (2014). High GADA titer increases the risk of insulin requirement in LADA patients: a 7-year follow-up (NIRAD study 7). *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 171, 697–704. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0342
- Zhou, Z., Xiang, Y., Ji, L., Jia, W., Ning, G., Huang, G., et al. (2013). Frequency, immunogenetics, and clinical characteristics of latent autoimmune diabetes in China (LADA China study): a nationwide, multicenter, clinic-based crosssectional study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 62, 543–550. doi: 10.2337/db12-0207
- Zinman, B., Kahn, S. E., Haffner, S. M., O'Neill, M. C., Heise, M. A., Freed, M. I., et al. (2004). Phenotypic characteristics of GAD antibody-positive recently diagnosed patients with type 2 diabetes in North America and Europe. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 53, 3193–3200. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.12.3193

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Carlsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of Bile Acids in Bariatric Surgery

Wenting Wang¹, Zhiqiang Cheng², Yanlei Wang², Yong Dai², Xiang Zhang^{2*} and Sanyuan Hu²

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Second Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan, China, ² Department of General Surgery, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan, China

Bariatric surgery has been proved to be effective and sustainable in the longterm weight-loss and remission of metabolic disorders. However, the underlying mechanisms are still far from fully elucidated. After bariatric surgery, the gastrointestinal tract is manipulated, either anatomically or functionally, leading to changed bile acid metabolism. Accumulating evidence has shown that bile acids play a role in metabolic regulation as signaling molecules other than digestive juice. And most of the metabolism-beneficial effects are mediated through nuclear receptor FXR and membrane receptor TGR5, as well as reciprocal influence on gut microbiota. Bile diversion procedure is also performed on animals to recapitulate the benefits of bariatric surgery. It appears that bile acid alteration is an important component of bariatric surgery, and represents a promising target for the management of metabolic disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Per-Ola Carlsson, Uppsala University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Vladimir Stich, Charles University, Czechia Tomasz Sledzinski, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

> *Correspondence: Xiang Zhang xiang.zhang02@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 06 October 2018 Accepted: 18 March 2019 Published: 02 April 2019

Citation:

Wang W, Cheng Z, Wang Y, Dai Y, Zhang X and Hu S (2019) Role of Bile Acids in Bariatric Surgery. Front. Physiol. 10:374. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00374 Keywords: bariatric surgery, bile acids, metabolic disorders, diabetes type 2, gut microbiota

INTRODUCTION

Bariatric surgery has been proved to be both effective and sustainable in the long-term weightloss and remission of metabolic disorders (Adams et al., 2017; Schauer et al., 2017). However, the underlying mechanisms are still far from fully elucidated. One interesting phenomenon observed after bariatric surgery is the increase of serum total bile acids. Actually, apart from the purely restrictive procedure, adjustable gastric banding (AGB) (Kohli et al., 2013a), it has been reported that all other types of bariatric surgery are associated with postsurgical increase of serum total bile acids (Steinert et al., 2013; Albaugh et al., 2015; Ferrannini et al., 2015; Han et al., 2015). And this phenomenon has raised concern about the relationships between bile acids and bariatric surgery. Bile acids are known as the "intestinal soap," for their physiological effect on facilitating dietary fat and fat-soluble vitamin absorption. It is not until the late 1990s that bile acids had been found taking effect as signaling molecules (Makishima et al., 1999). Most of the metabolic benefits of bile acids are mediated through nuclear or membrane receptors, or interaction with gut microbiota. In the present review, we focus on two major questions: (i) why serum bile acids are increased after bariatric surgery? (ii) how the altered bile acid metabolism contributes to the metabolic benefits of bariatric surgery?

MECHANISMS OF SERUM BILE ACID ELEVATION AFTER BARIATRIC SURGERY

Bile acids are synthesized from cholesterols in the liver, stored in the gallbladder and expelled into the duodenum in response to enteral stimuli. Approximately, 95% of luminal bile acids are recycled

93

into the portal vein in the terminal ileum and reutilized by the liver, forming the "enterohepatic circulation." Serum bile acids represent the excess bile acids that cannot be recycled by the liver during the enterohepatic circulation and thus present in the peripheral circulation. Increased serum bile acids may derive from increased synthesis in the liver, more reabsorption in the ileum and/or decreased excretion in the feces.

In Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) and biliopancreatic diversion (BPD), shortened route of the enterohepatic circulation (the biliopancreatic limb and the common limb) expedites the contact of luminal bile acids with the ileum, a major area for bile acid reabsorption, leading to earlier and more active bile acid reabsorption (Ferrannini et al., 2015). This explanation is also supported by an experimental procedure performed on rats termed ileal interposition (IT), in which the interposition of a segment of the ileum into the proximal jejunum shows greater bile acid reabsorption and increased serum bile acids (Cummings et al., 2013). It has been speculated that the length ratio of the biliopancreatic limb and the common limb represent a major determinant of postoperative serum bile acid concentrations. Postoperative serum bile acid concentrations are likely to be greater with longer biliopancreatic limb and shorter common limb, as evidenced by both animal (Han et al., 2015; Miyachi et al., 2016) and human studies (Mika et al., 2018). The precise mechanism has yet been elucidated. In BPD, the functional common limb left is less than one meter (Tacchino et al., 2003), and the increased luminal bile acid reabsorption cannot compensate for substantial fecal bile acid loss. Therefore, the increased hepatic bile acid synthesis also contributes to increased serum bile acids as a complementary mechanism (Scopinaro, 2006; Ferrannini et al., 2015). Compared to BPD, RYGB as well as duodenal-jejunal bypass (DJB, an experimental procedure designed to investigate the mechanism of diabetes remission with no effect on weight-loss), has enough intestinal bile acid reabsorption area, with either decreased (de Siqueira Cardinelli et al., 2019) or unchanged fecal bile acid excretion (Li et al., 2011; Bhutta et al., 2015), and the hepatic bile acid synthesis is decreased (Ferrannini et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016), probably due to a feedback regulation in response to the increased serum bile acids.

For vertical sleeve gastrectomy (VSG), only limited data are available regarding postsurgical serum bile acids. One human study showed immediate increase of serum bile acids after surgery (Kindel et al., 2018), while two other human studies showed unchanged serum bile acids until 1 or 2 years after surgery, with only statistically non-significant increase (Nakatani et al., 2009; Haluzikova et al., 2013). In contrast, animal studies showed consistently increased serum bile acids after VSG (Cummings et al., 2012; Myronovych et al., 2014a,b). Due to the lack of direct anatomical manipulation of the gut, the increased serum bile acids after VSG are likely to be a secondary effect of altered gastrointestinal function (Sips et al., 2018) and progressively intestinal adaption. It has been reported that VSG accelerates gastric emptying and intestinal motility (Mans et al., 2015). And Myronovych et al. (2014b) has found decreased hepatic bile acid synthesis, increased

intestinal villus length and enlarged bile acid reabsorption intestinal area, which might explain the increased serum bile acids after VSG.

BILE ACIDS, FXR AND BARIATRIC SURGERY

Role of FXR in Maintaining Bile Acid Homeostasis

The farnesoid X receptor (FXR, NR1H4), an orphan member of the nuclear receptor family, was first identified as a natural receptor for bile acids in 1999 (Makishima et al., 1999; Parks et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1999). Subsequently, bile acids were found transcriptionally regulating their own synthesis and enterohepatic transport by repressing CYP7A1 (a rate-limiting enzyme for bile acid synthesis in the liver) via hepatic FXR-SHP-CYP7A1 pathway (Goodwin et al., 2000; Lu et al., 2000). Later, fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19, in rodents ortholog FGF15), secreted mainly from the ileum in response to intestinal FXR activation, was found as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis as well (Inagaki et al., 2005). Circulating FGF15/19 within the portal venous system targets FGF receptor 4 (FGFR4) in the liver, and inhibits CYP7A1 expression and bile acid synthesis, thus working as components of a gut-liver signaling pathway that synergizes with hepatic FXR-SHP-CYP7A1 pathway to regulate bile acid homeostasis (Inagaki et al., 2005).

Role of FXR in Metabolism Regulation

The metabolism-regulating effect of FXR is more complex compared to bile acid homeostasis maintenance. A variety of genetic and pharmacological animal models have been established to investigate the role of FXR signaling in body weight management and metabolism regulation. Whole body FXR knock-out mice $(FXR^{-/-})$ displayed impaired glucose disposal and elevated blood glucose concentrations, as a result of blunted insulin pathway in the liver, peripheral adipose tissue and skeletal muscles, although FXR is not expressed in skeletal muscles (Cariou et al., 2006; Ma et al., 2006). Meantime, plasma triglycerides, cholesterols and free fatty acids were elevated, with severe liver fat accumulation, however, surprisingly, this kind of mouse model was protected from diet- or geneticallyinduced obesity, probably because the adipocyte differentiation was impaired in the absence of FXR (Sinal et al., 2000; Cariou et al., 2006). In contrast, supplementation of whole-body FXR agonist (GW4064) in ob/ob mice has multiple beneficial effects, indicating that FXR could be a potential therapeutic target for metabolic disorders and bariatric surgery (Cariou et al., 2006).

Since FXR is abundant in the liver and small intestine, some studies concentrate on its tissue-specific signaling. In the liver, FXR activation lowers plasma triglycerides via FXR-SHP-(SREBP-1c) pathway (Watanabe et al., 2004), and improves hyperglycemia by inhibiting gluconeogenesis and improving insulin sensitivity (Zhang et al., 2006). In contrast, liver-specific $FXR^{-/-}$ mice showed increased plasma triglycerides, and unlike

whole-body FXR knock-out, were not protected from dietinduced obesity and insulin resistance (Watanabe et al., 2004). In the small intestine, the physiological role of FXR is primarily mediated by FGF15/19 whose metabolism-beneficial functions resemble those of insulin in stimulating protein and glycogen synthesis and inhibiting gluconeogenesis, but does not lead to body weight gain or hepatic fat accumulation (Kir et al., 2011).

Bile Acid-FXR Pathway in Bariatric Surgery

Since bile acids are natural ligands for FXR, it has been believed that bile acid-FXR pathway contribute to the beneficial effects of bariatric surgery. However, no consensus has been reached so far. The essential role of FXR in bariatric surgery was first demonstrated by a milestone research published in 2014. The ability of VSG to reduce body weight and improve glucose tolerance was substantially reduced in the state of genetic disruption of FXR (Ryan et al., 2014). Nevertheless, the results were later questioned by the authors themselves, as the whole body FXR knock-out mice per se were protected from diet-induced obesity as well as glucose intolerance, and the observational window might not be long enough (Bozadjieva et al., 2018). Bariatric surgery alters bile acid drainage, either anatomically or functionally, and changes luminal bile acid concentrations and composition. Activation of intestinal FXR by bile acids increases FGF19 following bariatric surgery in humans and represents one mechanism accounting for postsurgical metabolic improvement (Jansen et al., 2011; Pournaras et al., 2012; Gerhard et al., 2013; Haluzikova et al., 2013; Jorgensen et al., 2015; Sachdev et al., 2016). One human study did not support the contribution of FGF19 to the benefit of RYGB, as the increase of FGF19 did not parallel the improvement of glucose tolerance (Jorgensen et al., 2015). And animal studies have shown that both intestine-specific FXR agonist (Fexaramine) (Fang et al., 2015) and antagonist (Glycine-muricholic acid) (Jiang et al., 2015) have the capacity of reducing body weight and improving metabolism. Interestingly, alteration of luminal bile acids after bariatric surgery did not guarantee activation of intestinal FXR. On the contrary, intestinal FXR was intact or even repressed (Kohli et al., 2013b; Goncalves et al., 2015). These unexpected phenomena have been thought closely related to the intestinal bile acid milieu, as the physiological effect of each individual bile acid differs in interacting with FXR, with chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) being a potent agonist, deoxycholic acid (DCA) being a moderate agonist (Parks et al., 1999), yet ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) (Mueller et al., 2015), and muricholic acid (MCA, only in rodents) being antagonists (Jiang et al., 2015). Surprisingly, intestinal FXR repression also leads to metabolic benefits. One study reported that FXR repression within intestinal L cells led to glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) secretion hence improving glucose metabolism (Trabelsi et al., 2015). This finding may also partly explain the paradox between intestinal bile supplementation and bile deprivation (e.g., bile sequestrant),

both of which have been confirmed effective in enhancing GLP-1 secretion (Trabelsi et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016).

It should be noted that most of the studies identifying intestinal FXR repression as a positive metabolic regulator are from animal models, suggesting that the gut may respond differently to FXR-specific targeting between animals and humans.

BILE ACIDS, TGR5, AND BARIATRIC SURGERY

G protein coupled receptor 1, also known as TGR5 (GPR131), was discovered as a membrane-type receptor for bile acids in 2002 (Maruyama et al., 2002) and has been confirmed as another essential receptor in maintaining glucose homeostasis after sleeve gastrectomy (McGavigan et al., 2017). However, one latest report revealed that the metabolic benefits were still maintained in $Tgr5^{-/-}$, but not $Fxr^{\Delta / E}$ mice after a bariatric procedure, suggesting a less important role for TGR5 as opposed to intestinal FXR (Albaugh et al., 2018). Unlike FXR, each individual bile acid is capable of activating TGR5, only with different potency (conjugated form > unconjugated form, LCA > DCA > CDCA > CA) (Maruyama et al., 2002). Therefore, after bariatric surgery, the increased luminal or serum bile acids are able to elicit TGR5-mediated metabolic benefits, and appear to make a complementary contribution to the metabolic benefits of bariatric surgery.

Luminal Bile Acids, TGR5, and Incretins

In the distal small intestine, TGR5 activation within enteroendocrine L cells in response to luminal bile acids have been confirmed as a critical signaling pathway in promoting GLP-1 secretion in both animal models (Thomas et al., 2009) and humans (Wu et al., 2013). Following bariatric surgery, as a result of gut manipulation and increased luminal bile acids, serum GLP-1 has been found ubiquitously elevated, either acutely (le Roux et al., 2007) or gradually (Borg et al., 2006), and is now referred to as an important, albeit not exclusive, mechanism of bariatric surgery in improving glucose tolerance (Madsbad and Holst, 2014). GLP-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) are known as "incretin hormones" as they mediate the incretin effect, defined as the increased stimulation of insulin secretion elicited by oral compared with intravenous administration of glucose under similar plasma glucose levels (Wu et al., 2016). In health, the incretin effect accounts for 70% of postprandial insulin secretion after oral ingestion of glucose in a glucosedependent fashion (Nauck et al., 1986). In T2DM, the incretin effect is markedly impaired as a result of the loss of insulinotropic effect of GIP, while GLP-1 still maintains its pleiotropic physiological functions including stimulating insulin secretion, improving hepatic insulin sensitivity and suppressing appetite (Wu et al., 2014, 2016), which might account for the partially restored incretin effect after bariatric surgery (Laferrere et al., 2007). A latest "proof of concept" study has proved that the distal, as opposed to proximal, small intestine is superior in modulating postprandial glucose metabolism in both health and T2DM, of which GLP-1 plays a major role (Zhang et al., 2019). Currently, GLP-1 analogs as well as dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DDP4, an enzyme for degradation of incretins) inhibitors have been commercialized for the management of T2DM.

Serum Bile Acids, TGR5, and Energy Expenditure

In the skeletal muscle and brown adipose, increased serum bile acids have the capacity of converting tetraiodothyronine (T4) to triiodothyronine (T3) through TGR5, leading to more energy expenditure, which might facilitate weight loss (Kohli et al., 2013a; Broeders et al., 2015; Watanabe et al., 2006). However, the relevance between TGR5-mediated energy expenditure and bariatric surgery has not been clarified. In a human study, increased skeletal gene expressions of TGR5 downstream targets (mitochondrial COX IV and Kir6.2) were detected after RYGB, but no correlation with resting energy expenditure was found (Kohli et al., 2013a). In addition, the majority of studies suggest decreased energy expenditure after bariatric surgery, which might be a secondary effect of weight loss (Benedetti et al., 2000; Carrasco et al., 2007). In contrast, increased weight-adjusted energy expenditure was also present in some studies (Faria et al., 2012; Rabl et al., 2014). As energy metabolism is related to many factors, such as body composition, exercise or hormones, whether TGR5-mediated energy regulation plays a role in weight-loss after bariatric surgery still warrants further research.

MICROBIOTA AND BILE ACIDS

Role of Gut Microbiota in Metabolic Disorders

Gut microbiota, also named as "The Second Genome," consists of more than 1014 microorganisms, most of which have not been fully investigated (Turnbaugh et al., 2007). Five phyla dominate human gut community, including Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia, of which Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes account for over 90% of the whole gut microbiota (Tilg and Kaser, 2011). Along the whole gut, microbiota is not uniformly distributed. Both the abundance and diversity are increased from the proximal to distal gut (Prakash et al., 2011). In the stomach, only bacteria resistant to acidic environment survive (e.g., Lactobacillus or Streptococcus or Veillonella) (Dicksved et al., 2009), while in the large intestine, where the intrinsic environment is suitable for bacterial growth, lives most of the gut bacteria (Prakash et al., 2011). Gut microbiota begins to colonize since newborns, and is related to certain pathological states in adulthood. An identical twin study showed that different physiologic states (obese versus lean) are associated with distinct gut microbiota, despite the same genetic background

(Turnbaugh et al., 2009). In obesity, the majority of animal and human studies have demonstrated that the diversity of gut microbiota is decreased, and Phylum Firmicutes is increased at the expense of Phylum Bacteroidetes, independent of food consumption (Ley et al., 2006; Turnbaugh et al., 2006, 2009). In T2DM, inconsistent results have been reported. Larsen et al. found that the proportions of Phylum Firmicutes and Class Clostridia were significantly reduced in T2DM, and Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio was correlated positively and significantly with plasma glucose concentrations (Larsen et al., 2010). Oin et al. used a deep shotgun sequencing method analyzing gut microbial DNA from 345 Chinese individuals, and found that type 2 patients had a moderate degree of gut bacterial dysbiosis, a decline in butyrateproducing bacteria and an increase in diverse opportunistic pathological bacteria (Qin et al., 2012). They also pointed out that compared to inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), the degree of gut microbiota changes in T2DM was not that substantial. Since gut microbiota is influenced by various factors such as life style, dietary, disease, medication, and surgery, the currently available results should be interpreted with caution, and may not be used as a marker for T2DM monitoring at the moment.

Changes of Gut Microbiota After Bariatric Surgery

Bile acids and gut microbiota are reciprocally affected and are both altered by bariatric surgery. Within the enterohepatic circulation, bile acids in the distal ileum and colon undergo hydrolysis (deconjugation) and subsequent transformation into secondary bile acids. These processes require the catalysis of bile salt hydrolases (BSHs, produced by certain gut bacteria) and the bacterial activity of 7α -dehydroxylation (Ridlon et al., 2006). Meantime, both gut bile acid concentrations and compositions have direct influence on gut microbiota. Increased luminal bile acid concentrations have anti-bacterial effects, killing certain strains of bacterium and make some other bacteria (e.g., Bilophila wadsworthia) thrive (Noh and Gilliland, 1993; Devkota et al., 2012). Furthermore, some individual bile acids are capable of activating enteral FXR, thus leading to enteroprotection by promoting related gene expressions and inhibits bacterial overgrowth and mucosal injury in the ileum. All these effects indicate the existence of indirect influence on gut microbiota by gut bile acids (Inagaki et al., 2006). Following bariatric surgery, gut microbiota is changed. In RYGB, at the phylum level, Proteobacteria has been reported to be increased at the expense of Firmicutes (Zhang et al., 2009; Tremaroli et al., 2015), while Bacteroidetes has been found inconsistently changed, either increased (Furet et al., 2010) or decreased (Li et al., 2011; Graessler et al., 2013). In VSG, both animal and human studies showed increased Bacteroidetes and decreased Firmicutes, and rebuilt of the gut microbiota diversity (Jahansouz et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2017; Shao et al., 2018). At the species level, the outcomes have been inconsistently reported across different studies, further increasing the difficulty of gut microbiota research.

Year	Author	Journal	Model	Diversion site	Weight	Fasting glucose	Glucose tolerance	Insulin	GLP-1
1985	Manfredini G	Am J Physiol	Wistar rats	Second jejunal loop	4 (week 1)	t (week 1)	t (week 1)	I	N/A
1991	Ermini M	Acta Diabetol Lat	STZ-induced diabetic rats	Second jejunal loop	↓ (instantly)	↓ (instantly)	N/A	↓ (instantly)	N/A
2013	Kohli R	Endocrinology	Long-Evans obese rats	15, 30 cm distal to Treitz ligament	— (week 5)	4 (week 5)	↓ (week 5)	🗼 (week 4)	↑ (week4)
2015	Flynn CR	Nat Commun	Diet-induced obese mice	lleum	🗼 (week 8)	4 (week 4)	↓ (week 2)	🔶 (week 8)	N/A
2015	Goncalves D	Ann Surg	Sprague-Dawley rats	Mid-jejunum and mid-ileum	— (day 9)	- (day 10)	↓ (day 10)	↑ (day 10)	N/A
2015	Zhang X	Obes Surg	STZ-induced diabetic rats	25 cm distal to Treitz ligament	🗼 (week 8)	↓ (week 2)	↓ (week 8)	I	↑ (week8)

Bile Acids in Bariatric Surgery

As to the interaction of bile acids and gut microbiota after bariatric surgery, it's similar to an old question: "which came first, the chicken or the egg?" We do not have direct and strong evidence at the moment, but assume that the instantly altered luminal bile acids following bariatric surgery might be the driving force, and the final phenotype of luminal bile acids and gut microbiota is a result of gradual interaction and adaption of each other.

Gut Microbiota After Bariatric Surgery: A Signal Carrier?

Another question to be answered is how gut microbiota affects the host after bariatric surgery. In fact, the contribution of gut microbiota to the metabolic benefits after bariatric surgery has not been clarified. Based on currently available reports, gut microbiota is likely to be a signal carrier and transmits signals that are able to play a role even in a different host. Direct evidence comes from fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT). Patients with metabolic syndrome experienced significantly increased insulin sensitivity after receiving gut microbiota from lean donors (Vrieze et al., 2012). However, the improvement of insulin sensitivity disappeared at 12 weeks after FMT, suggesting that the beneficial effect of FMT might not last in absence of sustainable exogenous stimulations. Metabolic benefits were also observed in FMT from bariatric surgery recipient donors to mice (Tremaroli et al., 2015), but we do not know whether the effect of bariatric surgery could be recapitulated by FMT in human recipient as well.

Due to technical reasons, it's difficult to observe the dynamic change of luminal bile acids and gut microbiota frequently after bariatric surgery. And a Dutch population-based cohort showed that the influence of currently realized exogenous and intrinsic host factors could only explain 18.7% of the inter-individual variation of microbial composition (Zhernakova et al., 2016). Therefore, the knowledge of gut microbiota is far from enough and warrants future research.

BILE DIVERSION PROCEDURES

In order to isolate the contribution of bile acids to the metabolic benefits of bariatric surgery, some studies have tried to manipulate bile flow directly without altering the gastrointestinal tract (Table 1). Bile diversion (BD) procedure in rats was performed as early as the 1980s, even before the discovery of GLP-1, to investigate the influence of rerouting of bile flow on glucose homeostasis. This early study showed 10% less weight of rats undergoing BD than control, decreased fasting blood glucose and improved glucose tolerance, with no effect on insulin secretion (Manfredini et al., 1985). Another study in 1991 using streptozocin (STZ) -induced diabetic rats showed similar results, except an immediate return of insulin to normal level after surgery (Ermini et al., 1991). It is not until 2013 that the BD procedure had regained attention. Subsequent studies have demonstrated comparable effects of BD with gastric bypass procedure in glucose control

TABLE 1 | Bile diversion procedures

in normal rats (Goncalves et al., 2015), diet-induced obese rats (Kohli et al., 2013b), and mice (Flynn et al., 2015). However, under diabetic state, the effects of BD were attenuated compared to DJB, with limited glucose-lowering effect observed. Therefore, to our knowledge, bile acid manipulation appears to be capable of recapitulating the effects of bariatric surgery only in non-diabetic state.

CONCLUSION

Bile acids play a role in metabolic regulation through various pathways. Alteration of bile acid metabolism is an important component of bariatric surgery, and represents a promising target for the management of metabolic disorders.

REFERENCES

- Adams, T. D., Davidson, L. E., Litwin, S. E., Kim, J., Kolotkin, R. L., Nanjee, M. N., et al. (2017). Weight and metabolic outcomes 12 years after gastric bypass. *New Engl. J. Med.* 377, 1143–1155. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1700459
- Albaugh, V. L., Banan, B., Antoun, J., Xiong, Y., Guo, Y., Ping, J., et al. (2018). Role of bile acids and GLP-1 in mediating the metabolic improvements of bariatric surgery. *Gastroenterology* 156, 1041–1051.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.11.017
- Albaugh, V. L., Flynn, C. R., Cai, S., Xiao, Y., Tamboli, R. A., and Abumrad, N. N. (2015). Early increases in bile acids post roux-en-Y gastric bypass are driven by insulin-sensitizing, secondary bile acids. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100, E1225–E1233. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2467
- Benedetti, G., Mingrone, G., Marcoccia, S., Benedetti, M., Giancaterini, A., Greco, A. V., et al. (2000). Body composition and energy expenditure after weight loss following bariatric surgery. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 19, 270–274. doi: 10.1080/ 07315724.2000.10718926
- Bhutta, H. Y., Rajpal, N., White, W., Freudenberg, J. M., Liu, Y., Way, J., et al. (2015). Effect of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery on bile acid metabolism in normal and obese diabetic rats. *PLoS One* 10:e0122273. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0122273
- Borg, C. M., le Roux, C. W., Ghatei, M. A., Bloom, S. R., Patel, A. G., and Aylwin, S. J. (2006). Progressive rise in gut hormone levels after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass suggests gut adaptation and explains altered satiety. *Br. J. Surg.* 93, 210–215. doi: 10.1002/bjs.5227
- Bozadjieva, N., Heppner, K. M., and Seeley, R. J. (2018). Targeting FXR and FGF19 to treat metabolic diseases-lessons learned from bariatric surgery. *Diabetes* 67, 1720–1728. doi: 10.2337/dbi17-0007
- Broeders, E. P., Nascimento, E. B., Havekes, B., Brans, B., Roumans, K. H., Tailleux, A., et al. (2015). The bile acid chenodeoxycholic acid increases human brown adipose tissue activity. *Cell Metab.* 22, 418–426. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015. 07.002
- Cariou, B., van Harmelen, K., Duran-Sandoval, D., van Dijk, T. H., Grefhorst, A., Abdelkarim, M., et al. (2006). The farnesoid X receptor modulates adiposity and peripheral insulin sensitivity in mice. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 11039–11049. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M510258200
- Carrasco, F., Papapietro, K., Csendes, A., Salazar, G., Echenique, C., Lisboa, C., et al. (2007). Changes in resting energy expenditure and body composition after weight loss following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. *Obes. Surg.* 17, 608–616. doi: 10.1007/s11695-007-9117-z
- Cummings, B. P., Bettaieb, A., Graham, J. L., Kim, J., Ma, F., Shibata, N., et al. (2013). Bile-acid-mediated decrease in endoplasmic reticulum stress: a potential contributor to the metabolic benefits of ileal interposition surgery in UCD-T2DM rats. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 6, 443–456. doi: 10.1242/dmm.010421
- Cummings, B. P., Bettaieb, A., Graham, J. L., Stanhope, K. L., Kowala, M., Haj, F. G., et al. (2012). Vertical sleeve gastrectomy improves glucose and lipid metabolism and delays diabetes onset in UCD-T2DM rats. *Endocrinology* 153, 3620–3632. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1131

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WW was involved in literature searching and writing of the manuscript. ZC, YW, YD, XZ, and SH were involved in conception and assist in writing. XZ was involved in conception, design, and coordination of the work. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and have approved the publication of this final version of the manuscript. XZ and SH are the guarantors of this work.

FUNDING

The present work has been supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Project ID: 81700708/H0712).

- de Siqueira Cardinelli, C., Torrinhas, R. S., Sala, P., Pudenzi, M. A., Fernando, F. A. C., Marques da Silva, M., et al. (2019). Fecal bile acid profile after Rouxen-Y gastric bypass and its association with the remission of type 2 diabetes in obese women: a preliminary study. *Clin. Nutr.* doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.12.028 [Epub ahead of print].
- Devkota, S., Wang, Y., Musch, M. W., Leone, V., Fehlner-Peach, H., Nadimpalli, A., et al. (2012). Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/- mice. *Nature* 487, 104–108. doi: 10.1038/ nature11225
- Dicksved, J., Lindberg, M., Rosenquist, M., Enroth, H., Jansson, J. K., and Engstrand, L. (2009). Molecular characterization of the stomach microbiota in patients with gastric cancer and in controls. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 58(Pt 4), 509–516. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.007302-0
- Ermini, M., Iaconis, E., and Mori, A. (1991). The effects of bilio-jejunal diversion on streptozotocin diabetes in the rat. *Acta Diabetol. Lat.* 28, 79–89. doi: 10.1007/ BF02732117
- Fang, S., Suh, J. M., Reilly, S. M., Yu, E., Osborn, O., Lackey, D., et al. (2015). Intestinal FXR agonism promotes adipose tissue browning and reduces obesity and insulin resistance. *Nat. Med.* 21, 159–165. doi: 10.1038/nm.3760
- Faria, S. L., Faria, O. P., Buffington, C., de Almeida Cardeal, M., and Rodrigues de Gouvea, H. (2012). Energy expenditure before and after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. *Obes. Surg.* 22, 1450–1455. doi: 10.1007/s11695-012-0672-6
- Ferrannini, E., Camastra, S., Astiarraga, B., Nannipieri, M., Castro-Perez, J., Xie, D., et al. (2015). Increased bile acid synthesis and deconjugation after biliopancreatic diversion. *Diabetes* 64, 3377–3385. doi: 10.2337/db15-0214
- Flynn, C. R., Albaugh, V. L., Cai, S., Cheung-Flynn, J., Williams, P. E., Brucker, R. M., et al. (2015). Bile diversion to the distal small intestine has comparable metabolic benefits to bariatric surgery. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7715. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms8715
- Furet, J. P., Kong, L. C., Tap, J., Poitou, C., Basdevant, A., Bouillot, J. L., et al. (2010). Differential adaptation of human gut microbiota to bariatric surgery-induced weight loss: links with metabolic and low-grade inflammation markers. *Diabetes* 59, 3049–3057. doi: 10.2337/db10-0253
- Gerhard, G. S., Styer, A. M., Wood, G. C., Roesch, S. L., Petrick, A. T., Gabrielsen, J., et al. (2013). A role for fibroblast growth factor 19 and bile acids in diabetes remission after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. *Diabetes Care* 36, 1859–1864. doi: 10.2337/dc12-2255
- Goncalves, D., Barataud, A., De Vadder, F., Vinera, J., Zitoun, C., Duchampt, A., et al. (2015). Bile routing modification reproduces key features of gastric bypass in rat. *Ann. Surg.* 262, 1006–1015. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001121
- Goodwin, B., Jones, S. A., Price, R. R., Watson, M. A., McKee, D. D., Moore, L. B., et al. (2000). A regulatory cascade of the nuclear receptors FXR, SHP-1, and LRH-1 represses bile acid biosynthesis. *Mol. Cell* 6, 517–526. doi: 10.1016/ S1097-2765(00)00051-4
- Graessler, J., Qin, Y., Zhong, H., Zhang, J., Licinio, J., Wong, M. L., et al. (2013). Metagenomic sequencing of the human gut microbiome before and after bariatric surgery in obese patients with type 2 diabetes: correlation with

inflammatory and metabolic parameters. *Pharmacogenomics J* 13, 514–522. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2012.43

- Haluzikova, D., Lacinova, Z., Kavalkova, P., Drapalova, J., Krizova, J., Bartlova, M., et al. (2013). Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy differentially affects serum concentrations of FGF-19 and FGF-21 in morbidly obese subjects. *Obesity* 21, 1335–1342. doi: 10.1002/oby.20208
- Han, H., Wang, L., Du, H., Jiang, J., Hu, C., Zhang, G., et al. (2015). Expedited biliopancreatic juice flow to the distal gut benefits the diabetes control after duodenal-jejunal bypass. *Obes. Surg.* 25, 1802–1809. doi: 10.1007/s11695-015-1633-7
- Inagaki, T., Choi, M., Moschetta, A., Peng, L., Cummins, C. L., McDonald, J. G., et al. (2005). Fibroblast growth factor 15 functions as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis. *Cell Metab.* 2, 217–225. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005. 09.001
- Inagaki, T., Moschetta, A., Lee, Y. K., Peng, L., Zhao, G., Downes, M., et al. (2006). Regulation of antibacterial defense in the small intestine by the nuclear bile acid receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 3920–3925. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0509592103
- Jahansouz, C., Staley, C., Bernlohr, D. A., Sadowsky, M. J., Khoruts, A., and Ikramuddin, S. (2017). Sleeve gastrectomy drives persistent shifts in the gut microbiome. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 13, 916–924. doi: 10.1016/j.soard.2017.01. 003
- Jansen, P. L., van Werven, J., Aarts, E., Berends, F., Janssen, I., Stoker, J., et al. (2011). Alterations of hormonally active fibroblast growth factors after Rouxen-Y gastric bypass surgery. *Dig. Dis.* 29, 48–51. doi: 10.1159/000324128
- Jiang, C., Xie, C., Lv, Y., Li, J., Krausz, K. W., Shi, J., et al. (2015). Intestineselective farnesoid X receptor inhibition improves obesity-related metabolic dysfunction. *Nat. Commun.* 6:10166. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10166
- Jorgensen, N. B., Dirksen, C., Bojsen-Moller, K. N., Kristiansen, V. B., Wulff, B. S., Rainteau, D., et al. (2015). Improvements in glucose metabolism early after gastric bypass surgery are not explained by increases in total bile acids and fibroblast growth factor 19 concentrations. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100, E396–E406. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1658
- Kindel, T. L., Krause, C., Helm, M. C., McBride, C. L., Oleynikov, D., Thakare, R., et al. (2018). Increased glycine-amidated hyocholic acid correlates to improved early weight loss after sleeve gastrectomy. *Surg. Endosc.* 32, 805–812. doi: 10. 1007/s00464-017-5747-y
- Kir, S., Beddow, S. A., Samuel, V. T., Miller, P., Previs, S. F., Suino-Powell, K., et al. (2011). FGF19 as a postprandial, insulin-independent activator of hepatic protein and glycogen synthesis. *Science* 331, 1621–1624. doi: 10.1126/science. 1198363
- Kohli, R., Bradley, D., Setchell, K. D., Eagon, J. C., Abumrad, N., and Klein, S. (2013a). Weight loss induced by Roux-en-Y gastric bypass but not laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding increases circulating bile acids. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, E708–E712. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3736
- Kohli, R., Setchell, K. D., Kirby, M., Myronovych, A., Ryan, K. K., Ibrahim, S. H., et al. (2013b). A surgical model in male obese rats uncovers protective effects of bile acids post-bariatric surgery. *Endocrinology* 154, 2341–2351. doi: 10.1210/ en.2012-2069
- Laferrere, B., Heshka, S., Wang, K., Khan, Y., McGinty, J., Teixeira, J., et al. (2007). Incretin levels and effect are markedly enhanced 1 month after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 30, 1709–1716. doi: 10.2337/dc06-1549
- Larsen, N., Vogensen, F. K., van den Berg, F. W., Nielsen, D. S., Andreasen, A. S., Pedersen, B. K., et al. (2010). Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. *PLoS One* 5:e9085. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0009085
- le Roux, C. W., Welbourn, R., Werling, M., Osborne, A., Kokkinos, A., Laurenius, A., et al. (2007). Gut hormones as mediators of appetite and weight loss after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. *Ann. Surg.* 246, 780–785. doi: 10.1097/SLA. 0b013e3180caa3e3
- Ley, R. E., Turnbaugh, P. J., Klein, S., and Gordon, J. I. (2006). Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* 444, 1022–1023. doi: 10.1038/4441022a
- Li, J. V., Ashrafian, H., Bueter, M., Kinross, J., Sands, C., le Roux, C. W., et al. (2011). Metabolic surgery profoundly influences gut microbial-host metabolic cross-talk. *Gut* 60, 1214–1223. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.234708

- Lu, T. T., Makishima, M., Repa, J. J., Schoonjans, K., Kerr, T. A., Auwerx, J., et al. (2000). Molecular basis for feedback regulation of bile acid synthesis by nuclear receptors. *Mol. Cell* 6, 507–515. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)00050-2
- Ma, K., Saha, P. K., Chan, L., and Moore, D. D. (2006). Farnesoid X receptor is essential for normal glucose homeostasis. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1102–1109. doi: 10.1172/JCI25604
- Madsbad, S., and Holst, J. J. (2014). GLP-1 as a mediator in the remission of type 2 diabetes after gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy surgery. *Diabetes* 63, 3172–3174. doi: 10.2337/db14-0935
- Makishima, M., Okamoto, A. Y., Repa, J. J., Tu, H., Learned, R. M., Luk, A., et al. (1999). Identification of a nuclear receptor for bile acids. *Science* 284, 1362–1365. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5418.1362
- Manfredini, G., Ermini, M., Scopsi, L., Bonaguidi, F., and Ferrannini, E. (1985). Internal biliary diversion improves glucose tolerance in the rat. Am. J. Physiol. 249(4 Pt 1), G519–G527. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1985.249.4.G519
- Mans, E., Serra-Prat, M., Palomera, E., Sunol, X., and Clave, P. (2015). Sleeve gastrectomy effects on hunger, satiation, and gastrointestinal hormone and motility responses after a liquid meal test. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 102, 540–547. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.104307
- Maruyama, T., Miyamoto, Y., Nakamura, T., Tamai, Y., Okada, H., Sugiyama, E., et al. (2002). Identification of membrane-type receptor for bile acids (M-BAR). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 298, 714–719. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02) 02550-0
- McGavigan, A. K., Garibay, D., Henseler, Z. M., Chen, J., Bettaieb, A., Haj, F. G., et al. (2017). TGR5 contributes to glucoregulatory improvements after vertical sleeve gastrectomy in mice. *Gut* 66, 226–234. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309871
- Mika, A., Kaska, L., Proczko-Stepaniak, M., Chomiczewska, A., Swierczynski, J., Smolenski, R. T., et al. (2018). Evidence that the length of bile loop determines serum bile acid concentration and glycemic control after bariatric surgery. *Obes. Surg.* 28, 3405–3414. doi: 10.1007/s11695-018-3314-9
- Miyachi, T., Nagao, M., Shibata, C., Kitahara, Y., Tanaka, N., Watanabe, K., et al. (2016). Biliopancreatic limb plays an important role in metabolic improvement after duodenal-jejunal bypass in a rat model of diabetes. *Surgery* 159, 1360–1371. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2015.11.027
- Mueller, M., Thorell, A., Claudel, T., Jha, P., Koefeler, H., Lackner, C., et al. (2015). Ursodeoxycholic acid exerts farnesoid X receptor-antagonistic effects on bile acid and lipid metabolism in morbid obesity. *J. Hepatol.* 62, 1398–1404. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.12.034
- Murphy, R., Tsai, P., Jullig, M., Liu, A., Plank, L., and Booth, M. (2017). Differential changes in gut microbiota after gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy bariatric surgery vary according to diabetes remission. *Obes. Surg.* 27, 917–925. doi: 10.1007/s11695-016-2399-2
- Myronovych, A., Kirby, M., Ryan, K. K., Zhang, W., Jha, P., Setchell, K. D., et al. (2014a). Vertical sleeve gastrectomy reduces hepatic steatosis while increasing serum bile acids in a weight-loss-independent manner. *Obesity* 22, 390–400. doi: 10.1002/oby.20548
- Myronovych, A., Salazar-Gonzalez, R. M., Ryan, K. K., Miles, L., Zhang, W., Jha, P., et al. (2014b). The role of small heterodimer partner in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease improvement after sleeve gastrectomy in mice. *Obesity* 22, 2301–2311. doi: 10.1002/oby.20890
- Nakatani, H., Kasama, K., Oshiro, T., Watanabe, M., Hirose, H., and Itoh, H. (2009). Serum bile acid along with plasma incretins and serum high-molecular weight adiponectin levels are increased after bariatric surgery. *Metabolism* 58, 1400–1407. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009.05.006
- Nauck, M. A., Homberger, E., Siegel, E. G., Allen, R. C., Eaton, R. P., Ebert, R., et al. (1986). Incretin effects of increasing glucose loads in man calculated from venous insulin and C-peptide responses. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 63, 492–498. doi: 10.1210/jcem-63-2-492
- Noh, D. O., and Gilliland, S. E. (1993). Influence of bile on cellular integrity and beta-galactosidase activity of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*. J. Dairy Sci. 76, 1253–1259. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(93)77454-8
- Parks, D. J., Blanchard, S. G., Bledsoe, R. K., Chandra, G., Consler, T. G., Kliewer, S. A., et al. (1999). Bile acids: natural ligands for an orphan nuclear receptor. *Science* 284, 1365–1368. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5418.1365
- Pournaras, D. J., Glicksman, C., Vincent, R. P., Kuganolipava, S., Alaghband-Zadeh, J., Mahon, D., et al. (2012). The role of bile after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in promoting weight loss and improving glycaemic control. *Endocrinology* 153, 3613–3619. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-2145

- Prakash, S., Tomaro-Duchesneau, C., Saha, S., and Cantor, A. (2011). The gut microbiota and human health with an emphasis on the use of microencapsulated bacterial cells. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.* 2011:981214. doi: 10.1155/2011/981214
- Qin, J., Li, Y., Cai, Z., Li, S., Zhu, J., Zhang, F., et al. (2012). A metagenomewide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 490, 55–60. doi: 10.1038/nature11450
- Rabl, C., Rao, M. N., Schwarz, J. M., Mulligan, K., and Campos, G. M. (2014). Thermogenic changes after gastric bypass, adjustable gastric banding or diet alone. *Surgery* 156, 806–812. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.06.070
- Ridlon, J. M., Kang, D. J., and Hylemon, P. B. (2006). Bile salt biotransformations by human intestinal bacteria. J. Lipid Res. 47, 241–259. doi: 10.1194/jlr. R500013-JLR200
- Ryan, K. K., Tremaroli, V., Clemmensen, C., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., Myronovych, A., Karns, R., et al. (2014). FXR is a molecular target for the effects of vertical sleeve gastrectomy. *Nature* 509, 183–188. doi: 10.1038/nature13135
- Sachdev, S., Wang, Q., Billington, C., Connett, J., Ahmed, L., Inabnet, W., et al. (2016). FGF 19 and bile acids increase following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass but not after medical management in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Obes. Surg.* 26, 957–965. doi: 10.1007/s11695-015-1834-0
- Schauer, P. R., Bhatt, D. L., Kirwan, J. P., Wolski, K., Aminian, A., Brethauer, S. A., et al. (2017). Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy for diabetes - 5year outcomes. *New Engl. J. Med.* 376, 641–651. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1600869
- Scopinaro, N. (2006). Biliopancreatic diversion: mechanisms of action and longterm results. Obes. Surg. 16, 683–689. doi: 10.1381/096089206777346637
- Shao, Y., Shen, Q., Hua, R., Evers, S. S., He, K., and Yao, Q. (2018). Effects of sleeve gastrectomy on the composition and diurnal oscillation of gut microbiota related to the metabolic improvements. *Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis.* 14, 731–739. doi: 10.1016/j.soard.2018.02.024
- Sinal, C. J., Tohkin, M., Miyata, M., Ward, J. M., Lambert, G., and Gonzalez, F. J. (2000). Targeted disruption of the nuclear receptor FXR/BAR impairs bile acid and lipid homeostasis. *Cell* 102, 731–744. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00062-3
- Sips, F. L. P., Eggink, H. M., Hilbers, P. A. J., Soeters, M. R., Groen, A. K., and van Riel, N. A. W. (2018). Analysis identifies intestinal transit as a key determinant of systemic bile acid metabolism. *Front. Physiol.* 9:631. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 00631
- Steinert, R. E., Peterli, R., Keller, S., Meyer-Gerspach, A. C., Drewe, J., Peters, T., et al. (2013). Bile acids and gut peptide secretion after bariatric surgery: a 1year prospective randomized pilot trial. *Obesity* 21, E660–E668. doi: 10.1002/ oby.20522
- Tacchino, R. M., Mancini, A., Perrelli, M., Bianchi, A., Giampietro, A., Milardi, D., et al. (2003). Body composition and energy expenditure: relationship and changes in obese subjects before and after biliopancreatic diversion. *Metabolism* 52, 552–558. doi: 10.1053/meta.2003.50109
- Thomas, C., Gioiello, A., Noriega, L., Strehle, A., Oury, J., Rizzo, G., et al. (2009). TGR5-mediated bile acid sensing controls glucose homeostasis. *Cell Metab.* 10, 167–177. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2009.08.001
- Tilg, H., and Kaser, A. (2011). Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. *J. Clin. Investig.* 121, 2126–2132. doi: 10.1172/JCI58109
- Trabelsi, M. S., Daoudi, M., Prawitt, J., Ducastel, S., Touche, V., Sayin, S. I., et al. (2015). Farnesoid X receptor inhibits glucagon-like peptide-1 production by enteroendocrine L cells. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7629. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8629
- Tremaroli, V., Karlsson, F., Werling, M., Stahlman, M., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., Olbers, T., et al. (2015). Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and vertical banded gastroplasty induce long-term changes on the human gut microbiome contributing to fat mass regulation. *Cell Metab.* 22, 228–238. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2015.07.009
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Hamady, M., Yatsunenko, T., Cantarel, B. L., Duncan, A., Ley, R. E., et al. (2009). A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature* 457, 480–484. doi: 10.1038/nature07540
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Hamady, M., Fraser-Liggett, C. M., Knight, R., and Gordon, J. I. (2007). The human microbiome project. *Nature* 449, 804–810. doi: 10.1038/nature06244

- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Mahowald, M. A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E. R., and Gordon, J. I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 444, 1027–1031. doi: 10.1038/nature 05414
- Vrieze, A., Van Nood, E., Holleman, F., Salojarvi, J., Kootte, R. S., Bartelsman, J. F., et al. (2012). Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 143, 913–6e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.031
- Wang, H., Chen, J., Hollister, K., Sowers, L. C., and Forman, B. M. (1999). Endogenous bile acids are ligands for the nuclear receptor FXR/BAR. *Mol. Cell* 3, 543–553. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80348-2
- Watanabe, M., Houten, S. M., Mataki, C., Christoffolete, M. A., Kim, B. W., Sato, H., et al. (2006). Bile acids induce energy expenditure by promoting intracellular thyroid hormone activation. *Nature* 439, 484–489. doi: 10.1038/ nature04330
- Watanabe, M., Houten, S. M., Wang, L., Moschetta, A., Mangelsdorf, D. J., Heyman, R. A., et al. (2004). Bile acids lower triglyceride levels via a pathway involving FXR, SHP, and SREBP-1c. J. Clin. Invest. 113, 1408–1418. doi: 10.1172/JCI21025
- Wu, T., Bound, M. J., Standfield, S. D., Gedulin, B., Jones, K. L., Horowitz, M., et al. (2013). Effects of rectal administration of taurocholic acid on glucagon-like peptide-1 and peptide YY secretion in healthy humans. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 15, 474–477. doi: 10.1111/dom.12043
- Wu, T., Ma, J., Bound, M. J., Checklin, H., Deacon, C. F., Jones, K. L., et al. (2014). Effects of sitagliptin on glycemia, incretin hormones, and antropyloroduodenal motility in response to intraduodenal glucose infusion in healthy lean and obese humans and patients with type 2 diabetes treated with or without metformin. *Diabetes* 63, 2776–2787. doi: 10.2337/db13-1627
- Wu, T., Rayner, C. K., and Horowitz, M. (2016). Incretins. Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 233, 137–171. doi: 10.1007/164_2015_9
- Zhang, H., DiBaise, J. K., Zuccolo, A., Kudrna, D., Braidotti, M., Yu, Y., et al. (2009). Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 2365–2370. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812600106
- Zhang, X., Liu, T., Wang, Y., Zhong, M., Zhang, G., Liu, S., et al. (2016). Comparative effects of bile diversion and duodenal-jejunal bypass on glucose and lipid metabolism in male diabetic rats. *Obes. Surg.* 26, 1565–1575. doi: 10.1007/s11695-015-1925-y
- Zhang, X., Young, R. L., Bound, M., Hu, S., Jones, K. L., Horowitz, M., et al. (2019). Comparative effects of proximal and distal small intestinal glucose exposure on glycemia, incretin hormone secretion, and the incretin effect in health and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 42, 520–528. doi: 10.2337/dc18-2156
- Zhang, Y., Lee, F. Y., Barrera, G., Lee, H., Vales, C., Gonzalez, F. J., et al. (2006). Activation of the nuclear receptor FXR improves hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in diabetic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 1006–1011. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506982103
- Zhernakova, A., Kurilshikov, A., Bonder, M. J., Tigchelaar, E. F., Schirmer, M., Vatanen, T., et al. (2016). Population-based metagenomics analysis reveals markers for gut microbiome composition and diversity. *Science* 352, 565–569. doi: 10.1126/science.aad3369

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past supervisory role with one of the authors XZ.

Copyright © 2019 Wang, Cheng, Wang, Dai, Zhang and Hu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Host Metabolism Through the Regulation of Gut Hormone Release

Alyce M. Martin¹, Emily W. Sun¹, Geraint B. Rogers^{2,3} and Damien J. Keating^{1,4*}

¹ Molecular and Cellular Physiology Laboratory, College of Medicine and Public Health, Flinders University, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ² Microbiome Research Laboratory, Flinders University, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ³ Infection and Immunity, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁴ Nutrition and Metabolism, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tongzhi Wu, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Enzo Spisni, University of Bologna, Italy P. Trayhurn, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Damien J. Keating damien.keating@flinders.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 08 January 2019 Accepted: 27 March 2019 Published: 16 April 2019

Citation:

Martin AM, Sun EW, Rogers GB and Keating DJ (2019) The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Host Metabolism Through the Regulation of Gut Hormone Release. Front. Physiol. 10:428. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00428 The microbial community of the gut conveys significant benefits to host physiology. A clear relationship has now been established between gut bacteria and host metabolism in which microbial-mediated gut hormone release plays an important role. Within the gut lumen, bacteria produce a number of metabolites and contain structural components that act as signaling molecules to a number of cell types within the mucosa. Enteroendocrine cells within the mucosal lining of the gut synthesize and secrete a number of hormones including CCK, PYY, GLP-1, GIP, and 5-HT, which have regulatory roles in key metabolic processes such as insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance, fat storage, and appetite. Release of these hormones can be influenced by the presence of bacteria and their metabolites within the gut and as such, microbialmediated gut hormone release is an important component of microbial regulation of host metabolism. Dietary or pharmacological interventions which alter the gut microbiome therefore pose as potential therapeutics for the treatment of human metabolic disorders. This review aims to describe the complex interaction between intestinal microbiota and their metabolites and gut enteroendocrine cells, and highlight how the gut microbiome can influence host metabolism through the regulation of gut hormone release.

Keywords: enteroendocrine cells, microbiome, metabolism, GLP-1, PYY, GIP, serotonin, CCK

INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is host to a highly complex microbial ecosystem, comprising of bacteria, yeast, fungi, bacteriophages, and other viruses (Scarpellini et al., 2015), as well as protozoa and archaea (Koskinen et al., 2017; Laforest-Lapointe and Arrieta, 2018). Commensal bacteria, hereto referred to as gut microbiota, are found along the length of the GI tract and at greatest density within the caecum and colon, and along with their genes and gene products (collectively referred to as the gut microbiome), perform several functions that heavily influence host physiology. Not only does the gut microbiota play a critical role in modulating host immune defense (Belkaid and Hand, 2014) and brain function (Rogers et al., 2016), it also plays a role in regulating host

metabolism (Turnbaugh et al., 2006; Turnbaugh and Gordon, 2009; Vrieze et al., 2012, 2014; Le Chatelier et al., 2013; Nieuwdorp et al., 2014; Blaut, 2015; Hartstra et al., 2015; Seeley et al., 2015; Suarez-Zamorano et al., 2015; Aguirre et al., 2016; Pedersen et al., 2016; Molinaro et al., 2017; Rodrigues et al., 2017; Brubaker, 2018; Fabbiano et al., 2018). This is well-illustrated by the transfer of microbiota from lean and obese human twins into germ-free (GF) mice lacking a native gut microbiome, resulting in the conveyance of the metabolic phenotype of the host (Ridaura et al., 2013). Microbiota depletion in mice confers significant protection against metabolic dysregulation induced by a high-fat diet such as obesity, glucose intolerance and insulin resistance (Suarez-Zamorano et al., 2015), all of which are hallmarks of metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes (T2D). While bacteria-mediated inflammation is associated with detrimental metabolic effects in mice (Lam et al., 2012; Molinaro et al., 2017), the underlying mechanisms by which gut microbiota influence metabolism are still not fully understood. The gut microbiome contributes significantly to host energy harvest by converting inaccessible nutrient sources such as plant polysaccharides and other complex carbohydrates, into readily absorbable metabolites (Tremaroli and Backhed, 2012). Moreover, a key link has been established between the gut microbiome and the release of several gut hormones that are important regulators of peripheral metabolism.

Within the mucosal lining of the gut, specialized enteroendocrine (EE) cells synthesize and secrete several hormones that facilitate a range of key physiological processes. Collectively, EE cells constitute the largest endocrine organ in the body (Ahlman and Nilsson, 2001), despite making up less than 1% of the total epithelial cell population in the gut. A broad number of EE cell subpopulations have been defined, based largely on their hormone expression profile (Fothergill et al., 2017). EE cells have the capacity to sense the luminal nutrient environment of the gut and are differentially responsive to many dietary compounds and luminal conditions within the intestine. Mounting evidence has highlighted that the gut microbiome influences EE cell hormone release, with downstream consequences for host metabolism and metabolic disease progression (Figure 1). There is also recent evidence that microbial-mediated release of gut hormones may influence other EE cell types (Lund et al., 2018), demonstrating the complexity that is the relationship between the gut microbiome, gut hormone release, and host metabolism. This review aims to describe how intestinal microbiota and their metabolites can influence host metabolism through the regulation of gut hormone release.

MICROBIAL METABOLITES SIGNAL WITH HOST CELLS

Short Chain Fatty Acids

The gut microbiota produces an array of metabolites through the breakdown of indigestible carbohydrates (**Figure 2**). The most abundant of these metabolites are the short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) acetate, propionate and butyrate (Topping and Clifton, 2001), which exist at a ratio of approximately 3:1:1 in the human intestinal lumen, respectively (Cummings et al., 1987; Mowat and Agace, 2014), however, this ratio is, at least in part, dependent upon both diet and microbial composition. The fate of these bacteria-derived SCFAs differs substantially: acetate is readily absorbed into the circulation for distribution to peripheral tissues. Propionate, on the hand, is metabolized by the liver upon absorption (Koh et al., 2016), while the majority of butyrate is consumed locally by colonocytes as their primary fuel source. While the majority of bacteria-derived SCFAs are present in the colon, lesser amounts have also been detected in the ileum of pigs, as a result of cecoileal reflux (Cuche and Malbert, 1999), and to a lesser extent, the proximal small intestine. The relative abundance of SCFA is also likely to differ along the length of the gut as a result of the region-specific microbial composition, substrate exposure, and absorption (Gu et al., 2013). For example, genes encoding carbohydrate metabolism pathways are enriched in members of the Bacteroidetes phylum, while genes encoding bile acid metabolism pathways are enriched in the bile acid-tolerance Firmicutes (David et al., 2014).

Receptors present on EE cells allow these cells to sense luminal and possibly circulating SCFA, which triggers the release of several metabolically active gut hormones. SCFA signal via two predominant mechanisms: (1) inhibition of nuclear histone deacetylase (HDAC) (Waldecker et al., 2008; Fellows et al., 2018; Larraufie et al., 2018) to alter gene transcription and expression, and (2) stimulation of G-protein-coupled free fatty acid receptors 2 and 3 (FFAR3, FFAR3), expressed throughout the length of the GI tract in distinct regional patterns. FFAR2 has equal affinity for acetate, propionate and butyrate, while the affinity of FFAR3 for acetate is substantially lower than for propionate and butyrate (Offermanns, 2014). Signaling of SCFA via FFAR2/3 is therefore dependent upon the combination of receptor type and specific metabolite abundance.

Secondary Bile Acids

Bile acids are amphipathic molecules synthesized by hepatocytes from cholesterol and are released into the GI lumen to aid the solubilization, and thus absorption, of dietary lipids. It has long been appreciated that the intestinal microbiota is directly involved in host bile acid metabolism, as effective enterohepatic recycling of bile salts is heavily reliant on deconjugation and dihydroxylation of bile acids by microbialderived bile salt hydrolases (BSH). This gives rise to secondary bile acids (Jones et al., 2008), which are more hydrophobic and can thus be reabsorbed via passive diffusion, limiting bile acid loss through feces. Specific activity of BSH in human gut microbiota differs between different phyla, with BSH in the Firmicutes and Actinobacteria capable of metabolizing all conjugated bile salts and Bacteroidetes BSH activity being specific to tauro-conjugated bile acids (Jones et al., 2008). In addition to this role in the GI tract, bile acids are signaling molecules that are implicated in peripheral metabolism. Bile acids have major roles in peripheral metabolism through their action on two bile acid receptors, the G-protein coupled receptor TGR5 (formerly known as Gpbar1), and the nuclear receptor FXR, both



of which are expressed in EE cells (**Figure 2**). Receptor affinity and potency varies substantially between different bile acids. As such, the gut microbiome can exert profound influence on host metabolism by altering the composition of the bile acid pool, through altered bile acid synthesis and re-uptake.

Cellular Recognition of Microbial Structural Components

Structural components of the microbial membrane, such as flagella and membrane-bound lipopolysaccharide (LPS), act as signaling molecules through a number of cellular pattern recognition proteins (Gordon, 2002). LPS is a cellwall component of Gram-negative bacteria, such as members of the Bacteroidetes phylum, and is a potent ligand for tolllike receptors (TLRs), particularly toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). In addition to powerful immunity- and inflammation-inducing effects (Takeuchi and Akira, 2002; Lancaster et al., 2018), the expression of TLRs has been demonstrated in a number of EE cells and activation of this receptor triggers secretion of a number of metabolically active hormones such as GLP-1 (Lebrun et al., 2017), 5-HT (Kidd et al., 2009), and PYY (Larraufie et al., 2017; Figure 2). Clinically, elevated levels of LPS (endotoxemia) are closely associated with obesity and insulin resistance (Cani et al., 2007a). Mechanisms by which LPS contribute to

perturbed glycemic control and adiposity likely involve complex interactions between gut hormone secretion, mucosal barrier integrity, and host inflammation and immune pathways.

THE MICROBIOME REGULATES HOST METABOLISM VIA GUT HORMONE RELEASE

Serotonin

Enterochromaffin (EC) cells are the source of almost all (about 95%) serotonin (5-HT; 5-hydroxytryptamine) within the body. These cells constitute almost half of all EE cells and are dispersed throughout the length of the GI tract in varying densities (Raghupathi et al., 2013). EC cells have long been known to be important in many intrinsic gut mechanisms associated with motility (Keating and Spencer, 2010; Spencer et al., 2011, 2015; Spencer and Keating, 2016; Keating and Spencer, 2018) and EC cells are able to sense their local nutrient environment and respond by secreting 5-HT in a unique manner (Zelkas et al., 2015; Raghupathi et al., 2016; Thorn et al., 2016). There is now firm evidence that gut-derived 5-HT is a key driver for dysregulation of peripheral metabolism (Sumara et al., 2012; Watanabe et al., 2014; Crane et al., 2015; Young et al., 2015, 2018; Martin et al., 2017c). The absence of gut-derived 5-HT,



through pharmacological inhibition or genetic ablation of the rate-limiting enzyme for 5-HT synthesis in the gut, tryptophan hydroxylase 1 (TPH1), conveys protection from diet-induced obesity in mice (Crane et al., 2015). Moreover, circulating 5-HT is increased in obese humans and is positively correlated with body mass index (Young et al., 2018) and poor glycaemic control (Takahashi et al., 2002).

The gut microbiome influences 5-HT levels in the host. GF and antibiotic-treated mice have substantially lower levels of EC cell-derived 5-HT when compared to conventionally raised (CONV-R) controls, which are restored by colonization of GF mice with donor gut microbiota (Yano et al., 2015). EC cells have the capacity to sense microbial metabolites, as they express both FFAR2 and FFAR3 (Akiba et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2017b), and a number of olfactory receptors (Bellono et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2018). Acute exposure of mouse primary EC cells to SCFA in culture does not, however, elicit an increase in 5-HT secretion (Martin et al., 2017a). Rather, the increase in 5-HT observed in the presence of a gut microbiome (Reigstad et al., 2015; Yano et al., 2015) is likely due to the chronic exposure mediating an increase in the biosynthesis of 5-HT, contributed to by increased EC cell proliferation (Yano et al., 2015). In addition, luminal butyrate infusion restores intestinal motility in GF mice, which is blunted in TPH1-KO mice, indicating the effects of

butyrate may be mediated by EC cell 5-HT (Vincent et al., 2018). Acute responses to aromatic metabolites, such as isobutyrate and isovalerate, have been observed in EC cells within intestinal organoid preparations (Bellono et al., 2017), likely via olfactory receptor activation. However, it is plausible that this is an indirect response, due to the cross-talk with other gut-derived hormones such as GLP-1, which are also increased following exposure to microbial metabolites and have the capacity to signal to EC cells (Lund et al., 2018).

GLP-1

Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), a cleavage product of proglucagon, is secreted by L-cells predominantly located in the ileum and colon. GLP-1 is an incretin hormone (Kreymann et al., 1987), released postprandially and in response to nutrients such as glucose (Sun et al., 2017) to augment insulin and inhibit glucagon secretion from the pancreas (Grondahl et al., 2017). In addition, GLP-1 inhibits gastric emptying and influences satiety and food intake (Holst, 2007). Together with PYY, GLP-1 is thought to underlie some of the metabolic gains observed following gastric bypass surgery (Madsbad and Holst, 2014) and the action of GLP-1 underlies some of the glucose-lowering ability of the diabetes therapy, metformin (Bahne et al., 2018). As such, GLP-1-targeted therapeutics including GLP-1 analogs

and inhibitors of GLP-1 degradation by the enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-4) have been extensively exploited for their anti-diabetic properties (Aroda et al., 2012). Interestingly, the microbiota possess DPP-4-like activity (Olivares et al., 2018b), which in mice is reduced by administration of the DPP-4 inhibitor, vildagliptin, and is accompanied by a shift in microbial composition that is independent of the direct effects of DPP-4 inhibition on microbiota function (Olivares et al., 2018a). Specifically, vildagliptin treatment is associated with a decrease in the abundance of Oscillibacter and increased in the abundance of Lactobacillus, with a reduction in TLR ligands and an increase in propionate (Olivares et al., 2018a). Thus, the DPP-4-like activity of intestinal bacteria can potentially influence the levels of circulating GLP-1 and PYY, which in turn may exist as a feedback loop to influence microbial composition and microbial metabolite abundance.

A dynamic relationship exists between L-cells and the gut microbiome. Bile acid-mediated activation of TGR5 (Bala et al., 2014), SCFA signaling (Tolhurst et al., 2012), LPS, and other metabolites such as indole (Chimerel et al., 2014) are all potent GLP-1 secretagogues. The regulation of GLP-1 by secondary bile acids is dependent upon the receptor-signaling pathway involved, as activation of TGR5 increases GLP-1 secretion while, on the other hand, activation of FXR reduces GLP-1 secretion. This dynamic relationship is made even more complex by TGR5-FXR cross-talk that exists between these two receptors, particularly in the colon (Pathak et al., 2017). Luminal infusion of the bile acid chenodeoxycholic acid, in rats, triggers release of GLP-1 into the vasculature, in addition to PYY, via TGR5 (Kuhre et al., 2018). Indole, another major bacterial metabolite derived from dietary tryptophan, acutely stimulates GLP-1 by prolonging cellular action potential duration (Chimerel et al., 2014). Conversely, chronic exposure to indole dose-dependently decreases GLP-1 secretion in primary murine L cells by inhibiting ATP synthesis pathway (Chimerel et al., 2014). In addition, microbial LPS triggers GLP-1 secretion via TLR4 following mucosal barrier injury (Lebrun et al., 2017), and as such, glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in a mouse model of endotoxemia (Nguyen et al., 2014). Dietary prebiotics such as oligofructose, which increase bacterial SCFA production, are associated with upregulated L-cell differentiation and GLP-1 content in the rat proximal colon, and reduces weight gain when administered before and during a HFD (Cani et al., 2007b). Increasing L-cell numbers, whereby increasing postprandial GLP-1 release, are also associated with enhanced satiety and reduced adiposity (Cani et al., 2007b). The mechanisms by which SCFA increase GLP-1 secretion are region-dependent, as signaling in the small intestine is predominantly via FFAR3, whereas FFAR2-mediated GLP-1 release occurs in the colon (Greiner and Backhed, 2016).

Paradoxically, GF and antibiotic-treated mice have higher circulating GLP-1 levels during fasting (Zarrinpar et al., 2018) and reduced mucosal GLP-1 content (Duca et al., 2012), compared to genetically identical CONV-R mice. A recent study (Arora et al., 2018) reported that the gene expression profile of ileal L-cells derived from GF mice differed substantially from CONV-R mice. Notably, many of the genes regulating L-cell functional capacity are upregulated in GF mice and L-cells have a greater number of secretory vesicles in GF mice. What underlies these differences in GF mice is unknown but may be a reflection of GLP-1 resistance, which is observed in diet-induced obesity and associated with altered microbiota composition, particularly in the ileum (Grasset et al., 2017).

ΡΥΥ

Peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) is synthesized and secreted by L-cells, in addition to GLP-1, and is predominantly expressed in the lower small intestine and colon. PYY regulates food intake and satiety through activation of central G protein-coupled Y2 receptors on neuropeptide Y (NPY) and AgRP neurons in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus (Dumont et al., 1995). This initiates a signaling cascade whereby appetite-stimulating NPY neurons are suppressed, allowing for the disinhibition of the satiety-inducing proopiomelanocortin (POMC)/α-MSH pathway (Loh et al., 2015). Obese humans have reduced circulating PYY (Batterham et al., 2006), as a result of attenuated colonic PYY secretion (le Roux et al., 2006), rather than PYY-resistance (Batterham et al., 2003). Circulating PYY exists as two forms: PYY_{1-36} and the DPP-4-cleaved PYY_{3-36} , with the latter being the most dominant postprandial circulating form (Grandt et al., 1994) and the most biologically potent with respect to its anorectic effects (Chelikani et al., 2006).

The ability of gut microbiota to influence PYY secretion therefore has significant implications for the development of obesity and metabolic disease. Microbial SCFAs, particularly butyrate, cause a dose- and time-dependent increase in PYY gene expression in two EE model cell lines and in primary human colonic cell cultures (Larraufie et al., 2018). In addition, oral administration of butyrate moderately increases circulating PYY (Lin et al., 2012). The mechanisms by which SCFA increase the biosynthesis of PYY appear to be via a combination of FFAR2/3 signaling by all SCFA, and inhibition of HCAD by propionate and butyrate (Larraufie et al., 2018). Although, these mechanisms appear to be species-specific (Larraufie et al., 2018) and were not accompanied by an increase in GLP-1 secretion that is seen following exposure of primary mouse colonic cultures to propionate (Psichas et al., 2015). The use of a FFAR2 knockout mouse demonstrates the involvement of SCFA signaling in increasing the number of PYY-containing cells, particularly in mice exposed to a diet rich in the SCFA-precursor, inulin (Brooks et al., 2017). Alteration of the human gut microbiota through a 4-day broad-spectrum antibiotic regimen, acutely and reversibly increased postprandial plasma PYY (Mikkelsen et al., 2015). However, the precise alterations in microbial metabolites and bacterial species that underlie this change are unknown. Secondary bile acids are also potent stimuli for PYY secretion and the mechanisms by which this occurs are consistent with those for GLP-1 secretion (Kuhre et al., 2018). Luminal perfusion of a mixture of both primary and secondary bile acids into a vascularly perfused rat lumen increases venous effluent PYY levels in a TGR5-dependent manner, while the same effect was observed with infusion of the secondary bile acid CDCA alone (Kuhre et al., 2018).

GIP

Glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide (GIP), also known as gastric inhibitory peptide, is an incretin hormone released postprandially in the small intestine from classically defined K cells (Buffa et al., 1975). The activity of GIP is conveyed through GIP receptors (GIPR) expressed in pancreatic β-cells (Gremlich et al., 1995), adipocytes (Yip et al., 1998), bone cells (Bollag et al., 2000), and in neurons of the CNS (Paratore et al., 2011). Similar to GLP-1, the biological activity of GIP is rapidly attenuated by enzymatic breakdown by DPP-IV (Baggio and Drucker, 2007). Within the pancreas, GIP contributes significantly to postprandial insulin secretion, through increased insulin biosynthesis (Baggio and Drucker, 2007) and upregulated β-cell proliferation (Widenmaier et al., 2009). Defective GIPsignaling is believed to underlie, at least in part, the attenuated glucose-stimulated insulin secretion seen in T2D individuals (Vilsboll et al., 2002). GIP is also widely considered an adipogenic hormone (Thondam et al., 2017) as it promotes lipid uptake and storage in adipocytes (Getty-Kaushik et al., 2006).

Elevated GIP level was associated with the observed increased adiposity induced by a sub-therapeutic antibiotic regimen administered to mice at weaning for 7-weeks, as the treatment did not alter plasma levels of other gut hormones (Cho et al., 2012). The treatment significantly increased Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio and caecal SCFA levels, which could potentially underlie the increased GIP level and thus, the increased adiposity. However, recent contradictory evidence demonstrates that carbohydrates within the lumen inhibit GIP secretion, via the microbial SCFA-FFAR3 signaling pathway (Lee et al., 2018). Whether the discrepancy seen across these studies is due to differential signaling via FFAR2 and FFAR3 is unknown. Consistent with specific receptor pathways for SCFA-mediated gut hormone release, oral administration of sodium butyrate into mice has been shown to transiently increase GIP and GLP-1 secretion, while sodium pyruvate and a SCFA cocktail are selective for increased GIP, but not GLP-1 or PYY (Lin et al., 2012).

ССК

Cholecystokinin (CCK) is derived from the classically named "I cells" predominantly localized to the upper small intestine (Dockray, 2012). CCK is released in response to dietary fat and protein intake. CCK has well-defined roles in appetite regulation (Ritter, 2004; Becskei et al., 2007), gastric emptying and motility (Raybould and Tache, 1988; Raybould, 1991; Ellis et al., 2013) and the release of bile acids and pancreatic enzymes that are important for digestion (Li and Owyang, 1994; Li and Owyang, 1996; Owyang and Logsdon, 2004), through activation of CCK receptors (Rogers and Hermann, 2008). Less is known about gut microbial regulation of CCK compared to other gut hormones, largely due to the exposure of CCK-containing cells to microbiota limited to the small intestine. In pigs, ileal infusion of the SCFAs acetate, propionate and butyrate during feeding increased plasma CCK levels and paradoxically inhibits pancreatic secretion (Sileikiene et al., 2008). Limited investigations have been undertaken into microbial regulation of CCK in humans, however. One report

from Roux-en-Y gastric bypass patients has revealed no changes in circulating CCK levels across normal weight and obese individuals pre- and post-surgery, despite a significant shift in microbial composition following surgery (Federico et al., 2016). However, reduced CCK protein expression is observed in dissociated cells from the proximal small intestine of GF mice, which was not due to reduced numbers of EE cells (Duca et al., 2012).

Diet Influences Gut Microbiota Composition

The diversity of gut microbiota and relative abundance of microbial metabolites (metabolomic profile) is heavily dependent on specific dietary components (David et al., 2014), as evidenced by the substantial difference in microbial communities with consumption of plant-rich or protein-rich diets. This is due to the nutrient-induced selective pressures placed on microbiota, favoring bacterial species enrichened in the genes required for specific substrate metabolism. For example, plant-based diets and intake of probiotics increases luminal fiber and complex carbohydrate content, whereby selecting for species enriched in carbohydrate-active enzymes (David et al., 2014). Animalbased diets rich in fats and proteins and low in fiber increase luminal bile acid content, favoring bile acid-resistant microbes enriched with genes for bile acid metabolism, such as bile acid hydrosases and sulfite reductase (Devkota et al., 2012; David et al., 2014). Dietary fiber is also a major influence on gut transit (reviewed in detail by Muller et al., 2018), which, in turn, is an important determinant of fecal microbiome composition and metabolism (Roager et al., 2016; Vandeputte et al., 2016). In the absence of dietary fiber, however, a compensatory shift in the gut microbiome has been observed, with an increase in populations expressing mucin-degrading enzymes, suggesting an overall microbial preference for fiberbased substrates (Desai et al., 2016).

The increased consumption of non-nutritive sweeteners (NNS), such as saccharin, sucralose and aspartame, while being acutely beneficial for reducing caloric intake and blood glucose excursions, also has long-term consequences for microbiome composition and glucose intolerance. Notably, consumption of common NNS has been demonstrated in mice to exacerbate the development of glucose intolerance (Suez et al., 2014, 2015) and weight gain in males (Bian et al., 2017), which is mediated by distinct functional alterations to the gut microbiome (Suez et al., 2014). Specifically, the NNS saccharin and acesulfame-K increased the abundance of members of Bacteroidetes (Suez et al., 2014; Bian et al., 2017) and reduced abundance of Firmicutes (Suez et al., 2014). The effects of NNS on metabolism and microbial composition in humans is largely dictated by the native microbial composition prior to NNS exposure (Suez et al., 2014), while in mice, the response also appears to be genderspecific (Bian et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the NNS-induced changes in microbial composition observed in these studies is consistent with the microbial composition seen with obesity and metabolic disease (Ley et al., 2006; Turnbaugh and Gordon, 2009; Turnbaugh et al., 2009).

The richness and diversity of the human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic function (Le Chatelier et al., 2013; David et al., 2014; Dao et al., 2016) and a core obesogenic microbiome has been established, characterized by a high ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (Ley et al., 2006; Turnbaugh and Gordon, 2009; Turnbaugh et al., 2009). Shifting the composition of the microbiome to reduce the abundance of Bacteroidetes, as seen with short-term caloric restriction, conveys improved metabolic outcomes in mice as a result of decreased LPS production and reduced TLR4 signaling (Fabbiano et al., 2018). There are also large-scale observational studies that linked antibiotic use to risk of type 2 diabetes (Boursi et al., 2015; Mikkelsen et al., 2015), although caution should be excised in interpreting these results, as hyperglycaemia is a risk factor for infection (Falagas and Kompoti, 2006) and may thus warrant increased antibiotic use. In addition, specific clinically used antibiotics, particularly vancomycin-imipenem and ciprofloxacin, induce differential effects on microbiome composition and microbial metabolite abundance following regrowth (Choo et al., 2017), which may have downstream implications for antibioticspecific effects on metabolism. Ingestion of xenobiotics, such as pharmaceuticals and environmental chemicals, has the potential to modify gut microbial composition with downstream consequences for metabolism. This is evidenced by the diabetes drug, metformin, for which a shift in gut microbial composition is in part responsible for its therapeutic

REFERENCES

- Aguirre, M., Eck, A., Koenen, M. E., Savelkoul, P. H., Budding, A. E., and Venema, K. (2016). Diet drives quick changes in the metabolic activity and composition of human gut microbiota in a validated in vitro gut model. *Res. Microbiol.* 167, 114–125. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2015. 09.006
- Ahlman, H., and Nilsson, O. (2001). The gut as the largest endocrine organ in the body. Ann. Oncol. 12, S63–S68. doi: 10.1093/annonc/12.suppl_2.S63
- Akiba, Y., Inoue, T., Kaji, I., Higashiyama, M., Narimatsu, K., Iwamoto, K., et al. (2015). Short-chain fatty acid sensing in rat duodenum. *J. Physiol.* 593, 585–599. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.280792
- Aroda, V. R., Henry, R. R., Han, J., Huang, W., DeYoung, M. B., Darsow, T., et al. (2012). Efficacy of GLP-1 receptor agonists and DPP-4 inhibitors: metaanalysis and systematic review. *Clin. Ther.* 34, 1247.e22–1258.e22. doi: 10.1016/ j.clinthera.2012.04.013
- Arora, T., Akrami, R., Pais, R., Bergqvist, L., Johansson, B. R., Schwartz, T. W., et al. (2018). Microbial regulation of the L cell transcriptome. *Sci. Rep.* 8:1207. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-18079-2
- Baggio, L. L., and Drucker, D. J. (2007). Biology of incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. Gastroenterology 132, 2131–2157. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.054
- Bahne, E., Sun, E. W. L., Young, R. L., Hansen, M., Sonne, D. P., Hansen, J. S., et al. (2018). Metformin-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion contributes to the actions of metformin in type 2 diabetes. *JCI Insight* 3:93936. doi: 10.1172/ jci.insight.93936
- Bala, V., Rajagopal, S., Kumar, D. P., Nalli, A. D., Mahavadi, S., Sanyal, A. J., et al. (2014). Release of GLP-1 and PYY in response to the activation of G proteincoupled bile acid receptor TGR5 is mediated by Epac/PLC-epsilon pathway and modulated by endogenous H2S. *Front. Physiol.* 5:420. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4647-6
- Batterham, R. L., Cohen, M. A., Ellis, S. M., Le Roux, C. W., Withers, D. J., Frost, G. S., et al. (2003). Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 349, 941–948. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030204

effects (Wu et al., 2017). The metabolism of xenobiotics by gut microbiota is also chemically distinct (Koppel et al., 2017), which highlights the gut microbiome as a possible tool for targeted drug design and delivery. Recent work by Vangay et al. (2018) has elegantly shown that migration from a non-Westernized culture to a Westernized culture rapidly and inter-generationally impacts the diversity of gut microbiota. This loss of microbial complexity and biodiversity resulted in a loss of key microbial enzymes required for plant fiber digestion, partly attributed to altered dietary composition and reduced food diversity, and may predispose individuals to metabolic disease (Vangay et al., 2018). As such, interventions to shift gut microbiota composition may be a powerful therapeutic tool for the treatment of obesity and metabolic disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

DK was supported by a research fellowship from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) of Australia.

- Batterham, R. L., Heffron, H., Kapoor, S., Chivers, J. E., Chandarana, K., Herzog, H., et al. (2006). Critical role for peptide YY in protein-mediated satiation and body-weight regulation. *Cell Metab.* 4, 223–233. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006. 08.001
- Becskei, C., Grabler, V., Edwards, G. L., Riediger, T., and Lutz, T. A. (2007). Lesion of the lateral parabrachial nucleus attenuates the anorectic effect of peripheral amylin and CCK. *Brain Res.* 1162, 76–84. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.06.016
- Belkaid, Y., and Hand, T. W. (2014). Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. *Cell* 157, 121–141. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.011
- Bellono, N. W., Bayrer, J. R., Leitch, D. B., Castro, J., Zhang, C., O'Donnell, T. A., et al. (2017). Enterochromaffin cells are gut chemosensors that couple to sensory neural pathways. *Cell* 170, 185.e16–198.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.034
- Bian, X., Chi, L., Gao, B., Tu, P., Ru, H., and Lu, K. (2017). The artificial sweetener acesulfame potassium affects the gut microbiome and body weight gain in CD-1 mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0178426. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178426
- Blaut, M. (2015). Gut microbiota and energy balance: role in obesity. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 74, 227–234. doi: 10.1017/S0029665114001700
- Bollag, R. J., Zhong, Q., Phillips, P., Min, L., Zhong, L., Cameron, R., et al. (2000). Osteoblast-derived cells express functional glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide receptors. *Endocrinology* 141, 1228–1235. doi: 10.1210/endo.141.3.7366
- Boursi, B., Mamtani, R., Haynes, K., and Yang, Y. X. (2015). The effect of past antibiotic exposure on diabetes risk. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 172, 639–648. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-1163
- Brooks, L., Viardot, A., Tsakmaki, A., Stolarczyk, E., Howard, J. K., Cani, P. D., et al. (2017). Fermentable carbohydrate stimulates FFAR2-dependent colonic PYY cell expansion to increase satiety. *Mol. Metab.* 6, 48–60. doi: 10.1016/j. molmet.2016.10.011
- Brubaker, P. L. (2018). Linking the gut microbiome to metabolism through endocrine hormones. *Endocrinology* 159, 2978–2979. doi: 10.1210/en.2018-00577
- Buffa, R., Polak, J. M., Pearse, A. G., Solcia, E., Grimelius, L., and Capella, C. (1975). Identification of the intestinal cell storing gastric inhibitory peptide. *Histochemistry* 43, 249–255. doi: 10.1007/BF00499706
- Cani, P. D., Amar, J., Iglesias, M. A., Poggi, M., Knauf, C., Bastelica, D., et al. (2007a). Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 56, 1761–1772.
- Cani, P. D., Hoste, S., Guiot, Y., and Delzenne, N. M. (2007b). Dietary nondigestible carbohydrates promote L-cell differentiation in the proximal colon of rats. *Br. J. Nutr.* 98, 32–37. doi: 10.1017/S0007114507691648
- Chelikani, P. K., Haver, A. C., Reeve, J. R. Jr., Keire, D. A., and Reidelberger, R. D. (2006). Daily, intermittent intravenous infusion of peptide YY(3-36) reduces daily food intake and adiposity in rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 290, R298–R305. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00674.2005
- Chimerel, C., Emery, E., Summers, D. K., Keyser, U., Gribble, F. M., and Reimann, F. (2014). Bacterial metabolite indole modulates incretin secretion from intestinal enteroendocrine L cells. *Cell Rep.* 9, 1202–1208. doi: 10.1016/j. celrep.2014.10.032
- Cho, I., Yamanishi, S., Cox, L., Methe, B. A., Zavadil, J., Li, K., et al. (2012). Antibiotics in early life alter the murine colonic microbiome and adiposity. *Nature* 488, 621–626. doi: 10.1038/nature11400
- Choo, J. M., Kanno, T., Zain, N. M., Leong, L. E., Abell, G. C., Keeble, J. E., et al. (2017). Divergent relationships between fecal microbiota and metabolome following distinct antibiotic-induced disruptions. *mSphere* 2:e00005-17.
- Crane, J. D., Palanivel, R., Mottillo, E. P., Bujak, A. L., Wang, H., Ford, R. J., et al. (2015). Inhibiting peripheral serotonin synthesis reduces obesity and metabolic dysfunction by promoting brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. *Nat. Med.* 21, 166–172. doi: 10.1038/nm.3766
- Cuche, G., and Malbert, C. H. (1999). Short-chain fatty acids present in the ileum inhibit fasting gastrointestinal motility in conscious pigs. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 11, 219–225. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2982.1999.00149.x
- Cummings, J. H., Pomare, E. W., Branch, W. J., Naylor, C. P., and Macfarlane, G. T. (1987). Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. *Gut* 28, 1221–1227. doi: 10.1136/gut.28.10.1221
- Dao, M. C., Everard, A., Aron-Wisnewsky, J., Sokolovska, N., Prifti, E., Verger, E. O., et al. (2016). Akkermansia muciniphila and improved metabolic health during a dietary intervention in obesity: relationship with gut microbiome richness and ecology. *Gut* 65, 426–436. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308778
- David, L. A., Maurice, C. F., Carmody, R. N., Gootenberg, D. B., Button, J. E., Wolfe, B. E., et al. (2014). Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* 505, 559–563. doi: 10.1038/nature12820
- Desai, M. S., Seekatz, A. M., Koropatkin, N. M., Kamada, N., Hickey, C. A., Wolter, M., et al. (2016). A dietary fiber-deprived gut microbiota degrades the colonic mucus barrier and enhances pathogen susceptibility. *Cell* 167, 1339.e21–1353.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.043
- Devkota, S., Wang, Y., Musch, M. W., Leone, V., Fehlner-Peach, H., Nadimpalli, A., et al. (2012). Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/- mice. *Nature* 487, 104–108. doi: 10.1038/ nature11225
- Dockray, G. J. (2012). Cholecystokinin. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Obes. 19, 8–12. doi: 10.1097/MED.0b013e32834eb77d
- Duca, F. A., Swartz, T. D., Sakar, Y., and Covasa, M. (2012). Increased oral detection, but decreased intestinal signaling for fats in mice lacking gut microbiota. *PLoS One* 7:e39748. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039748
- Dumont, Y., Fournier, A., St-Pierre, S., and Quirion, R. (1995). Characterization of neuropeptide Y binding sites in rat brain membrane preparations using [1251][Leu31,Pro34]peptide YY and [1251]peptide YY3-36 as selective Y1 and Y2 radioligands. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 272, 673–680.
- Ellis, M., Chambers, J. D., Gwynne, R. M., and Bornstein, J. C. (2013). Serotonin and cholecystokinin mediate nutrient-induced segmentation in guinea pig small intestine. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 304, G749–G761. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00358.2012
- Fabbiano, S., Suarez-Zamorano, N., Chevalier, C., Lazarevic, V., Kieser, S., Rigo, D., et al. (2018). Functional gut microbiota remodeling contributes to the caloric restriction-induced metabolic improvements. *Cell Metab.* 28, 907.e7–921.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.08.005
- Falagas, M. E., and Kompoti, M. (2006). Obesity and infection. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 6, 438–446. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70523-0
- Federico, A., Dallio, M., Tolone, S., Gravina, A. G., Patrone, V., Romano, M., et al. (2016). Gastrointestinal hormones, intestinal microbiota and metabolic homeostasis in obese patients: effect of bariatric surgery. *In Vivo* 30, 321–330.

- Fellows, R., Denizot, J., Stellato, C., Cuomo, A., Jain, P., Stoyanova, E., et al. (2018). Microbiota derived short chain fatty acids promote histone crotonylation in the colon through histone deacetylases. *Nat. Commun.* 9:105. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02651-5
- Fothergill, L. J., Callaghan, B., Hunne, B., Bravo, D. M., and Furness, J. B. (2017). Co-storage of enteroendocrine hormones evaluated at the cell and subcellular levels in male mice. *Endocrinology* 158, 2113–2123. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00243
- Getty-Kaushik, L., Song, D. H., Boylan, M. O., Corkey, B. E., and Wolfe, M. M. (2006). Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide modulates adipocyte lipolysis and reesterification. *Obesity* 14, 1124–1131. doi: 10.1038/oby.2006.129
- Gordon, S. (2002). Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. Cell 111, 927–930. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01201-1
- Grandt, D., Schimiczek, M., Beglinger, C., Layer, P., Goebell, H., Eysselein, V. E., et al. (1994). Two molecular forms of peptide YY (PYY) are abundant in human blood: characterization of a radioimmunoassay recognizing PYY 1-36 and PYY 3-36. *Regul. Pept.* 51, 151–159. doi: 10.1016/0167-0115(94)90204-6
- Grasset, E., Puel, A., Charpentier, J., Collet, X., Christensen, J. E., Terce, F., et al. (2017). A specific gut microbiota dysbiosis of type 2 diabetic mice induces GLP-1 resistance through an enteric NO-dependent and gut-brain axis mechanism. *Cell Metab.* 25, 1075.e5–1090.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.06.003
- Greiner, T. U., and Backhed, F. (2016). Microbial regulation of GLP-1 and L-cell biology. *Mol. Metab.* 5, 753–758. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2016.05.012
- Gremlich, S., Porret, A., Hani, E. H., Cherif, D., Vionnet, N., Froguel, P., et al. (1995). Cloning, functional expression, and chromosomal localization of the human pancreatic islet glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide receptor. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 44, 1202–1208.
- Grondahl, M. F., Keating, D. J., Vilsboll, T., and Knop, F. K. (2017). Current therapies that modify glucagon secretion: what is the therapeutic effect of such modifications? *Curr. Diabetes Rep.* 17:128. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0967-z
- Gu, S., Chen, D., Zhang, J. N., Lv, X., Wang, K., Duan, L. P., et al. (2013). Bacterial community mapping of the mouse gastrointestinal tract. *PLoS One* 8:e74957. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074957
- Hartstra, A. V., Bouter, K. E., Backhed, F., and Nieuwdorp, M. (2015). Insights into the role of the microbiome in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 38, 159–165. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0769
- Holst, J. J. (2007). The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol. Rev.* 87, 1409–1439. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2006
- Jones, B. V., Begley, M., Hill, C., Gahan, C. G., and Marchesi, J. R. (2008). Functional and comparative metagenomic analysis of bile salt hydrolase activity in the human gut microbiome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 13580–13585. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804437105
- Keating, D. J., and Spencer, N. J. (2010). Release of 5-hydroxytryptamine from the mucosa is not required for the generation or propagation of colonic migrating motor complexes. *Gastroenterology* 138, 659–670, 670.e1-2. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2009.09.020
- Keating, D. J., and Spencer, N. J. (2018). What is the role of endogenous gut serotonin in the control of gastrointestinal motility? *Pharmacol. Res.* 140, 50–55. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.06.017
- Kidd, M., Gustafsson, B. I., Drozdov, I., and Modlin, I. M. (2009). IL1beta- and LPS-induced serotonin secretion is increased in EC cells derived from Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 21, 439–450. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2008. 01210.x
- Koh, A., De Vadder, F., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., and Backhed, F. (2016). From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell* 165, 1332–1345. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041
- Koppel, N., Maini Rekdal, V. and Balskus, E. P. (2017). Chemical transformation of xenobiotics by the human gut microbiota. *Science* 356:eaag2770. doi: 10.1126/ science.aag2770
- Koskinen, K., Pausan, M. R., Perras, A. K., Beck, M., Bang, C., Mora, M., et al. (2017). First insights into the diverse human archaeome: specific detection of archaea in the gastrointestinal tract, lung, and nose and on skin. *mBio* 8, e824–e817. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00824-17
- Kreymann, B., Williams, G., Ghatei, M. A., and Bloom, S. R. (1987). Glucagonlike peptide-1 7-36: a physiological incretin in man. *Lancet* 2, 1300–1304. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(87)91194-9
- Kuhre, R. E., Wewer Albrechtsen, N. J., Larsen, O., Jepsen, S. L., Balk-Moller, E., Andersen, D. B., et al. (2018). Bile acids are important direct and indirect

regulators of the secretion of appetite- and metabolism-regulating hormones from the gut and pancreas. *Mol. Metab.* 11, 84–95. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018. 03.007

- Laforest-Lapointe, I., and Arrieta, M. C. (2018). Microbial eukaryotes: a missing link in gut microbiome studies. *mSystems* 3:e00201-17.
- Lam, Y. Y., Ha, C. W., Campbell, C. R., Mitchell, A. J., Dinudom, A., Oscarsson, J., et al. (2012). Increased gut permeability and microbiota change associate with mesenteric fat inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in diet-induced obese mice. *PLoS One* 7:e34233. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034233
- Lancaster, G. I., Langley, K. G., Berglund, N. A., Kammoun, H. L., Reibe, S., Estevez, E., et al. (2018). Evidence that TLR4 is not a receptor for saturated fatty acids but mediates lipid-induced inflammation by reprogramming macrophage metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 27, 1096.e5–1110.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.03.014
- Larraufie, P., Dore, J., Lapaque, N., and Blottiere, H. M. (2017). TLR ligands and butyrate increase Pyy expression through two distinct but inter-regulated pathways. *Cell Microbiol.* 19:e12648. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12648
- Larraufie, P., Martin-Gallausiaux, C., Lapaque, N., Dore, J., Gribble, F. M., Reimann, F., et al. (2018). SCFAs strongly stimulate PYY production in human enteroendocrine cells. *Sci. Rep.* 8:74. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-18259-0
- Le Chatelier, E., Nielsen, T., Qin, J., Prifti, E., Hildebrand, F., Falony, G., et al. (2013). Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. *Nature* 500, 541–546. doi: 10.1038/nature12506
- le Roux, C. W., Batterham, R. L., Aylwin, S. J., Patterson, M., Borg, C. M., Wynne, K. J., et al. (2006). Attenuated peptide YY release in obese subjects is associated with reduced satiety. *Endocrinology* 147, 3–8. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0972
- Lebrun, L. J., Lenaerts, K., Kiers, D., Pais, de Barros, J. P., Le Guern, N., et al. (2017). Enteroendocrine L cells sense LPS after gut barrier injury to enhance GLP-1 secretion. *Cell Rep.* 21, 1160–1168. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.10.008
- Lee, E. Y., Zhang, X., Miyamoto, J., Kimura, I., Taknaka, T., Furusawa, K., et al. (2018). Gut carbohydrate inhibits GIP secretion via a microbiota/SCFA/FFAR3 pathway. J. Endocrinol. 239, 267–276. doi: 10.1530/JOE-18-0241
- Ley, R. E., Turnbaugh, P. J., Klein, S., and Gordon, J. I. (2006). Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* 444, 1022–1023. doi: 10. 1038/4441022a
- Li, Y., and Owyang, C. (1994). Endogenous cholecystokinin stimulates pancreatic enzyme secretion via vagal afferent pathway in rats. *Gastroenterology* 107, 525–531. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(94)90180-5
- Li, Y., and Owyang, C. (1996). Pancreatic secretion evoked by cholecystokinin and non-cholecystokinin-dependent duodenal stimuli via vagal afferent fibres in the rat. *J. Physiol.* 494(Pt 3), 73–82. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021531
- Lin, H. V., Frassetto, A., Kowalik, E. J. Jr., Nawrocki, A. R., Lu, M. M., et al. (2012). Butyrate and propionate protect against diet-induced obesity and regulate gut hormones via free fatty acid receptor 3-independent mechanisms. *PLoS One* 7:e35240. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035240
- Loh, K., Herzog, H., and Shi, Y. C. (2015). Regulation of energy homeostasis by the NPY system. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 26, 125–135. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2015. 01.003
- Lund, M. L., Egerod, K. L., Engelstoft, M. S., Dmytriyeva, O., Theodorsson, E., Patel, B. A., et al. (2018). Enterochromaffin 5-HT cells – A major target for GLP-1 and gut microbial metabolites. *Mol. Metab.* 11, 70–83. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018. 03.004
- Madsbad, S., and Holst, J. J. (2014). GLP-1 as a mediator in the remission of type 2 diabetes after gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy surgery. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 63, 3172–3174. doi: 10.2337/db14-0935
- Martin, A. M., Lumsden, A. L., Young, R. L., Jessup, C. F., Spencer, N. J., and Keating, D. J. (2017a). Regional differences in nutrient-induced secretion of gut serotonin. *Physiol. Rep.* 5:e13199. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13199
- Martin, A. M., Lumsden, A. L., Young, R. L., Jessup, C. F., Spencer, N. J., and Keating, D. J. (2017b). The nutrient-sensing repertoires of mouse enterochromaffin cells differ between duodenum and colon. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 29:e13046. doi: 10.1111/nmo.13046
- Martin, A. M., Young, R. L., Leong, L., Rogers, G. B., Spencer, N. J., Jessup, C. F., et al. (2017c). The diverse metabolic roles of peripheral serotonin. *Endocrinology* 158, 1049–1063. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1839
- Mikkelsen, K. H., Frost, M., Bahl, M. I., Licht, T. R., Jensen, U. S., Rosenberg, J., et al. (2015). Effect of antibiotics on gut microbiota, gut hormones and glucose metabolism. *PLoS One* 10:e0142352. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142352

- Molinaro, A., Caesar, R., Holm, L. M., Tremaroli, V., Cani, P. D., and Backhed, F. (2017). Host-microbiota interaction induces bi-phasic inflammation and glucose intolerance in mice. *Mol. Metab.* 6, 1371–1380. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet. 2017.08.016
- Mowat, A. M., and Agace, W. W. (2014). Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 667–685. doi: 10.1038/ nri3738
- Muller, M., Canfora, E. E., and Blaak, E. E. (2018). Gastrointestinal transit time, glucose homeostasis and metabolic health: modulation by dietary fibers. *Nutrients* 10:275. doi: 10.3390/nu10030275
- Nguyen, A. T., Mandard, S., Dray, C., Deckert, V., Valet, P., Besnard, P., et al. (2014). Lipopolysaccharides-mediated increase in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion: involvement of the GLP-1 pathway. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 63, 471–482. doi: 10.2337/db13-0903
- Nieuwdorp, M., Gilijamse, P. W., Pai, N., and Kaplan, L. M. (2014). Role of the microbiome in energy regulation and metabolism. *Gastroenterology* 146, 1525–1533. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.02.008
- Offermanns, S. (2014). Free fatty acid (FFA) and hydroxy carboxylic acid (HCA) receptors. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 54, 407–434. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-011613-135945
- Olivares, M., Neyrinck, A. M., Potgens, S. A., Beaumont, M., Salazar, N., Cani, P. D., et al. (2018a). The DPP-4 inhibitor vildagliptin impacts the gut microbiota and prevents disruption of intestinal homeostasis induced by a Western diet in mice. *Diabetologia* 61, 1838–1848. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4647-6
- Olivares, M., Schuppel, V., Hassan, A. M., Beaumont, M., Neyrinck, A. M., Bindels, L. B., et al. (2018b). The potential role of the dipeptidyl peptidase-4-like activity from the gut microbiota on the host health. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:1900. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03313
- Owyang, C., and Logsdon, C. D. (2004). New insights into neurohormonal regulation of pancreatic secretion. *Gastroenterology* 127, 957–969. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2004.05.002
- Paratore, S., Ciotti, M. T., Basille, M., Vaudry, D., Gentile, A., Parenti, R., et al. (2011). Gastric inhibitory polypeptide and its receptor are expressed in the central nervous system and support neuronal survival. *Cent. Nerv. Syst. Agents Med. Chem.* 11, 210–222. doi: 10.2174/187152411798047771
- Pathak, P., Liu, H., Boehme, S., Xie, C., Krausz, K. W., Gonzalez, F., et al. (2017). Farnesoid X receptor induces Takeda G-protein receptor 5 cross-talk to regulate bile acid synthesis and hepatic metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292, 11055–11069. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.784322
- Pedersen, H. K., Gudmundsdottir, V., Nielsen, H. B., Hyotylainen, T., Nielsen, T., Jensen, B. A., et al. (2016). Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. *Nature* 535, 376–381. doi: 10.1038/nature18646
- Psichas, A., Sleeth, M. L., Murphy, K. G., Brooks, L., Bewick, G. A., Hanyaloglu, A. C., et al. (2015). The short chain fatty acid propionate stimulates GLP-1 and PYY secretion via free fatty acid receptor 2 in rodents. *Int. J. Obes.* 39, 424–429. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.153
- Raghupathi, R., Duffield, M. D., Zelkas, L., Meedeniya, A., Brookes, S. J., Sia, T. C., et al. (2013). Identification of unique release kinetics of serotonin from guinea-pig and human enterochromaffin cells. *J. Physiol.* 591, 5959–5975. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.259796
- Raghupathi, R., Jessup, C. F., Lumsden, A. L., and Keating, D. J. (2016). Fusion pore size limits 5-HT release from single enterochromaffin cell vesicles. J. Cell. Physiol. 231, 1593–1600. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25256
- Raybould, H. E. (1991). Capsaicin-sensitive vagal afferents and CCK in inhibition of gastric motor function induced by intestinal nutrients. *Peptides* 12, 1279–1283. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(91)90207-6
- Raybould, H. E., and Tache, Y. (1988). Cholecystokinin inhibits gastric motility and emptying via a capsaicin-sensitive vagal pathway in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 255, G242–G246. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1988.255.2.G242
- Reigstad, C. S., Salmonson, C. E., Rainey, J. F. III, Szurszewski, J. H., Linden, D. R., Sonnenburg, J. L., et al. (2015). Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *FASEB J.* 29, 1395–1403. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-259598
- Ridaura, V. K., Faith, J. J., Rey, F. E., Cheng, J., Duncan, A. E., Kau, A. L., et al. (2013). Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. *Science* 341, 1241214. doi: 10.1126/science. 1241214

- Ritter, R. C. (2004). Gastrointestinal mechanisms of satiation for food. *Physiol. Behav.* 81, 249–273. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.012
- Roager, H. M., Hansen, L. B. S., Bahl, M. I., Frandsen, H. L., Carvalho, V., Gøbel, R. J., et al. (2016). Colonic transit time is related to bacterial metabolism and mucosal turnover in the gut. *Nat. Microbiol.* 1:16093. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol. 2016.93
- Rodrigues, R. R., Greer, R. L., Dong, X., DSouza, K. N., Gurung, M., Wu, J. Y., et al. (2017). Antibiotic-induced alterations in gut microbiota are associated with changes in glucose metabolism in healthy mice. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:2306. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02306
- Rogers, G. B., Keating, D. J., Young, R. L., Wong, M. L., Licinio, J., and Wesselingh, S. (2016). From gut dysbiosis to altered brain function and mental illness: mechanisms and pathways. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 738–748. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2016.50
- Rogers, R. C., and Hermann, G. E. (2008). Mechanisms of action of CCK to activate central vagal afferent terminals. *Peptides* 29, 1716–1725. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides. 2008.06.023
- Scarpellini, E., Ianiro, G., Attili, F., Bassanelli, C., De Santis, A., and Gasbarrini, A. (2015). The human gut microbiota and virome: potential therapeutic implications. *Dig. Liver Dis.* 47, 1007–1012. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2015.07.008
- Seeley, R. J., Chambers, A. P., and Sandoval, D. A. (2015). The role of gut adaptation in the potent effects of multiple bariatric surgeries on obesity and diabetes. *Cell Metab.* 21, 369–378. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.01.001
- Sileikiene, V., Mosenthin, R., Bauer, E., Piepho, H. P., Tafaj, M., Kruszewska, D., et al. (2008). Effect of ileal infusion of short-chain fatty acids on pancreatic prandial secretion and gastrointestinal hormones in pigs. *Pancreas* 37, 196–202. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31816386f4
- Spencer, N. J., and Keating, D. J. (2016). Is there a role for endogenous 5-HT in gastrointestinal motility? how recent studies have changed our understanding. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 891, 113–122. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-27592-5_11
- Spencer, N. J., Nicholas, S. J., Robinson, L., Kyloh, M., Flack, N., Brookes, S. J., et al. (2011). Mechanisms underlying distension-evoked peristalsis in guinea pig distal colon: is there a role for enterochromaffin cells? *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointestinal Liver Physiol.* 301, G519–G527. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00101.2011
- Spencer, N. J., Sia, T. C., Brookes, S. J., Costa, M., and Keating, D. J. (2015). CrossTalk opposing view: 5-HT is not necessary for peristalsis. *J. Physiol.* 593, 3229–3231. doi: 10.1113/JP270183
- Suarez-Zamorano, N., Fabbiano, S., Chevalier, C., Stojanovic, O., Colin, D. J., Stevanovic, A., et al. (2015). Microbiota depletion promotes browning of white adipose tissue and reduces obesity. *Nat. Med.* 21, 1497–1501. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3994
- Suez, J., Korem, T., Zeevi, D., Zilberman-Schapira, G., Thaiss, C. A., Maza, O., et al. (2014). Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiota. *Nature* 514, 181–186. doi: 10.1038/nature13793
- Suez, J., Korem, T., Zilberman-Schapira, G., Segal, E., and Elinav, E. (2015). Noncaloric artificial sweeteners and the microbiome: findings and challenges. *Gut Microbes* 6, 149–155. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1017700
- Sumara, G., Sumara, O., Kim, J. K., and Karsenty, G. (2012). Gut-derived serotonin is a multifunctional determinant to fasting adaptation. *Cell Metab.* 16, 588–600. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.09.014
- Sun, E. W., de Fontgalland, D., Rabbitt, P., Hollington, P., Sposato, L., Due, S. L., et al. (2017). Mechanisms controlling glucose-induced GLP-1 secretion in human small intestine. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 66, 2144–2149. doi: 10.2337/ db17-0058
- Takahashi, T., Yano, M., Minami, J., Haraguchi, T., Koga, N., Higashi, K., et al. (2002). Sarpogrelate hydrochloride, a serotonin2A receptor antagonist, reduces albuminuria in diabetic patients with early-stage diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 58, 123–129. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8227(02)00105-5
- Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2002). Genetic approaches to the study of toll-like receptor function. *Microbes Infect.* 4, 887–895. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(02) 01615-5
- Thondam, S. K., Daousi, C., Wilding, J. P., Holst, J. J., Ameen, G. I., Yang, C., et al. (2017). Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide promotes lipid deposition in subcutaneous adipocytes in obese type 2 diabetes patients: a maladaptive response. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 312, E224–E233. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00347.2016
- Thorn, P., Zorec, R., Rettig, J., and Keating, D. J. (2016). Exocytosis in nonneuronal cells. J. Neurochem. 137, 849–859. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13602

- Tolhurst, G., Heffron, H., Lam, Y. S., Parker, H. E., Habib, A. M., Diakogiannaki, E., et al. (2012). Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 61, 364–371. doi: 10.2337/db11-1019
- Topping, D. L., and Clifton, P. M. (2001). Short-chain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol. Rev.* 81, 1031–1064. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2001.81.3.1031
- Tremaroli, V., and Backhed, F. (2012). Functional interactions between the gut microbiota and host metabolism. *Nature* 489, 242–249. doi: 10.1038/ nature11552
- Turnbaugh, P. J., and Gordon, J. I. (2009). The core gut microbiome, energy balance and obesity. J. Physiol. 587, 4153–4158. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009. 174136
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Hamady, M., Yatsunenko, T., Cantarel, B. L., Duncan, A., Ley, R. E., et al. (2009). A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature* 457, 480–484. doi: 10.1038/nature07540
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ley, R. E., Mahowald, M. A., Magrini, V., Mardis, E. R., and Gordon, J. I. (2006). An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 444, 1027–1031. doi: 10.1038/nature05414
- Vandeputte, D., Falony, G., Vieira-Silva, S., Tito, R. Y., Joossens, M., and Raes, J. (2016). Stool consistency is strongly associated with gut microbiota richness and composition, enterotypes and bacterial growth rates. *Gut* 65, 57–62. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309618
- Vangay, P., Johnson, A. J., Ward, T. L., Al-Ghalith, G. A., Shields-Cutler, R. R., Hillmann, B. M., et al. (2018). US immigration westernizes the human gut microbiome. *Cell* 175, 962.e10–972.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018. 10.029
- Vilsboll, T., Krarup, T., Madsbad, S., and Holst, J. J. (2002). Defective amplification of the late phase insulin response to glucose by GIP in obese type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 45, 1111–1119. doi: 10.1007/s00125-002-0878-6
- Vincent, A. D., Wang, X. Y., Parsons, S. P., Khan, W. I., and Huizinga, J. D. (2018). Abnormal absorptive colonic motor activity in germ free mice is rectified by butyrate, an effect possibly mediated by mucosal serotonin. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 315, G896–G907. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00237.2017
- Vrieze, A., Out, C., Fuentes, S., Jonker, L., Reuling, I., Kootte, R. S., et al. (2014). Impact of oral vancomycin on gut microbiota, bile acid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity. J. Hepatol. 60, 824–831. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.11.034
- Vrieze, A., Van Nood, E., Holleman, F., Salojarvi, J., Kootte, R. S., Bartelsman, J. F., et al. (2012). Transfer of intestinal microbiota from lean donors increases insulin sensitivity in individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 143, 913.e7–916.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.031
- Waldecker, M., Kautenburger, T., Daumann, H., Busch, C., and Schrenk, D. (2008). Inhibition of histone-deacetylase activity by short-chain fatty acids and some polyphenol metabolites formed in the colon. J. Nutr. Biochem. 19, 587–593. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2007.08.002
- Watanabe, H., Saito, R., Nakano, T., Takahashi, H., Takahashi, Y., Sumiyoshi, K., et al. (2014). Effect of peripheral 5-HT on glucose and lipid metabolism in wether sheep. *PLoS One* 9:e88058. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088058
- Widenmaier, S. B., Ao, Z., Kim, S. J., Warnock, G., and McIntosh, C. H. (2009). Suppression of p38 MAPK and JNK via Akt-mediated inhibition of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 constitutes a core component of the beta-cell prosurvival effects of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 30372–30382. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.060178
- Wu, H., Esteve, E., Tremaroli, V., Khan, M. T., Caesar, R., Mannerås-Holm, L., et al. (2017). Metformin alters the gut microbiome of individuals with treatmentnaive type 2 diabetes, contributing to the therapeutic effects of the drug. *Nat. Med.* 22, 850–858. doi: 10.1038/nm.4345
- Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., et al. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* 161, 264–276. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015. 02.047
- Yip, R. G., Boylan, M. O., Kieffer, T. J., and Wolfe, M. M. (1998). Functional GIP receptors are present on adipocytes. *Endocrinology* 139, 4004–4007. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.9.6288
- Young, R. L., Lumsden, A. L., and Keating, D. J. (2015). Gut serotonin is a regulator of obesity and metabolism. *Gastroenterology* 149, 253–255. doi: 10. 1053/j.gastro.2015.05.020

- Young, R. L., Lumsden, A. L., Martin, A. M., Schober, G., Pezos, N., Thazhath, S. S., et al. (2018). Augmented capacity for peripheral serotonin release in human obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* 42, 1880–1889. doi: 10.1038/s41366-018-0047-8
- Zarrinpar, A., Chaix, A., Xu, Z. Z., Chang, M. W., Marotz, C. A., Saghatelian, A., et al. (2018). Antibiotic-induced microbiome depletion alters metabolic homeostasis by affecting gut signaling and colonic metabolism. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2872. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05336-9
- Zelkas, L., Raghupathi, R., Lumsden, A. L., Martin, A. M., Sun, E., Spencer, N. J., et al. (2015). Serotonin-secreting enteroendocrine cells respond via diverse mechanisms to acute and chronic changes in glucose availability. *Nutr. Metab.* 12:55. doi: 10.1186/s12986-015-0051-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past collaboration with one of the authors DK.

Copyright © 2019 Martin, Sun, Rogers and Keating. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glucagon Receptor Signaling and Lipid Metabolism

Katrine D. Galsgaard^{1,2}, Jens Pedersen^{1,3}, Filip K. Knop^{2,4,5}, Jens J. Holst^{1,2*} and Nicolai J. Wewer Albrechtsen^{1,6,7*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ² Novo Nordisk Foundation Center for Basic Metabolic Research, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ Department of Cardiology, Nephrology and Endocrinology, Nordsjællands Hospital Hillerød, University of Copenhagen, Hillerød, Denmark, ⁴ Clinical Metabolic Physiology, Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte Hospital, Hellerup, Denmark, ⁵ Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁶ Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁷ Novo Nordisk Foundation Center for Protein Research, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tongzhi Wu, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by: Greg Smith,

The University of New South Wales, Australia Quan Zhang, University of Oxford, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Jens J. Holst jjholst@sund.ku.dk Nicolai J. Wewer Albrechtsen hgk795@ku.dk; nicolai.albrechtsen@sund.ku.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 21 October 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

Citation:

Galsgaard KD, Pedersen J, Knop FK, Holst JJ and Wewer Albrechtsen NJ (2019) Glucagon Receptor Signaling and Lipid Metabolism. Front. Physiol. 10:413. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00413 Glucagon is secreted from the pancreatic alpha cells upon hypoglycemia and stimulates hepatic glucose production. Type 2 diabetes is associated with dysregulated glucagon secretion, and increased glucagon concentrations contribute to the diabetic hyperglycemia. Antagonists of the glucagon receptor have been considered as glucose-lowering therapy in type 2 diabetes patients, but their clinical applicability has been questioned because of reports of therapy-induced increments in liver fat content and increased glucagon receptor signaling has been linked to improved lipid metabolism. Glucagon acts primarily on the liver and by regulating hepatic lipid metabolism glucagon may reduce hepatic lipid accumulation and decrease hepatic lipid secretion. Regarding whole-body lipid metabolism, it is controversial to what extent glucagon influences lipolysis in adipose tissue, particularly in humans. Glucagon receptor agonists combined with glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists (dual agonists) improve dyslipidemia and reduce hepatic steatosis. Collectively, emerging data support an essential role of glucagon for lipid metabolism.

Keywords: glucagon, lipid, liver, adipose tissue, alpha cell

INTRODUCTION

Glucagon is processed from its precursor, proglucagon, by prohormone convertase 2 and secreted from pancreatic alpha cells (Rouille et al., 1994). The role of glucagon in glucose metabolism has been intensively studied, and comprehensive reviews are found elsewhere (Jiang and Zhang, 2003; Ramnanan et al., 2011; Ahren, 2015; Holst et al., 2017a). In addition to regulating glucose metabolism, glucagon also seems important for minute-to-minute regulation of amino acid metabolism as part of the recently described liver-alpha cell axis (Solloway et al., 2015; Dean et al., 2017; Galsgaard et al., 2017; Holst et al., 2017b; Kim et al., 2017), in which amino acids stimulate glucagon secretion and glucagon in turn stimulates hepatic amino acid uptake and metabolism (ureagenesis) and, thus, circulating amino acid concentrations as well as increased hepatic NADH/NAD⁺ ratio. The actions of glucagon are mediated via the glucagon receptor,

a seven transmembrane receptor coupled to $G_{\alpha s}$ - and G_q -proteins, which regulate adenylate cyclase (AC) and phospholipase C activities when activated (Wakelam et al., 1986; Jelinek et al., 1993; Aromataris et al., 2006). The glucagon receptor is primarily expressed in the liver, but it is also expressed in varying amounts in the central nervous system, kidneys, gastro-intestinal tract, heart (controversial), and pancreas (Svoboda et al., 1994).

Glucagon receptor expression has been reported in rat adipocytes (Svoboda et al., 1994; Hansen et al., 1995), where a lipolytic effect of glucagon may be of physiological relevance. As type 2 diabetic hyperglucagonaemia (Faerch et al., 2016) contributes to the hyperglycemic state of patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Unger and Orci, 1975; Baron et al., 1987), inhibition of glucagon receptor signaling has been investigated as glucose-lowering therapy in T2D patients (Kazda et al., 2016; Kazierad et al., 2016, 2018; Vajda et al., 2017; Pettus et al., 2018). Interestingly, potential adverse effects of this therapeutic approach include increased low-density lipoprotein (LDL) plasma concentrations and increased hepatic fat accumulation (Guzman et al., 2017). Furthermore, hepatocyte studies have shown that glucagon stimulates beta-oxidation (Pegorier et al., 1989), inhibits lipogenesis and decrease triglyceride (TG) and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) secretion (Guettet et al., 1988; Bobe et al., 2003) emphasizing a potentially important role of glucagon in lipid metabolism.

GLUCAGON MIGHT STIMULATE LIPOLYSIS IN ADIPOSE TISSUE IN RODENTS BUT NOT IN HUMANS

Lipolysis in adipocytes depends on activation of AC and thereby increased protein kinase A (PKA) activity. PKA phosphorylates (hence activates) perilipins (Greenberg et al., 1991) and hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) (Stralfors et al., 1984; Garton et al., 1988; Anthonsen et al., 1998), and two additional lipases, resulting in hydrolysis of TGs and release of glycerol and free fatty acids (FFAs), e.g., palmitate (Egan et al., 1992; Lass et al., 2006; Granneman et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009; Figure 1). Circulating levels of FFAs and glycerol therefore reflect the rate of lipolysis (Schweiger et al., 2014). For glucagon to directly influence adipocyte function, its cognate receptor must be expressed. Glucagon receptor mRNA has been detected in rat adipocytes (Svoboda et al., 1994; Hansen et al., 1995), but to determine the physiological relevance of glucagon receptor mRNA expression, it is necessary to investigate whether the mRNA is actually translated into a functional receptor. Specific antibodies directed against the glucagon receptor are necessary in addressing this question, but development of specific antibodies against glucagon receptors has been challenging and the antibodies available are unspecific and therefore not suitable for receptor localization (van der Woning et al., 2016). As an example, one study reported localization of the glucagon receptor in rat adipocytes using a monoclonal antibody (Iwanij and Vincent, 1990) whereas another using autoradiography, glucagon receptors were not found to be expressed (Watanabe et al., 1998), and no studies have demonstrated presence of glucagon receptors on human adipocytes (Carranza et al., 1993). Clearly, future studies should investigate glucagon receptor expression using antibody and antibody-independent methods.

Glucagon has been reported to activate HSL (Vaughan et al., 1964; Slavin et al., 1994) and lipolysis in rat adipocytes (Vaughan and Steinberg, 1963; Rodbell and Jones, 1966; Prigge and Grande, 1971; Manganiello and Vaughan, 1972; Lefebvre et al., 1973; Livingston et al., 1974) within minutes (Honnor et al., 1985) at concentrations as low as 6 \times 10⁻¹⁰ M (Lefebvre and Luvckx, 1969) and 10^{-11} M (Heckemeyer et al., 1983). Glucagon has also been shown to stimulate lipolysis in birds, rabbits (Richter et al., 1989; Wu et al., 1990), and human adipocytes in vitro (Perea et al., 1995) at concentrations near 10⁻⁸ M (Richter et al., 1989). At physiological plasma concentrations (1-40 pM), a lipolytic effect of glucagon in human adipocytes has been difficult to demonstrate (Mosinger et al., 1965; Vizek et al., 1979; Gravholt et al., 2001). One of the first human studies reporting a lipolytic effect of glucagon, demonstrated that an injection of 7.5 µg glucagon into the branchial artery resulted in a rapid increase in FFA plasma concentrations in the corresponding vein (Pozza et al., 1971) but this was not replicated in a similar study with mean increases of glucagon plasma concentrations by 237 pM in overnight fasted subjects (Pozefsky et al., 1976). An increase in FFA plasma concentrations has been demonstrated upon glucagon infusion (mean glucagon increment 209 \pm 15 pM) (Schneider et al., 1981) and intravenous injection of glucagon [reaching plasma concentrations of >1,000 pM (Schade and Eaton, 1975)]. Since supra-physiological glucagon concentrations were applied, these studies may lack specificity because of interaction of glucagon with other related G protein-coupled receptors (e.g., the glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor) (Hjorth et al., 1994). Pharmacological concentrations of glucagon also stimulate secretion of catecholamines and growth hormone, both of which have powerful lipolytic effects (Mitchell et al., 1969; Stallknecht et al., 1995), possibly as part of a generalized sympathetic nervous system discharge (Paschoalini and Migliorini, 1990). Glucagon was not found to have any lipolytic effects in clinical studies using glucagon concentrations ranging from 19 to 64 pM (Wu et al., 1990; Jensen et al., 1991; Gravholt et al., 2001; Xiao et al., 2011). In some clinical studies investigating the lipolytic effect of supra-physiological glucagon concentrations, the lipolytic effect of glucagon could be abolished by insulin (Samols et al., 1965; Goldfine et al., 1972; Liljenquist et al., 1974; Schade and Eaton, 1975; Schneider et al., 1981), and in rat adipocytes insulin is a potent inhibitor of lipolysis (Rodbell and Jones, 1966; Lefebvre and Luyckx, 1969; Prigge and Grande, 1971; Liljenquist et al., 1974; Gerich et al., 1976). A lipolytic effect of glucagon, if any, on human adipocytes may therefore only be physiologically relevant when insulin secretion is low. Supporting this, a 2-h infusion of 1 ng/kg \times min glucagon (presumably resulting in physiologically relevant elevations) and somatostatin in insulindeficient diabetic subjects caused a two to three-fold increase in FFA and glycerol plasma concentrations, compared to infusion of somatostatin alone. However, when insulin, somatostatin, and glucagon were infused together, glucagon had no lipolytic effect



(Gerich et al., 1976). Furthermore, infusion with saline only gave the same increase in FFA as compared to glucagon infusion. In another study glucagon was infused at 1.2 ng/kg \times min (high but also relevant) together with somatostatin for 2 h, but there was no lipolytic effect of glucagon at insulin concentrations

of 38 pM (Jensen et al., 1991). In contrast, a 2-h glucagon infusion at 1.3 ng/kg \times min, during a mean insulin plasma concentration of 65 pM, increased the rate of appearance of labeled FFA and glycerol by 40 and 36%, respectively (Carlson et al., 1993). As glucagon receptors are expressed on beta

cells (Adriaenssens et al., 2016; Svendsen et al., 2018) and may stimulate insulin secretion through both GLP-1 and glucagon receptors (Svendsen et al., 2018) it may be speculated that intraislet regulation of insulin through glucagon may contribute to its effect on lipid metabolism.

It is important to note that FFA and glycerol in plasma are not only determined by release from adipocytes, but also by rate of uptake and re-esterification in other tissues. A lack of effect of glucagon on the free plasma pool of FFA and glycerol, does therefore not rule out that glucagon has a direct effect on lipid metabolism in adipocytes and hepatocytes (**Figure 1**).

GLUCAGON STIMULATES HEPATIC BETA-OXIDATION AND INHIBITS LIPOGENESIS

In hepatocytes, glucagon action increases the transcription factor cAMP responsive element binding (CREB) protein, which induces the transcription of carnitine acyl transferase 1 (CPT-1) (Longuet et al., 2008). CPT-1 enables catabolism of long-chain fatty acids by converting fatty acids to acyl-carnitines, which are transported into the mitochondria and subjected to betaoxidation (Kim et al., 2000; Stephens et al., 2007). During beta-oxidation the fatty acids are degraded into acetate, which ultimately enters the citric acid cycle (DiMarco and Hoppel, 1975). Furthermore, through PKA-dependent phosphorylation, glucagon receptor signaling inactivates acetyl-CoA carboxylase, the enzyme catalyzing the formation of malonyl-CoA. Malonyl-CoA is the first intermediate in fatty acid synthesis and inhibits CPT-1 (i.e., inhibits beta-oxidation). By inhibiting the formation of malonyl-CoA, glucagon diverts FFAs to beta-oxidation rather than re-esterification into TGs (Figure 2). Periportal and perivenous hepatocytes receive different concentrations of substrates and oxygen and as a consequence periportal hepatocytes primarily mediate oxidative processes, including beta-oxidation, whereas perivenous hepatocytes preferentially mediate glucose uptake and lipogenesis (Jungermann, 1988; Guzman and Castro, 1989).

In hepatocytes, glucagon may bring about an energy-depleted state (increasing the AMP/ATP ratio) sufficient to activate AMPactivated kinase (Berglund et al., 2009), which phosphorylates acetyl-CoA carboxylase (Peng et al., 2012) and p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase, leading to transcriptional activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-a (PPARa) (Longuet et al., 2008). PPARa stimulates the transcription of genes involved in beta-oxidation including CPT-1, CPT-2, and acetyl-CoA oxidase (Patsouris et al., 2006), and the transcription of fibroblast growth factor 21, which is produced in the liver in response to glucagon (Xu et al., 2009; Cyphert et al., 2014). Glucagon also stimulates forkhead transcription factor A2 activity (FoxA2), which induces transcription of genes involved in beta-oxidation, such as CPT-1, very-, and medium- longchain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (Wolfrum and Stoffel, 2006; von Meyenn et al., 2013). Subsequent to activating its receptors on hepatocytes, insulin suppresses most of these pathways, and the metabolic state in the hepatocytes may therefore be determined

by the insulin-glucagon ratio, rather than by the hormone concentrations *per se* (Parrilla et al., 1974). Insulin inhibits lipolysis in adipocytes and by reducing the amount of substrate (FFA and glycerol) reaching the liver may reduce (Perry et al., 2015) hepatic gluconeogenesis.

To investigate the physiological effects of glucagon in lipid metabolism, several studies have relied on glucagon receptor knockout $(Gcgr^{-/-})$ mice or animals treated with GRA. In the livers of $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice there is an increase in glycolysis and a decrease in gluconeogenesis and citric acid cycle activity, which results in decreased acetyl-CoA oxidation and acetyl-CoA accumulation. The accumulation of acetyl-CoA in the cytosol of hepatocytes results in increased lipogenesis. Supporting this, genes involved in lipogenesis, e.g., ATP citrate lyase and fatty acid synthase, were found to be upregulated in livers of $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice at both the mRNA and protein level (Longuet et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2011), while CPT-1 and -2 levels, and other enzymes necessary for beta-oxidation, were downregulated (Yang et al., 2011). Hepatic beta-oxidation is essential for the production of both glucose and ketones since it provides the substrates acetyl-CoA and acetate and mitochondrial energy supply (ATP/NADH) needed for gluconeogenesis (Staehr et al., 2003). The hepatic gene expression profile changes markedly in response to fasting, and major differences have been reported in expression levels of genes involved in lipid metabolism between the fed and fasted state (Longuet et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2011). Following a prolonged fast (16 h), wild-type mice had an increased hepatic expression of genes involved in betaoxidation, such as CPT-1, CPT-2, and acyl-CoA dehydrogenase, but this was not observed in $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice, which displayed an impaired beta-oxidation in both the fasted and fed state (Longuet et al., 2008) and $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice failed to change the hepatic energy state in response to fasting (Berglund et al., 2009). Furthermore, $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice showed increased hepatic TG secretion and increased plasma concentrations of TG and FFA after a 16 h fasting period, but not after 5 h of fasting (Longuet et al., 2008). Others (Gelling et al., 2003) also found similar TG and FFA plasma concentrations in $Gcgr^{-/-}$ and wild-type mice after a short-term fast; they did, however, find increased plasma concentrations of LDL in $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice. Glucagon thus seems to regulate hepatic metabolism in response to fasting by stimulating glucose-producing processes, including beta-oxidation. When challenged with a high fat diet (HFD) for 8 weeks, $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice did not increase the amount of inguinal and epididymal fat, whereas the amount of both doubled in wild-type mice (Longuet et al., 2008). In line with this, others (Gelling et al., 2003) showed a decrease in white adipose tissue mass and an increase in lean body mass in $Gcgr^{-/-}$ compared to wildtype mice, without changes in bodyweight, food consumption, or energy expenditure and one group (Conarello et al., 2007) found that $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice had lower amounts of white adipose tissue when fed both a HFD and a low fat diet compared to wild-type mice, and thus seemed to be resistant to dietinduced obesity. This could reflect an inability of $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice to mobilize the hepatic lipid storage; instead adipocyte lipolysis (by catecholamines) maintain the energy supply to other metabolically active tissues.



FIGURE 21 The effects of alucadon receptor signaling on hepatic lipid metabolism. Glucadon activates its cognate receptor, a seven transmembrane receptor coupled to a Gs protein, resulting in AC activity and cAMP production. The increase in intracellular cAMP activates protein kinase A (PKA), which phosphorylates (hence inactivates) acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC). Glucagon thus inhibit malonyl-CoA formation and the subsequent de novo fatty acid synthesis. When formed, the fatty acids are, after re-esterification, stored as trigycerides in and released from the hepatocytes in the form of very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL). Thus, glucagon leads the free fatty acids toward beta-oxidation and decreases de novo fatty acid synthesis and VLDL release. cAMP accumulation in hepatocytes activates the cAMP responsible binding element (CREB) protein, which induces the transcription of carnitine acyl transferase-1 (CPT-1), and other genes needed for beta-oxidation. CPT-1 catalyzes the attachment of carnitine to fatty acyl-CoA, forming acyl-carnitine. The acyl-carnitines transverse the mitochondrial membrane mediated via the carnitine-acylcarnitine translocase (CACT). Once in the mitochondrial matrix, carnitine acyl transferase-2 (CPT-2) is responsible for transferring the acyl-group from the acyl-carnitine back to CoA. Carnitine leaves the mitochondria matrix through the carnitine-acylcarnitine translocase. During beta-oxidation, the fatty acid chains are degraded into acetate. Acetate reacts with CoA to yield acetyl-CoA, which reacts with oxaloacetate to form citrate that inhibits glycolysis through inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase and phosphofructokinase-1. Finally, citrate enters the citric acid cycle (TCA). Thus, glucagon increases fatty acid catabolism, inhibits glycolysis, and fuels the TCA cycle. By increasing AC activity glucagon increase the AMP/ATP ratio sufficient to activate AMP-activated kinase (AMPK), which phosphorylates ACC, leading to transcriptional activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-a (PPARa). PPARa stimulates the transcription of genes involved in beta-oxidation including CPT-1, CPT-2, and acetyl-CoA oxidase. Glucagon stimulates FoxA2 activity, which induces transcription of genes such as CPT-1, very-, and medium- long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase. Enzymes and pathways inhibited by glucagon are shown in red, while enzymes and pathways stimulated by glucagon are shown in black.

IMPLICATIONS OF GLUCAGON RECEPTOR SIGNALING IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF STEATOSIS

Administration of GRAs has been associated with increased hepatic fat content (assessed as hepatic fat fraction measured by magnetic resonance imaging) and increased plasma concentrations of LDL (Guzman et al., 2017). Furthermore, subjects with endogenous glucagon deficiency (pancreatectomized subjects) (Dresler et al., 1991) and rats (Sloop et al., 2004) and diabetic (db/db) mice (Liang et al., 2004) treated with glucagon antisense oligonucleotide have increased hepatic fat. These data suggest that inhibition of glucagon receptor signaling results in hepatic lipid accumulation. In addition, $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice may be prone to steatosis when challenged with a high fat diet (HFD) for 8 weeks (Longuet et al., 2008). However, a study involving a similar HFD diet for 12 weeks and mice with the same sex, gene modification, and background (C57BL/6J), showed that $Gcgr^{-/-}$ mice were protected from steatosis (Conarello et al., 2007). Of notice,

C57BL/6J mice do not consistently develop steatosis upon HFD feeding (Charlton et al., 2011), and this might have influenced the results. In rats, impaired glucagon action also associates with development of hepatic steatosis (Charbonneau et al., 2005a). Interestingly, HFD feeding has been reported to decrease glucagon receptor expression at the plasma membrane of rat hepatocytes (Charbonneau et al., 2005b, 2007). These data suggest that hepatic lipid accumulation may cause impaired glucagon receptor signaling, and that this (as demonstrated using GRAs) may contribute to and accelerate hepatic lipid accumulation.

Acute administration of 30 µg/kg glucagon decreased FFA and TG plasma concentrations and reduced hepatic TG content and secretion in mice (Longuet et al., 2008). Chronic hyperglucagonemia (injection of 10 µg glucagon every 8 h for 21 days) had hypolipidemic effects in rats, evident by a 70 and 38% decrease in plasma concentrations of TGs and phospholipids, respectively (Guettet et al., 1988). Consistent with this, glucagon inhibited synthesis and secretion of TGs in cultured hepatocytes (Longuet et al., 2008), in perfused rat livers (Penhos et al., 1966; Heimberg et al., 1969), and decreased the synthesis of hepatic VLDL in rats (Eaton, 1973). In humans, hyperglucagonemia (56 \pm 20 pM), during a pancreatic clamp, reduced hepatic lipoprotein particle turnover (Xiao et al., 2011), and glucagon administration increased hepatic beta-oxidation in humans (Prip-Buus et al., 1990). In diet-induced obese (DIO) mice, a once-weekly treatment with 70 nmol/kg glucagon/GLP-1 receptor co-agonist resulted in loss of fat mass, which in the same study was also found, although less pronounced in GLP-1 receptor knockout mice, and improved hepatic lipid metabolism and steatosis within 4 weeks (Day et al., 2009). Another glucagon/GLP-1 co-agonist (1.9 µmol/kg daily for 14 days) decreased acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA concentrations and increased CPT-1 mRNA in the livers of DIO mice, whereas a selective GLP-1 receptor agonist had no effect (Pocai et al., 2009). Both of these dual agonists reduced hepatic steatosis, increased HSL activity in adipocytes, and improved dyslipidemia in DIO mice (Day et al., 2009; Pocai et al., 2009). Supporting these data, other glucagon/GLP-1 receptor co-agonists have been reported to lower plasma concentrations of TG and cholesterol (Clemmensen et al., 2014), decrease hepatic fat content (Henderson et al., 2016), and reduce adipose mass in rodent models of T2D and obesity (Evers et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2017). Importantly, acute administration of 25 nmol/kg glucagon/GLP-1 co-agonist decreased plasma concentration of TGs, cholesterol, and LDL in DIO mice within 1 h, whereas liraglutide (a pure GLP-1 receptor agonist) administration had no effect (More et al., 2017). In addition, hepatic synthesis of VLDL and palmitate, and fatty acid esterification decreased, while beta-oxidation and LDL receptors expression increased upon co-agonist, but not liraglutide, administration (More et al., 2017). The inhibitory effect on hepatic lipogenesis and stimulatory effect on betaoxidation therefore seems to be mediated by glucagon receptor signaling. Several clinical studies are currently investigating the potential treatment of obesity and T2D using glucagon/GLP-1 co-agonists (Capozzi et al., 2018).

REGULATION OF GLUCAGON SECRETION BY LIPIDS

FFAs are under certain circumstances insulin secretagogs (Boden and Carnell, 2003) but their ability to stimulate glucagon secretion remains debated (Gerich et al., 1974; Bollheimer et al., 2004; Gromada et al., 2007). Some clinical studies found a suppression of glucagon secretion at increased FFA concentrations (Madison et al., 1968; Edwards and Taylor, 1970; Luyckx and Lefebvre, 1970; Gerich et al., 1974) whereas isolated alpha cells were shown to secrete glucagon in response to FFA stimulation (Gross and Mialhe, 1986; Collins et al., 2008). In isolated rat pancreatic islets, palmitate stimulated glucagon secretion (Gremlich et al., 1997; Dumonteil et al., 2000). Others found palmitate to stimulate glucagon secretion in a glucosedependent manner using isolated pancreatic islets; increasing at glucose concentrations of 2.8, 5.6, and 10 mM (Olofsson et al., 2004) but not at 16.7 mM (Bollheimer et al., 2004). Medium and long-chain fatty acids (>C5) have been reported to stimulate glucagon secretion by activation of FFA receptor G proteincoupled receptor 40 (GPR40) (Wang et al., 2011; Kristinsson et al., 2017) and GPR119 (Hansen et al., 2012; Li et al., 2018), both present in the pancreatic islets (Briscoe et al., 2003). FFAs may also function as metabolic substrate and stimulate alpha cell secretion through beta-oxidation (Kristinsson et al., 2017; Briant et al., 2018). FFAs decrease secretion of somatostatin (Gromada et al., 2001), and may lower the tonic inhibition of somatostatin on alpha cells (Gromada et al., 2007; Müller et al., 2017). A clinical study investigating the effects of ingestion of lipids on hormone secretion, found no change in glucagon secretion after intravenous or oral administration of a lipid emulsion (3 ml/kg) (Lindgren et al., 2011), neither did glucagon plasma concentrations change upon a 300 min lipid infusion raising FFA plasma concentrations from 0.4 to 0.8 mM (Staehr et al., 2003). No difference in glucagon secretion was observed between subjects consuming a HFD or a low-fat diet for 2 weeks (Raben et al., 2001). In contrast to this, ingestion of longchain fatty acids (olive oil and C8 fatty acids) lead to increased plasma concentrations of glucagon 40 min after, whereas no increase was observed after ingestion of short-chain fatty acids (C4), however, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) concentrations also increased upon ingestion of longchain fatty acids and this may have caused an increase in glucagon secretion (Mandoe et al., 2015). Another study observed that a meal rich in mono-unsaturated fatty acids resulted in a larger glucagon response when compared to a control meal (Sloth et al., 2009). Others also observed an increase in glucagon concentrations upon fat-enriched meals (Radulescu et al., 2010; Niederwanger et al., 2014). The glucagon response observed upon a 90 min intraduodenal infusion of linoleic, oleic, and palmitic acids were significant lower than observed upon protein infusion (Ryan et al., 2013). Studies of ability of FFAs to stimulate glucagon secretion are complex, since FFAs are found in many forms and their stimulatory effect may vary (Radulescu et al., 2010) [as is the case for incretin secretion (Feltrin et al., 2004; Thomsen et al., 1999)]. Furthermore, the increased glucagon concentrations reported in some studies may result from other proglucagon products (e.g., glicentin or oxyntomodulin), since measurements of plasma glucagon concentrations have been marred with problems regarding sensitivity and specificity (Wewer Albrechtsen et al., 2016), and further studies investigating the regulation of glucagon secretion by FFAs are needed.

CONCLUSION

Glucagon may, aside from its physiological actions on glucose and amino acid metabolism, also be important for lipid metabolism via effects on hepatic beta-oxidation and lipogenesis, and potentially increased lipolysis in adipocytes. A direct role of glucagon on adipocytes may be of importance in rodents, as glucagon stimulates lipolysis (Vaughan and Steinberg, 1963; Rodbell and Jones, 1966; Prigge and Grande, 1971; Manganiello and Vaughan, 1972; Lefebvre et al., 1973; Livingston et al., 1974), whereas in humans an adipocyte-dependent lipolysis of glucagon is more complex. In both rodents and humans, glucagon is a powerful regulator of hepatic lipid metabolism (Day et al., 2009; Xiao et al., 2011) as highlighted in studies using GRAs (Guzman et al., 2017). The clinical use of GRAs is further challenged by glucagon's role in amino acid metabolism, and blocking the glucagon receptor results in hyperaminoacidemia and eventually alpha cell hyperplasia (Holst et al., 2017b). Treatment of diabetes using the current GRAs may therefore not

REFERENCES

- Adriaenssens, A. E., Svendsen, B., Lam, B. Y., Yeo, G. S., Holst, J. J., Reimann, F., et al. (2016). Transcriptomic profiling of pancreatic alpha, beta and delta cell populations identifies delta cells as a principal target for ghrelin in mouse islets. *Diabetologia* 59, 2156–2165. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4033-1
- Ahren, B. (2015). Glucagon-early breakthroughs and recent discoveries. *Peptides* 67, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2015.03.011
- Anthonsen, M. W., Ronnstrand, L., Wernstedt, C., Degerman, E., and Holm, C. (1998). Identification of novel phosphorylation sites in hormone-sensitive lipase that are phosphorylated in response to isoproterenol and govern activation properties in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 215–221. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273. 1.215
- Aromataris, E. C., Roberts, M. L., Barritt, G. J., and Rychkov, G. Y. (2006). Glucagon activates Ca2+ and Cl- channels in rat hepatocytes. J. Physiol. 573(Pt 3), 611–625. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.109819
- Baron, A. D., Schaeffer, L., Shragg, P., and Kolterman, O. G. (1987). Role of hyperglucagonemia in maintenance of increased rates of hepatic glucose output in type II diabetics. *Diabetes* 36, 274–283. doi: 10.2337/diab.36. 3.274
- Berglund, E. D., Lee-Young, R. S., Lustig, D. G., Lynes, S. E., Donahue, E. P., Camacho, R. C., et al. (2009). Hepatic energy state is regulated by glucagon receptor signaling in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 2412–2422. doi: 10.1172/ JCI38650
- Bobe, G., Ametaj, B. N., Young, J. W., and Beitz, D. C. (2003). Effects of exogenous glucagon on lipids in lipoproteins and liver of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 2895–2903. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73886-7
- Boden, G., and Carnell, L. H. (2003). Nutritional effects of fat on carbohydrate metabolism. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 17, 399–410.
- Bollheimer, L. C., Landauer, H. C., Troll, S., Schweimer, J., Wrede, C. E., Scholmerich, J., et al. (2004). Stimulatory short-term effects of free fatty acids

be feasible, however, one may speculate that targeted antagonism of glucagon signaling may circumvent these unwarranted sideeffects. Currently glucagon receptor agonists, combined with GLP-1 and GIP receptor agonists, are investigated as possible therapeutic agents (Gu et al., 2011; Sadry and Drucker, 2013; Sanchez-Garrido et al., 2017; Capozzi et al., 2018). In preclinical studies, these agents improve steatosis and dyslipidemia, possibly as a consequence of regulation of hepatic lipid metabolism by glucagon agonism (Day et al., 2009).

Taken together, glucagon seems to play an important physiological role in the acute regulation of lipid metabolism but clearly further studies particularly in humans are warranted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors wrote and approved the final edition of the manuscript.

FUNDING

All funding sources have been submitted. NNF Tandem Programme (31526), NNF Project support in Endocrinology and Metabolism – Nordic Region (34250), and Excellence Emerging Investigator Grant – Endocrinology and Metabolism (NNF19OC0055001).

on glucagon secretion at low to normal glucose concentrations. *Metabolism* 53, 1443–1448. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2004.06.011

- Briant, L. J. B., Dodd, M. S., Chibalina, M. V., Rorsman, N. J. G., Johnson, P. R. V., Carmeliet, P., et al. (2018). CPT1a-dependent long-chain fatty acid oxidation contributes to maintaining glucagon secretion from pancreatic islets. *Cell Rep.* 23, 3300–3311. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.035
- Briscoe, C. P., Tadayyon, M., Andrews, J. L., Benson, W. G., Chambers, J. K., Eilert, M. M., et al. (2003). The orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR40 is activated by medium and long chain fatty acids. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 11303–11311. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211495200
- Capozzi, M. E., DiMarchi, R. D., Tschop, M. H., Finan, B., and Campbell, J. E. (2018). Targeting the incretin/glucagon system with triagonists to treat diabetes. *Endocr. Rev.* 39, 719–738. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00117
- Carlson, M. G., Snead, W. L., and Campbell, P. J. (1993). Regulation of free fatty acid metabolism by glucagon. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 77, 11–15.
- Carranza, M. C., Simon, M. A., Torres, A., Romero, B., and Calle, C. (1993). Identification of glucagon receptors in human adipocytes from a liposarcoma. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* 16, 439–442. doi: 10.1007/BF03348878
- Charbonneau, A., Couturier, K., Gauthier, M. S., and Lavoie, J. M. (2005a). Evidence of hepatic glucagon resistance associated with hepatic steatosis: reversal effect of training. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 26, 432–441.
- Charbonneau, A., Melancon, A., Lavoie, C., and Lavoie, J. M. (2005b). Alterations in hepatic glucagon receptor density and in Gsalpha and Gialpha2 protein content with diet-induced hepatic steatosis: effects of acute exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 289, E8–E14.
- Charbonneau, A., Unson, C. G., and Lavoie, J. M. (2007). High-fat diet-induced hepatic steatosis reduces glucagon receptor content in rat hepatocytes: potential interaction with acute exercise. J. Physiol. 579(Pt 1), 255–267. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.2006.121954
- Charlton, M., Krishnan, A., Viker, K., Sanderson, S., Cazanave, S., McConico, A., et al. (2011). Fast food diet mouse: novel small animal model of NASH with ballooning, progressive fibrosis, and high physiological fidelity to the human

condition. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 301, G825-G834. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00145.2011

- Clemmensen, C., Chabenne, J., Finan, B., Sullivan, L., Fischer, K., Kuchler, D., et al. (2014). GLP-1/glucagon coagonism restores leptin responsiveness in obese mice chronically maintained on an obesogenic diet. *Diabetes* 63, 1422–1427. doi: 10.2337/db13-1609
- Collins, S. C., Salehi, A., Eliasson, L., Olofsson, C. S., and Rorsman, P. (2008). Long-term exposure of mouse pancreatic islets to oleate or palmitate results in reduced glucose-induced somatostatin and oversecretion of glucagon. *Diabetologia* 51, 1689–1693. doi: 10.1007/s00125-008-1082-0
- Conarello, S. L., Jiang, G., Mu, J., Li, Z., Woods, J., Zycband, E., et al. (2007). Glucagon receptor knockout mice are resistant to diet-induced obesity and streptozotocin-mediated beta cell loss and hyperglycaemia. *Diabetologia* 50, 142–150. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0481-3
- Cyphert, H. A., Alonge, K. M., Ippagunta, S. M., and Hillgartner, F. B. (2014). Glucagon stimulates hepatic FGF21 secretion through a PKA- and EPACdependent posttranscriptional mechanism. *PLoS One* 9:e94996. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0094996
- Day, J. W., Ottaway, N., Patterson, J. T., Gelfanov, V., Smiley, D., Gidda, J., et al. (2009). A new glucagon and GLP-1 co-agonist eliminates obesity in rodents. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 5, 749–757. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.209
- Dean, E. D., Li, M., Prasad, N., Wisniewski, S. N., Von Deylen, A., Spaeth, J., et al. (2017). Interrupted glucagon signaling reveals hepatic alpha-cell axis and role for l-glutamine in alpha-cell proliferation. *Cell Metab.* 25, 1362–1373.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.011
- DiMarco, J. P., and Hoppel, C. (1975). Hepatic mitochondrial function in ketogenic states. Diabetes, starvation, and after growth hormone administration. J. Clin. Invest. 55, 1237–1244. doi: 10.1172/JCI108042
- Dresler, C. M., Fortner, J. G., McDermott, K., and Bajorunas, D. R. (1991). Metabolic consequences of (regional) total pancreatectomy. Ann. Surg. 214, 131–140. doi: 10.1097/00000658-199108000-00007
- Dumonteil, E., Magnan, C., Ritz-Laser, B., Ktorza, A., Meda, P., and Philippe, J. (2000). Glucose regulates proinsulin and prosomatostatin but not proglucagon messenger ribonucleic acid levels in rat pancreatic islets. *Endocrinology* 141, 174–180. doi: 10.1210/endo.141.1.7230
- Eaton, R. P. (1973). Hypolipemic action of glucagon in experimental endogenous lipemia in the rat. J. Lipid Res. 14, 312–318.
- Edwards, J. C., and Taylor, K. W. (1970). Fatty acids and the release of glucagon from isolated guinea-pig islets of Langerhans incubated in vitro. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 215, 310–315. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(70)90029-2
- Egan, J. J., Greenberg, A. S., Chang, M. K., Wek, S. A., Moos, M. C. Jr., and Londos, C. (1992). Mechanism of hormone-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes: translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase to the lipid storage droplet. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 8537–8541. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.18.8537
- Evers, A., Haack, T., Lorenz, M., Bossart, M., Elvert, R., Henkel, B., et al. (2017). Design of novel exendin-based dual glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1)/glucagon receptor agonists. *J. Med. Chem.* 60, 4293–4303. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem. 7b00174
- Faerch, K., Vistisen, D., Pacini, G., Torekov, S. S., Johansen, N. B., Witte, D. R., et al. (2016). Insulin resistance is accompanied by increased fasting glucagon and delayed glucagon suppression in individuals with normal and impaired glucose regulation. *Diabetes* 65, 3473–3481. doi: 10.2337/db16-0240
- Feltrin, K. L., Little, T. J., Meyer, J. H., Horowitz, M., Smout, A. J., Wishart, J., et al. (2004). Effects of intraduodenal fatty acids on appetite, antropyloroduodenal motility, and plasma CCK and GLP-1 in humans vary with their chain length. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 287, R524–R533. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.00039.2004
- Galsgaard, K. D., Winther-Sørensen, M., Ørskov, C., Kissow, H., Poulsen, S. S., and Vilstrup, H. (2017). Disruption of glucagon receptor signaling causes hyperaminoacidemia exposing a possible liver - alpha-cell axis. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 314, E93–E103. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00198.2017
- Garton, A. J., Campbell, D. G., Cohen, P., and Yeaman, S. J. (1988). Primary structure of the site on bovine hormone-sensitive lipase phosphorylated by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *FEBS Lett.* 229, 68–72. doi: 10.1016/ 0014-5793(88)80799-3
- Gelling, R. W., Du, X. Q., Dichmann, D. S., Romer, J., Huang, H., Cui, L., et al. (2003). Lower blood glucose, hyperglucagonemia, and pancreatic alpha cell

hyperplasia in glucagon receptor knockout mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 1438–1443. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0237106100

- Gerich, J. E., Langlois, M., Schneider, V., Karam, J. H., and Noacco, C. (1974). Effects of alternations of plasma free fatty acid levels on pancreatic glucagon secretion in man. J. Clin. Invest. 53, 1284–1289. doi: 10.1172/JCI107675
- Gerich, J. E., Lorenzi, M., Bier, D. M., Tsalikian, E., Schneider, V., Karam, J. H., et al. (1976). Effects of physiologic levels of glucagon and growth hormone on human carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. Studies involving administration of exogenous hormone during suppression of endogenous hormone secretion with somatostatin. J. Clin. Invest. 57, 875–884. doi: 10.1172/JCI10 8364
- Goldfine, I. D., Cerasi, E., and Luft, R. (1972). Glucagon stimulation of insulin release in man: inhibition during hypoglycemia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 35, 312–315. doi: 10.1210/jcem-35-2-312
- Granneman, J. G., Moore, H. P., Krishnamoorthy, R., and Rathod, M. (2009). Perilipin controls lipolysis by regulating the interactions of AB-hydrolase containing 5 (Abhd5) and adipose triglyceride lipase (Atgl). J. Biol. Chem. 284, 34538–34544. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.068478
- Gravholt, C. H., Moller, N., Jensen, M. D., Christiansen, J. S., and Schmitz, O. (2001). Physiological levels of glucagon do not influence lipolysis in abdominal adipose tissue as assessed by microdialysis. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 86, 2085–2089. doi: 10.1210/jc.86.5.2085
- Greenberg, A. S., Egan, J. J., Wek, S. A., Garty, N. B., Blanchette-Mackie, E. J., and Londos, C. (1991). Perilipin, a major hormonally regulated adipocyte-specific phosphoprotein associated with the periphery of lipid storage droplets. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266, 11341–11346.
- Gremlich, S., Bonny, C., Waeber, G., and Thorens, B. (1997). Fatty acids decrease IDX-1 expression in rat pancreatic islets and reduce GLUT2, glucokinase, insulin, and somatostatin levels. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 30261–30269. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.272.48.30261
- Gromada, J., Franklin, I., and Wollheim, C. B. (2007). Alpha-cells of the endocrine pancreas: 35 years of research but the enigma remains. *Endocr. Rev.* 28, 84–116. doi: 10.1210/er.2006-0007
- Gromada, J., Hoy, M., Buschard, K., Salehi, A., and Rorsman, P. (2001). Somatostatin inhibits exocytosis in rat pancreatic alpha-cells by G(i2)dependent activation of calcineurin and depriming of secretory granules. *J. Physiol.* 535(Pt 2), 519–532.
- Gross, R., and Mialhe, P. (1986). Free fatty acids and pancreatic function in the duck. Acta Endocrinol. 112, 100–104. doi: 10.1530/acta.0.1120100
- Gu, W., Lloyd, D. J., Chinookswong, N., Komorowski, R., Sivits, G. Jr., Graham, M., et al. (2011). Pharmacological targeting of glucagon and glucagon-like peptide 1 receptors has different effects on energy state and glucose homeostasis in dietinduced obese mice. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 338, 70–81. doi: 10.1124/jpet.111. 179986
- Guettet, C., Mathe, D., Riottot, M., and Lutton, C. (1988). Effects of chronic glucagon administration on cholesterol and bile acid metabolism. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 963, 215–223. doi: 10.1016/0005-2760(88)90283-4
- Guzman, C. B., Zhang, X. M., Liu, R., Regev, A., Shankar, S., Garhyan, P., et al. (2017). Treatment with LY2409021, a glucagon receptor antagonist, increases liver fat in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 19, 1521–1528. doi: 10.1111/dom.12958
- Guzman, M., and Castro, J. (1989). Zonation of fatty acid metabolism in rat liver. Biochem. J. 264, 107–113. doi: 10.1042/bj2640107
- Hansen, H. S., Rosenkilde, M. M., Holst, J. J., and Schwartz, T. W. (2012). GPR119 as a fat sensor. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33, 374–381. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2012. 03.014
- Hansen, L. H., Abrahamsen, N., and Nishimura, E. (1995). Glucagon receptor mRNA distribution in rat tissues. *Peptides* 16, 1163–1166. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(95)00078-X
- Heckemeyer, C. M., Barker, J., Duckworth, W. C., and Solomon, S. S. (1983). Studies of the biological effect and degradation of glucagon in the rat perifused isolated adipose cell. *Endocrinology* 113, 270–276. doi: 10.1210/endo-113-1-270
- Heimberg, M., Weinstein, I., and Kohout, M. (1969). The effects of glucagon, dibutyryl cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate, and concentration of free fatty acid on hepatic lipid metabolism. J. Biol. Chem. 244, 5131–5139.
- Henderson, S. J., Konkar, A., Hornigold, D. C., Trevaskis, J. L., Jackson, R., Fritsch Fredin, M., et al. (2016). Robust anti-obesity and metabolic effects of a dual

GLP-1/glucagon receptor peptide agonist in rodents and non-human primates. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 18, 1176–1190. doi: 10.1111/dom.12735

- Hjorth, S. A., Adelhorst, K., Pedersen, B. B., Kirk, O., and Schwartz, T. W. (1994). Glucagon and glucagon-like peptide 1: selective receptor recognition via distinct peptide epitopes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 30121–30124.
- Holst, J. J., Holland, W., Gromada, J., Lee, Y., Unger, R. H., Yan, H., et al. (2017a). Insulin and glucagon: partners for life. *Endocrinology* 158, 696–701. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1748
- Holst, J. J., Wewer Albrechtsen, N. J., Pedersen, J., and Knop, F. K. (2017b). Glucagon and amino acids are linked in a mutual feedback cycle: the liveralpha-cell axis. *Diabetes* 66, 235–240. doi: 10.2337/db16-0994
- Honnor, R. C., Dhillon, G. S., and Londos, C. (1985). cAMP-dependent protein kinase and lipolysis in rat adipocytes. II. Definition of steady-state relationship with lipolytic and antilipolytic modulators. *J. Biol. Chem.* 260, 15130–15138.
- Iwanij, V., and Vincent, A. C. (1990). Characterization of the glucagon receptor and its functional domains using monoclonal antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 21302–21308.
- Jelinek, L. J., Lok, S., Rosenberg, G. B., Smith, R. A., Grant, F. J., Biggs, S., et al. (1993). Expression cloning and signaling properties of the rat glucagon receptor. *Science* 259, 1614–1616. doi: 10.1126/science.8384375
- Jensen, M. D., Heiling, V. J., and Miles, J. M. (1991). Effects of glucagon on free fatty acid metabolism in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 72, 308–315. doi: 10.1210/jcem-72-2-308
- Jiang, G., and Zhang, B. B. (2003). Glucagon and regulation of glucose metabolism. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 284, E671–E678. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00492. 2002
- Jungermann, K. (1988). Metabolic zonation of liver parenchyma. Semin. Liver Dis. 8, 329–341. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1040554
- Kazda, C. M., Ding, Y., Kelly, R. P., Garhyan, P., Shi, C., Lim, C. N., et al. (2016). Evaluation of efficacy and safety of the glucagon receptor antagonist LY2409021 in patients with type 2 diabetes: 12- and 24-week phase 2 studies. *Diabetes Care* 39, 1241–1249. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1643
- Kazierad, D. J., Bergman, A., Tan, B., Erion, D. M., Somayaji, V., Lee, D. S., et al. (2016). Effects of multiple ascending doses of the glucagon receptor antagonist PF-06291874 in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 18, 795–802. doi: 10.1111/dom.12672
- Kazierad, D. J., Chidsey, K., Somayaji, V. R., Bergman, A. J., and Calle, R. A. (2018). Efficacy and safety of the glucagon receptor antagonist PF-06291874: a 12week, randomized, dose-response study in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus on background metformin therapy. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 20, 2608–2616. doi: 10.1111/dom.13440
- Kim, J., Okamoto, H., Huang, Z., Anguiano, G., Chen, S., Liu, Q., et al. (2017). Amino acid transporter Slc38a5 controls glucagon receptor inhibition-induced pancreatic alpha-cell hyperplasia in mice. *Cell Metab.* 25, 1348–1361.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.006
- Kim, J. Y., Hickner, R. C., Cortright, R. L., Dohm, G. L., and Houmard, J. A. (2000). Lipid oxidation is reduced in obese human skeletal muscle. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 279, E1039–E1044. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2000.279.5.E1039
- Kristinsson, H., Sargsyan, E., Manell, H., Smith, D. M., Gopel, S. O., and Bergsten, P. (2017). Basal hypersecretion of glucagon and insulin from palmitate-exposed human islets depends on FFAR1 but not decreased somatostatin secretion. *Sci. Rep.* 7:4657. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04730-5
- Lass, A., Zimmermann, R., Haemmerle, G., Riederer, M., Schoiswohl, G., Schweiger, M., et al. (2006). Adipose triglyceride lipase-mediated lipolysis of cellular fat stores is activated by CGI-58 and defective in Chanarin-Dorfman syndrome. *Cell Metab.* 3, 309–319. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.03.005
- Lefebvre, P., Luyckx, A., and Bacq, Z. M. (1973). Effects of denervation on the metabolism and the response to glucagon of white adipose tissue of rats. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 5, 245–250. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1093959
- Lefebvre, P. J., and Luyckx, A. S. (1969). Effect of insulin on glucagon enhanced lipolysis in vitro. *Diabetologia* 5, 195–197. doi: 10.1007/BF01213680
- Li, N. X., Brown, S., Kowalski, T., Wu, M., Yang, L., Dai, G., et al. (2018). GPR119 agonism increases glucagon secretion during insulin-induced hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 67, 1401–1413. doi: 10.2337/db18-0031
- Liang, Y., Osborne, M. C., Monia, B. P., Bhanot, S., Gaarde, W. A., Reed, C., et al. (2004). Reduction in glucagon receptor expression by an antisense oligonucleotide ameliorates diabetic syndrome in db/db mice. *Diabetes* 53, 410–417. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.2.410

- Liljenquist, J. E., Bomboy, J. D., Lewis, S. B., Sinclair-Smith, B. C., Felts, P. W., Lacy, W. W., et al. (1974). Effects of glucagon on lipolysis and ketogenesis in normal and diabetic men. J. Clin. Invest. 53, 190–197. doi: 10.1172/JCI107537
- Lindgren, O., Carr, R. D., Deacon, C. F., Holst, J. J., Pacini, G., Mari, A., et al. (2011). Incretin hormone and insulin responses to oral versus intravenous lipid administration in humans. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 96, 2519–2524. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0266
- Livingston, J. N., Cuatrecasas, P., and Lockwood, D. H. (1974). Studies of glucagon resistance in large rat adipocytes: 125I-labeled glucagon binding and lipolytic capacity. J. Lipid Res. 15, 26–32.
- Longuet, C., Sinclair, E. M., Maida, A., Baggio, L. L., Maziarz, M., Charron, M. J., et al. (2008). The glucagon receptor is required for the adaptive metabolic response to fasting. *Cell Metab.* 8, 359–371. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008. 09.008
- Luyckx, A. S., and Lefebvre, P. J. (1970). Arguments for a regulation of pancreatic glucagon secretion by circulating plasma free fatty acids. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 133, 524–528. doi: 10.3181/00379727-133-34511
- Madison, L. L., Seyffert, W. A. Jr., Unger, R. H., and Barker, B. (1968). Effect on plasma free fatty acids on plasma glucagon and serum insulin concentrations. *Metabolism* 17, 301–304. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(68)90097-8
- Mandoe, M. J., Hansen, K. B., Hartmann, B., Rehfeld, J. F., Holst, J. J., and Hansen, H. S. (2015). The 2-monoacylglycerol moiety of dietary fat appears to be responsible for the fat-induced release of GLP-1 in humans. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 102, 548–555. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.106799
- Manganiello, V., and Vaughan, M. (1972). Selective loss of adipose cell responsiveness to glucagon with growth in the rat. J. Lipid Res. 13, 12–16.
- Mitchell, M. L., Byrne, M. J., and Silver, J. (1969). Growth-hormone release by glucagon. *Lancet* 1, 289–290. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(69)91041-1
- More, V. R., Lao, J., McLaren, D. G., Cumiskey, A. M., Murphy, B. A., Chen, Y., et al. (2017). Glucagon like receptor 1/ glucagon dual agonist acutely enhanced hepatic lipid clearance and suppressed de novo lipogenesis in mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0186586. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186586
- Mosinger, B., Kuhn, E., and Kujalová, V. (1965). Action of adipokinetic hormones on human adipose tissue in vitro. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 66, 380–389.
- Müller, T. D., Finan, B., Clemmensen, C., DiMarchi, R. D., and Tschöp, M. H. (2017). The new biology and pharmacology of glucagon. *Physiol. Rev.* 97, 721–766. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00025.2016
- Niederwanger, A., Ciardi, C., Tatarczyk, T., Khan, M. I., Hermann, M., Mittermair, C., et al. (2014). Postprandial lipemia induces pancreatic alpha cell dysfunction characteristic of type 2 diabetes: studies in healthy subjects, mouse pancreatic islets, and cultured pancreatic alpha cells. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 100, 1222–1231. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.092023
- Olofsson, C. S., Salehi, A., Gopel, S. O., Holm, C., and Rorsman, P. (2004). Palmitate stimulation of glucagon secretion in mouse pancreatic alpha-cells results from activation of L-type calcium channels and elevation of cytoplasmic calcium. *Diabetes* 53, 2836–2843. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.11.2836
- Parrilla, R., Goodman, M. N., and Toews, C. J. (1974). Effect of glucagon: insulin ratios on hepatic metabolism. *Diabetes* 23, 725–731. doi: 10.2337/diab.23.9.725
- Paschoalini, M. A., and Migliorini, R. H. (1990). Participation of the CNS in the control of FFA mobilization during fasting in rabbits. *Physiol. Behav.* 47, 461–465. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(90)90109-H
- Patsouris, D., Reddy, J. K., Muller, M., and Kersten, S. (2006). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha mediates the effects of high-fat diet on hepatic gene expression. *Endocrinology* 147, 1508–1516. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-1132
- Pegorier, J. P., Garcia-Garcia, M. V., Prip-Buus, C., Duee, P. H., Kohl, C., and Girard, J. (1989). Induction of ketogenesis and fatty acid oxidation by glucagon and cyclic AMP in cultured hepatocytes from rabbit fetuses. Evidence for a decreased sensitivity of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I to malonyl-CoA inhibition after glucagon or cyclic AMP treatment. *Biochem. J.* 264, 93–100. doi: 10.1042/bj2640093
- Peng, I. C., Chen, Z., Sun, W., Li, Y. S., Marin, T. L., Hsu, P. H., et al. (2012). Glucagon regulates ACC activity in adipocytes through the CAMKKbeta/AMPK pathway. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 302, E1560– E1568. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00504.2011
- Penhos, J. C., Wu, C. H., Daunas, J., Reitman, M., and Levine, R. (1966). Effect of glucagon on the metabolism of lipids and on urea formation by the perfused rat liver. *Diabetes* 15, 740–748. doi: 10.2337/diab.15.10.740

- Perea, A., Clemente, F., Martinell, J., Villanueva-Penacarrillo, M. L., and Valverde, I. (1995). Physiological effect of glucagon in human isolated adipocytes. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 27, 372–375. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-979981
- Perry, R. J., Camporez, J. G., Kursawe, R., Titchenell, P. M., Zhang, D., Perry, C. J., et al. (2015). Hepatic acetyl CoA links adipose tissue inflammation to hepatic insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Cell* 160, 745–758. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2015.01.012
- Pettus, J., Reeds, D., Cavaiola, T. S., Boeder, S., Levin, M., Tobin, G., et al. (2018). Effect of a glucagon receptor antibody (REMD-477) in type 1 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 20, 1302–1305. doi: 10. 1111/dom.13202
- Pocai, A., Carrington, P. E., Adams, J. R., Wright, M., Eiermann, G., Zhu, L., et al. (2009). Glucagon-like peptide 1/glucagon receptor dual agonism reverses obesity in mice. *Diabetes* 58, 2258–2266. doi: 10.2337/db09-0278
- Pozefsky, T., Tancredi, R. G., Moxley, R. T., Dupre, J., and Tobin, J. D. (1976). Metabolism of forearm tissues in man. Studies with glucagon. *Diabetes* 25, 128–135. doi: 10.2337/diab.25.2.128
- Pozza, G., Pappalettera, A., Melogli, O., Viberti, G., and Ghidoni, A. (1971). Lipolytic effect of intra-arterial injection of glucagon in man. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 3, 291–292. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1096783
- Prigge, W. F., and Grande, F. (1971). Effects of glucagon, epinephrine and insulin on in vitro lipolysis of adipose tissue from mammals and birds. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B* 39, 69–82. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(71)90254-9
- Prip-Buus, C., Pegorier, J. P., Duee, P. H., Kohl, C., and Girard, J. (1990). Evidence that the sensitivity of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I to inhibition by malonyl-CoA is an important site of regulation of hepatic fatty acid oxidation in the fetal and newborn rabbit. Perinatal development and effects of pancreatic hormones in cultured rabbit hepatocytes. *Biochem. J.* 269, 409–415. doi: 10. 1042/bj2690409
- Raben, A., Holst, J. J., Madsen, J., and Astrup, A. (2001). Diurnal metabolic profiles after 14 d of an ad libitum high-starch, high-sucrose, or high-fat diet in normalweight never-obese and postobese women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 73, 177–189. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/73.2.177
- Radulescu, A., Gannon, M. C., and Nuttall, F. Q. (2010). The effect on glucagon, glucagon-like peptide-1, total and acyl-ghrelin of dietary fats ingested with and without potato. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 95, 3385–3391. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2559
- Ramnanan, C. J., Edgerton, D. S., Kraft, G., and Cherrington, A. D. (2011). Physiologic action of glucagon on liver glucose metabolism. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 13(Suppl. 1), 118–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01454.x
- Richter, W. O., Robl, H., and Schwandt, P. (1989). Human glucagon and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) stimulate free fatty acid release from human adipose tissue in vitro. *Peptides* 10, 333–335. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(89) 90039-9
- Rodbell, M., and Jones, A. B. (1966). Metabolism of isolated fat cells. 3. The similar inhibitory action of phospholipase C (*Clostridium perfringens* alpha toxin) and of insulin on lipolysis stimulated by lipolytic hormones and theophylline. *J. Biol. Chem.* 241, 140–142.
- Rouille, Y., Westermark, G., Martin, S. K., and Steiner, D. F. (1994). Proglucagon is processed to glucagon by prohormone convertase PC2 in alpha TC1-6 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 3242–3246. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.8.3242
- Ryan, A. T., Luscombe-Marsh, N. D., Saies, A. A., Little, T. J., Standfield, S., Horowitz, M., et al. (2013). Effects of intraduodenal lipid and protein on gut motility and hormone release, glycemia, appetite, and energy intake in lean men. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 98, 300–311. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.061333
- Sadry, S. A., and Drucker, D. J. (2013). Emerging combinatorial hormone therapies for the treatment of obesity and T2DM. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 9, 425–433. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.47
- Samols, E., Marri, G., and Marks, V. (1965). Promotion of insulin secretion by glucogen. *Lancet* 2, 415–416. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(65)90761-0
- Sanchez-Garrido, M. A., Brandt, S. J., Clemmensen, C., Muller, T. D., DiMarchi, R. D., and Tschop, M. H. (2017). GLP-1/glucagon receptor co-agonism for treatment of obesity. *Diabetologia* 60, 1851–1861. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4354-8
- Schade, D. S., and Eaton, R. P. (1975). Modulation of fatty acid metabolism by glucagon in man. I. Effects in normal subjects. *Diabetes* 24, 502–509. doi: 10. 2337/diabetes.24.5.502

- Schneider, S. H., Fineberg, S. E., and Blackburn, G. L. (1981). The acute metabolic effects of glucagon and its interactions with insulin in forearm tissue. *Diabetologia* 20, 616–621. doi: 10.1007/BF00257430
- Schweiger, M., Eichmann, T. O., Taschler, U., Zimmermann, R., Zechner, R., and Lass, A. (2014). Measurement of lipolysis. *Methods Enzymol.* 538, 171–193. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800280-3.00010-4
- Shen, W. J., Patel, S., Miyoshi, H., Greenberg, A. S., and Kraemer, F. B. (2009). Functional interaction of hormone-sensitive lipase and perilipin in lipolysis. *J. Lipid Res.* 50, 2306–2313. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M900176-JLR200
- Slavin, B. G., Ong, J. M., and Kern, P. A. (1994). Hormonal regulation of hormonesensitive lipase activity and mRNA levels in isolated rat adipocytes. *J. Lipid Res.* 35, 1535–1541.
- Sloop, K. W., Cao, J. X., Siesky, A. M., Zhang, H. Y., Bodenmiller, D. M., Cox, A. L., et al. (2004). Hepatic and glucagon-like peptide-1-mediated reversal of diabetes by glucagon receptor antisense oligonucleotide inhibitors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, 1571–1581. doi: 10.1172/JCI20911
- Sloth, B., Due, A., Larsen, T. M., Holst, J. J., Heding, A., and Astrup, A. (2009). The effect of a high-MUFA, low-glycaemic index diet and a low-fat diet on appetite and glucose metabolism during a 6-month weight maintenance period. *Br. J. Nutr.* 101, 1846–1858. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508137710
- Solloway, M. J., Madjidi, A., Gu, C., Eastham-Anderson, J., Clarke, H. J., Kljavin, N., et al. (2015). Glucagon couples hepatic amino acid catabolism to mTORdependent regulation of alpha-cell mass. *Cell Rep.* 12, 495–510. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2015.06.034
- Staehr, P., Hother-Nielsen, O., Landau, B. R., Chandramouli, V., Holst, J. J., and Beck-Nielsen, H. (2003). Effects of free fatty acids per se on glucose production, gluconeogenesis, and glycogenolysis. *Diabetes* 52, 260–267. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.2.260
- Stallknecht, B., Simonsen, L., Bulow, J., Vinten, J., and Galbo, H. (1995). Effect of training on epinephrine-stimulated lipolysis determined by microdialysis in human adipose tissue. Am. J. Physiol. 269(6 Pt 1), E1059–E1066. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.1995.269.6.E1059
- Stephens, F. B., Constantin-Teodosiu, D., and Greenhaff, P. L. (2007). New insights concerning the role of carnitine in the regulation of fuel metabolism in skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. 581(Pt 2), 431–444. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.125799
- Stralfors, P., Bjorgell, P., and Belfrage, P. (1984). Hormonal regulation of hormonesensitive lipase in intact adipocytes: identification of phosphorylated sites and effects on the phosphorylation by lipolytic hormones and insulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 3317–3321. doi: 10.1073/pnas.81.11.3317
- Svendsen, B., Larsen, O., Gabe, M. B. N., Christiansen, C. B., Rosenkilde, M. M., Drucker, D. J., et al. (2018). Insulin secretion depends on intra-islet glucagon signaling. *Cell Rep* 25, 1127–1134.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.10.018
- Svoboda, M., Tastenoy, M., Vertongen, P., and Robberecht, P. (1994). Relative quantitative analysis of glucagon receptor mRNA in rat tissues. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 105, 131–137. doi: 10.1016/0303-7207(94)90162-7
- Thomsen, C., Rasmussen, O., Lousen, T., Holst, J. J., Fenselau, S., Schrezenmeir, J., et al. (1999). Differential effects of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids on postprandial lipemia and incretin responses in healthy subjects. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 69, 1135–1143. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/69.6.1135
- Unger, R. H., and Orci, L. (1975). The essential role of glucagon in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1, 14–16. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(75) 92375-2
- Vajda, E. G., Logan, D., Lasseter, K., Armas, D., Plotkin, D. J., Pipkin, J. D., et al. (2017). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of single and multiple doses of the glucagon receptor antagonist LGD-6972 in healthy subjects and subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 19, 24–32. doi: 10.1111/ dom.12752
- van der Woning, B., De Boeck, G., Blanchetot, C., Bobkov, V., Klarenbeek, A., Saunders, M., et al. (2016). DNA immunization combined with scFv phage display identifies antagonistic GCGR specific antibodies and reveals new epitopes on the small extracellular loops. *MAbs* 8, 1126–1135. doi: 10.1080/ 19420862.2016.1189050
- Vaughan, M., Berger, J. E., and Steinberg, D. (1964). Hormone-sensitive lipase and monoglyceride lipase activities in adipose tissue. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 401–409.
- Vaughan, M., and Steinberg, D. (1963). Effect of hormones on lipolysis and esterification of free fatty acids during incubation of adipose tissue in vitro. *J. Lipid Res.* 4, 193–199.

- Vizek, K., Razova, M., and Melichar, V. (1979). Lipolytic effect of TSH, glucagon and hydrocortisone on the adipose tissue of newborns and adults in vitro. *Physiol. Bohemoslov.* 28, 325–331.
- von Meyenn, F., Porstmann, T., Gasser, E., Selevsek, N., Schmidt, A., Aebersold, R., et al. (2013). Glucagon-induced acetylation of Foxa2 regulates hepatic lipid metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 17, 436–447. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.01.014
- Wakelam, M. J., Murphy, G. J., Hruby, V. J., and Houslay, M. D. (1986). Activation of two signal-transduction systems in hepatocytes by glucagon. *Nature* 323, 68–71. doi: 10.1038/323068a0
- Wang, H., Hu, L., Dalen, K., Dorward, H., Marcinkiewicz, A., Russell, D., et al. (2009). Activation of hormone-sensitive lipase requires two steps, protein phosphorylation and binding to the PAT-1 domain of lipid droplet coat proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 32116–32125. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.006726
- Wang, L., Zhao, Y., Gui, B., Fu, R., Ma, F., Yu, J., et al. (2011). Acute stimulation of glucagon secretion by linoleic acid results from GPR40 activation and [Ca2+]i increase in pancreatic islet {alpha}-cells. *J. Endocrinol.* 210, 173–179. doi: 10. 1530/JOE-11-0132
- Watanabe, M., Hayasaki, H., Tamayama, T., and Shimada, M. (1998). Histologic distribution of insulin and glucagon receptors. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 31, 243–256. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X1998000200008
- Wewer Albrechtsen, N. J., Kuhre, R. E., Windelov, J. A., Orgaard, A., Deacon, C. F., Kissow, H., et al. (2016). Dynamics of glucagon secretion in mice and rats revealed using a validated sandwich ELISA for small sample volumes. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 311, E302–E309. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00119. 2016
- Wolfrum, C., and Stoffel, M. (2006). Coactivation of Foxa2 through Pgc-1beta promotes liver fatty acid oxidation and triglyceride/VLDL secretion. *Cell Metab.* 3, 99–110. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.01.001
- Wu, M. S., Jeng, C. Y., Hollenbeck, C. B., Chen, Y. D., Jaspan, J., and Reaven, G. M. (1990). Does glucagon increase plasma free fatty acid concentration in humans with normal glucose tolerance? *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 70, 410–416. doi: 10.1210/jcem-70-2-410

- Xiao, C., Pavlic, M., Szeto, L., Patterson, B. W., and Lewis, G. F. (2011). Effects of acute hyperglucagonemia on hepatic and intestinal lipoprotein production and clearance in healthy humans. *Diabetes* 60, 383–390. doi: 10.2337/db10-0763
- Xu, J., Stanislaus, S., Chinookoswong, N., Lau, Y. Y., Hager, T., Patel, J., et al. (2009).
 Acute glucose-lowering and insulin-sensitizing action of FGF21 in insulinresistant mouse models-association with liver and adipose tissue effects. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 297, E1105–E1114. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00348.
 2009
- Yang, J., MacDougall, M. L., McDowell, M. T., Xi, L., Wei, R., Zavadoski, W. J., et al. (2011). Polyomic profiling reveals significant hepatic metabolic alterations in glucagon-receptor (GCGR) knockout mice: implications on anti-glucagon therapies for diabetes. *BMC Genom.* 12:281. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-12-281
- Zhang, F., Xu, X., Zhou, B., He, Z., and Zhai, Q. (2011). Gene expression profile change and associated physiological and pathological effects in mouse liver induced by fasting and refeeding. *PLoS One* 6:e27553. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0027553
- Zhou, J., Cai, X., Huang, X., Dai, Y., Sun, L., Zhang, B., et al. (2017). A novel glucagon-like peptide-1/glucagon receptor dual agonist exhibits weight-lowering and diabetes-protective effects. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 138, 1158– 1169. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.07.046

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Galsgaard, Pedersen, Knop, Holst and Wewer Albrechtsen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Is the Brain a Key Player in Glucose Regulation and Development of Type 2 Diabetes?

Martin H. Lundqvist*, Kristina Almby, Niclas Abrahamsson and Jan W. Eriksson*

Department of Medical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Ever since Claude Bernards discovery in the mid 19th-century that a lesion in the floor of the third ventricle in dogs led to altered systemic glucose levels, a role of the CNS in whole-body glucose regulation has been acknowledged. However, this finding was later overshadowed by the isolation of pancreatic hormones in the 20th century. Since then, the understanding of glucose homeostasis and pathology has primarily evolved around peripheral mechanism. Due to scientific advances over these last few decades, however, increasing attention has been given to the possibility of the brain as a key player in glucose regulation and the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders such as type 2 diabetes. Studies of animals have enabled detailed neuroanatomical mapping of CNS structures involved in glucose regulation and key neuronal circuits and intracellular pathways have been identified. Furthermore, the development of neuroimaging techniques has provided methods to measure changes of activity in specific CNS regions upon diverse metabolic challenges in humans. In this narrative review, we discuss the available evidence on the topic. We conclude that there is much evidence in favor of active CNS involvement in glucose homeostasis but the relative importance of central vs. peripheral mechanisms remains to be elucidated. An increased understanding of this field may lead to new CNS-focusing pharmacologic strategies in the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

Keywords: CNS, hypothalamus, glucose, regulation, fMRI, neuroimaging, neuroendocrine, autonomic nervous system

INTRODUCTION

The global prevalence of diabetes in adults – approximately 90% consisting of type 2 diabetes – was estimated to 6.4% in 2010 and is predicted to increase to 7.7% in 2030 (Nolan et al., 2011). The macro- and microvascular complications that are associated with diabetes lead to increased morbidity and mortality and the economic burden posed by management of diabetes and its complications is substantial (Ng et al., 2014; Norhammar et al., 2016). Type 2 diabetes typically evolves gradually. An initial phase of insulin resistance with maintained normoglycemia is followed by a transitional phase of impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance until manifest diabetes is established. While the pancreatic beta cells can compensate for the insulin resistance by increasing insulin secretion at first, they eventually fail to do so as the disease progresses, frequently necessitating exogenously administered insulin in advanced stages. Since the discovery of the pancreatic hormones insulin and glucagon, the prevailing understanding of type 2 diabetes development has circled around processes in the periphery, particularly in the pancreas.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chris Rayner, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Cristina M. Sena, University of Coimbra, Portugal Ilkka H. A. Heinonen, University of Turku, Finland

*Correspondence:

Martin H. Lundqvist martin.lundqvist@medsci.uu.se Jan W. Eriksson jan.eriksson@medsci.uu.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 04 December 2018 Accepted: 01 April 2019 Published: 26 April 2019

Citation:

Lundqvist MH, Almby K, Abrahamsson N and Eriksson JW (2019) Is the Brain a Key Player in Glucose Regulation and Development of Type 2 Diabetes? Front. Physiol. 10:457. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00457

123

Brain in T2D

Likewise, pharmacological targets in the treatment of type 2 diabetes have been largely limited to the peripheral domain. However, this "islet-centric" model has these last decades been challenged by mounting evidence in favor of a "brain-centric" model, according to which the brain is actively involved in systemic glucose regulation. Further advances in this area may change the way we look at metabolic disorders and may specifically result in new CNS-targeted strategies for the pharmacological management of type 2 diabetes. In this narrative review, we aim to present the current knowledge of the field. In the first section, we will provide a brief summary of findings from animal studies that have been extensively reviewed by other authors (Marty et al., 2007; Carey et al., 2013; Grayson et al., 2013; Mergenthaler et al., 2013; Roh et al., 2016; Tups et al., 2017; López-Gambero et al., 2019). This will be followed up by a more in-depth presentation of evidence from human studies where the implementation and advances of neuroimaging techniques has offered new and interesting insights.

EVIDENCE FROM ANIMAL STUDIES

In 1854, Claude Bernard reported that a lesion in the floor of the fourth ventricle in dogs altered glucose levels, thereby presenting the first evidence of the brain's role in glucose regulation (Bernard, 1855). In the 1960s two sets of neurons were identified in the CNS that responded to high and low values of glucose, respectively (Anand et al., 1964; Oomura et al., 1964, 1969, 1974). These neurons were subsequently termed glucoseexcitatory (GE, responding to high levels of glucose) and glucoseinhibitory (GI, responding to low levels of glucose) (Routh et al., 2014). While present in the entire CNS, these neurons are especially numerous in several nuclei of the hypothalamus and the brainstem (López-Gambero et al., 2019).

The hypothalamus is located below the thalamus and above the pituitary gland and brain stem. It constitutes the floor of the third ventricle which contains cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). This anatomical position allows for access to nutrients and hormones. It consists of a network of interconnected nuclei among which the arcuate nucleus (ARC), ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), dorsomedial nucleus (DMN), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), and the lateral hypothalamus (LH) are implicated in the regulation of glucose homeostasis. In the brainstem the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), area postrema (AP), dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMNX) and the rostral ventrolateral medulla (RVLM) are key regions (López-Gambero et al., 2019). Glucose-excited neurons are primarily prevalent in the ARC, VMH, and PVN, whereas glucose-inhibited neurons are concentrated in the LH, AN, and PVN. In the brainstem, both of these types of neurons are represented in the areas mentioned above (NTS, AP, and DMNX) (Roh et al., 2016) (Figure 1).

Glucose injected into the third ventricle of rodents leads to a reduction of systemic glucose levels, principally by suppression of hepatic glucose production (HGP) (Lam et al., 2005a). The same has been demonstrated for long-chain fatty acids (Obici et al., 2002b; Lam et al., 2005b) and amino acids such as leucine (Su et al., 2012), proline (Arrieta-Cruz et al., 2013) and histidine

(Kimura et al., 2013). Apart from being able to sense levels of circulating glucose, the brain also receives afferent nervous input via the brainstem related to glucose availability from taste buds in the oral cavity (Ahrén, 2000), from the intestinal mucosa (Ashley Blackshaw and Young, 2011) and from hepatoportal glucoreceptors (Delaere et al., 2010). This allows for rapid responses to ingested and circulating glucose such as observed in the cephalic insulin phase (Marty et al., 2007). Likewise, ingestion of lipids leads to release of CCK whereas amino acids stimulate release of CCK, GLP-1, and PYY. These gut hormones in turn activate vagal afferents projecting to the brainstem (Duca and Yue, 2014; Liu et al., 2016).

Not only neurons but also surrounding glial cells are believed to have an active role in the sensing of nutrients. It has been hypothesized that astrocytes may metabolize glucose and proline into lactate for subsequent translocation in the so-called astrocyte-neuron-lactate-shuttle to neurons to signal glucose depletion (Arrieta-Cruz et al., 2013). Likewise, oxidation of fatty acids may occur to a larger extent in astrocytes, generating ketones which after translocation to neurons may override the influence of glucose and fatty acid sensing (Bruce et al., 2017).

Similarly, central administration of hormones or targeting of their intracellular pathways in neurons have demonstrated that insulin (Obici et al., 2002a,c; Pocai et al., 2005), leptin (Schwartz et al., 1996; Kievit et al., 2006; Koch et al., 2010), glucagon (Mighiu et al., 2013; LaPierre et al., 2015), GLP-1 (Sandoval et al., 2008) and CCK (Zhu et al., 2012; Montgomery et al., 2013) reduces systemic glucose levels by CNS actions, whereas the effect of ghrelin seems to be the opposite (Scott et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013; Stark et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016). Perhaps most interesting is the potent CNS-mediated glucose lowering properties of the fibroblast growth factors FGF-1 (Scarlett et al., 2016) and FGF-19 (Fu et al., 2004; Morton et al., 2013; Marcelin et al., 2014). A single low dose of FGF-1 injected into the third ventricle induced sustained diabetic remission in mice with dietinduced obesity. The effect was rapid and sustained. Thus, fasting blood glucose concentration was reduced by 25% within 6 h, normalized after 7 days and remained in the normal range for the full 17 weeks studied without any observed hypoglycemia (Scarlett et al., 2016).

The transport of glucose across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is primarily mediated by insulin-independent GLUT-1 and, particularly in conditions of CNS ischemia and glucose deprivation, by SGLT-1 (Patching, 2017). Interestingly though, insulin-mediated increase in CNS glucose uptake via upregulation of GLUT-1 in astrocytes has been described (García-Cáceres et al., 2016). Additionally, insulin-dependent GLUT4 is expressed in cells of the BBB, albeit at low levels (Patching, 2017). The existence of a more direct route, bypassing the BBB by fenestrated capillaries or via the CSF has been proposed and is supported by some work (Langlet et al., 2013; Routh et al., 2014). Fatty acids and amino acids have been demonstrated to cross the BBB (Smith, 2000; Rapoport et al., 2001; Smith and Nagura, 2001) by mechanisms that are not fully understood but may involve fatty acid transport proteins (FATPs) (Mitchell et al., 2011) and similar systems for amino acids (Smith, 2000). The levels of the large hormones insulin and leptin are considerably lower in the



CFS than in the systemic circulation, suggesting the existence of saturable transporter proteins rather than simple diffusion (Banks et al., 1996; Gray and Barrett, 2018). While the exact mechanisms of CNS transport for these hormones remain elusive, hormone receptors seem to be involved (Banks et al., 1997; Bjørbaek et al., 1998; Boado et al., 1998; Hileman et al., 2002; Meijer et al., 2016). GLP-1 is synthesized within the CNS where it acts as transmitter (Katsurada et al., 2014; Katsurada and Yada, 2016), whereas the hypothesized intracerebral insulin synthesis is still a matter of some controversy (Gray and Barrett, 2018).

The intracellular mechanisms of nutrient and hormonal sensing in the CNS have been intensively investigated in animal studies. Glucose uptake into neurons occurs mainly via insulin-independent glucose transporter channels (GLUT1, 2, and 3) and this activates signaling pathways that differ for GE and GI neurons, involving activation of KATP-channels in the former and the signaling substance AMPK in the latter. In GE neurons, metabolism-independent sensing mechanisms involving SGLT1 and 3 and the sweet receptor T1R2/3 are also implicated (López-Gambero et al., 2019). The receptors of insulin (Chen et al., 2017), leptin (Mercer et al., 1996), glucagon (Abraham and Lam, 2016), GLP-1 (Katsurada and Yada, 2016), CCK (Pathak et al., 2018), and ghrelin (Cowley et al., 2003; Sun et al., 2007) have been identified in various regions of the CNS. Insulin signaling in neurons is dependent on activation of KATP-channels (Pocai et al., 2005) and is facilitated by activation of the IRS-PI3K- pathway (Niswender et al., 2003). Leptin also acts on this pathway by phosphorylation of IRS1 (Koch et al., 2010) in addition to the JAK2-STAT3

and WNT signaling pathways (Tups et al., 2017). Thus, leptin may sensitize neurons in the hypothalamus to the effects of insulin but may also exert central effects independent of insulin, as is supported by the fact that leptin can reverse hyperglycemia in mice with streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes (Yu et al., 2008).

There is much evidence that the central effects of insulin and leptin differ in obese compared to lean animals. Impairments in CNS transport, receptor expression and the downstream signaling cascades have been observed for both hormones in models of obesity (Van Heek et al., 1997; El-Haschimi et al., 2000; Kaiyala et al., 2000; Spanswick et al., 2000; Carvalheira et al., 2003; Asilmaz et al., 2004; Wilsey and Scarpace, 2004; Urayama and Banks, 2008). Hypothalamic inflammation has been proposed as a causative factor. Increased expression of inflammatory mediators such as TNF-alpha and increased endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) stress is a well-established feature of obesity (Hotamisligil et al., 1993; Ozcan et al., 2004). Cytokines and ER stress lead to activation of the intracellular JNK1 and IKKB/NFkB pathways. This has been demonstrated to induce insulin resistance in peripheral tissues through serine phosphorylation of IRS-1. Obesity and over-nutrition is associated with hypothalamic inflammation, which may in turn result in insulin and leptin resistance via the mechanisms described above (Hosoi et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008; Milanski et al., 2009; Ozcan et al., 2009; Posey et al., 2009). Indeed, central inhibition of IKKB has been observed to reduce food intake and increase insulin sensitivity (Zhang et al., 2008; Ozcan et al., 2009; Posey et al., 2009). Moreover, structural changes to

the hypothalamus and evidence of increased inflammation have been observed well before the onset of obesity (Zhang et al., 2008; Thaler et al., 2012). Free fatty acids may also activate these pathways as well as activate macrophages by binding to toll-like receptors (TLRs) on their cell surface (Hotamisligil, 2006). High fat feeding, selective intake of saturated fatty acids and ICV infusion of palmitate have been associated with hypothalamic inflammation independently of excess caloric intake (Milanski et al., 2009; Posey et al., 2009). Finally, switching the diet to more unsaturated fats was observed to reduce this inflammation as well as hypothalamic and systemic insulin resistance (Cintra et al., 2012).

The role of inflammation in obesity is still disputed and may be multi-faceted, as is demonstrated by the positive effects of the cytokines IL-6 and IL-10 on energy and glucose metabolism, which seem to be partly mediated by central mechanisms (Wallenius et al., 2002; Benrick et al., 2009; Gotoh et al., 2012; Timper et al., 2017). The expression and circulating levels of these cytokines are increased in obese humans (Kern et al., 2001; Vozarova et al., 2001; Esposito et al., 2003). IL-6 administered to mice intracerebroventricularly was recently shown to induce reduced food intake and improved glucose metabolism, the latter mediated by enhanced hepatic insulin action. Moreover, this was more marked in obese, leptin-resistant mice than in lean ones (Timper et al., 2017). Thus, the increased levels of these cytokines may actually counteract rather than add to the other detrimental metabolic effects of obesity. Of further interest, IL-6 secretion by myocytes increases considerably after physical

exercise and leads to subsequent increase in circulating levels of IL-10, secreted by immune cells (Steensberg et al., 2003; Pedersen and Febbraio, 2008). IL-6 and IL-10 have been shown to mediate positive metabolic effects of exercise through inhibition of IKK β and ER stress in the hypothalamus (Ropelle et al., 2010).

In order to exert its proposed influence on peripheral glucose metabolism, the CNS input from nutrients, hormones and other neurons has to result in an efferent response that is conveyed to peripheral target organs. The known routes for this response is the autonomic nervous system (ANS) – further divided into the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and the parasympathetic nervous system (PASY) – and the hypothalamic-pituitary axis (**Figure 2**).

The DMNX of the brainstem contains the soma of preganglionic parasympathetic nerve fibers and can thus transmit PASY signals to target organs like the liver (Yi et al., 2010) (reducing hepatic glucose production and increasing glycogen synthesis) and the pancreas (Thorens, 2014) (increasing insulin secretion and glucagon secretion). Neurons in the RVLM connect with the SNS to increase hepatic glucose production (HGP) (Yi et al., 2010), decrease insulin secretion and increase glucagon secretion (Thorens, 2014), promote glucose uptake in skeletal muscles (Seoane-Collazo et al., 2015) and lipolysis in adipocytes (Bartness et al., 2005). Neurons in the PVN engage in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis by secreting corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) in the bloodstream for downstream release of ACTH in the pituitary and ultimately secretion of glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex. TRH, somatostatin,



FIGURE 2 | Schematic overview of some organs, nutrients, hormones and effector pathways involved in the postulated CNS-coordinated glucose regulation. SNS, sympathetic nervous system. PASY, parasympathetic nervous system. The illustrations of anatomical structures were retrieved from http://smart.servier.com and have thereafter been assembled and processed.

vasopressin and oxytocin is also synthesized in the PVN and may also contribute to long-term regulation of energy and glucose metabolism (Roh et al., 2016; López-Gambero et al., 2019). Finally, growth hormone (GH) release from the pituitary is stimulated by growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) and inhibited by somatostatin, both released from the hypothalamus. The increase in GH levels observed during hypoglycemia seem to be dependent on alpha-adrenergic dependent somatostatin inhibition and GHRH stimulation (Lim and Khoo, 2000). GH raises glucose levels in the periphery by essentially counteracting insulin. This effect is, however, opposed by the insulin-like action of IGF-1, release of which from the liver is stimulated by GH (Clemmons, 2012). Nevertheless, type 2 diabetes is a distinct clinical consequence of GH excess in acromegaly (Hannon et al., 2017), attesting to a net hyperglycemic effect of the growth hormone axis. A subset of neurons in the ARC express GHRH and seem to be involved in the regulation of GH secretion in a complex interplay with POMC-, NPY- and somatostatinexpressing neurons (Steyn et al., 2016). Indeed, POMC and NPY/AgRP neurons are implicated in CNS-mediated glucose and energy regulation, acting in opposite directions (Tups et al., 2017). Thus, the hypothalamus-pituitary-growth hormone axis may provide an additional effector pathway from the brain to the periphery that influences systemic glucose homeostasis. By binding to the receptor GHSR on GHRH neurons, ghrelin may interfere with this pathway along with a direct effect on NPY/AgRP neurons (Steyn et al., 2016).

Evidence of CNS involvement in glucose homeostasis also comes from a study in which mice that moved from a warm to a cold environment had a coordinated reduction in both insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity, despite the absence of hypoglycemia. This was reversed within 4 h of returning to room temperature and within 30 min of administration of the alpha-adrenergic blocker phentolamine. According to the authors, the results imply a key role of the brain in rapidly coordinating insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity via the SNS (Morton et al., 2017). The control of body temperature is coordinated in the hypothalamus (Morrison, 2016) and crosstalk between this neuronal circuitry and those that are supposedly involved in glucose regulation would not be surprising.

EVIDENCE FROM STUDIES IN HUMANS

Clinical Observations in CNS and Metabolic Disorders

There is an intriguing epidemiological correlation between features of the metabolic syndrome and various diseases affecting the CNS of humans that gives indirect support to the brain's involvement in peripheral glucose regulation. Depression is twice as common in patients with type 2 diabetes (Moulton et al., 2015). A correlation between depression and insulin resistance that was attenuated when adjusting for bodyweight and other confounders was reported in a meta-analysis from 2013 (Kan et al., 2013). In a longitudinal study, depression in middle-aged women was associated with increased insulin resistance and increased incidence of diabetes type 2, both of which were explained by increased central adiposity (Everson-Rose et al., 2004). Other longitudinal studies have highlighted an increased risk in patients with depression to develop the metabolic syndrome and/or its components (Marazziti et al., 2014).

An increased prevalence of the metabolic syndrome has also been reported repeatedly in studies of patients with psychotic illness including schizophrenia (Newcomer, 2007). While this may be partly due to the well-known side effects of antipsychotics, a meta-analysis from 2016 reported that first-episode psychosis was associated with increased insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance (Perry et al., 2016). Similar associations have been observed for anxiety and bipolar disorder (Czepielewski et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2013) while studies addressing the connection between work-related stress and development of diabetes type 2 have been inconsistent (Cosgrove et al., 2012; Krajnak, 2014). Patients with type 2 diabetes also have an increased risk of developing dementia, particularly vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease and it has been hypothesized that insulin resistance in the brain contributes to the development of Alzheimer's disease (Li et al., 2015; Chatterjee and Mudher, 2018).

Naturally, epidemiological observations such as these do not prove causation, still leaving us with the question: does CNS diseases cause metabolic disorders or vice versa? In some cases, there is probably a bidirectional causality, e.g., for Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes (Shinohara and Sato, 2017). However, one plausible causal mechanism is activation of the stress system (primarily the ANS and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis) in psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases leading to metabolic consequences down the line. As outlined previously, these two systems constitute efferent pathways by which the brain may exert its putative influence on whole-body glucose homeostasis. Over-activation of either or both of these systems have been postulated to contribute to the development of metabolic disorders.

Disturbances of the Autonomic Nervous System in CNS and Metabolic Disorders

As previously described, the ANS consists of the SNS and the PASY. It has a range of biologic effects including influencing glucose homeostasis in the periphery. Activation of the SNS raises circulating glucose levels by inhibiting insulin release from beta cells, stimulating release of glucagon from alpha cells, increasing release of epinephrine from the adrenal glands (augmenting and prolonging the effect of nervous activity) and increasing hepatic glucose production. In contrast, PASY activation lowers glucose levels by stimulating the secretion of insulin from beta cells and suppressing hepatic glucose production, while similarly increasing glucagon levels (Roh et al., 2016). While intravenous use of adrenalin more or less replicates the effects of SNS activity, blocking the cholinergic receptors of the PASY with atropin was reported to induce an unexpected rise in insulin sensitivity in one study (Svensson et al., 2011). This is possibly explained by differential effects of nicotinic and muscarinic receptors on peripheral insulin sensitivity. By and large though, chronic over-activation of SNS and/or under-activation of PASY

would in theory raise blood glucose levels and thereby possibly contribute to the development of type 2 diabetes and other metabolic disorders.

employing Studies biochemical measurements of catecholamines as markers of SNS activity in subjects with insulin resistance, obesity and the metabolic syndrome have been inconsistent (Kjeldsen et al., 1983; Troisi et al., 1991; Tuck et al., 1992; Young et al., 1992; Tataranni et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2001; De Pergola et al., 2008; Surwit et al., 2010; Dai et al., 2012; Reimann et al., 2017). Those using measurement of sympathetic reactivity as reflected by levels of catecholamines in serum or urine after provocation by mental stress, cold stress or food intake have found some correlation to obesity (Schwartz et al., 1987), future development of obesity (Flaa et al., 2008b) and insulin resistance (Flaa et al., 2008a).

By using microneurography, muscle sympathetic nerve activity (MSNA) can be measured as pulse synchronous nerve bursts in resting muscles and constitute a surrogate measure for sympathetic activity in the whole body (Parati and Esler, 2012). Some studies using this method have demonstrated increased SNS in subjects with the metabolic syndrome compared to those without (Huggett et al., 2004; Grassi et al., 2009).

Heart rate variability can be computed by analyzing long-term or short-term ECG monitoring and used as a marker of sympathetic and parasympathetic activity and to reflect the balance of the two. The PASY and the SNS activity influence the heart rate variability in partially differential frequency bands. PASY activity is affected by the respiratory cycle and is detectable up to 1 Hz while SNS activity is largely dependent on input from baroreceptors, mediating a slower response up to 0.15 Hz. Therefore, the high frequency (HF) band of 0,15-0,40 Hz corresponds well to PASY activity while the low frequency (LF) parameter of 0.04-0.15 Hz is influenced by both SNS and PASY activity (Malik et al., 1996). There are several other indices of HRV (Kleiger et al., 2005). The ratio of LF/HF has been used to represent balance between SNS and PASY activity, although this has been criticized as being somewhat simplistic (Perini and Veicsteinas, 2003). Moreover, it has been pointed out that increased heart rate as such contributes to unfavorable HRV profiles, and that this must be taken into consideration when interpreting results from HRV studies (Monfredi et al., 2014). Henceforth, the term "low HRV," although somewhat imprecise, will be used to describe an HRV profile indicative of relative over-activation of the SNS.

Several studies have shown a lower HRV in subjects with T2DM but whether HRV is a consequence of glycemic dysregulation or a causative mechanism behind the development of diabetes type 2 is not clear (Benichou et al., 2018). One study reported that reduced variability in the LF range was associated with increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Carnethon et al., 2003) while another study only found a correlation between baseline heart rate (and no other HRV indices) and the incidence of type 2 diabetes (Carnethon et al., 2006).

It is generally accepted that increasing insulin resistance precedes the development of overt type 2 diabetes. First degree relatives to patients with type 2 diabetes have a markedly increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes and are more insulin resistant than subjects with no family history of type 2 diabetes (Eriksson et al., 1989; Harrison et al., 2003). One study aimed at studying the association between insulin resistance and HRV in first-degree relatives of patients with diabetes type 2 compared with controls. While discovering no differences in insulin resistance in the groups, BMI and the LF/HF ratio were significantly and independently associated with insulin resistance (Svensson et al., 2016). Several other studies have found a correlation between measures of insulin resistance, glycemic status and HRV (Reims et al., 2004; Perciaccante et al., 2006; Stein et al., 2007; Thiyagarajan et al., 2012; Charles et al., 2013; Jarczok et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013; Cherkas et al., 2015; Indumathy et al., 2015; Meyer et al., 2016). In other studies, no correlation has been observed (Rannelli et al., 2017) or a differential correlation between men and women has been reported (Flanagan et al., 1999; Rannelli et al., 2017).

Multiple studies have also found an association between obesity and impaired HRV. BMI in itself has been significantly related to HRV in some studies (Molfino et al., 2009; Alrefaie, 2014; Hillebrand et al., 2015; Indumathy et al., 2015; Johncy et al., 2015) but not in others (Antelmi et al., 2004). Some studies suggest a stronger correlation between HRV and other anthropometric indices such as visceral adipose tissue, waist-hip ratio, waist circumference and body fat percentage: arguably markers that better reflect metabolically detrimental adiposity (Lindmark et al., 2005; Kimura et al., 2006; Sztajzel et al., 2009; Poliakova et al., 2012; Windham et al., 2012; Yi et al., 2013; Chintala et al., 2015; Indumathy et al., 2015; Yoo et al., 2016; Rastović et al., 2017; Yadav et al., 2017). Several studies have shown an improvement of HRV following weight-loss after surgery or by caloric restriction (Karason et al., 1999; Akehi et al., 2001; Ito et al., 2001; Nault et al., 2007; de Jonge et al., 2010; Sjoberg et al., 2011; Lips et al., 2013; Maser et al., 2013; Pontiroli et al., 2013; Casellini et al., 2016).

In a systematic review from 2014 on the correlation between HRV and the metabolic syndrome, the authors concluded that heart rate variability was generally reduced in females with the metabolic syndrome compared to those without while results in men were inconsistent (Stuckey et al., 2014). Since then, some studies have demonstrated a correlation between the metabolic syndrome and indices of low HRV (Ma et al., 2017; Carvalho et al., 2018) and one study has supported the differential correlations with regards to sex mentioned above (Stuckey et al., 2015). However, some studies suggest that the link between the metabolic syndrome and autonomic dysregulation as measured by HRV is fully explained by insulin resistance (Balcioğlu et al., 2016; Saito et al., 2017) and while low HRV was reported to predict the development of the metabolic syndrome in one study (Wulsin et al., 2016), another study demonstrated that this correlation was only significant for development of hyperglycemia and high blood pressure, whereas the risk of developing obesity and dyslipidemia were not significantly correlated to low HRV (Wulsin et al., 2015).

There is some support of ANS disturbances in various CNS disorders. Low employment status and high psychosocial stress have been associated with low HRV (Hemingway et al., 2005; Brosschot et al., 2007). An impaired HRV has also been reported

in anxiety disorder (Chalmers et al., 2014), bipolar disorder (Faurholt-Jepsen et al., 2017), depression (Kemp et al., 2010), schizophrenia (Montaquila et al., 2015), and dementia (da Silva et al., 2018) although it has been suggested that this correlation may be confounded by the effects of medication (Sgoifo et al., 2015). Evidence of ANS and HPA dysregulation in CNS and metabolic disorders are summarized in **Table 1**.

The well-documented propensity of beta-blockers to cause insulin resistance and impair glycemic control in patients with diabetes (Lithell, 1991) and the fact that physical exercise improves insulin sensitivity in spite of increased SNS activity (Motahari-Tabari et al., 2014; Fisher et al., 2015) attest to the complicated relation between ANS disturbances and metabolic disorders. A troublesome aspect of studies utilizing measurement of HRV as methods is the plethora of indices available and the inconsistent manner in which these are used in different studies. This complicates comparison and somewhat limits the validity of the combined results.

Disturbances of the Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis in CNS and Metabolic Disorders

An excess of glucocorticoids, such as seen in Cushing's disease or pharmacological glucocorticoid treatment, typically leads to insulin resistance and obesity as well as other features of the metabolic syndrome (Liu et al., 2014; Pivonello et al., 2016). This raises the question if elevated levels of glucocorticoids are also a feature in the "normal" pathophysiology of metabolic diseases. Glucocorticoids are produced and secreted by the adrenal cortex. This is regulated by the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis in which hypothalamic release of CRH stimulates pituitary release of ACTH. This in turn stimulates glucocorticoid

TABLE 1 Summary of documented disturbances of the autonomic nervous system and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis associated with CNS and
metabolic disorders.

Disorder/condition	ANS disturbances	HPA disturbances	References
Psychosocial stress	↓LF, ↓HF associated with low employment grade; ↓RMSSD associated with psychosocial stress	Inconsistent findings	Hemingway et al., 2005; Brosschot et al., 2007; Joseph and Golden, 2017
Depression	↓HF, ↑LF/HF	↑Cortisol, ACTH; Flatted or blunted diurnal cortisol curve; ↑Cortisol awakening response in youths and adolescents; Improvement after treatment with SSRI; ↓ Cortisol reactivity	Kemp et al., 2010; Stetler and Miller, 2011; Joseph and Golden, 2017; Zorn et al., 2017
Anxiety disorder	↓HF	↓ Cortisol reactivity in females with anxiety disorder; ↑Cortisol reactivity in males with social anxiety disorder	Chalmers et al., 2014; Zorn et al., 2017
Bipolar disorder	↓LF	↑Cortisol and ↑ACTH, basal and after dexamethasone test	Belvederi Murri et al., 2016; Faurholt-Jepsen et al., 2017
Schizophrenia	↓HF; several studies in favor of HRV profiles indicative of normal SNS but reduced PASY	↓ Cortisol reactivity	Montaquila et al., 2015; Zorn et al., 2017
Dementia	↓RMSSD	↑Cortisol in Alzheimer's	Notarianni, 2017;
Type 2 diabetes	↓RMSSD, ↓LF, ↓HF	Flatter diurnal cortisol curve; ↓Cortisol awakening response (Joseph and Golden, 2017)	Joseph and Golden, 2017; Benichou et al., 2018; da Silva et al., 2018
Insulin resistance	Cold pressor test and mental stress test predicative of future IR; ↓RMSSD; ↓HF;↑LF/HF; ↓↑LF	_	Reims et al., 2004; Perciaccante et al., 2006; Flaa et al., 2008a; Thiyagarajan et al., 2012; Charles et al., 2013; Jarczok et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013; Indumathy et al., 2015; Meyer et al., 2016; Svensson et al., 2016
Obesity	↓HF; ↑LF; ↓LF ↑LF/HF; ↓RMSSD	↑Cortisol reactivity; ↑Expression of 11βHSD1 ↑Hair cortisol levels	Molfino et al., 2009; Alrefaie, 2014; Wester et al., 2014; Hillebrand et al., 2015; Incollingo Rodriguez et al., 2015; Indumathy et al., 2015; Johncy et al., 2015; Jackson et al., 2017
Metabolic syndrome	↓LF; ↓HF; ↑LF/HF (females);↓RMSSD	↓Urinary free cortisol levels (females); ↑Hair cortisol levels	Abraham et al., 2013; Stuckey et al., 2014, 2015; Kuehl et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2017; Carvalho et al., 2018

Only major results presented for reasons of clarity. HF, power in the high frequency range of HRV (>0,15 Hz), mostly affected by the parasympathetic nervous system (PASY); LF, power in the low frequency range (0,04–0,15), affected by activity in both PASY and the sympathetic nervous system (SNS); LF/HF, reflects the balance between SNS and PASY, high values reflecting relative SNS over-activity, due to either low PASY or high SNS activity; RMSSD, Root mean square of successive RR interval differences, mostly affected by PASY.

TABLE 2 Summary of some important studies on CNS effects of nutrients and hormones on systemic glucose metabolism in humans.

Nutrient/hormone	Major findings	References
Glucose	↓ARC activity on fMRI directly after glucose ingestion predicted subsequent insulin levels; Hypoglycemia induced changes in hypothalamus activity prior to rise in CRH in healthy subjects; ↓Brain responses to hypoglycemia associated with attenuated levels of CRH in T1D with HU; CNS glucose uptake correlates negatively with insulin sensitivity	Dunn et al., 2007; Page et al., 2009; Osada et al., 2017; Boersma et al., 2018; Hwang et al., 2018
Insulin	Intranasal insulin leads to ∱insulin sensitivity and ↓HGP associated with changes in hypothalamic activity on fMRI and ↑PASY outflow; different CNS response to intranasal insulin and hyperinsulinemia in obese vs. lean subjects	Tschritter et al., 2006; Stingl et al., 2010; Heni et al., 2012, 2014b, 2017
GLP-1	Extra-pancreatic ↓HGP; GLP-1 receptors found in the CNS; fMRI-signs of altered CNS activity after administration	Prigeon et al., 2003; Alvarez et al., 2005; De Silva et al., 2011; van Bloemendaal et al., 2015; Farr et al., 2016a,b; Ten Kulve et al., 2016; Coveleskie et al., 2017

ARC, arcuate nucleus; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; CRH, counter-regulatory hormones; T1D, type 1 diabetes; HU, hypoglycemic unawareness; HGP, hepatic glucose production; PASY, parasympathetic nervous system.

production and secretion. Feedback mechanisms occur at several levels. In the periphery, particularly in the liver and in adipose tissue, 11β HSD1 converts inactive cortisone to active cortisol whereas 11β HSD2 inactivates cortisol in a reverse manner, collectively providing an additional regulatory mechanism of glucocorticoid activity.

Circulating glucocorticoids act in several ways to disrupt normal glucose homeostasis. Glucocorticoids may cause beta cell dysfunction by influencing the uptake and metabolism of glucose in beta cells and may also attenuate the effects of GLP-1. In the periphery, glucocorticoids counteract insulin action by inducing insulin resistance through reduction of insulin downstream signaling substrates as well as indirectly by increasing lipolysis and proteolysis. Glucocorticoids also increase hepatic glucose production by activating enzymes involved in gluconeogenesis. Moreover, glucocorticoids also cause obesity and consequently insulin resistance by promoting differentiation and proliferation of adipocytes. Since glucocorticoid receptors are more abundant on visceral adipocytes, this favors visceral obesity (Di Dalmazi et al., 2012). Finally, excess glucocorticoids may lead to general weight gain (Berthon et al., 2014), probably at least partially by stimulating appetite through actions in the CNS, as is supported by a recent study (Serfling et al., 2019).

There is a multitude of ways to assess activity in the HPA-axis. These include plasma levels of cortisol, salivary levels of cortisol, 24 h urinary excretion of cortisol (UFC) and hair cortisol concentration (HCC). Activity in the HPA axis is highly variable and influenced by a range of factors including circadian rhythmicity, exercise, stress, and food-intake. Therefore, not only absolute concentrations of but also the diurnal curve of levels and dynamic changes in cortisol levels, as measured by cortisol reactivity to stress and dexamethasone suppression test, are interesting markers.

A few reviews on the topic have been published (Abraham et al., 2013; Incollingo Rodriguez et al., 2015) and will not be covered in detail here. From these and from original studies we can conclude that connections between obesity or the metabolic syndrome and basal levels of cortisol as measured in plasma, saliva, or urine are either inconsistent or disparate with regards to sex (Abraham et al., 2013; Incollingo Rodriguez et al., 2015). HCC is arguably a more reliable indicator of long-term levels of cortisol (Russell et al., 2015), in analogy with HbA1c, and studies using this outcome are more consistently in favor of such connections (Wester et al., 2014; Kuehl et al., 2015; Jackson et al., 2017). Moreover, consistently elevated cortisol reactivity tests in obese subjects as well as tendencies toward a flatter cortisol curve during day-time in obese subjects and toward impaired dexamethasone suppression tests in subjects with abdominal obesity was reported in one systematic review (Incollingo Rodriguez et al., 2015). Studies of HPA dysregulation in CNS disorder show variable results that are summarized in **Table 1** (Stetler and Miller, 2011; Belvederi Murri et al., 2016; Joseph and Golden, 2017; Notarianni, 2017; Zorn et al., 2017).

In summary, long-term elevations, disturbances in the diurnal pattern, abnormal reactivity to stress and impaired feedback regulation of cortisol may have a small but limited impact on the development of obesity and metabolic disorder. Finally, there is substantial evidence that the expression of 11β HSD1 is upregulated in the adipose tissue of obese humans and animals. Thus, local dysregulation of glucocorticoids just as HPA dysregulation may contribute to the development of obesity and the metabolic syndrome (Incollingo Rodriguez et al., 2015).

Central Effects of Glucose and Insulin on Systemic Glucose Metabolism: What Have We Learned From Neuroimaging Studies of Humans?

The methods employed in animal research previously discussed in this review are for obvious reasons not directly transferable to studies involving human subjects. The development and refinement of neuroimaging techniques has, however, offered an indirect way to explore changes in brain activity induced by and associated with metabolic changes. The neuroimaging techniques at hand (described in **Box 1**) have been extensively used to study CNS control of feeding and appetite which has been reviewed comprehensively elsewhere (De Silva et al., 2012; Zanchi et al., 2017). While PET is still used to a limited degree,

BOX 1 | Neuroimaging techniques. Magnetoencephalography (MEG)

This technique measures magnetic fields produced by electrical currents in the brain just as EEG measures electric fields. It is limited by the fact that cortical but not subcortical regions (including the hypothalamus) can be evaluated and has been largely replaced by other techniques to study the impact of metabolic input on brain activity.

Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)

Blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signal is based on the fact that deoxygenated hemoglobin is paramagnetic whereas oxygenated hemoglobin is not, resulting in a higher signal in T2 weighted MRIs in situations with increased blood flow. Cerebral blood flow can also be measured by arterial spin labeling (ASL) where the water of incoming blood in for instance carotid arteries are labeled magnetically which changes the T1 signaling of water in the region that is examined. The resolution in time and space is better than PET. Neuronal activity is not measured directly but via cerebral blood flow as a surrogate marker. By measuring spontaneous fluctuations in resting state brain activity, functional connectivity can be assessed and utilized to divide the brain into small functional units. **Positron Emission Tomography (PET)**

Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

This method measures gamma-rays that are emitted by unstable isotopes. Molecules that are labeled with positron-emitting isotopes are injected into the circulation. Fludeoxyglucose (18F) or FDG is widely used as a measure of glucose-uptake into tissues including the brain. To allow for neuroanatomic correlation of the signals, the method is combined with either CT or MRI and thus the space resolution does not differ from fMRI. However, the half-life of FDG is 110 min and it takes considerable time to generate a strong enough signal for the analysis. Hence, the time resolution is markedly limited compared to other methods.

Single-Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT)

Similar to PET, this technique utilizes radioactive tracer material, but these emit gamma rays directly instead of positrons, limiting the spatial resolution as compared to PET.

fMRI has largely replaced other techniques as the method of choice for investigative purposes. Studies may use imaging of the whole brain or, more commonly, specific regions of interest (ROI) such as the hypothalamus. The small size and the location of the hypothalamus makes it difficult to image. In early studies, the hypothalamus was divided by a mid-sagittal slice resulting in the upper anterior, upper posterior, lower anterior, and lower posterior hypothalamus (Matsuda et al., 1999; Smeets et al., 2005). This division is too rough to allow for differential analysis of individual nuclei. However, a recent study utilized areal parcellation of the hypothalamus with a resolution of 1.25 mm \times 1.25 mm and resting-state functional connectivity to generate 10 focii corresponding to different nuclei based on a previous histological study, demonstrating that such analysis of individual nuclei is indeed feasible (Osada et al., 2017).

It is not within the scope of this review to fully discuss the findings from the numerous studies aimed at exploring functional changes on brain activity as related to appetite or feeding control. However, a brief summary is warranted given the intimate relationship between energy intake and glucose regulation. A decrease in neural activity following glucose and meal intake has been reported in the hypothalamus and elsewhere (Matsuda et al., 1999; Tataranni et al., 1999; Gautier et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2000; Smeets et al., 2005, 2007; Flanagan et al., 2012; Page et al., 2013) that differs in obesity and type 2 diabetes according to some studies (Matsuda et al., 1999; Gautier et al., 2000; Vidarsdottir et al., 2007). Moreover, studies employing task-based fMRI protocols have demonstrated activation of several CNS regions (in particular the orbitofrontal cortex, amygdala, hippocampus and insula) upon presenting the subject with visual food cues (LaBar et al., 2001; Killgore et al., 2003; St-Onge et al., 2005; Porubská et al., 2006; Führer et al., 2008) which was attenuated in the fed state in some studies (Baldo and Kelley, 2007; De Silva et al., 2011) and different in obesity or insulin resistance in others (Killgore and Yurgelun-Todd, 2005; Rothemund et al., 2007; Stoeckel et al., 2008; Martin et al., 2010; Wallner-Liebmann et al., 2010; Dimitropoulos et al., 2012; Heni et al., 2014a; Alsaadi

and Van Vugt, 2015). Caloric restriction normalized the hypothalamic response to glucose challenge in patients with type 2 diabetes in one study (Teeuwisse et al., 2012). Finally, appetite and feeding patterns in the CNS have been examined with respect to pharmacological administration and circulating levels of implicated hormones (Zanchi et al., 2017).

Collectively it seems that there are relatively wellcharacterized brain responses that are triggered by ingested and circulating levels of nutrients and hormones. Whether these brain responses have an actual effect on peripheral glucose metabolism has not, however, been investigated to a similar extent. The existence of the cephalic phase of insulin secretion as well as the observation that visual food-cues leads to lower postprandial glucose levels without affecting food-intake, insulin levels or other neuroendocrine parameters (Brede et al., 2017) is suggestive of such a response, the exact effector mechanisms of which remains elusive.

In the previously discussed study by Osada et al. (2017), 12 healthy subjects, both male and female, underwent fMRIs on two separates days following ingestion of 75 g of glucose solution or an equal volume of water. The hypothalamus was the region of interest and the imaging was analyzed by area parcellation, enabling analysis of individual nuclei. Thereby, the authors could report that the decrease in ARC activity between 0 and 10 min after the glucose ingestion significantly predicted insulin levels at 10 min. Thus, a causative link between the two events was plausible, according to the authors.

Hypoglycemia, on the other hand, was shown to induce changes in hypothalamic activity prior to the rise in counter-regulatory hormones (glucagon, cortisol, adrenaline, or noradrenaline) in healthy subjects (Page et al., 2009). The effect of hypoglycemia on CNS activation has been intensively studied in the setting of type 1 diabetes with unawareness. These patients have been shown to have a blunted rise in cerebral blood flow in hypoglycemia (Dunn et al., 2007; Mangia et al., 2012; Hwang et al., 2018) associated with a corresponding attenuation of counter-regulatory hormonal response (Mangia et al., 2012; Hwang et al., 2018).

While the intracerebroventricular administration of nutrients and hormones performed in animal studies is not an option in studies of humans, intranasal treatment of insulin preferentially targets the CNS, and thus provides an alternative for studying CNS effects isolated from systemic effects (Born et al., 2002). Intriguingly, intranasal insulin treatment has been demonstrated to lead to weight loss (Hallschmid et al., 2004), suppressed lipolysis (Iwen et al., 2014), positive cognitive results (Benedict et al., 2004; Hallschmid et al., 2008) and rapid reduction of glucose levels without any impact on C-peptide or insulin levels (Hallschmid et al., 2012). Heni et al. (2012, 2014b, 2017) have investigated the mechanisms behind this in a series of experiments where they showed an improvement of insulin sensitivity that was correlated with changes in hypothalamic blood flow on fMRI. An increase of HRV in the HF band was seen after intranasal insulin in one study, suggestive of augmented PASY outflow activity as a possible mediator between the CNS and the periphery (Heni et al., 2014b). In conflict with these studies, Ott et al. (2015) found no central effect of intranasal insulin aspart that could be discerned from its spillover effect in the periphery. Heni et al. (2018) recently reported yet unpublished results showing increased C-peptide levels 10 min after intranasal insulin administration during a hyperglycemic clamp in subjects with hypothalamic insulin sensitivity (as evidenced by a decrease of hypothalamic blood flow following administration) compared to those without. No reduction of C-peptide levels occurred in either group after administration, speaking against a substantial spill-over effect of intranasal insulin in this experiment (Heni et al., 2018).

Dash et al. (2015a) reported an inhibition of HPG 180 min after treatment with intranasal insulin, much later than what was seen in the studies by Heni et al. (2012, 2014b, 2017, 2018) According to the authors, this delayed response could be explained by a CNS-mediated effect on gene expression of proteins involved in hepatic gluconeogenesis rather than a more direct effect (Dash et al., 2015b). Similar kinetics of central insulin effects have been reported in dogs (Ramnanan et al., 2011) and rodents (Obici et al., 2002c). Moreover, the potent KATP channel opener diazoxide induced a 30% reduction of HGP after 6 h in humans in the settings of a pancreatic clamp, excluding the influence of pancreatic hormones and suggesting extrapancreatic effects (Kishore et al., 2011). As previously discussed, intracellular insulin signaling in the hypothalamus is dependent on functional KATP-channels and the brain may therefore be the extra-pancreatic site where diazoxide exerts its antidiabetic effects. In rats, ICV administration of diazoxide did indeed cause a reduction of HGP explained by downregulation of genes involved in gluconeogenesis (Kishore et al., 2011). Finally, human subjects with type 2 diabetes compared to controls did not exhibit suppression of HGP following diazoxide treatment in another study (Esterson et al., 2016), perhaps because of resistance to its extra-pancreatic effects.

There are several other findings suggesting the existence of CNS insulin resistance. A different response to intranasal insulin in obese vs. lean subjects has been reported in many studies (Hallschmid et al., 2004; Tschritter et al., 2006; Stingl et al., 2010; Heni et al., 2014b, 2017). In a recent study by our research team, whole-body ¹⁸FDG-PET was performed on patients with varying degrees of insulin sensitivity during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp. Interestingly the M-value, an index of insulin sensitivity, correlated positively with uptake in muscles, adipose tissue and the liver and correlated negatively with glucose uptake in the brain (Boersma et al., 2018). This is corroborated by yet unpublished results by Rebelos et al. (2018). In their study of ¹⁸FDG-PET examinations in 151 subjects, the glucose uptake in the brain was correlated positively with BMI and negatively with insulin sensitivity. Of further interest, glucose uptake in the brain correlated positively with MRI signs of inflammation in the hypothalamus and amygdala (Rebelos et al., 2018), which is in consistency with another study (Thaler et al., 2012). Thus, hypothalamic inflammation may exist in obese humans in accordance with previously discussed findings in animal studies and may cause hypothalamic insulin resistance by the same proposed cellular mechanisms. Finally, Hirvonen et al. (2011) reported that brain glucose metabolism as assessed by ¹⁸FDG-PET increased in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp but not in healthy subjects, in whom the effect of insulin on brain glucose metabolism appeared to be saturated at fasting levels of insulin. Although this may suggest that insulin resistant subjects need more insulin to have a maximal effect on brain glucose metabolism, the fact that there was no difference in brain glucose metabolism at baseline between the two groups argues against the concept of such an insulin resistance in the CNS as a feature of systemic insulin resistance (Hirvonen et al., 2011).

Aside from the potential role of hypothalamic inflammation, the observation that the CSF:plasma ratio of insulin is inversely related to BMI (Kern et al., 2006) supports deficient transport of insulin as a cause for the putative hypothalamic insulin resistance. **Table 2** summarizes some important studies of CNS effects of nutrients and hormones on systemic glucose metabolism in humans.

Central Effects of Other Hormones, Bariatric Surgery and Pharmacological Agents on Systemic Glucose Metabolism

Leptin seems to regulate energy homeostasis in humans by central mechanisms (Rosenbaum et al., 2008; Grosshans et al., 2012) and to have an impact on whole-body glucose regulation in humans, as witnessed by its antidiabetic effects on patients with congenital leptin deficiency, congenital lipodystrophy, HIV-associated lipodystrophy and uncontrolled diabetes type 1 (Moon et al., 2013; Ramos-Lobo and Donato, 2017). However, it is not clear to which extent glucose regulation is carried out by peripheral vs. central mechanisms and no large effects have been demonstrated on the ANS (Eikelis et al., 2003; Machleidt et al., 2013) or the HPA-axis (Licinio et al., 1997; Sienkiewicz et al., 2011; Khan et al., 2012) that would grant indirect support to a contribution of central mechanisms. Oxytocin has demonstrated positive effects on various indices of glucose metabolism in several studies when given as a nasal spray (Ott et al., 2013; Lawson et al., 2015; Thienel et al., 2016), whereas the evidence

from intravenous use is inconsistent (Lawson, 2017). Whether this is due to different central vs. peripheral effects on glucose metabolism and the preferential targeting of CNS by intranasal administration has not been illuminated.

The dopaminergic system has also been suggested to influence glucose homeostasis. The dopamine agonist bromocriptine-QR has been associated with an absolute reduction of HbA1c of 0,69% and is approved by the FDA for treatment of type 2 diabetes in adults (Garber et al., 2013). There are several possible mechanisms, probably working in concert. Firstly, dopamine receptors (D2R) are expressed in beta cells of the pancreas and activation of these have been shown to inhibit insulin secretion and cause an anti-proliferative effect (Rubi et al., 2005; Ustione et al., 2013). How this would lead to an improvement of glycemic indices is, however, challenging to comprehend. Secondly, activation of D2R in the pituitary gland reduces secretion of prolactin (excess of which is associated with hyperphagia and lipid accumulation in adipose tissue) and growth hormone (Woodside, 2007; Ben-Jonathan and Hugo, 2015). Thirdly, D2R-receptors are ubiquitous in the CNS where dopamine agonists have been shown to suppress levels of noradrenalin and serotonin in the hypothalamus (Luo et al., 1998), possibly resulting in reduced outflowing activity of the SNS from the brainstem to the periphery down the line. The dopaminergic system and D2R is also implicated in reward and appetite regulation (Baik, 2013). Interestingly, impairment of the dopaminergic system is a feature of Parkinson's disease as well as an effect of antipsychotic medication and may partly explain the association of metabolic disorders with these conditions (Lopez Vicchi et al., 2016).

The propensity of bariatric surgery to improve glycemic control in patients is well-recognized and may offer insights regarding the development and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Superiority of surgery to pharmacological approaches has been consistently documented in a vast number of randomized controlled trials (Koliaki et al., 2017). According to guidelines endorsed by several international diabetes organizations, so-labeled metabolic surgery in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes and BMI > 30 is advocated when lifestyle and pharmacological approaches has proved insufficient (Rubino et al., 2017). While still a matter of some controversy, there is substantial evidence indicating that the improvement of glucose indices seen after surgery is not fully explained by weight loss alone. The existence of weight independent mechanisms is suggested by the observed rapid improvement of glucose metabolism, occurring only days after surgery (Pories et al., 1995). Moreover, rates of diabetes remission differ depending on surgical technique, those bypassing the foregut, such as Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and biliopancreatic diversion being more efficacious in this regard than those who simply restricts the volume of the ventricle, such as gastric banding and gastric sleeve gastrectomy (Kodama et al., 2018).

A number of neuroimaging studies have demonstrated a profound impact of bariatric surgery on structural and functional features of the CNS. Obesity is associated with radiological signs of brain volume reduction and two studies have demonstrated normalization of these signs after bariatric surgery (Tuulari et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016). The enhanced response in reward regions to visual food-cues before surgery (and consistently demonstrated in obesity) have been reported to resolve after surgery (Scholtz et al., 2014; Frank et al., 2016). Two studies have shown an increase in these responses post-surgery following administration of octreotide (Goldstone et al., 2016) (an inhibitor of pancreatic hormones) and a GLP-1 receptor antagonist (Ten Kulve et al., 2017), respectively, suggesting altered secretion of gut hormones as a mediator. The role of GLP-1 in mediating satiety via the CNS is further supported by other neuroimaging studies (De Silva et al., 2011; van Bloemendaal et al., 2015; Farr et al., 2016a,b; Ten Kulve et al., 2016; Coveleskie et al., 2017). GLP-1 receptors are expressed in the brainstem and hypothalamus of humans (Alvarez et al., 2005) and some animal studies suggest that the effects of GLP-1 on reduction of food intake are partly if not primarily mediated by CNS actions (Kanoski et al., 2011; Secher et al., 2014). An effect on glucose metabolism independent of food intake has also been observed in animals (Sandoval et al., 2008) and in humans where a suppression of HGP without any measurable impact on pancreatic hormone levels has been reported (Prigeon et al., 2003).

The postprandial secretion of GLP-1 is augmented after bariatric surgery (Hutch and Sandoval, 2017). This is also true for oxyntomodulin (Laferrère et al., 2010), another gut hormone that has demonstrably induced weight loss in humans and rodents by reducing food intake and increasing energy expenditure (Dakin et al., 2001; Cohen et al., 2003; Baggio et al., 2004; Wynne et al., 2005, 2006). It appears to have a dual mechanism, acting on both GLP-1 and glucagon receptors (GCR) (Pocai, 2012). In rodents, a superior effect on weight loss was observed compared to GLP-1RA treatment alone at similar antihyperglycemic effects (Kosinski et al., 2012) making combined targeting of GLP1R and GCR attractive targets for future treatment of obesity as well as type 2 diabetes. Indeed, the combined agonist SAR425899 was recently evaluated in a phase 2 trial, reporting a significant weight loss and HbA1c reduction compared to placebo (Tillner et al., 2019). The concept of targeting glucagon receptors in the treatment of type 2 diabetes might be challenging to accept at first. Hyperglycemia or attenuation of the hypoglycemic effects of GLP-1R action would be a warranted concern. However, the improvement of glycemic indices reported in the study implies that the GLP-1R mediated effects on glucose homeostasis overrides those mediated by GCR. Intriguingly, glucagon injected into the CNS of rodents unexpectedly lowers systemic glucose levels by inhibition of HGP (Mighiu et al., 2013; LaPierre et al., 2015). Furthermore, intravenous infusion of glucagon leads to a transient hyperglycemia in rats, and this transiency is abolished when simultaneously blocking hypothalamic glucagon signaling (Mighiu et al., 2013). Thus, glucagon may actually have delayed CNS-mediated hypoglycemic effects opposing the acute hyperglycemic peripheral effects. The net effect of this could furthermore contribute to rather than impede the observed glycemic improvement of SAR425899.

The dual GIP/GLP-1 receptor agonists LY3298176 have been developed and recently demonstrated superiority to single GLP-1 RA treatment in terms of HbA1c reduction and weight loss (Frias et al., 2018). While considerably less is known about the CNS

Brain in T2D

effects of GIP compared to GLP-1 and glucagon, dual GIP/GLP-1 RA treatment has shown positive effects on animal models of Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (Hölscher, 2018).

Circulating bile acids also increases after bariatric surgery (Jahansouz et al., 2016) and appear to have positive metabolic effects on their own accord (Sinclair et al., 2018). Bile acids have been demonstrated to cross the blood-brain-barrier where the expression of one of its receptors GPBAR1 has been reported (Keitel et al., 2010). Binding to FXR, another receptor, leads to positive metabolic effects in several organs and increases expression of FGF 15/19 from the foregut (Pournaras et al., 2012). As described previously, members of the FGF family have been shown to exert long-lasting and pronounced antidiabetic effects that appears to be mediated largely by central mechanisms (Fu et al., 2004; Morton et al., 2013; Marcelin et al., 2014; Scarlett et al., 2016). The targeting of bile acid signaling and in particular FGF signaling thus constitute promising future strategies in the treatment of type 2 diabetes.

There are a handful of drugs approved for treatment of obesity that primarily target the CNS. Among these, both lorcaserin and topiramate-phentermine have shown positive effects on glycemic indices. Lorcaserin, a 5HT-2c agonist was found non-inferior to several glucose-lowering drugs in terms of HbA1c reduction (0.55% for lorcaserin) and proportion of patients reaching target HbA1c in a recent meta-analysis (Neff et al., 2017). The authors conclude that lorcaserin should be considered as a second line add-on treatment in patients with type 2 diabetes and BMI > 27. A recently published RCT reported a more moderate reduction of HbA1c of 0.33% for patients with type 2 diabetes compared to placebo (Bohula et al., 2018). The combination of the amphetamine-like drug phentermine and the antiepileptic drug topiramate approved for treatment of obesity has likewise demonstrated a reduction in HbA1c of 4.4 mmol/mol compared to placebo in one study (Garvey et al., 2014a) and reduced progression to diabetes in patients with prediabetes and the metabolic syndrome was reported in another study (Garvey et al., 2014b). Although the antidiabetic effects of these CNS acting antiobesity drugs are relatively small-scale and probably a consequence of weight loss, an independent effect on glucose metabolism cannot be excluded at this stage.

Recently, the growth differentiating factor 15 (GDF15) has emerged as a satiety signal and potential target for treating obesity and metabolic disorders. It is secreted by adipocytes and many other cell types in response to cell injury and inflammation (Tsai et al., 2016). GDF15 has been demonstrated to induce weight loss and reduce insulin resistance in mice and primates by binding to its receptor GFRAL, the expression of which has not been demonstrated anywhere but the AP and the NTS in the brainstem (Mullican et al., 2017). Peripheral administration of GDF15 in mice induced neuronal activity in the AP and NTS and the anorexic effects were reversed by ablation of these regions (Tsai et al., 2014). Thus, existing evidence from animal studies indicate the brainstem as the target organ for GDF15. In humans, increased circulating levels of GDF15 has been observed as soon as 1 week after bariatric surgery and levels correlate linearly with insulin sensitivity both before and after surgery (Kleinert et al., 2019). Additionally, mitochondrial stress

in mouse skeletal muscle cells increases the expression of GDF15 (Chung et al., 2017) and increased circulating levels in humans after physical exercise has been reported (Kleinert et al., 2018). As previously discussed, IL-6 and IL-10 also increase after exercise in humans and have been shown to mediate positive metabolic effects via the CNS in animals (Pedersen and Febbraio, 2008; Ropelle et al., 2010).

Physical exercise has been associated with altered brain fMRI responses to food-cues, favoring low-calorie foods over high calorie-foods (Killgore et al., 2013; Crabtree et al., 2014). While other studies demonstrating changes in brain fMRI responses to exercise are abundant, these have primarily focused on brain regions and processes involved in memory and learning, that are implicated in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disorders and dementia. To our knowledge, there are no neuroimaging studies that address the possible link between functional brain alterations and the well-recognized positive metabolic effects associated with physical exercise.

CONCLUSION

Taken together, evidence from animal and human studies demonstrates that the brain detects levels of circulating nutrients and hormones and consequently organizes an outward response that contributes to the regulation of whole-body glucose homeostasis. However, there are major knowledge gaps about the exact nature of this response and its relative importance compared to peripheral processes. As we have seen, animal studies have provided an anatomical map of CNS glucose regulation and have identified important neurons and neural circuits involved. Additionally, the CNS sensing of key nutrients and hormones has been characterized in detail and the intracellular signaling pathways have been outlined for most of them.

Studies of humans entail inherent methodological challenges compared to animal studies that may explain the inconsistent findings in some areas. There are some intriguing epidemiological relationships between CNS and metabolic disorders and dysregulation of the ANS or HPA axis have both been proposed as the mediators of this connection. Attempts to demonstrate this have yielded somewhat discordant findings, however.

The extra-pancreatic effects of diazoxide and GLP-1 may very well be extra-cerebral as well and the favorable effect of intranasal oxytocin on glucose metabolism is interesting but not necessarily secondary to actions in the CNS. The use of somatostatin and octreotide in some studies to inhibit pancreatic hormone secretion may possibly induce CNS effects on their own accord and may thereby affect the results. The use of intranasal preparations of insulin arguably has a preferential CNS effect but dose-dependent spillover into the systemic circulation has been demonstrated in some studies that would make interpretation of results precarious.

Neuroimaging techniques have a large potential for further exploration of the interplay between CNS and systemic glucose regulation and have been used more extensively for investigation of appetite and feeding control with special regards to obesity. In these studies, resting-state or task-based neuroimaging is usually performed before and after some sort of metabolic intervention (i.e., OGTT or intranasal insulin) and the imaging is then compared for differences before vs. after the intervention and in between different subjects (i.e., lean vs. obese). Arguably, studies aimed at investigating acute CNS effects on glucose regulation must adopt a more sophisticated study design. Ideally, neuroimaging would be performed before vs. after some sort of metabolic intervention with concomitant measurements of hormonal activity and nutrients. If a detectable change in the activity of a brain region were to occur after the metabolic intervention but before a change in hormonal activity and nutrient levels, a causative link between the two events could be argued, in congruency with the results from Page et al. (2009) and Osada et al. (2017). A prerequisite for such a study design is that the utilized neuroimaging modality has a small enough time resolution to allow for such delicate temporal analysis, a description that fits fMRI but not PET. A matter of additional complexity is that the temporal relation between the CNS response to metabolic interventions and the putative peripheral effects is largely unknown and may differ between different stimuli. For instance, the response to hypoglycemia seems to be fast, occurring within 60 min in one study (Page et al., 2009), whereas the CNS-mediated insulin effects are not evident until after 180 min according to some studies (Obici et al., 2002c; Ramnanan et al., 2011; Dash et al., 2015a). Furthermore, the CNS response to shifts in nutrient availability and hormones may be conveyed to target organs by routes other than the ANS and the HPA-axis and alternative hormonal or neuronal pathways should at least be considered and evaluated in the future.

Other than in the work by Osada et al. (2017), the spatial resolution of fMRI protocols that were utilized in the reviewed studies have not permitted image analysis of separate nuclei of the hypothalamus but have either measured blood flow in the hypothalamus as a whole or in more crudely defined subdivisions of it. Since there is evidence that the relative proportion of GE and GI neurons varies in different nuclei (Mergenthaler et al., 2013), accurate subdivision of the hypothalamus may be imperative to produce reliable and relevant results. The mild inconsistencies between different neuroimaging studies is quite possibly a consequence of suboptimal resolution. This is best illustrated by the work of Heni et al. (2014b, 2017), in which one study examining the effect of intranasal insulin showed an increase of hypothalamic CBF whereas a decrease after administration was seen in another study. It is also important to underscore that the use of the surrogate markers CBF in fMRI and ¹⁸FDG uptake in PET may not correctly reflect changes in neuronal activity. The glucoCEST technique in MRI uses measurement of the proportion of phosphorylated and unphosphorylated 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) and could thereby provide a better assessment of glucose metabolism than ¹⁸FDG-PET, while also embodying all the advantages with the fMRI modality. Likewise, MR spectroscopy provides a non-invasive method of measuring metabolite concentration in tissues and has for example been

used to study hypothalamic glucose levels after hypoglycemic preconditioning (Seaquist et al., 2017). Nevertheless, neurons may exert either stimulatory or inhibitory downstream effects which are not discernable by methods limited to measurement of general neuronal activity, be that by proxy of cerebral blood flow or glucose metabolism.

In one study by Page et al. (2009), small reductions in systemic glucose levels induced increases in hypothalamic CBF before counter-regulatory hormones had risen. This raises the question: does this pattern differ in patients with glycemic dysregulation compared to normal subjects? The "brain-centric" model of development of type 2 diabetes stipulates that the hypothalamus regulates systemic glucose levels around a set-point that is skewed upwards as the disease progresses (Deem et al., 2017). Accordingly, glucose levels below this set-point would lead to processes aiming at raising glucose levels. Most likely, these processes would consist of the same counter-regulatory response that is mounted upon hypoglycemia in healthy individuals. It follows that the hypothalamic and counter-regulatory hormonal response would be activated at higher glucose levels in subjects with prediabetes compared to normal subjects. If this could be demonstrated in a hypoglycemic clamp during concomitant functional neuroimaging it would indeed lend strong support to the concepts of the "brain-centric" model. To our knowledge, this has not been demonstrated to date. Conversely, obese subjects exhibit different fMRI-responses to visual food cues during hyperglycemia than normal weight subjects according to one study (Belfort-DeAguiar et al., 2018). Whether the hypothalamic response to hyperglycemia differs in subjects with prediabetes compared to normal subjects and if such a possible difference corresponds to differences in hormonal activity remains to be investigated.

Since the brain is more or less dependent on glucose as a fuel substrate, its postulated ability to influence systemic glucose values or at least to correct hypoglycemia makes perfect sense from a teleological standpoint. As a consequence of the counter-regulatory response to hypoglycemia, systemic glucose levels are maintained at the expense of glucose uptake and utilization in insulin-sensitive organs such as muscles, adipose tissue and liver. Thus, the insulin-independent brain essentially prioritizes its own need for fuel over that of the rest of the body by mobilizing this counter-regulatory response. Expanding on this and on the "brain-centric" model, type 2 diabetes may be considered a condition in which the brain is "spoiled" by ever-increasing glucose levels and maintains those in a "selfish" fashion at the expense of the rest of the body.

In an elegant study published recently by Rodriguez-Diaz et al. (2018), pancreatic islets from three different species (humans, rhesus monkeys, and C57BL/6 mice) were transplanted to mice with streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes after which the glucose levels of the transplanted mice adapted to the normal ranges of the donors (varying considerably in between species). Thus, pancreatic islets were sufficient to regulate glucose levels on their own accord and this could not be overpowered by possible extra-pancreatic glucose regulation mechanisms. These findings indeed challenge the "brain-centric" model, but

the transferability of these results from rodent models with experimental type 1 diabetes to humans with type 2 diabetes is a matter of reasonable doubt. Additionally, there may be brainislet communication pathways that are species-specific and lost upon xenotransplantation.

Overall, there is robust evidence in favor of brain involvement in the regulation of glucose metabolism. Further investigations are needed to characterize the neurocircuits involved and the cross-talk with peripheral tissues. The use of refined neuroimaging methods is a promising way to test hypotheses derived from animal studies on human subjects. Such research will deepen our understanding of the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and potentially open up avenues for novel pharmacological approaches.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML did most of the literature search. ML and JE conceived and wrote the manuscript. All authors

REFERENCES

- Abraham, M. A., and Lam, T. K. T. (2016). Glucagon action in the brain. Diabetologia 59, 1367–1371. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-3950-3
- Abraham, S. B., Rubino, D., Sinaii, N., Ramsey, S., and Nieman, L. K. (2013). Cortisol, obesity, and the metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional study of obese subjects and review of the literature. *Obesity* 21, E105–E117. doi: 10.1002/oby. 20083
- Ahrén, B. (2000). Autonomic regulation of islet hormone secretion Implications for health and disease. *Diabetologia* 43, 393–410. doi: 10.1007/s001250051322
- Akehi, Y., Yoshimatsu, H., Kurokawa, M., Sakata, T., Eto, H., Ito, S., et al. (2001). VLCD-induced weight loss improves heart rate variability in moderately obese Japanese. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 226, 440–445. doi: 10.1177/153537020122600508
- Alrefaie, Z. (2014). Brief assessment of supine heart rate variability in normal weight, overweight, and obese females. Ann. Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 19, 241–246. doi: 10.1111/anec.12120
- Alsaadi, H. M., and Van Vugt, D. A. (2015). Insulin sensitivity affects corticolimbic brain responses to visual food cues in polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Horm Mol. Biol. Clin. Investig.* 24, 101–115. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2015-0048
- Alvarez, E., Martínez, M. D., Roncero, I., Chowen, J. A., García-Cuartero, B., Gispert, J. D., et al. (2005). The expression of GLP-1 receptor mRNA and protein allows the effect of GLP-1 on glucose metabolism in the human hypothalamus and brainstem. *J. Neurochem.* 92, 798–806. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004. 02914.x
- Anand, B. K., Chhina, G. S., Sharma, K. N., Dua, S., and Singh, B. (1964). Activity of single neurons in the hypothalamic feeding centers: effect of glucose. *Am. J. Physiol.* 207, 1146–1154. doi: 10.1152/ajplegacy.1964.207.5.1146
- Antelmi, I., de Paula, R. S., Shinzato, A. R., Peres, C. A., Mansur, A. J., and Grupi, C. J. (2004). Influence of age, gender, body mass index, and functional capacity on heart rate variability in a cohort of subjects without heart disease. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 93, 381–385. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2003.09.065
- Arrieta-Cruz, I., Su, Y., Knight, C. M., Lam, T. K. T., and Gutiérrez-Juárez, R. (2013). Evidence for a role of proline and hypothalamic astrocytes in the regulation of glucose metabolism in rats. *Diabetes* 62, 1152–1158. doi: 10.2337/ db12-0228
- Ashley Blackshaw, L., and Young, R. L. (2011). Detection and signaling of glucose in the intestinal mucosa - Vagal pathway. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 23, 591–594. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01719.x
- Asilmaz, E., Cohen, P., Miyazaki, M., Dobrzyn, P., Ueki, K., Fayzikhodjaeva, G., et al. (2004). Site and mechanism of leptin action in a rodent form of congenital lipodystrophy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, 414–424. doi: 10.1172/JCI20041 9511

contributed to literature search, reviewed and approved the final version.

FUNDING

This review was funded by grants from the Swedish Diabetes Foundation, Ernfors foundation, ALF (Swedish Government Research Fund), and the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under Skłodowska-Curie the Marie grant agreement 721236-TREATMENT.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are particularly grateful of the valuable scientific advice given by Professor Emeritus Anders Karlsson, Professor emeritus Elna-Marie Larsson, and Professor Johan Wickström at Uppsala University.

- Baggio, L. L., Huang, Q., Brown, T. J., and Drucker, D. J. (2004). Oxyntomodulin and glucagon-like peptide-1 differentially regulate murine food intake and energy expenditure. *Gastroenterology* 127, 546–558. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004. 04.063
- Baik, J. H. (2013). Dopamine signaling in food addiction: role of dopamine D2 receptors. BMB Rep. 46, 519–526. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2013.46.11.207
- Balcioğlu, A. S., Akinci, S., Çiçek, D., Eldem, H. O., Çoner, A., Bal, U. A., et al. (2016). Which is responsible for cardiac autonomic dysfunction in non-diabetic patients with metabolic syndrome: prediabetes or the syndrome itself? *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev.* 10 (1 Suppl. 1), S13–S20. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2015. 09.001
- Baldo, B. A., and Kelley, A. E. (2007). Discrete neurochemical coding of distinguishable motivational processes: insights from nucleus accumbens control of feeding. *Psychopharmacology* 191, 439–459. doi: 10.1007/s00213-007-0741-z
- Banks, W. A., Jaspan, J. B., Huang, W., and Kastin, A. J. (1997). Transport of insulin across the blood-brain barrier: saturability at euglycemic doses of insulin. *Peptides* 18, 1423–1429. doi: 10.1016/S0196-9781(97)00231-3
- Banks, W. A., Kastin, A. J., Huang, W., Jaspan, J. B., and Maness, L. M. (1996). Leptin enters the brain by a saturable system independent of insulin. *Peptides* 17, 305–311. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(96)00025-3
- Bartness, T. J., Song, C. K., Shi, H., Bowers, R. R., and Foster, M. T. (2005). Brainadipose tissue cross talk. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 64, 53–64. doi: 10.1079/PNS2004409
- Belfort-DeAguiar, R., Seo, D., Lacadie, C., Naik, S., Schmidt, C., Lam, W., et al. (2018). Humans with obesity have disordered brain responses to food images during physiological hyperglycemia. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* 314, E522–E529. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00335.2017
- Belvederi Murri, M., Prestia, D., Mondelli, V., Pariante, C., Patti, S., Olivieri, B., et al. (2016). The HPA axis in bipolar disorder: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 63, 327–342. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015. 10.014
- Benedict, C., Hallschmid, M., Hatke, A., Schultes, B., Fehm, H. L., Born, J., et al. (2004). Intranasal insulin improves memory in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 29, 1326–1334. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.04.003
- Benichou, T., Pereira, B., Mermillod, M., Tauveron, I., Pfabigan, D., Maqdasy, S., et al. (2018). Heart rate variability in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 13:e0195166. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195166
- Ben-Jonathan, N., and Hugo, E. (2015). Prolactin (prl) in adipose tissue: regulation and functions. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 846, 1–35. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-12114-7_1
- Benrick, A., Schéle, E., Pinnock, S. B., Wernstedt-Asterholm, I., Dickson, S. L., Karlsson-Lindahl, L., et al. (2009). Interleukin-6 gene knockout influences

energy balance regulating peptides in the hypothalamic paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 21, 620–628. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826. 2009.01879.x

- Bernard, C. (1855). Leçons de Physiologie Experimentale Applique a la Medicine Faites au College de France. Paris: Baillère et fils, 296–313.
- Berthon, B. S., MacDonald-Wicks, L. K., and Wood, L. G. (2014). A systematic review of the effect of oral glucocorticoids on energy intake, appetite, and body weight in humans. *Nutr. Res.* 34, 179–190. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2013.12.006
- Bjørbaek, C., Elmquist, J. K., Michl, P., Ahima, R. S., van Bueren, A., McCall, A. L., et al. (1998). Expression of leptin receptor isoforms in rat brain microvessels. *Endocrinology* 139, 3485–3491. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.8.6154
- Boado, R. J., Golden, P. L., Levin, N., and Pardridge, W. M. (1998). Up-regulation of blood-brain barrier short-form leptin receptor gene products in rats fed a high fat diet. J. Neurochem. 71, 1761–1764. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1998. 71041761.x
- Boersma, G. J., Johansson, E., Pereira, M. J., Heurling, K., Skrtic, S., Lau, J., et al. (2018). Altered glucose uptake in muscle, visceral adipose tissue, and brain predict whole-body insulin resistance and may contribute to the development of type 2 diabetes: a combined PET/MR study. *Horm Metab. Res.* 50, 627–639. doi: 10.1055/a-0643-4739
- Bohula, E. A., Scirica, B. M., Inzucchi, S. E., McGuire, D. K., Keech, A. C., Smith, S. R., et al. (2018). Effect of lorcaserin on prevention and remission of type 2 diabetes in overweight and obese patients (CAMELLIA-TIMI 61): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 392, 2269–2279. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(18)32328-6
- Born, J., Lange, T., Kern, W., McGregor, G. P., Bickel, U., and Fehm, H. L. (2002). Sniffing neuropeptides: a transnasal approach to the human brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 514–516. doi: 10.1038/nn0602-849
- Brede, S., Sputh, A., Hartmann, A. C., Hallschmid, M., Lehnert, H., and Klement, J. (2017). Visual food cues decrease postprandial glucose concentrations in lean and obese men without affecting food intake and related endocrine parameters. *Appetite* 117, 255–262. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2017.07.001
- Brosschot, J. F., Van Dijk, E., and Thayer, J. F. (2007). Daily worry is related to low heart rate variability during waking and the subsequent nocturnal sleep period. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 63, 39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2006.07.016
- Bruce, K. D., Zsombok, A., and Eckel, R. H. (2017). Lipid processing in the brain: a key regulator of systemic metabolism. *Front. Endocrinol.* 8:60. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2017.00060
- Carey, M., Kehlenbrink, S., and Hawkins, M. (2013). Evidence for central regulation of glucose metabolism. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 34981–34988. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.R113.506782
- Carnethon, M. R., Golden, S. H., Folsom, A. R., Haskell, W., and Liao, D. (2003). Prospective investigation of autonomic nervous system function and the development of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study, 1987-1998. *Circulation* 107, 2190–2195. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000066324. 74807.95
- Carnethon, M. R., Prineas, R. J., Temprosa, M., Zhang, Z. M., Uwaifo, G., and Molitch, M. E. (2006). The association among autonomic nervous system function, incident diabetes, and intervention arm in the diabetes prevention program. *Diabetes Care* 29, 914–919. doi: 10.2337/diacare.29.04.06. dc05-1729
- Carvalheira, J. B. C., Ribeiro, E. B., Araújo, E. P., Guimarães, R. B., Telles, M. M., Torsoni, M., et al. (2003). Selective impairment of insulin signalling in the hypothalamus of obese Zucker rats. *Diabetologia* 46, 1629–1640. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-003-1246-x
- Carvalho, L. P., Di Thommazo-Luporini, L., Mendes, R. G., Cabiddu, R., Ricci, P. A., Basso-Vanelli, R. P., et al. (2018). Metabolic syndrome impact on cardiac autonomic modulation and exercise capacity in obese adults. *Auton Neurosci. Basic Clin.* 213, 43–50. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2018.05.008
- Casellini, C. M., Parson, H. K., Hodges, K., Edwards, J. F., Lieb, D. C., Wohlgemuth, S. D., et al. (2016). Bariatric surgery restores cardiac and sudomotor autonomic C-fiber dysfunction towards normal in obese subjects with type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 11:e0154211. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154211
- Chalmers, J. A., Quintana, D. S., Abbott, M. J. A., and Kemp, A. H. (2014). Anxiety disorders are associated with reduced heart rate variability: a meta-analysis. *Front. Psychiatry* 5:80. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00080
- Charles, L. E., Andrew, M. E., Sarkisian, K., Shengqiao, L., Mnatsakanova, A., Violanti, J. M., et al. (2013). Associations between insulin and heart rate

variability in police officers. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 26, 56-63. doi: 10.1002/ajhb. 22475

- Chatterjee, S., and Mudher, A. (2018). Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes: a critical assessment of the shared pathological traits. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:383. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00383
- Chen, W., Balland, E., and Cowley, M. A. (2017). Hypothalamic insulin resistance in obesity: effects on glucose homeostasis. *Neuroendocrinology* 104, 364–381. doi: 10.1159/000455865
- Cherkas, A., Abrahamovych, O., Golota, S., Nersesyan, A., Pichler, C., Serhiyenko, V., et al. (2015). The correlations of glycated hemoglobin and carbohydrate metabolism parameters with heart rate variability in apparently healthy sedentary young male subjects. *Redox Biol.* 5, 301–307. doi: 10.1016/j. redox.2015.05.007
- Chintala, K. K., Krishna, B. H., and Mr, N. (2015). Heart rate variability in overweight health care students: correlation with visceral fat. J. Clin. Diagn. Res. 9, CC06–CC08. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2015/12145.5434
- Chung, H. K., Ryu, D., Kim, K. S., Chang, J. Y., Kim, Y. K., Yi, H. S., et al. (2017). Growth differentiation factor 15 is a myomitokine governing systemic energy homeostasis. J. Cell Biol. 216, 149–165. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201607110
- Cintra, D. E., Ropelle, E. R., Moraes, J. C., Pauli, J. R., Morari, J., de Souza, C. T., et al. (2012). Unsaturated fatty acids revert diet-induced hypothalamic inflammation in obesity. *PLoS One* 7:e30571. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0030571
- Clemmons, D. R. (2012). Metabolic actions of insulin-like growth factor-I in normal physiology and diabetes. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. N. Am.* 41, 425–443. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2012.04.017
- Cohen, M. A., Ellis, S. M., Le Roux, C. W., Batterham, R. L., Park, A., Patterson, M., et al. (2003). Oxyntomodulin suppresses appetite and reduces food intake in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 4696–4701. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030421
- Cosgrove, M. P., Sargeant, L. A., Caleyachetty, R., and Griffin, S. J. (2012). Workrelated stress and Type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. Occup. Med. 62, 167–173. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqs002
- Coveleskie, K., Kilpatrick, L. A., Gupta, A., Stains, J., Connolly, L., Labus, J. S., et al. (2017). The effect of the GLP-1 analogue exenatide on functional connectivity within an NTS-based network in women with and without obesity. *Obes. Sci. Pract.* 3, 434–445. doi: 10.1002/osp4.124
- Cowley, M. A., Smith, R. G., Diano, S., Tschöp, M., Pronchuk, N., Grove, K. L., et al. (2003). The distribution and mechanism of action of ghrelin in the CNS demonstrates a novel hypothalamic circuit regulating energy homeostasis. *Neuron* 37, 649–661. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00063-1
- Crabtree, D. R., Chambers, E. S., Hardwick, R. M., and Blannin, A. K. (2014). The effects of high-intensity exercise on neural responses to images of food1-3. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 99, 258–267. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.071381
- Czepielewski, L., Filho, L. D., Brietzke, E., and Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2013). Bipolar disorder and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review. *Rev. Bras. Psiquiatr.* 35, 88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.rbp.2012.07.004
- da Silva, V. P., Ramalho Oliveira, B. R., Tavares Mello, R. G., Moraes, H., Deslandes, A. C., and Laks, J. (2018). Heart rate variability indexes in dementia: a systematic review with a quantitative analysis. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 15, 80–88. doi: 10.2174/ 1567205014666170531082352
- Dai, X.-P., Liu, Z.-Q., Xu, L.-Y., Gong, Z.-C., Huang, Q., Dong, M., et al. (2012). Association of plasma epinephrine level with insulin sensitivity in metabolically healthy but obese individuals. *Auton Neurosci.* 167, 66–69. doi: 10.1016/j. autneu.2011.10.006
- Dakin, C. L., Gunn, I., Small, C. J., Edwards, C. M. B., Hay, D. L., Smith, D. M., et al. (2001). Oxyntomodulin inhibits food intake in the rat. *Endocrinology* 142, 4244–4250. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.10.8430
- Dash, S., Xiao, C., Morgantini, C., Koulajian, K., and Lewis, G. F. (2015a). Intranasal insulin suppresses endogenous glucose production in humans compared with placebo in the presence of similar venous insulin concentrations. *Diabetes* 64, 766–774. doi: 10.2337/db14-0685
- Dash, S., Xiao, C., Morgantini, C., Koulajian, K., and Lewis, G. F. (2015b). Is insulin action in the brain relevant in regulating blood glucose in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100, 2525–2531.
- de Jonge, L., Moreira, E. A. M., Martin, C. K., and Ravussin, E. (2010). Impact of 6-month caloric restriction on autonomic nervous system activity in healthy, overweight, individuals. *Obesity* 18, 414–416. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2009.408

- De Pergola, G., Giorgino, F., Benigno, R., Guida, P., and Giorgino, R. (2008). Independent influence of insulin, catecholamines, and thyroid hormones on metabolic syndrome. *Obesity* 16, 2405–2411. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2008.382
- De Silva, A., Salem, V., Long, C. J., Makwana, A., Newbould, R. D., Rabiner, E. A., et al. (2011). The gut hormones PYY 3-36 and GLP-1 7-36 amide reduce food intake and modulate brain activity in appetite centers in humans. *Cell Metab.* 14, 700–706. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.09.010
- De Silva, A., Salem, V., Matthews, P. M., and Dhillo, W. S. (2012). The use of functional MRI to study appetite control in the CNS. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2012, 1–13. doi: 10.1155/2012/764017
- Deem, J. D., Muta, K., Scarlett, J. M., Morton, G. J., and Schwartz, M. W. (2017). How should we think about the role of the brain in glucose homeostasis and diabetes? *Diabetes* 66, 1758–1765. doi: 10.2337/dbi16-0067
- Delaere, F., Magnan, C., and Mithieux, G. (2010). Hypothalamic integration of portal glucose signals and control of food intake and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes Metab.* 36, 257–262. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2010.05.001
- Di Dalmazi, G., Pagotto, U., Pasquali, R., and Vicennati, V. (2012). Glucocorticoids and type 2 diabetes: from physiology to pathology. *J. Nutr. Metab.* 2012:525093. doi: 10.1155/2012/525093
- Dimitropoulos, A., Tkach, J., Ho, A., and Kennedy, J. (2012). Greater corticolimbic activation to high-calorie food cues after eating in obese vs. normal-weight adults. *Appetite* 58, 303–312. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2011.10.014
- Duca, F. A., and Yue, J. T. Y. (2014). Fatty acid sensing in the gut and the hypothalamus: in vivo and in vitro perspectives. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 397, 23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014.09.022
- Dunn, J. T., Cranston, I., Marsden, P. K., Amiel, S. A., and Reed, L. J. (2007). Attenuation of amydgala and frontal cortical responses to low blood glucose concentration in asymptomatic hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 56, 2766–2773. doi: 10.2337/db07-0666
- Eikelis, N., Schlaich, M., Aggarwal, A., Kaye, D., and Esler, M. (2003). Interactions between leptin and the human sympathetic nervous system. *Hypertension* 41, 1072–1079. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000066289.17754.49
- El-Haschimi, K., Pierroz, D. D., Hileman, S. M., Bjørbæk, C., and Flier, J. S. (2000). Two defects contribute to hypothalamic leptin resistance in mice with diet-induced obesity. *J. Clin. Invest.* 105, 1827–1832. doi: 10.1172/JCI9842
- Eriksson, J., Franssila-Kallunki, A., Ekstrand, A., Saloranta, C., Widén, E., Schalin, C., et al. (1989). Early metabolic defects in persons at increased risk for non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 321, 337–343. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198908103210601
- Esposito, K., Pontillo, A., Giugliano, F., Giugliano, G., Marfella, R., Nicoletti, G., et al. (2003). Association of low interleukin-10 levels with the metabolic syndrome in obese women 15. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 88, 1055–1058. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021437
- Esterson, Y. B., Carey, M., Boucai, L., Goyal, A., Raghavan, P., Zhang, K., et al. (2016). Central regulation of glucose production may be impaired in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 65, 2569–2579. doi: 10.2337/db15-1465
- Everson-Rose, S. A., Meyer, P. M., Powell, L. H., Pandey, D., Torréns, J. I., Kravitz, H. M., et al. (2004). Depressive symptoms, insulin resistance, and risk of diabetes in women at midlife. *Diabetes Care* 27, 2856–2862. doi: 10.2337/ diacare.27.12.2856
- Farr, O. M., Sofopoulos, M., Tsoukas, M. A., Dincer, F., Thakkar, B., Sahin-Efe, A., et al. (2016a). GLP-1 receptors exist in the parietal cortex, hypothalamus and medulla of human brains and the GLP-1 analogue liraglutide alters brain activity related to highly desirable food cues in individuals with diabetes: a crossover, randomised, placebo-controlled. *Diabetologia* 59, 954–965. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-016-3874-y
- Farr, O. M., Tsoukas, M. A., Triantafyllou, G., Dincer, F., Filippaios, A., Ko, B. J., et al. (2016b). Short-term administration of the GLP-1 analog liraglutide decreases circulating leptin and increases GIP levels and these changes are associated with alterations in CNS responses to food cues: a randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *Metabolism* 65, 945–953. doi: 10.1016/j. metabol.2016.03.009
- Faurholt-Jepsen, M., Kessing, L. V., and Munkholm, K. (2017). Heart rate variability in bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 73, 68–80. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016. 12.007

- Fisher, J. P., Young, C. N., and Fadel, P. J. (2015). Autonomic adjustments to exercise in humans. *Compr. Physiol.* 5, 475–512. doi: 10.1002/cphy. c140022
- Flaa, A., Aksnes, T. A., Kjeldsen, S. E., Eide, I., and Rostrup, M. (2008a). Increased sympathetic reactivity may predict insulin resistance: an 18-year follow-up study. *Metabolism* 57, 1422–1427. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2008. 05.012
- Flaa, A., Sandvik, L., Kjeldsen, S. E., Eide, I. K., and Rostrup, M. (2008b). Does sympathoadrenal activity predict changes in body fat? An 18-y follow-up study. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 87, 1596–1601.
- Flanagan, D. E., Fulford, J., Krishnan, B., Benattayallah, A., Watt, A., and Summers, I. R. (2012). Functional MRI of the hypothalamic response to an oral glucose load. *Diabetologia* 55, 2080–2082. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2559-4
- Flanagan, D. E., Vaile, J. C., Petley, G. W., Moore, V. M., Godsland, I. F., Cockington, R. A., et al. (1999). The autonomic control of heart rate and insulin resistance in young adults. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 84, 1263–1267. doi: 10.1210/jc.84.4.1263
- Frank, S., Heinze, J. M., Fritsche, A., Linder, K., Von Feilitzsch, M., Königsrainer, A., et al. (2016). Neuronal food reward activity in patients with type 2 diabetes with improved glycemic control after bariatric surgery. *Diabetes Care* 39, 1311–1317. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0094
- Frias, J. P., Nauck, M. A., Van, J., Kutner, M. E., Cui, X., Benson, C., et al. (2018). Efficacy and safety of LY3298176, a novel dual GIP and GLP-1 receptor agonist, in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomised, placebo-controlled and active comparator-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet* 392, 2180–2193. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32260-8
- Fu, L., John, L. M., Adams, S. H., Yu, X. X., Tomlinson, E., Renz, M., et al. (2004). Fibroblast growth factor 19 increases metabolic rate and reverses dietary and leptin-deficient diabetes. *Endocrinology* 145, 2594–2603. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1671
- Führer, D., Zysset, S., and Stumvoll, M. (2008). Brain activity in hunger and satiety: an exploratory visually stimulated fMRI study. *Obesity* 16, 945–950. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.33
- Garber, A., Blonde, L., Bloomgarden, Z., Handelsman, Y., and Dagogo-Jack, S. (2013). The role of bromocriptine-QR in the management of type 2 diabetes expert panel recommendations. *Endocr. Pract.* 19, 100–106. doi: 10.4158/ EP12325.OR
- García-Cáceres, C., Quarta, C., Varela, L., Gao, Y., Gruber, T., Legutko, B., et al. (2016). Astrocytic insulin signaling couples brain glucose uptake with nutrient availability. *Cell* 166, 867–880. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.028
- Garvey, W. T., Ryan, D. H., Bohannon, N. J. V., Kushner, R. F., Rueger, M., Dvorak, R. V., et al. (2014a). Weight-loss therapy in type 2 diabetes: effects of phentermine and topiramate extended release. *Diabetes Care* 37, 3309–3316. doi: 10.2337/dc14-0930
- Garvey, W. T., Ryan, D. H., Henry, R., Bohannon, N. J. V., Toplak, H., Schwiers, M., et al. (2014b). Prevention of type 2 diabetes in subjects with prediabetes and metabolic syndrome treated with phentermine and topiramate extended release. *Diabetes Care* 37, 912–921. doi: 10.2337/dc13-1518
- Gautier, J. F., Chen, K., Salbe, A. D., Bandy, D., Pratley, R. E., Heiman, M., et al. (2000). Differential brain responses to satiation in obese and lean men. *Diabetes* 49, 838–846. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.49.5.838
- Goldstone, A. P., Miras, A. D., Scholtz, S., Jackson, S., Neff, K. J., Pénicaud, L., et al. (2016). Link between increased satiety gut hormones and reduced food reward after gastric bypass surgery for obesity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 101, 599–609. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2665
- Gotoh, K., Inoue, M., Masaki, T., Chiba, S., Shimasaki, T., Ando, H., et al. (2012). A novel anti-inflammatory role for spleen-derived interleukin-10 in obesityinduced hypothalamic inflammation. *J. Neurochem.* 120, 752–764. doi: 10.1111/ j.1471-4159.2011.07617.x
- Grassi, G., Quarti-Trevano, F., Seravalle, G., Dell'Oro, R., Dubini, A., and Mancia, G. (2009). Differential sympathetic activation in muscle and skin neural districts in the metabolic syndrome. *Metabolism* 58, 1446–1451. doi: 10.1016/j. metabol.2009.04.028
- Gray, S. M., and Barrett, E. J. (2018). Insulin transport into the brain. Am. J. Physiol. Physiol. 315, C125–C136. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00240.2017
- Grayson, B. E., Seeley, R. J., and Sandoval, D. A. (2013). Wired on sugar: the role of the CNS in the regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 24–37. doi: 10.1038/nrn3409

- Grosshans, M., Vollmert, C., Vollstädt-Klein, S., Tost, H., Leber, S., Bach, P., et al. (2012). Association of leptin with food cue-induced activation in human reward pathways. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 69, 529–537. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry. 2011.1586
- Hallschmid, M., Benedict, C., Schultes, B., Born, J., and Kern, W. (2008). Obese men respond to cognitive but not to catabolic brain insulin signaling. *Int. J. Obes.* 32, 275–282. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803722
- Hallschmid, M., Benedict, C., Schultes, B., Fehm, H. L., Born, J., and Kern, W. (2004). Intranasal insulin reduces body fat in men but not in women. *Diabetes* 53, 3024–3029. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.11.3024
- Hallschmid, M., Higgs, S., Thienel, M., Ott, V., and Lehnert, H. (2012). Postprandial administration of intranasal insulin intensifies satiety and reduces intake of palatable snacks in women. *Diabetes* 61, 782–789. doi: 10.2337/db11-1390
- Hannon, A. M., Thompson, C. J., and Sherlock, M. (2017). Diabetes in patients with acromegaly. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 17:8. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0838-7
- Harrison, T. A., Hindorff, L. A., Kim, H., Wines, R. C. M., Bowen, D. J., McGrath,
 B. B., et al. (2003). Family history of diabetes as a potential public health tool. *Am. J. Preven. Med.* 24, 152–159. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(02)00588-3
- Hemingway, H., Shipley, M., Brunner, E., Britton, A., Malik, M., and Marmot, M. (2005). Does autonomic function link social position to coronary risk? The whitehall II study. *Circulation* 111, 3071–3077. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.104.497347
- Heni, M., Kullmann, S., Ketterer, C., Guthoff, M., Bayer, M., Staiger, H., et al. (2014a). Differential effect of glucose ingestion on the neural processing of food stimuli in lean and overweight adults. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 918–928. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22223
- Heni, M., Wagner, R., Kullmann, S., Veit, R., Mat Husin, H., Linder, K., et al. (2014b). Central insulin administration improves whole-body insulin sensitivity via hypothalamus and parasympathetic outputs in men. *Diabetes* 63, 4083–4088. doi: 10.2337/db14-0477
- Heni, M., Kullmann, S., Ketterer, C., Guthoff, M., Linder, K., Wagner, R., et al. (2012). Nasal insulin changes peripheral insulin sensitivity simultaneously with altered activity in homeostatic and reward-related human brain regions. *Diabetologia* 55, 1773–1782. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2528-y
- Heni, M., Wagner, R., Kullmann, S., Gancheva, S., Roden, M., Peter, A., et al. (2017). Hypothalamic and striatal insulin action suppresses endogenous glucose production and may stimulate glucose uptake during hyperinsulinemia in lean but not in overweight men. *Diabetes* 66, 1797–1806. doi: 10.2337/db16-1380
- Heni, M., Willmann, C., Wagner, R., Vosseler, A., Preissl, H., Peter, A., et al. (2018). "Brain insulin action stimulates pancreatic insulin secretion: results from hyperglycaemic clamps," in *Proceedings of the 54th annual meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes*, Berlin.
- Hileman, S. M., Pierroz, D. D., Masuzaki, H., Bjørbaek, C., El-Haschimi, K., Banks, W. A., et al. (2002). Characterizaton of short isoforms of the leptin receptor in rat cerebral microvessels and of brain uptake of leptin in mouse models of obesity. *Endocrinology* 143, 775–783. doi: 10.1210/endo.143.3.8669
- Hillebrand, S., Swenne, C. A., Gast, K. B., Maan, A. C., le Cessie, S., Jukema, J. W., et al. (2015). The role of insulin resistance in the association between body fat and autonomic function. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 25, 93–99. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.07.009
- Hirvonen, J., Virtanen, K. A., Nummenmaa, L., Hannukainen, J. C., Honka, M. J., Bucci, M., et al. (2011). Effects of insulin on brain glucose metabolism in impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 60, 443–447. doi: 10.2337/db10-0940
- Hölscher, C. (2018). Novel dual GLP-1/GIP receptor agonists show neuroprotective effects in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease models. *Neuropharmacology* 136(Pt B), 251–259. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.01.040
- Hosoi, T., Sasaki, M., Miyahara, T., Hashimoto, C., Matsuo, S., Yoshii, M., et al. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces leptin resistance. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 74, 1610–1619. doi: 10.1124/mol.108.050070
- Hotamisligil, G. S. (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature* 444, 860-867. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Shargill, N. S., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1993). Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* 259, 87–91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183
- Huggett, R. J., Burns, J., Mackintosh, A. F., and Mary, D. A. (2004). Sympathetic neural activation in nondiabetic metabolic syndrome and its

further augmentation by hypertension. *Hypertension* 44, 847–852. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000147893.08533.d8

- Hutch, C. R., and Sandoval, D. (2017). The role of GLP-1 in the metabolic success of bariatric surgery. *Endocrinology* 158, 4139–4151. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00564
- Hwang, J. J., Parikh, L., Lacadie, C., Seo, D., Lam, W., Hamza, M., et al. (2018). Hypoglycemia unawareness in type 1 diabetes suppresses brain responses to hypoglycemia. *J. Clin. Invest.* 128, 1485–1495. doi: 10.1172/JCI 97696
- Incollingo Rodriguez, A. C., Epel, E. S., White, M. L., Standen, E. C., Seckl, J. R., and Tomiyama, A. J. (2015). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation and cortisol activity in obesity: a systematic review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 62, 301–318. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.08.014
- Indumathy, J., Pal, G. K., Pal, P., Ananthanarayanan, P. H., Parija, S. C., Balachander, J., et al. (2015). Association of sympathovagal imbalance with obesity indices, and abnormal metabolic biomarkers and cardiovascular parameters. *Obes. Res. Clin. Pract.* 9, 55–66. doi: 10.1016/j.orcp.2014.01.007
- Ito, H., Ohshima, A., Tsuzuki, M., Ohto, N., Yanagawa, M., Maruyama, T., et al. (2001). Effects of increased physical activity and mild calorie restriction on heart rate variability in obese women. *Jpn. Heart J.* 42, 459–469. doi: 10.1536/jhj. 42.459
- Iwen, K. A., Scherer, T., Heni, M., Sayk, F., Wellnitz, T., Machleidt, F., et al. (2014). Intranasal insulin suppresses systemic but not subcutaneous lipolysis in healthy humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 99, E246–E251. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-3169
- Jackson, S. E., Kirschbaum, C., and Steptoe, A. (2017). Hair cortisol and adiposity in a population-based sample of 2,527 men and women aged 54 to 87 years. *Obesity* 25, 539–544. doi: 10.1002/oby.21733
- Jahansouz, C., Xu, H., Hertzel, A. V., Serrot, F. J., Kvalheim, N., Cole, A., et al. (2016). Bile acids increase independently from hypocaloric restriction after bariatric surgery. Ann. Surg. 264, 1022–1028. doi: 10.1097/SLA. 000000000001552
- Jarczok, M. N., Li, J., Mauss, D., Fischer, J. E., and Thayer, J. F. (2013). Heart rate variability is associated with glycemic status after controlling for components of the metabolic syndrome. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 167, 855–861. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard. 2012.02.002
- Johncy, S. S., Karthik, C. S., Bondade, S. Y., and Jayalakshmi, M. K. (2015). Altered cardiovascular autonomic function in young normotensive offspring of hypertensive parents - Is obesity an additional risk factor? J. Basic Clin. Physiol. Pharmacol. 26, 531–537. doi: 10.1515/jbcpp-2014-0068
- Joseph, J. J., and Golden, S. H. (2017). Cortisol dysregulation: the bidirectional link between stress, depression, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1391, 20–34. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13217
- Kaiyala, K. J., Prigeon, R. L., Kahn, S. E., Woods, S. C., and Schwartz, M. W. (2000). Obesity induced by a high-fat diet is associated with reduced brain insulin transport in dogs. *Diabetes* 49, 1525–1533. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.49.9.1525
- Kan, C., Silva, N., Golden, S. H., Rajala, U., Timonen, M., Stahl, D., et al. (2013). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between depression and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care* 36, 480–489. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1442
- Kanoski, S. E., Fortin, S. M., Arnold, M., Grill, H. J., and Hayes, M. R. (2011). Peripheral and central GLP-1 receptor populations mediate the anorectic effects of peripherally administered GLP-1 receptor agonists, liraglutide and exendin-4. Endocrinology 152, 3103–3112. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-0174
- Karason, K., Mølgaard, H., Wikstrand, J., and Sjöström, L. (1999). Heart rate variability in obesity and the effect of weight loss. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 83, 1242–1247. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(99)00066-1
- Katsurada, K., Maejima, Y., Nakata, M., Kodaira, M., Suyama, S., Iwasaki, Y., et al. (2014). Endogenous GLP-1 acts on paraventricular nucleus to suppress feeding: projection from nucleus tractus solitarius and activation of corticotropinreleasing hormone, nesfatin-1 and oxytocin neurons. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 451, 276–281. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.116
- Katsurada, K., and Yada, T. (2016). Neural effects of gut- and brain-derived glucagon-like peptide-1 and its receptor agonist. J. Diabetes Investig. 7(Suppl. 1), 64–69. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12464
- Keitel, V., Görg, B., Bidmon, H. J., Zemtsova, I., Spomer, L., Zilles, K., et al. (2010). The bile acid receptor TGR5 (Gpbar-1) acts as a neurosteroid receptor in brain. *Glia* 58, 1794–1805. doi: 10.1002/glia.21049
- Kemp, A. H., Quintana, D. S., Gray, M. A., Felmingham, K. L., Brown, K., and Gatt, J. M. (2010). Impact of depression and antidepressant treatment on heart

rate variability: a review and meta-analysis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 1067–1074. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.012

- Kern, P. A., Ranganathan, S., Li, C., Wood, L., and Ranganathan, G. (2001). Adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 expression in human obesity and insulin resistance. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* 280, E745–E751. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2001.280.5.E745
- Kern, W., Benedict, C., Schultes, B., Plohr, F., Moser, A., Born, J., et al. (2006). Low cerebrospinal fluid insulin levels in obese humans. *Diabetologia* 49, 2790–2792. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0409-y
- Khan, S. M., Hamnvik, O. P. R., Brinkoetter, M., and Mantzoros, C. S. (2012). Leptin as a modulator of neuroendocrine function in humans. *Yonsei Med. J.* 53, 671–679. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2012.53.4.671
- Kievit, P., Howard, J. K., Badman, M. K., Balthasar, N., Coppari, R., Mori, H., et al. (2006). Enhanced leptin sensitivity and improved glucose homeostasis in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 in POMC-expressing cells. *Cell Metab.* 4, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.06.010
- Killgore, W. D. S., Kipman, M., Schwab, Z. J., Tkachenko, O., Preer, L., Gogel, H., et al. (2013). Physical exercise and brain responses to images of high-calorie food. *Neuroreport* 24, 962–967. doi: 10.1097/WNR.00000000000029
- Killgore, W. D. S., Young, A. D., Femia, L. A., Bogorodzki, P., Rogowska, J., and Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2003). Cortical and limbic activation during viewing of high- versus low-calorie foods. *Neuroimage* 19, 1381–1394. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00191-5
- Killgore, W. D. S., and Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2005). Body mass predicts orbitofrontal activity during visual presentations of high-calorie foods. *Neuroreport* 16, 859–863. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200505310-00016
- Kimura, K., Nakamura, Y., Inaba, Y., Matsumoto, M., Kido, Y., Asahara, S. I., et al. (2013). Histidine augments the suppression of hepatic glucose production by central insulin action. *Diabetes* 62, 2266–2277. doi: 10.2337/db12-1701
- Kimura, T., Matsumoto, T., Akiyoshi, M., Owa, Y., Miyasaka, N., Aso, T., et al. (2006). Body fat and blood lipids in postmenopausal women are related to resting autonomic nervous system activity. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 97, 542–547. doi: 10.1007/s00421-006-0207-8
- Kishore, P., Boucai, L., Zhang, K., Li, W., Koppaka, S., Kehlenbrink, S., et al. (2011). Activation of KATP channels suppresses glucose production in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 4916–4920. doi: 10.1172/JCI58035
- Kjeldsen, S. E., Eide, I., Aakesson, I., and Leren, P. (1983). Influence of body weight on plasma catecholamine patterns in middle-aged, normotensive men. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 43, 339–342. doi: 10.3109/00365518309168268
- Kleiger, R. E., Stein, P. K., and Bigger, J. T. (2005). Heart rate variability: measurement and clinical utility. *Ann. Noninvasive Electrocardiol.* 10, 88–101. doi: 10.1111/j.1542-474X.2005.10101.x
- Kleinert, M., Bojsen-Møller, K., Jørgensen, N., Svane, M., Martinussen, C., Kiens, B., et al. (2019). Effect of bariatric surgery on plasma GDF15 in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 316, E615–E621. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00010. 2019
- Kleinert, M., Clemmensen, C., Sjøberg, K. A., Carl, C. S., Jeppesen, J. F., Wojtaszewski, J. F. P., et al. (2018). Exercise increases circulating GDF15 in humans. *Mol. Metab.* 9, 187–191. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.12.016
- Koch, C., Augustine, R. A., Steger, J., Ganjam, G. K., Benzler, J., Pracht, C., et al. (2010). Leptin rapidly improves glucose homeostasis in obese mice by increasing hypothalamic insulin sensitivity. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 16180–16187. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3202-10.2010
- Kodama, S., Fujihara, K., Horikawa, C., Harada, M., Ishiguro, H., Kaneko, M., et al. (2018). Network meta-analysis of the relative efficacy of bariatric surgeries for diabetes remission. *Obes. Rev.* 19, 1621–1629. doi: 10.1111/obr.12751
- Koliaki, C., Liatis, S., le Roux, C. W., and Kokkinos, A. (2017). The role of bariatric surgery to treat diabetes: current challenges and perspectives. BMC Endocr. Disord. 17:50. doi: 10.1186/s12902-017-0202-6
- Kosinski, J. R., Hubert, J., Carrington, P. E., Chicchi, G. G., Mu, J., Miller, C., et al. (2012). The glucagon receptor is involved in mediating the body weightlowering effects of oxyntomodulin. *Obesity* 20, 1566–1571. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2012.67
- Krajnak, K. M. (2014). Potential contribution of work-related psychosocial stress to the development of cardiovascular disease and type II diabetes: a brief review. *Environ. Health Insights* 8(Suppl. 1), 41–45. doi: 10.4137/EHI.S15263
- Kuehl, L. K., Hinkelmann, K., Muhtz, C., Dettenborn, L., Wingenfeld, K., Spitzer, C., et al. (2015). Hair cortisol and cortisol awakening response are

associated with criteria of the metabolic syndrome in opposite directions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 51, 365–370. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014. 09.012

- LaBar, K. S., Gitelman, D. R., Parrish, T. B., Kim, Y. H., Nobre, A. C., and Mesulam, M. M. (2001). Hunger selectively modulates corticolimbic activation to food stimuli in humans. *Behav. Neurosci.* 115, 493–500. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.115. 2.493
- Laferrère, B., Swerdlow, N., Bawa, B., Arias, S., Bose, M., Oliván, B., et al. (2010). Rise of oxyntomodulin in response to oral glucose after gastric bypass surgery in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 95, 4072–4076. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2767
- Lam, T. K. T., Gutierrez-Juarez, R., Pocai, A., and Rossetti, L. (2005a). Regulation of blood glucose by hypothalamic pyruvate metabolism. *Science* 309, 943–947.
- Lam, T. K. T., Pocai, A., Gutierrez-Juarez, R., Obici, S., Bryan, J., Aguilar-Bryan, L., et al. (2005b). Hypothalamic sensing of circulating fatty acids is required for glucose homeostasis. *Nat. Med.* 11, 320–327.
- Langlet, F., Levin, B. E., Luquet, S., Mazzone, M., Messina, A., Dunn-Meynell, A. A., et al. (2013). Tanycytic VEGF-A boosts blood-hypothalamus barrier plasticity and access of metabolic signals to the arcuate nucleus in response to fasting. *Cell Metab.* 17, 607–617. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.004
- LaPierre, M. P., Abraham, M. A., Yue, J. T., Filippi, B. M., and Lam, T. K. (2015). Glucagon signalling in the dorsal vagal complex is sufficient and necessary for high-protein feeding to regulate glucose homeostasis in vivo. *EMBO Rep.* 16, 1299–1307. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540492
- Lawson, E. A. (2017). The effects of oxytocin on eating behaviour and metabolism in humans. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 13, 700–709. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.115
- Lawson, E. A., Marengi, D. A., Desanti, R. L., Holmes, T. M., Schoenfeld, D. A., and Tolley, C. J. (2015). Oxytocin reduces caloric intake in men. *Obesity* 23, 950–956. doi: 10.1002/oby.21069
- Lee, J. H., Lin, L., Xu, P., Saito, K., Wei, Q., Meadows, A. G., et al. (2016). Neuronal deletion of ghrelin receptor almost completely prevents diet-induced obesity. *Diabetes* 65, 2169–2178. doi: 10.2337/db15-1587
- Lee, Z. S. K., Critchley, J. A., Tomlinson, B., Young, R. P., Thomas, G. N., Cockram, C. S., et al. (2001). Urinary epinephrine and norepinephrine interrelations with obesity, insulin, and the metabolic syndrome in Hong Kong Chinese. *Metabolism* 50, 135–143. doi: 10.1053/meta.2001.19502
- Li, X., Song, D., and Leng, S. X. (2015). Link between type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease: from epidemiology to mechanism and treatment. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 10, 549–560. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S74042
- Li, Z., Tang, Z. H., Zeng, F., and Zhou, L. (2013). Associations between the severity of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular autonomic function in a Chinese population. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 36, 993–999. doi: 10.3275/9005
- Licinio, J., Mantzoros, C., Negrão, A. B., Cizza, G., Wong, M. L., Bongiorno, P. B., et al. (1997). Human leptin levels are pulsatile and inversely related to pituitary-adrenal function. *Nat. Med.* 3, 575–579. doi: 10.1038/nm0597-575
- Lim, C. T., and Khoo, B. (2000). Normal Physiology of ACTH and GH Release in the Hypothalamus and Anterior Pituitary in Man. Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com, Inc.
- Lindmark, S., Lönn, L., Wiklund, U., Tufvesson, M., Olsson, T., and Eriksson, J. W. (2005). Dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system can be a link between visceral adiposity and insulin resistance. *Obes. Res.* 13, 717–728. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.81
- Lips, M. A., De Groot, G. H., De Kam, M., Berends, F. J., Wiezer, R., Van Wagensveld, B. A., et al. (2013). Autonomic nervous system activity in diabetic and healthy obese female subjects and the effect of distinct weight loss strategies. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 169, 383–390. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0506
- Lithell, H. O. (1991). Effect of antihypertensive drugs on insulin, glucose, and lipid metabolism. *Diabetes Care* 14, 203–209. doi: 10.2337/diacare.14.3.203
- Liu, J., Yu, K., and Zhu, W. (2016). Amino acid sensing in the gut and its mediation in gut-brain signal transduction. *Anim. Nutr.* 2, 69–73. doi: 10.1016/j.aninu. 2016.03.007
- Liu, X. X., Zhu, X. M., Miao, Q., Ye, H. Y., Zhang, Z. Y., and Li, Y. M. (2014). Hyperglycemia induced by glucocorticoids in nondiabetic patients: a metaanalysis. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 65, 324–332. doi: 10.1159/000365892
- Liu, Y., Gao, J. H., Liu, H. L., and Fox, P. T. (2000). The temporal response of the brain after eating revealed by functional MRI. *Nature* 405, 1058–1062. doi: 10.1038/35016590

- Lopez Vicchi, F., Luque, G. M., Brie, B., Nogueira, J. P., Garcia Tornadu, I., and Becu-Villalobos, D. (2016). Dopaminergic drugs in type 2 diabetes and glucose homeostasis. *Pharmacol. Res.* 109, 74–80. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2015.12.029
- López-Gambero, A. J., Martínez, F., Salazar, K., Cifuentes, M., and Nualart, F. (2019). Brain glucose-sensing mechanism and energy homeostasis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 769–796. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1099-4
- Luo, S., Meier, A. H., and Cincotta, A. H. (1998). Bromocriptine reduces obesity, glucose intolerance and extracellular monoamine metabolite levels in the ventromedial hypothalamus of Syrian hamsters. *Neuroendocrinology* 68, 1–10. doi: 10.1159/000054344
- Ma, Y., Tseng, P. H., Ahn, A., Wu, M. S., Ho, Y. L., Chen, M. F., et al. (2017). Cardiac autonomic alteration and metabolic syndrome: an ambulatory ECG-based study in a general population. *Sci. Rep.* 7:44363. doi: 10.1038/srep44363
- Machleidt, F., Simon, P., Krapalis, A. F., Hallschmid, M., Lehnert, H., and Sayk, F. (2013). Experimental hyperleptinemia acutely increases vasoconstrictory sympathetic nerve activity in healthy humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, E491–E496. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3009
- Malik, M., Camm, A. J., Bigger, J. T., Breithardt, G., Cerutti, S., Cohen, R. J., et al. (1996). Heart rate variability. Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. *Eur. Heart J.* 17, 354–381. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.eurheartj.a014868
- Mangia, S., Tesfaye, N., De Martino, F., Kumar, A. F., Kollasch, P., Moheet, A. A., et al. (2012). Hypoglycemia-induced increases in thalamic cerebral blood flow are blunted in subjects with type 1 diabetes and hypoglycemia unawareness. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 32, 2084–2090. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.117
- Marazziti, D., Rutigliano, G., Baroni, S., Landi, P., and Dell'Osso, L. (2014). Metabolic syndrome and major depression. CNS Spectrums 19, 293–304. doi: 10.1017/S1092852913000667
- Marcelin, G., Jo, Y. H., Li, X., Schwartz, G. J., Zhang, Y., Dun, N. J., et al. (2014). Central action of FGF19 reduces hypothalamic AGRP/NPY neuron activity and improves glucose metabolism. *Mol. Metab.* 3, 19–28. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet. 2013.10.002
- Martin, L. E., Holsen, L. M., Chambers, R. J., Bruce, A. S., Brooks, W. M., Zarcone, J. R., et al. (2010). Neural mechanisms associated with food motivation in obese and healthy weight adults. *Obesity* 18, 254–260. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.220
- Marty, N., Dallaporta, M., and Thorens, B. (2007). Brain glucose sensing, counterregulation, and energy homeostasis. *Physiology* 22, 241–251. doi: 10. 1152/physiol.00010.2007
- Maser, R. E., Lenhard, M. J., Peters, M. B., Irgau, I., and Wynn, G. M. (2013). Effects of surgically induced weight loss by Roux-en-Y gastric bypass on cardiovascular autonomic nerve function. *Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis.* 9, 221–226. doi: 10.1016/j. soard.2011.11.014
- Matsuda, M., Liu, Y., Mahankali, S., Pu, Y., Mahankali, A., Wang, J., et al. (1999). Altered hypothalamic function in response to glucose ingestion in obese humans. *Diabetes* 48, 1801–1806. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.48.9.1801
- Meijer, R. I., Gray, S. M., Aylor, K. W., and Barrett, E. J. (2016). Pathways for insulin access to the brain: the role of the microvascular endothelial cell. Am. J. Physiol. Hear Circ. Physiol. 311, H1132–H1138. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00081.2016
- Mercer, J. G., Hoggard, N., Williams, L. M., Lawrence, C. B., Hannah, L. T., and Trayhurn, P. (1996). Localization of leptin receptor mRNA and the long form splice variant (Ob-Rb) in mouse hypothalamus and adjacent brain regions by in situ hybridization. *FEBS Lett.* 387, 113–116. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(96) 00473-5
- Mergenthaler, P., Lindauer, U., Dienel, G. A., and Meisel, A. (2013). Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 587–597. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.07.001
- Meyer, M. L., Gotman, N. M., Soliman, E. Z., Whitsel, E. A., Arens, R., Cai, J., et al. (2016). Association of glucose homeostasis measures with heart rate variability among Hispanic/Latino adults without diabetes: the hispanic community health study/study of latinos (HCHS/SOL). *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 15:45. doi: 10.1186/ s12933-016-0364-y
- Mighiu, P. I., Yue, J. T. Y., Filippi, B. M., Abraham, M. A., Chari, M., Lam, C. K. L., et al. (2013). Hypothalamic glucagon signaling inhibits hepatic glucose production. *Nat. Med.* 19, 766–772. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3115
- Milanski, M., Degasperi, G., Coope, A., Morari, J., Denis, R., Cintra, D. E., et al. (2009). Saturated fatty acids produce an inflammatory response predominantly through the activation of TLR4 signaling in hypothalamus: implications for the

pathogenesis of obesity. J. Neurosci. 29, 359-370. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 2760-08.2009

- Mitchell, R. W., On, N. H., Del Bigio, M. R., Miller, D. W., and Hatch, G. M. (2011). Fatty acid transport protein expression in human brain and potential role in fatty acid transport across human brain microvessel endothelial cells. *J. Neurochem.* 117, 735–746. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011. 07245.x
- Molfino, A., Fiorentini, A., Tubani, L., Martuscelli, M., Fanelli, F. R., and Laviano, A. (2009). Body mass index is related to autonomic nervous system activity as measured by heart rate variability. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 63, 1263–1265. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.35
- Monfredi, O., Lyashkov, A. E., Johnsen, A. B., Inada, S., Schneider, H., Wang, R., et al. (2014). Biophysical characterization of the underappreciated and important relationship between heart rate variability and heart rate. *Hypertension* 64, 1334–1343. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114. 03782
- Montaquila, J. M., Trachik, B. J., and Bedwell, J. S. (2015). Heart rate variability and vagal tone in schizophrenia: a review. J. Psychiatr. Res. 69, 57–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.07.025
- Montgomery, I. A., Irwin, N., and Flatt, P. R. (2013). Beneficial effects of (pGlu-Gln)-CCK-8 on energy intake and metabolism in high fat fed mice are associated with alterations of hypothalamic gene expression. *Horm Metab. Res.* 45, 471–473. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1331767
- Moon, H. S., Dalamaga, M., Kim, S. Y., Polyzos, S. A., Hamnvik, O. P., Magkos, F., et al. (2013). Leptin's role in lipodystrophic and nonlipodystrophic insulinresistant and diabetic individuals. *Endocr. Rev.* 34, 377–412. doi: 10.1210/er. 2012-1053
- Morrison, S. F. (2016). Central control of body temperature. F1000Res. 5:F1000FacultyRev-880. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.7958.1
- Morton, G. J., Matsen, M. E., Bracy, D. P., Meek, T. H., Nguyen, H. T., Stefanovski, D., et al. (2013). FGF19 action in the brain induces insulinindependent glucose lowering. *J. Clin. Invest.* 123, 4799–4808. doi: 10.1172/ JCI70710
- Morton, G. J., Muta, K., Kaiyala, K. J., Rojas, J. M., Scarlett, J. M., Matsen, M. E., et al. (2017). Evidence that the sympathetic nervous system elicits rapid, coordinated, and reciprocal adjustments of insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity during cold exposure. *Diabetes* 66, 823–834. doi: 10.2337/db16-1351
- Motahari-Tabari, N., Ahmad Shirvani, M., Shirzad-e-Ahoodashty, M., Yousefi-Abdolmaleki, E., and Teimourzadeh, M. (2014). The effect of 8 weeks aerobic exercise on insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. *Glob. J. Health Sci.* 7, 115–121. doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v7n1p115
- Moulton, C. D., Pickup, J. C., and Ismail, K. (2015). The link between depression and diabetes: the search for shared mechanisms. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 3, 461–471. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00134-5
- Mullican, S. E., Lin-Schmidt, X., Chin, C. N., Chavez, J. A., Furman, J. L., Armstrong, A. A., et al. (2017). GFRAL is the receptor for GDF15 and the ligand promotes weight loss in mice and nonhuman primates. *Nat. Med.* 23, 1150–1157. doi: 10.1038/nm.4392
- Nault, I., Nadreau, E., Paquet, C., Brassard, P., Marceau, P., Marceau, S., et al. (2007). Impact of bariatric surgery-induced weight loss on heart rate variability. *Metabolism* 56, 1425–1430. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2007.06.006
- Neff, L. M., Broder, M. S., Beenhouwer, D., Chang, E., Papoyan, E., and Wang, Z. W. (2017). Network meta-analysis of lorcaserin and oral hypoglycaemics for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity. *Clin. Obes.* 7, 337–346. doi: 10.1111/cob.12213
- Newcomer, J. W. (2007). Metabolic syndrome and mental illness. Am. J. Manag. Care 13(7 Suppl.), S170–S177.
- Ng, C. S., Lee, J. Y. C., Toh, M. P., and Ko, Y. (2014). Cost-of-illness studies of diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 105, 151–163. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.03.020
- Niswender, K. D., Morrison, C. D., Clegg, D. J., Olson, R., Baskin, D. G., Myers, M. G., et al. (2003). Insulin activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus: a key mediator of insulin-induced anorexia. *Diabetes* 52, 227–231. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.2.227
- Nolan, C. J., Damm, P., and Prentki, M. (2011). Type 2 diabetes across generations: from pathophysiology to prevention and management. *Lancet* 378, 169–181. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60614-4

- Norhammar, A., Bodegård, J., Nyström, T., Thuresson, M., Eriksson, J. W., and Nathanson, D. (2016). Incidence, prevalence and mortality of type 2 diabetes requiring glucose-lowering treatment, and associated risks of cardiovascular complications: a nationwide study in Sweden, 2006–2013. *Diabetologia* 59, 1692–1701. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-3971-y
- Notarianni, E. (2017). Cortisol: mediator of association between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus? *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 81, 129–137. doi: 10. 1016/j.psyneuen.2017.04.008
- Obici, S., Feng, Z., Karkanias, G., Baskin, D. G., and Rossetti, L. (2002a). Decreasing hypothalamic insulin receptors causes hyperphagia and insulin resistance in rats. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 566–572.
- Obici, S., Feng, Z., Morgan, K., Stein, D., Karkanias, G., and Rossetti, L. (2002b). Central administration of oleic acid inhibits glucose production and food intake. *Diabetes* 51, 271–275. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.2.271
- Obici, S., Zhang, B. B., Karkanias, G., and Rossetti, L. (2002c). Hypothalamic insulin signaling is required for inhibition of glucose production. *Nat. Med.* 8, 1376–1382.
- Oomura, Y., Kimura, K., Ooyama, H., Maeno, T., Iki, M., and Kuniyoshi, M. (1964). Reciprocal activities of the ventromedial and lateral hypothalamic areas of cats. *Science* 143, 484–485. doi: 10.1126/science.143. 3605.484
- Oomura, Y., Ono, T., Ooyama, H., and Wayner, M. J. (1969). Glucose and osmosensitive neurones of the rat hypothalamus. *Nature* 222, 282–284. doi: 10.1038/222282a0
- Oomura, Y., Ooyama, H., Sugimori, M., Nakamura, T., and Yamada, Y. (1974). Glucose inhibition of the glucose-sensitive neurone in the rat lateral hypothalamus. *Nature* 247, 284–286. doi: 10.1038/247284a0
- Osada, T., Suzuki, R., Ogawa, A., Tanaka, M., Hori, M., Aoki, S., et al. (2017). Functional subdivisions of the hypothalamus using areal parcellation and their signal changes related to glucose metabolism. *Neuroimage* 162, 1–12. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2017.08.056
- Ott, V., Finlayson, G., Lehnert, H., Heitmann, B., Heinrichs, M., Born, J., et al. (2013). Oxytocin reduces reward-driven food intake in humans. *Diabetes* 62, 3418–3425. doi: 10.2337/db13-0663
- Ott, V., Lehnert, H., Staub, J., Wönne, K., Born, J., and Hallschmid, M. (2015). Central nervous insulin administration does not potentiate the acute glucoregulatory impact of concurrent mild hyperinsulinemia. *Diabetes* 64, 760–765. doi: 10.2337/db14-0931
- Ozcan, L., Ergin, A. S., Lu, A., Chung, J., Sarkar, S., Nie, D., et al. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum stress plays a central role in development of leptin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 9, 35–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.12.004
- Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A.-H., Iwakoshi, N. N., Ozdelen, E., et al. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science* 306, 457–461. doi: 10.1126/science.1103160
- Page, K. A., Arora, J., Qiu, M., Relwani, R., Constable, R. T., and Sherwin, R. S. (2009). Small decrements in systemic glucose provoke increases in hypothalamic blood flow prior to the release of counterregulatory hormones. *Diabetes* 58, 448–452. doi: 10.2337/db08-1224
- Page, K. A., Chan, O., Arora, J., Belfort-DeAguiar, R., Dzuira, J., Roehmholdt, B., et al. (2013). Effects of fructose vs glucose on regional cerebral blood flow in brain regions involved with appetite and reward pathways. *JAMA* 309, 63–70. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.116975
- Parati, G., and Esler, M. (2012). The human sympathetic nervous system: its relevance in hypertension and heart failure. *Eur. Heart J.* 33, 1058–1066. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs041
- Patching, S. G. (2017). Glucose transporters at the blood-brain barrier: function, regulation and gateways for drug delivery. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 1046–1077. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9672-6
- Pathak, V., Flatt, P. R., and Irwin, N. (2018). Cholecystokinin (CCK) and related adjunct peptide therapies for the treatment of obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Peptides* 100, 229–235. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2017.09.007
- Pedersen, B. K., and Febbraio, M. A. (2008). Muscle as an endocrine organ: focus on muscle-derived interleukin-6. *Physiol. Rev.* 88, 1379–1406. doi: 10.1152/ physrev.90100.2007
- Perciaccante, A., Fiorentini, A., Paris, A., Serra, P., and Tubani, L. (2006). Circadian rhythm of the autonomic nervous system in insulin resistant subjects with normoglycemia, impaired fasting glycemia, impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes mellitus. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 6:19. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-6-19

- Perini, R., and Veicsteinas, A. (2003). Heart rate variability and autonomic activity at rest and during exercise in various physiological conditions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 90, 317–325. doi: 10.1007/s00421-003-0953-9
- Perry, B. I., McIntosh, G., Weich, S., Singh, S., and Rees, K. (2016). The association between first-episode psychosis and abnormal glycaemic control: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry* 3, 1049–1058. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30262-0
- Pivonello, R., Isidori, A. M., De Martino, M. C., Newell-Price, J., Biller, B. M. K., and Colao, A. (2016). Complications of cushing's syndrome: state of the art. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 4, 611–629. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)00086-3
- Pocai, A. (2012). Unraveling oxyntomodulin, GLP1's enigmatic brother. J. Endocrinol. 215, 335–346. doi: 10.1530/JOE-12-0368
- Pocai, A., Lam, T. K. T., Gutierrez-Juarez, R., Obici, S., Schwartz, G. J., Bryan, J., et al. (2005). Hypothalamic KATP channels control hepatic glucose production. *Nature* 434, 1026–1031. doi: 10.1038/nature03439
- Poliakova, N., Després, J. P., Bergeron, J., Alméras, N., Tremblay, A., and Poirier, P. (2012). Influence of obesity indices, metabolic parameters and age on cardiac autonomic function in abdominally obese men. *Metabolism* 61, 1270–1279. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2012.02.006
- Pontiroli, A. E., Merlotti, C., Veronelli, A., and Lombardi, F. (2013). Effect of weight loss on sympatho-vagal balance in subjects with grade-3 obesity: restrictive surgery versus hypocaloric diet. Acta Diabetol. 50, 843–850. doi: 10.1007/ s00592-013-0454-1
- Pories, W. J., Swanson, M. S., MacDonald, K. G., Long, S. B., Morris, P. G., and Brown, B. M. (1995). Who would have thought it? An operation proves to be the most effective therapy for adult-onset diabetes mellitus. *Ann. Surg.* 222, 339–350. doi: 10.1097/00000658-199509000-00011
- Porubská, K., Veit, R., Preissl, H., Fritsche, A., and Birbaumer, N. (2006). Subjective feeling of appetite modulates brain activity. An fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 32, 1273–1280. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.04.216
- Posey, K. A., Clegg, D. J., Printz, R. L., Byun, J., Morton, G. J., Vivekanandan-Giri, A., et al. (2009). Hypothalamic proinflammatory lipid accumulation, inflammation, and insulin resistance in rats fed a high-fat diet. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 296, E1003–E1012. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90377.2008
- Pournaras, D. J., Glicksman, C., Vincent, R. P., Kuganolipava, S., Alaghband-Zadeh, J., Mahon, D., et al. (2012). The role of bile after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in promoting weight loss and improving glycaemic control. *Endocrinology* 153, 3613–3619. doi: 10.1210/en.2011-2145
- Prigeon, R. L., Quddusi, S., Paty, B., and D'Alessio, D. A. (2003). Suppression of glucose production by GLP-1 independent of islet hormones: a novel extrapancreatic effect. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285, E701–E707. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00024.2003
- Ramnanan, C. J., Saraswathi, V., Smith, M. S., Donahue, E. P., Farmer, B., Farmer, T. D., et al. (2011). Brain insulin action augments hepatic glycogen synthesis without suppressing glucose production or gluconeogenesis in dogs. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 3713–3723. doi: 10.1172/JCI45472
- Ramos-Lobo, A. M., and Donato, J. (2017). The role of leptin in health and disease. *Temperature* 4, 258–291. doi: 10.1080/23328940.2017.1327003
- Rannelli, L. A., MacRae, J. M., Mann, M. C., Ramesh, S., Hemmelgarn, B. R., Rabi, D., et al. (2017). Sex differences in associations between insulin resistance, heart rate variability, and arterial stiffness in healthy women and men: a physiology study. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 95, 349–355. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2016-0122
- Rapoport, S. I., Chang, M. C. J., and Spector, A. A. (2001). Delivery and turnover of plasma-derived essential PUFAs in mammalian brain. J. Lipid Res. 42, 678–685.
- Rastović, M., Srdić-Galić, B., Barak, O., and Stokić, E. (2017). Association between anthropometric measures of regional fat mass and heart rate variability in obese women. *Nutr. Diet* 74, 51–60. doi: 10.1111/1747-0080.12280
- Rebelos, E., Virtanen, K., Nuutila, P., Nummenmaa, L., Mari, A., Hyypia, A., et al. (2018). "The influence of brain metabolism in insulin secretion and action assessed with FDG-PET in humans," in *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting* of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, Berlin.
- Reimann, M., Qin, N., Gruber, M., Bornstein, S. R., Kirschbaum, C., Ziemssen, T., et al. (2017). Adrenal medullary dysfunction as a feature of obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* 41, 714–721. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.36
- Reims, H. M., Sevre, K., Fossum, E., Høieggen, A., Mellem, H., and Kjeldsen, S. E. (2004). Relations between insulin sensitivity, fitness and autonomic cardiac

regulation in healthy, young men. J. Hypertens 22, 2007–2015. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200410000-00025

- Rodriguez-Diaz, R., Molano, R. D., Weitz, J. R., Abdulreda, M. H., Berman, D. M., Leibiger, B., et al. (2018). Paracrine interactions within the pancreatic islet determine the glycemic set point. *Cell Metab.* 27, 549–558.e4. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2018.01.015
- Roh, E., Song, D. K., and Kim, M.-S. (2016). Emerging role of the brain in the homeostatic regulation of energy and glucose metabolism. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 48:e216. doi: 10.1038/emm.2016.4
- Ropelle, E. R., Flores, M. B., Cintra, D. E., Rocha, G. Z., Pauli, J. R., Morari, J., et al. (2010). IL-6 and IL-10 anti-inflammatory activity links exercise to hypothalamic insulin and leptin sensitivity through IKKβ and ER stress inhibition. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000465. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000465
- Rosenbaum, M., Sy, M., Pavlovich, K., Leibel, R. L., and Hirsch, J. (2008). Leptin reverses weight loss-induced changes in regional neural activity responses to visual food stimuli. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 2583–2591. doi: 10.1172/JCI35055
- Rothemund, Y., Preuschhof, C., Bohner, G., Bauknecht, H. C., Klingebiel, R., Flor, H., et al. (2007). Differential activation of the dorsal striatum by highcalorie visual food stimuli in obese individuals. *Neuroimage* 37, 410–421. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.05.008
- Routh, V. H., Hao, L., Santiago, A. M., Sheng, Z., and Zhou, C. (2014). Hypothalamic glucose sensing: making ends meet. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 8:236. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2014.00236
- Rubi, B., Ljubicic, S., Pournourmohammadi, S., Carobbio, S., Armanet, M., Bartley, C., et al. (2005). Dopamine D2-like receptors are expressed in pancreatic beta cells and mediate inhibition of insulin secretion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 36824–36832. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M505560200
- Rubino, F., Nathan, D. M., Eckel, R. H., Schauer, P. R., Alberti, K. G., Zimmet, P. Z., et al. (2017). Metabolic surgery in the treatment algorithm for type 2 diabetes: a joint statement by international diabetes organizations. *Obes. Surg.* 27, 2–21. doi: 10.1007/s11695-016-2457-9
- Russell, E., Kirschbaum, C., Laudenslager, M. L., Stalder, T., De Rijke, Y., Van Rossum, E. F. C., et al. (2015). Toward standardization of hair cortisol measurement: results of the first international interlaboratory round robin. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 37, 71–75. doi: 10.1097/FTD.000000000000148
- Saito, I., Maruyama, K., Eguchi, E., Kato, T., Kawamura, R., Takata, Y., et al. (2017). Low heart rate variability and sympathetic dominance modifies the association between insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome – the toon health study –. *Circ. J.* 81, 1447–1453. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-17-0192
- Sandoval, D. A., Bagnol, D., Woods, S. C., D'Alessio, D. A., and Seeley, R. J. (2008). Arcuate glucagon-like peptide 1 receptors regulate glucose homeostasis but not food intake. J. Diabetes 57, 2046–2054. doi: 10.2337/db07-1824
- Scarlett, J. M., Rojas, J. M., Matsen, M. E., Kaiyala, K. J., Stefanovski, D., Bergman, R. N., et al. (2016). Central injection of fibroblast growth factor 1 induces sustained remission of diabetic hyperglycemia in rodents. *Nat. Med.* 22, 800–806. doi: 10.1038/nm.4101
- Scholtz, S., Miras, A. D., Chhina, N., Prechtl, C. G., Sleeth, M. L., Daud, N. M., et al. (2014). Obese patients after gastric bypass surgery have lower brainhedonic responses to food than after gastric banding. *Gut* 63, 891–902. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305008
- Schwartz, M. W., Baskin, D. G., Bukowski, T. R., Kuijper, J. L., Foster, D., Lasser, G., et al. (1996). Specificity of leptin action on elevated blood glucose levels and hypothalamic neuropeptide Y gene expression in ob/ob mice. *Diabetes* 45, 531–535.
- Schwartz, R. S., Jaeger, L. F., and Veith, R. C. (1987). The importance of body composition to the increase in plasma norepinephrine appearance rate in elderly men. J. Gerontol. 42, 546–551. doi: 10.1093/geronj/42.5.546
- Scott, M. M., Perello, M., Chuang, J. C., Sakata, I., Gautron, L., Lee, C. E., et al. (2012). Hindbrain ghrelin receptor signaling is sufficient to maintain fasting glucose. *PLoS One* 7:e44089. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044089
- Seaquist, E. R., Moheet, A., Kumar, A., Deelchand, D. K., Terpstra, M., Kubisiak, K., et al. (2017). Hypothalamic glucose transport in humans during experimentally induced hypoglycemia-associated autonomic failure. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 102, 3571–3580. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00477
- Secher, A., Jelsing, J., Baquero, A. F., Hecksher-Sørensen, J., Cowley, M. A., Dalbøge, L. S., et al. (2014). The arcuate nucleus mediates GLP-1 receptor agonist liraglutide-dependent weight loss. J. Clin. Invest. 124, 4473–4488. doi: 10.1172/JCI75276

- Seoane-Collazo, P., Fernø, J., Gonzalez, F., Diéguez, C., Leis, R., Nogueiras, R., et al. (2015). Hypothalamic-autonomic control of energy homeostasis. *Endocrine* 50, 276–291. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0658-y
- Serfling, G., Buades-Rotger, M., Harbeck, B., Krämer, U. M., and Brabant, G. (2019). The corticosteroid prednisolone increases amygdala and insula reactivity to food approach signals in healthy young men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 99, 154–165. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.09.007
- Sgoifo, A., Carnevali, L., Alfonso Mde, L. A., and Amore, M. (2015). Autonomic dysfunction and heart rate variability in depression. *Stress* 18, 343–352. doi: 10.3109/10253890.2015.1045868
- Shinohara, M., and Sato, N. (2017). Bidirectional interactions between diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurochem. Int.* 108, 296–302. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2017. 04.020
- Sienkiewicz, E., Magkos, F., Aronis, K. N., Brinkoetter, M., Chamberland, J. P., Chou, S., et al. (2011). Long-term metreleptin treatment increases bone mineral density and content at the lumbar spine of lean hypoleptinemic women. *Metabolism* 60, 1211–1221. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.05.016
- Sinclair, P., Brennan, D. J., and le Roux, C. W. (2018). Gut adaptation after metabolic surgery and its influences on the brain, liver and cancer. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 15, 606–624. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0057-y
- Sjoberg, N., Brinkworth, G. D., Wycherley, T. P., Noakes, M., and Saint, D. A. (2011). Moderate weight loss improves heart rate variability in overweight and obese adults with type 2 diabetes. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 110, 1060–1064. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01329.2010
- Smeets, P. A., De Graaf, C., Stafleu, A., Van Osch, M. J., and Van Der Grond, J. (2005). Functional MRI of human hypothalamic responses following glucose ingestion. *Neuroimage* 24, 363–368. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.073
- Smeets, P. A. M., Vidarsdottir, S., de Graaf, C., Stafleu, A., van Osch, M. J. P., Viergever, M. A., et al. (2007). Oral glucose intake inhibits hypothalamic neuronal activity more effectively than glucose infusion. *AJP Endocrinol. Metab.* 293, E754–E758. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00231.2007
- Smith, K. J., Béland, M., Clyde, M., Gariépy, G., Pagé, V., Badawi, G., et al. (2013). Association of diabetes with anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 74, 89–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.11.013
- Smith, Q. R. (2000). Transport of glutamate and other amino acids at the bloodbrain barrier. J. Nutr. 130(4S Suppl.), 1016S–1022S. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.4.1016S
- Smith, Q. R., and Nagura, H. (2001). Fatty acid uptake and incorporation in brain: studies with the perfusion model. J. Mol. Neurosci. 16, 167–172. doi: 10.1385/ JMN:16:2-3:167
- Spanswick, D., Smith, M. A., Mirshamsi, S., Routh, V. H., and Ashford, M. L. (2000). Insulin activates ATP-sensitive K+ channels in hypothalamic neurons of lean, but not obese rats. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 757–758. doi: 10.1038/77660
- Stark, R., Reichenbach, A., Lockie, S. H., Pracht, C., Wu, Q., Tups, A., et al. (2015). Acyl ghrelin acts in the brain to control liver function and peripheral glucose homeostasis in male mice. *Endocrinology* 156, 858–868. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1733
- Steensberg, A., Fischer, C. P., Keller, C., Møller, K., and Pedersen, B. K. (2003). IL-6 enhances plasma IL-1ra, IL-10, and cortisol in humans. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285, E433–E437. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00074.2003
- Stein, P. K., Barzilay, J. I., Domitrovich, P. P., Chaves, P. M., Gottdiener, J. S., Heckbert, S. R., et al. (2007). The relationship of heart rate and heart rate variability to non-diabetic fasting glucose levels and the metabolic syndrome: the cardiovascular health study. *Diabet Med.* 24, 855–863. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02163.x
- Stetler, C., and Miller, G. E. (2011). Depression and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activation: a quantitative summary of four decades of research. *Psychosom. Med.* 73, 114–126. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31820ad12b
- Steyn, F. J., Tolle, V., Chen, C., and Epelbaum, J. (2016). Neuroendocrine regulation of growth hormone secretion. *Compr. Physiol.* 6, 687–735. doi: 10. 1002/cphy.c150002
- Stingl, K. T., Kullmann, S., Guthoff, M., Heni, M., Fritsche, A., and Preissl, H. (2010). Insulin modulation of magnetoencephalographic resting state dynamics in lean and obese subjects. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 4:157. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2010. 00157
- Stoeckel, L. E., Weller, R. E., Cook, E. W., Twieg, D. B., Knowlton, R. C., and Cox, J. E. (2008). Widespread reward-system activation in obese women in response to pictures of high-calorie foods. *Neuroimage* 41, 636–647. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2008.02.031
- St-Onge, M.-P., Sy, M., Heymsfield, S. B., and Hirsch, J. (2005). Human cortical specialization for food: a functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation. *J. Nutr.* 135, 1014–1018. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.5.1014
- Stuckey, M. I., Kiviniemi, A., Gill, D. P., Shoemaker, J. K., and Petrella, R. J. (2015). Associations between heart rate variability, metabolic syndrome risk factors, and insulin resistance. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 40, 734–740. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2014-0528
- Stuckey, M. I., Tulppo, M. P., Kiviniemi, A. M., and Petrella, R. J. (2014). Heart rate variability and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review of the literature. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 30, 784–793. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2555
- Su, Y., Lam, T. K. T., He, W., Pocai, A., Bryan, J., Aguilar-Bryan, L., et al. (2012). Hypothalamic leucine metabolism regulates liver glucose production. *Diabetes* 61, 85–93. doi: 10.2337/db11-0857
- Sun, Y., Asnicar, M., and Smith, R. G. (2007). Central and peripheral roles of ghrelin on glucose homeostasis. *Neuroendocrinology* 86, 215–228. doi: 10.1159/ 000109094
- Surwit, R. S., Williams, R. B., Lane, J. D., Feinglos, M. N., Kuhn, C. M., and Georgiades, A. (2010). Plasma epinephrine predicts fasting glucose in centrally obese African-American women. *Obesity* 18, 1683–1687. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2010.43
- Svensson, M., Jansson, P. A., Persson, A. L., Sjöstrand, M., and Eriksson, J. W. (2011). Atropine improves insulin sensitivity in both lean and abdominally obese subjects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, E1843–E1847. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2011-0669
- Svensson, M. K., Lindmark, S., Wiklund, U., Rask, P., Karlsson, M., Myrin, J., et al. (2016). Alterations in heart rate variability during everyday life are linked to insulin resistance. A role of dominating sympathetic over parasympathetic nerve activity? *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 15:91. doi: 10.1186/s12933-016-0411-8
- Sztajzel, J., Golay, A., Makoundou, V., Lehmann, T. N. O., Barthassat, V., Sievert, K., et al. (2009). Impact of body fat mass extent on cardiac autonomic alterations in women. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 39, 649–656. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362. 2009.02158.x
- Tataranni, P. A., Gautier, J. F., Chen, K., Uecker, A., Bandy, D., Salbe, A. D., et al. (1999). Neuroanatomical correlates of hunger and satiation in humans using positron emission tomography. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 4569–4574. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.8.4569
- Tataranni, P. A., Young, J. B., Bogardus, C., and Ravussin, E. (1997). A low sympathoadrenal activity is associated with body weight gain and development of central adiposity in Pima Indian men. *Obes. Res.* 5, 341–347. doi: 10.1002/j. 1550-8528.1997.tb00562.x
- Teeuwisse, W. M., Widya, R. L., Paulides, M., Lamb, H. J., Smit, J. W. A., De Roos, A., et al. (2012). Short-term caloric restriction normalizes hypothalamic neuronal responsiveness to glucose ingestion in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 61, 3255–3259. doi: 10.2337/db11-1835
- Ten Kulve, J. S., Veltman, D. J., Gerdes, V. E. A., Van Bloemendaal, L., Barkhof, F., Deacon, C. F., et al. (2017). Elevated postoperative endogenous GLP-1 levels mediate effects of roux-en-Y gastric bypass on neural responsivity to food cues. *Diabetes Care* 40, 1522–1529. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2113
- Ten Kulve, J. S., Veltman, D. J., Van Bloemendaal, L., Groot, P. F. C., Ruhé, H. G., Barkhof, F., et al. (2016). Endogenous GLP1 and GLP1 analogue alter CNS responses to palatable food consumption. *J. Endocrinol.* 229, 1–12. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0461
- Thaler, J. P., Yi, C. X., Schur, E. A., Guyenet, S. J., Hwang, B. H., Dietrich, M. O., et al. (2012). Obesity is associated with hypothalamic injury in rodents and humans. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 153–162. doi: 10.1172/JCI59660
- Thienel, M., Fritsche, A., Heinrichs, M., Peter, A., Ewers, M., Lehnert, H., et al. (2016). Oxytocin's inhibitory effect on food intake is stronger in obese than normal-weight men. *Int. J. Obes.* 40, 1707–1714. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2016.149
- Thiyagarajan, R., Subramanian, S. K., Sampath, N., Trakroo, M., Pal, P., Bobby, Z., et al. (2012). Association between cardiac autonomic function, oxidative stress and inflammatory response in impaired fasting glucose subjects: cross-sectional study. *PLoS One* 7:e41889. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041889
- Thorens, B. (2014). Neural regulation of pancreatic islet cell mass and function. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 16(Suppl. 1), 87–95. doi: 10.1111/dom.12346
- Tillner, J., Posch, M. G., Wagner, F., Teichert, L., Hijazi, Y., Einig, C., et al. (2019). A novel dual glucagon-like peptide and glucagon receptor agonist SAR425899: results of randomized, placebo-controlled first-in-human and

first-in-patient trials. Diabetes Obes. Metab. 21, 120–128. doi: 10.1111/dom. 13494

- Timper, K., Denson, J. L., Steculorum, S. M., Heilinger, C., Engström-Ruud, L., Wunderlich, C. M., et al. (2017). IL-6 improves energy and glucose homeostasis in obesity via enhanced central IL-6 trans-signaling. *Cell Rep.* 19, 267–280. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.03.043
- Troisi, R. J., Weiss, S. T., Parker, D. R., Sparrow, D., Young, J. B., and Landsberg, L. (1991). Relation of obesity and diet to sympathetic nervous system activity. *Hypertension* 17, 669–677. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.17.5.669
- Tsai, V. W. W., Lin, S., Brown, D. A., Salis, A., and Breit, S. N. (2016). Anorexiacachexia and obesity treatment may be two sides of the same coin: role of the TGF-b superfamily cytokine MIC-1/GDF15. *Int. J. Obes.* 40, 193–197. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.242
- Tsai, V. W. W., Manandhar, R., Jørgensen, S. B., Lee-Ng, K. K. M., Zhang, H. P., Marquis, C. P., et al. (2014). The anorectic actions of the TGFβ cytokine MIC-1/GDF15 require an intact brainstem area postrema and nucleus of the solitary tract. *PLoS One* 9:e100370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100370
- Tschritter, O., Preissl, H., Hennige, A. M., Stumvoll, M., Porubska, K., Frost, R., et al. (2006). The cerebrocortical response to hyperinsulinemia is reduced in overweight humans: a magnetoencephalographic study. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 103, 12103–12108. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0604404103
- Tuck, M. L., Stec, D. E., Willis, M. A., Silva, A. A., and da Hall, J. E. (1992). Obesity, the sympathetic nervous system, and essential hypertension. *Hypertens* 19(1 Suppl.), I67–I77. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.19.1_Suppl.I67
- Tups, A., Benzler, J., Sergi, D., Ladyman, S. R., and Williams, L. M. (2017). Central regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Compr. Physiol.* 7, 741–764. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c160015
- Tuulari, J. J., Karlsson, H. K., Antikainen, O., Hirvonen, J., Pham, T., Salminen, P., et al. (2016). Bariatric surgery induces white and grey matter density recovery in the morbidly obese: a voxel-based morphometric study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 37, 3745–3756. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23272
- Urayama, A., and Banks, W. A. (2008). Starvation and triglycerides reverse the obesity-induced impairment of insulin transport at the blood-brain barrier. *Endocrinology* 149, 3592–3597. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0008
- Ustione, A., Piston, D. W., and Harris, P. E. (2013). Minireview: dopaminergic regulation of insulin secretion from the pancreatic islet. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 27, 1198–1207. doi: 10.1210/me.2013-1083
- van Bloemendaal, L., Veltman, D. J., Ten Kulve, J. S., Groot, P. F. C., Ruhé, H. G., Barkhof, F., et al. (2015). Brain reward-system activation in response to anticipation and consumption of palatable food is altered by glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor activation in humans. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 17, 878–886. doi: 10.1111/dom.12506
- Van Heek, M., Compton, D. S., France, C. F., Tedesco, R. P., Fawzi, A. B., Graziano, M. P., et al. (1997). Diet-induced obese mice develop peripheral, but not central, resistance to leptin. *J. Clin. Invest.* 99, 385–390. doi: 10.1172/JCI119171
- Vidarsdottir, S., Smeets, P. A. M., Eichelsheim, D. L., Van Osch, M. J. P., Viergever, M. A., Romijn, J. A., et al. (2007). Glucose ingestion fails to inhibit hypothalamic neuronal activity in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 56, 2547–2550. doi: 10.2337/db07-0193
- Vozarova, B., Weyer, C., Hanson, K., Tataranni, P. A., Bogardus, C., and Pratley, R. E. (2001). Circulating interleukin-6 in relation to adiposity, insulin action, and insulin secretion. *Obes. Res.* 9, 414–417. doi: 10.1038/oby.2001.54
- Wallenius, K., Wallenius, V., Sunter, D., Dickson, S. L., and Jansson, J. O. (2002). Intracerebroventricular interleukin-6 treatment decreases body fat in rats. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 293, 560–565. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02) 00230-9
- Wallner-Liebmann, S., Koschutnig, K., Reishofer, G., Sorantin, E., Blaschitz, B., Kruschitz, R., et al. (2010). Insulin and hippocampus activation in response to images of high-calorie food in normal weight and obese adolescents. *Obesity* 18, 1552–1557. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.26
- Wang, Q., Liu, C., Uchida, A., Chuang, J. C., Walker, A., Liu, T., et al. (2013). Arcuate AgRP neurons mediate orexigenic and glucoregulatory actions of ghrelin. *Mol. Metab.* 3, 64–72. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2013. 10.001
- Wester, V. L., Staufenbiel, S. M., Veldhorst, M. A., Visser, J. A., Manenschijn, L., Koper, J. W., et al. (2014). Long-term cortisol levels measured in scalp hair of obese patients. *Obesity* 22, 1956–1958. doi: 10.1002/oby.20795

- Wilsey, J., and Scarpace, P. J. (2004). Caloric restriction reverses the deficits in leptin receptor protein and leptin signaling capacity associated with dietinduced obesity: role of leptin in the regulation of hypothalamic long-form leptin receptor expression. J. Endocrinol. 181, 297–306. doi: 10.1677/joe.0. 1810297
- Windham, B. G., Fumagalli, S., Ble, A., Sollers, J. J., Thayer, J. F., Najjar, S. S., et al. (2012). The relationship between heart rate variability and adiposity differs for central and overall adiposity. J. Obes. 2012:149516. doi: 10.1155/2012/149516
- Woodside, B. (2007). Prolactin and the hyperphagia of lactation. *Physiol. Behav.* 91, 375–382. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.04.015
- Wulsin, L. R., Horn, P. S., Perry, J. L., Massaro, J. M., and D'Agostino, R. B. (2015). Autonomic imbalance as a predictor of metabolic risks, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and mortality. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100, 2443–2448. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-1748
- Wulsin, L. R., Horn, P. S., Perry, J. L., Massaro, J. M., and D'Agostino, R. B. (2016). The contribution of autonomic imbalance to the development of metabolic syndrome. *Psychosom. Med.* 78, 474–480. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000290
- Wynne, K., Park, A. J., Small, C. J., Meeran, K., Ghatei, M. A., Frost, G. S., et al. (2006). Oxyntomodulin increases energy expenditure in addition to decreasing energy intake in overweight and obese humans: a randomised controlled trial. *Int. J. Obes.* 30, 1729–1736. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803344
- Wynne, K., Park, A. J., Small, C. J., Patterson, M., Ellis, S. M., Murphy, K. G., et al. (2005). Subcutaneous oxyntomodulin reduces body weight in overweight and obese subjects: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. *Diabetes* 54, 2390–2395. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.8.2390
- Yadav, R. L., Yadav, P. K., Yadav, L. K., Agrawal, K., Sah, S. K., and Islam, M. N. (2017). Association between obesity and heart rate variability indices: an intuition toward cardiac autonomic alteration – a risk of CVD. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes. Targets Ther.* 10, 57–64. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S123935
- Yi, C. X., la Fleur, S. E., Fliers, E., and Kalsbeek, A. (2010). The role of the autonomic nervous liver innervation in the control of energy metabolism. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1802, 416–431. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.01.006
- Yi, S. H., Lee, K., Shin, D. G., Kim, J. S., and Kim, H. C. (2013). Differential association of adiposity measures with heart rate variability measures in Koreans. *Yonsei Med. J.* 54, 55–61. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2013.54.1.55
- Yoo, H. J., Hwang, S. Y., Choi, K. M., Baik, S. H., Lee, E. M., Kim, E. J., et al. (2016). Clinical implication of body size phenotype on heart rate variability. *Metabolism* 65, 1589–1596. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.08.002

- Young, J. B., Troisi, R. J., Weiss, S. T., Parker, D. R., Sparrow, D., and Landsberg, L. (1992). Relationship of catecholamine excretion to body size, obesity, and nutrient intake in middle-aged and elderly men. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 56, 827–834. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/56.5.827
- Yu, X., Park, B.-H., Wang, M.-Y., Wang, Z. V., and Unger, R. H. (2008). Making insulin-deficient type 1 diabetic rodents thrive without insulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 14070–14075. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806993105
- Zanchi, D., Depoorter, A., Egloff, L., Haller, S., Mählmann, L., Lang, U. E., et al. (2017). The impact of gut hormones on the neural circuit of appetite and satiety: a systematic review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 80, 457–475. doi: 10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2017.06.013
- Zhang, X., Zhang, G., Zhang, H., Karin, M., Bai, H., and Cai, D. (2008). Hypothalamic IKKβ/NF-κB and ER stress link overnutrition to energy imbalance and obesity. *Cell* 135, 61–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008. 07.043
- Zhang, Y., Ji, G., Xu, M., Cai, W., Zhu, Q., Qian, L., et al. (2016). Recovery of brain structural abnormalities in morbidly obese patients after bariatric surgery. *Int. J. Obes.* 40, 1558–1565. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2016.98
- Zhu, G., Yan, J., Smith, W. W., Moran, T. H., and Bi, S. (2012). Roles of dorsomedial hypothalamic cholecystokinin signaling in the controls of meal patterns and glucose homeostasis. *Physiol. Behav.* 105, 234–241. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011. 08.007
- Zorn, J. V., Schür, R. R., Boks, M. P., Kahn, R. S., Joëls, M., and Vinkers, C. H. (2017). Cortisol stress reactivity across psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 77, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2016.11.036

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lundqvist, Almby, Abrahamsson and Eriksson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Correlation Between Serum miR-154-5p and Osteocalcin in Males and Postmenopausal Females of Type 2 Diabetes With Different Urinary Albumin Creatinine Ratios

Huiwen Ren¹, Xiaoyu Ma², Ying Shao³, Jinyu Han², Min Yang⁴ and Qiuyue Wang^{1*}

¹ Department of Endocrinology, The First Hospital Affiliated of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ² The Cadre Department, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ³ Department of Endocrinology, The Second Hospital Affiliated of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ⁴ Department of Laboratory Medicine, The First Hospital Affiliated of China Medical University, Shenyang, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jan Polák, Charles University, Czechia

Reviewed by:

Yu Ye, Guangxi Medical University, China Kamyar Asadipooya, University of Kentucky, United States

> *Correspondence: Qiuyue Wang wqycmu123@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Diabetes, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 12 December 2018 Accepted: 19 July 2019 Published: 06 August 2019

Citation:

Ren H, Ma X, Shao Y, Han J, Yang M and Wang Q (2019) Correlation Between Serum miR-154-5p and Osteocalcin in Males and Postmenopausal Females of Type 2 Diabetes With Different Urinary Albumin Creatinine Ratios. Front. Endocrinol. 10:542. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00542 **Purpose:** To investigate the serum levels of miR-154-5p, osteocalcin (OC), and other clinical parameters in male and post-menopausal female type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) patients with different urinary albumin creatinine ratio (UACR) levels and to discuss the relationship between miR-154-5p and glycolipid metabolism, bone metabolism, and different urinary albumin excretion rate in T2DM.

Methods: Seven hundred thirty-eight T2DM patients were categorized into six groups, including 374 men and 364 post-menopausal women who were sub-divided into three groups based on albumin excretion that involved normal albuminuria, microalbuminuria, and large amount of albuminuria (138, 127, 109, 135, 125, and 104 cases, UACR<30, 30–300, and >300 mg/g, M1, M2, M3, F1, F2, and F3). Measurement of circulating miR-154-5p, OC, and other biochemical indicators were performed by real-time PCR, ELISA, and chemiluminescence assays in T2DM patients and in 141 M0 and 139 F0 control subjects.

Results: There are few differences appeared between groups. Comparing with men, women had higher age, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), adiponectin (ADPN), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), UACR, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide (P1NP), β -C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (β -CTx), OC, and miR-154-5p, but lower FPG, HOMA-IR, and HbA1c. T2DM patients with albuminuria (micro or macro) had lower bone turnover markers (P1NP, β -CTx, and OC) and adiponectin, but higher HbA1c, CTGF, and miR-154-5p. In addition, after regression analysis, UACR was positively correlated with CTGF, HbA1c, and miR-154-5p, and negatively correlated with ADPN and bone turnover markers (P1NP, β -CTx, and OC). However, OC showed a positive correlation with ADPN and other bone turnover markers (P1NP and β -CTx), but negative correlation with CTGF, UACR, and miR-154-5p in all three groups.

Conclusion: These findings suggested that increased serum levels of miR-154-5p and decreased OC levels may influence osteogenesis and proteinuria in T2DM and may identify novel targets for diagnosis and treatment of diabetic kidney disease and osteoporosis.

Keywords: type 2 diabetes mellitus, miR-154-5p, osteocalcin, diabetic kidney disease, diabetic osteoporosis

HIGHLIGHTS

- Serum miR-154-5p was elevated in post-menopausal female T2DM patients and increased successively with UACR.
- Serum miR-154-5p was found to positively correlate with UACR and negatively correlate with OC.
- OC and UACR were associated with glycolipid metabolism, bone metabolism, and urinary albumin.

INTRODUCTION

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), recognized as a global epidemic by the World Health Organization, is a long-term metabolic disorder characterized by high blood glucose, insulin resistance, and relative lack of insulin. One of the chronic complications of T2DM is diabetic kidney disease (DKD) that causes glomerular fibrosis, persistent proteinuria, and eventually, end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (1, 2). Another chronic complication of T2DM is diabetic osteoporosis (DOP). Clinical evidences indicate that the risk of low bone mass, osteoporosis, and fracture increases in T2DM, especially in elder men and post-menopausal women (3–7). The pathogenesis of these diseases has not been fully elucidated and is considered related to renal dysfunction and abnormal bone metabolism caused by glucolipid metabolism-related disorders (1–7).

The balance between osteoblasts and osteoclasts activities determines bone mass and osteocytes orchestrate these communications in reaction to endocrine and mechanical stimuli. Osteocalcin (OC), procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide (P1NP), and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) are the markers of bone formation, while B-C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (β -CTx) is the characteristic biochemical indicator of bone resorption. Moreover, 25(OH) Vitamin D3 [25(OH) VD3] and parathyroid hormone (PTH) promote absorption of calcium and phosphorus and increase blood calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) concentration thereby promoting bone calcification (8, 9). Previous studies have reported that these bone metabolic indicators may be involved in the crosstalk between bone, islet, and adipose tissues (8, 10-13) and may be associated with early renal damage in DKD (14, 15). However, these findings remain controversial and inconclusive.

MiR-154, a recently discovered microRNA with anti-cancer effects, is involved in pathophysiology of various disorders (16–20). It has been reported that miR-154-5p, a mature serum sequence of miR-154 (21–23), regulates osteogenic and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adipose (24) and may be involved in renal fibrosis (25–27). These data suggest a potential association between miR-154-5p and

pathology of osteogenic differentiation and urinary protein increasing in chronic kidney diseases.

We investigated the relationship between serum levels of miR-154-5p and other clinical parameters such as glucolipid metabolism and bone metabolism in male and post-menopausal female T2DM patients with different UACR levels.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

We conducted a cross-sectional cohort study of 738 T2DM patients initially diagnosed and treated at the Department of Endocrinology of the First Hospital Affiliated of China Medical University from August 2017 to December 2018. The normal control groups (141 and 139 cases for M0 and F0, respectively) were from the Health Examination Center of the First Hospital Affiliated to China Medical University. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of China Medical University and all participants signed informed consent.

Inclusion criteria included: men diagnosed with T2DM based on ADA standard (26) and post-menopausal women diagnosed with both T2DM and spontaneous menstruation for more than 1 year. Exclusion criteria included: (1) diabetic hyperosmolar coma, diabetic ketoacidosis or other acute diabetic complications in the last 3 months; (2) cerebrovascular diseases, liver function damage, infectious diseases, hemolysis induced by related diseases, or a history of malignant tumor; (3) recent stress, such as infection, surgery, trauma, or special physical conditions, such as pregnancy and lactation; (4) patients using angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI) or angiotensin-receptor blockers (ARB) to affect the excretion rate of urinary albumin; (5) history of fracture within 1 year, osteoporosis, thyroid, parathyroid diseases, or other endocrine diseases; (6) use of agents that may affect bone metabolism such as thiazolidinediones, vitamin K, warfarin, vitamin D, calcium supplement, bisphosphonates, estrogen, and hormones, and agents that may lower lipid levels.

The subjects included 374 males and 364 post-menopausal females with T2DM. All the subjects were divided into six groups among males and post-menopausal females: (1) normal albuminuria male group (138 cases, UACR<30 mg/g, M1), (2) microalbuminuria male group (127 cases, UACR 30–300 mg/g, M2), (3) large amount of albuminuria male group (109 cases, UACR>300 mg/g, M3); (4) normal albuminuria post-menopausal female group (125 cases, UACR<30 mg/g, F1), (5) microalbuminuria post-menopausal female group (125 cases, UACR 30–300 mg/g, F2), and (6) large amount of albuminuria post-menopausal female group (104 cases, UACR>300 mg/g, g, S00 mg/g, S00

F3) based on urinary albumin excretion rate (UACR) (27). Meanwhile, the age-matched normal control male and postmenopausal female groups (141 and 139 cases for M0 and F0, respectively) were included from physical examination center during the same period.

Fasting blood samples were collected from T2DM patients using standard venipuncture (28) including non-hemolized samples with an absorbance <0.2 at 414 nm (29). Two samples of 5 ml venous blood were collected without anticoagulant and kept at room temperature for 30 min. The first sample was centrifuged for 15 min (1,000 × g, 4°C) for enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and the second sample was centrifuged for 5 min (2,000 × g, 4°C) for real-time PCR assay as we conducted in the previous research (30). The serum samples were collected, sealed, and stored at -80° C till further use.

Measurements

All volunteers were asked about age, course of T2DM and menstrual history. The height (H), weight (W), waist

circumference, hip circumference, and blood pressure (SBP, DBP) were monitored according to a standard protocol (31). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as H (m)²/W (kg) while waist hip rate (WHR) was calculated as waist circumference (cm)/hip circumference (cm). Fasting blood samples by standard venipuncture and moderate morning urine were collected from all subjects. Double centrifugation with a Beckman J-6M Induction Drive Centrifuge (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, USA) was used to separate the serum. All urine, serum, and plasma samples were stored at -80° C until final analysis.

Sandwich ELISA was used to measure adiponectin (ADPN, product number: CSB-E07270h; detection range: 1.56 – 100 ng/ml; CUSABIO, Wuhan, P.R.China) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF, product number: CSB-E07875h; detection range: 3.75–120 pg/ml; CUSABIO, Wuhan, P.R.China) in the serum samples according to the manufacturers' instructions. Inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation was between <8 and <10%, respectively.

TABLE 1 | Levels of serum miR-154-5p and clinical characteristic in the studied groups.

	Male	Post-menopausal female	T/Z	P-values
N	515	503	_	-
Age (years)	53.84 ± 10.20	$63.84 \pm 10.60^{*}$	-15.3464	< 0.0001
Course (months)	87 (0–96)	86 (0–97)	-0.3363	0.7366
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.78 ± 2.84	24.56 ± 2.61	1.2755	0.2024
WHR	0.92 ± 0.06	$0.93 \pm 0.06^{*}$	-2.0238	0.0433
FPG (mmol/L)	8.68 ± 2.95	$7.66 \pm 2.58^{*}$	5.8227	< 0.0001
FINS (mIU/L)	11.87 ± 6.69	11.83 ± 6.42	0.1056	0.9159
FCP (pmol/L)	7.99 ± 2.41	8.27 ± 2.49	-1.7958	0.0728
ISI	-3.84 ± 1.38	-3.79 ± 1.27	-0.5588	0.5765
HOMA-IR	4.69 ± 3.55	$4.14 \pm 2.99^{*}$	2.6658	0.0078
HbA1c (%)	8.1 (5.8–9.5)	7.5 (4.9–8.5)*	-6.9392	< 0.0001
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.07 ± 0.25	1.08 ± 0.26	-0.9609	0.3368
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.24 ± 0.94	3.20 ± 0.89	0.6683	0.5041
TC (mmol/L)	5.00 ± 1.21	4.99 ± 1.24	0.2341	0.8149
TG (mmol/L)	2.23 ± 1.00	2.12 ± 0.94	1.7688	0.0772
ADPN (mg/L)	25.57 ± 6.44	$32.39 \pm 6.36^{*}$	-16.9782	< 0.0001
25(OH)VD3(pg/ml)	7.95 (6.65–8.82)	7.93 (6.77–9.10)	-1.1214	0.2621
PTH (pg/ml)	34.18 (30.83–37.54)	33.78 (30.33–36.64)	-1.1481	0.2509
P1NP (pg/ml)	33.43 ± 10.35	$48.61 \pm 14.88^{*}$	-18.9326	< 0.0001
β-CTx (pg/ml)	384.24 ± 77.92	$525.02 \pm 130.74^{*}$	-20.9261	< 0.0001
Ca (mmol/L)	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.15	-0.0251	0.9799
P (mmol/L)	1.16 ± 0.20	1.18 ± 0.19	-1.7010	0.0892
ALP (U/L)	70.94 ± 20.72	69.55 ± 19.37	1.1068	0.2686
OC (pg/ml)	14.31 ± 5.59	$20.20 \pm 8.76^{*}$	-12.8062	< 0.0001
CTGF (pg/ml)	246.16 ± 96.31	$297.55 \pm 134.78^{*}$	-7.0125	< 0.0001
UACR (mg/g)	17.22 (13.84–116.73)	19.15 (15.90–116.95)*	-3.9030	0.0001
miR-154-5p	0.49 (0.35-0.68)	0.75 (0.58–0.95)*	-13.4884	< 0.0001

Data are expressed as the mean \pm SD or the median (interquartile range). BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist hip rate; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; FCP, fasting c-peptide; ISI, insulin sensitive index (ISI = -In[FPG × FINS]); HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR = FPG × FINS/22.5); HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; ADPN, adiponectin; PTH, parathyroid hormone; P1NP, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide; β -CTx, β -C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen; Ca, calcium; P, phosphorus; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; OC, osteocalcin; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate. Post-menopausal female vs. male, *P < 0.05.

Glucose oxidase examined by double-antibody radioimmunoassay were used to measure fasting plasma glucose (FPG), fasting plasma insulin (FINS), and fasting c-peptide (FCP) levels. The homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was used to estimate insulin resistance as follows: FINS (mU/L) × FPG (mmol/L)/22.5 and insulin sensitive index (ISI = $-\ln[FPG \times FINS]$). Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was detected using an automated HbA1c analyzer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

An automated biochemical analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, USA) was used to measure urinary albumin, urinary creatinine (uCr), total triglyceride (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), Ca, P, PTH, 25(OH)VD3, ALP, OC, P1NP, as well as β -CTx in the Laboratory Medicine, Nephrology Laboratory, Central Laboratory and the Laboratory of Endocrine and Metabolism of the First Hospital of China Medical University. UACR (urinary albumin/creatinine ratio) was calculated to estimate the levels of urinary proteins (32, 33).

MiRNA Isolation and Quantitative PCR Analysis

MiRNA was extracted from 400 µL serum samples using a miRcute miRNA isolation kit (DP501, Beijing Tiangen) (34). Before extraction, the C. elegans synthetic miRNA- cel-miR-39mimic (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was added to each serum sample to correct for extraction errors. Strand of cDNA modified by tail reverse transcription was synthesized using a miRcute miRNA First-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Tiangen, Beijing, China) (35). Real-time PCR detection of miR-154-5p in 3.0 µL cDNA template was performed using a miRcute miRNA qPCR Detection Kit (FP401, SYBR Green, Tiangen, Beijing, China) on Takara Thermal Cycler Dice Real Time System. PCR amplification was performed using the following conditions: initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 min, 45 cycles denaturation at 95°C for 5 s, annealing and extension at 60°C for 40 s. Absolute quantification of miR-154-5p in each sample was calculated using the $2 \wedge (-\Delta Ct)$ method (26, 36).

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics (V.22.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for data analysis. The normality of each group was judged according to the previous literature and normality test. All values were expressed as the mean \pm SD for normally distributed values and as median (interquartile range) for non-parametric values. Difference between UACR groups was analyzed by oneway ANOVA and sex groups by Student's t-test for normally distributed values and Kruskal-Wallis H-test for non-parametric values. The least-significant difference *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U-test were used for pairwise comparison of differences among multiple groups. After logarithmic transformation was used for non-parametric values, clinical parameters related to OC and Ln UACR (Natural logarithmic UACR) were analyzed using Pearson correlation and multiple linear regression analysis. When there was collinearity, ridge regression analysis was performed to determine the association between the clinical parameters.



FIGURE 1 | Relative expression of miR-154-5p in different sex and UACR groups. (A) Between genders, *post-menopausal female vs. Male, P < 0.05; (B) different UACR in male patients, a F1-3 vs. F0, P < 0.05, b F3, F2 vs. F1, P < 0.05, c F3 vs. F2, P < 0.05; and (C) different UACR in post-menopausal female patients, a M1-3 vs. M0, P < 0.05, b M3, M2 vs. M1, P < 0.05, c M3 vs. M2, P < 0.05. Data were expressed by median (quartile). M0, the normal control male group; M1-3, the normal albuminuria, microalbuminuria, and large amount of albuminuria male groups; F0, the normal control post-menopausal female group; F1-3, the normal albuminuria, microalbuminuria, and large amount of albuminuria post-menopausal female groups; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate.

All *P*-values were two-tailed, and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Serum miR-154-5p Levels and Clinical Characteristic in the Male and Post-menopausal Female Groups

1018 volunteers participated in our study, included 515 males and 503 post-menopausal females. We observed significant differences in age and levels of WHR, FPG, HOMA-IR, HbA1c, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, OC, CTGF, UACR, and miR-154-5p (P < 0.05, **Table 1** and **Figure 1A**) between the two groups. Compared to the male group, age, WHR, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, OC, CTGF, UACR, and miR-154-5p were elevated and FPG, HOMA-IR, and HbA1c were significantly reduced in the postmenopausal female group (P < 0.05). However, no significant difference was observed in other parameters between different genders (P > 0.05).

Serum miR-154-5p Levels and Clinical Characteristic in Male T2DM Groups With Different UACR

Table 2 and **Figure 1B** illustrates the changes in serum biological markers in male T2DM patients with different UACR. Compared to the M0 group, course, FPG, FINS, FCP and HOMA-IR in T2DM patients were significantly increased and the ISI levels were significantly decreased (P < 0.05). The levels of HbA1c, CTGF, UACR, and miR-154-5p increased successively in the M1-3 groups while ADPN, P1NP, β-CTx, and OC decreased significantly (P < 0.05).

TABLE 2 | Levels of serum miR-154-5p and clinical characteristic in male T2DM groups with different UACR.

	MO	M1	M2	M3	F/χ^2	P-values	
N	141	138	127	109	-	_	
Age (years)	54.09 ± 10.79	54.05 ± 10.69	52.17 ± 9.82	$55.19 \pm 9.02^{\circ}$	1.8258	0.1414	
Course (months)	0 (0–0)	91 (84–99) ^a	92 (83–97) ^a	93 (85–100) ^a	314.2062	< 0.0001	
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.00 ± 2.95	24.97 ± 2.97	24.44 ± 2.74	24.66 ± 2.62	1.1527	0.3273	
WHR	0.92 ± 0.06	0.92 ± 0.06	0.91 ± 0.07	$0.93 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$	1.8038	0.1455	
FPG (mmol/L)	5.61 ± 1.53	9.69 ± 2.48^{a}	10.01 ± 2.56^{a}	9.81 ± 2.47^{a}	117.6565	< 0.0001	
FINS (mIU/L)	10.44 ± 3.14	12.40 ± 7.30^{a}	11.92 ± 7.38	13.00 ± 8.06^{a}	3.5073	0.0153	
FCP (pmol/L)	6.81 ± 1.85	8.32 ± 2.34^{a}	8.24 ± 2.44^{a}	8.83 ± 2.58^{a}	18.5787	< 0.0001	
ISI	-2.25 ± 0.51	-4.39 ± 1.23^{a}	$-4.45\pm0.98^{\text{a}}$	-4.50 ± 1.08^{a}	170.7250	< 0.0001	
HOMA-IR	2.56 ± 0.89	5.45 ± 3.75^{a}	5.34 ± 3.80^{a}	5.72 ± 4.03^{a}	26.8978	< 0.0001	
HbA1c (%)	5.5 (5.2–5.8)	8.4 (7.7–9.3) ^a	9.0 (8.0–10.1) ^{ab}	9.7 (8.5–11.0) ^{abc}	300.5268	< 0.0001	
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.08 ± 0.26	1.08 ± 0.26	1.06 ± 0.23	1.05 ± 0.25	0.2803	0.8396	
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.36 ± 0.92	3.38 ± 0.91	$3.09\pm0.90^{\text{ab}}$	3.08 ± 1.02^{ab}	3.9443	0.0084	
TC (mmol/L)	4.99 ± 1.12	4.98 ± 1.12	5.09 ± 1.33	4.95 ± 1.30	0.3258	0.8067	
TG (mmol/L)	2.24 ± 1.04	2.25 ± 1.04	2.16 ± 0.90	2.26 ± 1.02	0.2463	0.8640	
ADPN (mg/L)	31.19 ± 2.74	27.46 ± 3.28^{a}	23.57 ± 4.73^{ab}	18.27 ± 6.60^{abc}		< 0.0001	
25(OH)VD3(pg/ml)	7.96 (6.75–8.83)	7.97 (6.75–8.82)	7.81 (6.60–8.78)	7.89 (6.42-8.89)	0.1863	0.9798	
PTH (pg/ml)	34.79 (31.08–38.03)	34.81 (31.11–38.03)	33.73 (30.82–36.69)	33.13 (30.16–36.63)	3.8989	0.2726	
P1NP (pg/ml)	37.43 ± 9.89	37.27 ± 9.91	31.59 ± 8.91^{ab}	$25.54\pm7.68^{\text{abc}}$	45.0235	< 0.0001	
β-CTx (pg/ml)	410.46 ± 84.08	411.49 ± 84.50	376.31 ± 56.84^{ab}	325.04 ± 38.08^{abc}	39.6529	< 0.0001	
Ca (mmol/L)	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.14	2.24 ± 0.16	0.0910	0.9650	
P (mmol/L)	1.16 ± 0.19	1.16 ± 0.19	1.16 ± 0.20	1.18 ± 0.20	0.3396	0.7967	
ALP (U/L)	70.89 ± 22.46	70.29 ± 22.16	72.39 ± 18.02	70.16 ± 19.59	0.3037	0.8227	
OC (pg/ml)	18.01 ± 6.77	15.73 ± 5.05^{a}	12.24 ± 3.03^{ab}	$10.14 \pm 1.84^{\text{abc}}$	69.2499	< 0.0001	
CTGF (pg/ml)	159.49 ± 32.80	209.83 ± 42.95^{a}	254.70 ± 52.03^{ab}	$394.31 \pm 59.38^{\rm abc}$	551.4301	< 0.0001	
UACR (mg/g)	14.10 (12.64–15.47)	14.11 (12.58–15.48)	106.31 (93.14–114.59) ^{ab}	1062.24 (524.06–1530.10) ^{abc}	400.8755	< 0.0001	
miR-154-5p	0.32 (0.15–0.52)	0.35 (0.32-0.40)	0.59 (0.52–0.66) ^{ab}	0.82 (0.72–0.90) ^{abc}	315.5174	< 0.0001	

Data are expressed as the mean \pm SD or the median (interquartile range). BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist hip rate; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; FCP, fasting c-peptide; ISI, insulin sensitive index (ISI = -In[FPG × FINS]); HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR = FPG × FINS/22.5); HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; IDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; ADPN, adiponectin; PTH, parathyroid hormone; P1NP, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide; β -CTx, β -C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen; Ca, calcium; P, phosphorus; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; OC, osteocalcin; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate. M0, the normal control male group; M1-3, the normal albuminuria, microalbuminuria, and large amount of albuminuria male groups.

 $^{a}M1-3$ vs. M0, P < 0.05.

^bM3, M2 vs. M1, P < 0.05.

^cM3 vs. M2, P < 0.05.

Serum miR-154-5p Levels and Clinical Characteristic in Post-menopausal Female T2DM Groups With Different UACR

Compared to the F0 group, course, FPG, FINS, FCP and HOMA-IR in T2DM patients were significantly increased and the ISI levels were significantly decreased (P < 0.05) in the T2DM female group. Moreover, HbA1c, CTGF, UACR, and miR-154-5p levels in the post-menopausal female T2DM patients increased successively in the F1-3 groups while the levels of ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, and OC were reduced (*P* < 0.05, **Table 3** and **Figure 1C**).

Correlation Between OC, UACR, and Other **Clinical Parameters in Male and** Post-menopausal Female T2DM Patients

Table 4 and Figures 2-4 shows the correlation analysis in all the groups of T2DM patients. Ln UACR was found to be

positively correlated with CTGF, Ln HbA1c and Ln miR-154-5p and negatively correlated with ADPN, P1NP, β-CTx, and OC (P < 0.05). In contrast, OC showed a positive correlation with ADPN, P1NP, and β -CTx and negative correlation with Ln HbA1c, CTGF, Ln UACR, and Ln miR-154-5p (*P* < 0.05).

Moreover, Ln miR-154-5p was positively correlated with Ln HbA1c, CTGF, and Ln UACR and negatively correlated with ADPN and OC (P < 0.05). However, Ln miR-154-5p was negatively correlated with P1NP and β-CTx of single gender groups (P < 0.05), while no significant correlation was observed among two genders (P > 0.05).

Ridge Regression Analysis of OC, UACR Levels, and Clinical Parameters in T2DM **Patients**

Multiple regression analysis was conducted by taking the indicators significantly related to Ln HbA1c, ADPN, P1NP, β-CTx, CTGF, OC, Ln UACR, and Ln miR-154-5p as independent

TABLE 3 Levels of	serum miR-154-5p and cli	nical characteristic in post-	menopausal female T2DM grou	ups with different UACR.		
	F0	F1	F2	F3	F/χ^2	P-values
N	139	135	125	104	_	_
Age (years)	64.68 ± 10.53	64.71 ± 10.56	63.46 ± 9.96	62.05 ± 11.34	1.6426	0.1786
Course (months)	0 (0–0)	91 (83–100) ^a	93 (84–101) ^a	93 (86–100) ^a	308.8528	< 0.0001
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.35 ± 2.60	24.43 ± 2.59	24.78 ± 2.62	24.77 ± 2.63	0.9131	0.4344
WHR	0.93 ± 0.06	0.93 ± 0.06	0.92 ± 0.06	0.93 ± 0.06	0.8408	0.4720
FPG (mmol/L)	5.31 ± 1.66	8.53 ± 2.29^{a}	8.52 ± 2.11^{a}	8.65 ± 2.52^{a}	77.5714	< 0.0001
FINS (mIU/L)	9.61 ± 2.82	12.04 ± 7.20^{a}	13.21 ± 7.05^{a}	12.86 ± 7.29^{a}	8.8203	< 0.0001
FCP (pmol/L)	7.29 ± 2.03	8.79 ± 2.59^{a}	8.72 ± 2.55^{a}	8.38 ± 2.50^{a}	11.2033	< 0.0001
ISI	-2.24 ± 0.46	-4.29 ± 1.01^{a}	-4.50 ± 0.78^{a}	-4.39 ± 1.00^{a}	224.4831	< 0.0001
HOMA-IR	2.26 ± 0.93	4.56 ± 3.01^{a}	5.10 ± 3.30^{a}	4.95 ± 3.28^{a}	30.5453	< 0.0001
HbA1c (%)	4.6 (4.4-4.8)	7.5 (7.0–7.9) ^a	8.2 (7.3–8.7) ^{ab}	9.0 (8.1–10.0) ^{abc}	82.9865	< 0.0001
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.10 ± 0.25	1.10 ± 0.25	1.09 ± 0.27	1.03 ± 0.26^{ab}	355.2069	< 0.0001
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.13 ± 0.88	3.12 ± 0.89	3.24 ± 0.89	3.35 ± 0.91	1.6360	0.1801
TC (mmol/L)	5.04 ± 1.31	5.04 ± 1.30	4.88 ± 1.19	4.97 ± 1.11	0.4628	0.7084
TG (mmol/L)	2.18 ± 0.92	2.19 ± 0.93	2.03 ± 0.94	2.04 ± 1.00	1.0249	0.3812
ADPN (mg/L)	38.73 ± 3.71	34.23 ± 2.67^{a}	30.03 ± 3.32^{ab}	24.36 ± 5.09^{abc}	324.7018	< 0.0001
25(OH)VD3(pg/ml)	8.02 (6.66–9.12)	7.93 (6.66–9.02)	7.48 (6.48–9.17)	8.10 (7.22–9.02)	3.3691	0.3381
PTH (pg/ml)	33.81 (30.51–37.12)	33.78 (30.51–37.24)	33.57 (30.10–35.97)	33.84 (30.25–36.96)	1.1314	0.7695
P1NP (pg/ml)	52.62 ± 15.85	52.27 ± 15.58	46.25 ± 13.04^{ab}	41.34 ± 11.08^{abc}	16.8790	< 0.0001
β-CTx (pg/ml)	571.07 ± 123.12	571.88 ± 123.39	515.35 ± 107.75^{ab}	414.29 ± 104.81^{abc}	46.6004	< 0.0001
Ca (mmol/L)	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.15	2.23 ± 0.14	0.0340	0.9916
P (mmol/L)	1.19 ± 0.19	1.20 ± 0.18	1.16 ± 0.18	1.18 ± 0.21	0.7094	0.5467
ALP (U/L)	69.74 ± 20.03	69.51 ± 20.16	68.11 ± 18.29	71.10 ± 18.86	0.4561	0.7131
OC (pg/ml)	26.55 ± 9.03	21.26 ± 8.07^{a}	17.89 ± 5.90^{ab}	13.10 ± 5.01^{abc}	72.1206	< 0.0001
CTGF (pg/ml)	168.82 ± 37.79	$223.89 \pm 79.06^{\text{a}}$	380.54 ± 72.94^{ab}	465.46 ± 76.01^{abc}	496.1420	< 0.0001
UACR (mg/g)	16.08 (14.34–17.75)	16.10 (14.43–17.75)	101.82 (90.85–111.36) ^{ab}	1246.65 (656.44–1723.61) ^{abc}	407.8570	< 0.0001
miR-154-5p	0.63 (0.30-1.05)	0.64 (0.56-0.75)	0.81 (0.69–0.97) ^{ab}	0.94 (0.78–1.09) ^{abc}	82.9865	< 0.0001

Data are expressed as the mean ± SD or the median (interquartile range). BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist hip rate; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; FCP, fasting c-peptide; ISI, insulin sensitive index (ISI = -In[FPG × FINS]); HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR = FPG × FINS/22.5); HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; ADPN, adiponectin; PTH, parathyroid hormone; P1NP, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide; β -CTx, β -C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen; Ca, calcium; P, phosphorus; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; OC, osteocalcin; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate. F0, the normal control post-menopausal female group; F1-3, the normal albuminuria, microalbuminuria, and large amount of albuminuria post-menopausal female groups.

^aF1-3 vs. F0, P < 0.05.

^bF3, F2 vs. F1, P < 0.05.

 c F3 vs. F2, P < 0.05.

			All			Male		Post-menopausal female			
		Ln miR-154-5p	OC	Ln UACR	Ln miR-154-5p	oc	Ln UACR	Ln miR-154-5p	OC	Ln UACR	
OC	r	-0.2070	1.0000	-0.4090	-0.5050	1.0000	-0.5090	-0.4870	1.0000	-0.4460	
	Ρ	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	
ADPN	r	-0.1200	0.4590	-0.5500	-0.4790	0.3560	-0.5890	-0.3810	0.3610	-0.7200	
	Ρ	0.0011	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
CTGF	r	0.5790	-0.2680	0.7030	0.6430	-0.4330	0.7330	0.4490	-0.4290	0.7360	
	Ρ	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
P1NP	r	0.0069	0.4620	-0.3000	-0.4440	0.3710	-0.4650	-0.1980	0.3230	-0.3140	
	Ρ	0.8521	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
β-CTx	r	0.0344	0.4520	-0.3640	-0.4180	0.3380	-0.4470	-0.2150	0.3140	-0.4810	
	Р	0.3508	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Ln UACR	r	0.5860	-0.4090	1.0000	0.7870	-0.5090	1.0000	0.4560	-0.4460	1.0000	
	Р	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	
Ln miR-154-5p	r	1.0000	-0.2070	0.5860	1.0000	-0.5050	0.7870	1.0000	-0.4870	0.4560	
	Р	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	-	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	
Ln HbA1c	r	0.0570	-0.2280	0.3370	0.2270	-0.1330	0.2530	0.1670	-0.1740	0.5090	
	Ρ	0.1220	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0101	< 0.0001	0.0014	0.0009	< 0.0001	

HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; ADPN, adiponectin; P1NP, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide; β-CTx, β-C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; OC, osteocalcin; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate.

variables and Ln UACR, OC as dependent variables. Exploratory multiple regression analysis showed that there was a significant correlation between the respective variables. As common linear regression analysis revealed severe colinearity (the colinearity diagnosis found that the maximum conditional index>30, variance expansion factor>10, variance component>0.5), we adopted a ridge regression analysis to address this problem.

The ridge trace shown in **Figure 5** (x1-x7 = OC, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, Ln HbA1c, Ln miR-154-5p, and CTGF, respectively) with Ln UACR as the dependent variable in all, men and post-menopausal women T2DM patients indicated that when the ridge parameter was set at k = 0.4, standardized regression coefficients of each independent variable tended to be stable. Results showed that Ln UACR was affected by OC, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, CTGF, Ln HbA1c, and Ln miR-154-5p in all the three groups (P < 0.05, **Table 5**). Combined with the regression coefficients, we concluded that an increase in CTGF, Ln HbA1c, and Ln miR-154-5p resulted in an increase in Ln UACR, while an increase in ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, and OC resulted in a decrease in Ln UACR.

The ridge trace was performed with Ln UACR, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, Ln HbA1c, Ln miR-154-5p, and CTGF as independent variables and OC as a dependent variable. Parameter estimation of the ridge regression was performed with k = 0.4 (k = 0.6 in **Figure 5F**). Using these settings, we found that OC was affected by ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, CTGF, Ln UACR, and Ln miR-154-5p (P < 0.05, **Table 5**), but was not associated with Ln HbA1c (P > 0.05). Combined with the regression coefficients, it can be concluded that ADPN, P1NP, and β -CTx were positively correlated with OC while CTGF, Ln UACR and Ln miR-154-5p were negatively correlative with OC.

DISCUSSION

Mir-154 is a recently discovered microRNA with protective effect on cancer as demonstrated by two miRNA sequences (37, 38), miR-154-5p and miR-154-3p (39–41). Only a few studies have reported the role of miR-154-3p in cancer, and the exact target mRNA and molecular function of miR-154-3p remain unexplored (42, 43). The other mature sequence in human serum, miR-154-5p, is localized to the chromosome 14q32 microRNA with multiple binding elements and is involved in several diseases related to fibrosis (25, 26, 41, 44, 45). As chronic renal diseases can lead to proteinuria through renal fibrosis (27), miR-154-5p may affect the production of urinary protein.

A similar fundamental study documented that overexpression of miR-154-5p inhibited osteogenic differentiation of adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells by suppressing expression of osteogenic marker gene and matrix mineralization. In contrast, inhibition of endogenous miR-154-5p promoted osteogenic differentiation (24).These findings indicate a negative regulatory role of miR-154-5p on osteogenic differentiation and warrant further investigation.

Based on the previous studies, we propose the hypothesis that serum miR-154-5p levels may be related to the mechanism of fibrosis in DKD and osteogenic differentiation of DOP in T2DM patients.

UACR is recommended as one of the basic classification standard of DKD by American Diabetes Association (ADA) and Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) (46, 47). Serum OC is a marker of bone formation and regeneration as well as an important indicator of bone conversion in DOP, which has been observed to correlate with microRNAs in post-menopausal females (8, 48, 49). To test



our hypothesis, we investigated the expression levels of serum miR-154-5p and OC in men and post-menopausal women T2DM patients with different UACR, and analyzed correlation between these parameters. To clarify the effect of miR-154-5p in T2DM patients, we performed a cross-sectional cohort study and detected serum miR-154-5p and other glycolipid

metabolic pathways, bone metabolism, urine albumin, and other biochemical indicators.

We observed significant differences in the levels of miR-154-5p, OC, and UACR between male and post-menopausal female patients groups and between the normal control groups and the T2DM groups with different UACR levels. In groups



of single-sex T2DM patients, miR-154-5p increased, while OC decreased successively with UACR. Serum miR-154-5p was positively correlated with UACR and negatively correlated with

OC. Collectively, our data suggest that circulating miR-154-5p may be involved in the pathological process of glycolipid metabolism, bone metabolism, and proteinuria.



There are two types of cells responsible for bone homeostasis, osteoblasts for secreting new bone, and osteoclasts for breaking bone down. The close cooperation between these cells determines the structure of bones in addition to supplying adequate of calcium. P1NP and ALP are markers of bone formation and β -CTx, a segment of collagen degradation excreted by the kidney during bone remodeling, is a marker of bone

resorption. β -CTx is also one of the important clinical parameters utilized in the diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis (9). As a sign of bone formation and regeneration, serum OC has been proven to be closely related to the above two processes in previous studies (8). 25 (OH) VD3 can promote the absorption of calcium and phosphorus in the intestinal tract and the re-absorption of calcium by renal tubules. PTH



can strengthen osteolysis, enhance reabsorption of calcium by renal tubules, mobilize calcium into the blood, and increase blood calcium. All of these can increase the concentration of Ca and P in the blood and promote bone calcification (8, 9). In addition, all these biomarkers can affect the whole process of bone metabolism.

To further confirm the correlation between miR-154-5p and bone metabolism, we detected the serum levels of the bone metabolism related indicators (P1NP, β -CTx, 25[OH] VD3, PTH, ALP, Ca, and P) and found that P1NP and β -CTx were significantly increased in post-menopausal female compared to the male group. However, no significant difference was observed in the other bone metabolism factors (25[OH] VD3, PTH, ALP, Ca, and P) between the two groups. Compared to the normal control group, P1NP and β -CTx decreased successively with UACR in T2DM men and post-menopausal women. Pearson correlation analysis showed that miR-154-5p was significantly negatively correlated with P1NP and β -CTx in males and post-menopausal females with T2DM suggesting that miR-154-5p may be involved in the metabolic process of bone formation and absorption.

Our results also showed that serum miR-154-5p and HbA1c increased with the rise of UACR. Serum miR-154-5p and HbA1c were positively correlated with UACR indicating that miR-154-5p may be associated with chronic elevated blood glucose levels, thus involved in the pathological changes in DKD. However, the

pathological mechanisms of the changes in urine protein caused by miR-154-5p remain unknown. CTGF is thought to regulate the progression of fibrosis in almost all diseases especially in renal tissues (50). Our data showed that CTGF increased with UACR and was positively correlated with UACR, providing supplementary evidence for the relationship between urinary protein changes and renal fibrosis. Further, we measured the levels of serum fibrosis factor CTGF and used correlation analysis to examine a possible relationship between miR-154-5p and CTGF. It was found that Ln miR-154-5p positively correlated with CTGF indicating that miR-154-5p is involved in the pathological process of renal injury by regulating fibrosis factors and causes the continuous increase of urinary protein.

Our study also found that OC, P1NP, and β -CTx were significantly reduced in male and post-menopausal female patients with different UACR, but there was no significant correlation with other bone metabolism indicators, consistent with previous literature that early chronic kidney disease can cause abnormal bone mineral metabolism and appearance of abnormal bone metabolic markers such as OC, P1NP, and β -CTx (14, 15). In addition, the levels of ADPN were significantly reduced and UACR was found to be negatively correlated with ADPN, an insulin–sensitizing hormone and blood lipid regulator, but not significantly correlated with other blood lipid indicators revealing a relationship between UACR and lipid metabolism, or potential associations with early metabolic processes such as insulin resistance and coronary atherosclerosis.

Our study showed that OC, P1NP, and β -CTx were significantly increased in post-menopausal women presenting a high bone transition state. OC positively correlated with P1NP and β -CTx adding to the evidence that OC is closely related to the osteogenesis process of bone formation and resorption. OC, encoded by bone gamma-carboxyglutamic acid-containing protein (BGLAP) gene in humans, is a specific protein solely secreted by osteoblasts in the general circulatory system during osteogenesis (51). As a hormone, OC plays a role in the metabolic

regulation, bone mineralization, calcium ion homeostasis, is pro- osteoblastic, and involved in bone-building process.

OC can also cause islet beta cells to release more insulin and direct fat cells to release the hormone adiponectin thus increasing sensitivity to insulin (8). Clinical trials have reported that low OC levels were associated with metabolic syndrome, glucose, and lipid metabolism (10-13) suggesting that osteocalcin may be involved in the interactive relationship between bone and islet, adipose tissues. Studies investigating the relationship between OC and glucolipid metabolism have yielded conflicting data and the underlying mechanisms remain unclear (11, 52–56). Similar observations in our research have showed OC positively correlated with ADPN and negatively correlated with HbA1c, but no significant differences were observed between OC and other glucose and lipid metabolism indicators (FPG, FINS, FCP, ISI, HOMA-IR, and blood lipids) which is consistent with the clinical evidence and our previous study (57, 58). The relationship between OC, blood glucose and insulin may be interrupted by no limit of hypoglycemic drugs, and unmeasured undercarboxylated OC (ucOC), the active form of OC (59). In addition, different race selection, experimental design, index measurement, and analysis may account for these differences.

We adopted men and post-menopausal women as the research volunteers to avoid the effect of estrogen on metabolism, resulting in the age-mismatched phenomenon in different genders. Age, WHR, ADPN, P1NP, β -CTx, OC, CTGF, UACR, and mir-154-5p were significantly increased in post-menopausal women, while FPG, HOMA-IR and HbA1c decreased compared with the male group. However, according to the results of correlation analysis, glucolipid, and bone metabolic factors had no significant correlation with age, thus excluding significant differences resulting from age differences, revealing that changes in metabolic factors are caused by DOP rather than senile osteoporosis.

However, there are several limitations of this study: (1) as a cross-sectional cohort study, this study only indicates a correlation between miR-154-5p, OC, and UACR. There is a

	All				Male				Post-menopausal female			
	ос		Ln UACR		oc		Ln UACR		ос		Ln UACR	
	β	Р	β	Р	β	Р	β	Р	β	Р	β	Р
Constant	7.2693	0.0004	4.0592	< 0.0001	9.3882	0.0000	5.7971	< 0.0001	12.0612	0.0004	3.4068	< 0.0001
Ln HbA1c	-0.8903	0.2675	0.9988	< 0.0001	-0.0027	0.9970	0.4879	0.0067	0.2707	0.8442	2.0205	< 0.0001
ADPN	0.1455	< 0.0001	-0.0545	< 0.0001	0.0541	0.0166	-0.0490	< 0.0001	0.0799	0.0237	-0.0865	< 0.0001
P1NP	0.0903	< 0.0001	-0.0073	0.0000	0.0490	0.0004	-0.0141	0.0000	0.0630	0.0000	-0.0084	0.0006
β-CTx	0.0093	< 0.0001	-0.0014	< 0.0001	0.0056	0.0033	-0.0020	0.0000	0.0048	0.0019	-0.0018	< 0.0001
CTGF	-0.0031	0.0107	0.0047	< 0.0001	-0.0036	0.0169	0.0045	< 0.0001	-0.0065	0.0000	0.0038	< 0.0001
Ln UACR	-0.2810	0.0002	-	-	-0.3328	0.0000	-	-	-0.4001	0.0001	-	-
OC	-	-	-0.0148	0.0002	-	-	-0.0358	0.0000	-	-	-0.0155	0.0014
Ln miR-154-5p	-1.3982	0.0001	1.1479	< 0.0001	-1.7380	< 0.0001	1.3029	< 0.0001	-5.1221	< 0.0001	0.5278	0.0000

TABLE 5 | Ridge regression analysis of OC, UACR, and clinical parameters in male and post-menopausal female T2DM patients.

HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; ADPN, adiponectin; P1NP, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide; β-CTx, β-C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; OC, osteocalcin; UACR, urinary albumin excretion rate.

need for a follow-up and long-term observational trials and survival analyses to validate these observations. (2) Subjects with pre-diabetes were not included and the quality control of hypoglycemic drugs was not conducted. (3) We used ridge regression to solve the problem of collinearity in multiple regression which means a modified analysis of least squares estimation by abandoning the unbiasedness of least squares. The regression coefficient is obtained at the cost of partial information loss and accuracy reduction, however, the fitting of pathological data is stronger than that of least squares.

In summary, our study speculates that serum miR-154-5p levels is positively correlated with HbA1c, UACR, and CTGF and negatively correlated with ADPN, OC, P1NP, and β -CTx. These findings indicate that miR-154-5p may participate in the pathological process of glucolipid, bone metabolism, and renal fibrosis, which may further contribute to novel target development for DKD and DOP. However, the specific mechanisms of miR-154-5p remain elusive and still present a challenge to medical research field.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of China Medical University.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. *Global Report on Diabetes*. World Health Organization (2016).
- National Diabetes Data Group, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive, Kidney Diseases. *Diabetes in America. Vol. 95.* National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (1995).
- Martinez-Laguna D, Tebe C, Nogues X, Kassim Javaid M, Cooper C, Moreno V, et al. Fracture risk in type 2 diabetic patients: a clinical prediction tool based on a large population-based cohort. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0203533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203533
- Kanazawa I, Takeno A, Tanaka KI, Yamane Y, Sugimoto T. Osteoporosis and vertebral fracture are associated with deterioration of activities of daily living and quality of life in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Bone Miner Metab.* (2018) 37:503–11. doi: 10.1007/s00774-018-0948-6
- Ni Y, Fan D. Diabetes mellitus is a risk factor for low bone mass-related fractures: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e8811. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000008811
- Lee RH, Sloane R, Pieper C, Lyles KW, Adler RA, et al. Clinical fractures among older men with diabetes are mediated by diabetic complications. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 103:281–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01593
- Chen FP, Kuo SF, Lin YC, Fan CM, Chen JF. Status of bone strength and factors associated with vertebral fracture in postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Menopause*. (2018) 26:182–8. doi: 10.1097/GME.000000000 0001185
- Lee NK, Sowa H, Hinoi E, Ferron M, Ahn JD, Confavreux C, et al. Endocrine regulation of energy metabolism by the skeleton. *Cell.* (2007) 130:456–69. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.047
- Iglesias P, Arrieta F, Pinera M, Botella-Carretero JI, Balsa JA, Zamarron I, et al. Serum concentrations of osteocalcin, procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide and beta-CrossLaps in obese subjects with varying degrees of glucose tolerance. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2011) 75:184–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04035.x
- 10. Tan A, Gao Y, Yang X, Zhang H, Qin X, Mo L, et al. Low serum osteocalcin level is a potential marker for metabolic syndrome: results

All procedures were performed in accordance with the ethical standards as mentioned in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

STATEMENT OF INFORMED CONSENT

Informed consent was obtained from all participants included in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HR and QW designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. HR, XM, YS, MY, and JH carried out the experiments and collected the cases and data. HR analyzed the experimental results.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Higher School Highend Talent Team Construction of Liaoning Province (No. [2014]187), and the Natural Science Foundation of Liaoning Province [201602862], Liaoning Province, P.R., China.

from a Chinese male population survey. *Metabolism.* (2011) 60:1186–92. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2011.01.002

- Rui X, Xu B, Su J, Pan C, Zhan C, Su B, et al. Differential pattern for regulating insulin secretion, insulin resistance, and lipid metabolism by osteocalcin in male and female T2DM patients. *Med Sci Monit.* (2014) 20:711– 9. doi: 10.12659/MSM.890130
- Bador KM, Wee LD, Halim SA, Fadi MF, Santhiran P, Rosli NF, et al. Serum osteocalcin in subjects with metabolic syndrome and central obesity. *Diabetes Metab Syndr.* (2016) 10(1 Suppl. 1):S42–5. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx. 2015.09.009
- Chen Y, Zhao Q, Du G, Xu Y. Association between serum osteocalcin and glucose/lipid metabolism in Chinese Han and Uygur populations with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Xinjiang: two cross-sectional studies. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2017) 16:139. doi: 10.1186/s12944-017-0512-8
- Tejwani V, Qian Q. Calcium regulation and bone mineral metabolism in elderly patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nutrients*. (2013) 5:1913–36. doi: 10.3390/nu5061913
- Kochanek M, Said A, Lerma EV. Mineral metabolism in chronic kidney disease. Dis Mon. (2015) 61:425–33. doi: 10.1016/j.disamonth.2015.08.003
- Lin X, Yang Z, Zhang P, Liu Y, Shao G. miR-154 inhibits migration and invasion of human non-small cell lung cancer by targeting ZEB2. Oncol Lett. (2016) 12:301–6. doi: 10.3892/ol.2016.4577
- Dambal S, Giangreco AA, Acosta AM, Fairchild A, Richards Z, Deaton R, et al. microRNAs and DICER1 are regulated by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in prostate stroma. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2017) 167:192–202. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.01.004
- Luk JM, Burchard J, Zhang C, Liu AM, Wong KFk, Shek FH, et al. DLK1-DIO3 genomic imprinted microRNA cluster at 14q32.2 defines a stemlike subtype of hepatocellular carcinoma associated with poor survival. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:30706–13. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.229831
- Xin C, Zhang H, Liu Z. miR-154 suppresses colorectal cancer cell growth and motility by targeting TLR2. *Mol Cell Biochem*. (2014) 387:271–7. doi: 10.1007/s11010-013-1892-3
- Gardiner E, Beveridge NJ, Wu JQ, Carr V, Scott RJ, Tooney PA, et al. Imprinted DLK1-DIO3 region of 14q32 defines a schizophrenia-associated

miRNA signature in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:827-40. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.78

- Huang J, Wu J, Li Y, Li X, Yang T, Yang Q, et al. Deregulation of serum microRNA expression is associated with cigarette smoking and lung cancer. *Biomed Res Int.* (2014) 2014:364316. doi: 10.1155/2014/ 364316
- 22. Zheng Y, Zhu C, Ma L, Shao P, Qin C, Li P, et al. miRNA-154-5p inhibits proliferation, migration and invasion by targeting E2F5 in prostate cancer cell lines. *Urol Int.* (2017) 98:102–10. doi: 10.1159/000 445252
- Ding J, Jilin LI, Mingkun YU, Neurosurgery DO. Expression of miRNA-154 in astrocytomas and its clinical significance. *Chinese Clini Oncol.* (2017). Available online at: http://www.en.cnki.com.cn/Article_en/CJFDTOTAL-LCZL201704006.htm
- 24. Li J, Hu C, Han L, Liu L, Jing W, Tang W, et al. MiR-154-5p regulates osteogenic differentiation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells under tensile stress through the Wnt/PCP pathway by targeting Wnt11. *Bone.* (2015) 78:130–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bone. 2015.05.003
- Milosevic J, Pandit K, Magister M, Rabinovich E, Ellwanger DC, Yu G, et al. Profibrotic role of miR-154 in pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2012) 47:879–87. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2011-0377OC
- Kaminski N, Benos P, Corcoran D, Pandit KV, Milosevic J, Yousef H. MicroRNAs in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. In: Pandit KV, Milosevic J, Kaminski N, editors. *Translational Research*. Mosby, Inc. (2011). p. 191–9. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2011.01.012
- Li Y, Hu F, Xue M, Jia YJ, Zheng ZJ, Wang L, et al. Klotho down-regulates Egr-1 by inhibiting TGF-beta1/Smad3 signaling in high glucose treated human mesangial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 487:216–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.04.036
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2014. Diabetes Care. (2014) 37(Suppl. 1):S14-80. doi: 10.2337/ dc14-S014
- Schorr GS, Falcone EA, Moretti DJ, Andrews RD. First long-term behavioral records from Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) reveal recordbreaking dives. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e92633. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 92633
- 30. Lv C, Zhou YH, Wu C, Shao Y, Lu CL, Wang QY. The changes in miR-130b levels in human serum and the correlation with the severity of diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2015) 31:717–24. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2659
- Chalmers J. The 1999 WHO-ISH guidelines for the management of hypertension. *Med J Aust.* (1999) 171:458–9. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.1999.tb123747.x
- Chaturvedi S, Suri V, Pant I, Rusia U. Blood collection procedures in hematology: knowledge and practice among laboratory personnel. *Indian J Pathol Microbiol.* (2006) 49:381–4. Available online at: http://europepmc.org/ abstract/MED/17001890
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JLJr, et al. The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure: the JNC 7 report. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:2560–72. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.19.2560
- 34. Yu R, Yang Y, Tian Y, Zhang Y, Lyu G, Zhu J, et al. The mechanism played by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in treating renal fibrosis in diabetic nephropathy. *Chin J End Met.* (2015). doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1000-6699.2015.09.013
- Disease K. Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group. KDIGO 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease. *Polskie Archiwum Medycyny Wewnętrznej.* (2013) 120:300–6. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.73
- 36. Wang YC, Li Y, Wang XY, Zhang D, Zhang H, Wu Q, et al. Circulating miR-130b mediates metabolic crosstalk between fat and muscle in overweight/obesity. *Diabetologia*. (2013) 56:2275–85. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-2996-8
- 37. Ng EK, Chong WW, Jin H, Lam EK, Shin VY, Yu J, et al. Differential expression of microRNAs in plasma of patients with colorectal cancer: a potential marker for colorectal cancer

screening. *Gut.* (2009) 58:1375–81. doi: 10.1136/gut.2008. 167817

- Ortega FJ, Mercader JM, Moreno-Navarrete JM, Rovira O, Guerra E, Esteve E, et al. Profiling of circulating microRNAs reveals common microRNAs linked to type 2 diabetes that change with insulin sensitization. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37:1375–83. doi: 10.2337/dc13-1847
- Williams AE, Moschos SA, Perry MM, Barnes PJ, Lindsay MA. Maternally imprinted microRNAs are differentially expressed during mouse and human lung development. *Dev Dyn.* (2007) 236:572–80. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.21047
- Niu JT, Zhang LJ, Huang YW, Li C, Jiang N, Niu YJ. MiR-154 inhibits the growth of laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma by targeting GALNT7. *Biochem Cell Biol.* (2018) 96:752–60. doi: 10.1139/bcb-2018-0047
- Dong P, Liu WJ, Wang ZH. MiR-154 promotes myocardial fibrosis through beta-catenin signaling pathway. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 22:2052– 60. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201804_14735
- Cazzoli R, Buttitta F, Di Nicola M, Malatesta S, Marchetti A, Rom WN, et al. microRNAs derived from circulating exosomes as noninvasive biomarkers for screening and diagnosing lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. (2013) 8:1156–62. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318299ac32
- 43. Gururajan M, Josson S, Chu GC, Lu CL, Lu YT, Haga CL, et al. miR-154* and miR-379 in the DLK1-DIO3 microRNA mega-cluster regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition and bone metastasis of prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:6559–69. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1784
- Sun LY, Bie ZD, Zhang CH, Li H, Li LD, Yang J. MiR-154 directly suppresses DKK2 to activate Wnt signaling pathway and enhance activation of cardiac fibroblasts. *Cell Biol Int.* (2016) 40:1271–9. doi: 10.1002/cbin.10655
- Bernardo BC, Nguyen SS, Gao XM, Tham YK, Ooi JY, Patterson NL, et al. Inhibition of miR-154 protects against cardiac dysfunction and fibrosis in a mouse model of pressure overload. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:22442. doi: 10.1038/srep22442
- 46. National Diabetes Data Group, National Institute of Diabetes, Digestive and Kidney Disease. *Diabetes in America*. National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (1995).
- Zitkus BS. American diabetes association standards of medical care in diabetes. *Nurse Practitioner*. (2014) 30(Suppl. 1):S12–54. doi: 10.1097/01.NPR.0000451880.48790.50
- Chen J, Zhao X, Li X, Wu Y. Calycosin induces apoptosis by the regulation of ERβ/miR-17 signaling pathway in human colorectal cancer cells. *Food Funct*. (2015) 6:3091–7. doi: 10.1039/C5FO00374A
- Tian J, Wang Y, Zhang X, Ren Q, Li R, Huang Y. Calycosin inhibits the *in vitro* and *in vivo* growth of breast cancer cells through WDR7-7-GPR30 signaling. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 36:153. doi: 10.1186/s13046-017-0660-8
- Ellina O, Chatzigeorgiou A, Kouyanou S, Lymberi M, Mylona-Karagianni C, Tsouvalas E, et al. Extracellular matrix-associated (GAGs, CTGF), angiogenic (VEGF) and inflammatory factors (MCP-1, CD40, IFN-gamma) in type 1 diabetes mellitus nephropathy. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2012) 50:167–74. doi: 10.1515/cclm.2011.881
- Villafan-Bernal JR, Sanchez-Enriquez S, Munoz-Valle JF. Molecular modulation of osteocalcin and its relevance in diabetes. *Int J Mol Med.* (2011) 28:283–93. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2011.706
- Choudhury AB, Sarkar PD, Sakalley DK, Petkar SB. Role of adiponectin in mediating the association of osteocalcin with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes: a cross sectional study in pre- and post-menopausal women. *Arch Physiol Biochem*. (2014) 120:73–9. doi: 10.3109/13813455.2013.877488
- Chen L, Li Q, Yang Z, Ye Z, Huang Y, He M, et al. Osteocalcin, glucose metabolism, lipid profile and chronic low-grade inflammation in middle-aged and elderly Chinese. *Diabet Med.* (2013) 30:309–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03769.x
- 54. Liu DM, Guo XZ, Tong HJ, Tao B, Sun LH, Zhao HY, et al. Erratum to: Association between osteocalcin and glucose metabolism: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. (2015) 26:2835–6. doi: 10.1007/s00198-015-3286-8
- 55. Shu H, Pei Y, Chen K, Lu J. Significant inverse association between serum osteocalcin and incident type 2 diabetes in a middle-aged cohort. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2016) 32:867–74. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2808
- 56. Wang Q, Zhang B, Xu Y, Xu H, Zhang N. The relationship between serum osteocalcin concentration and glucose metabolism in patients

with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Endocrinol. (2013) 2013:842598. doi: 10.1155/2013/842598

- Maddaloni E, D'Onofrio L, Lauria A, Maurizi AR, Strollo R, Palermo A, et al. Osteocalcin levels are inversely associated with Hba1c and BMI in adult subjects with long-standing type 1 diabetes. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2014) 37:661–6. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0092-7
- Ma XY, Chen FQ, Hong H, Lv XJ, Dong M, Wang QY. The relationship between serum osteocalcin concentration and glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus - the role of osteocalcin in energy metabolism. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2015) 66:110–6. doi: 10.1159/0003 70198
- 59. Gower BA, Pollock NK, Casazza K, Clemens TL, Goree LL, Granger WM. Associations of total and undercarboxylated osteocalcin with peripheral and

hepatic insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in overweight adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2013) 98:E1173–80. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1203

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ren, Ma, Shao, Han, Yang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Oxidative Stress on Adipose Tissue Energy Balance

Peter M. Masschelin^{1,2}, Aaron R. Cox¹, Natasha Chernis¹ and Sean M. Hartig^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Molecular and Cellular Biology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Overnutrition and sedentary activity reinforce the growing trend of worldwide obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes. However, we have limited insight into how food intake generates sophisticated metabolic perturbations associated with obesity. Accumulation of mitochondrial oxidative stress contributes to the metabolic changes in obesity, but the mechanisms and significance are unclear. In white adipose tissue (WAT), mitochondrial oxidative stress, and the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) impact the endocrine and metabolic function of fat cells. The central role of mitochondria in nutrient handling suggests pharmacological targeting of pathological oxidative stress likely improves the metabolic profile of obesity. This review will summarize the critical pathogenic mechanisms of obesity-driven oxidative stress in WAT.

Keywords: adipocyte, metabolism and obesity, oxidative stress, mitochondria, mitochondrial disorders

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tongzhi Wu, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

P. Trayhurn, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom Hyun Roh, Indiana University, United States

> *Correspondence: Sean M. Hartig hartig@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> Received: 15 January 2019 Accepted: 30 December 2019 Published: 22 January 2020

Citation:

Masschelin PM, Cox AR, Chernis N and Hartig SM (2020) The Impact of Oxidative Stress on Adipose Tissue Energy Balance. Front. Physiol. 10:1638. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01638 White adipose tissue (WAT) is an endocrine organ that stores energy in the form of lipids and secretes hormones essential for insulin sensitivity and energy homeostasis. The fat cell interprets nutritional, hormonal, and sympathetic tone in the tissue microenvironment to store and liberate fuels until whole-body energy demands necessitate fatty acid liberation. Like other cells, mitochondria in adipocytes assimilate signals that reflect the energy status of the cell and produce the majority of ATP from macronutrients through cellular respiration and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS).

Obesity engenders nutrient stress that stifles mitochondrial capacity to sustain ATP levels in response to energy demands (Bournat and Brown, 2010; Liesa and Shirihai, 2013). Elevated mitochondrial substrate load consequently increases electron transport chain (ETC) activity and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. Obese individuals exhibit higher levels of oxidative stress in WAT, including elevated ROS levels and decreased antioxidant activity coupled with alterations in adipokines required for insulin sensitivity (Furukawa et al., 2004). Moreover, oxidative stress associates with intra-abdominal obesity and insulin resistance (Furukawa et al., 2004; Frohnert et al., 2011). These results indicate the oxidizing environment in WAT of obese individuals likely impacts fat cell function and energy balance. Numerous questions remain, including how gradients of ROS inside the cell impact signaling cascades and gene regulation.

NUTRIENT IMBALANCE PROVOKES MITOCHONDRIAL ROS

Oxidative stress represents a disturbance in the equilibrium of ROS production and antioxidant defenses (**Figure 1**). At the molecular level, ROS mainly emerge from the mitochondrial ETC (Starkov, 2008; Murphy, 2009). Electron transfer through the ETC generates superoxide anions as byproducts, with complex I and III representing primary sources of ROS. Under certain conditions, complex II and other cellular ROS sources can contribute to the overall pool. Superoxide is the primary ROS species that reacts with Fe-containing proteins to generate H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 accumulation in the cell contributes directly to the metabolic imbalance linking excessive nutrient stress and



insulin resistance (Anderson et al., 2009; Akl et al., 2017; Fazakerley et al., 2018). However, ROS also encompass a diverse range of chemical entities, including nitric oxide, peroxynitrite, hypochlorous acid, singlet oxygen, and the hydroxyl radical. Consequently, the broad biological impacts of ROS derive from multiple cell and tissue microenvironments that divide physiological and pathological effects.

The conditions that favor mitochondrial superoxide production include reduction of electron carrier pools associated with the mitochondrial respiratory chain (NADH, flavins, ubiquinone), a high proton motive force, and elevated oxygen consumption within the mitochondria (Murphy, 2009). Overnutrition supplies excess electrons to the respiratory chain, while lack of physical activity and low ATP demand favors a high proton motive force with a low respiration rate, leading to mitochondrial superoxide formation and oxidative stress. By contrast, in mitochondria actively making ATP, superoxide production is low because the electron carriers are relatively oxidized, the proton motive force is small, and the respiration rate is high.

Prolonged oxidative stress directly impacts metabolism, including the activity of enzymes involved in the TCA cycle and the ETC (Quijano et al., 2016). The TCA cycle enzyme aconitase catalyzes the interconversion of citrate and isocitrate to regulate the availability of intermediates for lipid synthesis and ATP production. Citrate is the last common metabolite on the pathways for oxidation of acetyl-CoA and its export for fatty acid synthesis in the cytoplasm. Superoxide inhibits aconitase (Hausladen and Fridovich, 1994; Gardner et al., 1995), leading to diversion of acetyl-CoA away from OXPHOS and toward fat storage (Armstrong et al., 2004; Lushchak et al., 2014). This feedback loop may be part of an antioxidant defense mechanism that adapts prolonged mitochondrial superoxide production (Scandroglio et al., 2014). Acetyl-CoA diversion may slow delivery of electron carriers such as NADH to the respiratory chain, thereby decreasing ROS production (Armstrong et al., 2004).

Oxidative stress also impacts pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 2 (PDK2) inhibition of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC) (Hurd et al., 2012) and fat metabolism. ROS oxidize critical cysteine residues, disabling PDK2, and supporting

acetyl-CoA synthesis from glucose-derived pyruvate. Therefore, elevated mitochondrial superoxide and H_2O_2 couples PDC activity with aconitase interruption to divert citrate from the TCA cycle to the cytoplasm as triglycerides during overnutrition. These studies suggest persistent nutrient stress impairs the physiological behavior of crucial metabolic enzymes needed for balanced ATP generation and consumption.

ANTIOXIDANT RESPONSE TO MITOCHONDRIAL ROS REGULATES ADIPOSE TISSUE FUNCTION

A variety of peroxidases, including catalase, glutathione peroxidases, and peroxiredoxins (Prdxs) that control the levels of H_2O_2 in the cell and protect against ROS-induced damage by catalyzing the reduction of H_2O_2 into water. Along these lines, overexpression of catalase (Anderson et al., 2009; Barbosa et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017; Paglialunga et al., 2017) or other methods that block H_2O_2 generation (Anderson et al., 2009; Boden et al., 2012) preserve insulin sensitivity in cell models and rodents fed high-fat diet.

The mitochondrial antioxidant peroxiredoxin 3 (Prdx3) responds to oxidative stress and scavenges H_2O_2 . Levels of Prdx3 are decreased in obese humans and mice, potentially contributing to oxidative stress intolerance (Huh et al., 2012). Whole-body deletion of *Prdx3* in mice causes obesity and increased expression of lipogenic genes in adipocytes, while decreasing expression of lipolytic genes. As a result, hypertrophic adipocytes exclusively accumulate excess lipids and cannot enable appropriate energy balance control. In addition to altering the balance of lipogenesis and lipolysis, Prdx3-deficient adipocytes exhibited increased superoxide production, decreased mitochondrial potential, and altered adipokine expression, including decreased adiponectin.

Okuno et al. (2018) created "Fat ROS-augmented" (AKO) and "Fat ROS-eliminated" (aP2-dTg) mice to address the question of how ROS affect WAT function. AKO mice leverage adipocytespecific ablation of glutamate-cysteine ligase (*Gclc*) to disable the rate-limiting step in glutathione synthesis and increase ROS generation. AKO mice fed high fat/high sucrose (HF/HS) diet for 6 weeks had smaller adipocytes and decreased expression of lipogenic genes, including *Acly*, *Scd1*, *Fasn*, *Acaca*, and *Srebf1*. Insulin sensitivity was also reduced. Conversely, mice expressing rat catalase and human SOD1 under the aP2 promoter had the opposite phenotype. These mice (aP2-dTg) showed reduced H_2O_2 in subcutaneous and gonadal WAT. Feeding a HF/HS diet yielded beneficial subcutaneous and gonadal WAT expansion mirrored by increased expression of lipogenic genes (*Acly*, *Scd1*, *Fasn*, and *Acaca*) and insulin sensitivity.

While these data argue that increasing mitochondrial antioxidants protects against oxidative stress in WAT, genetic alteration of other mitochondrial antioxidants reveal different phenotypes. Manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) is an important mitochondrial antioxidant that detoxifies superoxides (Holley et al., 2011). Adipocyte-specific knockout of MnSOD protected against diet-induced WAT expansion and weight gain (Han et al., 2016). Mechanistically, MnSOD knockout in adipocytes triggered an adaptive stress response that activated mitochondrial biogenesis and enhanced mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation, thereby preventing diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. Increased ROS levels correlated with Uncoupling Protein 1 (UCP1) activation in subcutaneous WAT and higher energy expenditure (Han et al., 2016). These disparate features of mice that lack the *Prdx3* and *MnSOD* genes coupled with therapeutic shortcomings of antioxidant therapies in human clinical trials (Fusco et al., 2007; Bjelakovic et al., 2013, 2014) suggest a more complex interaction of metabolism and redox balance in WAT.

MITOCHONDRIAL REDOX REACTIONS GENERATE DIVERGENT INPUTS FOR CELLULAR SIGNALING

The homeostatic systems that regulate oxidative stress in the lean state are largely repressed in obesity due to the accumulation of oxidized biomolecules within WAT. Excessive ROS irreversibly damages DNA, lipids, and proteins with adverse effects on cellular functions. Increased oxidative stress can alter proteins and lipids through direct and indirect pathways that culminate in oxidation of side chains and lipid-protein adduction (Grimsrud et al., 2008; Davies, 2016).

Reactive oxygen species oxidation of lipids ultimately generates lipid aldehydes that modify DNA, proteins, RNA, and other lipid species (Esterbauer et al., 1991; Uchida, 2003). Increased markers of lipid peroxidation, including thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) and 8-epi-prostaglandin-F2 α (8-epi-PGF2 α) are observed in individuals with higher BMI and waist circumference (Furukawa et al., 2004). Oxidized lipids and proteins preferentially accumulate in visceral depots compared to subcutaneous depots of obese mice (Long et al., 2013; Hauck et al., 2018, 2019) and humans (Frohnert et al., 2011), suggesting ROS modifications correlate with conditions associated with type 2 diabetes, including central fat accrual.

Highly reactive hydroxyl radicals (·OH) can be generated when excess H₂O₂ reacts with ferrous iron. Unlike H₂O₂, ·OH cannot undergo detoxification. Instead, ·OH removes electrons from neighboring lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. Lipid aldehydes are highly electrophilic and prone to irreversible nucleophilic attack by the side chains of lysine (Lys), histidine (His), and cysteine (Cys) residues of proteins, resulting in a covalent lipid-protein adduct termed protein carbonylation (Schaur, 2003; Curtis et al., 2012). Furthermore, Lys, His, and Cys residues often cluster within active sites of enzymes or critical structural motifs, so their stable modification by lipids generally leads to inhibition or deactivation of protein function. However, recent work challenges the notion that ROSdriven modifications broadly degrade fat cell function. Brown adipose tissue (BAT) contains elevated levels of mitochondrial superoxide, mitochondrial H2O2, and oxidized lipids that correlate with acute activation of thermogenesis (Chouchani et al., 2016a,b). Mitochondrial ROS in BAT can converge on UCP1 C253 inducing cysteine sulfenylation (-SOH) (Chouchani et al., 2016a). Interestingly, UCP1 C253A does not disable thermogenic responses in brown adipocytes but desensitizes the protein to adrenergic activation of uncoupled respiration. Further exploration of physiological ROS signaling outputs and modifications may show how redox status in adipocytes contributes to energy balance.

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are abundant in WAT and particularly sensitive to lipid peroxidation. One major consequence of lipid peroxidation is mitochondrial membrane damage (Kowaltowski and Vercesi, 1999). Also, peroxidation of PUFAs results in the release of diffusible reactive lipid aldehvdes. Among the wide variety of reactive lipids formed through this mechanism, 4-hydroxy-non-enal (4-HNE) derived from oxidation of n6 fatty acids and 4-hydroxy-hexenal (4-HHE) from n3 fatty acid oxidation are the most widely studied in the context of adipose biology. The WAT of obese mice showed decreased metabolism of 4-HNE, while stress response proteins, including glutathione-S-transferase M1, glutathione peroxidase 1, and Prdx (Grimsrud et al., 2007) were carbonylated. Lipid peroxidation end products can also inhibit insulin signaling as 4-HNE de-stabilizes IRS adapter proteins and insulin receptor β (Demozay et al., 2008; Frohnert and Bernlohr, 2013).

Lipid peroxidation products also damage the function of transcription factors that contain zinc-finger motifs, histones, and other nuclear proteins of visceral fat cells isolated from obese mice (Hauck et al., 2018). The lipid peroxidation of transcriptional regulatory proteins presents a consolidated mechanism for retrograde ROS signaling from mitochondria to the nucleus. Although mitochondria are the most significant source of ROS, the discovery of lipid-protein adducts in the nucleus of adipocytes suggests either a different pool of ROS contributes to lipid peroxidation or a mechanism exists to sequester and shuttle reactive aldehydes to specific subcellular localizations (Hauck et al., 2018). As with ROS, the timing of protein carbonylation may be important for beneficial or pathologic effects. Acute carbonylation of substrates after exercise are potentially beneficial, while chronic accumulation of carbonylated proteins in the muscle and WAT of obese and sedentary individuals may be pathological and contribute to comorbidities of obesity (Frohnert and Bernlohr, 2013).

Additionally, ROS seem to be important in the cellular aspects of adipocyte differentiation. Numerous studies demonstrate that mitochondrial biogenesis increases during adipocyte differentiation (Wilson-Fritch et al., 2003; Lu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2013). Dramatic expansion of mitochondrial content enables higher metabolic rates to overcome the energetic demands of differentiation. Induction of differentiation correlates with superoxide generation from complex III, conversion of superoxide to H₂O₂, and activation of transcriptional machinery necessary for adipogenesis (Tormos et al., 2011). Mechanistically, ROS production in differentiating cells coincides with increased C/EBPβ binding to DNA and accelerated mitotic clonal expansion (Kim J.W. et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2009). However, obesity-mediated ROS induction also restricts mitochondrial biogenesis and adipocyte differentiation. Higher accumulation of 4-HNE adducts occurs in cultured differentiating preadipocytes from insulin-resistant compared to insulin-sensitive individuals. In this manner, treatment of primary subcutaneous preadipocytes from obese individuals with pathological levels of 4-HNE decreased markers associated with insulin sensitivity and mature fat cells (Dasuri et al., 2013; Elrayess et al., 2017). Other studies demonstrate that treatment with antioxidants decreases differentiation (Tormos et al., 2011) and disrupts UCP1-dependent thermogenic responses (Ro et al., 2014; Chouchani et al., 2016a). Divergent *in vitro* and *in vivo* findings illustrate existing challenges in defining the specifics of ROS signaling and its connectivity to metabolic diseases.

OXIDATIVE STRESS CONTRIBUTES TO THE COMORBIDITIES OF METABOLIC DISEASES

Nutrient overload has been linked to the development of insulin resistance. In a pioneering study, healthy men fed \sim 6000 kcal/day for 1 week exhibited WAT insulin resistance and oxidative stress in addition to protein oxidation and carbonylation (Boden et al., 2015). One carbonylated protein of importance was GLUT4, whose carbonylation likely impairs insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. Of note, systemic oxidative stress and insulin resistance did not coincide with inflammatory cytokines in plasma nor ER stress in WAT. These findings provide a causal link between oxidative stress and insulin resistance in humans.

Mitochondrial metabolism is often altered in inherited diseases, such as inborn errors of metabolism (IEMs) that impinge upon ROS generation. Inhibition of OXPHOS increases ROS generation due to a backlog of electrons in the various complexes, resulting in electron leak, ROS generation, and production of H₂O₂. In IEMs affecting the ETC or other pathways of ATP generation, increased oxidative stress is often observed, while the exact mechanisms for increased ROS production are unknown. It is hypothesized that mutations affecting the formation of the protein complexes in the ETC or mutations that modify their assembly increase ROS generation by facilitating electron leak (Olsen et al., 2015). Additionally, accumulation of toxic intermediates, often observed in IEMs, can increase the ROS generation by further decreasing OXPHOS activity, as in the case of medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) deficiency. MCAD deficiency reflects the accumulation of medium-chain fatty acid derivatives, including cis-4-decenoic acid, octanoate, and decanoate, with these metabolites altering levels of antioxidants and increasing markers of oxidative stress (Schuck et al., 2007, 2009). Intriguingly, IEMs display metabolic reprograming with a switch to glycolysis for both ATP production and muted ROS generation (Olsen et al., 2015). Specifically, in myoclonic epilepsy with ragged red fibers (MERRF), increased intracellular H₂O₂ levels correspond with increased AMPK phosphorylation and expression of GLUT1, hexokinase II, and lactate dehydrogenase. These results, as well as increased lactic acid production, all point to increased glycolysis (De la Mata et al., 2012; Wu and Wei, 2012). In multiple acyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (MADD), mutations in ETFa, ETFb, or ETFDH, lead to decreased ATP production with an accumulation of organic acids, including glutaric acid as well as acyl-carnitines. A subset of these patients is riboflavin

responsive (RR-MADD) with high dose riboflavin alleviating some symptoms. Similar to MERRF, many RR-MADD patients exhibit increased oxidative stress (Cornelius et al., 2013, 2014). This defect may be due to defective electron transfer and increased electron leak from the misfolded ETFDH protein and decreased binding of CoQ10 (Cornelius et al., 2013). Treatment with CoQ10, but not riboflavin, decreased ROS levels (Cornelius et al., 2013). Analysis of mitochondrial function from RR-MADD fibroblasts showed increased mitochondrial fragmentation and reduced β-oxidation, while supplementation with the antioxidant CoQ10 decreased fragmentation and mitophagy (Cornelius et al., 2014). While obesity and IEMs are distinct disorders, both conditions impinge on energy balance in WAT. Even though these disorders have very different manifestations, oxidative stress plays an important role in both and may be a therapeutic target. For example, CoQ10 is often given as a broad-spectrum treatment to individuals with IEMs, and while its effectiveness is debated, the anti-inflammatory effects may be beneficial in reducing oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of the disease (Cornelius et al., 2013; Acosta et al., 2016; Zhai et al., 2017).

LEVERAGING REDOX BALANCE TO IMPROVE INSULIN SENSITIVITY

Mitochondria represent control centers of many metabolic pathways. Interventions that enhance adipocyte mitochondrial function may also improve whole-body insulin sensitivity. Mitigation of mitochondrial ROS production and oxidative stress may be a possible therapeutic target in type 2 diabetes and IEMs because some mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants and other small molecule drugs improve metabolic profiles in mouse models (Feillet-Coudray et al., 2014; Fouret et al., 2015; Rivera-Barahona et al., 2017) and human studies (Escribano-Lopez et al., 2018).

Thiazolidinediones (TZDs) are PPARy agonists used for treating type 2 diabetes (Kelly et al., 1999; King, 2000; Khan et al., 2002; Goldberg et al., 2005; Deeg et al., 2007). TZDs, such as rosiglitazone and pioglitazone, enhance insulin sensitivity by improving adipokine profiles (Maeda et al., 2001, 2002) and reducing fasting blood glucose levels (Boyle et al., 2002; Chappuis et al., 2007). TZDs also promote insulin sensitivity by directing fatty acids to subcutaneous fat, rather than visceral fat. Subcutaneous fat expandability, even in the context of obesity and type 2 diabetes, correlates with insulin sensitivity in rodents and humans (Ross et al., 1996; Miyazaki et al., 2002; Kim J.Y. et al., 2007; Tran et al., 2008; Porter et al., 2009). Numerous in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrate TZDs enhance mitochondrial biogenesis, content, function, and morphology. Rosiglitazone also induces cellular antioxidant enzymes responsible for the removal of ROS generated by increased mitochondrial activity in adipose tissue of diabetic rodents (Rong et al., 2007) and humans (Bogacka et al., 2005; Rong et al., 2007; Ahmed et al., 2010). It is now well established that anti-diabetic PPARy agonists also activate a BAT gene program in white adipocytes, converting them to "beige" cells that express UCP1 (Tiraby et al., 2003; Wilson-Fritch et al., 2003; Bogacka et al., 2005; Ohno et al., 2005; Petrovic et al., 2010). Taken together, TZDs impact WAT



mitochondrial function in multiple ways that ultimately improve systemic fat metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Other therapeutic strategies include mitochondria-targeted scavengers (Smith et al., 2012) and chemical uncouplers that dissipate energy as heat (Perry et al., 2013; Goldgof et al., 2014). However, these methods to enhance mitochondrial function display a narrow therapeutic range that limits safe use for obesity.

Although the development of insulin resistance does not require impaired mitochondrial function (Hancock et al., 2008; Holloszy, 2013), pathways promoting insulin resistance may impair mitochondrial function and further increase ROS production, resulting in a detrimental feedback loop. Aerobic exercise and caloric restriction disrupt this vicious loop, potentially by preventing accumulation of injured mitochondrial proteins with substantial improvement of insulin sensitivity. In insulin-resistant people, aerobic exercise stimulates both mitochondrial biogenesis and efficiency concurrent with an enhancement of insulin action (Mul et al., 2015). Ultimately, exercise engages pathways that reduce ROS coupled with insulin sensitivity and improved mitochondrial function in WAT.

CONCLUSION

Obesity is the result of excessive expansion of WAT depots due to a chronic imbalance between energy intake and expenditure. Many studies demonstrate that oxidative stress in fat cells links obesity and its comorbidities. The fact that WAT remains the sole organ for storing surfeit lipid renders the macromolecules in adipocytes particularly vulnerable to carbonylation and other modifications driven by oxidative stress. Prolonged oxidative stress negatively influences endocrine and homeostatic performance of WAT, including disruption of hormone secretion, elevation of serum lipids, inadequate cellular antioxidant defenses, and impaired mitochondrial function (**Figure 2**). Metabolic challenges, such as persistent nutrient intake and sedentary behaviors that promote impaired glucose and lipid handling, also elevate mitochondrial ROS production to cause adipocyte dysfunction. Consequently, adipocytes cannot engage appropriate transcriptional and energetic responses to enable insulin sensitivity.

The increasing prevalence of obesity suggests lifestyle intervention as the principal method to treat obesity is unlikely to succeed. Currently, all available anti-obesity medications act by limiting energy intake through appetite suppression or inhibition of intestinal lipid absorption. However, these medications are largely ineffective and often have adverse side effects. The central role of mitochondria in nutrient handling provides a logical entry point for improving metabolism in obesity. While approaches to understanding and intervening in oxidative damage evolve, exploration of mitochondria redox balance may enable development of dietary and small molecule therapies for obesity and its comorbidities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PM, AC, NC, and SH wrote the manuscript. SH secured funding.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the American Diabetes Association #1-18-IBS-105 and NIH R01DK114356.

REFERENCES

- Acosta, M. J., Vazquez Fonseca, L., Desbats, M. A., Cerqua, C., Zordan, R., Trevisson, E., et al. (2016). Coenzyme Q biosynthesis in health and disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1857, 1079–1085. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2016.03.036
- Ahmed, M., Neville, M. J., Edelmann, M. J., Kessler, B. M., and Karpe, F. (2010). Proteomic analysis of human adipose tissue after rosiglitazone treatment shows coordinated changes to promote glucose uptake. *Obesity* 18, 27–34. doi: 10. 1038/oby.2009.208
- Akl, M. G., Fawzy, E., Deif, M., Farouk, A., and Elshorbagy, A. K. (2017). Perturbed adipose tissue hydrogen peroxide metabolism in centrally obese men: association with insulin resistance. *PLoS One* 12:e0177268. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0177268
- Anderson, E. J., Lustig, M. E., Boyle, K. E., Woodlief, T. L., Kane, D. A., Lin, C. T., et al. (2009). Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 573–581. doi: 10.1172/JCI37048
- Armstrong, J. S., Whiteman, M., Yang, H., and Jones, D. P. (2004). The redox regulation of intermediary metabolism by a superoxide-aconitase rheostat. *Bioessays* 26, 894–900. doi: 10.1002/bies.20071
- Barbosa, M. R., Sampaio, I. H., Teodoro, B. G., Sousa, T. A., Zoppi, C. C., and Queiroz, A. L. (2013). Hydrogen peroxide production regulates the mitochondrial function in insulin resistant muscle cells: effect of catalase overexpression. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 1591–1604. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis. 2013.04.029
- Bjelakovic, G., Nikolova, D., and Gluud, C. (2013). Antioxidant supplements to prevent mortality. *JAMA* 310, 1178–1179. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.277028
- Bjelakovic, G., Nikolova, D., and Gluud, C. (2014). Antioxidant supplements and mortality. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 17, 40–44. doi: 10.1097/MCO. 000000000000009
- Boden, G., Homko, C., Barrero, C. A., Stein, T. P., Chen, X., Cheung, P., et al. (2015). Excessive caloric intake acutely causes oxidative stress, GLUT4 carbonylation, and insulin resistance in healthy men. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:304re7. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac4765
- Boden, M. J., Brandon, A. E., Tid-Ang, J. D., Preston, E., Wilks, D., Stuart, E., et al. (2012). Overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase ameliorates high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance in rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 303, E798–E805. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00577.2011
- Bogacka, I., Ukropcova, B., McNeil, M., Gimble, J. M., and Smith, S. R. (2005). Structural and functional consequences of mitochondrial biogenesis in human adipocytes in vitro. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 90, 6650–6656. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2005-1024
- Bournat, J. C., and Brown, C. W. (2010). Mitochondrial dysfunction in obesity. *Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Obes.* 17, 446–452. doi: 10.1097/med. 0b013e32833c3026
- Boyle, P. J., King, A. B., Olansky, L., Marchetti, A., Lau, H., Magar, R., et al. (2002). Effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone on blood lipid levels and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a retrospective review of randomly selected medical records. *Clin. Ther.* 24, 378–396. doi: 10.1016/ s0149-2918(02)85040-8
- Chappuis, B., Braun, M., Stettler, C., Allemann, S., Diem, P., Lumb, P. J., et al. (2007). Differential effect of pioglitazone (PGZ) and rosiglitazone (RGZ) on postprandial glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a prospective, randomized crossover study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 23, 392–399. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.715
- Chouchani, E. T., Kazak, L., Jedrychowski, M. P., Lu, G. Z., Erickson, B. K., Szpyt, J., et al. (2016a). Mitochondrial ROS regulate thermogenic energy expenditure and sulfenylation of UCP1. *Nature* 532, 112–116. doi: 10.1038/nature17399
- Chouchani, E. T., Kazak, L., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2016b). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and adipose tissue thermogenesis: bridging physiology and mechanisms. J. Biol. Chem. 292, 16810–16816. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R117.789628
- Cornelius, N., Byron, C., Hargreaves, I., Guerra, P. F., Furdek, A. K., Land, J., et al. (2013). Secondary coenzyme Q10 deficiency and oxidative stress in cultured fibroblasts from patients with riboflavin responsive multiple Acyl-CoA dehydrogenation deficiency. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 3819–3827. doi: 10.1093/ hmg/ddt232
- Cornelius, N., Corydon, T. J., Gregersen, N., and Olsen, R. K. (2014). Cellular consequences of oxidative stress in riboflavin responsive multiple acyl-CoA

dehydrogenation deficiency patient fibroblasts. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23, 4285-4301. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu146

- Curtis, J. M., Hahn, W. S., Long, E. K., Burrill, J. S., Arriaga, E. A., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2012). Protein carbonylation and metabolic control systems. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23, 399–406. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.05.008
- Dasuri, K., Ebenezer, P., Fernandez-Kim, S. O., Zhang, L., Gao, Z., Bruce-Keller, A. J., et al. (2013). Role of physiological levels of 4-hydroxynonenal on adipocyte biology: implications for obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Free Radic. Res.* 47, 8–19. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2012.733003
- Davies, M. J. (2016). Protein oxidation and peroxidation. *Biochem. J.* 473, 805–825. doi: 10.1042/BJ20151227
- De la Mata, M., Garrido-Maraver, J., Cotan, D., Cordero, M. D., Oropesa-Avila, M., Izquierdo, L. G., et al. (2012). Recovery of MERRF fibroblasts and cybrids pathophysiology by coenzyme Q10. *Neurotherapeutics* 9, 446–463. doi: 10.1007/s13311-012-0103-3
- Deeg, M. A., Buse, J. B., Goldberg, R. B., Kendall, D. M., Zagar, A. J., Jacober, S. J., et al. (2007). Pioglitazone and rosiglitazone have different effects on serum lipoprotein particle concentrations and sizes in patients with type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia. *Diabetes Care* 30, 2458–2464. doi: 10.2337/dc06-1903
- Demozay, D., Mas, J. C., Rocchi, S., and Van Obberghen, E. (2008). FALDH reverses the deleterious action of oxidative stress induced by lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal on insulin signaling in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 57, 1216–1226. doi: 10.2337/db07-0389
- Elrayess, M. A., Almuraikhy, S., Kafienah, W., Al-Menhali, A., Al-Khelaifi, F., Bashah, M., et al. (2017). 4-hydroxynonenal causes impairment of human subcutaneous adipogenesis and induction of adipocyte insulin resistance. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 104, 129–137. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017. 01.015
- Escribano-Lopez, I., Diaz-Morales, N., Iannantuoni, F., Lopez-Domenech, S., de Maranon, A. M., Abad-Jimenez, Z., et al. (2018). The mitochondrial antioxidant SS-31 increases SIRT1 levels and ameliorates inflammation, oxidative stress and leukocyte-endothelium interactions in type 2 diabetes. *Sci. Rep.* 8:15862. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34251-8
- Esterbauer, H., Schaur, R. J., and Zollner, H. (1991). Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 11, 81–128. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(91)90192-6
- Fazakerley, D. J., Minard, A. Y., Krycer, J. R., Thomas, K. C., Stockli, J., Harney, D. J., et al. (2018). Mitochondrial oxidative stress causes insulin resistance without disrupting oxidative phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 7315–7328. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA117.001254
- Feillet-Coudray, C., Fouret, G., Ebabe Elle, R., Rieusset, J., Bonafos, B., Chabi, B., et al. (2014). The mitochondrial-targeted antioxidant MitoQ ameliorates metabolic syndrome features in obesogenic diet-fed rats better than Apocynin or Allopurinol. *Free Radic. Res.* 48, 1232–1246. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2014. 945079
- Fouret, G., Tolika, E., Lecomte, J., Bonafos, B., Aoun, M., Murphy, M. P., et al. (2015). The mitochondrial-targeted antioxidant, MitoQ, increases liver mitochondrial cardiolipin content in obesogenic diet-fed rats. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1847, 1025–1035. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2015.05.019
- Frohnert, B. I., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2013). Protein carbonylation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance. Adv. Nutr. 4, 157–163. doi: 10.3945/an.112. 003319
- Frohnert, B. I., Sinaiko, A. R., Serrot, F. J., Foncea, R. E., Moran, A., and Ikramuddin, S. (2011). Increased adipose protein carbonylation in human obesity. *Obesity* 19, 1735–1741. doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.115
- Furukawa, S., Fujita, T., Shimabukuro, M., Iwaki, M., Yamada, Y., and Nakajima, Y. (2004). Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 114, 1752–1761.
- Fusco, D., Colloca, G., Lo Monaco, M. R., and Cesari, M. (2007). Effects of antioxidant supplementation on the aging process. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 2, 377–387.
- Gardner, P. R., Raineri, I., Epstein, L. B., and White, C. W. (1995). Superoxide radical and iron modulate aconitase activity in mammalian cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 13399–13405. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.22.13399
- Goldberg, R. B., Kendall, D. M., Deeg, M. A., Buse, J. B., Zagar, A. J., Pinaire, J. A., et al. (2005). A comparison of lipid and glycemic effects of pioglitazone and rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia. *Diabetes Care* 28, 1547–1554. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.7.1547

- Goldgof, M., Xiao, C., Chanturiya, T., Jou, W., Gavrilova, O., and Reitman, M. L. (2014). The chemical uncoupler 2,4-dinitrophenol (DNP) protects against dietinduced obesity and improves energy homeostasis in mice at thermoneutrality. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 19341–19350. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.568204
- Grimsrud, P. A., Picklo, M. J., Griffin, T. J., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2007). Carbonylation of adipose proteins in obesity and insulin resistance: identification of adipocyte fatty acid-binding protein as a cellular target of 4hydroxynonenal. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 6, 624–637. doi: 10.1074/mcp.m600120mcp200
- Grimsrud, P. A., Xie, H., Griffin, T. J., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2008). Oxidative stress and covalent modification of protein with bioactive aldehydes. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 21837–21841. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R700019200
- Han, Y. H., Buffolo, M., Pires, K. M., Pei, S., Scherer, P. E., and Boudina, S. (2016). Adipocyte-specific deletion of manganese superoxide dismutase protects from diet-induced obesity through increased mitochondrial uncoupling and biogenesis. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 65, 2639–2651. doi: 10.2337/db16-0283
- Hancock, C. R., Han, D. H., Chen, M., Terada, S., Yasuda, T., Wright, D. C., et al. (2008). High-fat diets cause insulin resistance despite an increase in muscle mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 7815–7820. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0802057105
- Hauck, A. K., Huang, Y., Hertzel, A. V., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2019). Adipose oxidative stress and protein carbonylation. J. Biol. Chem. 294, 1083–1088. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R118.003214
- Hauck, A. K., Zhou, T., Hahn, W., Petegrosso, R., Kuang, R., Chen, Y., et al. (2018). Obesity-induced protein carbonylation in murine adipose tissue regulates the DNA-binding domain of nuclear zinc finger proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 13464–13476. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.003469
- Hausladen, A., and Fridovich, I. (1994). Superoxide and peroxynitrite inactivate aconitases, but nitric oxide does not. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 29405–29408.
- Holley, A. K., Bakthavatchalu, V., Velez-Roman, J. M., and St Clair, D. K. (2011). Manganese superoxide dismutase: guardian of the powerhouse. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 12, 7114–7162. doi: 10.3390/ijms12107114
- Holloszy, J. O. (2013). "Deficiency" of mitochondria in muscle does not cause insulin resistance. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 62, 1036–1040. doi: 10.2337/db12-1107
- Huh, J. Y., Kim, Y., Jeong, J., Park, J., Kim, I., Huh, K. H., et al. (2012). Peroxiredoxin 3 is a key molecule regulating adipocyte oxidative stress, mitochondrial biogenesis, and adipokine expression. *Antioxid. Redox. Signal.* 16, 229–243. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.3952
- Hurd, T. R., Collins, Y., Abakumova, I., Chouchani, E. T., Baranowski, B., Fearnley, I. M., et al. (2012). Inactivation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 2 by mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 35153–35160. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.400002
- Kelly, I. E., Han, T. S., Walsh, K., and Lean, M. E. (1999). Effects of a thiazolidinedione compound on body fat and fat distribution of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 22, 288–293. doi: 10.2337/diacare.22.2.288
- Khan, M. A., St Peter, J. V., and Xue, J. L. (2002). A prospective, randomized comparison of the metabolic effects of pioglitazone or rosiglitazone in patients with type 2 diabetes who were previously treated with troglitazone. *Diabetes Care* 25, 708–711. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.4.708
- Kim, J. W., Tang, Q. Q., Li, X., and Lane, M. D. (2007). Effect of phosphorylation and S-S bond-induced dimerization on DNA binding and transcriptional activation by C/EBPbeta. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 1800–1804. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611137104
- Kim, J. Y., van de Wall, E., Laplante, M., Azzara, A., Trujillo, M. E., Hofmann, S. M., et al. (2007). Obesity-associated improvements in metabolic profile through expansion of adipose tissue. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 2621–2637. doi: 10.1172/ jci31021
- King, A. B. (2000). A comparison in a clinical setting of the efficacy and side effects of three thiazolidinediones. *Diabetes Care* 23, 557. doi: 10.2337/diacare.23.4. 557b
- Kowaltowski, A. J., and Vercesi, A. E. (1999). Mitochondrial damage induced by conditions of oxidative stress. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 26, 463–471. doi: 10.1016/ s0891-5849(98)00216-0
- Lee, H., Lee, Y. J., Choi, H., Ko, E. H., and Kim, J. W. (2009). Reactive oxygen species facilitate adipocyte differentiation by accelerating mitotic clonal expansion. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 10601–10609. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808742200

- Lee, H. Y., Lee, J. S., Alves, T., Ladiges, W., Rabinovitch, P. S., Jurczak, M. J., et al. (2017). Mitochondrial-targeted catalase protects against high-fat diet-induced muscle insulin resistance by decreasing intramuscular lipid accumulation. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 66, 2072–2081. doi: 10.2337/db16-1334
- Liesa, M., and Shirihai, O. S. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab.* 17, 491–506. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002
- Long, E. K., Olson, D. M., and Bernlohr, D. A. (2013). High-fat diet induces changes in adipose tissue trans-4-oxo-2-nonenal and trans-4-hydroxy-2-nonenal levels in a depot-specific manner. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 63, 390–398. doi: 10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2013.05.030
- Lu, R. H., Chouchani Ji, H., Chang, Z. G., Su, S. S., and Yang, G. S. (2010). Mitochondrial development and the influence of its dysfunction during rat adipocyte differentiation. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 37, 2173–2182. doi: 10.1007/s11033-009-9695-z
- Lushchak, O. V., Piroddi, M., Galli, F., and Lushchak, V. I. (2014). Aconitase post-translational modification as a key in linkage between Krebs cycle, iron homeostasis, redox signaling, and metabolism of reactive oxygen species. *Redox Rep.* 19, 8–15. doi: 10.1179/1351000213Y.000000073
- Maeda, N., Shimomura, I., Kishida, K., Nishizawa, H., Matsuda, M., Nagaretani, H., et al. (2002). Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. *Nat. Med.* 8, 731–737. doi: 10.1038/nm724
- Maeda, N., Takahashi, M., Funahashi, T., Kihara, S., Nishizawa, H., Kishida, K., et al. (2001). PPARgamma ligands increase expression and plasma concentrations of adiponectin, an adipose-derived protein. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 50, 2094–2099. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.50.9.2094
- Miyazaki, Y., Mahankali, A., Matsuda, M., Mahankali, S., Hardies, J., Cusi, K., et al. (2002). Effect of pioglitazone on abdominal fat distribution and insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic patients. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 2784–2791. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.6.8567
- Mul, J. D., Stanford, K. I, Hirshman, M. F., and Goodyear, L. J. (2015). Exercise and regulation of carbohydrate metabolism. *Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci.* 135, 17–37. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2015.07.020
- Murphy, M. P. (2009). How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochem. J.* 417, 1–13. doi: 10.1042/BJ20081386
- Ohno, H., Shinoda, K., Spiegelman, B. M., and Kajimura, S. (2005). PPARgamma agonists induce a white-to-brown fat conversion through stabilization of PRDM16 protein. *Cell Metab.* 15, 395–404. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012. 01.019
- Okuno, Y., Fukuhara, A., Hashimoto, E., Kobayashi, H., Kobayashi, S., Otsuki, M., et al. (2018). Oxidative stress inhibits healthy adipose expansion through suppression of SREBF1-mediated lipogenic Pathway. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 67, 1113–1127. doi: 10.2337/db17-1032
- Olsen, R. K., Cornelius, N., and Gregersen, N. (2015). Redox signalling and mitochondrial stress responses; lessons from inborn errors of metabolism. *J. Inherit. Metab. Dis.* 38, 703–719. doi: 10.1007/s10545-015-9861-5
- Paglialunga, S., Ludzki, A., Root-McCaig, J., and Holloway, G. P. (2017). In adipose tissue, increased mitochondrial emission of reactive oxygen species is important for short-term high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. *Diabetologia* 58, 1071–1080. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3531-x
- Perry, R. J., Kim, T., Zhang, X. M., Lee, H. Y., Pesta, D., Popov, V. B., et al. (2013). Reversal of hypertriglyceridemia, fatty liver disease, and insulin resistance by a liver-targeted mitochondrial uncoupler. *Cell Metab.* 18, 740–748. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2013.10.004
- Petrovic, N., Walden, T. B., Shabalina, I. G., Timmons, J. A., Cannon, B., and Nedergaard, J. (2010). Chronic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) activation of epididymally derived white adipocyte cultures reveals a population of thermogenically competent, UCP1-containing adipocytes molecularly distinct from classic brown adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 7153–7164. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.053942
- Porter, S. A., Massaro, J. M., Hoffmann, U., Vasan, R. S., O'Donnel, C. J., and Fox, C. S. (2009). Abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue: a protective fat depot? *Diabetes Care* 32, 1068–1075. doi: 10.2337/dc08-2280
- Quijano, C., Trujillo, M., Castro, L., and Trostchansky, A. (2016). Interplay between oxidant species and energy metabolism. *Redox Biol.* 8, 28–42. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.11.010
- Rivera-Barahona, A., Alonso-Barroso, E., Perez, B., Murphy, M. P., Richard, E., and Desviat, L. R. (2017). Treatment with antioxidants ameliorates oxidative

damage in a mouse model of propionic acidemia. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 122, 43–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2017.07.009

- Ro, S. H., Nam, M., Jang, I., Park, H. W., Park, H., Semple, I. A., et al. (2014). Sestrin2 inhibits uncoupling protein 1 expression through suppressing reactive oxygen species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 7849–7854. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1401787111
- Rong, J. X., Qiu, Y., Hansen, M. K., Zhu, L., Zhang, V., Xie, M., et al. (2007). Adipose mitochondrial biogenesis is suppressed in db/db and high-fat diet-fed mice and improved by rosiglitazone. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 56, 1751–1760. doi: 10.2337/db06-1135
- Ross, R., Fortier, L., and Hudson, R. (1996). Separate associations between visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue distribution, insulin and glucose levels in obese women. *Diabetes Care* 19, 1404–1411. doi: 10.2337/diacare.19.12. 1404
- Scandroglio, F., Tortora, V., Radi, R., and Castro, L. (2014). Metabolic control analysis of mitochondrial aconitase: influence over respiration and mitochondrial superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production. *Free Radic. Res.* 48, 684–693. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2014.900175
- Schaur, R. J. (2003). Basic aspects of the biochemical reactivity of 4hydroxynonenal. Mol. Aspects Med. 24, 149–159. doi: 10.1016/s0098-2997(03) 00009-8
- Schuck, P. F., Ceolato, P. C., Ferreira, G. C., Tonin, A., Leipnitz, G., Dutra-Filho, C. S., et al. (2007). Oxidative stress induction by cis-4-decenoic acid: relevance for MCAD deficiency. *Free Radic. Res.* 41, 1261–1272. doi: 10.1080/ 10715760701687109
- Schuck, P. F., Ferreira, G. C., Moura, A. P., Busanello, E. N., Tonin, A. M., Dutra-Filho, C. S., et al. (2009). Medium-chain fatty acids accumulating in MCAD deficiency elicit lipid and protein oxidative damage and decrease nonenzymatic antioxidant defenses in rat brain. *Neurochem. Int.* 54, 519–525. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2009.02.009
- Smith, R. A., Hartley, R. C., Cocheme, H. M., and Murphy, M. P. (2012). Mitochondrial pharmacology. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33, 341–352. doi: 10. 1016/j.tips.2012.03.010
- Starkov, A. A. (2008). The role of mitochondria in reactive oxygen species metabolism and signaling. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1147, 37–52. doi: 10.1196/ annals.1427.015

- Tiraby, C., Tavernier, G., Lefort, C., Larrouy, D., Bouillaud, F., Ricquier, D., et al. (2003). Acquirement of brown fat cell features by human white adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 33370–33376. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m305235200
- Tormos, K. V., Anso, E., Hamanaka, R. B., Eisenbart, J., Joseph, J., Kalyanaraman, B., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial complex III ROS regulate adipocyte differentiation. *Cell Metab.* 14, 537–544. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.007
- Tran, T. T., Yamamoto, Y., Gesta, S., and Kahn, C. R. (2008). Beneficial effects of subcutaneous fat transplantation on metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 7, 410–420. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.04.004
- Uchida, K. (2003). 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal: a product and mediator of oxidative stress. *Prog. Lipid. Res.* 42, 318–343. doi: 10.1016/s0163-7827(03)00014-6
- Wilson-Fritch, L., Burkart, A., Bell, G., Mendelson, K., Leszyk, J., and Nicoloro, S. (2003). Mitochondrial biogenesis and remodeling during adipogenesis and in response to the insulin sensitizer rosiglitazone. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 1085–1094. doi: 10.1128/mcb.23.3.1085-1094.2003
- Wu, S. B., and Wei, Y. H. (2012). AMPK-mediated increase of glycolysis as an adaptive response to oxidative stress in human cells: implication of the cell survival in mitochondrial diseases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1822, 233–247. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.09.014
- Zhai, J., Bo, Y., Lu, Y., Liu, C., and Zhang, L. (2017). Effects of coenzyme Q10 on markers of inflammation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 12:e0170172. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170172
- Zhang, Y., Marsboom, G., Toth, P. T., and Rehman, J. (2013). Mitochondrial respiration regulates adipogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *PLoS One* 8:e77077. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077077

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Masschelin, Cox, Chernis and Hartig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

